Fontiers Research topics



MOLECULAR BIOLOGY OF THE TRANSFER RNA REVISITED

Topic Editor Akio Kanai





FRONTIERS COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

© Copyright 2007-2014 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-366-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-366-0

ABOUT FRONTIERS

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

FRONTIERS JOURNAL SERIES

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing.

All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

DEDICATION TO QUALITY

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view.

By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

WHAT ARE FRONTIERS RESEARCH TOPICS?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area!

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

MOLECULAR BIOLOGY OF THE TRANSFER RNA REVISITED

Topic Editor: **Akio Kanai,** Keio University, Japan



tRNA in an eye. Image created by Prof. Akio Kanai.

Transfer RNAs (tRNAs) are one of the classical non-coding RNAs whose lengths are approximately 70–100 bases. The secondary structure of tRNAs can be represented as the cloverleaf with 4 stems, and the three dimensional structure as an "L" shape. Historically, the basic function of tRNA as an essential component of translation was established in 1960s, i.e., each tRNA is charged with a target amino acid and these are delivered to the ribosome during protein synthesis. However, recent data suggests that the role of tRNA in cellular regulation goes beyond this paradigm.

In most Archaea and Eukarya, precursor tRNAs are often interrupted by a short intron inserted strictly between the first and second nucleotide downstream of the anticodon, known as canonical nucleotide position (37/38). Recently, a number of reports describe novel aspects of tRNAs in terms of gene diversity, for example, several types of disrupted tRNA genes have been reported in the Archaea and primitive Eukarya, including multiple-intron-containing tRNA genes, split tRNA genes, and permuted tRNA genes.

Our understanding of the enzymes involved in tRNA functions (e.g., aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase, tRNA splicing endonuclease, tRNA ligase) has deepened. Moreover, it is well known that tRNA possesses many types of base modifications whose enzymatic regulations remain to be fully elucidated. It was reported that impaired tRNA nuclear-cytoplasmic export links DNA damage and cell-cycle checkpoint.

Furthermore, a variety of additional functions of tRNA, beyond its translation of the genetic code, have emerged rapidly. For instance, tRNA cleavage is a conserved part of the

responses to a variety of stresses in eukaryotic cells. Age-associated or tissue-specific tRNA fragmentation has also been observed. Several papers suggested that some of these tRNA fragments might be involve in the cellular RNA interference (RNAi) system.

These exciting data, have lead to this call for a Research Topic, that plans to revisit and summarize the molecular biology of tRNA. Beyond the topics outlined above, we have highlighted recent developments in bioinformatics tools and databases for tRNA analyses.

Table of Contents

05	Welcome to the New tRNA World!
	Akio Kanai
07	tRNA Gene Diversity in the Three Domains of Life
	Kosuke Fujishima and Akio Kanai
18	Circularly Permuted tRNA Genes: Their Expression and Implications for their
	Physiological Relevance and Development
	Akiko Soma
35	Handling tRNA Introns, Archaeal Way and Eukaryotic Way
	Tohru Yoshihisa
51	Losing the Stem-Loop Structure From Metazoan Mitochondrial tRNAs and Co-Evolution of Interacting Factors
	Yoh-ichi Watanabe, Takuma Suematsu and Takashi Ohtsuki
5 9	tmRNA-Mediated Trans-Translation as the Major Ribosome Rescue System in a
	Bacterial Cell
	Hyouta Himeno, Daisuke Kurita and Akira Muto
72	tRNADB-CE: tRNA Gene Database Well-Timed in the Era of Big Sequence Data
	Takashi Abe, Hachiro Inokuchi, Yuko Yamada, Akira Muto, Yuki Iwasaki and Toshimichi Ikemura
79	Molecular Mechanisms of Template-Independent RNA Polymerization by tRNA
	Nucleotidyltransferases
	Kozo Tomita and Seisueke Yamashita
91	Methylated Nucleosides in tRNA and tRNA Methyltransferases
	Hiroyuki Hori
117	Biosynthesis and Functions of Sulfur Modifications in tRNA
	Naoki Shigi
128	tRNAs as Regulators of Biological Processes
	Medha Raina and Michael Ibba
142	Transfer RNA and Human Disease
	Jamie A. Abbott, Chris S. Francklyn and Susan M. Robey-Bond
160	The Natural History of Transfer RNA and its Interactions with the Ribosome
	Gustavo Caetano-Anollés and Feng-Jie Sun



Welcome to the new tRNA world!

Akio Kanai *

Functional RNA Group, Institute for Advanced Biosciences, Keio University, Tsuruoka, Japan *Correspondence: akio@sfc.keio.ac.jp

Edited by:

William Cho, Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Hong Kong

Reviewed by:

Naoki Shigi, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology (AIST), Japan

Keywords: transfer RNA, molecular biology, gene diversity, pre-tRNA processing, base modification, new biological functions, molecular evolution, human diseases

Transfer RNAs (tRNAs) are one of the classical non-coding RNAs, with lengths of approximately 70-100 bases. The secondary structure of tRNAs can be represented as a cloverleaf with four stems, and the three-dimensional structure as an "L" shape. Historically, the basic function of the tRNAs as essential components of translation was established in the 1960s, when it was found that each tRNA is charged with a target amino acid by a specific aminoacyltRNA synthetase, and delivers it to the ribosome during protein synthesis (Crick, 1966; Normanly and Abelson, 1989; Frank, 2000). However, recent studies suggest that the roles of tRNA in cellular regulation go beyond this paradigm. Now, tRNA is recognized as a regulator of many biological processes, and several unique tRNA genes have been discovered. Our understanding of the enzymes involved in tRNA functions has also increased and many tRNA-related diseases have been reported. In response to these exciting data, I have edited this special issue of tRNA, which revisits and summarizes the molecular biology of tRNA. The topics contributed by specialists in the field cover a wide range of tRNA research.

In the last decade, a number of reports have described novel aspects of tRNAs in terms of the diversity of their genes. For example, several types of disrupted tRNA genes have been reported in the Archaea and primitive Eukarya. These include multipleintron-containing tRNA genes, split tRNA genes, and permuted tRNA genes (Fujishima and Kanai, 2014; Soma, 2014). Because these tRNAs are encoded as precursor forms (pre-tRNAs) in the genome, they must be processed to yield mature functional tRNAs. Studies of tRNA introns and their processing enzymes suggest that rather complex pathways are required to generate mature tRNAs (Yoshihisa, 2014). Metazoan mitochondrial tRNA is another example of a unique tRNA, lacking either one or two arms of the typical tRNA cloverleaf structure (Watanabe et al., 2014), and transfer messenger RNA (tmRNA) is involved in transtranslation, the major ribosome rescue system in bacterial cells (Himeno et al., 2014). Most of these tRNA genes and a huge number of tRNA sequences from metagenomic analyses are registered on the tRNA gene databases (Abe et al., 2014).

The universal 3'-terminal CCA sequence of the tRNAs, which is required for amino acid attachment to the molecule, is synthesized by tRNA nucleotidyltransferase or the "CCA-adding enzyme." The molecular mechanism of the template-independent RNA polymerization catalyzed by the CCA-adding enzyme is discussed, based on its structural features (Tomita and Yamashita, 2014). It is well-known that tRNAs contain many types of base modifications. Recent progress in our understanding of two major modifications in tRNAs, methylated nucleosides (Hori, 2014) and thionucleosides (Shigi, 2014), is reviewed and summarized.

As well as the canonical role of tRNA during protein biosynthesis, recent studies have shown that tRNA performs additional functions in regulating biochemical processes (Raina and Ibba, 2014). For example, aminoacyl-tRNA is involved in cell wall formation, protein labeling for degradation, and antibiotic biosynthesis. Moreover, tRNA cleavage is a conserved part of the responses of eukaryotic cells to various stresses. Age-associated and tissue-specific tRNA fragmentation have also been observed and several studies have suggested that some of these tRNA fragments are involved in the cellular RNA interference (RNAi) system.

Pathological mutations in tRNA genes and tRNA-related enzymes have been linked to human diseases (Abbott et al., 2014). Mutations in the mitochondrial tRNA genes, in particular, are responsible for many diseases, and aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase mutations are associated with neurological diseases. Finally, the evolution of the tRNA molecule is discussed based on the analysis of the tRNA structure (Caetano-Anolles and Sun, 2014) and ancestral ribozymes (Fujishima and Kanai, 2014).

Please enjoy reading all these articles, which will open the door to a new tRNA world!

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to acknowledge all the scientists and individuals who have supported this special issue: authors, reviewers, editors, and publishers. This work was supported in part by a Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (A) #26242075 from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology of Japan (to Akio Kanai).

REFERENCES

- Abbott, J. A., Francklyn, C. S., and Robey-Bond, S. M. (2014). Transfer RNA and human disease. *Front. Genet.* 5:158. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014. 00158
- Abe, T., Inokuchi, H., Yamada, Y., Muto, A., Iwasaki, Y., and Ikemura, T. (2014). tRNADB-CE: tRNA gene database well-timed in the era of big sequence data. *Front. Genet.* 5:114. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00114
- Caetano-Anolles, G., and Sun, F. J. (2014). The natural history of transfer RNA and its interactions with the ribosome. *Front. Genet.* 5:127. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00127

- Crick, F. H. (1966). Codon–anticodon pairing: the wobble hypothesis. J. Mol. Biol. 19, 548–555. doi: 10.1016/S0022-2836(66)80022-0
- Frank, J. (2000). The ribosome–a macromolecular machine par excellence. *Chem. Biol.* 7, R133–R141. doi: 10.1016/S1074-5521(00)00127-7
- Fujishima, K., and Kanai, A. (2014). tRNA gene diversity in the three domains of life. Front. Genet. 5:142. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00142
- Himeno, H., Kurita, D., and Muto, A. (2014). tmRNA-mediated trans-translation as the major ribosome rescue system in a bacterial cell. *Front. Genet.* 5:66. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00066
- Hori, H. (2014). Methylated nucleosides in tRNA and tRNA methyltransferases. Front. Genet. 5:144. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00144
- Normanly, J., and Abelson, J. (1989). tRNA identity. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 58, 1029–1049. doi: 10.1146/annurev.bi.58.070189.005121
- Raina, M., and Ibba, M. (2014). tRNAs as regulators of biological processes. Front. Genet. 5:171. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00171
- Shigi, N. (2014). Biosynthesis and functions of sulfur modifications in tRNA. Front. Genet. 5:67. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00067
- Soma, A. (2014). Circularly permuted tRNA genes: their expression and implications for their physiological relevance and development. *Front. Genet.* 5:63. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00063
- Tomita, K., and Yamashita, S. (2014). Molecular mechanisms of templateindependent RNA polymerization by tRNA nucleotidyltransferases. *Front. Genet.* 5:36. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00036

- Watanabe, Y., Suematsu, T., and Ohtsuki, T. (2014). Losing the stemloop structure from metazoan mitochondrial tRNAs and co-evolution of interacting factors. *Front. Genet.* 5:109. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014. 00109
- Yoshihisa, T. (2014). Handling tRNA introns, archaeal way and eukaryotic way. Front. Genet. 5:213. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00213

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 14 August 2014; accepted: 05 September 2014; published online: 23 September 2014.

Citation: Kanai A (2014) Welcome to the new tRNA world! Front. Genet. 5:336. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00336

This article was submitted to Non-Coding RNA, a section of the journal Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2014 Kanai. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

REVIEW ARTICLE published: 26 May 2014 doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00142

tRNA gene diversity in the three domains of life

Kosuke Fujishima^{1,2}* and Akio Kanai²*

¹ NASA Ames Research Center, Moffett Field, CA, USA

² Institute for Advanced Biosciences, Keio University, Tsuruoka, Japan

Edited by:

Sanjeev Kumar Srivastava, Mitchell Cancer Institute, USA

Reviewed by:

Sandeep Kumar, SUNY Downstate Medical Center, USA Nikhil Tyagi, Mitchell Cancer Institute, USA Kaushlendra Tripathi, Mitchell Cancer Institute, USA

*Correspondence:

Kosuke Fujishima, NASA Ames Research Center, Building N239, Moffett Field, CA 94035, USA e-mail: kosuke.fujishima@nasa.gov; Akio Kanai, Institute for Advanced Biosciences, Keio University, 403-1 Nipponkoku, Daihoji, Tsuruoka 997-0017, Japan e-mail: akio@sfc.keio.ac.jp

Transfer RNA (tRNA) is widely known for its key role in decoding mRNA into protein. Despite their necessity and relatively short nucleotide sequences, a large diversity of gene structures and RNA secondary structures of pre-tRNAs and mature tRNAs have recently been discovered in the three domains of life. Growing evidences of disrupted tRNA genes in the genomes of Archaea reveals unique gene structures such as, intron-containing tRNA, split tRNA, and permuted tRNA. Coding sequence for these tRNAs are either separated with introns, fragmented, or permuted at the genome level. Although evolutionary scenario behind the tRNA gene disruption is still unclear, diversity of tRNA structure seems to be co-evolved with their processing enzyme, so-called RNA splicing endonuclease. Metazoan mitochondrial tRNAs (mtRNAs) are known for their unique lack of either one or two arms from the typical tRNA cloverleaf structure, while still maintaining functionality. Recently identified nematode-specific V-arm containing tRNAs (nev-tRNAs) possess long variable arms that are specific to eukaryotic class II tRNA^{Ser} and tRNA^{Leu} but also decode class I tRNA codons. Moreover, many tRNA-like sequences have been found in the genomes of different organisms and viruses. Thus, this review is aimed to cover the latest knowledge on tRNA gene diversity and further recapitulate the evolutionary and biological aspects that caused such uniqueness.

Keywords: intron-containing tRNA, split tRNA, permuted tRNA, nev-tRNA, armless tRNA, RNA splicing endonuclease, co-evolution

INTRODUCTION

Transfer RNA (tRNA) is a short non-coding RNA of approximately 70-100 bases. The principal function of tRNA is its involvement in translation machinery. Each tRNA is charged with a corresponding amino acid and delivered into the ribosome during protein biosynthesis. Currently all living organism possess tRNA molecules and thus it is known as one of the most classical RNA molecules found in nature, and it is essential for the core biological system. The recent development in the fields of genomics and transcriptomics has revealed many non-canonical tRNA genes and their structures in the three domains of life. These include tRNA gene disruption, fragmentation, rearrangement, minimization, and re-coding (Kanai, 2013). It is likely that such diversification is a consequence of the co-evolution of tRNA and its processing enzyme known as splicing endonuclease (Tocchini-Valentini et al., 2005a). RNA splicing endonuclease in Archaea recognizes and cleaves a structural motif consisting of two three-nucleotide bulge loops separated by four base pairs, known as the bulge-helix-bulge (BHB) motif (Thompson and Daniels, 1990). Structural motif and location of tRNA introns in Archaea have been affected by the change in the recognition and activity of the different unit compositions in the tRNA splicing endonucleases (Fujishima et al., 2011). Some type of disrupted tRNA genes such as split tRNA are considered as potential analogs of early tRNA, thus creating a hot debate in the field of tRNA evolution (Randau and Söll, 2008; Di Giulio, 2012). While it is still unclear how tRNA molecules originated, evolutionary biologists continue to question how these chains of ribonucleotides

became involved in the context of protein synthesis, and how they influenced the evolution of these biological systems. When in the course of molecular evolution did tRNA molecule and its characteristic cloverleaf structure emerged is still an ongoing debate, however several evolutionary models representing the origin and convergence of proto-tRNA have been proposed (Weiner and Maizels, 1999; Widmann et al., 2005; Sun and Caetano-Anollés, 2007). In this review, we will recapitulate the characteristics of modern tRNA gene diversity, summarize the coevolutionary scenario of tRNA and their processing enzymes, and provide different models for the origin and evolution of early tRNA.

tRNA GENE DIVERSITY IN THE THREE DOMAINS OF LIFE

In the current era of large scale-genomics a large number of complete genome sequences are available; 2615 Bacteria, 166 Archaea, 171 Eukaryote, and 3490 Virus (March 2014; https://www.ebi.ac. uk/genomes/). tRNA genes have been long predicted computationally using a classical software tRNA-scanSE which enables one to identify 99–100% of canonical cloverleaf structure and introns at the anticodon loop with very few false positives (Lowe and Eddy, 1997). However, in 2005, a first example of *trans*-spliced tRNA encoded on two separate genes, so-called split tRNA was identified (Randau et al., 2005a). Two tRNA halves are bound by the complimentary leader sequence that forms the characteristic BHB motif at the tRNA exon-intron boundary. In an attempt to find structurally disrupted tRNA genes, our team developed a new tRNA prediction software SPLITS and SPLITSX (Sugahara et al., 2006, 2007) that centers on finding multiple intron-containing

tRNA and split tRNA through detection and removal of BHB motifs at the genome level. For similar reasons, improved version of tRNA-scanSE was recently launched (Chan et al., 2011). Based on these powerful computational approaches, a variety of non-standard tRNA genes have been found in all three domains of life and organelles (Table 1). We also summarized the tRNA gene diversity on the tree of life (Figure 1). Domain Archaea provides many of the examples of non-standard tRNAs such as multiple-intron containing tRNAs (Sugahara et al., 2008), split tRNAs (Randau et al., 2005a; Chan et al., 2011), tri-split tRNAs (Fujishima et al., 2009), and permuted tRNAs (Chan et al., 2011). Permuted tRNAs are also found in the nuclear and nucleomorph genomes of early-diverged eukaryotic algae (Soma et al., 2007; Maruyama et al., 2010). The only exception (exception to what?) is the Nematode-specific variable arm containing tRNAs (nevtRNAs) that decode alternative genetic code found in the phylum Nematoda (Hamashima et al., 2012). Many metazoan mitochondrial tRNAs are known for their armless tRNA structures lacking either one, or in extreme case, both of their arms (Ohtsuki et al., 2002; Masta and Boore, 2008). On the contrary, bacterial tRNA genes are surprisingly uniform and lack structural diversity. The only significant example found so far is the insertion of group I and II introns between nucleotides 37 and 38 of the precursor tRNA (37/38) when they are predominantly positioned adjacent to the anticodon (Paquin et al., 1997; Vogel and Hess, 2001). Similarly this location has also been known as "canonical" intron insertion site for enzymatically spliced introns in the tRNA precursors of Archaea and Eukaryotes (Abelson et al., 1998).

INTRON-CONTAINING tRNA

tRNA splicing events occur in all three domains: bacteria, archaea, and eukaryotes. In bacteria, tRNA introns are self-splicing group I introns found mostly in cyanobacteria and in few alpha- and betaproteobacteria (Reinhold-Hurek and Shub, 1992; Tanner and Cech, 1996). There are currently two group I intron families in cyanobacteria. One is found in tRNA^{fMet} that are recently recently gain by lateral gene transfer. The other one has more ancestral origin, found at exact same position of tRNA^{Leu} (UAA) genes in both cyanobacteria and organelles called plastid that originated from endosymbiotic cyanobacteria (Paquin et al., 1997). The typical secondary structure of a group I intron consists of approximately 10 helical elements with roughly 100 nucleotides as central catalytic core of the intron RNA to facilitate the splicing reaction (Haugen et al., 2005). The majority of the bacterial and plastid tRNA group I introns are located at position 37/38 immediately downstream of the anticodon. Interestingly the same feature is observed for eukarvotic and archaeal tRNA introns that are relatively short in length (less than 100 nt) and are spliced by a series of protein enzymes called splicing endonucleases (Abelson et al., 1998). Eukaryotic and archaeal tRNA splicing share similar RNA motif recognized by orthologous splicing endonucleases, and thus origin of the tRNA introns at canonical position is assumed to be very ancestral (Kanai, 2013). Whereas, recent bioinformatics studies have revealed a number of archaeal introns located at non-canonical positions and even some tRNA genes that harbor multiple introns (Sugahara et al., 2006, 2009). There is a clear trend showing that multiple intron-containing tRNAs are prominent in the archaeal order Thermoproteales. In the most extreme cases, more than half of the tRNA genes are intervened by multiple introns (Sugahara et al., 2008). Comprehensive sequence comparison of introns among seven Thermoproteales clearly show that similar intron sequences are observed among diverse tRNA species, indicating a large-scale intron transposition occurred within this archaeal order and that could have contributed to the rapid gain of introns (Fujishima et al., 2010).

SPLIT tRNA AND TRI-SPLIT tRNA

The first example of *trans*-spliced tRNA was reported in 2005 by Dieter Söll's group from a highly reduced genome of an ultrasmall nanoarchaeal parasite Nanoarchaeum equitans, termed as "split tRNA" (Randau et al., 2005a). In total, 11 fragmented tRNA genes encoding 5' or 3'-tRNA halves were determined through expression and sequencing analysis. This also included a unique case where one 3'-tRNA^{Glu} half was shared by two 5'-tRNA^{Glu} halves (Randau et al., 2005b). tRNA halves are joined in trans through annealing of complimentary leader sequences and forms a relaxed BHB motif at the leader-exon boundary to be processed by the tRNA splicing endonuclease. Because of its unique features, split tRNA was first considered as a by-product of genome size reduction, however recently sequenced Nanoarchaeota Nst1 genome held no split tRNA genes, indicating that the splitting event is a specific feature of N. equitans and seems to reflect ongoing genome rearrangement (Podar et al., 2013). However, in 2009, our group found a new set of split tRNA genes in a free-living hyperthermophilic crenarchaeon Caldivirga maquilingensis genome without obvious trace of genome rearrangement nor reduction. We also found a new type of split tRNA consists of a maximum of three different RNA pieces thus coined as "tri-split tRNA" (Fujishima et al., 2009). Interestingly, some of these genes that carry anticodon sequence can be swapped with other genes to create synonymous tRNA, just like a jigsaw puzzle. In Figure 2, we summarized all the combinations of primary split/tri-split tRNA transcripts forming mature tRNAs in C. maquilingensis.

Split tRNA genes have also been discovered from four archaeal species belonging to the Desulfurococcales branch using an improved version of tRNA-scanSE (Chan et al., 2011). To date, total 29 trans-spliced tRNA genes corresponding to 12 anticodons have been identified in seven hyperthermophilic archaeal genomes (**Table 1**). The ligation sites of split tRNA gene varies, however it generally overlaps with the frequent intron insertion site of Archaea (Fujishima et al., 2010). That said, in Section Split tRNA and Intron-Containing tRNA Early or Late?, we will explain some of the possible hypotheses that explain the origin and evolution of these non-contiguous tRNAs.

PERMUTED tRNA

Permuted tRNA is another form of disrupted tRNA gene where the 3' half of the tRNA lies upstream of the 5' half. It was first discovered in the nuclear genome of unicellular red alga *Cyanidioschyzon merolae*, (Soma et al., 2007). Expression analysis revealed that the BHB motif is formed at the termini of permuted tRNA precursor, which is further spliced and ligated into a characteristic circular tRNA intermediate. This circular intermediate is then further processed at the acceptor stem, possibly

Name	Bacteria	Archaea	Eukaryotes Genome	Organelles	References
Group I intron containing tRNA	Cyanobacteria, alpha-proteobacteria and beta-proteobacteria	-	-	Plastids, Chroloplast	Reinhold-Hurek and Shub, 1992; Tanner and Cech, 1996
Intron-containing tRNA (single)	_	All known Archaea	Most eukaryotes	-	Abelson et al., 1998; Marck and Grosjean 2003
Intron-containing tRNA (multiple)	-	Crenarchaeota, Nanoarchaeum equitans (Nanoarchaeota), Methanopyrus kandleri and Methanothermobacter thermautotrophicus (Euryarchaeota), Koraechaeum cryptofilim (Korarchaeota), ARMAN-1 and 2	<i>Cyanidioschyzon merolae</i> (red alga)	-	Sugahara et al., 2006, 2008, 2009; Soma et al., 2013
Split tRNA	-	Nanoarchaeum equitans (Nanoarchaeota), Aerophyrum pernix, Staphylothermus marinus, Thermosphaera aggregans and Caldivirga maquilingensis (Crenarchaeota)	-	-	Randau et al., 2005a; Chan et al., 2011
Tri-split tRNA	-	<i>Caldivirga maquilingenesis</i> (Crenarchaeota)	-	-	Fujishima et al., 2009
Permuted tRNA	-	Thermofilum pendens (Crenarchaeota)	<i>Cyanidioschyzon merolae</i> (red alga), Four prasinophyte algae	Nucleomorph in <i>Bigelowiella natans</i> (green algae)	Soma et al., 2007; Maruyama et al., 2010; Chan et al., 2011
Nematode-specific V-arm-containing tRNA (nev-tRNA)	-	_	Nematodes (Caenorhabditis elegans, C. brenneri, C. briggsae, C. japonica, C. remanei, Pristionchus pacificus, Meloidogyne incognita, M. hapla)	_	Hamashima et al., 2012
Armless tRNA	-	-	-	Most metazoan mitochondria	Okimoto and Wolstenholme, 1990; Ohtsuki et al., 2002; Ohtsuki and Watanabe, 2007; Masta and Boore, 2008

by RNase P and tRNase Z for maturation (Soma et al., 2007). SPLITS has not only contributed in finding permuted tRNA in the genome of *C. melorae* but also in other diverse photosynthetic eukaryotes including Chlorophytes, a clade of unicellular green

algae, and nucleomorph genome of the green alga *Bigelowiella natans* (Maruyama et al., 2010). A nucleomorph is a vestige of primitive algal nuclei which has undergone a process known as secondary endosymbiosis. The lack of permuted tRNA in other



of life and various organelles. Different types of tRNA genes are mapped on the phylogenetic tree of the three domains (Bacteria, Archaea, and Eukaryotes) derived from Last Universal Common Ancestor (LUCA). Dotted lines represent the location of where each tRNA gene type is found. Intron and spacer sequences are represented in orange. Regions deviating from the standard tRNA are shown in red.



known nucleomorph genomes and the patchy distribution of the permuted tRNA species among unicellular eukaryotes supports the gain and loss of permuted tRNA during the evolutionary stages of red and green algae (Maruyama et al., 2010). In 2011,

first examples of archaeal permuted tRNA genes were found in the Crenarchaeota *Thermofilum pendens* genome, expanding the realm of permuted tRNAs to eukaryotes and Archaea (Chan et al., 2011). Given the accumulating phylogenomic evidence supporting the eocyte hypothesis, a theory where eukaryotes originate within the archaeal tree and share a sister-group with Crenarchaeota (Cox et al., 2008; Williams et al., 2013), we expect precise phylogenetic studies of permuted tRNAs and their splicing enzymes that may further strengthen this hypothesis.

CO-EVOLUTION OF SPLICING ENDONUCLEASE AND tRNA

So far, the RNA splicing endonuclease *endA* family is known to be the only enzyme responsible for processing the characteristic BHB motif found in precursor sequences of tRNA (Marck and Grosjean, 2003; Sugahara et al., 2007), rRNA (Tang et al., 2002), and mRNA (Yokobori et al., 2009) in Archaea, as well as removal of tRNA introns in eukaryotes. **Figure 3** represents the diversity and evolutionary events that possibly occurred during the course of *endA* gene evolution. Currently four different types of archaeal splicing endonucleases have been identified along with their crystal structures. Both homotetrameric α_4 type and homodimeric α_2 type in Euryarchaeota are only capable of cleaving canonical BHB motifs (Li et al., 1998; Li and Abelson, 2000). Heterotetrameric ($\alpha\beta$)₂ is mostly found in Crenarchaeota (Tocchini-Valentini et al., 2005b) with a few exceptions found in Nanoarchaeota, *N. equitans*, and Euryarchaeota *Methanopyrus kandleri* (Randau et al., 2005c). Recently a fourth type of endonuclease, an unique three-unit homodimeric ε_2 type was found in ultrasmall acidophilic archaeon ARMAN-1 and 2 (Fujishima et al., 2011; Hirata et al., 2012) and it has been shown to cleave non-canonical introns (BHL and hBH) inserted at various positions of tRNA (Tocchini-Valentini et al., 2005a; Fujishima et al., 2011). Indeed, in the



FIGURE 3 | Diversification of splicing endonuclease family and their RNA substrate specificity. (A) Box representation of endA protein unit structure. (B) Comparison of strict (left) and relaxed (right) form of BHB motifs. (C) Possible evolutionary path of *endA* protein family based on sequence, phylogenetic (Randau et al., 2005c; Tocchini-Valentini et al., 2005b; Fujishima

et al., 2011) and molecular studies (Calvin and Li, 2008; Yoshinari et al., 2009; Hirata et al., 2012; Soma et al., 2013). Unit/subunit architecture of five known types [archaeal α_4 , α_2 , ($\alpha\beta$)₂, ϵ_2 , and eukaryotic $\alpha\beta\gamma\delta$] and two hypothetical types (korarchaeal α_2 with specific loop, and unknown *C. melorae* endonuclease) are shown, with colors indicating the phylogenetic relationship.

crenarchaeal order thermoproteales, large numbers of tRNA introns seem to have rapidly accumulated, generating multiple intron-containing tRNAs with a maximum of three introns. This phenomenon strongly suggest that the change of splicing endonuclease type will directly influence the tRNA gene structure (Sugahara et al., 2008). In $(\alpha\beta)_2$ type and ε_2 type endonucleases, an insertion of specific loops were observed and based on the structural analysis, both loops are essential for the recognition of relaxed BHB splicing motif found at the boundaries of tRNA exon and non-canonical introns (Hirata et al., 2012). These results clearly show the evolutionary path of splicing endonuclease toward acquiring broad substrate specificity, which drove the co-evolution along with tRNA genes to accept introns at various positions. Based on the sequence evidence and phylogeny of subunits, we recently proposed a novel homodimeric α_2 type of archaeal endA specifically found in Korarchaeota, which shares a same "specific loop" with the $(\alpha\beta)_2$ type, known to be essential for the cleavage of non-canonical tRNA introns (Fujishima et al., 2011). Indeed, Korarchaeum cryptofilum is the only archaeon with α_2 endonuclease that harbors tRNA genes with non-canonical introns, representing another example of the tRNA-endA coevolution. In eukaryotes, tRNA splicing endonuclease consists of four subunits Sen2p, Sen15p, Sen34p, and Sen54p, in which Sen2p and Sen34p share clear sequence homology to archaeal endA (Trotta et al., 1997). The function of eukaryotic endA has been well studied in yeast, where the yeast splicing endonuclease can only strictly cleave tRNA introns located at position 37/38 just after the anticodon (Reyes and Abelson, 1988). Highly conserved 50 aa core sequence shared between the two domains of life suggest a monophyletic origin of RNA splicing endonuclease as a single subunit protein forming a homotetramer known as α_4 type, emerged before the divergence of Archaea and eukaryotes (Abelson et al., 1998). While protein crystal structures of the four types of archaeal endonucleases have been solved, so far only one of the four eukaryotic endA subunits sen15p has been crystalized from human homolog (Song and Markley, 2007), leaving overall orientation of the eukaryotic tRNA splicing endonuclease up to speculation. Two-hybrid experiment has previously shown that in vivo, interaction occurs between Sen2p and Sen54p, and between Sen34p and Sen15p specifically, leading to a heterotetrameric enzyme model with Sen54p functioning as a ruler to measure the distance from the tRNA mature domain (Trotta et al., 1997). However, the genome sequence of primitive red algae C. melorae and green algae harbors highly-disrupted tRNA genes including permuted tRNA and multiple intron-containing tRNA. Only three homologs, cmSen2p, cmSen34p, and cmSen54p have been identified from the C. melorae genome (Tocchini-Valentini and Tocchini-Valentini, 2012). More recently, a yeast-two hybrid experiment revealed a reciprocal interaction between cmSen2 and cmSen54, however cmSen34p did not interact with either of the two subunits suggesting a distinct complex formation and splicing machinery from canonical eukaryotic heterotetramer (Soma et al., 2013).

NEV-tRNA (NEMATODE-SPECIFIC V-ARM-CONTAINING tRNAs)

Mature tRNA can be grouped into two distinct classes (I and II) based on the presence of the long variable arm (V-arm) located between the anticodon arm and the T-arm (Brennan and

Sundaralingam, 1976). This V-arm has known to be specific for tRNA^{Ser}, tRNA^{Leu}, and bacterial tRNA^{Tyr}, and it plays an important role in the recognition of cognate aminoacyl tRNA synthetase (aaRS) (Tocchini-Valentini et al., 2000). However, comprehensive analysis of 46 diverse eukaryotic genomes revealed over 100 novel class II tRNAs in six nematodes genomes with a non-canonical anticodon, coined as nematode-specific V-arm-containing tRNA (nev-tRNA) (Hamashima et al., 2012). Comparative sequence analysis of nev-tRNA has shown that aaRS recognition elements in the V-arm are similar to that of class II tRNA. Indeed, aminoacylation assay and in vivo translation experiment have shown that nev-tRNA^{Gly} can decode Gly(GGG) codon as leucine. Expression levels of two nev-tRNA $^{Gly}(CCC)$ and nev-tRNA $^{Ile}(UAU)$ turned out to be very low, compared to that of canonical tRNAs in C. elegans. Moreover, codons that nev-tRNAs correspond to are mostly rare codons and comprise less than 20% of the synonymous codons, suggesting it will not drastically influence the proteome (Hamashima et al., 2012). Recently we have identified additional nev-tRNAs in two plant-parasitic nematodes belonging to genus Meloidogyne. Similar anticodon alternation has been reported in other organisms including primates, Drosophila, yeast, and Enterobacteria, in which half of the cases were involved in switching the codon identity (Rogers and Griffiths-Jones, 2014). In extreme cases, anticodon shift results in assigning an alternative genetic code in certain species, such as the stop codons UGA or UAA being reassigned to various sense codons in Mycoplasma, certain ciliated protozoans, and peritrich species (Hamashima and Kanai, 2013).

MITOCHONDRIAL ARMLESS tRNA

Mitochondria are an essential organelle in eukaryotes, generating most of the cell's energy supply as ATP. It is generally accepted that mitochondria originated from within the bacterial phylum α-Proteobacteria and underwent an endosymbiotic event (Gray, 2012). With few exceptions, animal mitochondrial genomes carry over 20 tRNA genes that are distinct from their host cell tRNA (Boore, 1999). However, some nucleus-encoded tRNAs have to be imported from the cytosol to complete the mitochondrial translation (Salinas et al., 2012). Mitochondria have also developed their own variant genetic codes from the universal genetic code, repeatedly and independently in various eukaryotic taxa (Knight et al., 2001). Currently a compilation of over 30,525 mitochondrial tRNA (mt tRNA) sequences from 1418 fully sequenced metazoan mitochondrial RefSeq genomes are registered in the mitotRNAdb (http://mttrna.bioinf.uni-leipzig.de) (Jühling et al., 2009). Most mt tRNAs possess a canonical cloverleaf structure, however extreme examples of truncated mt tRNAs have been identified in some metazoan mitochondria (Ohtsuki et al., 2002; Masta and Boore, 2008). D-armless and T-armless mt tRNAs were first identified in two nematode worms C. elegans and Ascaris summ (Okimoto and Wolstenholme, 1990). Later, a significant number of T-armless mt tRNAs were found in six different eumetazoa phylum including Nematodes and Arthropods (Ohtsuki and Watanabe, 2007). On the contrary, mammalian mitochondria possess only the cloverleaf and D-armless tRNA, and so far truncated mt tRNA have not been observed in either plants or fungi, suggesting that D-armless tRNA first emerged after the branching of metazoa and more recently T-armless mt

tRNA arose in independent branches of eumetazoa (Ohtsuki and Watanabe, 2007). It has been speculated that the main cause of such diversification is due to the subfunctionalization of elon-gation factor EF-Tu. In *C. elegans*, mitochondrial DNA encodes two EF-Tu homologs, EF-Tu1 and EF-Tu2, which exclusively recognize aminoacylated T-armless and D-armless mt tRNAs, respectively (Arita et al., 2006). Given the fact that in mammalian mitochondria, cloverleaf and D-armless tRNAs are recognized by a single mt EF-Tu that resembles bacterial type (Andersen et al., 2000), gene duplication of EF-Tu leading to a subfunctionalizion of EF-Tu1 to recognize T-armless mt RNA should have contributed in the co-evolution of mt tRNA species, allowing their extreme truncation (Arita et al., 2006).

ORIGIN AND EVOLUTION OF tRNA—MOLECULAR EVIDENCE AND EVOLUTIONARY SCENARIO

tRNA is unique for its capability to bridge information from nucleotide polymer (RNA) to amino acid polymer (protein). Decoding of mRNA information by tRNA is governed by triplet codon-anticodon base pairing, and each codon corresponds to one of the 20 standard proteinogenic amino acids that all living organism share in common. These amino acids are correctly charged onto the 3'-adenosine terminal of the tRNA molecule by aaRSs. Currently two evolutionary unrelated classes of tRNA synthetases (Class I and Class II) are known (Wolf et al., 1999), and surprisingly for many of these aaRSs, anticodon arm is not necessary for aminoacylation, capable of charging short RNA minihelices and duplexes that including the minimal 12 bp acceptor arm-T Ψ C stem loop, known to be the top half of tRNA (Francklyn and Schimmel, 1989, 1990). This finding led to the theory of "operational code," which in the early stage of tRNA evolution, identity was solely embedded in the simple minihelix RNA which later became the acceptor stem of tRNA (Schimmel et al., 1993). Hence, in this chapter, we will feature major findings and theories that lead to a plausible scenario for the origin and evolution of tRNA molecule.

MINIMAL AMINOACYL RIBOZYME

The essentiality of tRNA lies in its core function of 2'-3' aminoacylation. Modern aaRS catalyze this reaction as a two-step reaction (1) Amino acid activated by ATP, forming an intermediate aminoacyl adenylate (aa-AMP), (2) Aminoacyl group is transferred from the adenylate to the tRNA 3'-terminal adenosine nucleotide. However, modern aaRSs are the product of aminoacylation-based translation and thus researchers have been seeking for a more primitive chemical path that eventually led to this sophisticated machinery. For example, it has been shown that high energy aminoacyl adenylate can be formed from ATP and amino acids under prebiotic conditions (Paecht-Horowitz and Katchalsky, 1973). Furthermore, an in vitro evolution experiment has achieved in selecting a ribozyme capable of selfaminoacylating its own 5'-hydroxyl group and transferring the aminoacyl group to the 3'-end of other RNA, supporting the idea that aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase ribozymes playing a important role in the RNA world (Lee et al., 2000). The most extreme example of aminoacylating ribozyme to date, is a 5-nt ribozyme discovered though radical minimization of C3 ribozyme that self-aminoacylates (Turk et al., 2010), this ultrasmall ribozyme initially trans-phenylalanylates a complementary 4-nt RNA selectively (**Figure 4A**). The transfer reaction occurs regiospecifically from the phenylalanine atom to ribose 2'-hydroxyl, forming an ester bond between amino acid and RNA that is identical to the modern aminoacylated tRNA. This discovery implies that short ribonucleotides can aminoacylate its counterpart to produce peptidyl-RNA, which can be interpreted as the minimal form of tRNA that could have originated in the very early stage of life.

MINIHELIX MODEL

One of the plausible models for the early stage of tRNA evolution is known as a minihelix or a minigene that forms a hairpin structure (Figure 4B). This concept comes from the fact that L-shaped tertiary structure can be distinguished into two halves, where only the top part of tRNA (acceptor stem $+ T\Psi C$ arm) is recognized by many of the modern tRNA synthetases (Schimmel and Ribas de Pouplana, 1995). The identity of tRNA is still embedded within the acceptor stem, generally depending on position discriminator base N73 and few base pairs downstream, termed the operational RNA code (Schimmel et al., 1993). Along with the discovery of minimal self-aminoacylating ribozymes presented in the previous section, presumably aminoacylated minihelix originated in an environment where short RNA oligos and amino acids co-existed, prior to the emergence of the ribosome. Tamura and Schimmel demonstrated that D-ribose chirality of RNA minihelix exhibited a clear preference for charging L-amino acids as opposed to D-amino acids (Tamura and Schimmel, 2004), indicating that aminoacylation of RNA could have been the key toward modern protein homochirality. Consequently, ribozyme-based aminoacylation was eventually substituted by more efficient and less promiscuous homochiral protein-based aminoacylation.

GENOMIC-TAG HYPOTHESIS AND tRNA-LIKE STRUCTURE

The top half of modern tRNAs is recognized by RNase P, CCAadding enzyme, and tRNA synthetases which are all related to the maturation of tRNA molecules function in protein synthesis. Various positive strand RNA viruses in plants possess tRNA-like structures (TLSs) at the 3'-end of their genome sequences that are functional mimics of tRNA (Dreher, 2009) (Figure 4C). They fall into three types, mimicking the tRNA function of specific aminoacylation by valine, histidine, or tyrosine at the 3' end of pseudoknotted aminoacyl acceptor stem (Pleij et al., 1985). Surprisingly their roles are diverse; tRNA mimicry providing translational enhancement, presentation of minus strand promoter elements for RNA replicase recognition, recruitment of host CCA nucleotidyltransferase as a 3'-telomere, and in vitro packaging of the viral genome (Dreher, 2010). Similar trend in using TLS for replicator element can also be seen for most retroviral RNA genomes and long terminal repeat (LTR)retrotransposons, in which annealing of the top half tRNA to the primer binding site initiates the reverse transcription (Le Grice, 2003). The growing evidence of tRNA elements involved in RNA and DNA replication has therefore led to the idea of the "Genomic Tag Hypothesis" noting that tRNA-like structural motifs initially



represented along with proposed primordial models. (A) Minimal ribozyme that catalyzes and generates short peptidyl-RNA, (B) minihelix harboring the 3'-CCA terminal sequence, (C) Genomic-tag hypothesis showing the recognition of minihelix by RNA replicase. This functionality could have been retained and integrated into the tRNA-like structure

duplication event that led to a subfunctionalization of two hairpin loops that are later diversified into D-arm and anticodon plus Tarm. (E) Split tRNA early model, showing a fusion of different minihelices that eventually led to modern cloverleaf. This is based on the fact that tRNA introns are universally and predominantly found at position 37/38 and that intron could be a reminiscent scar of gene fusion.

evolved as a 3' terminal motif that tagged RNA genomes for replication in the RNA world before the advent of protein synthesis (Weiner and Maizels, 1999).

DOUBLE HELIX MODEL

From a thermodynamic perspective, modern cloverleaf structure of tRNA is not a minimum free energy state but rather a local minimum structure that is reinforced by multiple post transcriptional modification (Wuchty et al., 1999). Similarities between nucleotides at comparable positions within the 5' and 3' halves of the tRNA molecule have often been taken as evidence that the modern cloverleaf structure arose through direct duplication of a hairpin (Tanaka and Kikuchi, 2001; Widmann et al., 2005) (**Figure 4D**). Indeed, one of the suboptimal structures of tRNA is a double helix structure that closely resembles a duplicate form of a minihelix and this structural feature was confirmed by *in vitro* cleavage of tRNA using RNase P (Hori et al., 2000). One possible scenario is that after the duplication event, the latter top half with 3'-CCA terminal continued its role as a recognition RNA element, while bottom half underwent subfunctionalization

to provide anticodon and sequence diversity to coevolve with variants of tRNA synthetases.

SPLIT tRNA AND INTRON-CONTAINING tRNA EARLY OR LATE?

The symmetric form of tRNA is also considered as a consequence of two separate hairpin RNAs fused to form a modern tRNA structure (Figure 4E). The evidence showing that intron sequence is universally found at position 37/38 just after the anticodon indicates a scenario that introns could be a trace of the assembled two hairpin RNA genes (Di Giulio, 2006). The difference from the duplicated double helix model is that the later added bottom half of the tRNA (D-arm + anticodon) could be evolutionary distinct from the top half. We have previously suggested the possibility of separate origin of 5' and 3' tRNA halves based on the sequence similarity and diversity in archeal tRNAs (Fujishima et al., 2008). Furthermore, based on phylogenetic studies of both structural and statistical characteristics of over 500 tRNA molecules suggests that the bottom half of the tRNA was added later in time (between 3 to 4 billion years ago) to the ancient top half, which grew by slow substructural accretion (Sun and Caetano-Anollés,

2007). Currently, split tRNA genes that separately encode the 5' and 3' halves of tRNAs are found in several archaeal genomes (see Section Split tRNA and Tri-Split tRNA for detail). Their split positions and flanking sequences resemble the intron in related species, indicating a strong evolutionary link between split tRNA and intron-containing tRNA (Fujishima et al., 2008, 2009). It is likely that the split tRNA that we currently see in several archaeal genomes is a recently acquired trait. For example, recently the sequenced genome of a first terrestrial hyperthermophilic member of nanoarchaeota Nst1 possess not even a single split tRNA gene (Podar et al., 2013). Interestingly, while N. equitans possess $(\alpha\beta)_2$ type endonucleases capable of processing non-canonical introns and split tRNA, Nst1 genome encodes α_4 type that can only cleave canonical introns. Accordingly, acquisition of $(\alpha\beta)_2$ type may have allowed tRNA gene fragmentation to occur and linger in N. equitans genome (Podar et al., 2013). Indeed, we have recently found evidence of ongoing tRNA gene disruption from a community genomic library prepared from a Caldiarchaeum subterraneum-dominated microbial mat (Sugahara et al., 2012). A heterogenic clone library revealed a putative DNA recombinase coding a 1.8 kb DNA insertion separating the tRNA fragment and the tRNA gene, a feature that is frequently found at the integration site of mobile elements, such as conjugative plasmids and viruses. Randau and Söll have earlier suggested that split tRNA genes present a strategy for impeding the viral integration or insertion of other mobile elements into canonical tRNA genes (Randau and Söll, 2008). A similar conclusion was reached by Chen et al., based on the fact that 5' and 3' halves of pre-tRNA^{Asp}(GUC) are located adjacent to each other in two related archaea A. pernix and T. aggregans, indicating two different local genome rearrangement events that occur at the same position in the same tRNA (Chan et al., 2011). On the other hand, Di Giulio interpreted this evidence from a different perspective that the current split genes we see in Archaea may represent the transition stage through which the evolution of tRNA molecule have passed (Di Giulio, 2009). He also explains that the discrepancy of having interruption at non-canonical position of some split tRNA is expected, and compatible with the split early model where assembly of the two hairpin-like structures may also have built structures to tinker with cloverleaf structure (Di Giulio, 2012).

CONCLUSIONS

In this review, we have recapitulated the diversity of gene orientation and RNA structures of modern tRNAs in three domains of life, organelles and viruses. We also focused on the co-evolution of tRNA and their splicing endonucleases, and discussed how subfunctionalization of the enzyme could shape tRNA gene arrangement by allowing the tRNA gene to accept introns at various positions as well as allowing gene fragmentation and permutation. The origin of the tRNA intron is still under debate since intron located at canonical position 37/38 is conserved between Archaea and Eukaryotes and thus represents an ancestral trait, while non-canonical introns are likely added recently due to the change in the functionality of RNA splicing endonuclease. Canonical positioning is a plausible explanation of the hypothesis that modern tRNA arose from simple minihelix RNA through gene duplication/fusion. There is also growing evidence of virus or transposable elements involved in the recent addition of the tRNA intron. It will be important to collect snapshots of the tRNA intron insertion event through sequence analysis to reveal the precise molecular mechanism. Lastly, the charm of tRNA research lies in its potential of shaping the genetic code. There are examples of re-coding in mitochondria and higher eukaryotes possibly driven by tRNA gene multiplication, which tends to target the rare codons to avoid impact on proteome. Further accumulation of genomic and transcriptomic sequence data will likely provide further examples of modern tRNA diversity as well as insight into the origin and evolution of this essential molecule that is deeply involved in the rise of modern genetic system.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr. Akira Hirata (Ehime University, Japan) for providing cartoon structures for splicing endonuclease. We thank Ryan Kent (NASA Ames Research Center, USA) for proofreading this manuscript. Finally we thank all the members of the RNA group at the Institute for Advanced Biosciences, Keio University, Japan, for their insightful discussions.

REFERENCES

- Abelson, J., Trotta, C. R., and Li, H. (1998). tRNA splicing. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 12685–12688. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.21.12685
- Andersen, G. R., Thirup, S., Spremulli, L. L., and Nyborg, J. (2000). High resolution crystal structure of bovine mitochondrial EF-tu in complex with GDP. J. Mol. Biol. 297, 421–436. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.2000.3564
- Arita, M., Suematsu, T., Osanai, A., Inaba, T., Kamiya, H., Kita, K., et al. (2006). An evolutionary 'intermediate state' of mitochondrial translation systems found in Trichinella species of parasitic nematodes: co-evolution of tRNA and EF-Tu. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 34, 5291–5299. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkl526
- Boore, J. L. (1999). Animal mitochondrial genomes. Nucleic Acids Res. 27, 1767–1780. doi: 10.1093/nar/27.8.1767
- Brennan, T., and Sundaralingam, M. (1976). Structure, of transfer RNA molecules containing the long variable loop. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 3, 3235–3252. doi: 10.1093/nar/3.11.3235
- Calvin, K., and Li, H. (2008). RNA-splicing endonuclease structure and function. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 65, 1176–1185. doi: 10.1007/s00018-008-7393-y
- Chan, P. P., Cozen, A. E., and Lowe, T. M. (2011). Discovery of permuted and recently split transfer RNAs in Archaea. *Genome Biol.* 12:R38. doi: 10.1186/gb-2011-12-4-r38
- Cox, C. J., Foster, P. G., Hirt, R. P., Harris, S. R., and Embley, T. M. (2008). The archaebacterial origin of eukaryotes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 20356–20361. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0810647105
- Di Giulio, M. (2006). The non-monophyletic origin of the tRNA molecule and the origin of genes only after the evolutionary stage of the last universal common ancestor (LUCA). *J. Theor. Biol.* 240, 343–352. doi: 10.1016/j.jtbi.2005.09.023
- Di Giulio, M. (2009). Formal proof that the split genes of tRNAs of Nanoarchaeum equitans are an ancestral character. J. Mol. Evol. 69, 505–511. doi: 10.1007/s00239-009-9280-z
- Di Giulio, M. (2012). The 'recently' split transfer RNA genes may be close to merging the two halves of the tRNA rather than having just separated them. *J. Theor. Biol.* 310, 1–2. doi: 10.1016/j.jtbi.2012.06.022
- Dreher, T. W. (2009). Role of tRNA-like structures in controlling plant virus replication. *Virus Res.* 139, 217–229. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2008.06.010
- Dreher, T. W. (2010). Viral tRNAs and tRNA-like structures. *Wiley Interdiscip. Rev.* RNA 1, 402–414. doi: 10.1002/wrna.42
- Francklyn, C., and Schimmel, P. (1989). Aminoacylation of RNA minihelices with alanine. *Nature* 337, 478–481. doi: 10.1038/337478a0
- Francklyn, C., and Schimmel, P. (1990). Enzymatic aminoacylation of an eightbase-pair microhelix with histidine. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 87, 8655–8659. doi: 10.1073/pnas.87.21.8655
- Fujishima, K., Sugahara, J., Kikuta, K., Hirano, R., Sato, A., Tomita, M., et al. (2009). Tri-split tRNA is a transfer RNA made from 3 transcripts that provides insight

into the evolution of fragmented tRNAs in archaea. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 2683–2687. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0808246106

- Fujishima, K., Sugahara, J., Miller, C. S., Baker, B. J., Di Giulio, M., Takesue, K., et al. (2011). A novel three-unit tRNA splicing endonuclease found in ultrasmall Archaea possesses broad substrate specificity. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39, 9695–9704. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkr692
- Fujishima, K., Sugahara, J., Tomita, M., and Kanai, A. (2008). Sequence evidence in the archaeal genomes that tRNAs emerged through the combination of ancestral genes as 5' and 3' tRNA halves. *PLoS ONE* 3:e1622. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0001622
- Fujishima, K., Sugahara, J., Tomita, M., and Kanai, A. (2010). Large-scale tRNA intron transposition in the archaeal order Thermoproteales represents a novel mechanism of intron gain. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 27, 2233–2243. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msq111
- Gray, M. W. (2012). Mitochondrial evolution. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 4:a011403. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a011403
- Hamashima, K., Fujishima, K., Masuda, T., Sugahara, J., Tomita, M., and Kanai, A. (2012). Nematode-specific tRNAs that decode an alternative genetic code for leucine. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 40, 3653–3662. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkr1226
- Hamashima, K., and Kanai, A. (2013). Alternative genetic code for amino acids and transfer RNA revisited. *Biomol. Concepts.* 4, 309–318. doi: 10.1515/bmc-2013-0002
- Haugen, P., Simon, D. M., and Bhattacharya, D. (2005). The natural history of group I introns. *Trends Genet.* 21, 111–119. doi: 10.1016/j.tig.2004.12.007
- Hirata, A., Fujishima, K., Yamagami, R., Kawamura, T., Banfield, J. F., Kanai, A., et al. (2012). X-ray structure of the fourth type of archaeal tRNA splicing endonuclease: insights into the evolution of a novel three-unit composition and a unique loop involved in broad substrate specificity. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 40, 10554–10566. doi: 10.1093/nar/gks826
- Hori, Y., Baba, H., Ueda, R., Tanaka, T., and Kikuchi, Y. (2000). *In vitro* hyperprocessing of Drosophila tRNAs by the catalytic RNA of RNase P the cloverleaf structure of tRNA is not always stable? *Eur. J. Biochem.* 267, 4781–4788. doi: 10.1046/j.1432-1327.2000.01534.x
- Jühling, F., Mörl, M., Hartmann, R. K., Sprinzl, M., Stadler, P. F., and Pütz, J. (2009). tRNAdb 2009: compilation of tRNA sequences and tRNA genes. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 37, D159–D162. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkn772
- Kanai, A. (2013). "Molecular evolution of disrupted transfer rna genes and their introns in archaea," in *Evolutionary Biology: Exobiology and Evolutionary Mechanisms*, ed P. Pontarotti (Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer), 181–193.
- Knight, R. D., Freeland, S. J., and Landweber, L. F. (2001). Rewiring the keyboard: evolvability of the genetic code. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 2, 49–58. doi: 10.1038/35047500
- Lee, N., Bessho, Y., Wei, K., Szostak, J. W., and Suga, H. (2000). Ribozyme-catalyzed tRNA aminoacylation. *Nat. Struct. Biol.* 7, 28–33. doi: 10.1038/71225
- Le Grice, S. F. J. (2003). 'In the Beginning': initiation of minus strand DNA synthesis in retroviruses and LTR-containing retrotransposons. *Biochemistry* 42, 14349–14355. doi: 10.1021/bi030201q
- Li, H., and Abelson, J. (2000). Crystal structure of a dimeric archaeal splicing endonuclease. J. Mol. Biol. 302, 639–648. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.2000.3941
- Li, H., Trotta, C. R., and Abelson, J. (1998). Crystal structure and evolution of a transfer RNA splicing enzyme. *Science* 280, 279–284. doi: 10.1126/science.280.5361.279
- Lowe, T. M., and Eddy, S. R. (1997). tRNAscan-SE: a program for improved detection of transfer RNA genes in genomic sequence. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 25, 955–964. doi: 10.1093/nar/25.5.0955
- Marck, C., and Grosjean, H. (2003). Identification of BHB splicing motifs in intron-containing tRNAs from 18 archaea: evolutionary implications. *RNA* 9, 1516–1531. doi: 10.1261/rna.5132503
- Maruyama, S., Sugahara, J., Kanai, A., and Nozaki, H. (2010). Permuted tRNA genes in the nuclear and nucleomorph genomes of photosynthetic eukaryotes. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 27, 1070–1076. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msp313
- Masta, S. E., and Boore, J. L. (2008). Parallel evolution of truncated transfer RNA genes in arachnid mitochondrial genomes. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 25, 949–959. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msn051
- Ohtsuki, T., Kawai, G., and Watanabe, K. (2002). The minimal tRNA: unique structure of Ascaris suum mitochondrial tRNA(Ser)(UCU) having a short T arm and lacking the entire D arm. *FEBS Lett.* 514, 37–43. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(02)02328-1

- Ohtsuki, T., and Watanabe, Y.-I. (2007). T-armless tRNAs and elongated elongation factor Tu. *IUBMB Life* 59, 68–75. doi: 10.1080/15216540701218722
- Okimoto, R., and Wolstenholme, D. R. (1990). A set of tRNAs that lack either the T psi C arm or the dihydrouridine arm: towards a minimal tRNA adaptor. *EMBO J.* 9, 3405–3411.
- Paecht-Horowitz, M., and Katchalsky, A. (1973). Synthesis of amino acyladenylates under prebiotic conditions. J. Mol. Evol. 2, 91–98. doi: 10.1007/BF016 53989
- Paquin, B., Kathe, S. D., Nierzwicki-Bauer, S. A., and Shub, D. A. (1997). Origin and evolution of group I introns in cyanobacterial tRNA genes. *J. Bacteriol.* 179, 6798–6806.
- Pleij, C. W., Rietveld, K., and Bosch, L. (1985). A new principle of RNA folding based on pseudoknotting. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 13, 1717–1731. doi: 10.1093/nar/13.5.1717
- Podar, M., Makarova, K. S., Graham, D. E., Wolf, Y. I., Koonin, E. V., and Reysenbach, A.-L. (2013). Insights into archaeal evolution and symbiosis from the genomes of a nanoarchaeon and its inferred crenarchaeal host from Obsidian Pool, Yellowstone National Park. *Biol. Direct* 8:9. doi: 10.1186/1745-6150-8-9
- Randau, L., Calvin, K., Hall, M., Yuan, J., Podar, M., Li, H., et al. (2005c). The heteromeric Nanoarchaeum equitans splicing endonuclease cleaves noncanonical bulge-helix-bulge motifs of joined tRNA halves. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 17934–17939. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0509197102
- Randau, L., Münch, R., Hohn, M. J., Jahn, D., and Söll, D. (2005a). Nanoarchaeum equitans creates functional tRNAs from separate genes for their 5'- and 3'halves. *Nature* 433, 537–541. doi: 10.1038/nature03233
- Randau, L., Pearson, M., and Söll, D. (2005b). The complete set of tRNA species in Nanoarchaeum equitans. FEBS Lett. 579, 2945–2947. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2005.04.051
- Randau, L., and Söll, D. (2008). Transfer RNA genes in pieces. *EMBO Rep.* 9, 623–628. doi: 10.1038/embor.2008.101
- Reinhold-Hurek, B., and Shub, D. A. (1992). Self-splicing introns in tRNA genes of widely divergent bacteria. *Nature* 357, 173–176. doi: 10.1038/357173a0
- Reyes, V. M., and Abelson, J. (1988). Substrate recognition and splice site determination in yeast tRNA splicing. *Cell* 55, 719–730. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(88)90230-9
- Rogers, H. H., and Griffiths-Jones, S. (2014). tRNA anticodon shifts in eukaryotic genomes. RNA 20, 269–281. doi: 10.1261/rna.041681.113
- Salinas, T., Duby, F., Larosa, V., Coosemans, N., Bonnefoy, N., Motte, P., et al. (2012). Co-evolution of mitochondrial tRNA import and codon usage determines translational efficiency in the green alga chlamydomonas. *PLoS Genet*. 8:e1002946. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1002946
- Schimmel, P., Giegé, R., Moras, D., and Yokoyama, S. (1993). An operational RNA code for amino acids and possible relationship to genetic code. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 90, 8763–8768. doi: 10.1073/pnas.90.19.8763
- Schimmel, P., and Ribas de Pouplana, L. (1995). Transfer RNA: from minihelix to genetic code. Cell 81, 983–986. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(05)80002-9
- Soma, A., Onodera, A., Sugahara, J., Kanai, A., Yachie, N., Tomita, M., et al. (2007). Permuted tRNA genes expressed via a circular RNA intermediate in *Cyanidioschyzon merolae*. *Science* 318, 450–453. doi: 10.1126/science. 1145718
- Soma, A., Sugahara, J., Onodera, A., Yachie, N., Kanai, A., Watanabe, S., et al. (2013). Identification of highly-disrupted tRNA genes in nuclear genome of the red alga, *Cyanidioschyzon merolae* 10D. Sci. Rep. 3:2321. doi: 10.1038/ srep02321
- Song, J., and Markley, J. L. (2007). Three-dimensional structure determined for a subunit of human tRNA splicing endonuclease (Sen15) reveals a novel dimeric fold. J. Mol. Biol. 366, 155–164. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2006.11.024
- Sugahara, J., Fujishima, K., Morita, K., Tomita, M., and Kanai, A. (2009). Disrupted tRNA gene diversity and possible evolutionary scenarios. J. Mol. Evol. 69, 497–504. doi: 10.1007/s00239-009-9294-6
- Sugahara, J., Fujishima, K., Nunoura, T., Takaki, Y., Takami, H., Takai, K., et al. (2012). Genomic heterogeneity in a natural archaeal population suggests a model of tRNA gene disruption. *PLoS ONE* 7:e32504. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0032504
- Sugahara, J., Kikuta, K., Fujishima, K., Yachie, N., Tomita, M., and Kanai, A. (2008). Comprehensive analysis of archaeal tRNA genes reveals rapid increase of tRNA introns in the order thermoproteales. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 25, 2709–2716. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msn216

- Sugahara, J., Yachie, N., Arakawa, K., and Tomita, M. (2007). In silico screening of archaeal tRNA-encoding genes having multiple introns with bulge-helix-bulge splicing motifs. RNA 13, 671–681. doi: 10.1261/rna.309507
- Sugahara, J., Yachie, N., Sekine, Y., Soma, A., Matsui, M., Tomita, M., et al. (2006). SPLITS: a new program for predicting split and intron-containing tRNA genes at the genome level. *In Silico Biol. (Gedrukt)* 6, 411–418.
- Sun, F.-J., and Caetano-Anollés, G. (2007). The origin and evolution of tRNA inferred from phylogenetic analysis of structure. J. Mol. Evol. 66, 21–35. doi: 10.1007/s00239-007-9050-8
- Tamura, K., and Schimmel, P. (2004). Chiral-selective aminoacylation of an RNA minihelix. Science 305, 1253–1253. doi: 10.1126/science.1099141
- Tanaka, T., and Kikuchi, Y. (2001). Origin of the cloverleaf shape of transfer RNA the double-hairpin model: implication for the role of tRNA intron and the long extra loop. *Viva Origino*. 29, 134–142.
- Tang, T. H., Rozhdestvensky, T. S., d'Orval, B. C., Bortolin, M.-L., Huber, H., Charpentier, B., et al. (2002). RNomics in Archaea reveals a further link between splicing of archaeal introns and rRNA processing. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 30, 921–930. doi: 10.1093/nar/30.4.921
- Tanner, M., and Cech, T. (1996). Activity and thermostability of the small selfsplicing group I intron in the pre-tRNA(lle) of the purple bacterium Azoarcus. *RNA* 2, 74–83.
- Thompson, L. D., and Daniels, C. J. (1990). Recognition of exon-intron boundaries by the *Halobacterium volcanii* tRNA intron endonuclease. *J. Biol. Chem.* 265, 18104–18111.
- Tocchini-Valentini, G., Saks, M. E., and Abelson, J. (2000). tRNA leucine identity and recognition sets. J. Mol. Biol. 298, 779–793. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.2000.3694
- Tocchini-Valentini, G. D., Fruscoloni, P., and Tocchini-Valentini, G. P. (2005a). Coevolution of tRNA intron motifs and tRNA endonuclease architecture in Archaea. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 102, 15418–15422. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0506750102
- Tocchini-Valentini, G. D., Fruscoloni, P., and Tocchini-Valentini, G. P. (2005b). Structure, function, and evolution of the tRNA endonucleases of Archaea: an example of subfunctionalization. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 8933–8938. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0502350102
- Tocchini-Valentini, G. D., and Tocchini-Valentini, G. P. (2012). Avatar pre-tRNAs help elucidate the properties of tRNA-splicing endonucleases that produce tRNA from permuted genes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, 21325–21329. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1219336110
- Trotta, C. R., Miao, F., Arn, E. A., Stevens, S. W., Ho, C. K., Rauhut, R., et al. (1997). The yeast tRNA splicing endonuclease: a tetrameric enzyme with two active site subunits homologous to the archaeal tRNA endonucleases. *Cell* 89, 849–858. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80270-6
- Turk, R. M., Chumachenko, N. V., and Yarus, M. (2010). Multiple translational products from a five-nucleotide ribozyme. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 107, 4585–4589. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0912895107

- Vogel, J., and Hess, W. R. (2001). Complete 5' and 3' end maturation of group II intron-containing tRNA precursors. RNA 7, 285–292. doi: 10.1017/S1355838201001960
- Weiner, A. M., and Maizels, N. (1999). The genomic tag hypothesis: modern viruses as molecular fossils of ancient strategies for genomic replication, and clues regarding the origin of protein synthesis. *Biol. Bull.* 196, 327. doi: 10.2307/1542962
- Widmann, J., Giulio, M. D., Yarus, M., and Knight, R. (2005). tRNA creation by hairpin duplication. J. Mol. Evol. 61, 524–530. doi: 10.1007/s00239-004-0315-1
- Williams, T. A., Foster, P. G., Cox, C. J., and Embley, T. M. (2013). An archaeal origin of eukaryotes supports only two primary domains of life. *Nature* 504, 231–236. doi: 10.1038/nature12779
- Wolf, Y. I., Aravind, L., Grishin, N. V., and Koonin, E. V. (1999). Evolution of aminoacyl-tRNA synthetases—analysis of unique domain architectures and phylogenetic trees reveals a complex history of horizontal gene transfer events. *Genome Res.* 9, 689–710. doi: 10.1101/gr.9.8.689
- Wuchty, S., Fontana, W., Hofacker, I. L., and Schuster, P. (1999). Complete suboptimal folding of RNA and the stability of secondary structures. *Biopolymers* 49, 145–165. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0282(199902)49:2<145::AID-BIP4> 3.0.CO;2-G
- Yokobori, S.-I., Itoh, T., Yoshinari, S., Nomura, N., Sako, Y., Yamagishi, A., et al. (2009). Gain and loss of an intron in a protein-coding gene in Archaea: the case of an archaeal RNA pseudouridine synthase gene. *BMC Evol. Biol.* 9:198. doi: 10.1186/1471-2148-9-198
- Yoshinari, S., Shiba, T., Inaoka, D.-K., Itoh, T., Kurisu, G., Harada, S., et al. (2009). Functional importance of Crenarchaea-specific extra-loop revealed by an X-ray structure of a heterotetrameric crenarchaeal splicing endonuclease. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 37, 4787–4798. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkp506

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 03 April 2014; paper pending published: 14 April 2014; accepted: 28 April 2014; published online: 26 May 2014.

Citation: Fujishima K and Kanai A (2014) tRNA gene diversity in the three domains of life. Front. Genet. 5:142. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00142

This article was submitted to Non-Coding RNA, a section of the journal Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2014 Fujishima and Kanai. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

REVIEW ARTICLE published: 01 April 2014 doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00063



Akiko Soma *

Graduate School of Horticulture, Chiba University, Matsudo, Japan

Edited by:

Akio Kanai, Keio University, Japan

Reviewed by:

Akio Kanai, Keio University, Japan Patricia Chan, University of California Santa Cruz, USA

*Correspondence:

Akiko Soma, Graduate School of Horticulture, Chiba University, 648 Matsudo, Chiba 271-8510, Japan e-mail: soma@chiba-u.jp

A number of genome analyses and searches using programs that focus on the RNA-specific bulge-helix-bulge (BHB) motif have uncovered a wide variety of disrupted tRNA genes. The results of these analyses have shown that genetic information encoding functional RNAs is described in the genome cryptically and is retrieved using various strategies. One such strategy is represented by circularly permuted tRNA genes, in which the sequences encoding the 5'-half and 3'-half of the specific tRNA are separated and inverted on the genome. Biochemical analyses have defined a processing pathway in which the termini of tRNA precursors (pre-tRNAs) are ligated to form a characteristic circular RNA intermediate, which is then cleaved at the acceptor-stem to generate the typical cloverleaf structure with functional termini. The sequences adjacent to the processing site located between the 3'-half and the 5'-half of pre-tRNAs potentially form a BHB motif, which is the dominant recognition site for the tRNA-intron splicing endonuclease, suggesting that circularization of pre-tRNAs depends on the splicing machinery. Some permuted tRNAs contain a BHB-mediated intron in their 5'- or 3'-half, meaning that removal of an intron, as well as swapping of the 5'- and 3'-halves, are required during maturation of their pre-tRNAs. To date, 34 permuted tRNA genes have been identified from six species of unicellular algae and one archaeon. Although their physiological significance and mechanism of development remain unclear, the splicing system of BHB motifs seems to have played a key role in the formation of permuted tRNA genes. In this review, current knowledge of circularly permuted tRNA genes is presented and some unanswered questions regarding these species are discussed.

Keywords: tRNA gene, circular gene permutation, BHB motif, tRNA-splicing endonuclease, intron

INTRODUCTION

The cloverleaf structure of a single polynucleotide tRNA molecule is universally conserved among organisms. However, tRNA genes are often divided into parts on the chromosome; in bacteria, archaea, eukarya, and organelles, several tRNA genes are interrupted by various types of introns, which are removed by RNA splicing after transcription (Thompson and Daniels, 1988; Kjems et al., 1989; Westaway and Abelson, 1995; Belfort and Weiner, 1997; Marck and Grosjean, 2002, 2003; Jühling et al., 2009; Abe et al., 2011). Introns in nuclear and archaeal tRNAs are generally cleaved by tRNA-splicing endonuclease (Reyes and Abelson, 1988; Abelson et al., 1998; Calvin and Li, 2008), while those in eubacteria and organelle tRNAs are encoded as self-splicing group I or II introns (Kuhsel et al., 1990; Xu et al., 1990a; Reinhold-Hurek and Shub, 1992; Biniszkiewicz et al., 1994; Jacquier, 1996; Bonen and Vogel, 2001). In addition to these well-known cis-spliced tRNA genes (intron-containing tRNAs), recently developed software has enabled the identification of additional distinct types of disrupted tRNA genes. Use of the Split-tRNA-Search (Randau et al., 2005a), SPLITS and SPLITSX (Sugahara et al., 2006, 2007) packages, in combination with the widely used tRNAscan-SE program (Lowe and Eddy, 1997), has led to the discovery of a variety of disrupted tRNA genes from the archaeal lineage, such as *trans*-spliced tRNAs (split tRNAs) that are joined at several positions in the cloverleaf structure (Randau et al., 2005a,b; Fujishima et al., 2009; Chan et al., 2011) and *cis*-spliced tRNAs containing one or multiple introns at non-canonical positions (Sugahara et al., 2008, 2009; Chan and Lowe, 2009). These newly identified tRNAs commonly harbor a characteristic bulge-helix-bulge (BHB) motif, which comprises two 3-nucleotide bulges separated by a single 4-base pair stem and was originally identified around the intron-exon junction of eukaryal and archaeal tRNAs (Thompson and Daniels, 1988; Kjems et al., 1989; Belfort and Weiner, 1997; Fabbri et al., 1998; Marck and Grosjean, 2003).

Nuclear tRNA introns are generally short, comprise a relaxed form of the BHB motif denoted as a hBH or BHB-like (BHL) motif, and are located exclusively between positions 37 and 38 (37/38), which is 3' adjacent to the anticodon (the canonical position) (Marck and Grosjean, 2002, 2003; Jühling et al., 2009). This limited location of the BHB motif in the cloverleaf structure is crucial for the precise recognition of precursor tRNAs (pre-tRNAs) by eukaryal tRNA-splicing endonucleases (Greer et al., 1987; Reyes and Abelson, 1988; Westaway and Abelson,

1995; Di Nicola Negri et al., 1997; Trotta et al., 1997, 2006; Xue et al., 2006; Calvin and Li, 2008). However, recent analyses of the nuclear and nucleomorph genomes of unicellular algae identified a number of non-canonical BHB-mediated disrupted tRNA genes, including circularly permuted and atypical introncontaining genes (Kawach et al., 2005; Soma et al., 2007, 2013; Landweber, 2007; Maruyama et al., 2010; Chan et al., 2011). Analysis of the processing intermediates of permuted tRNAs revealed a new strategy for post-transcriptional processing of genetic information by inversion of RNA fragments and relocation of the termini via circularization of pre-RNA molecules (Soma et al., 2007, 2013; Maruvama et al., 2010). A further analysis also identified permuted tRNA genes in an archaeal lineage (Chan et al., 2011), highlighting the considerable diversity and wide distribution of tRNA gene disruption among organisms. While BHB motifs and the tRNA-intron splicing system must have been a prerequisite for the development of permuted tRNA genes (Soma et al., 2007; Sugahara et al., 2009; Maruyama et al., 2010; Tocchini-Valentini and Tocchini-Valentini, 2012; Kanai, 2013), their detailed mechanisms and physiological relevance remain unclear.

Here, the structure, expression, and phylogeny of circularly permuted tRNA genes are summarized. Discussions of their possible physiological relevance and method of development in correlation with the tRNA expression system and other disrupted non-coding RNA genes are also provided.

IDENTIFICATION AND DISTRIBUTION OF CIRCULARLY PERMUTED tRNA GENES

Circularly permuted tRNA genes were initially identified in the nuclear genome of Cyanidioschyzon merolae 10D (Soma et al., 2007), an ultra-small unicellular red alga that inhabits an extreme environment (pH 1-3, 40-50°C) and represents one of the most ancestral forms of eukaryote (Kuroiwa, 1998; Nozaki et al., 2003, 2007; Matsuzaki et al., 2004). A primary search of the complete 16.5 Mbp C. merolae nuclear genome sequence was performed using tRNAscan-SE, the most wellknown and widely used software, which identifies tRNA genes without or with introns canonically located at position 37/38 in the anticodon-loop (Lowe and Eddy, 1997). This analysis identified a total of 30 predicted tRNA genes, which is insufficient to decode the 61 sense codons utilized in the nuclear genome of C. merolae (Matsuzaki et al., 2004). Therefore, to discover unidentified C. merolae nuclear tRNA genes, a genomewide analysis was performed using the SPLITS and SPLITSX programs (Sugahara et al., 2006, 2007), which were developed to detect tRNA genes harboring BHB motifs, including cisspliced tRNAs with introns inserted at various positions and split tRNAs that are joined at several positions in the cloverleaf structure. In addition, a BLAST search of conserved sequences in the T Ψ C-arm or anticodon-arm was also performed. This approach identified a total of 43 tRNA genes for 42 anticodons, which is sufficient to decode the 61 codons (Soma et al., 2007, 2013).

Notably, for 11 of the 43 tRNA genes identified in *C. mero-lae*, the sequence encoding the 3'-half of the tRNA is positioned upstream of the sequence encoding the 5'-half in the genome

(Figure 1A), and the two halves are interrupted by an intervening sequence that corresponds to the boundary connecting the 5'and 3'-ends of the acceptor-stem of a mature tRNA. This arrangement is termed the circular gene permutation model (Heinonen et al., 1987; Pan et al., 1991; Keiler et al., 2000); hence, these genes were named "circularly permuted tRNA genes" (Soma et al., 2007). The study by Soma et al. (2007) was the first report of the existence of permuted genes encoding tRNAs or eukaryal nuclearencoded non-coding RNAs. A TATA-like sequence was identified within the region 50 bp upstream of the 3'-half of most of the permuted tRNA genes as well as the non-permuted tRNA genes in C. merolae (Matsuzaki et al., 2004; Soma et al., 2013), indicating its importance for the transcription of tRNA genes. A T-stretch corresponding to a termination signal for RNA polymerase III (RNAPIII) was identified downstream of the 5'-half of these genes (Sprague, 1995; Hamada et al., 2000; Nielsen et al., 2013), but no promoter or termination signals were identified in the intervening region between the 3'- and 5'-halves, which varies in length from 7 to 74 nucleotides (Table 1). These observations suggest that the 3'- and 5'-halves of the putative tRNA genes are transcribed as a linear RNA. The exon sequences of both the permuted and non-permuted C. merolae tRNA genes show ordinary characteristics of eukarval tRNAs and contain consensus elements found in eukaryotic tRNAs (Marck and Grosjean, 2002; Jühling et al., 2009), including U8, the R15:Y48 tertiary base pairing, G18G19, and U33; in addition, the U54U55C56 for elongator tRNAs and the A54U55C56 for initiator tRNA^{Met} are also conserved. The 3'terminal CCA sequence, to which an amino acid is conjugated, is not encoded in the C. merolae genome, as found in other eukaryotes.

As shown in **Figure 1B**, *C. merolae* permuted tRNA genes can be classified into four types (I–IV) based on the location of the junction between the 3'-end of the 5'-half and the 5'-end of the 3'-half in the inferred secondary structures of the pretRNAs. The junctions are located at position 20/21 in the D-loop (type I), position 37/38 in the anticodon-loop (type II), position 50/51 in the T Ψ C-stem (type III), or position 59/60 in the T Ψ C-loop (type IV). In *C. merolae*, one type I, six type II, one type III, and three type IV candidate tRNAs have been identified (**Figure 1C**, **Table 1**). The sequences adjacent to the junctions in the pre-tRNAs are predicted to form a BHB motif that is generally found around the intron-exon junctions of nuclear and archaeal pre-tRNAs (**Figure 1C**).

To date, 34 permuted tRNA genes have been identified in unicellular algae and archaea (**Table 1**), including 11 genes from the nuclear genome of the red alga *C. merolae* (Soma et al., 2007); 19 genes from the nuclear genome of four green algae (*Ostreococcus lucimarimus*, *Ostreococcus tauri*, *Micromonas Pusilla*, and *Micromonas* sp. *RCC299*) (Maruyama et al., 2010); two genes from the nucleomorph genome of the chlorarachiniophyte alga *Bigelowiella natans* (Maruyama et al., 2010), which is a remnant of a green algal nuclear DNA that developed as a secondary endosymbiont (Douglas et al., 2001; Archibald, 2007; Archibald and Lane, 2009); and two genes from the genome of the crenarchaeon *Thermofilum pendens* (Chan et al., 2011). In the nucleomorph and the nucleus of green algae, the junctions of the permuted pre-tRNAs are located most commonly at





5'-half (blue) and the 5'-end of the 3'-half (red) in the secondary structure. **(C)** Inferred secondary structures of pre-tRNAs representing the four types of permuted tRNA genes in *C. merolae.* The arrowheads indicate the positions to be processed. The intron sequence is shown in lower case. The tRNA positions are numbered according to Marck and Grosjean (2002). The figures are partially identical to the Figure 1 of Soma et al. (2007).

Organism	Permuted tRNA (anticodon)	Type (junction)	Intervening seq. (bp)	Intron (BHB, position, bp
RED ALGA				
C. merolae	Leu(TAA)	l (20/21)	10	hBHBh', 37/38, 21
	GIn(CTG)	II (37/38)	31	No
	Leu(CAG)	II (37/38)	9	No
	Thr(CGT)	II (37/38)	31	No
	Thr(AGT)	II (37/38)	24	No
	Gly(CCC)	II (37/38)	7	no h, 55/56, 13
	Gly(CCC)	II (37/38)	7	no h, 55/56, 13
	iMet(CAT)	III (50/51)	74	No
	Ala(TGC)	IV (59/60)	8	No
	Arg(CCT)	IV (59/60)	23	hBHBh', 14/15, 27
	Lys(TTT)	IV (59/60)	38	No
GREEN ALGA				
O. lucimarinus	Leu (TAA)	II (37/38)	25	No
	Ser(CGA)	II (37/38)	12	No
	Ser(TGA)	II (37/38)	13	no H, 27/28, 56
	Cys(GCA)	II (37/38)	26	No
D. tauri	Ser (CGA)*	V (15/16)	17	No
	Ser(CGA)	II (37/38)	28	No
	Ser(TGA)	II (37/38)	33	No
	Arg(TCT)	II (37/38)	11	No
	Asn(GTT)	II (37/38)	22	No
	Cys(GCA)	II (37/38)	38	No
M. pusilla	Ser (GCT)	II (37/38)	15	No
	Ser(CGA)	II (37/38)	19	No
	Ser(AGA)	II (37/38)	64	No
	iMet(CAT)	II (37/38)	47	No
	Leu(TAA)	II (37/38)	20	No
	Cys(GCA)	II (37/38)	12	No
M.sp RCC299	Ser (CGA)	II (37/38)	16	No
	Ser(TGA)	II (37/38)	12	No
	iMet(CAT)	II (37/38)	12	No
CHLORARACHNIO	PHYTE ALGA			
3. natans	Ser (AGA)	II (37/38)	5	No
nucleomorph)	Ser(CGA)	II (37/38)	5	No
CRENARCHAEA				
T. pendens	iMet (CAT)	IV (59/60)	7	no H, 37/38, 15
	Tyr(GTA)	IV (59/60)	1	no H, 37/38, 59

Table 1 | Characteristics of permuted tRNA genes in unicellular algae and archaea.

Each gene is identified by the amino acid with which the tRNA is charged. Classification of permuted tRNAs (types I–V) is based on the location of the junction between the 5'-half and the 3'-half in the inferred secondary structure for pre-tRNAs. The length (bp, base pair) of sequence encoding for the intervening sequence and the presence of an intron are indicated. In C. merolae, two distinct genes that produce identical mature tRNA sequences encode tRNA^{Gly}(CCC). iMet and eMet mean initiator and elongator tRNA^{Met}(CAT), respectively. The asterisk indicates that the sequence of this tRNA is a typical, and experimental analysis would be preferable.

position 37/38 in the anticodon-loop (type II), while they are located at position 59/60 in the T Ψ C-loop (type IV) in archaea (**Figure 2A, Table 1**). This tendency contrasts with that in the red alga *C. merolae*, in which the junctions are found at various positions in the cloverleaf structure. The intervening sequence varies from 1 to 74 bp among organisms (**Table 1**); tRNA^{Tyr}(GTA) from *T. pendens* contains the shortest intervening sequence, while tRNA^{iMet}(CAT) from *C. merolae* contains the longest intervening sequence. The species of amino acid or anticodon in the tRNAs encoded by permuted genes are not conserved among organisms. Interestingly, permuted tRNA^{iMet}(CAT) exists in each lineage of red algae, green algae, and crenarchaea. In addition, tRNA^{Ser}, tRNA^{Leu}, and tRNA^{Tyr}, which are classified as class II tRNAs and have long variable-arms (Rich and Rajbhandary, 1976; Dirheimer et al., 1995), tend to be encoded as permuted genes. This observation may imply that the evolution of the long variable-arm, which is the dominant element required for recognition by corresponding aminoacyl-tRNA synthetases (Asahara et al., 1993;



according to Marck and Grosjean (2002) and the arrows indicate the positions of the BHB motifs. The type of BHB motif and the presence or absence of an intron is indicated for each tRNA. For example, "*C. merolae* Leu(TAA), HBh', +intron, (37/38)" at the position between nucleotides 20 and 21 means that the HBh' is from the junction of the *C. merolae* permuted tRNA^{Leu}(UAA), which contains an intron at 37/38. **(B)** The BHB

"B = 3") separated by one of two s-inducedule (iii) bugges (denoted as "B = 3") separated by a central 4-base pair (bp) helix (denoted as "H = 4") and flanked by two helices (denoted as h or h'), each with more than two base pairings. "hBHBh'" is the strict form of the BHB motif, which contains two bulges, a central helix and two flanking helices. The relaxed form of the BHB motif (BHL) lacking some of these bulges or helices is denoted as "hBH" or "HBh'." The term "no H" represents motifs that do not contain a central 4-bp helix.

Himeno et al., 1997a; Soma et al., 1999), is correlated with that of the tRNA gene structure. Indeed, the long variable-arm is suggested to have arisen from an intron (Kjems et al., 1989). Further analyses of the sequences of disrupted tRNAs will aid identification of the types of tRNA genes that tend to be permuted.

TRANSCRIPTION OF PERMUTED tRNA GENES

Northern blotting and aminoacylation analyses of *C. merolae* total RNA verified that tRNA molecules expressed from permuted genes are aminoacylated and are thus likely to participate in protein synthesis (Soma et al., 2007). Expression of some permuted tRNA genes from the nucleomorph and the nucleus of green algae has also been confirmed by northern blotting or reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction analyses (Maruyama et al., 2010). However, the function of mature tRNAs in the nucleomorph is unclear because protein synthesis in these structures has not yet

been observed experimentally (Archibald and Lane, 2009; Curtis et al., 2012). The two permuted tRNAs in the archaea *T. pendens* are both encoded by single-copy genes for a unique anticodon that cannot be supplemented by other isoacceptors (Chan et al., 2011); therefore, they must be expressed and produce functional tRNA molecules.

The identification of unusual (permuted and atypical introncontaining) tRNA genes in eukaryotes raised an intriguing question about the mechanism of transcription. In eukaryotes, transcription of tRNA genes is generally performed by RNAPIII and it relies on an intragenic bipartite promoter consisting of an A box and a B box, which correspond to the highly conserved sequences in the D-arm (positions 8–19) and T Ψ C-arm (positions 52–62), respectively, (Galli et al., 1981; Ciliberto et al., 1983; Sprague, 1995; Guffanti et al., 2006; Marck et al., 2006). The protein factors that bind to these motifs have been wellcharacterized in yeast (Willis, 1993; Paule and White, 2000; Geiduschek and Kassavetis, 2001; Huang and Maraia, 2001; Schramm and Hernandez, 2002). Polymerase III C (TFIIIC), a multi-subunit complex of transcription factors that is essential for transcription by RNAPIII, binds to the A and B boxes simultaneously and promotes binding of the TFIIIB complex, which includes the TATA-box binding protein, to the region upstream of the tRNA sequence, followed by recruitment of RNAPIII. The dependency of transcription of tRNA genes on the A and B boxes is predominantly conserved; however, the additional requirements for transcription are diverse among organisms and the upstream region sometimes contributes to the efficiency of the initiation step (Choisne et al., 1998; Yukawa et al., 2000; Hamada et al., 2001; Giuliodori et al., 2003; Dieci et al., 2006).

In permuted tRNA genes, the A box and B box are located inversely and are interrupted by an intervening sequence of variable length. This positional relationship is unsuitable for TFIIIC binding; therefore, the A and B boxes may not be uniformly bound by TFIIIC and the intragenic promoter may be dispensable for transcription of these genes. Instead, an upstream TATA-like sequence and a downstream T-stretch, which are probably the promoter and termination signal, respectively, (Sprague, 1995; Hamada et al., 2000, 2001; Nielsen et al., 2013), are located close to most permuted tRNA genes in C. merolae (Soma et al., 2007). This genomic arrangement also occurs for non-permuted tRNA genes in C. merolae, and the A and B boxes in the promoters of these genes may not be recognized by TFIIIC because they are often interrupted by a single or multiple (up to three) introns of various lengths (11-69 bp) (Matsuzaki et al., 2004; Soma et al., 2013). Homologs of TFC1 and TFC3, the TFIIIC components that are responsible for binding to the A and B boxes, have not been identified in C. merolae (Matsuzaki et al., 2004; Nozaki et al., 2007). Taken together, these findings suggest that C. merolae employs a non-canonical transcription system that is independent of TFIIIC and directs recruitment of TFIIIB to the upstream TATA-box, thereby enabling the transcription of various types of tRNA genes. An ambiguous AT-rich region is also located upstream of some permuted tRNA-encoding sequences in the B. natans nucleomorph and the nucleus of green algae (Maruyama et al., 2010). Therefore, TATA-like sequencedependent transcription of tRNA genes may predominate in algae. This possibility is supported by the fact that an upstream TATA box is well conserved and functionally important for transcription of tRNA genes in some plants and fungi (Choisne et al., 1997, 1998; Yukawa et al., 2000; Hamada et al., 2001; Dieci et al., 2006). In addition, transcription of Saccharomyces cerevisiae tRNA genes harboring an upstream TATA box proceeds without TFIIIC in vitro (Dieci et al., 2000).

In archaea, transcription of a stable RNA depends on the upstream promoter including BRE (TFB response element) and TATA box (Wich et al., 1986; Thomm and Wich, 1988; Palmer and Daniels, 1995; Reeve, 2003), and on a downstream poly T sequence, which contributes to transcription termination (Santangelo et al., 2009). In *T. pendens*, which harbors two permuted tRNA genes, a predicted AT-rich promoter is located upstream of most of its tRNA genes (Chan et al., 2011), suggesting that various types of tRNA genes are potentially

expressed. Consistent with this notion, *T. pendens* contains a large number of tRNA genes that are disrupted by various introns (Sugahara et al., 2009; Chan et al., 2011; Fujishima et al., 2011).

MATURATION OF PERMUTED PRE-tRNAs VIA A CIRCULAR RNA INTERMEDIATE

Processing of a pre-tRNA typically involves intronic splicing, maturation of the 5'- and 3'-ends at the acceptor stem, and nucleotide modification (Figure 3A) (Deutscher, 1995; Hopper and Phizicky, 2003). Biochemical analyses have shown that permuted pre-tRNAs in unicellular algae are maturated by a processing pathway that utilizes a circular RNA intermediate to exchange the location of the 5'- and 3'-halves of the tRNA (Soma et al., 2007, 2013; Maruyama et al., 2010). Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction and sequencing analyses identified the following processing intermediates derived from algal permuted tRNAs: a circularly permuted pre-tRNA, the sequence of which aligns in the order of the leader sequence, the 3'-half of tRNA, the intervening sequence, the 5'-half of tRNA, and then the trailer sequence; and a circular RNA intermediate, in which the leader and trailer sequences are removed and the resulting ends are ligated, while the intervening sequence is retained. Furthermore, a consistent PCR product was also observed in these analyses, suggesting that two rounds of reverse transcription occur around a circular intermediate, thereby confirming the presence of the circular RNA molecule. Terminal sequences were also verified for a mature tRNA, in which the extra sequences are removed and the CCA sequence is added post-transcriptionally to the 3'-terminus of the acceptor-stem, as occurs in other eukaryotes.

As summarized in the model presented in **Figure 3B**, maturation of permuted pre-tRNAs in algal cells probably starts with processing of the junction of the termini to form a circular RNA intermediate in which the termini are joined by the intervening sequence. The intervening sequence in the acceptor-loop of the circular RNA intermediate is then removed, possibly by RNase P (Altman et al., 1995; Jarrous and Gopalan, 2010; Altman, 2011) and tRNase Z (Deutscher, 1995; Schürer et al., 2001; Schiffer et al., 2002; Späth et al., 2007), which are universal endoribonucleases. Finally, the 3'-terminal CCA sequence is added (Weiner, 2004) to generate the functional acceptor-stem of the tRNA. Because the circular RNA intermediate has been detected in red and green algae, this model is likely to be common to permuted tRNAs of both types of algae.

Cleavage of the leader and trailer sequences at the junction of permuted pre-tRNAs is most likely performed by the tRNAintron splicing machinery, because the sequences adjoining the processing sites potentially form a BHB motif, which is the dominant recognition element for nuclear and archaeal tRNA-splicing endonucleases (**Figures 1C, 2B**). After excision of the BHB motifs at the junction, subsequent ligation of the 5'- and 3'-termini of the exons is required and is probably carried out by tRNA-splicing ligase (Xu et al., 1990b; Westaway and Abelson, 1995; Englert et al., 2011, 2012; Popow et al., 2011). It is intriguing that various positions in the cloverleaf structure of tRNAs, even the core region of the L-shaped tertiary structure, can serve as termini for



permuted pre-RNA molecules that are recognized by the splicing

machinery. RNase P (McClain et al., 1987; Christian et al., 2002; Zahler et al., 2003; Kirsebom, 2007; Reiter et al., 2010; Altman, 2011) and tRNase Z (Nashimoto et al., 1999; Li de la Sierra-Gallay et al., 2006; Späth et al., 2007; Minagawa et al., 2008) generally recognize the top half of the L-shaped tertiary structure of a tRNA corresponding to the acceptor-stem and the T Ψ C-arm, and do not require the mature body of the tRNA. Therefore, these enzymes may also perform endonucleolytic cleavage of the acceptor-loop of a circular RNA intermediate. Although some endoribonucleases require the linear ends of substrates to function (Mackie, 1998; Suzuki et al., 2006), it is not known whether this condition holds for RNase P and tRNase Z. The intron in the D- and T Ψ C-arm, which inhibits folding of the tertiary structure of a tRNA, should be removed before processing of the acceptor-loop by RNase P and tRNase Z. Consistent with this requirement, the intron in the T Ψ C-loop of a circular intermediate of *C. merolae* tRNA^{Gly}, which harbors both intronic and permuted structures, is removed before the intervening sequence at the acceptor-loop is processed (Soma et al., 2013). This finding can be explained by the fact that the top half of substrates for *C. merolae* tRNAse Z must form a canonical tertiary structure, and circular pre-tRNAs without an intron would be able to fold into the canonical tertiary structure, which agrees with the previous discovery that artificially permuted tRNA molecules can fold into correct tertiary structures (Pan et al., 1991). In eukaryotes, each tRNA processing step occurs at a different location in the cell, and the cellular distribution of processing enzymes is not conserved among organisms. In animal cells, the tRNA-splicing endonuclease and ligase are localized to the nucleus (Westaway and Abelson, 1995; Paushkin et al., 2004). By contrast, in budding yeast, the endonuclease is present on the surface of mitochondria (Huh et al., 2003; Yoshihisa et al., 2003) and the ligase is present in the cytosol (Huh et al., 2003). RNase P and tRNase Z are found in the nucleus and/or cytoplasm in eukaryotic cells (Späth et al., 2007; Canino et al., 2009; Gobert et al., 2010; Pinker et al., 2013). Accordingly, the order of the processing steps of a permuted pre-tRNA in algal cells will likely be governed by the location of the enzymes required.

It is unclear whether maturation of archaeal permuted pretRNAs involves the formation of a circular RNA intermediate. In a recent study, an in vitro transcript simulating a permuted pre-tRNA, which was composed of a tandem repeat of introncontaining tRNA, was cleaved at the BHB motif by a recombinant splicing endonuclease from the euryarchaeon Methanococcus jannaschii (Tocchini-Valentini and Tocchini-Valentini, 2012), suggesting that archaeal permuted pre-tRNAs can be processed in a similar pathway to that found in algae. Analysis of permuted pretRNA processing in T. pendens may also help to clarify whether the physiological role of permuted tRNA genes is ascribed to the formation of the circular RNA intermediate. With the exception of Nanoarchaeum equitans (Randau et al., 2008; Heinemann et al., 2010), RNase P and tRNase Z generally contribute to the end maturation of tRNAs in archaea (Späth et al., 2007; Jarrous and Gopalan, 2010). The 3'-terminal CCA sequence of two permuted tRNAs is encoded in the genome sequence of T. pendens (Chan et al., 2011) and one of these genes contains a short intervening sequence of only one nucleotide. It will be intriguing to clarify how such a short intervening sequence in the acceptor-loop is removed.

PROCESSING OF AN INTRON IN PERMUTED PRE-tRNAs

Four tRNA genes from the red alga *C. merolae* (Soma et al., 2007), one tRNA gene from the green alga O. lucimarinus (Maruyama et al., 2010), and two tRNAs genes from the crenarchaeon T. pendens (Chan et al., 2011) contain an intron in the 5'- or 3'-half of the gene (Figure 1A, Table 1), meaning that their pre-tRNAs require splicing of an intron in addition to swapping of the 5'and 3'-halves. The position of the intron is not conserved among these organisms; in the four C. merolae tRNA genes, the introns are inserted at various positions (the D-loop, the anticodon-loop, and the T Ψ C-loop), while those in the O. lucimarinus and T. pendens tRNA genes are inserted at specific positions: 27/28 in the anticodon-stem and 37/38 in the anticodon-loop, respectively. In C. merolae and T. pendens, the intron-exon junction and the termini of permuted pre-tRNAs harboring an intron can each form an independent BHB motif. The two BHB motifs are not nested; therefore, processing of one BHB motif can be preceded by processing of the other. Using C. merolae tRNA^{Gly}(CCC), which possesses both permuted (with the junction at position 37/38 in the anticodon-loop) and intronic (inserted at position 55/56 in the T Ψ C-loop) structures, it was determined that the BHB motif in the intron is processed before the BHB motif in the termini of permuted pre-tRNA^{Gly}(CCC) (Soma et al., 2013). The theoretical ΔG of the BHB motif in the intron was calculated to be slightly lower than that of the BHB motif in the termini. The same phenomenon was also observed for precursors transcribed from multiple intron-containing (but not permuted) tRNA genes in C. merolae, in which the BHB motifs in the pre-tRNAs were removed in the order dictated by the theoretical free energy of each motif (Soma et al., 2013). These findings indicate that multiple BHB motifs in permuted and/or intronic pre-tRNAs in C. merolae are processed sequentially, even when each BHB motif can fold independently. This feature may be attributable to the stability of each BHB motif and their accessibility to the splicing endonuclease. Alternatively, it may depend on the position of the BHB motifs, because the BHB motif at the canonical position 37/38 is always the final substrate and has a relatively high Δ G. BHB motifs at 37/38, even those that form the junction of the permuted pre-tRNA or the intron, may be recognized by C. merolae endonuclease only after BHB motifs at the other positions have been processed. This procedure contrasts with the processing of multimeric introns in some archaeal pre-tRNAs, in which the introns are nested and the last intron can form a BHB motif only after the other introns are processed (Sugahara et al., 2007; Tocchini-Valentini et al., 2009).

CORRELATION BETWEEN THE BHB MOTIF AT THE JUNCTION OF PERMUTED PRE-tRNAs AND THE SUBSTRATE SPECIFICITY OF SPLICING ENDONUCLEASES

The BHB motif is the dominant recognition element for all known nuclear and archaeal tRNA-splicing endonucleases (Fruscoloni et al., 2001; Marck and Grosjean, 2003; Tocchini-Valentini et al., 2005a; Xue et al., 2006; Calvin and Li, 2008) and processing by these enzymes should have been pivotal for the development and maintenance of permuted tRNA genes in the genome. Archaeal endonucleases exhibit symmetrical architectures, and recognition of the splice sites of intronic pretRNAs by these enzymes is largely dependent on the BHB motif (Figure 4A) (Thompson and Daniels, 1988; Diener and Moore, 1998; Tocchini-Valentini et al., 2005a,b; Calvin and Li, 2008). In most archaeal tRNAs, the BHB motifs develop a relaxed form (hBH, as shown in Figure 2B) and are located at position 37/38 in the anticodon-loop, while several species from Crenarchaeota contain introns at non-canonical positions, such as the anticodon-arm, D-arm, T Ψ C-arm, variable-arm, or acceptor-stem, with strict (hBHBh') or relaxed (hBH, BHh', or no H) forms of the BHB motif (Marck and Grosjean, 2003; Tocchini-Valentini et al., 2005a; Sugahara et al., 2007, 2008, 2009). In addition to tRNAs, BHB-mediated introns are also found in rRNAs and mRNAs in some archaea (Kjems and Garrett, 1988; Tang et al., 2002; Watanabe et al., 2002; Yoshinari et al., 2006). Furthermore, the combination of RNA fragments during maturation of split tRNAs depends on the processing of the BHB motifs by the tRNA-splicing machinery in N. equitans (Randau et al., 2005c), indicating that BHB-mediated disruption of genetic information and its processing by splicing endonucleases is widespread in archaea. Four different types of endonuclease have been identified in archaea (Tocchini-Valentini et al., 2005a; Calvin and Li, 2008; Fujishima et al., 2011; Hirata et al., 2011); the



endonuclease in archaea and eukaryotes. (A) An archaeal dimeric endonuclease comprising two catalytic subunits. (B) The yeast heterotetrameric endonuclease comprising two catalytic subunits (Sen2 and Sen34) and two accessory subunits (Sen15 and Sen54). (C) The possible heterodimeric (cmSen2 and cmSen34), heterotrimeric (cmSen2, cmSen34, and cmSen54), and heterotetrameric (cmSen2, cmSen34, cmSen54, and unidentified cmSen15) forms of the *C. merolae* endonuclease.

subunit architecture of these endonucleases seems to have coevolved, by "subfunctionalization," with their substrate specificity (Tocchini-Valentini et al., 2005b, 2007). *T. pendens* contains a heterotetrameric endonuclease ($\alpha 2\beta 2$) that can recognize both strict (hBHBh') and relaxed (BHL) motifs, and the junction of its two permuted tRNAs comprises no H or hBHBh' motif, and is located at position 59/60 in the T Ψ C-loop (**Figure 2, Table 1**). The broad substrate specificity of the *T. pendens* endonuclease would have allowed the development and maintenance of permuted tRNAs during evolution.

The S. cerevisiae splicing endonuclease forms a heterotetrameric structure ($\alpha\beta\delta\epsilon$) comprised of two catalytic subunits (Sen2 and Sen34) and two accessory subunits (Sen15 and Sen54) (Rauhut et al., 1990; Westaway and Abelson, 1995; Trotta et al., 1997; Calvin and Li, 2008). Interactions between Sen2 and Sen54, and between Sen15 and Sen34, were identified by a yeast twohybrid experiment (Trotta et al., 1997). These four subunits function cooperatively to recognize cleavage sites via "a ruler mechanism," in which the endonuclease measures a specified distance to the site at which the cuts should be made in a pretRNA (Figure 4B) (Greer et al., 1987; Reyes and Abelson, 1988; Westaway and Abelson, 1995; Fabbri et al., 1998; Calvin and Li, 2008). In addition to the typical hBH motif at the canonical 37/38 position, yeast endonuclease recognizes the mature domain of pre-tRNA and the base pairs between the anticodon and the intron (A-I base pairs) (Mattoccia et al., 1988; Baldi et al., 1983, 1992; Di Nicola Negri et al., 1997; Trotta et al., 2006; Xue et al., 2006). Similarly, wheat germ endonuclease recognizes some specific nucleotides in the D-stem, and the mature tRNA domain is required for adequate binding to the endonuclease (Stange

et al., 1992). Coordination between all four subunits of eukaryal endonucleases would stabilize the enzyme to place its active site at a specific position in the cloverleaf structure of pre-tRNA, namely position 37/38. Thus, it is likely that the recognition system and asymmetric subunit architecture of eukaryal endonucleases have co-evolved strictly with the BHB motifs at position 37/38.

The junctions of permuted pre-tRNAs in the *B. natans* nucleomorph and the nucleus of green algae comprise a hBH motif and are located at position 37/38 in the anticodon-loop (type II), which are the characteristics for recognition by the eukaryal splicing endonuclease (**Table 1**, **Figure 2**). In addition, *B. natans* and green algae contain almost no tRNA genes harboring atypical introns (Palenik et al., 2007; Maruyama et al., 2010). On the contrary, in the red alga *C. merolae*, the junctions of permuted pre-tRNAs and introns comprise various types of BHB motifs and are scattered along the cloverleaf structure (**Figure 2A**). This arrangement suggests that the *C. merolae* splicing endonuclease recognizes a wide variety of BHB motifs and employs a recognition strategy that is different from that of the known eukaryotic endonucleases.

A search of the C. merolae genome identified homologs of three of the yeast endonuclease subunits (cmSen2, cmSen34, and cmSen54) (Soma et al., 2013); however, no apparent homolog of the Sen15 accessory subunit was identified by homology searching or yeast two-hybrid analyses, which conflicts with the notion that all four subunits are essential for functional multimerization of the endonuclease. In yeast, Sen15 interacts with Sen34 to aid the proper positioning of the 3'-splice site (Westaway and Abelson, 1995; Di Nicola Negri et al., 1997; Trotta et al., 1997; Fabbri et al., 1998; Xue et al., 2006). The C. merolae endonuclease may contain an unidentified subunit or may comprise a novel heterotrimeric complex (Figure 4C). However, the C. merolae endonuclease containing accessory subunits is not likely to interact with pre-tRNAs that are disrupted at positions other than 37/38, because yeast Sen54 probably interacts with the D-arm and the acceptor-stem that are located in the core region of the L-shaped tertiary structure of a pre-tRNA (Di Nicola Negri et al., 1997; Xue et al., 2006). Thus, the C. merolae endonuclease may act on these pre-tRNAs as a dimer composed of catalytic subunits only (cmSen2 and cmSen34), via a tRNA mature domain-independent recognition mechanism. It is also tempting to speculate that the subunit composition of the C. merolae endonuclease depends on the positions or types of BHB motifs in the substrates. A feasible model may be that BHB motifs at positions other than 37/38 are removed by cmSen2cmSen34, making the BHB motif at position 37/38 accessible to cmSen2-cmSen54-cmSen34 or cmSen2-cmSen54-cmSen34cmSen15(unidentified), which interacts with the mature domain of the pre-tRNA, as occurs in yeast (Figure 4C). A previous study showing that the BHB motif at the canonical 37/38 position is always the final substrate during tRNA processing in C. merolae cells (Soma et al., 2013) may support this hypothesis. These observations imply that processing of the BHB motif in eukaryal tRNAs is more divergent among species than previously thought. Various types of BHB-mediated disrupted tRNA genes and splicing endonucleases may be present in other eukaryotes. In fact, ectopic intron-containing tRNA genes have been discovered in the

nucleomorph of the cryptomonad *Guillardia theta* (Kawach et al., 2005), although many of these introns do not form a defined BHB motif. Furthermore, the absence of an accessory subunit (Sen15) homolog in *Arabidopsis thaliana* (Akama et al., 2000) implies that plant endonucleases have evolved various patterns of subunit architectures. On the other hand, *A. thaliana* contains only a few species of canonical intron-containing tRNA genes; therefore, its endonuclease has not been adapted to process non-canonically disrupted pre-tRNAs.

IMPLICATIONS FOR THE PHYSIOLOGICAL RELEVANCE OF PERMUTED tRNA GENES

To date, circular gene permutation of non-coding RNAs other than tRNA has been reported for the LSU rRNA from Tetrahymena mitochondria (Heinonen et al., 1987) as well as bacterial and organellar tmRNAs (Keiler et al., 2000; Mao et al., 2009), the latter of which are involved in the trans-translation system that rescues stalled ribosomes and maintains quality control of proteins in the cell (Keiler et al., 1996; Himeno et al., 1997b; Muto et al., 1998). However, permuted tRNAs show some substantial differences to permuted rRNAs and tmRNAs. A pretRNA of a permuted tRNA gene is processed and re-ligated at the junction of the 5'- and 3'-halves. The resultant tRNA molecule is composed of a continuous single-stranded RNA that can form a canonical cloverleaf structure, which is equipped with a functional acceptor-stem and an anticodon in the proper position. By contrast, the corresponding breaks between the 5'- and 3'-halves of rRNAs and tmRNAs encoded by permuted genes are not ligated and they function in a two-piece form. In the case of tmRNA, this form has been suggested to have a beneficial function, perhaps by solving topological problems on the ribosome (Williams, 2002; Sharkady and Williams, 2004). This idea is supported by the independent evolution of a similar two-piece form of tmRNA, encoded as a permuted gene in different lineages of bacteria (Sharkady and Williams, 2004; Williams, 2004). Additionally, the location of the junction of the 5'- and 3'-halves differs between permuted tmRNAs and permuted tRNAs. The two-piece form of tmRNA is adapted to its functional advantage, and the corresponding breakage between the 5'-half and the 3'-half is located at a unique position downstream of the tag peptide coding region. By contrast, the junctions of permuted tRNAs are located at various positions in the cloverleaf structure because breakage at any position is ultimately ligated to produce a typical tRNA molecule. Consequently, permutation of genes encoding tRNAs does not seem to affect the authentic function of the mature tRNA or confer any physiological benefit or restriction.

In *C. merolae*, disrupted tRNA genes that exhibit permuted (7/43), intron-containing (23/43), or both types of structures (4/43) account for 79.1% (34/43) of all nuclear tRNA genes (Soma et al., 2013), whereas only a few protein-encoding genes have spliceosomal introns (Matsuzaki et al., 2004). The conservation of a large number of permuted tRNAs, in addition to intronic tRNAs, which require more extensive processing, in the streamlined genome of *C. merolae*, implies that BHB-mediated disruption of tRNA genes has some physiological meaning. It is well known that while some tRNA introns are dispensable (Mori

et al., 2011) others are involved in post-transcriptional modification (Johnson and Abelson, 1983; Szweykowska-Kulinska and Beier, 1992; Björk, 1995), quality control to ensure the supply of precisely processed tRNA molecules to the cytosol (Arts et al., 1998; Lund and Dahlberg, 1998; Takano et al., 2005; Hopper, 2013), and regulation of the cell cycle in response to DNA damage (Ghavidel et al., 2007; Weinert and Hopper, 2007). Therefore, permuted tRNA genes may contribute to essential cell functions. Alternatively, the circular RNA intermediate may be preferable because of its resistance to degradation in the cell.

From a physiological point of view, a possible explanation for the maintenance of disrupted tRNA genes is protection against mobile elements (Randau and Söll, 2008). Fragmentation of tRNA genes is thought to prevent the integration of mobile elements because tRNA gene sequences are sometimes used as conventional target sites in the genome (Devine and Boeke, 1996; Hani and Feldmann, 1998; Mou et al., 2006). This direct and valuable strategy would have functioned as a selective pressure at some point during evolution to increase the number of permuted tRNA genes. This possibility may be supported by the fact that almost no recognizable transposons or viruses are found in the contemporary genomes of C. merolae and M. pusilla, which harbor permuted tRNA genes (Matsuzaki et al., 2004; Worden et al., 2009). By contrast, Ostreococcus species, which contain some permuted tRNA genes and cis-spliced tRNA genes, have many transposons (Worden et al., 2009; Maruyama et al., 2010). Genome-wide analyses and studies focusing on the relationship between mobile elements and disrupted tRNA genes should further our understanding of this concept.

The eukaryal tRNA processing system has proofreading functions to ensure that only mature tRNAs are supplied for translation, and yeast cells possess multiple pathways to degrade inappropriately processed and folded tRNAs (Arts et al., 1998; Lund and Dahlberg, 1998; Kadaba et al., 2004; Takano et al., 2005; Whipple et al., 2011; Hopper, 2013; Kramer and Hopper, 2013). In Xenopus laevis oocytes, intron-containing pre-tRNAs are exported from the nucleus less efficiently than intron-spliced tRNAs, and nucleotide modifications and removal of the 5'- and 3'-flanking sequences at the acceptor-stem are monitored before transport of tRNAs into the cytosol (Arts et al., 1998). Therefore, the BHB motifs at various positions of permuted pre-tRNAs and the acceptor-loop of the circular RNA intermediate inhibit their exportin-dependent transport from the nucleus, and the sequential processing of permuted pre-tRNAs would contribute to the discrimination of immature tRNAs, providing a selective pressure to retain them in the genome. C. merolae cells use a small repertoire of tRNAs; hence, the quality of tRNA molecules must be checked to guarantee translational fidelity. Furthermore, elimination of incorrectly processed tRNA molecules might be more important for organisms that harbor a splicing endonuclease with relaxed substrate specificity.

A different perspective is that permuted tRNA genes might have been formed as a remnant of genome dynamics under relatively neutral selective pressure. Even if such tRNA genes were acquired, most of them could not be retained because of the failure of transcription or subsequent RNA processing. In some organisms, including early-rooted algae and archaea, permuted tRNA genes could have persisted in the genome because of the upstream promoter-dependent transcription system and the capacity of the splicing machinery to process disrupted pretRNAs into the canonical cloverleaf structure. An expression system adapted to the wide variety of tRNA genes might have been preferable for organisms attempting to reduce redundantly duplicated tRNA genes, thereby enabling disruption of tRNA genes in various ways while maintaining the repertoire of those essential for protein synthesis. It has been suggested that permuted tRNA genes might have contributed to the maintenance of genome integrity during the reduction of the *B. natans* nucleomorph genome, which is the smallest eukaryotic genome (Gilson et al., 2006; Maruyama et al., 2010). Thus, plasticity of tRNA gene structure and expression systems may be more important than permuted tRNA genes.

SCENARIOS FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF PERMUTED tRNA GENES

There are two hypotheses for the development of permuted tRNA genes: the "ancient origin" hypothesis, which is related to the origin of the cloverleaf structure of tRNA (Di Giulio, 2008; Fujishima et al., 2008); and the "recent origin" hypothesis, which assumes that permuted tRNA genes arose from existing tRNAs in a relatively late stage of evolution (Randau and Söll, 2008; Sugahara et al., 2008; Maruyama et al., 2010; Chan et al., 2011).

The cloverleaf structure of tRNA is thought to have originated from mini-hairpins (Weiner and Maizels, 1987; Di Giulio, 1992, 2006; Schimmel and Ribas De Pouplana, 1995; Widmann et al., 1995), and tRNA sequences sometimes form a double hairpin structure flanked by the anticodon sequence (Tanaka and Kikuchi, 2001). The dominant localization of introns at position 37/38, which divide tRNAs into two hairpins, may be a remnant of the boundary connecting the hairpins, and disrupted tRNAs may represent plesiomorphic forms produced during the development of the modern cloverleaf structure (Di Giulio, 2008; Fujishima et al., 2008). The results of archaeal genome analyses have consistently suggested that modern tRNAs evolved through the combination of 5'-half and 3'-half fragments (Fujishima et al., 2008). Based on this concept, it was proposed that permuted tRNA genes arose from an event in which the two hairpin-like structures encoding the 5'- and 3'-halves of a tRNA were brought together in an inverted configuration on the genome (Di Giulio, 2008). However, there is some debate surrounding this idea. First, some permuted tRNAs are intervened at positions other than 37/38, which conflicts with the assumptions of the hairpin model (Di Giulio, 2008). Second, it is questionable whether the ancient forms of tRNA genes are preserved in the modern genome (Randau and Söll, 2008).

Based on comparative genome analyses, another hypothesis suggests that BHB-mediated disrupted tRNA genes were gained by gene transfer as apomorphies or were developed from extant tRNA genes (Di Giulio, 2008; Randau and Söll, 2008; Sugahara et al., 2009, 2012; Fujishima et al., 2010; Maruyama et al., 2010; Chan et al., 2011). Given that permuted tRNAs are present in early-rooted algae (Nozaki et al., 2003, 2007; Matsuzaki et al., 2004) and deep-branching Crenarchaeota from which eukarya might have derived (Lake et al., 1984; Cox et al., 2008), the algal genome may retain permuted tRNAs as a vestigial trait inherited from archaea. In fact, C. merolae tRNAs exhibit some characteristics that are found in archaea but not eukarvotes. For example, a number of C. merolae tRNAs contain ectopic and multiple introns, and C. merolae tRNA^{Ile} has the anticodon GAU (Matsuzaki et al., 2004), which has been identified in prokaryotes but not eukaryotes. However, sequence and structural similarities of the disrupted tRNAs in C. merolae and archaea have not been identified. Moreover, archaeal permuted tRNA genes encode the terminal CCA sequence, which is not encoded in the eukarval genome, indicating that they have not simply been exchanged between archaea and algae (Chan et al., 2011). Therefore, permuted tRNA genes might have arisen independently in each lineage. This possibility is supported by the fact that BHB-mediated disrupted tRNA genes exhibit a discontinuous and patchy distribution in eukaryotes and archaea (Maruyama et al., 2010; Chan et al., 2011; Soma et al., 2013). An evolutionary relationship between cis-spliced tRNAs and split tRNAs has been suggested, because the leader sequences of some split tRNAs show a high degree of homology to the intronic sequence of tRNAs in correlated archaea (Fujishima et al., 2010). In addition, continuous transcripts corresponding to read-through of adjacently encoded 5'- and 3'-halves of split tRNAs are produced, albeit at very low levels, suggesting that they represent a transition state between a split tRNA and a cis-spliced tRNA in the genome (Chan et al., 2011). Thus, it is possible that permuted tRNAs emerged from extant tRNA genes.

A plausible description of the emergence of permuted tRNA genes via convergent evolution can be inferred from the model proposed for permuted rRNAs and tmRNAs, which function as a two-piece form as described earlier. These species are hypothesized to have been established by a gene duplication event that formed a tandem repeat of the RNA genes, followed by the loss of the outer segment of each copy (Heinonen et al., 1987; Williams, 2002). Similarly, permuted tRNA genes might have originated from duplication of an intronic tRNA gene, followed by the loss of the outer exons to leave the 3'-half of the upstream tRNA gene and the 5'-half of the downstream tRNA gene (Figure 5A) (Soma et al., 2007; Di Giulio, 2008; Maruyama et al., 2010). In algae and archaea, these rearranged tRNA genes could have persisted in the genome because of the use of the upstream promoter-dependent transcription system and the tRNA maturation system that allows processing of permuted pre-tRNAs. In this context, the high frequency of permutation with the junction at position 37/38 (type II) can be ascribed to the overall dominance of introns located at the corresponding position in both eukaryotes and archaea. It is noteworthy that some tandem repeats of tRNA genes composed of single tRNA species containing an intron have been found in the nuclear genomes of green algae, namely the prasinophyte O. lucimarinus and the chlorophycea Chlamydomonas reinhardtii, which contain some and no permuted tRNAs, respectively, (Table 1) (Maruyama et al., 2010). Furthermore, an additional 5'-half is located downstream of the 5'-half of the permuted tRNA^{Cys}(GCA) gene in the nuclear genome of O. lucimarinus. These duplicated tRNA genes may be structurally identical to the plausible intermediate stage of permuted tRNA evolution shown in the proposed model.



An alternative scenario is that the formation of permuted or circularized tRNA molecules preceded that of the corresponding permuted genes. Canonical pre-tRNAs co-transcribed from two tandemly-repeated intronic tRNA genes might be able to form a permuted pre-tRNA via the combination of the 3'-half of the initial tRNA and the 5'-half of the duplicated tRNA (Figure 5B). In support of this concept, a recent study showed that an artificial transcript simulating a tandemly-repeated intron-containing pretRNA could form a permuted tRNA structure in vitro (Tocchini-Valentini and Tocchini-Valentini, 2012). Furthermore, a circular pre-tRNA may be produced by ligation of an intron-containing (non-permuted) pre-tRNA at the acceptor-stem (Figure 5C). Indeed, many kinds of circularized non-coding RNAs have been identified in archaeal cells, indicating that the circularization of RNA is fairly prevalent, although the significance of this feature is still unknown (Danan et al., 2012). The resulting permuted or circular pre-tRNA molecules might have been reverse transcribed and integrated back into the genome to generate permuted tRNA genes (Figures 5B,C). Therefore, it is plausible that circular

permutation has contributed to the evolution of the tRNA-like structures that are prevalent in nature (Pan et al., 1991; Pan and Uhlenbeck, 1993; Florentz and Giegé, 1995), and the cloverleaf structure of tRNA might have developed as a circularly permuted RNA isomer.

Regardless of the mechanism(s) by which permuted tRNA genes originated, the BHB motifs must have played a pivotal role during their development. The existence of a number of BHB-mediated *cis*-spliced tRNAs in algae and archaea may reflect a background that has accelerated the production of permuted tRNA genes. If so, permuted tRNA genes could have occurred frequently in archaea, especially in Crenarchaeota, whose splicing machinery can process various types of BHB motifs. However, only two permuted tRNA genes have been identified from one crenarchaeon (*T. pendens*) (**Table 1**), which harbors plenty of intron-containing tRNA genes (Fujishima et al., 2011). In eukaryotes, tRNA genes contain an intron at the canonical 37/38 position and tRNA genes of plants and yeast can be transcribed depending on the upstream promoter; therefore, it is plausible

that eukaryotes could possess permuted tRNA genes with the junction at the canonical 37/38 position. However, most eukaryotes do not contain permuted tRNAs. These observations may indicate that the background for the development of permuted tRNA genes is intrinsically different among organisms. Moreover, even if permuted tRNA genes did once emerge in archaeal and eukaryotic species, they may not have been maintained in the genome due to their instability or harmful influence. For example, an inverted tRNA gene structure might have been lost easily, or the BHB motifs may have been associated with a specific adverse effect on the genome or organism.

The phylogenic distributions of BHB-mediated disruptions of tRNA genes are biased and an organism harboring all three types of disrupted tRNAs has not yet been identified. Some archaea, including N. equitans and Caldiviga maquilingensis, harbor split tRNAs but only a few cis-spliced tRNAs and no permuted tRNAs (Chan et al., 2011; Fujishima et al., 2011). Other archaea, including the Pyrobaculum and Thermofilum genera, harbor a number of intronic tRNAs that are disrupted at various positions, although Pyrobaculum have no split or permuted tRNAs (Fujishima et al., 2011). Similarly, green algae contain some permuted tRNAs but almost no ectopic intron-containing tRNAs (Kawach et al., 2005; Maruyama et al., 2010). Hence, C. mero*lae* is unique because it possesses a number of permuted tRNAs and various intron-containing tRNAs. C. merolae might be permissive for the absorption and retention of various tRNA genes, or some characteristics of C. merolae may have accelerated the development and preservation of permuted tRNA genes during evolution. Considering that C. merolae has a compact genome, it is possible that the successive genome size reduction put pressure on redundantly duplicated tRNA genes to be arranged into a single permuted tRNA gene. Split tRNAs have not been identified in C. merolae, despite its potential ability to express them. Formation of a split tRNA may be a less efficient strategy to reduce the genome size because it requires two sets of promoter and terminator sequences to produce one species of tRNA. To date, there has been no report of an organism in which split tRNAs coexist with permuted tRNAs; therefore, the individual mechanisms and requisite elements required for the acquisition or maintenance of each disrupted tRNA gene could be substantially different, as suggested previously (Chan et al., 2011). This hypothesis supports a non-monophyletic origin of BHB-mediated disrupted tRNA genes, which may have arisen and disappeared multiple times independently in various organisms. The next challenge will be to identify the specific characteristics and fundamental background that led to the BHB-mediated disruption of tRNA genes, and to clarify the method of formation of each type of tRNA gene.

CONCLUSIONS

The identification of circularly permuted tRNA genes has revealed a unique style of gene structure and RNA processing. Comparative genome analyses should be performed to identify more examples of permuted genes and to investigate the origin of the permuted tRNAs in correlation with other BHB-mediated disrupted tRNAs and mobile elements that target tRNA genes. Studies of the transcription and maturation systems for tRNAs that must have co-evolved with disrupted tRNA genes would help to clarify the physiological meaning and the mechanisms that govern the development and maintenance of permuted tRNA genes.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Akiko Soma wrote the manuscript, and prepared **Figures 1–5** and **Table 1**.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author thanks A. Muto, S. Maruyama, S. Goto, Y. Sekine, A. Onodera, J. Sugahara, N. Yachie, and A. Kanai for valuable discussions; and T. Kuroiwa, K. Tanaka, O. Misumi, and M. Matsuzaki for technical advice; and M. Ohara and K. Nakayama for helping preparation of the figures. This work was supported by a grant from a Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research C (25440003 to Akiko Soma), Career-Support Program for Woman Scientists at Chiba University (to Akiko Soma), and the Nakajima Foundation (to Akiko Soma).

REFERENCES

- Abe, T., Ikemura, T., Sugahara, J., Kanai, A., Ohara, Y., Uehara, H., et al. (2011). tRNADB-CE 2011: tRNA gene database curated manually by experts. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39, D210–D213. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkq1007
- Abelson, J., Trotta, C. R., and Li, H. (1998). tRNA splicing. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 12685–12688. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.21.12685
- Akama, K., Junker, V., and Beier, H. (2000). Identification of two catalytic subunits of tRNA splicing endonuclease from Arabidopsis thaliana. *Gene* 257, 177–185. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1119(00)00408-X
- Altman, S. (2011). Ribonuclease P. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 366, 2936–2941. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2011.0142
- Altman, S., Kirsebom, L., and Talbot, S. (1995). "Recent studies of RNase P," in tRNA, eds D. Söll and U. L. RajBhandary (Washington, DC: ASM Press), 67–78.
- Archibald, J. (2007). Nucleomorph genomes: structure, function, origin and evolution. *Bioessays*. 29, 392–402. doi: 10.1002/bies.20551
- Archibald, J., and Lane, C. E. (2009). Going, going, not quite gone: nucleomorphs as a case study in nuclear genome reduction. *J. Hered.* 100, 582–590. doi: 10.1093/jhered/esp055
- Arts, G., Kuersten, S., Romby, P., Ehresmann, B., and Mattaj, I. W. (1998). The role of exportin-t in selective nuclear export of mature tRNAs. *EMBO J.* 17, 7430–7441. doi: 10.1093/emboj/17.24.7430
- Asahara, H., Himeno, H., Tamura, K., Hasegawa, T., Watanabe, K., and Shimizu, M. (1993). Recognition nucleotides of Escherichia coli tRNA(Leu) and its elements facilitating discrimination from tRNASer and tRNA(Tyr). J. Mol. Biol. 231, 219–229. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.1993.1277
- Baldi, M., Mattoccia, E., Bufardeci, E., Fabbri, S., and Tocchini-Valentini, G. P. (1992). Participation of the intron in the reaction catalyzed by the Xenopus tRNA splicing endonuclease. *Science* 255, 1404–1408. doi: 10.1126/science.1542788
- Baldi, M., Mattoccia, E., and Tocchini-Valentini, G. P. (1983). Role of RNA structure in splicing: excision of the intervening sequence in yeast tRNA3leu is dependent on the formation of a D stem. *Cell* 35, 109–115. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(83)90213-1
- Belfort, M., and Weiner, A. (1997). Another bridge between kingdoms: tRNA splicing in archaea and eukaryotes. *Cell* 89, 1003–1006. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80287-1
- Biniszkiewicz, D., Cesnaviciene, E., and Shub, D. A. (1994). Self-splicing group I intron in cyanobacterial initiator methionine tRNA: evidence for lateral transfer of introns in bacteria. *EMBO J.* 13, 4629–4635.
- Björk, G. R. (1995). "Biosynthesis and function of modified nucleosides," in *tRNA*, eds D. Söll and U. L. RajBhandary (Washington, DC: ASM Press), 165–206.
- Bonen, L., and Vogel, J. (2001). The ins and outs of group II introns. Trends Genet. 17, 322–331. doi: 10.1016/S0168-9525(01)02324-1
- Calvin, K., and Li, H. (2008). RNA-splicing endonuclease structure and function. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 65, 1176–1185. doi: 10.1007/s00018-008-7393-y

- Canino, G., Bocian, E., Barbezier, N., Echeverría, M., Forner, J., Binder, S., et al. (2009). Arabidopsis encodes four tRNase Z enzymes. *Plant Physiol.* 150, 1494–1502. doi: 10.1104/pp.109.137950
- Chan, P., Cozen, A., and Lowe, T. (2011). Discovery of permuted and recently split transfer RNAs in Archaea. *Genome Biol.* 12: R38. doi: 10.1186/gb-2011-12-4-r38
- Chan, P., and Lowe, T. (2009). GtRNAdb: a database of transfer RNA genes detected in genomic sequence. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 37, D93–D97. doi: 10.1093/ nar/gkn787
- Choisne, N., Carneiro, V. T., Pelletier, G., and Small, I. (1998). Implication of 5'flanking sequence elements in expression of a plant tRNA(Leu) gene. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 36, 113–123. doi: 10.1023/A:1005988004924
- Choisne, N., Martin-Canadell, A., and Small, I. (1997). Transactivation of a target gene using a suppressor tRNA in transgenic tobacco plants. *Plant J.* 11, 597–604. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-313X.1997.11030597.x
- Christian, E., Zahler, N. H., Kaye, N. M., and Harris, M. E. (2002). Analysis of substrate recognition by the ribonucleoprotein endonuclease RNase P. *Methods* 28, 307–322. doi: 10.1016/S1046-2023(02)00238-4
- Ciliberto, G., Raugei, G., Costanzo, F., Dente, L., and Cortese, R. (1983). Common and interchangeable elements in the promoters of genes transcribed by RNA polymerase III. *Cell* 32, 725–733. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(83)90058-2
- Cox, C., Foster, P. G., Hirt, R. P., Harris, S. R., and Embley, T. M. (2008). The archaebacterial origin of eukaryotes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 20356–20361. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0810647105
- Curtis, B., Tanifuji, G., Burki, F., Gruber, A., Irimia, M., Maruyama, S., et al. (2012). Algal genomes reveal evolutionary mosaicism and the fate of nucleomorphs. *Nature* 492, 59–65. doi: 10.1038/nature11681
- Danan, M., Schwartz, S., Edelheit, S., and Sorek, R. (2012). Transcriptome-wide discovery of circular RNAs in Archaea. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 40, 3131–3142. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkr1009
- Deutscher, M. P. (1995). "Processing nucleases," in *tRNA*, eds D. Söll and U. L. RajBhandary (Washington, DC: ASM Press), 51–66.
- Devine, S., and Boeke, J. D. (1996). Integration of the yeast retrotransposon Ty1 is targeted to regions upstream of genes transcribed by RNA polymerase III. *Genes Dev.* 10, 620–633. doi: 10.1101/gad.10.5.620
- Dieci, G., Percudani, R., Giuliodori, S., Bottarelli, L., and Ottonello, S. (2000). TFIIIC-independent *in vitro* transcription of yeast tRNA genes. *J. Mol. Biol.* 299, 601–613. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.2000.3783
- Dieci, G., Yukawa, Y., Alzapiedi, M., Guffanti, E., Ferrari, R., Sugiura, M., et al. (2006). Distinct modes of TATA box utilization by the RNA polymerase III transcription machineries from budding yeast and higher plants. *Gene* 379, 12–25. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2006.03.013
- Diener, J., and Moore, P. B. (1998). Solution structure of a substrate for the archaeal pre-tRNA splicing endonucleases: the bulge-helix-bulge motif. *Mol. Cell* 1, 883–894. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80087-8
- Di Giulio, M. (1992). On the origin of the transfer RNA molecule. J. Theor. Biol. 159, 199–214. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5193(05)80702-7
- Di Giulio, M. (2006). Nanoarchaeum equitans is a living fossil. J. Theor. Biol. 242, 257–260. doi: 10.1016/j.jtbi.2006.01.034
- Di Giulio, M. (2008). Permuted tRNA genes of Cyanidioschyzon merolae, the origin of the tRNA molecule and the root of the Eukarya domain. *J. Theor. Biol.* 253, 587–592. doi: 10.1016/j.jtbi.2008.04.022
- Di Nicola Negri, E., Fabbri, S., Bufardeci, E., Baldi, M. I., Gandini Attardi, D., Mattoccia, E., et al. (1997). The eucaryal tRNA splicing endonuclease recognizes a tripartite set of RNA elements. *Cell* 89, 859–866. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80271-8
- Dirheimer, G., Keith, G., Dumas, P., and Westhof, E. (1995). "Primary, secondary, and tertiary structure of tRNAs," in *tRNA*, eds D. Söll and U. L. RajBhandary (Washington, DC: ASM Press), 93–126.
- Douglas, S., Zauner, S., Fraunholz, M., Beaton, M., Penny, S., Deng, L. T., et al. (2001). The highly reduced genome of an enslaved algal nucleus. *Nature* 410, 1091–1096. doi: 10.1038/35074092
- Englert, M., Sheppard, K., Aslanian, A., Yates, J. R. 3rd., and Söll, D. (2011). Archaeal 3'-phosphate RNA splicing ligase characterization identifies the missing component in tRNA maturation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 1290–1295. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1018307108
- Englert, M., Xia, S., Okada, C., Nakamura, A., Tanavde, V., Yao, M., et al. (2012). Structural and mechanistic insights into guanylylation of RNA-splicing ligase RtcB joining RNA between 3'-terminal phosphate and 5'-OH. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, 15235–15240. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1213795109

- Fabbri, S., Fruscoloni, P., Bufardeci, E., Di Nicola Negri, E., Baldi, M. I., Attardi, D. G., et al. (1998). Conservation of substrate recognition mechanisms by tRNA splicing endonucleases. *Science* 280, 284–286. doi: 10.1126/science.280. 5361.284
- Florentz, C., and Giegé, R. (1995). "tRNA-like structures in plant viral RNAs," in tRNA, eds D. Söll and U. L. RajBhandary (Washington, DC: ASM Press), 141–164.
- Fruscoloni, P., Baldi, M. I., and Tocchini-Valentini, G. P. (2001). Cleavage of non-tRNA substrates by eukaryal tRNA splicing endonucleases. *EMBO Rep.* 2, 217–221. doi: 10.1093/embo-reports/kve040
- Fujishima, K., Sugahara, J., Kikuta, K., Hirano, R., Sato, A., Tomita, M., et al. (2009). Tri-split tRNA is a transfer RNA made from 3 transcripts that provides insight into the evolution of fragmented tRNAs in archaea. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 2683–2687. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0808246106
- Fujishima, K., Sugahara, J., Miller, C. S., Baker, B. J., Di Giulio, M., Takesue, K., et al. (2011). A novel three-unit tRNA splicing endonuclease found in ultrasmall Archaea possesses broad substrate specificity. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39, 9695–9704. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkr692
- Fujishima, K., Sugahara, J., Tomita, M., and Kanai, A. (2008). Sequence evidence in the archaeal genomes that tRNAs emerged through the combination of ancestral genes as 5' and 3' tRNA halves. *PLoS ONE* 3:e1622. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0001622
- Fujishima, K., Sugahara, J., Tomita, M., and Kanai, A. (2010). Large-scale tRNA intron transposition in the archaeal order Thermoproteales represents a novel mechanism of intron gain. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 27, 2233–2243. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msq111
- Galli, G., Hofstetter, H., and Birnstiel, M. L. (1981). Two conserved sequence blocks within eukaryotic tRNA genes are major promoter elements. *Nature* 294, 626–631. doi: 10.1038/294626a0
- Geiduschek, E., and Kassavetis, G. A. (2001). The RNA polymerase III transcription apparatus. J. Mol. Biol. 310, 1–26. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.2001.4732
- Ghavidel, A., Kislinger, T., Pogoutse, O., Sopko, R., Jurisica, I., and Emili, A. (2007). Impaired tRNA nuclear export links DNA damage and cell-cycle checkpoint. *Cell* 131, 915–926. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.09.042
- Gilson, P. R., Su, V., Slamovits, C. H., Reith. M. E., Keeling, P. J., and McFadden, G. I. (2006). Complete nucleotide sequence of the chlorarachniophyte nucleomorph: nature's smallest nucleus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 9566–9571. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0600707103
- Giuliodori, S., Percudani, R., Braglia, P., Ferrari, R., Guffanti, E., Ottonello, S., et al. (2003). A composite upstream sequence motif potentiates tRNA gene transcription in yeast. *J. Mol. Biol.* 333, 1–20. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb. 2003.08.016
- Gobert, A., Gutmann, B., Taschner, A., Gössringer, M., Holzmann, J., Hartmann, R. K., et al. (2010). A single Arabidopsis organellar protein has RNase P activity. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 17, 740–744. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.1812
- Greer, C., Söll, D., and Willis, I. (1987). Substrate recognition and identification of splice sites by the tRNA-splicing endonuclease and ligase from Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 7, 76–84. doi: 10.1128/MCB.7.1.76
- Guffanti, E., Percudani, R., Harismendy, O., Soutourina, J., Werner, M., Iacovella, M. G., et al. (2006). Nucleosome depletion activates poised RNA polymerase III at unconventional transcription sites in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 29155–29164. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M600387200
- Hamada, M., Huang, Y., Lowe, T. M., and Maraia, R. J. (2001). Widespread use of TATA elements in the core promoters for RNA polymerases III, II, and I in fission yeast. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 21, 6870–6881. doi: 10.1128/MCB.21.20.6870-6881.2001
- Hamada, M., Sakulich, A. L., Koduru, S. B., and Maraia, R. J. (2000). Transcription termination by RNA polymerase III in fission yeast. A genetic and biochemically tractable model system. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 29076–29081. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M003980200
- Hani, J., and Feldmann, F. (1998). tRNA genes and retroelements in the yeast genome. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 26, 689–696. doi: 10.1093/nar/26.3.689
- Heinemann, I., Söll, D., and Randau, L. (2010). Transfer RNA processing in archaea: unusual pathways and enzymes. *FEBS Lett.* 584, 303–309. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2009.10.067
- Heinonen, T., Schnare, M. N., Young, P. G., and Gray, M. W. (1987). Rearranged coding segments, separated by a transfer RNA gene, specify the two parts of a discontinuous large subunit ribosomal RNA in Tetrahymena pyriformis mitochondria. J. Biol Chem. 262, 2879–2887.

- Himeno, H., Sato, M., Tadaki, T., Fukushima, M., Ushida, C., and Muto, A. (1997b). *In vitro* transtranslation mediated by alanine-charged 10Sa RNA. *J. Mol. Biol.* 268, 803–808. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.1997.1011
- Himeno, H., Yoshida S., Soma A., and Nishikawa K. (1997a). Only one nucleotide insertion to the long variable arm confers an efficient serine acceptor activity upon Saccharomyces cerevisiae tRNA(Leu) *in vitro. J. Mol. Biol.* 268, 704–711. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.1997.0991
- Hirata, A., Kitajima, T., and Hori, H. (2011). Cleavage of intron from the standard or non-standard position of the precursor tRNA by the splicing endonuclease of Aeropyrum pernix, a hyper-thermophilic Crenarchaeon, involves a novel RNA recognition site in the Crenarchaea specific loop. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39, 9376–9389. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkr615
- Hopper, A. (2013). Transfer RNA post-transcriptional processing, turnover, and subcellular dynamics in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Genetics* 194, 43–67. doi: 10.1534/genetics.112.147470
- Hopper, A. K., and Phizicky, E. M. (2003). tRNA transfers to the limelight. *Genes Dev.* 17, 162–180. doi: 10.1101/gad.1049103
- Huang, Y., and Maraia, R. J. (2001). Comparison of the RNA polymerase III transcription machinery in Schizosaccharomyces pombe, Saccharomyces cerevisiae and human. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 29, 2675–2690. doi: 10.1093/nar/29.13.2675
- Huh, W., Falvo, J. V., Gerke, L. C., Carroll, A. S., Howson, R. W., Weissman, J. S., et al. (2003). Global analysis of protein localization in budding yeast. *Nature* 425, 686–691. doi: 10.1038/nature02026
- Jacquier, A. (1996). Group II introns: elaborate ribozymes. *Biochimie* 78, 474–487. doi: 10.1016/0300-9084(96)84754-7
- Jarrous, N., and Gopalan, V. (2010). Archaeal/eukaryal RNase P: subunits, functions and RNA diversification. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 38, 7885–7894. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkq701
- Johnson, P., and Abelson, J. (1983). The yeast tRNATyr gene intron is essential for correct modification of its tRNA product. *Nature* 302, 681–687. doi: 10.1038/302681a0
- Jühling, F., Mörl, M., Hartmann, R. K., Sprinzl, M., Stadler, P. F., and Pütz, J. (2009). tRNAdb 2009: compilation of tRNA sequences and tRNA genes. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 37, D159–D162. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkn772
- Kadaba, S., Krueger, A., Trice, T., Krecic, A. M., Hinnebusch, A. G., and Anderson, J. (2004). Nuclear surveillance and degradation of hypomodified initiator tRNAMet in S. *cerevisiae. Genes Dev.* 18, 1227–1240. doi: 10.1101/gad. 1183804
- Kanai, A. (2013). "Molecular evolution of disrupted transfer RNA genes and their introns in archaea," in *Evolutionary Biology: Exobiology and Evolutionary Mechanisms*, ed P. Pontarotti (Berlin: Springer-Verlag Press), 181–193.
- Kawach, O., Voss, C., Wolff, J., Hadfi, K., Maier, U. G., and Zauner, S. (2005). Unique tRNA introns of an enslaved algal cell. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 22, 1694–1701. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msi161
- Keiler, K., Shapiro, L., and Williams, K. P. (2000). tmRNAs that encode proteolysisinducing tags are found in all known bacterial genomes: a two-piece tmRNA functions in Caulobacter. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 7778–7783. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.14.7778
- Keiler, K., Waller, P. R., and Sauer, R. T. (1996). Role of a peptide tagging system in degradation of proteins synthesized from damaged messenger RNA. *Science* 271, 990–993. doi: 10.1126/science.271.5251.990
- Kirsebom, L. (2007). RNase P RNA mediated cleavage: substrate recognition and catalysis. *Biochimie* 89, 1183–1194. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2007.05.009
- Kjems, J., and Garrett, R. A. (1988). Novel splicing mechanism for the ribosomal RNA intron in the archaebacterium Desulfurococcus mobilis. *Cell* 54, 693–703. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(88)80014-X
- Kjems, J., Leffers, H., Olesen, T., and Garrett, R. A. (1989). A unique tRNA intron in the variable loop of the extreme thermophile Thermofilum pendens and its possible evolutionary implications. *J. Biol. Chem.* 264, 17834–17837.
- Kramer, E., and Hopper, A. K. (2013). Retrograde transfer RNA nuclear import provides a new level of tRNA quality control in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 21042–21047. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1316579110
- Kuhsel, M. G., Strickland, R., and Palmer, J. D. (1990). An ancient group I intron shared by eubacteria and chloroplasts. *Science* 250, 1570–1573. doi: 10.1126/science.2125748
- Kuroiwa, T. (1998). The primitive red algae Cyanidium caldarium and Cyanidioschyzon merolae as model system for investigating the dividing apparatus of mitochondria and plastids. *Bioessays* 20, 344–354. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1521-1878(199804)20:4<344::AID-BIES11>3.0.CO;2-2

- Lake, J., Henderson, E., Oakes, M., and Clark, M. W. (1984). Eocytes: a new ribosome structure indicates a kingdom with a close relationship to eukaryotes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 81, 3786–3790. doi: 10.1073/pnas.81.12.3786
- Landweber, L. F. (2007). Why genomes in pieces? *Science* 318, 405–407. doi: 10.1126/science.1150280
- Li de la Sierra-Gallay, I., Mathy, N., Pellegrini, O., and Condon, C. (2006). Structure of the ubiquitous 3' processing enzyme RNase Z bound to transfer RNA. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 13, 376–377. doi: 10.1038/nsmb1066
- Lowe, T. M., and Eddy, S. R. (1997). tRNAscan-SE: a program for improved detection of transfer RNA genes in genomic sequence. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 25, 955–964. doi: 10.1093/nar/25.5.0955
- Lund, E., and Dahlberg, J. E. (1998). Proofreading and aminoacylation of tRNAs before export from the nucleus. *Science* 282, 2082–2085. doi: 10.1126/science.282.5396.2082
- Mackie, G. (1998). Ribonuclease E is a 5′-end-dependent endonuclease. *Nature* 395, 720–723. doi: 10.1038/27246
- Mao, C., Bhardwaj, K., Sharkady, S. M., Fish, R. I., Driscoll, T., Wower, J., et al. (2009). Variations on the tmRNA gene. *RNA Biol.* 6, 355–361. doi: 10.4161/rna.6.4.9172
- Marck, C., and Grosjean, H. (2002). tRNomics: analysis of tRNA genes from 50 genomes of Eukarya, Archaea, and Bacteria reveals anticodonsparing strategies and domain-specific features. *RNA* 8, 1189–1232. doi: 10.1017/S1355838202022021
- Marck, C., and Grosjean, H. (2003). Identification of BHB splicing motifs in intron-containing tRNAs from 18 archaea: evolutionary implications. *RNA* 9, 1516–1531. doi: 10.1261/rna.5132503
- Marck, C., Kachouri-Lafond, R., Lafontaine, I., Westhof, E., Dujon, B., and Grosjean, H. (2006). The RNA polymerase III-dependent family of genes in hemiascomycetes: comparative RNomics, decoding strategies, transcription and evolutionary implications. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 34, 1816–1835. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkl085
- Maruyama, S., Sugahara, J., Kanai, A., and Nozaki, H. (2010). Permuted tRNA genes in the nuclear and nucleomorph genomes of photosynthetic eukaryotes. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 27, 1070–1076. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msp313
- Matsuzaki, M., Misumi, O., Shin, I. T., Maruyama, S., Takahara, M., Miyagishima, S. Y., et al. (2004). Genome sequence of the ultrasmall unicellular red alga Cyanidioschyzon merolae 10D. *Nature* 428, 653–657. doi: 10.1038/ nature02398
- Mattoccia, E., Baldi, I. M., Gandini-Attardi, D., Ciafrè, S., and Tocchini-Valentini, G. P. (1988). Site selection by the tRNA splicing endonuclease of Xenopus laevis. *Cell* 55, 731–738. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(88)90231-0
- McClain, W., Guerrier-Takada, C., and Altman, S. (1987). Model substrates for an RNA enzyme. *Science* 238, 527–530. doi: 10.1126/science.2443980
- Minagawa, A., Ishii, R., Takaku, H., Yokoyama, S., and Nashimoto, M. (2008). The flexible arm of tRNase Z is not essential for pre-tRNA binding but affects cleavage site selection. *J. Mol. Biol.* 381, 289–299. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb. 2008.05.016
- Mori, S., Kajita, T., Endo, T., and Yoshihisa, T. (2011). The intron of tRNA-TrpCCA is dispensable for growth and translation of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *RNA* 17, 1760–1769. doi: 10.1261/rna.2851411
- Mou, Z., Kenny, A. E., and Curcio, M. J. (2006). Hos2 and Set3 promote integration of Ty1 retrotransposons at tRNA genes in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Genetics* 172, 2157–2167. doi: 10.1534/genetics.105.054072
- Muto, A., Ushida, C., and Himeno, H. (1998). A bacterial RNA that functions as both a tRNA and an mRNA. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 23, 25–29. doi: 10.1016/S0968-0004(97)01159-6
- Nashimoto, M., Tamura, M., and Kaspar, R. L. (1999). Minimum requirements for substrates of mammalian tRNA 3' processing endoribonuclease. *Biochemistry* 38, 12089–12096. doi: 10.1021/bi9911942
- Nielsen, S., Yuzenkova, Y., and Zenkin, N. (2013). Mechanism of eukaryotic RNA polymerase III transcription termination. *Science* 340, 1577–1580. doi: 10.1126/science.1237934
- Nozaki, H., Matsuzaki, M., Takahara, M., Misumi, O., Kuroiwa, H., Hasegawa, M., et al. (2003). The phylogenetic position of red algae revealed by multiple nuclear genes from mitochondria-containing eukaryotes and an alternative hypothesis on the origin of plastids. *J. Mol. Evol.* 56, 485–497. doi: 10.1007/s00239-002-2419-9
- Nozaki, H., Takano, H., Misumi, O., Terasawa, K., Matsuzaki, M., Maruyama, S., et al. (2007). A 100%-complete sequence reveals unusually simple genomic

features in the hot-spring red alga. *Cyanidioschyzon merolae*. BMC Biol. 5:28. doi: 10.1186/1741-7007-5-28

- Palenik, B., Grimwood, J., Aerts, A., Rouzé, P., Salamov, A., Putnam, N., et al. (2007). The tiny eukaryote Ostreococcus provides genomic insights into the paradox of plankton speciation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 7705–7710. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0611046104
- Palmer, J. R., and Daniels, C. J. (1995). *In vivo* definition of an archaeal promoter. *J. Bacteriol.* 177, 1844–1849.
- Pan, T., Gutell, R. R., and Uhlenbeck, O. C. (1991). Folding of circularly permuted transfer RNAs. Science 254, 1361–1364. doi: 10.1126/science.1720569
- Pan, T., and Uhlenbeck, O. C. (1993). Circularly permuted DNA, RNA and proteins–a review. *Gene* 125, 111–114. doi: 10.1016/0378-1119(93)90317-V
- Paule, M., and White, R. J. (2000). Survey and summary: transcription by RNA polymerases I and III. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 28, 1283–1298. doi: 10.1093/nar/28.6.1283
- Paushkin, S., Patel, M., Furia, B. S., Peltz, S. W., and Trotta, C. R. (2004). Identification of a human endonuclease complex reveals a link between tRNA splicing and pre-mRNA 3' end formation. *Cell* 117, 311–321. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(04)00342-3
- Pinker, F., Bonnard, G., Gobert, A., Gutmann, B., Hammani, K., Sauter, C., et al. (2013). PPR proteins shed a new light on RNase P biology. *RNA Biol.* 10, 1457–1463. doi: 10.4161/rna.25273
- Popow, J., Englert, M., Weitzer, S., Schleiffer, A., Mierzwa, B., Mechtler, K., et al. (2011). HSPC117 is the essential subunit of a human tRNA splicing ligase complex. *Science* 331, 760–764. doi: 10.1126/science.1197847
- Randau, L., Calvin, K., Hall, M., Yuan, J., Podar, M., Li, H., et al. (2005b). The heteromeric Nanoarchaeum equitans splicing endonuclease cleaves noncanonical bulge-helix-bulge motifs of joined tRNA halves. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 17934–17939. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0509197102
- Randau, L., Münch, R., Hohn, M. J., Jahn, D., and Söll, D. (2005a). Nanoarchaeum equitans creates functional tRNAs from separate genes for their 5'- and 3'- halves. *Nature* 433, 537–541. doi: 10.1038/nature03233
- Randau, L., Pearson, M., and Söll, D. (2005c). The complete set of tRNA species in Nanoarchaeum equitans. FEBS Lett. 579, 2945–2947. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2005.04.051
- Randau, L., Schröder, I., and Söll, D. (2008). Life without RNase P. *Nature* 453, 120–123. doi: 10.1038/nature06833
- Randau, L., and Söll, D. (2008). Transfer RNA genes in pieces. *EMBO Rep.* 9, 623–628. doi: 10.1038/embor.2008.101
- Rauhut, R., Green, P. R., and Abelson, J. (1990). Yeast tRNA-splicing endonuclease is a heterotrimeric enzyme. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 18180–18184.
- Reeve, J. (2003). Archaeal chromatin and transcription. *Mol. Microbiol.* 48, 587–598. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2003.03439.x
- Reinhold-Hurek, B., and Shub, D. A. (1992). Self-splicing introns in tRNA genes of widely divergent bacteria. *Nature* 357, 173–176. doi: 10.1038/357173a0
- Reiter, N., Osterman, A., Torres-Larios, A., Swinger, K. K., Pan, T., and Mondragón, A. (2010). Structure of a bacterial ribonuclease P holoenzyme in complex with tRNA. *Nature* 468, 784–789. doi: 10.1038/nature09516
- Reyes, V. M., and Abelson, J. (1988). Substrate recognition and splice site determination in yeast tRNA splicing. *Cell* 55, 719–730. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(88)90230-9
- Rich, A., and Rajbhandary, U. L. (1976). Transfer RNA: molecular structure, sequence, and properties. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 45, 805–860. doi: 10.1146/annurev.bi.45.070176.004105
- Santangelo, T., Cubonová, L., Skinner, K. M., and Reeve, J. N. (2009). Archaeal intrinsic transcription termination *in vivo. J. Bacteriol.* 191, 7102–7108. doi: 10.1128/JB.00982-09
- Schiffer, S., Rösch, S., and Marchfelder, A. (2002). Assigning a function to a conserved group of proteins: the tRNA 3'-processing enzymes. *EMBO J.* 21, 2769–2777. doi: 10.1093/emboj/21.11.2769
- Schimmel, P., and Ribas De Pouplana, L. (1995). Transfer RNA: from minihelix to genetic code. Cell 81, 983–986. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(05)80002-9
- Schramm, L., and Hernandez, N. (2002). Recruitment of RNA polymerase III to its target promoters. *Genes Dev.* 16, 2593–2620. doi: 10.1101/gad.1018902
- Schürer, H., Schiffer, S., Marchfelder, A., and Mörl, M. (2001). This is the end: processing, editing and repair at the tRNA 3'-terminus. *Biol. Chem.* 382, 1147–1156. doi: 10.1515/BC.2001.144

Sharkady, S., and Williams, K. P. (2004). A third lineage with two-piece tmRNA. Nucleic Acids Res. 32, 4531–4518. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkh795

- Soma, A., Onodera, A., Sugahara, J., Kanai, A., Yachie, N., Tomita, M., et al. (2007). Permuted tRNA genes expressed via a circular RNA intermediate in Cyanidioschyzon merolae. *Science* 318, 450–453. doi: 10.1126/science.1145718
- Soma, A., Sugahara, J., Onodera, A., Yachie, N., Kanai, A., Watanabe, S., et al. (2013). Identification of highly-disrupted tRNA genes in nuclear genome of the red alga, Cyanidioschyzon merolae 10D. *Sci. Rep.* 3:2321. doi: 10.1038/srep02321
- Soma, A., Uchiyama, K., Sakamoto, T., Maeda, M., and Himeno, H. (1999). Unique recognition style of tRNA(Leu) by *Haloferax volcanii* leucyl-tRNA synthetase. *J. Mol. Biol.* 293, 1029–1038. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.1999.3219
- Späth, B., Canino, G., and Marchfelder, A. (2007). tRNase Z: the end is not in sight. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 64, 2404–2412. doi: 10.1007/s00018-007-7160-5
- Sprague, K. (1995). "Transcrption of eukaryotic tRNA genes," in *tRNA*, eds D. Söll and U. L. RajBhandary (Washington, DC: ASM Press), 31–50.
- Stange, N., Beier, D., and Beier, H. (1992). Intron excision from tRNA precursors by plant splicing endonuclease requires unique features of the mature tRNA domain. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 210, 193–203. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1992.tb17408.x
- Sugahara, J., Fujishima, K., Morita, K., Tomita, M., and Kanai, A. (2009). Disrupted tRNA gene diversity and possible evolutionary scenarios. J. Mol. Evol. 69, 497–504. doi: 10.1007/s00239-009-9294-6
- Sugahara, J., Fujishima, K., Nunoura, T., Takai, Y., Takami, H., Takai, K., et al. (2012). Genomic heterogeneity in a natural archaeal population suggests a model of tRNA gene disruption. *PLoS ONE* 7:e32504. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0032504
- Sugahara, J., Kikuta, K., Fujishima, K., Yachie, N., Tomita, M., and Kanai, A. (2008). Comprehensive analysis of archaeal tRNA genes reveals rapid increase of tRNA introns in the order thermoproteales. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 25, 2709–2716. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msn216
- Sugahara, J., Yachie, N., Arakawa, K., and Tomita, M. (2007). In silico screening of archaeal tRNA-encoding genes having multiple introns with bulge-helix-bulge splicing motifs. RNA 13, 671–681. doi: 10.1261/rna.309507
- Sugahara, J., Yachie, N., Sekine, Y., Soma, A., Matsui, M., Tomita, M., et al. (2006). SPLITS: a new program for predicting split and intron-containing tRNA genes at the genome level. *In Silico Biol.* 6, 411–418.
- Suzuki, H., Zuo, Y., Wang, J., Zhang, M. Q., Malhotra, A., and Mayeda, A. (2006). Characterization of RNase R-digested cellular RNA source that consists of lariat and circular RNAs from pre-mRNA splicing. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 34, e63. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkl151
- Szweykowska-Kulinska, Z., and Beier, H. (1992). Sequence and structure requirements for the biosynthesis of pseudouridine (psi 35) in plant pre-tRNA(Tyr). *EMBO J.* 11, 1907–1912.
- Takano, A., Endo, T., and Yoshihisa, T. (2005). tRNA actively shuttles between the nucleus and cytosol in yeast. *Science* 309, 140–142. doi: 10.1126/science.1113346
- Tanaka, T., and Kikuchi, Y. (2001). Origin of the cloverleaf shape of transfer RNAthe double-hairpin model: implication for the role of tRNA intron and the long extra loop. *Viva Origino* 29, 134–142.
- Tang, T., Rozhdestvensky, T. S., D'orval, B. C., Bortolin, M. L., Huber, H., Charpentier, B., et al. (2002). RNomics in Archaea reveals a further link between splicing of archaeal introns and rRNA processing. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 30, 921–930. doi: 10.1093/nar/30.4.921
- Thomm, M., and Wich, G. (1988). An archaebacterial promoter element for stable RNA genes with homology to the TATA box of higher eukaryotes. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 16, 151–163. doi: 10.1093/nar/16.1.151
- Thompson, L., and Daniels, C. J. (1988). A tRNA(Trp) intron endonuclease from Halobacterium volcanii. Unique substrate recognition properties. J. Biol. Chem. 263, 17951–17959.
- Tocchini-Valentini, G. D., Fruscoloni, P., and Tocchini-Valentini, G. P. (2005a). Structure, function, and evolution of the tRNA endonucleases of Archaea: an example of subfunctionalization. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 8933–8938. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0502350102
- Tocchini-Valentini, G. D., Fruscoloni, P., and Tocchini-Valentini, G. P. (2005b). Coevolution of tRNA intron motifs and tRNA endonuclease architecture in Archaea. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 102, 15418–15422. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0506750102
- Tocchini-Valentini, G. D., Fruscoloni, P., and Tocchini-Valentini, G. P. (2007). The dawn of dominance by the mature domain in tRNA splicing. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 12300–12305. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0705537104

- Tocchini-Valentini, G. D., Fruscoloni, P., and Tocchini-Valentini, G. P. (2009). Processing of multiple-intron-containing pretRNA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 106, 20246–20251. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0911658106
- Tocchini-Valentini, G. D., and Tocchini-Valentini, G. P. (2012). Avatar pre-tRNAs help elucidate the properties of tRNA-splicing endonucleases that produce tRNA from permuted genes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, 21325–21329. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1219336110
- Trotta, C. R., Miao, F., Arn, E. A., Stevens, S. W., Ho, C. K., Rauhut, R., et al. (1997). The yeast tRNA splicing endonuclease: a tetrameric enzyme with two active site subunits homologous to the archaeal tRNA endonucleases. *Cell* 89, 849–858. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80270-6
- Trotta, C. R., Paushkin, S. V., Patel, M., Li, H., and Peltz, S. W. (2006). Cleavage of pre-tRNAs by the splicing endonuclease requires a composite active site. *Nature* 441, 375–377. doi: 10.1038/nature04741
- Watanabe, Y., Yokobori, S., Inaba, T., Yamagishi, A., Oshima, T., Kawarabayasi, Y., et al. (2002). Introns in protein-coding genes in Archaea. *FEBS Lett.* 510, 27–30. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(01)03219-7
- Weiner, A. (2004). tRNA maturation: RNA polymerization without a nucleic acid template. *Curr. Biol.* 14, R883–R885. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2004.09.069
- Weiner, A., and Maizels, N. (1987). tRNA-like structures tag the 3' ends of genomic RNA molecules for replication: implications for the origin of protein synthesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 84, 7383–7387. doi: 10.1073/pnas.84. 21.7383
- Weinert, T., and Hopper, A. K. (2007). tRNA traffic meets a cell-cycle checkpoint. *Cell* 131, 838–840. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.11.014
- Westaway, K., and Abelson, J. (1995). "Splicing of tRNA precursor," in tRNA, eds D. Söll and U. L. RajBhandary (Washington, DC: ASM Press), 79–92.
- Whipple, J., Lane, E. A., Chernyakov, I., D'silva, S., and Phizicky, E. M. (2011). The yeast rapid tRNA decay pathway primarily monitors the structural integrity of the acceptor and T-stems of mature tRNA. *Genes Dev.* 25, 1173–1184. doi: 10.1101/gad.2050711
- Wich, G., Hummel, H., Jarsch, M., Bär, U., and Böck, A. (1986). Transcription signals for stable RNA genes in Methanococcus. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 14, 2459–2479. doi: 10.1093/nar/14.6.2459
- Widmann, J., Di Giulio, M., Yarus, M., and Knight, R. (1995). tRNA creation by hairpin duplication. J. Mol. Evol. 61, 524–530. doi: 10.1007/s00239-004-0315-1
- Williams, K. (2002). Descent of a split RNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 30, 2025–2030. doi: 10.1093/nar/30.9.2025
- Williams, K. (2004). Evolutionary resealing of a split RNA: reversal of gene permutation. RNA 10, 555–557. doi: 10.1261/rna.5274104
- Willis, I. M. (1993). RNA polymerase III. Genes, factors and transcriptional specificity. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 212, 1–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1993. tb17626.x

- Worden, A., Lee, J. H., Mock, T., Rouzé, P., Simmons, M. P., Aerts, A. L., et al. (2009). Green evolution and dynamic adaptations revealed by genomes of the marine picoeukaryotes Micromonas. *Science* 324, 268–272. doi: 10.1126/science.1167222
- Xu, M. Q., Kathe, S. D., Goodrich-Blair, H., Nierzwicki-Bauer, S. A., and Shub, D. A. (1990a). Bacterial origin of a chloroplast intron: conserved self-splicing group I introns in cyanobacteria. *Science* 250, 1566–1570. doi: 10.1126/science.2125747
- Xu, Q., Teplow, D., Lee, T. D., and Abelson, J. (1990b). Domain structure in yeast tRNA ligase. *Biochemistry* 29, 6132–6138. doi: 10.1021/bi00478a004
- Xue, S., Calvin, K., and Li, H. (2006). RNA recognition and cleavage by a splicing endonuclease. *Science* 312, 906–910. doi: 10.1126/science.1126629
- Yoshihisa, T., Yunoki-Esaki, K., Ohshima, C., Tanaka, N., and Endo, T. (2003). Possibility of cytoplasmic pre-tRNA splicing: the yeast tRNA splicing endonuclease mainly localizes on the mitochondria. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 14, 3266–3279. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E02-11-0757
- Yoshinari, S., Itoh, T., Hallam, S. J., Delong, E. F., Yokobori, S., Yamagishi, A., et al. (2006). Archaeal pre-mRNA splicing: a connection to hetero-oligomeric splicing endonuclease. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 346, 1024–1032. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.06.011
- Yukawa, Y., Sugita, M., Choisne, N., Small, I., and Sugiura, M. (2000). The TATA motif, the CAA motif and the poly(T) transcription termination motif are all important for transcription re-initiation on plant tRNA genes. *Plant J.* 22, 439–447. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-313X.2000.00752.x
- Zahler, N., Christian, E. L., and Harris, M. E. (2003). Recognition of the 5' leader of pre-tRNA substrates by the active site of ribonuclease P. *RNA* 9, 734–745. doi: 10.1261/rna.5220703

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 31 January 2014; accepted: 12 March 2014; published online: 01 April 2014. Citation: Soma A (2014) Circularly permuted tRNA genes: their expression and implications for their physiological relevance and development. Front. Genet. **5**:63. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00063

This article was submitted to Non-Coding RNA, a section of the journal Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2014 Soma. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Handling tRNA introns, archaeal way and eukaryotic way

Tohru Yoshihisa *

Graduate School of Life Science, University of Hyogo, Ako-gun, Hyogo, Japan

Edited by:

Akio Kanai, Keio University, Japan

Reviewed by:

Akiko Soma, Chiba University, Japan Javier Augusto Martinez, Institute of Molecular Biotechnology, Austria

*Correspondence:

Tohru Yoshihisa, Graduate School of Life Science, University of Hyogo, 3-2-1, Kouto, Kamigori-cho, Ako-gun, Hyogo 678-1297, Japan e-mail: tyoshihi@sci.u-hyogo.ac.jp Introns are found in various tRNA genes in all the three kingdoms of life. Especially, archaeal and eukaryotic genomes are good sources of tRNA introns that are removed by proteinaceous splicing machinery. Most intron-containing tRNA genes both in archaea and eukaryotes possess an intron at a so-called canonical position, one nucleotide 3' to their anticodon, while recent bioinformatics have revealed unusual types of tRNA introns and their derivatives especially in archaeal genomes. Gain and loss of tRNA introns during various stages of evolution are obvious both in archaea and eukaryotes from analyses of comparative genomics. The splicing of tRNA molecules has been studied extensively from biochemical and cell biological points of view, and such analyses of eukaryotic systems provided interesting findings in the past years. Here, I summarize recent progresses in the analyses of tRNA introns and the splicing process, and try to clarify new and old questions to be solved in the next stages.

Keywords: tRNA, intron, splicing, genome, archaea, eukaryote

Progress in bioinformatics widens our understanding of structural characteristics of tRNA genes (Lowe and Eddy, 1997; Sugahara et al., 2006, 2008; Heinemann et al., 2010; Cognat et al., 2013). Especially, recent powerful sequence analyses with the next generation sequencers accumulate an enormous amount of sequence information in tRNA genes through whole genome sequencing of non-model organisms from various evolutional clades and through metagenome analyses mostly of prokaryotic species. In these analyses, introns were found in many tRNA genes in genomes among all of the three kingdoms of life (Heinemann et al., 2010). In eubacterial genomes, and their relatives, eukaryotic organellar genomes, small numbers of tRNA genes harbor the group I intron within the anticodon region (Reinhold-Hurek and Shub, 1992; Haugen et al., 2005). These introns are spliced by a series of phosphoester transfer reactions catalyzed by intronic sequences, whose mechanism is somehow related to splicing of mRNA. On the other hand, archaeal and eukaryotic nuclear genomes have tRNA introns whose splicing is completely dependent on proteinaceous enzymes (Phizicky and Hopper, 2010; Popow et al., 2012; Hopper, 2013). In addition to normal introns, their variations have been found in both archaeal and eukaryotic genomes. Furthermore, various interesting observations have been reported on biochemical and cell biological aspects in pretRNA splicing machinery in recent years. In this review, I mainly handle issues related to these "protein-spliced" tRNA introns and their splicing machinery by emphasizing comparison between archaeal and eukaryotic systems.

STRUCTURAL CHARACTERISTICS OF tRNA GENES HARBORING INTRONS

Introns found in archaeal and eukaryotic tRNA genes are mostly inserted at one nucleotide 3' to the anticodon, namely position 37/38 in the standard nomenclature (**Figure 1**) while introns are also inserted into other parts of tRNA genes in minor cases

(see below in detail). Because intron insertion at this canonical position disrupts the anticodon stem-loop structure, its splicing is indispensable for tRNA maturation. On the other hand, the canonical intron does not seem to interrupt the overall tRNA structure (Figure 1). Indeed, pre-tRNAs with the canonical intron were shown to maintain structures of the D and T Ψ C arms, and the acceptor stem by chemical and enzymatic probing (Swerdlow and Guthrie, 1984; Lee and Knapp, 1985). Structural characteristics of archaeal and eukaryotic tRNA genes containing the canonical intron have some similarity: mostly, 5'- and 3'-splice sites are set in short single-stranded segments franked by doublestranded stretches. However, close inspection of these structures reveal some difference between the two groups, which is derived from difference in strategy of splice site recognition by splicing enzymes. For splicing of pre-tRNAs, both archaebacteria and eukaryotes utilize similar sets of enzymes, namely tRNA splicing endonuclease (Sen) (Thompson and Daniel, 1990; Trotta et al., 1997; Li et al., 1998; Akama et al., 2000; Paushkin et al., 2004) and tRNA ligase (Phizicky et al., 1986; Englert and Beier, 2005; Englert et al., 2010, 2011; Popow et al., 2011, 2014). Some organisms require additional factors for the ligation step (Culver et al., 1997; Harding et al., 2008; Popow et al., 2011, 2014). Among these, splicing endonuclease is responsible for recognition of splice sites, and acts as a decoding engine of tRNA-type splice sites on various transcripts (see below in detail).

INTRON-CONTAINING tRNA GENES IN ARCHAEBACTERIA

Introns are found in every isodecoder tRNA (tRNAs with the same anticodon) genes of sequenced archaeal genomes. On an average, \sim 15% of tRNA genes have introns in the archaeal genomes while ratio of intron-containing genes varies from \sim 8% in *Euryarchaeota* to \sim 48% in *Crenarchaeota* (Marck and Grosjean, 2003; Sugahara et al., 2008; Chan et al., 2011). Length of introns ranges from 11 to 129 nt, and its median for each isodecoder


secondary structures of pre-tRNAs with a canonical intron (left) and mature tRNA (right) are schematically shown. White circles with three black circles, blues circles, and light gray circles represent 5'-exon, intron and 3' exon of pre-tRNA, respectively. The anticodon is represented with black circles, and CCA tri-nucleotides added at the 3'-terminus of tRNA are

tRNA falls mostly in 12-25 nt except the case of tRNA-Trp_{CCA} introns (65 nt), which nest a box C/D small RNA (Omer et al., 2000; Clouet d'Orval et al., 2001; Singh et al., 2004). The hallmark of splice sites in archaeal pre-tRNAs is the bulge-helix-bulge (BHB) motif (Kjems and Garrett, 1988; Tang et al., 2002; Marck and Grosjean, 2003), and the BHB motif is a critical determinant for recognition by archaeal splicing endonuclease (Xue et al., 2006), which consists of a 4 bp double-stranded helix flanked with two 3 nt bulges (Figure 1, shadowed with orange). In a pretRNA, the first two nucleotides of the anticodon base-pair with the intron to form a part of the central 4 bp helix, and the two adjacent bulges provide the 5'- and 3'-splice sites. The 5'- and 3'-splice sites may exist as independent entities, such as hBH and HBh' motifs, in which splice sites are flanked by two short helices, in certain archaeal species (see non-canonical splice sites in Figure 3) (Marck and Grosjean, 2003). This secondary structure requirement in the BHB motif restricts a part of the primary sequence of the intron while quite large variations in sequence are accepted in the other parts of the intron.

Because of this transplantable nature of the splice sites, introns are also found at non-canonical positions of tRNAs, such as 20/21, 22/23, 25/26, 29/30, 30/31, 45/46, 53/54, 56/57, 59/60, etc., in some archaeal genomes (**Figures 2A**, **3**). Especially, *Crenarchaeota* and *Nanoarchaeota* genomes are rich sources of non-canonical introns. In an extreme case, intron is inserted at position 3/4 in certain *Thermoproteales* tRNAs (Sugahara et al., 2008). The non-canonical intron is sometimes accompanied by the canonical and other non-canonical introns in the same tRNA genes. For example, a tRNA-Pro_{UGG} gene in *Pyrobaculum islandicum* has two non-canonical intron (**Figure 3B**) (Sugahara et al., 2007). Splice sites of these non-canonical introns are found not only in the BHB motif but also in the HBh' and/or h'BH motifs (Marck and Grosjean, 2003).

Furthermore, tRNA genes consist of separated transcriptional units have been identified in Crenarchaeal genomes depicted with dark gray circles. The BHB motif in archaeal pre-tRNA and the A-I pair in eukaryotic pre-tRNA are highlighted with orange and yellow shadow, respectively. Arrowheads represent splice sites. Mature tRNA is illustrated in two different ways. In the right most structure, decoding and amino acid-accepting units of mature tRNA are marked with light blue and light green shadow, respectively.



in Sugahara et al. (2008), Sugahara et al. (2009), and Chan et al. (2011) for archaea, and Kawach et al. (2005), Soma et al. (2007), and Maruyama et al. (2010) for eukaryotes.

(Randau et al., 2005b,c). "Split tRNA genes" were first reported in *Nanoarchaeum equitans*: in this organism, tRNA-His_{GUG} is encoded by two gene fragments corresponding to 5′- and 3′-halves separated at position 37/38 in the anticodon loop (**Figure 3C**). The 5′- and 3′-halves are transcribed from their own promoters with the trailer and leader sequences whose portions are complementary to each other. A predicted secondary structure of the hybridized fragments is highly similar to that of a pre-tRNA harboring a canonical intron with a relaxed BHB motif, like a pre-tRNA received a cleavage at a loop in the intron.



Randau et al. (2005a), Fujishima et al. (2009), and Soma et al. (2007).

Indeed, RT-PCR analysis revealed that the split tRNA fragments are transcribed, and the transcripts are joined to form mature and functional tRNAs *in vivo*, indicating that *trans*-splicing is operating in *N. equitans* (Randau et al., 2005b,c). Further *in vitro* analyses revealed that splicing endonuclease from *N. equitans* can recognize this "pre-tRNA" complex and cleave off the trailer and leader sequences at the precise positions, and the resulting RNA is suitable for ligation by tRNA ligase (Randau et al., 2005a; Tocchini-Valentini et al., 2005). An interesting case in this organism is that tRNA-Glu_{CUC} and tRNA-Glu_{UUC}, isodecoder tRNAs for the same amino acid, are produced from two different 5'halves and one common 3'-half by *trans*-splicing (Randau et al., 2005b). Probably, *trans*-splicing contributes to saving genomic space to be assigned to tRNAs and to increasing probability to have more isodecoders especially in the case of *N. equitans*, a parasitic bacterium with massive genome reduction (Makarova and Koonin, 2005). Or *trans*-splicing may be an evolutionary remnant of the ancient form of tRNA gene organization (see below).

There are more complicated cases. In Caldivirga maquilingensis, tRNA-Gly isodecoders with anticodons, CCC, UCC, and GCC, are formed by combinations of up-to three out of five independent transcripts through trans-splicing (Figure 3D) (Fujishima et al., 2009; Sugahara et al., 2009). While tRNA-Gly_{CCC} is made from the 5'- and 3'-halves covering 1-37 and 38-73 regions, respectively, like the case of *N. equitans* tRNA-Glu_{CUC}, the other two are joined from the 1-25 fragment common for the two, either one of the two specific fragments covering 26-37 with the anticodons, and the 3'-half used for all of the three tRNA-Gly isodecoders. Most of splits in the separated tRNA genes are located at canonical position (37/38) while those are at position 29/30 of tRNA-Ala_{CGC} and tRNA-Ala_{UGC}, and at 25/26 of tRNA-Glu_{UUC} in the C. maquilingensis genome. N. equitans and some Staphylothermus genomes harbor split tRNA-Lys_{CUU} at position 30/31 (Fujishima et al., 2009; Chan et al., 2011). For the tri-split tRNA genes, splits are usually combination between one canonical position and one or more non-canonical positions (Fujishima et al., 2009).

INTRON-CONTAINING tRNA GENES IN EUKARYOTES

In eukaryotic genomes, most of intron-containing tRNA genes have their introns at the canonical position with length of 6-133 nt (Lowe and Chan, 2011). Because the nuclear genome of a eukaryote contains multiple tRNA genes encoding an isodecoder tRNA to allow sufficient supply of the tRNA, the number of tRNA genes in a eukaryotic genome does not correspond to that of sequence variations of tRNAs. Ratios of introncontaining tRNA genes vary significantly among eukaryotes: only 39 out of 1068 tRNAs genes (3.7%) have an canonical intron in Strongylocentrotus purpuratus (sea urchin) while in the infectious yeast, Cryptococcus neoformans, 132 out of 143 tRNA genes (92%) have an intron (Lowe and Chan, 2011). Whether all the predicted introns in eukaryotic genomes are spliced properly has not been fully confirmed. However, the yeast, Saccharomyces cerevisiae, which has 61 intron-containing genes encoding 10 different isodecoder tRNAs, can splice all the pre-tRNAs with introns by the single splicing endonuclease, the Sen complex, and this is also true in human (Trotta et al., 1997; Paushkin et al., 2004).

A clear difference between eukaryotic and archaeal introns in tRNA genes is that eukaryotic introns do not have clear local motifs specifying splice sites as described on archaeal introns (**Figure 1**). Rather, eukaryotic splicing endonuclease is considered to recognize splicing sites of pre-tRNAs by ruler-mechanism, in which the Sen complex measures distance between the body of tRNA and the splice sites, and this allows more flexible sequence selection around splicing sites in eukaryotic pre-tRNAs

(Greer et al., 1987; Reyes and Abelson, 1988). Analyses of the secondary and tertiary structures of eukaryotic pre-tRNAs indicate that many pre-tRNAs have splice sites in single-stranded regions adjacent to double-stranded stretches, suggesting a eukaryotic site-recognition strategy similar to that of archaeal enzyme to some extent (Greer et al., 1987; Reyes and Abelson, 1988). Indeed, eukaryotic splicing endonuclease can recognize and splice archaeal-type pre-tRNAs with a BHB motif, meaning that eukaryotic splicing endonuclease has ability to read local structural features of substrate RNAs (Fabbri et al., 1998; Di Segni et al., 2005). However, close inspection of substrate specificity in tRNA splicing of S. cerevisiae and Xenopus extracts with artificial substrates demonstrated that double-stranded regions formed between the anticodon loop and the intronic sequence are not prerequisite to splicing (Reyes and Abelson, 1988). Thus, for our complete understanding of splice site properties essential for Sen recognition, we need to wait until structures of complexes between eukaryotic splicing endonuclease and various pre-tRNAs are solved.

Although short insertions can be found in D or T Ψ C arms of various eukaryotic tRNA genes, such insertions are mostly found one of many synonymous tRNA genes on a genome. Thus, such genes are supposed to be pseudogenes, and non-canonical introns in eukaryotic genomes are supposed to be rare. However, it was reported that nuclear remnants of enslaved algae, nucleomorphs, in cryptophytes and chlorarachniophytes harbor tRNA genes with non-canonical introns in the D and T Ψ C arms in addition to non-canonical positions in the anticodon stem-loop (Kawach et al., 2005; Maruyama et al., 2010). For example, the nucleomorph genome of Guillardia theta contains 9 tRNA genes (including one pseudogene) with insertions with length from 3 to 24 nt at non-canonical positions (Figure 2B). Interestingly, their excision, including that of the 3 nt intron in the T Ψ C arm of tRNA-Cys_{GCA}, tRNA-Val_{AAC}, and tRNA-Leu_{UAA(pseudo)} genes, was confirmed by sequencing of RT-PCR products of the algal RNAs (Kawach et al., 2005) while we still do not know how these non-canonical introns, especially extremely short ones, are spliced. Moreover, 4 tRNA genes, such as tRNA-PheGAA genes, of this organism harbor two introns, and 2 tRNA genes, elongator tRNA-Met (tRNA-eMet) and tRNA-Cys_{GCA}, do three introns, like the case of Crenarchaeal tRNA genes. Similar non-canonical introns are also found in the nuclear genome of a red algae Cyanidioschyzon merolae (Soma et al., 2007). Therefore, certain eukaryotic splicing endonucleases have ability to recognize splice sites inserted at non-canonical positions. In this point of view, splicing machinery of C. merolae seems to have more archaea-like characteristics, and BHB motifs seem to be critical determinants of substrate selection for this splicing endonuclease (Soma et al., 2013).

Another unusual tRNAs that were first reported on the *C. merolae* genome are permutated tRNAs, in which normal 5'and 3'-termini are bridged with a short loop, and their 3'-half is positioned upstream of the 5'-half (Soma et al., 2007). Six tRNAs such as tRNA-Gln_{CUG} in *C. merolae* have its 5'-leader sequence before position 38 and its 3'-trailer after position 37. Atypical 5'- and 3'-termini are also introduced in the D arm of tRNA-Leu_{UAA}, and the T Ψ C arm in 4 tRNAs including tRNA-Ala_{UGC}

(Figures 3E,F). RT-PCR analyses revealed that these permutated tRNA transcripts are indeed converted into mature and functional tRNAs via circular intermediates (Soma et al., 2007, 2013). The new 3'-trailer and 5'-leader sequences have ability to basepair and produce a splice site-like structure with a BHB motif similar to that of archaeal split tRNA transcripts (Randau et al., 2005b). Thus, splicing machinery is thought to cleave the extensions from the permutated pre-tRNAs and joined separated ends of revers-oriented exons while true 5'- and 3'-termini of the mature tRNAs are thought to be generated by the action of terminal processing enzymes, such as RNase P and tRNase Z. Similar permutated tRNA genes have been found in other single-cell algae, such as prasinophytes and nucleomorphs in cryptophytes (Maruyama et al., 2010). Permutated tRNA genes are not limited to eukaryotes. An archaea, Thermofilum pendens, also has permutated tRNA-Tyr_{GUA} and initiator tRNA-Met (tRNA-iMet) genes with new 5'- and 3'-termini formed in the T Ψ C arm (Chan et al., 2011). However, distribution of permutated tRNA genes is so far limited in only certain clades of eukaryotes and archaea.

SPLICING MACHINERY

SPLICING ENDONUCLEASE

As mentioned previously, splicing endonuclease is a search engine for tRNA-type splices sites among various transcripts produced by an organism. One splicing endonuclease, or an endonuclease complex, in an organism cleaves both the 5'- and 3'-splice sites of an intron to produce two 5'-OH termini on the intron and 3'-exon, and two 2', 3'-cyclic phosphate termini on the 5'-exon and intron, meaning that the reaction is phosphoester transfer but not hydrolysis. The archaeal endonucleases are classified into three types from subunit organization; α_4 , α_2 and $\alpha_2\beta_2$ (Tocchini-Valentini et al., 2005; Calvin and Li, 2008). The archetypal configuration of the enzymes is supposed as an α_4 homotetramer. The crystallographic analysis of EndA from Methanococcus jannaschii revealed that this tetrameric enzyme consists of a 2-fold but not 4-fold symmetric structure, where two subunits are mainly used to build two reaction centers for splice site cleavage, and the other two are used as structural components to position the catalytic subunits in an appropriate spatial arrangement for accepting the BHB motif (Lykke-Andersen and Garrett, 1997; Li et al., 1998). The α_2 type is a kind of "a dimer of dimers," in which two tandemly duplicated endonuclease units in a polypeptide act as a catalytic unit and a structural unit, respectively (Kleman-Leyer et al., 1997; Li and Abelson, 2000). The resulting dimer shows a configuration similar to that of α_4 enzymes. The $\alpha_2\beta_2$ type is also a derivative of α_4 (Mitchell et al., 2009; Yoshinari et al., 2009). Gene duplication and different requirements for catalytic and structural subunits have led sequence divergence of the two subunits. Appearance of certain subunit types is well correlated with phylogenetic relation of archaebacteria and, more importantly, with diversity of tRNA introns and splice sites (Tocchini-Valentini et al., 2005; Calvin and Li, 2008). Species in Euryarchaeota and Korarchaeota essentially have α_4 - or α_2 -type splicing endonucleases, while those in Nanoarchaeota, Thaumarchaeota, and Crenarchaeota have $\alpha_2\beta_2$ type enzymes. Interestingly, the latter group of archaea is rich in tRNA genes with introns: most unusual tRNA genes, such as

those with non-canonical introns, with multiple introns or with permutated configuration, are found in these organisms (Marck and Grosjean, 2003; Sugahara et al., 2008; Chan et al., 2011). Some of the splice sites in these tRNA genes comprise expanded formats of the BHB, such as hBH or HBh' (Tocchini-Valentini et al., 2005). On the other hand, *Euryarchaeota*, mostly possessing α_4 - or α_2 -type enzymes, has low ratios of tRNA genes with introns (less than 10%), and these tRNA genes have only one intron with the BHB motif at the canonical position. Therefore, subunit organization of splicing endonuclease seems to be a determinant for the substrate spectrum of the enzyme; strict to the BHB motif at the canonical position in α_4 and α_2 enzymes, and lenient in $\alpha_2\beta_2$ enzymes.

Eukaryotic splicing endonuclease consisting of four subunits, namely Sen2, Sen34, Sen54, and Sen15, was first identified in the yeast S. cerevisiae (Rauhut et al., 1990; Trotta et al., 1997). Among the four subunits, Sen2 and Sen34 have catalytic centers that are responsible for cleavage of 5'- and 3'-splice sites, respectively. On the other hand, Sen54 was reported to interact with the D-arm of substrate pre-tRNAs and to position catalytic subunits away from the body of tRNA with appropriate distances (Trotta et al., 2006; Xue et al., 2006). Human endonuclease contains homologs of all the 4 Sen proteins found in S. cerevisiae (Paushkin et al., 2004), and Arabidopsis thaliana also possesses Sen2 and Sen34 homologs (Akama et al., 2000). There is appreciable conservation among these eukaryotic Sen2 and Sen34 subunits, and archaeal endonucleases, indicating the same evolutional origin of splicing machinery. The human Sen complex also contains Clp1 (hClp1) (Paushkin et al., 2004; Weitzer and Martinez, 2007). Clp1

was first identified as a component of the cleavage factor II for polyadenylation of pre-mRNAs (de Vries et al., 2000), and then re-identified as an in vitro kinase for tRNA exons when searching for an enzyme phosphorylating siRNAs displaying a 5'-OH group (Figure 4) (Weitzer and Martinez, 2007). Divergence of subunit organization is greater in eukaryotic endonuclease than in archaeal enzymes, and eukaryotic splicing endonucleases have the ability to cleave both eukaryotic and archaeal types of splice sites as described above. Thus, it can be said that subunit organization diversity is, again, correlated with local splice site variability even between different kingdoms of life. Although direct relation between repertoires of intron-containing tRNA genes and subunit configuration of splicing endonucleases among eukaryotes has not been analyzed extensively, one interesting example is C. merolae. Bioinformatic analysis successfully identified genes for Sen2, Sen34, and Sen54 but failed to identify any gene or gene fragment that may encodes the fourth essential subunit Sen15 (Soma et al., 2013). In addition, yeast two-hybrid analyses could not identify other proteins that interact with either one of the three C. merolae Sen proteins, suggesting that the Sen complex of this organism may consist of 3 but not 4 subunits. Although further study is needed, such unique subunit organization in C. merolae may be related to existence of tRNA genes with non-canonical introns and permutated tRNA genes in this organism.

ENZYMES CATALYZING LIGATION STEPS

Excised tRNA exons are joined by tRNA ligase. There are two completely different chemical pathways of ligation classified from the origin of the phosphate bridging the 5'- and 3'-exons:



FIGURE 4 | tRNA splice site cleavage and two pathways of tRNA

ligation. Series of chemical reactions in splice site cleavage of pre-tRNA (left), the 5'-phosphate ligation pathway (upper), and the 3'-phosphate ligation pathway (lower) are shown schematically. Proteins involved in individual reactions are also shown, and unidentified factors are denoted by question marks. Those proteins of yeast, mammal and prokaryotes are color-coded with black, blue and orange, respectively. In the 5'-phosphate ligation pathway, yeast Tr11 uses GTP as a phosphate donor while hClp1 in the mammalian system uses ATP instead of GTP

for 5'-phosphorylation of the 3'-exon. Although a mammalian enzyme(s) catalyzing the last two steps of this pathway is still missing, such an enzyme was found in lancelet. In the 3'-phosphate ligation pathway, the mammalian protein responsible for 2'-3' cyclic phosphodiesterase in the HSPC117 complex was not fully identified, but eubacterial RtcB, an HSPC117 homolog, was demonstrated to possess this activity (Tanaka and Shuman, 2011). The starting material, pre-tRNA, and the end product, mature tRNA, are shadowed. Appr>Pi represents ADP-ribose 1"-2" cyclic phosphate.

one is the 5'-phosphate ligation pathway and the other is the 3'-phosphate ligation pathway (Figure 4) (Popow et al., 2012). At the first step, ligation systems need to open the 2', 3'-cyclic phosphodiester on the 5'-exon. The 5'-phosphate ligation pathway produces the 3' terminus with 2'-phosphate and 3'-OH (Phizicky et al., 1986; Sawaya et al., 2003; Wang and Shuman, 2005) while the 3'-phosphate ligation pathway does that with 2'-OH and 3'-phosphate (Popow et al., 2011; Chakravarty et al., 2012). The former does not use the 2'-phosphate but a new phosphate derived from a nucleotide triphosphate to form a bridge between the two exons (Westaway et al., 1993), while the latter utilizes the 3'-phosphate left on the 5'-exon (Popow et al., 2011; Chakravarty et al., 2012). In both cases, the phosphorylated exon is further activated by nucleotidylation, and then ligated to its counterpart using the nucleotide monophosphate as a leaving group (Phizicky et al., 1986; Westaway et al., 1993; Popow et al., 2011; Chakravarty et al., 2012). In the case of the 5'-phosphate ligation pathway, the 2'-phosphate left at the splice junction must be removed after the ligation (Culver et al., 1997; Harding et al., 2008).

5' -phosphate ligase

The 5'-phosphate ligation pathway has been found widely in fungi and plants. It also operates in lancelet but is most probably absent in mammalian cells (Lappe-Siefke et al., 2003; Harding et al., 2008; Englert et al., 2010; Popow et al., 2011). tRNA ligase for 5'-phosphate ligation, Trl1/Rlg1, was first identified in S. cerevisiae and then in A. thaliana through biochemical analysis (Phizicky et al., 1986; Englert and Beier, 2005). Trl1 homologs are widely found in the genomes from fungi through diatoms to angiosperms but are absent in animals (Englert and Beier, 2005; Wang et al., 2006). Trl1 homologs catalyze all the chemical reactions of exon ligation except for removal of the 2'-phosphate at the splice junction, and consist of three domains covering three enzymatic activities; adenylate synthetase/RNA ligase (ASTase), polynucleotide kinase (PNKase), and 2', 3'cyclic phosphodiesterase (CPDase) in this order (Xu et al., 1990; Sawaya et al., 2003). CPDase opens the 2', 3'-cyclic phosphate on the 3'-terminus of the 5'-exon, and PNKase phosphorylates the 5'-terminus of the 3'-exon with GTP. By transferring an AMP moiety to this 5'-terminus from ATP, ASTase activates this end and allows ligation between the two exons (Figure 4, upper). During this terminal activation, the AMP moiety is first covalently attached to the ASTase domain and then transferred to the substrate. Although splicing endonuclease is responsible for primary recognition of splice sites, yeast Trl1 has the ability to interact with introns in pre-tRNAs (Tanner et al., 1988) and with an intron-containing precursor of its non-tRNA substrate, HAC1 mRNA acting as a key component for the unfolded protein response (Sidrauski et al., 1996; Mori et al., 2010). The 2'-phosphate left at the splice junction is finally removed by 2'-phosphotransferase, or Tpt1 in S. cerevisiae (Culver et al., 1997). This reaction is unique in that 2'-phosphate is transferred to NADH to yield ADP-ribose 1"-2" cyclic phosphate and nicotinamide (Figure 4, right most part). Indeed, this enzyme is essential for yeast growth, indicating that the 2'-phosphate is toxic for protein translation.

Although the 5'-phosphate ligation activity was once demonstrated in the nuclear extract of HeLa cells (Zillmann et al., 1991), a vertebrate 5'-phosphate ligase has not yet been identified. A lancelet Branchiostoma floridae has a complete set of enzymes for this ligation pathway; adenylate synthetase/RNA ligase activities and the other two activities for the tRNA ligation are encoded by two independent genes (Englert et al., 2010). In vertebrates, several polypeptides in different complexes can catalyze some of the individual reaction steps responsible for a putative 5'-phosphate ligation. First, in vitro phosphorylation of the 5'-terminus of the 3'-exon can be done by hClp1 kinase associated with the human Sen complex (Weitzer and Martinez, 2007). Second, mammalian genomes harbor genes for 2H CPDase, which can open the 2', 3'-cyclic phosphodiester bond at the 3'-terminus of the 5'-exon to produce 3'-OH and 2'-phosphate groups, and the CPDase domain of fungal and plant Trl1 is classified as this family (Popow et al., 2012). Third, mammals possess 2'-phosphotransferase activities for RNA substrates. However, both mouse 2H CPDase and Tpt1 (Cnp1 and Trpt1, respectively) are non-essential for viability (Lappe-Siefke et al., 2003; Harding et al., 2008). Especially, Trpt1-knockout mice, which completely lacks 2'-phosphotransferase activity, were demonstrated not only to translate Tyr-rich proteins efficiently, which require appropriate splicing of the tRNA-Tyr_{GUA} intron but also to show no defects in splicing of XBP1 mRNA (Harding et al., 2008), which undergoes tRNA-type unconventional splicing in the cytoplasm upon unfolded protein response, like yeast HAC1 mRNA (Yoshida et al., 2001; Calfon et al., 2002). Therefore, even if vertebrates have the complete set of the enzymes for the 5'-phosphate ligation pathway, this pathway seems to contribute to only a small, if any, part of RNA splicing.

3' -phosphate ligase

In vertebrates, a tRNA ligase activity utilizing the 2', 3'-cyclic phosphate to bridge the tRNA exons has been known for decades, but the enzyme responsible for this reaction was found only a few years ago (Filipowicz and Shatkin, 1983; Laski et al., 1983; Popow et al., 2011). Indeed, the 3'-phosphate ligase HSPC117 is a main player for tRNA splicing in mammals, and HSPC117 homologs are found in vertebrates, lancelets, insects, protozoa, algae etc., but not in fungi or angiosperms, which possess Trl1 homologs (Popow et al., 2011, 2012 for a review). Although HSPC117 forms a large complex with DDX1 (RNA helicase), CGI-99, FAM98B, and ASW, whether all of these subunits are involved in tRNA ligation is not known completely (see below). Homologs of HSPC117, whose name in prokaryotes is RtcB, exist widely in archaeal genomes where no Trl1 homologs exist (Englert et al., 2011). Interestingly, RtcB genes are also found in eubacterial genomes despite the fact that eubacteria do not have tRNA genes with introns removed by protein-assisted splicing. And eubacterial RtcB genes are located in operons with genes encoding RNA 3'-phosphate cyclase, which transforms a 3'-phosphate of an RNA molecule into a 2', 3'-cyclic phosphate (Tanaka and Shuman, 2011). It is suggested that the set of enzymes is used to repair damaged tRNAs whose anticodon loop is endonucleolytically cleaved. These facts may indicate that the 3'-phosphate ligation pathway is a predominant and probably primordial pathway for tRNA ligation.

As mentioned above, HSPC117/RtcB also has adopted nucleotidylation to activate an exon terminus, but the ligase transfers a GMP moiety, instead of AMP, to the 3'-terminus of the 5' exon (Figure 4, lower) (Chakravarty et al., 2012; Popow et al., 2014). During the reaction, the GMP moiety is covalently attached to the ligase, and this activation step seems to be rate limiting to the overall ligase cycle in eubacterial RtcB (Chakravarty et al., 2012). This is also true in human ligase HSPC117, and these facts suggest that some factor(s) is required for efficient turnover of 3'-phosphate ligase. Bioinformatic search for clusters of eukaryotic orthologous groups conserved in the same model organisms as RtcB and biochemical confirmation revealed that a small protein named "archease" enables HSPC117 to catalyze multiple-rounds of ligation reaction (Popow et al., 2014). Detailed biochemical analyses revealed that archease specifically enhances GMP transfer from GTP to HSPC117 protein but not that from the HSPC117-GMP adduct to the 3'-terminus of RNA substrates. Furthermore, this step also requires another activity catalyzed by DDX1, an RNA helicase within the HSPC117 complex. The implication of DDX1 ATPase provides evidence for molecular mechanism of ATP hydrolysis in the mammalian ligation reaction (Popow et al., 2011, 2014). Interestingly, involvement of archease in tRNA processing was first reported on m⁵C formation of tRNA in archaea Pyrococcus abyssi, where archease enhances substrate specificity of m5C methyltransferase and prevents it from aggregation probably by acting as a chaperone (Auxilien et al., 2007). Recently, archease was also demonstrated to catalyze efficient activation of archaeal RtcB where it enhances all nucleotidyl transfer steps in the 3'-phosphate ligation, including GMP transfer to RNA molecules (Desai et al., 2014).

DIVERSITY OF SPLICING MACHINERY IN EUKARYOTES; INTRACELLULAR LOCALIZATION AND FUNCTION

As mentioned above, eukaryotic splicing factors are more complex than those of archaea. According to this complexity, the splicing factors in various eukaryotes have acquired diversity in several aspects. One interesting aspect is the place of splicing in eukaryotic cells. Despite the functional and structural conservation of eukaryotic splicing endonucleases, their intracellular localization is divergent among organisms. Splicing endonucleases in vertebrates show expected localization: they are mainly found in the nucleus (De Robertis et al., 1981; Paushkin et al., 2004). Thus, it has been suggested that pre-tRNAs are spliced in the nucleus and only matured tRNAs are supplied to the cytoplasm. On the other hand, in S. cerevisiae, splicing of pretRNAs proceeds in the cytoplasm: tRNA splicing endonuclease was found to associate with mitochondrial surface, and this association is required for proper function of the enzyme (Yoshihisa et al., 2003, 2007). Later, the other enzymes required for completing splicing were also demonstrated to localize in the cytoplasm (Mori et al., 2010). It is to be noted that cytoplasmic localization of the Sen complex itself is not essential for pre-tRNA splicing for the yeast. When all the Sen subunits are expressed in the nucleus, pre-tRNAs are spliced normally (Dhungel and Hopper, 2012). These findings suggest that

eukaryotic cells can tolerate drastic alteration of the place of tRNA splicing.

Although we have not obtained a complete view of tRNA splicing machinery in plant cells, some subunits of Sen proteins and tRNA ligase from A. thaliana were revealed to have multiple destination signals (Englert et al., 2007). When expressed as GFP fusions, AtSen2 and AtSen1 localized to the nucleus and mitochondria while AtTrl1 did to the nucleus and chloroplasts. Especially in the case of AtTrl1, alternative translational initiation may produce two isoforms; one from the most up-stream AUG is targeted to chloroplasts and the other from downstream AUG is to the nucleus (Englert et al., 2007). Thus, the nucleus may be the primary site of pre-tRNA splicing of nuclear encoded tRNAs in plant cells. On the other hand, one report provided a piece of evidence against this notion: unspliced pre-tRNAs accumulated when tRNA export from the nucleus was suppressed by RNAimediated knock-down of the tRNA export carrier, Exportint/Paused (Park et al., 2005). This situation is guite similar to that of S. cerevisiae, where disruption of LOS1, which encodes the veast homolog of Exportin-t, leads accumulation of pre-tRNAs because of their sequestration from cytoplasmic splicing enzymes (Sharma et al., 1996; Yoshihisa et al., 2003). What is the role of mitochondrial or chloroplastic splicing enzymes in plants? Since there are no tRNA genes harboring eukaryote-archaea type introns in mitochondria and chloroplasts, plant splicing enzymes in these organelles should process a different type(s) of RNAs.

Evolution of eukaryotes also has hooked extra functions up to splicing machinery. As mentioned above, the yeast Sen complex can be transplanted from mitochondria to the nucleus without major defects in tRNA splicing. However, partial deletion of the mitochondrial targeting signal in Sen54 leads temperature sensitivity in yeast growth, and transplantation of the whole Sen complex to the nucleus compromises growth and rRNA maturation (Yoshihisa et al., 2003; Dhungel and Hopper, 2012). Thus, the yeast splicing endonuclease should have another essential function in the cytoplasm. Human splicing endonuclease activity also may have an extra function(s) other than pretRNA splicing. Mutations in human SEN2, SEN34, and SEN54 (TSEN2, TSEN34, and TSEN54 respectively) lead to pontocerebellar hypoplasia, which causes specific neurodegenerative disorders including hypoplasia of the cerebellum and the ventral pons, despite the fact that tRNA splicing is essential for every cell in the human body (Budde et al., 2008; Namavar et al., 2011). Similar phenotypes were observed when a SEN54 homolog was knocked down in zebrafish (Kasher et al., 2011). Interestingly, this disease is also caused by mutations of mitochondrial arginyltRNA synthetase (Edvardson et al., 2007; Namavar et al., 2011). Although targets of human Tsen in the pontocerebellar cells related to this disease have not been identified so far, these facts suggest that Tsen has some neuronal cell specific function, other than usual tRNA splicing, through collaboration with mitochondrial arginyl-tRNA synthetase, another tRNA-related factor. Probably, because of their relaxed substrate recognition and expansion of repertoires of transcripts in eukaryotic cells, the Sen complexes from various eukaryotes may have adopted abilities to process and/or degrade various substrates in addition to intron-containing pre-tRNAs. Mutations in vertebrate

Clp1 were also found to cause neurodegenerative phenotypes, such as motor-sensory defects, cortical dysgenesis and microcephaly, like the case of Tsen mutants (Hanada et al., 2013; Karaca et al., 2014; Schaffer et al., 2014). Mouse Clp1-K127A (kinase-dead) and hClp1-R140H (disease-related) compromise both pre-tRNA cleavage and 5'-RNA kinase activities in vitro while they specifically affect neuronal cells in vivo in mouse and human, respectively (Hanada et al., 2013; Karaca et al., 2014). Similar phenotypes were seen in CLP1 mutants of zebrafish (Schaffer et al., 2014). The above facts suggest that, in vivo, residual activities of these Clp1 mutant proteins cannot complete tasks required in the neuronal cells while they can provide enough tRNA splicing ability in other cell types. Although fundamental functions of mammalian Clp1, as a subunit of the Sen complex or as a component of Cleavage Factor II generating mRNA 3'-ends, are carried out in the nucleus, some reports predict an extra-function in the cytoplasm. As mentioned before, hClp1 also acts as a 5'-kinase for siRNAs (Weitzer and Martinez, 2007). Phosphorylation of artificial siRNAs supplied from the outside of the cells may occur in the cytoplasm because only phosphorylated double stranded siRNAs are loaded to Ago proteins to yield RNA-induced silencing complexes in the cytoplasm while double stranded RNA import across the nuclear envelope has not been known (Nykänen et al., 2001; Ameres and Zamore, 2013). Indeed, Tsen-hClp1 can be purified from the cytosolic fraction (Weitzer and Martinez, 2007; Karaca et al., 2014).

High-order functions are also postulated for mammalian 3'-phosphate ligase. The HSPC117 complex was independently isolated as one of the components that allow axonal transport of mRNAs in neurons, suggesting that the HSPC117 has another function in the cytoplasm (Kanai et al., 2004). Indeed, the HSPC117 complex was recently found to shuttle between the nucleus and the cytoplasm (Pérez-González et al., 2014). A versatile RNA helicase DDX1 in this complex may account for such functions related to mRNA dynamics. As discussed above, both 5'-phosphate and 3'-phosphate tRNA ligases may also act as healing-sealing enzymes for damaged tRNAs.

PHYSIOLOGICAL MEANINGS TO HAVE AN INTRON IN A tRNA GENE

PHYSIOLOGICAL FUNCTION OF INTRON IN PRE-tRNA DURING ITS MATURATION

The tRNA intron is indeed an obstacle for tRNA's function, and seems to exist just to be removed after transcription. Why do organisms need to keep the intron on their tRNA genes? What are roles of the introns? So far, there are no clear answers to these questions. However, there are several examples that indicate some specific effects of tRNA introns on wide variety of aspects in the life of tRNAs and in the life of archaebacteria and eukaryotes.

First, involvement of tRNA introns as recognition motifs for tRNA modification enzymes has been known in eukaryotes (Grosjean et al., 1997). Mainly from *in vitro* analyses, it was found that certain modifications in the anticodon loop are strictly applied on intron-containing pre-tRNAs. One famous example is that pseudouridylation of the 1st and 3rd U of the anticodon (U34 and U36) of tRNA-IleUAU in S. cerevisiae (Szweykowska-Kulinska et al., 1994; Simos et al., 1996; Motorin et al., 1998). tRNA-IleUAU needs to distinguish the AUA codon for Ile from AUG for Met. Conversion of UAU into $\Psi A \Psi$ is thought to enhance selectability to A against G at the wobble position. This pseudouridylation is applied only to intron-containing pretRNA-Ile_{UAU} by pseudouridine synthase Pus1 in vitro (Figure 5A, upper) (Simos et al., 1996; Motorin et al., 1998). In. S. cerevisiae, Pus1 localizes in the nucleus, and the splicing machinery does in the cytoplasm. Thus, the order of these processing events is guaranteed by the difference in intracellular localization (Figure 5A, lower). Interestingly, Pus1 also pseudouridylates at positions 25 and 67 of both spliced and unspliced forms of tRNA-Ile_{UAU}. A similar example of intron-dependent modification is 2'-Omethylation of C34 in tRNA-Leu_{CAA} by Trm4 (Grosjean et al., 1997). Both yeast and human Trm4 methyltransferases require the intron in the substrate, tRNA-Leu_{CAA}, in vitro (Strobel and Abelson, 1986; Brzezicha et al., 2006). The intron is also used to avoid premature modification during the series of modification reactions. tRNA-PheGAA, derived from intron-containing genes, has an unusual nucleotide wybutosine (yW) at position 37 (Blobstein et al., 1975). The formation of yW starts with methylation of G37 by Trm5 in S. cerevisiae. Trm5 only recognizes the sliced but not intron-containing form of tRNA-PheGAA (Figure 5B, upper) (Noma et al., 2006). Again, the spliced form of tRNA-Phe_{GAA} first appears in the yeast cytoplasm because of the cytoplasmic localization of the splicing machinery. However, the spliced intermediate must be re-imported into the nucleus for this methylation since Trm5 localizes in the nucleus (Ohira and Suzuki, 2011). It has been shown that various tRNA species constantly shuttle between the cytoplasm and the nucleus, and the import system can deliver the spliced intermediate to the nucleus (Shaheen and Hopper, 2005; Takano et al., 2005; Shaheen et al., 2007; see also review, Hopper, 2013). After methylation by Trm5, tRNA-Phe_{GAA} with m¹G37 is transported back to the cytoplasm to receive a series of chemical reactions to build yW at position 37 (Figure 5B, lower) (Ohira and Suzuki, 2011). In this case, the tRNA intron acts as a determinant of timing of modification.

In archaea, there is a unique example in which tRNA intron itself encodes a functional unit for modification of the body of the tRNA. In archaeal tRNA-Trp_{CCA} precursor, a box C/D small RNA is nested in the intron, and this intronic part of pre-tRNA-Trp_{CCA} or the excised intron is used to select nucleotides C34 and U39 for 2'-O-methylation in trans (Figure 5C) (Omer et al., 2000; Clouet d'Orval et al., 2001; Singh et al., 2004). Although these modifications in eukaryotes and archaea seem to be the driving force to maintain the introns in tRNA genes, the fact that Pus1 and Trm4 are dispensable for viability of S. cerevisiae is against this assumption (Simos et al., 1996; Motorin and Grosjean, 1999). It was also demonstrated that the intron of tRNA-Trp_{CCA} can be removed from the genome of Haloferax volcanii, suggesting that modification assisted by the intronic sequence itself does not cause strong selective pressure for intron maintenance (Joardar et al., 2008). Thus, no essential modifications only applied to intron-containing pre-tRNAs have been identified in eukaryotes and archaea so far.



FIGURE 5 | tRNA introns affect various biological activities as RNA and DNA units. Several examples where tRNA introns affect various biological activities as RNA units (upper) and as DNA units (lower) are illustrated. (A) The intron of tRNA-Ile_{UAU} in *S. cerevisiae* is an essential recognition motif for Pus1. Thus, pseudouridylation of U34 and U36 in the anticodon by Pus1 is only applied to the intron-containing pre-tRNA. Pre-tRNA-Ile_{UAU} pseudouridylated by Pus1 in the nucleus is subjected to cytoplasmic splicing after export from the nucleus in the yeast. (B) Yeast Trm5, a nuclear methyltransferase catalyzing the initial step of yW formation, only recognizes a spliced form of tRNA-Phe_{GAA}, which is produced in the cytoplasm and re-imported into the nucleus. Thus, yW formation starts at a late stage of

POSSIBLE FUNCTIONS OF INTRON IN tRNA GENES ON THE CHROMOSOME

The intron may affect functions or abilities of tRNA genes on chromosomes. Although the primary function of tRNA genes is the source of genetic information to produce tRNAs, their well-structured and conserved sequences are utilized as targets of integration of viral genomes and other mobile genetic elements. Randau and Söll proposed that intron insertion will prevent tRNA genes from viral genome integration (Randau and Söll, 2008). Indeed, many archaeal viruses have been isolated from extreme environments, which tRNA-intron-rich archaea also prefer (Rice et al., 2001; Prangishvili, 2013). In well-studied cases in archaea, such viruses chose tRNA genes as integration sites. For example, Sulfolobus spindle-shaped viruses (SSVs) belonging to the Fuselloviridae family use either tRNA-LeuGAG, tRNA-AspGUC, tRNA-GluUUC, or tRNA-GluCUC as their attB sites, and they integrate their genome into the anticodon loop and T Ψ C arm of these tRNA genes (Wiedenheft et al., 2004). By possessing an intron at or near the canonical position, or dividing tRNA genes into

tRNA-Phe_{GAA} maturation. **(C)** The intron of tRNA-Trp_{CCA} in *H. volcanii* is used as a guide RNA to select two nucleotides, C34 and U39, of the same tRNA for 2'-O-methylation. **(D)** *Sulfolobus* SSVs use a part of tRNAs as an *attB* site for its integration into the host genome. Some *Sulfolobus* species harbor an intron in such tRNA genes to disrupt *attB* sequences. This may be a bacterial strategy to avoid viral infection. **(E)** tRNA-Thr_{AGU} near the *HMR*-E locus, which is in a heterochromatic region, acts as an insulator and prevents expansion of the heterochromatic region over the tRNA gene by recruiting TFIIIC properly in *S. cerevisiae*. The intron-containing tRNA-Leu_{CAA} gene cannot replace tRNA-Thr_{AGU} while the intronless version of the same tRNA can. See the text for details.

halves, such tRNA genes may escape from integration of these viruses (**Figure 5D**). However, there are other tRNA genes can be used as *att*B sites for these viruses, so that avoidance of viral infection may not be the sole reason to gain and/or maintain tRNA introns on archaeal genomes.

In eukaryotes, promoter elements are embedded in the coding region of tRNA genes, namely the A box and B box (**Figure 5E**) (Galli et al., 1981; Geiduschek and Kassavetis, 2001). These elements must be recognized by general transcription factor complexes in order for RNA polymerase III, especially TFIIIC, to initiate efficient transcription. Since the distance between the A and B boxes is altered by insertion of the intron, introns may affect recognition of the promoter elements by TFIIIC. Indeed, some early reports demonstrated that intron removal from reporter tRNA genes affects expression levels of some tRNAs in *Xenopus* oocytes *in vivo* and in yeast extracts *in vitro*, supporting the above assertion (Ciliberto et al., 1982; Fabrizio et al., 1987). On the other hand, other reports argue that yeast TFIIIC can bind to the tRNA promoter elements with various distance through its

flexible linker between two recognition domains (Schultz et al., 1989; Camier et al., 1990). Recent genome-wide study of TFIII occupancy using ChIP/Seq analyses also revealed that rather even occupancy of Tfc1 (TFIIIC subunit) and Brf1 (TFIIIB subunit) on various tRNA genes (Nagarajavel et al., 2013). Therefore, alteration of distance between the A and B boxes by intron insertion *per se* may cause only minor effects on transcription of tRNA genes in general.

On the other hand, there is one example to indicate the effect of intron insertion on TFIIIC recognition of the tRNA promoter elements. It was reported that tRNA genes act as insulators or nucleosome phasing barriers (Donze et al., 1999). For this unique activity, the promoter elements of the tRNA genes must be properly occupied by TFIIIC (Simms et al., 2008). A tRNA-Thr_{AGU} gene, which does not have an intron, next to the yeast *HMR*-E locus acts as an insulator to block propagation of heterochromatin over this gene. On the other hand, a tRNA-Leu_{CAA} gene, which has a 19 nt-long intron, cannot act as an insulator, and removal of the intron brings insulator activity to the tRNA gene (**Figure 5E**) (Donze and Kamakaka, 2001). Therefore, possession of the intron can affect the additional function of tRNA genes related to genome organization.

DIRECT EXAMINATION OF INTRON REQUIREMENT

Essentiality of keeping introns in tRNA genes for organisms can be directly assessed by constructing strains without tRNA introns. As mentioned above, in archaea, one report demonstrated that the intron in the tRNA-Trp_{CCA} gene is dispensable for viability of H. volcanii in spite of its critical function in 2'-O-methylation of the tRNA (Joardar et al., 2008). By expanding similar analyses in certain archaea, it may be tested whether every tRNA gene harboring an intron(s) on an archaeal genome needs to possess the intron(s). On the other hand, the situation is not so simple in eukaryotes. As mentioned previously, most of isodecoder tRNAs are encoded by degenerated genes with the same or very similar sequences in eukaryotes. For example, even simple eukaryotes, such as yeasts, has more than 5 degenerated genes for each isodecoder tRNA on average. In S. cerevisiae, numbers of degenerated genes encoding intron-containing isodecoders varies from one for tRNA-Ser_{CGA} to 10 for tRNA-Leu_{CAA}, tRNA-Phe_{GAA}, and tRNA-Prougg (Lowe and Chan, 2011). Thus, only one isodecoder, tRNA-Ser_{CGA}, was examined for dispensability of its intron in 1980s despite versatility of the yeast in chromosomal modification through homologous recombination (Ho and Abelson, 1988). Indeed, it was found that the intron in the tRNA-Ser_{CGA} gene can be removed from the yeast chromosome without any apparent growth defects. However, the sequence of tRNA-Ser_{CGA} is quite similar to that of tRNA-Ser_{UGA}; only three nucleotides are different between the two. Overproduction of tRNA-Ser_{UGA} can suppress lethality of deletion of the tRNA-Ser_{CGA} gene, and this suppression requires ncm⁵U modification at U34 of tRNA-Ser_{UGA} to expand its recognition repertoire at the wobble position (Johansson and Byström, 2004; Johansson et al., 2008). These facts suggest functional redundancy between tRNA-Ser_{CGA} and ncm⁵U-modified tRNA-Ser_{UGA} and that effects of intron removal from the tRNA-Ser_{CGA} gene may be masked by this redundancy. A stricter test was done recently with tRNA-Trp_{CCA}, which is

the only isodecoder to decode a single UGG codon for Trp and encoded by six genes with the same sequences by our group (Mori et al., 2011). Complete intron removal from all the tRNA-Trp_{CCA} genes conducted by repetitive replacement of the chromosomal tRNA genes with an intronless allele caused minimal effects on yeast growth under various conditions. In co-culture experiments with the wild-type strain up to 50 generations, the intronless strain even showed slight advantage over the wild type in growth. Furthermore, intron removal neither affects the amount and aminoacylation level of tRNA-Trp_{CCA}, nor the protein synthesis rate while minor changes in protein composition were detected in 2D-PAGE analysis (Mori et al., 2011). Because there exists no other tRNA to decode Trp codons on the yeast genome, the above results indicate that the intron of tRNA-Trp_{CCA} is dispensable for viability of S. cerevisiae. Therefore, not strict but rather subtle effects to have introns in genes of certain isodecoder tRNAs may be advantageous for organisms during evolutional time scale under the natural conditions. Or, intron insertion to and intron loss from tRNA genes are rather neutral for organisms in evolution.

APPEARANCE OF INTRON-CONTAINING tRNA GENES AND ORIGIN OF INTRONS

ARCHAEBACTERIAL INTRON: ESTABLISHMENT OF ARCHETYPAL INTRON-CONTAINING tRNA GENES AND MODERN INTRON-CONTAINING GENES

There is a big debate on the origin of tRNA introns. One group argues for the "intron-first" scenario: all the primordial tRNA genes had an intervening sequence to be removed on the anticodon loop or consisted of a set of two halves, and then a large part of such introns have lost from the tRNA genes or the two halves have been joined on the genome during evolution (Di Giulio, 1992, 2006). The other argues for the intron-late scenario that introns were inserted after primordial tRNA genes had been established (Cavalier-Smith, 1991). From the "simpleto-complex" view, the hypothesis that tRNA is derived from a tandem duplication of a short stem-loop or ligation of two fragments may be reasonable. Indeed, existence of split tRNAs, especially those create multiple tRNAs by combination of 5'- and 3'-halves, fits to this idea (Di Giulio, 2006). Phylogenetic analysis of archaeal tRNA genes also suggests that 5'- and 3'-halves of tRNA genes even without introns have evolved through different evolutional trails (Fujishima et al., 2008). One and critical problem of this hypothesis is that functional units of a tRNA molecule, a decoding unit and an amino acid-accepting unit, do not correspond to these possible ancestral stem loops (Figure 1).

On the other hand, comparison of closely related species supports the idea that some "modern" introns have been inserted into tRNA genes afterwards. Many tRNA genes encoding different isodecoders in *Thermoproteales* genomes possess introns with very similar sequences at canonical and non-canonical positions despite the fact that the tRNA bodies are mapped at different phylogenetic positions (Fujishima et al., 2010). This finding suggests that large-scale intron transposition occurred in this order of archaea after the species had been established. Although the mechanism of intron transposition is still unknown, this is allowed because the BHB motif is required at exon-intron junctions and may be able to specify possible transposition targets on the chromosome. Thus, this type of intron gain by archaeal tRNA genes is supposed to proceed in the DNA level.

EUKARYOTIC INTRON: POSSIBILITY OF "RECENT" GAIN OF tRNA INTRON

Eukarvotes are thought to have evolved from an ancestral prokaryote more closely related to archaebacteria than eubacteria. So that, most of modern eukaryotic species might have lost archetypal intron-containing tRNA genes, which may be found in some of the archaeal genomes. Spectra of tRNA genes harboring an intron in eukaryotic genomes are not correlated with evolutional trails. Indeed, certain eukaryotic species possess intron-containing genes for a certain isodecoder tRNA while other species in the same clade do not. For example, the yeast Lachancea thermotolerans in Saccharomycetaceae has 3 introncontaining tRNA-Ala_{UGC} genes and 3 intron-containing tRNA-Leu_{CAG} genes while other Saccharomycetaceae yeasts have only intron-less genes for these isodecoders (Figure 6A). From the sequencing analysis, the intron-containing tRNA-Leu_{CAG} genes seem to have emerged through codon switching by U34C mutation from tRNA-LeuUAG, which is mostly encoded by introncontaining genes in the Saccharomycetaceae yeasts. Thus, unique appearance of an intron on genes for a certain isodecoder tRNA does not necessarily mean intron gain of the tRNA genes during evolution. On the other hand, there is no tRNA paralogs encoded by intron-containing genes for tRNA-Ala_{UGC} in the

Saccharomycetaceae yeasts. Mature parts of this isodecoder from L. thermotolerans are highly homologous to those of the same isodecoder from other related yeasts. Thus, tRNA-AlauGC genes in L. thermotolerans probably acquired their intron during evolution. Another unique piece of evidence for gain of a modern intron by tRNA genes is tRNA-GlyUCC in Kluyveromyces lactis. In Saccharomycetaceae, only K. lactis has two tRNA-Glyucc genes with a eukaryotic intron. Surprisingly, the sequence of mature tRNA-Gly_{UCC} from K. lactis is less homologous to those of the same isodecoder from other yeasts, including those from the most related genera such as Lachancea and Eremothecium (Figure 6B), but more homologous to tRNA-Gluure from a eubacterium, Lactobacillus plantarum, where no protein-spliced intron exists in tRNA genes (Figure 6C). These situations strongly suggest that a bacterial tRNA-Glu_{UUC} gene was horizontally transferred to the genome of K. lactis or its close ancestor and was converted into tRNA-Gly_{UCC} by U35C mutation. Then, the tRNA-Gly_{UCC} gene seems to have acquired an intron. Thus, some, if not all, of introns in eukaryotic tRNA genes are suggested to have modern origins. There are many opposite cases, in which only one species lacks the intron of a certain isodecoder tRNA while the same isodecoder of other related species is encoded by intron-containing genes (see tRNA-PheGAA in Figure 6A), suggesting intron-loss from tRNA genes during evolution.

Although it is easy to postulate ways of intron-loss from tRNA genes during evolution, how can a eukaryotic tRNA gene gain such a modern intron at the canonical position? Not like the



FIGURE 6 | Distribution of intron-containing tRNA genes in yeast

genomes. Distribution of intron-containing genes in 6 representative yeast genomes (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae, Candida glabrata, Lachancea thermotolerans, Kluyveromyces lactis, Eremothecium gossypii*, and *Debaryomyces hansenii*) is summarized in the anti-codon table (**A**). As illustrated in the right, existence of intron-containing (orange) or intronless (blue) tRNA genes for each anticodon position is color-coded. Anticodon positions to which no tRNA genes are assigned on the genome or those correspond to termination codons are shown in white and black, respectively.

The phylogenetic tree of these yeasts shown in **(B)** was drawn according to Génolevures Consortium (2009). Among these yeast, *D. hansenii* does not belong to *Saccharomycetaceae* and is used as an outgroup. **(C)** Sequence comparison of tRNA-Gly_{UCC} from *D. hansenii* (*Dha*), *S. cerevisiae* (*Sce*), *C. glabrata* (*Cgl*), *L. thermotolerans* (*Lth*), *E. gossypii* (*Ego*), and *K. lactis* (*Kla*), and tRNA-Glu_{UUC} from *Lactobacillus plantarum* (*Lpl*) and *Clostridium tetanus* (*Cte*). Nucleotides identical to those of *K. lactis* tRNA-Gly_{UCC} (marked with a frame) are shown in blue, and anticodons are highlighted with orange shadow.

case of archaea, sequences of exon-intron junctions in eukaryotic pre-tRNAs do not show clear structural characteristics as mentioned above. Therefore, it is difficult to imagine mechanisms by which a DNA fragment corresponding to a tRNA intron is transposed to another position on a chromosome. Another possibility is that intron is inserted into a tRNA gene via a reversetranscribed intermediate. It is to be noted that the anticodon loop, into which eukaryotic tRNA introns are mostly inserted, is often the target of tRNA cleavage enzymes. To recognize a codon on mRNAs, the anticodon loop must be accessible to macromolecules while the D- and T Ψ C-loops interact with each other via base-pairing to form a tight structure. Thus, the anticodon loop is an Achilles' tendon for the tRNA to receive undesired cleavages. Well-known examples are so-called ribotoxins, such as colicin E5, and PrrC endonucleases produced by Escherichia coli, which cleave the anticodon of certain tRNAs to kill surrounding competitor bacteria and to kill itself when infected by a deadly pathogen, bacteriophage, respectively (Kaufmann, 2000). Similar anticodon nucleases are also found in eukaryotes. v-Subunit of zymocin, produced by K. lactis, enters S. cerevisiae cells and cleaves tRNA-Gluuuc if U34 of the anticodon is modified to mcm⁵s²U (Lu et al., 2005). Eukaryotic cells also have tRNA cleavage enzymes whose targets are tRNAs in their own cells, such as Rny1 in yeast and angiogenin in mammals (Thompson and Parker, 2009; Yamasaki et al., 2009). tRNA cleavage activities of these endonucleases are regulated by cellular stresses, and the resulting tRNA fragments are used to suppress translation (Ivanov et al., 2011; Luhtala and Parker, 2012). Interestingly, the cleavage catalyzed by zymocin cannot be healed by tRNA ligase of S. cerevisiae, while heterologous expression of A. thaliana tRNA ligase can rescue S. cerevisiae from the deleterious effect of zymocin (Nandakumar et al., 2008). Probably, cleavage of the anticodon loop by these endonucleases is carried out so as to escape emerged RNA termini from endogenous tRNA ligase. Thus, the termini may provide initiation sites from which RNAdependent RNA polymerase extends the 5'-tRNA halves with unidentified templates, and then eventually its 3'-terminus may be ligated with the 5'-terminus of the 3'-half by tRNA ligase if these ends are recognized by healing-sealing activity of tRNA ligase (Schwer et al., 2004; Nandakumar et al., 2008). Even though such cleavage, elongation and healing might occur in the cytoplasm, the resulting tRNA derivatives might be re-imported into the nucleus using tRNA import machinery (Shaheen and Hopper, 2005; Takano et al., 2005). Thus, the tRNA derivatives can be subjected to reverse transcription and integration into the genome in the nucleus. Or, if the cleavage occurs in the nucleus, reverse transcriptase may directly elongate the 5' fragment.

Both loss and gain of tRNA introns seem to have occurred during various stages of eukaryotic evolution. In addition to such events, eukaryotic genomes require another layer of gene arrangements to settle their tRNA gene repertoires. All the genes encoding a certain isodecoder tRNA on a eukaryotic genome tend to have an intron or they do not at all. Even in the cases that an isodecoder tRNA is encoded by a mixture of intron-containing and intronless genes, those intron-containing and intron-less genes are supposed to have different origins. For example, human tRNA-Leu_{CAA} is encoded by total seven genes; one intron-containing gene on Chr I, four intron-containing genes on Chr VI, one intron-less gene on Chr I, and one intron-less gene on Chr XI. Sequence comparison revealed that the intron-less gene on Chr I is more related to tRNA-Met in dog and mouse than the human intron-containing tRNA-Leu_{CAA} genes while that on Chr XI is more related to tRNA-LeuUAG in human and zebrafish. Therefore, sequences of tRNA genes with the same origin are supposed to be equalized including their intronic part. This is also confirmed among species. If sequences of tRNA-Trp_{CCA} genes are compared among fungal genomes, those from the same organism are clustered (Mori et al., 2011). Intergenic conversion between highly homologous tRNA genes for an isodecoder may contribute to this sequence equalization. Indeed, intergenic spreading of mutations among tRNA genes of the same isodecoder have been known for years as intergenic gene conversion hot spots (Amstutz et al., 1985; Heyer et al., 1986). Although tRNA genes are scattered around the whole yeast chromosomes, they are closely located around the nucleolus in S. cerevisiae, and near centromeres in Schizosaccharomyces pombe, which has only three chromosomes, and this intra-nuclear localization is driven by interaction between TFIIIC and condensin (Thompson et al., 2003; Haeusler et al., 2008; Iwasaki et al., 2010). Such spatial positioning of tRNA genes in the nucleus is supposed to help efficient equalization of tRNA sequences through intergenic gene conversion. We still do not know what determines balance between domination of intron-containing genes and that of intron-less genes. As described before, there seems to be no essential difference in function of tRNA molecules derived from intron-containing and intron-less genes. It might be possible that domination of introncontaining or intron-less tRNA genes for an isodecoder tRNA just comes from stochastic change between the two states during the evolution: if the one of the two types occupies all the tRNA loci, no change becomes possible until a new and very rare event of intron-loss or intron-gain occurs.

Here, I have gone through recent progresses related to tRNA introns found in both archaea and eukaryotes. The life of a tRNA molecule transcribed from intron-containing genes has been studied for decades from various points of views, and has provided various interesting findings in bioinformatics, in molecular biology, in cell biology, and even in human pathology. However, accumulating information from the experimental and computational analyses has brought us more questions to be solved, especially those related to eukaryotic tRNA introns and their splicing. Still, we do not understand completely how eukaryotic splicing endonuclease decodes hidden motifs of splice sites in eukaryotic pre-tRNAs. What kinds of substrates other than pre-tRNAs does splicing machinery process in archaea and eukaryotes? Why can tRNA introns be spliced in different intracellular compartments among eukaryotes? Are there any other physiological roles of tRNA introns in the life of tRNA or those as genetical elements on the chromosomes? What are real selective pressures to keep introns in tRNA genes if existing? Most importantly, what are origins of modern tRNA introns, and how have they appeared and disappeared in archaeal and eukaryotic genomes during evolution? Some of the questions may not be able to be answered easily, but our quest of the life of tRNAs to seek the answers is going on.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by Grant-in-aid for Scientific Research from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science, and Technology of Japan, and by a special grant from University of Hyogo.

REFERENCES

- Akama, K., Junker, V., and Beier, H. (2000). Identification of two catalytic subunits of tRNA splicing endonuclease from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Gene* 257, 177–185. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1119(00)00408-X
- Ameres, S. L., and Zamore, P. D. (2013). Diversifying microRNA sequence and function. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 14, 475–488. doi: 10.1038/nrm3611
- Amstutz, H., Munz, P., Heyer, W.-D., Leupold, U., and Kohli, J. (1985). Concerted evolution of tRNA genes: intergenic conversion among three unlinked serine tRNA genes in *S. pmbe. Cell* 40, 879–886. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(85) 90347-2
- Auxilien, S., El Khadali, F., Rasmussen, A., Douthwaite, S., and Grosjean, H. (2007). Archease from *Pyrococcus abyssi* improves substrate specificity and solubility of a tRNA m⁵C methyltransferase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 18711–18721. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M607459200
- Blobstein, S. H., Gebert, R., Grunberger, D., Nakanishi, K., and Weinstein, I. B. (1975). Structure of the fluorescent nucleoside of yeast phenylalanine transfer ribonucleic acid. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 167, 668–673. doi: 10.1016/0003-9861(75)90510-X
- Brzezicha, B., Schmidt, M., Makalowska, I., Jarmolowski, A., Pienkowska, J., and Szweykowska-Kulinska, Z. (2006). Identification of human tRNA:m⁵C methyltransferase catalysing intron-dependent m⁵C formation in the first position of the anticodon of the pre-tRNA^{Leu}_(CAA). *Nucleic Acids Res.* 34, 6034–6043. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkl765
- Budde, B. S., Namavar, Y., Barth, P. G., Poll-The, B. T., Nurnberg, G., Becker, C., et al. (2008). tRNA splicing endonuclease mutations cause pontocerebellar hypoplasia. *Nat. Genet.* 40, 1113–1118. doi: 10.1038/ng.204
- Calfon, M., Zeng, H., Urano, F., Till, J. H., Hubbard, S. R., Harding, H. P., et al. (2002). IRE1 couples endoplasmic reticulum load to secretory capacity by processing the XBP-1 mRNA. Nature 415, 92–96. doi: 10.1038/415092a
- Calvin, K., and Li, H. (2008). RNA-splicing endonuclease structure and function. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 65, 1176–1185. doi: 10.1007/s00018-008-7393-y
- Camier, S., Baker, R. E., and Sentenac, A. (1990). On the flexible interaction of yeast factor tau with the bipartite promoter of tRNA genes. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 18, 4571–4578. doi: 10.1093/nar/18.15.4571
- Cavalier-Smith, T. (1991). Intron phylogeny: a new hypothesis. *Trends Genet.* 7, 145–148. doi: 10.1016/0168-9525(91)90102-V
- Chakravarty, A. K., Subbotin, R., Chait, B. T., and Shuman, S. (2012). RNA ligase RtcB splices 3'-phosphate and 5'-OH ends via covalent RtcB-(histidinyl)-GMP and polynucleotide-(3')pp(5')G intermediates. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, 6072–6077. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1201207109
- Chan, P. P., Cozen, A. E., and Lowe, T. M. (2011). Discovery of permuted and recently split transfer RNAs in Archaea. *Genome Biol.* 12:R38. doi: 10.1186/gb-2011-12-4-r38
- Ciliberto, G., Traboni, C., and Cortese, R. (1982). Relationship between the two components of the split promoter of eukaryotic tRNA genes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 79, 1921–1925. doi: 10.1073/pnas.79.6.1921
- Clouet d'Orval, B., Bortolin, M. L., Gaspin, C., and Bachellerie, J. P. (2001). Box C/D RNA guides for the ribose methylation of archaeal tRNAs. The tRNATrp intron guides the formation of two ribose-methylated nucleosides in the mature tRNATrp. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 29, 4518–4529. doi: 10.1093/nar/29.22.4518
- Cognat, V., Pawlak, G., Duchene, A. M., Daujat, M., Gigant, A., Salinas, T., et al. (2013). PlantRNA, a database for tRNAs of photosynthetic eukaryotes. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 41, D273–D279. doi: 10.1093/nar/gks935
- Culver, G. M., McCraith, S. M., Consaul, S. A., Stanford, D. R., and Phizicky, E. M. (1997). A 2'-phosphotransferase implicated in tRNA splicing is essential in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 13203–13210. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.20.13203
- De Robertis, E. M., Black, P., and Nishikura, K. (1981). Intranuclear location of the tRNA splicing enzymes. *Cell* 23, 89–93. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(81)90273-7
- Desai, K. K., Cheng, C. L., Bingman, C. A., Phillips, G. N. Jr., and Raines, R. T. (2014). A tRNA splicing operon: archease endows RtcB with dual

GTP/ATP cofactor specificity and accelerates RNA ligation. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 42, 3931–3942. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt1375

- de Vries, H., Ruegsegger, U., Hubner, W., Friedlein, A., Langen, H., and Keller, W. (2000). Human pre-mRNA cleavage factor II(m) contains homologs of yeast proteins and bridges two other cleavage factors. *EMBO J.* 19, 5895–5904. doi: 10.1093/emboj/19.21.5895
- Dhungel, N., and Hopper, A. K. (2012). Beyond tRNA cleavage: novel essential function for yeast tRNA splicing endonuclease unrelated to tRNA processing. *Genes Dev.* 26, 503–514. doi: 10.1101/gad.183004.111
- Di Giulio, M. (1992). On the origin of the transfer RNA molecule. J. Theor. Biol. 159, 199–214. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5193(05)80702-7
- Di Giulio, M. (2006). The non-monophyletic origin of the tRNA molecule and the origin of genes only after the evolutionary stage of the last universal common ancestor (LUCA). *J. Theor. Biol.* 240, 343–352. doi: 10.1016/j.jtbi.2005.09.023
- Di Segni, G., Borghese, L., Sebastiani, S., and Tocchini-Valentini, G. P. (2005). A pre-tRNA carrying intron features typical of Archaea is spliced in yeast. *RNA* 11, 70–76. doi: 10.1261/rna.7138805
- Donze, D., Adams, C. R., Rine, J., and Kamakaka, R. T. (1999). The boundaries of the silenced HMR domain in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genes Dev. 13, 698–708. doi: 10.1101/gad.13.6.698
- Donze, D., and Kamakaka, R. T. (2001). RNA polymerase III and RNA polymerase II promoter complexes are heterochromatin barriers in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *EMBO J.* 20, 520–531. doi: 10.1093/emboj/20.3.520
- Edvardson, S., Shaag, A., Kolesnikova, O., Gomori, J. M., Tarassov, I., Einbinder, T., et al. (2007). Deleterious mutation in the mitochondrial arginyl-transfer RNA synthetase gene is associated with pontocerebellar hypoplasia. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 81, 857–862. doi: 10.1086/521227
- Englert, M., and Beier, H. (2005). Plant tRNA ligases are multifunctional enzymes that have diverged in sequence and substrate specificity from RNA ligases of other phylogenetic origins. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 33, 388–399. doi: 10.1093/nar/gki174
- Englert, M., Latz, A., Becker, D., Gimple, O., Beier, H., and Akama, K. (2007). Plant pre-tRNA splicing enzymes are targeted to multiple cellular compartments. *Biochimie* 89, 1351–1365. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2007.06.014
- Englert, M., Sheppard, K., Aslanian, A., Yates, J. R. I., and Söll, D. (2011). Archaeal 3'-phosphate RNA splicing ligase characterization identifies the missing component in tRNA maturation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 1290–1295. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1018307108
- Englert, M., Sheppard, K., Gundllapalli, S., Beier, H., and Söll, D. (2010). Branchiostoma floridae has separate healing and sealing enzymes for 5'phosphate RNA ligation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 107, 16834–16839. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1011703107
- Fabbri, S., Fruscoloni, P., Bufardeci, E., Di Nicola Negri, E., Baldi, M. I., Attardi, D. G., et al. (1998). Conservation of substrate recognition mechanisms by tRNA splicing endonucleases. *Science* 280, 284–286. doi: 10.1126/science.280.5361.284
- Fabrizio, P., Coppo, A., Fruscoloni, P., Benedetti, P., Di Segni, G., and Tocchini-Valentini, G. P. (1987). Comparative mutational analysis of wild-type and stretched tRNA₃^{Leu} gene promoters. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 84, 8763–8767. doi: 10.1073/pnas.84.24.8763
- Filipowicz, W., and Shatkin, A. J. (1983). Origin of splice junction phosphate in tRNAs processed by HeLa cell extract. *Cell* 32, 547–557. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(83)90474-9
- Fujishima, K., Sugahara, J., Kikuta, K., Hirano, R., Sato, A., Tomita, M., et al. (2009). Tri-split tRNA is a transfer RNA made from 3 transcripts that provides insight into the evolution of fragmented tRNAs in archaea. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 2683–2687. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0808246106
- Fujishima, K., Sugahara, J., Tomita, M., and Kanai, A. (2008). Sequence evidence in the archaeal genomes that tRNAs emerged through the combination of ancestral genes as 5' and 3' tRNA halves. *PLoS ONE* 3:e1622. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0001622
- Fujishima, K., Sugahara, J., Tomita, M., and Kanai, A. (2010). Large-scale tRNA intron transposition in the archaeal order Thermoproteales represents a novel mechanism of intron gain. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 27, 2233–2243. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msq111
- Galli, G., Hofstetter, H., and Birnstiel, M. L. (1981). Two conserved sequence blocks within eukaryotic tRNA genes are major promoter elements. *Nature* 294, 626–631. doi: 10.1038/294626a0
- Geiduschek, E. P., and Kassavetis, G. A. (2001). The RNA polymerase III transcription apparatus. J. Mol. Biol. 310, 1–26. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.2001.4732

- Génolevures Consortium. (2009). Comparative genomics of protoploid Saccharomycetaeae. Genome Res. 19, 1696–1709. doi: 10.1101/gr.091546.109
- Greer, C. L., Söll, D., and Willis, I. (1987). Substrate recognition and identification of splice sites by the tRNA-splicing endonuclease and ligase from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 7, 76–84.
- Grosjean, H., Szweykowska-Kulinska, Z., Motorin, Y., Fasiolo, F., and Simos, G. (1997). Intron-dependent enzymatic formation of modified nucleosides in eukaryotic tRNAs: a review. *Biochimie* 79, 293–302. doi: 10.1016/S0300-9084(97)83517-1
- Haeusler, R. A., Pratt-Hyatt, M., Good, P. D., Gipson, T. A., and Engelke, D. R. (2008). Clustering of yeast tRNA genes is mediated by specific association of condensin with tRNA gene transcription complexes. *Genes Dev.* 22, 2204–2214. doi: 10.1101/gad.1675908
- Hanada, T., Weitzer, T., Mair, B., Bernreuther, C., Wainger, B. J., Ichida, J., et al. (2013). CLP1 links tRNA metabolism to progressive motor-neuron loss. *Nature* 495, 474–480. doi: 10.1038/nature11923
- Harding, H. P., Lackey, J. G., Hsu, H. C., Zhang, Y., Deng, J., Xu, R. M., et al. (2008). An intact unfolded protein response in Trpt1 knockout mice reveals phylogenic divergence in pathways for RNA ligation. *RNA* 14, 225–232. doi: 10.1261/rna.859908
- Haugen, P., Simon, D. M., and Bhattacharya, D. (2005). The natural history of group I introns. *Trends Genet.* 21, 111–119. doi: 10.1016/j.tig.2004.12.007
- Heinemann, I. I., Söll, D., and Randau, L. (2010). Transfer RNA processing in archaea: unusual pathways and enzymes. *FEBS Lett.* 584, 303–309. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2009.10.067
- Heyer, W.-D., Munz, P., Amstutz, H., Aebi, R., Gysler, C., Schuchert, P., et al. (1986). Inactivation of nonsense suppressor transfer RNA genes in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*: intergenic conversion and hot spots of mutation. *J. Mol. Biol.* 188, 343–353. doi: 10.1016/0022-2836(86)90159-2
- Ho, C. K., and Abelson, J. (1988). Testing for intron function in the essential Saccharomyces cerevisiae tRNA^{Ser}_{UCG} gene. J. Mol. Biol. 202, 667–672. doi: 10.1016/0022-2836(88)90295-1
- Hopper, A. K. (2013). Transfer RNA post-transcriptional processing, turnover, and subcellular dynamics in the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Genetics* 194, 43–67. doi: 10.1534/genetics.112.147470
- Ivanov, P., Emara, M. M., Villen, J., Gygi, S. P., and Anderson, P. (2011). Angiogenin-induced tRNA fragments inhibit translation initiation. *Mol. Cell* 43, 613–623. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2011.06.022
- Iwasaki, O., Tanaka, A., Tanizawa, H., Grewal, S. I., and Noma, K. (2010). Centromeric localization of dispersed Pol III genes in fission yeast. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 21, 254–265. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E09-09-0790
- Joardar, A., Gurha, P., Skariah, G., and Gupta, R. (2008). Box C/D RNA-guided 2'-O methylations and the intron of tRNA^{Trp} are not essential for the viability of *Haloferax volcanii. J. Bacteriol.* 190, 7308–7313. doi: 10.1128/JB.00820-08
- Johansson, M. J., Esberg, A., Huang, B., Bjork, G. R., and Byström, A. S. (2008). Eukaryotic wobble uridine modifications promote a functionally redundant decoding system. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 28, 3301–3312. doi: 10.1128/MCB. 01542-07
- Johansson, M. J. O., and Byström, A. S. (2004). The Saccharomyces cerevisiae TAN1 gene is required for N^4 -acetylcytidine formation in tRNA. RNA 10, 712–719. doi: 10.1261/rna.5198204
- Karaca, E., Weitzer, S., Pehlivan, D., Shiraishi, H., Gogakos, T., Hanada, T., et al. (2014). Human CLP1 mutations alter tRNA biogenesis, affecting both peripheral and central nervous system function. *Cell* 157, 636–650. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.02.058
- Kanai, Y., Dohmae, N., and Hirokawa, N. (2004). Kinesin transports RNA: isolation and characterization of an RNA-transporting granule. *Neuron* 43, 513–525. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2004.07.022
- Kasher, P. R., Namavar, Y., van Tijn, P., Fluiter, K., Sizarov, A., Kamermans, M., et al. (2011). Impairment of the tRNA-splicing endonuclease subunit 54 (*tsen54*) gene causes neurological abnormalities and larval death in zebrafish models of pontocerebellar hypoplasia. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 20, 1574–1584. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddr034
- Kaufmann, G. (2000). Anticodon nucleases. Trends Biochem. Sci. 25, 70–74. doi: 10.1016/S0968-0004(99)01525-X
- Kawach, O., Voss, C., Wolff, J., Hadfi, K., Maier, U. G., and Zauner, S. (2005). Unique tRNA introns of an enslaved algal cell. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 22, 1694–1701. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msi161

- Kjems, J., and Garrett, R. A. (1988). Novel splicing mechanism for the ribosomal RNA intron in the archaebacterium *Desulfurococcus mobilis. Cell* 54, 693–703. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(88)80014-X
- Kleman-Leyer, K., Armbruster, D.-W., and Daniels, C. D. (1997). Properties of *H. volcanii* tRNA intron endonuclease reveal a relationship between the archaeal and eucaryal tRNA intron processing systems. *Cell* 89, 839–847. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80269-X
- Lappe-Siefke, C., Goebbels, S., Gravel, M., Nicksch, E., Lee, J., Braun, P. E., et al. (2003). Disruption of *Cnp1* uncouples oligodendroglial functions in axonal support and myelination. *Nat. Genet.* 33, 366–374. doi: 10.1038/ ng1095
- Laski, F. A., Fire, A. Z., RajBhandary, U. L., and Sharp, P. A. (1983). Characterization of tRNA precursor splicing in mammalian extracts. J. Biol. Chem. 258, 11974–11980.
- Lee, M.-C., and Knapp, G. (1985). Transfer RNA splicing in Saccharomyces cerevisiae: secondary and tertiary structures of the substrates. J. Biol. Chem. 260, 3108–3115.
- Li, H., and Abelson, J. (2000). Crystal structure of a dimeric archaeal splicing endonuclease. J. Mol. Biol. 302, 639–648. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.2000.3941
- Li, H., Trotta, C. R., and Abelson, J. (1998). Crystal structure and evolution of a transfer RNA splicing enzyme. *Science* 280, 279–284. doi: 10.1126/science.280.5361.279
- Lowe, T. M., and Eddy, S. R. (1997). tRNAscan-SE: a program for improved detection of transfer RNA genes in genomic sequence. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 25, 955–964. doi: 10.1093/nar/25.5.0955
- Lowe, T., and Chan, P. (2011). *Genomic tRNA Database*. Available online at: http://lowelab.ucsc.edu/GtRNAdb/
- Lu, J., Huang, B., Esberg, A., Johansson, M. J., and Byström, A. S. (2005). The *Kluyveromyces lactis* γ-toxin targets tRNA anticodons. *RNA* 11, 1648–1654. doi: 10.1261/rna.2172105
- Luhtala, N., and Parker, R. (2012). Structure-function analysis of Rny1 in tRNA cleavage and growth inhibition. *PLoS ONE* 7:e41111. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0041111
- Lykke-Andersen, J., and Garrett, R. A. (1997). RNA–protein interactions of an archaeal homotetrameric splicing endoribonuclease with an exceptional evolutionary history. *EMBO J.* 16, 6290–6300. doi: 10.1093/emboj/16.20.6290
- Makarova, K. S., and Koonin, E. V. (2005). Evolutionary and functional genomics of the Archaea. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 8, 586–594. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2005. 08.003
- Marck, C., and Grosjean, H. (2003). Identification of BHB splicing motifs in intron-containing tRNAs from 18 archaea: evolutionary implications. RNA 9, 1516–1531. doi: 10.1261/rna.5132503
- Maruyama, S., Sugahara, J., Kanai, A., and Nozaki, H. (2010). Permuted tRNA genes in the nuclear and nucleomorph genomes of photosynthetic eukaryotes. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 27, 1070–1076. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msp313
- Mitchell, M., Xue, S., Erdman, R., Randau, L., Söll, D., and Li, H. (2009). Crystal structure and assembly of the functional *Nanoarchaeum equitans* tRNA splicing endonuclease. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 37, 5793–5802. doi: 10.1093/nar/ gkp537
- Mori, S., Kajita, T., Endo, T., and Yoshihisa, T. (2011). The intron of tRNA-Trp_{CCA} is dispensable for growth and translation of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. RNA 17, 1760–1769. doi: 10.1261/rna.2851411
- Mori, T., Ogasawara, C., Inada, T., Englert, M., Beier, H., Takezawa, M., et al. (2010). Dual functions of yeast tRNA ligase in the unfolded protein response: unconventional cytoplasmic splicing of *HAC1* pre-mRNA is not sufficient to release translational attenuation. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 21, 3722–3734. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E10-08-0693
- Motorin, Y., and Grosjean, H. (1999). Multisite-specific tRNA:m⁵Cmethyltransferase (Trm4) in yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*: identification of the gene and substrate specificity of the enzyme. *RNA* 5, 1105–1118. doi: 10.1017/S1355838299982201
- Motorin, Y., Keith, G., Simon, C., Foiret, D., Simos, G., Hurt, E., et al. (1998). The yeast tRNA:pseudouridine synthase Pus1p displays a multisite substrate specificity. RNA 4, 856–869. doi: 10.1017/S1355838298980396
- Nagarajavel, V., Iben, J. R., Howard, B. H., Maraia, R. J., and Clark, D. J. (2013). Global 'bootprinting' reveals the elastic architecture of the yeast TFIIIB-TFIIIC transcription complex *in vivo*. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 41, 8135–8143. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt611

- Namavar, Y., Barth, P. G., Kasher, P. R., van Ruissen, F., Brockmann, K., Bernert, G., et al. (2011). Clinical, neuroradiological and genetic findings in pontocerebellar hypoplasia. *Brain* 134, 143–56. doi: 10.1093/brain/awq287
- Nandakumar, J., Schwer, B., Schaffrath, R., and Shuman, S. (2008). RNA repair: an antidote to cytotoxic eukaryal RNA damage. *Mol. Cell* 31, 278–286. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2008.05.019
- Noma, A., Kirino, Y., Ikeuchi, Y., and Suzuki, T. (2006). Biosynthesis of wybutosine, a hyper-modified nucleoside in eukaryotic phenylalanine tRNA. *EMBO J.* 25, 2142–2154. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj.7601105
- Nykänen, A., Haley, B., and Zamore, P. D. (2001). ATP requirements and small interfering RNA structure in the RNA interference pathway. *Cell* 107, 309–321. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00547-5
- Ohira, T., and Suzuki, T. (2011). Retrograde nuclear import of tRNA precursors is required for modified base biogenesis in yeast. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 10502–10507. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1105645108
- Omer, A. D., Lowe, T. M., Russell, A. G., Ebhardt, H., Eddy, S. R., and Dennis, P. P. (2000). Homologs of small nucleolar RNAs in archaea. *Science* 288, 517–522. doi: 10.1126/science.288.5465.517
- Park, M. Y., Wu, G., Gonzalez-Sulser, A., Vaucheret, H., and Poethig, R. S. (2005). Nuclear processing and export of microRNAs in *Arabidopsis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 3691–3696. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0405570102
- Paushkin, S. V., Patel, M., Furia, B. S., Peltz, S. W., and Trotta, C. R. (2004). Identification of a human endonuclease complex reveals a link between tRNA splicing and pre-mRNA 3' end formation. *Cell* 117, 311–321. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(04)00342-3
- Pérez-González, A., Pazo, A., Navajas, R., Ciordia, S., Rodriguez-Frandsen, A., and Nieto, A. (2014). hCLE/C14orf166 associates with DDX1-HSPC117-FAM98B in a novel transcription-dependent shuttling RNA-transporting complex. *PLoS ONE* 9:e90957. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0090957
- Phizicky, E. M., and Hopper, A. K. (2010). tRNA biology charges to the front. *Genes* Dev. 24, 1832–1860. doi: 10.1101/gad.1956510
- Phizicky, E. M., Schwartz, R. C., and Abelson, J. (1986). Saccharomyces cerevisiae tRNA ligase: purification of the protein and isolation of the structural gene. J. Biol. Chem. 261, 2978–2986.
- Popow, J., Englert, M., Weitzer, S., Schleiffer, A., Mierzwa, B., Mechtler, K., et al. (2011). HSPC117 is the essential subunit of a human tRNA splicing ligase complex. *Science* 331, 760–764. doi: 10.1126/science.1197847
- Popow, J., Schleiffer, A., and Martinez, J. (2012). Diversity and roles of (t)RNA ligases. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 69, 2657–2670. doi: 10.1007/s00018-012-0944-2
- Popow, P., Jurkin, J., Schleiffer, J., and Martinez, J. (2014). Analysis of orthologous groups reveals Archease and DDX1 as tRNA splicing factors. *Nature* 511, 104–107. doi: 10.1038/nature13284
- Prangishvili, D. (2013). The wonderful world of archaeal viruses. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 67, 565–585. doi: 10.1146/annurev-micro-092412-155633
- Randau, L., Calvin, K., Hall, M., Yuan, J., Podar, M., Li, H., et al. (2005a). The heteromeric *Nanoarchaeum equitans* splicing endonuclease cleaves noncanonical bulge-helix-bulge motifs of joined tRNA halves. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 17934–17939. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0509197102
- Randau, L., Münch, R., Hohn, M. J., Jahn, D., and Söll, D. (2005b). Nanoarchaeum equitans creates functional tRNAs from separate genes for their 5'- and 3'halves. Nature 433, 537–541. doi: 10.1038/nature03233
- Randau, L., Pearson, M., and Söll, D. (2005c). The complete set of tRNA species in *Nanoarchaeum equitans*. *FEBS Lett.* 579, 2945–2947. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2005.04.051
- Randau, L., and Söll, D. (2008). Transfer RNA genes in pieces. *EMBO Rep.* 9, 623–628. doi: 10.1038/embor.2008.101
- Rauhut, R., Green, P. R., and Abelson, J. (1990). Yeast tRNA-splicing endonuclease is a heterotrimeric enzyme. *J. Biol. Chem.* 265, 18180–18184.
- Reinhold-Hurek, B., and Shub, D. A. (1992). Self-splicing introns in tRNA genes of widely divergent bacteria. *Nature* 357, 173–176. doi: 10.1038/357173a0
- Reyes, V. M., and Abelson, J. (1988). Substrate recognition and splice site determination in yeast tRNA splicing. *Cell* 55, 719–730. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(88)90230-9
- Rice, G., Stedman, K., Snyder, J., Wiedenheft, B., Willits, D., Brumfield, S., et al. (2001). Viruses from extreme thermal environments. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 98, 13341–13345. doi: 10.1073/pnas.231170198
- Sawaya, R., Schwer, B., and Shuman, S. (2003). Genetic and biochemical analysis of the functional domains of yeast tRNA ligase. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 43928–43938. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M307839200

- Schaffer, A. E., Eggens, V. R. C., Caglayan, A. O., Reuter, M. S., Scott, E., Coufal, N. G., et al. (2014). CLP1 founder mutation links tRNA splicing and maturation to cerebellar development and neurodegeneration. *Cell* 157, 651–663. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.03.049
- Schultz, P., Marzoukil, N., Marck, C., Ruet, A., Oudet, P., and Entenac, A. (1989). The two DNA-binding domains of yeast transcription factor τ as observed by scanning transmission electron microscopy. *EMBO J.* 8, 3815–3824.
- Schwer, B., Sawaya, R., Ho, C. K., and Shuman, S. (2004). Portability and fidelity of RNA-repair systems. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 2788–2793. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0305859101
- Shaheen, H. H., and Hopper, A. K. (2005). Retrograde movement of tRNAs from the cytoplasm to the nucleus in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 102, 11290–11295. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0503836102
- Shaheen, H. H., Horetsky, R. L., Kimball, S. R., Murthi, A., Jefferson, L. S., and Hopper, A. K. (2007). Retrograde nuclear accumulation of cytoplasmic tRNA in rat hepatoma cells in response to amino acid deprivation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 8845–8850. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0700765104
- Sharma, K., Fabre, E., Tekotte, H., Hurt, E. C., and Tollervey, D. (1996). Yeast nucleoporin mutants are defective in pre-tRNA splicing. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 26, 294–301.
- Sidrauski, C., Cox, J. S., and Walter, P. (1996). tRNA ligase is required for regulated mRNA splicing in the unfolded protein response. *Cell* 87, 405–413. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81361-6
- Simms, T. A., Dugas, S. L., Gremillion, J. C., Ibos, M. E., Dandurand, M. N., Toliver, T. T., et al. (2008). TFIIIC binding sites function as both heterochromatin barriers and chromatin insulators in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Eukaryot. Cell* 7, 2078–2086. doi: 10.1128/EC.00128-08
- Simos, G., Tekotte, H., Grosjean, H., Segref, A., Sharma, K., Tollervey, D., et al. (1996). Nuclear pore proteins are involved in the biogenesis of functional tRNA. *EMBO J.* 15, 2270–2284.
- Singh, S. K., Gurha, P., Tran, E. J., Maxwell, E. S., and Gupta, R. (2004). Sequential 2'-O-methylation of archaeal pre-tRNA^{Trp} nucleotides is guided by the intronencoded but *trans*-acting box C/D ribonucleoprotein of pre-tRNA. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 47661–47671. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M408868200
- Soma, A., Onodera, A., Sugahara, J., Kanai, A., Yachie, N., Tomita, M., et al. (2007). Permuted tRNA genes expressed via a circular RNA intermediate in *Cyanidioschyzon merolae. Science* 318, 450–453. doi: 10.1126/science.1145718
- Soma, A., Sugahara, J., Onodera, A., Yachie, N., Kanai, A., Watanabe, S., et al. (2013). Identification of highly-disrupted tRNA genes in nuclear genome of the red alga, *Cyanidioschyzon merolae* 10D. Sci. Rep. 3:2321. doi: 10.1038/ srep02321
- Strobel, M. C., and Abelson, J. (1986). Effect of intron mutations on processing and function of Saccharomyces cerevisiae SUP53 tRNA in vitro and in vivo. Mol. Cell. Biol. 6, 2663–2673.
- Sugahara, J., Fujishima, K., Morita, K., Tomita, M., and Kanai, A. (2009). Disrupted tRNA gene diversity and possible evolutionary scenarios. J. Mol. Evol. 69, 497–504. doi: 10.1007/s00239-009-9294-6
- Sugahara, J., Kikuta, K., Fujishima, K., Yachie, N., Tomita, M., and Kanai, A. (2008). Comprehensive analysis of archaeal tRNA genes reveals rapid increase of tRNA introns in the order Thermoproteales. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 25, 2709–2716. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msn216
- Sugahara, J., Yachie, N., Arakawa, K., and Tomita, M. (2007). In silico screening of archaeal tRNA-encoding genes having multiple introns with bulge-helix-bulge splicing motifs. RNA 13, 671–681. doi: 10.1261/rna.309507
- Sugahara, J., Yachie, N., Sekine, Y., Soma, A., Matsui, M., Tomita, M., et al. (2006). SPLITS: a new program for predicting split and intron-containing tRNA genes at the genome level. *In Silico Biol.* 6, 411–418.
- Swerdlow, H., and Guthrie, C. (1984). Structure of intron-containing tRNA precursors: analysis of solution conformation using chemical and enzymatic probes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 259, 5197–5207.
- Szweykowska-Kulinska, Z., Senger, B., Keith, G., Fasiolo, F., and Grosjean, H. (1994). Intron-dependent formation of pseudouridines in the anticodon of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* minor tRNA^{IIe}. *EMBO J.* 13, 4636–4644.
- Takano, A., Endo, T., and Yoshihisa, T. (2005). tRNA actively shuttles between the nucleus and cytosol in yeast. *Science* 309, 140–142. doi: 10.1126/science. 1113346
- Tanaka, N., and Shuman, S. (2011). RtcB is the RNA ligase component of an *Escherichia coli* RNA repair operon. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 7727–7731. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C111.219022

- Tang, T. H., Rozhdestvensky, T. S., Clouet d'Orval, B., Bortolin, M.-L., Huber, H., Charpentier, B., et al. (2002). RNomics in Archaea reveals a further link between splicing of archaeal introns and rRNA processing. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 30, 921–930. doi: 10.1093/nar/30.4.921
- Tanner, N. K., Hanna, M. M., and Abelson, J. (1988). Binding interactions between yeast tRNA ligase and a precursor transfer ribonucleic acid containing two photoreactive uridine analogues. *Biochemistry* 27, 8852–8861. doi: 10.1021/bi00424a025
- Thompson, D. M., and Parker, R. (2009). The RNase Rny1p cleaves tRNAs and promotes cell death during oxidative stress in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J. Cell Biol. 185, 43–50. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200811119
- Thompson, L. D., and Daniel, C. J. (1990). Recognition of exon-intron boundaries by the *Halobacterium volcanii* tRNA intron endonuclease. *J. Biol. Chem.* 265, 18104–18111.
- Thompson, M., Haeusler, R. A., Good, P. D., and Engelke, D. R. (2003). Nucleolar clustering of dispersed tRNA genes. *Science* 302, 1399–1401. doi: 10.1126/science.1089814
- Tocchini-Valentini, G. D., Fruscoloni, P., and Tocchini-Valentini, G. P. (2005). Coevolution of tRNA intron motifs and tRNA endonuclease architecture in Archaea. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 102, 15418–15422. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0506750102
- Trotta, C. R., Miao, F., Arn, E. A., Stevens, S. W., Ho, C. K., Rauhut, R., et al. (1997). The yeast tRNA splicing endonuclease: a tetrameric enzyme with two active site subunits homologuos to the archaeal tRNA endonucleases. *Cell* 89, 849–858. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80270-6
- Trotta, C. R., Paushkin, S. V., Patel, M., Li, H., and Peltz, S. W. (2006). Cleavage of pre-tRNAs by the splicing endonuclease requires a composite active site. *Nature* 441, 375–377. doi: 10.1038/nature04741
- Wang, L. K., Schwer, B., Englert, M., Beier, H., and Shuman, S. (2006). Structurefunction analysis of the kinase-CPD domain of yeast tRNA ligase (Trl1) and requirements for complementation of tRNA splicing by a plant Trl1 homolog. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 34, 517–527. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkj441
- Wang, L. K., and Shuman, S. (2005). Structure-function analysis of yeast tRNA ligase. RNA 11, 966–975. doi: 10.1261/rna.2170305
- Weitzer, S., and Martinez, J. (2007). The human RNA kinase hClp1 is active on 3' transfer RNA exons and short interfering RNAs. *Nature* 447, 222–226. doi: 10.1038/nature05777
- Westaway, S. K., Belford, H. G., Apostol, B. L., Abelson, J., and Greer, C. L. (1993). Novel activity of a yeast ligase deletion polypeptide: evidence for GTP-dependent tRNA splicing. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 2435–2443.
- Wiedenheft, B., Stedman, K., Roberto, F., Willits, D., Gleske, A. K., Zoeller, L., et al. (2004). Comparative genomic analysis of hyperthermophilic archaeal

Fuselloviridae Viruses. J. Virol. 78, 1954–1961. doi: 10.1128/JVI.78.4.1954-1961.2004

- Xu, Q., Teplow, D., Lee, T. D., and Abelson, J. (1990). Domain structure in yeast tRNA ligase. *Biochemistry* 29, 6132–6138. doi: 10.1021/bi00478a004
- Xue, S., Calvin, K., and Li, H. (2006). RNA recognition and cleavage by a splicing endonuclease. *Science* 312, 906–991. doi: 10.1126/science.1126629
- Yamasaki, S., Ivanov, P., Hu, G. F., and Anderson, P. (2009). Angiogenin cleaves tRNA and promotes stress-induced translational repression. J. Cell Biol. 185, 35–42. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200811106
- Yoshida, H., Matsui, T., Yamamoto, A., Okada, T., and Mori, K. (2001). XBP1 mRNA is induced by ATF6 and spliced by IRE1 in response to ER stress to produce a highly active transcription factor. *Cell* 107, 881–891. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00611-0
- Yoshihisa, T., Ohshima, C., Yunoki-Esaki, K., and Endo, T. (2007). Cytoplasmic splicing of tRNA in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genes Cells 12, 285–297. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2443.2007.01056.x
- Yoshihisa, T., Yunoki-Esaki, K., Ohshima, C., Tanaka, N., and Endo, T. (2003). Possibility of cytoplasmic pre-tRNA splicing: the yeast tRNA splicing endonuclease mainly localizes on the mitochondria. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 14, 3266–3279. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E02-11-0757
- Yoshinari, S., Shiba, T., Inaoka, D. K., Itoh, T., Kurisu, G., Harada, S., et al. (2009). Functional importance of crenarchaea-specific extra-loop revealed by an Xray structure of a heterotetrameric crenarchaeal splicing endonuclease. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 37, 4787–4798. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkp506
- Zillmann, M., Gorovsky, M. A., and Phizicky, E. M. (1991). Conserved mechanism of tRNA splicing in eukaryotes. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 11, 5410–5416.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 29 March 2014; accepted: 20 June 2014; published online: 10 July 2014. Citation: Yoshihisa T (2014) Handling tRNA introns, archaeal way and eukaryotic way. Front. Genet. 5:213. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00213

This article was submitted to Non-Coding RNA, a section of the journal Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2014 Yoshihisa. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

REVIEW ARTICLE published: 01 May 2014 doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00109



Yoh-ichi Watanabe¹*, Takuma Suematsu^{1†} and Takashi Ohtsuki²*

¹ Department of Biomedical Chemistry, Graduate School of Medicine, The University of Tokyo, Tokyo, Japan ² Department of Biotechnology, Okayama University, Okayama, Japan

Edited by:

Akio Kanai, Keio University, Japan

Reviewed by:

Hyouta Himeno, Hirosaki University, Japan

Kozo Tomita, Biomedical Research Institute – National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology, Japan

*Correspondence:

Yoh-ichi Watanabe, Department of Biomedical Chemistry, Graduate School of Medicine, The University of Tokyo, Hongo, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113-0033, Japan

e-mail: ywatanab@m.u-tokyo.ac.jp; Takashi Ohtsuki, Department of Biotechnology, Okayama University, 3-1-1 Tsushimanaka, Okayama 700-8530, Japan

e-mail: ohtsuk@okayama-u.ac.jp

[†]Present address:

Takuma Suematsu, Department of Molecular and Cell Biology, Boston University, 72 East Concord Street, Boston, MA 02118, USA

INTRODUCTION

As discussed in other articles in this special issue, conventional tRNAs are highly conserved: they have a four-armed cloverleaf secondary structure and L-shaped tertiary structure (**Figures 1A,B**; Jühling et al., 2009). However, some tRNAs encoded in mitochondrial DNA, particularly in metazoan (multi-cellular animal) mitochondria, have diverged from standard form tRNAs in a variety of ways. In this review, we focus on mitochondrial tRNAs (mt tRNAs) lacking either the dihydrouridine arm (D-arm) or the ribothimidine arm (T-arm; **Figures 1C,D**). The function of tRNA is to help decode mRNA into protein. tRNA collaborates with a variety of proteins from post-transcription to decoding in ribosomes. The unique characteristics of factors interacting with such shrunken tRNAs have been uncovered over the past several decades. In this review, these factors and their evolution will also be discussed.

SHRUNKEN mt tRNAs

tRNAs LACKING THE D-arm

In the 1970s, D-arm-lacking tRNAs were at first identified as non-tRNA molecules (a putative equivalent to cytoplasmic 5S ribosomal RNA) because of their short length (Dubin and Friend, 1972; Dubin et al., 1974; Baer and Dubin, 1980). Since the identification of genes in mitochondrial DNA, these truncated tRNAs

Conventional tRNAs have highly conserved sequences, four-armed cloverleaf secondary structures, and L-shaped tertiary structures. However, metazoan mitochondrial tRNAs contain several exceptional structures. Almost all tRNAs^{Ser} for AGY/N codons lack the D-arm. Furthermore, in some nematodes, no four-armed cloverleaf-type tRNAs are present: two tRNAs^{Ser} without the D-arm and 20 tRNAs without the T-arm are found. Previously, we showed that in nematode mitochondria, an extra elongation factor Tu (EF-Tu) has evolved to support interaction with tRNAs lacking the T-arm, which interact with C-terminal domain 3 in conventional EF-Tu. Recent mitochondrial genome analyses have suggested that in metazoan lineages other than nematodes, tRNAs without the T-arm are present. Furthermore, even more simplified tRNAs are predicted in some lineages. In this review, we discuss mitochondrial tRNAs with divergent structures, as well as protein factors, including EF-Tu, that support the function of truncated metazoan mitochondrial tRNAs.

Keywords: mitochondrial tRNA, D-arm, T-arm, tRNA nucleotidyltransferase, aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase, elongation factor Tu, ribosome

have been proposed to be functional (Arcari and Brownlee, 1980; de Bruijn et al., 1980). Virtually all metazoan mitochondria have at least one of D-arm-lacking tRNA, namely tRNA^{Ser}(GCU/UCU) for AGY or AGN codons (**Figure 1C**; Jühling et al., 2009). In addition, some animal mitochondria have additional D-arm-lacking tRNAs, such as tRNA^{Ser}(UGA) in chromadorean nematodes (Okimoto et al., 1992), and tRNA^{Cys} in some vertebrates (Seutin et al., 1994).

The secondary structures of D-arm-lacking tRNAs have been classified into several groups based on the base pairs in T and anticodon stems (Steinberg et al., 1994). Experimental verifications of the secondary and tertiary structures have been performed using chemical modification, limited enzymatic digestion, nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy, and native gel electrophoresis (de Bruijn and Klug, 1983; Ueda et al., 1985; Hayashi et al., 1997; Frazer-Abel and Hagerman, 1999, 2004; Ohtsuki et al., 2002a). Although these results support the coaxial stacking of T and acceptor stems (Frazer-Abel and Hagerman, 2008), this idea is somewhat controversial, possibly because of the structural flexibility of the D-arm-lacking tRNAs themselves (Frazer-Abel and Hagerman, 2008). The shortest possible D-arm-lacking tRNA was suggested to be 54 nt long (Steinberg et al., 1994).

Aminoacylation and EF-Tu binding of D-arm-lacking tRNAs have been demonstrated (Ueda et al., 1985, 1992;



Yokogawa et al., 1989, 2000; Kumazawa et al., 1991; Watanabe et al., 1994; Hanada et al., 2001; Shimada et al., 2001; Ohtsuki et al., 2002a; Chimnaronk et al., 2005; Suematsu et al., 2005). Translation with an unmodified D-arm-lacking mammalian mt tRNA^{Ser}(GCU) derivative with a GAA anticodon has been investigated using a cell-free system (Hanada et al., 2001). The ability to form a ternary complex with EF-Tu/GTP of the tRNA^{Ser}(GCU) derivative, which has a four-armed cloverleaf secondary structure (Hanada et al., 2001). However, the amount of peptides produced using tRNA^{Ser}(GCU) derivative is lower than that produced using tRNA^{Ser}(UGA) derivative (Hanada et al., 2001).

tRNAs LACKING THE T-arm

T-arm-lacking tRNA genes were identified in nematode mitochondria in Wolstenholme et al. (1987). Since then, T-arm-lacking tRNA genes have also been found in mitochondrial DNA in other lineages of animals, such as Arthropoda (Masta, 2000). They have a TV replacement loop instead of a variable loop and Tarm (**Figure 1D**). Isolation of nematode mt T-arm-lacking tRNAs has been performed with preparative gel electrophoresis and/or solid-phase DNA affinity purification (Watanabe et al., 1994, 1997, Ohtsuki et al., 1998; Sakurai et al., 2005a,b).

Basically, intramolecular interactions in T-arm-lacking tRNAs are thought to be identical to those in conventional tRNAs, except for interactions between T- and D- arms, because of conservation around the D-arm and the similarity of the 5' region in the TV replacement loop to the variable loop region (Watanabe et al., 1994; Wolstenholme et al., 1994). As an analog of cloverleaf-type tRNA, an L-shape-like structure of T-arm-lacking tRNAs has been proposed (Watanabe et al., 1994; Wolstenholme et al., 1994; Wolstenholme et al., 1994). Hypothesized interactions have been supported by chemical and

enzymatic probing and NMR spectroscopy (Figure 1E; Watanabe et al., 1994; Ohtsuki et al., 1998).

The aminoacylation capacity of T-arm-lacking nematode mt tRNAs has been demonstrated with mt extract or recombinant enzymes (Watanabe et al., 1994; Ohtsuki et al., 1996; Chihade et al., 1998; Lovato et al., 2001; Sakurai et al., 2005b; Arita et al., 2006). Furthermore, the formation of a tertiary complex of a T-arm-lacking aminoacyl tRNA/EF-Tu/GTP has been detected (Ohtsuki et al., 2001; Arita et al., 2006).

In nematode mt T-arm-lacking tRNAs sequenced at the RNA level, the 1-methyladenosine at position 9 is strictly conserved (Watanabe et al., 1994, 1997; Sakurai et al., 2005a,b; see also Oht-suki and Watanabe, 2007). This modification helps maintain the tertiary structure of the tRNA, and also aids in efficient aminoa-cylation and formation of the ternary complex with EF-Tu/GTP (Sakurai et al., 2005b).

tRNAs POTENTIALLY LACKING BOTH D- AND T-arms

As mentioned above, the shortest biochemically characterized tRNA is a 54-nt long mt tRNA^{Ser}(UCU) from the nematode *Ascaris suum* (Watanabe et al., 1994). A computational survey of mitochondrial tRNA genes predicted the presence of tRNA genes lacking both D- and T-arms (Jühling et al., 2012a,b). More recently, after the submission of the abstract of this review, RT-PCR analyses using 5'- and 3'-RACE showed that such putative tRNA genes are indeed transcribed, and the transcripts even have a 3'CCA sequence in the nematode *Romanomermis culicivorax* (Wende et al., 2014). Note that some tRNAs are imported from the cytoplasm into the mitochondria in some animals (Rubio et al., 2008), suggesting that imported tRNAs may function in place of mitochondrial-encoded putative tRNAs lacking both D- and T-arms. Thus, functional analysis of such extremely truncated putative tRNAs is critical.

FACTORS INTERACTING WITH tRNAs LACKING D- OR T-arms AMINOACYL tRNA SYNTHETASES

Aminoacyl tRNA synthetases recognize a cognate tRNA and add an aminoacyl moiety to its 3' end. The major recognition sites of the enzymes in tRNAs are the anticodon, a discriminator base at position 73, and the acceptor stem (Giegé et al., 1998). In fact, in the case of alanyl-tRNA synthetases, even the mitochondrial enzyme uses the acceptor stem as a major recognition site (Chihade et al., 1998). However, some of the enzymes also use the D-arm in tRNA [e.g., *Escherichia coli* isoleucyl-tRNA synthetase (Nureki et al., 1994)]. Whether the mitochondrial counterparts of such enzymes encoded in nuclear genome still use D-arms as recognition sites is an interesting issue yet to be investigated. If so, even if a tRNA lost its T-arm, the enzyme could still add the aminoacyl moiety to the shrunken tRNA.

On the other hand, seryl-tRNA synthetase (SerRS) uses recognition sites other than the anticodon and acceptor stem. Bacterial SerRS recognizes T- and characteristic long variable arms in bacterial tRNA^{Ser} (Asahara et al., 1994) using the N-terminal coiled–coil region (Biou et al., 1994). However, metazoan mt tRNA^{Ser} has lost its long variable arm, and even the Darm is absent in tRNA^{Ser} (GCU/UCU). Thus, how mt SerRS recognizes mt tRNA^{Ser} without its long variable arm is an interesting question. Earlier studies suggested that mammalian mt SerRS can recognize not only mt tRNA^{Ser} but also bacterial tRNA^{Ser}; however, bacterial SerRS could not recognize mt tRNA^{Ser} (Kumazawa et al., 1991). Also, mammalian mt SerRS recognizes the T-loop of both D-arm-lacking tRNA^{Ser} and cloverleaf-type tRNA^{Ser}(UGA) without the long variable arm, and further requires a T-loop/D-loop interaction with tRNA^{Ser}(UGA) (dual-mode recognition; Ueda et al., 1992; Shimada et al., 2001). The crystal structure of a mammalian mt SerRS, a model of it complexed with tRNA, and mutational analyses suggest that the N-terminal coiled-coil region, the distal helix, and the C-tail interact with the T-arm of mt tRNASer (Chimnaronk et al., 2005, Figure 2). Mutational analysis of mammalian mt SerRS showed the substitution of some of the residues in N-terminal coiled-coil region (shown in stick model in Figure 2B) reduced the aminoacylation activities of either one of two mt tRNAs^{Ser} or both, suggesting that interaction of these residues with the tRNA in the enzyme-tRNA complex (Chimnaronk et al., 2005, Figure 2B). To maintain these interactions, the movement of N-terminal coiled-coil region (shown as a red arrow) is expected (Chimnaronk et al., 2005, Figure 2B). Furthermore, mutational analysis of the enzyme suggested that, for the recognition of tRNA^{Ser}(UGA) which have T-loop/D-loop interaction, Arg24, Tyr28 and Arg32, in the distal helix and the Lys93 and Arg122 on the N-terminal coiled-coil region are important (Figure 2B). On the other hand, for the D-arm-lacking tRNA^{Ser}(GCU), Arg24 and Arg32 flanking the distal helix, and Arg129 on the N-terminal helical region are crucial (Figure 2B). Thus, with the dual-mode recognition, mammalian mt SerRS recognizes two tRNASer isoacceptors which have different secondary structures using distinct sets of the residues.

Interestingly, in chromadorean nematode mt, two tRNAs^{Ser} have lost their D-arms, but the remaining 20 tRNAs have lost their T-arms. It is of interest whether nematode mt SerRS also recognize the T-arm. If so, that may explain why only tRNAs^{Ser} have kept their T-arms in nematode mitochondria. However, it seems reasonable that the secondary structure of tRNA is governed by EF-Tu and ribosomes rather than aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase (ARS) during evolution, because the recognition mode of each ARS is constrained by only one or a few tRNA, while that of EF-Tu or the ribosome is constrained by over 20 tRNAs.

EF-Tu

The EF-Tu/GTP complex delivers aminoacyl-tRNAs to the A-site in ribosomes. Bacterial EF-Tu binds to the aminoacyl-moiety, a part of acceptor stem, and the T-arm (Nissen et al., 1995; **Figure 3A**), and it cannot bind to a tRNA analog missing the T-arm (Rudinger et al., 1994). In mitochondria, nuclearencoded EF-Tu exists. Due to the presence of aminoacyl-tRNAs missing the T-arm in nematode mitochondria (Watanabe et al., 1994; Ohtsuki et al., 1996), the EF-Tu counterpart in nematode mitochondria should use an alternative binding mode for Tarm-lacking tRNAs. In fact, nematode mitochondria have two EF-Tu homologs, and only one of them (EF-Tu1) binds to T-arm-lacking tRNAs (Ohtsuki et al., 2001; Arita et al., 2006).



FIGURE 2 | (A) Docking model of mammalian mt SerRS and yeast tRNA^{Phe} (Chimnaronk et al., 2005). Two subunits of the enzyme are shown in green (monomer 1), and gray (monomer 2), respectively. Distal helix of monomer 1 and C-tail of monomer 2 which are mitochondrial-specific extensions and possibly interact with the tRNA, are shown in yellow and pink, respectively. In the tRNA, D-arm, variable loop, and T-arm are shown in purple, sky blue,

Caenorhabditis elegans mt EF-Tu1 has an approximately 60 aminoacid extension at the C-terminus (domain 3') that is essential for binding to T-arm-lacking tRNAs (Ohtsuki et al., 2001; Sakurai et al., 2006). The extension likely interacts with the D-arm region of T-arm-lacking tRNAs through positive charges in Lys residues (Sakurai et al., 2006; Figures 3B,C). Interestingly, C. elegans mt EF-Tu1 lacks binding ability to cloverleaf-type tRNAs (Ohtsuki et al., 2001), which are missing in C. elegans mitochondria (Okimoto et al., 1992). In another lineage of nematode, Trichinella, mitochondria have T-arm-lacking tRNAs, cloverleaftype tRNAs, and D-arm-lacking tRNAs^{Ser} (Lavrov and Brown, 2001). Trichinella also have two EF-Tu homologs, and one of them (EF-Tu1) binds to both T-arm-lacking tRNAs and cloverleaf-type tRNAs (Arita et al., 2006). Interestingly, Trichinella mt EF-Tu1 has a 41-residue C-terminal extension shorter than that in C. elegans mitochondria (Arita et al., 2006). A mutant of C. elegans mt EF-Tu1 with a 13-residue deletion at the C-terminus (43-residue extension left) cannot bind to T-arm-lacking tRNAs (Sakurai et al., 2006). Although the detailed tRNA binding mode of Trichinella mt EF-Tu1 has not been elucidated, it could be similar but not identical to that of C. elegans mt EF-Tu1. Note that C. elegans EF-Tu1 binds to only T-arm-lacking tRNAs, while Trichinella EF-Tu1 binds to T-arm-lacking tRNA, D-arm-lacking tRNA, and cloverleaf tRNA (Ohtsuki et al., 2001; Arita et al., 2006).

and red, respectively. **(B)** Putative interactions between the N-terminal coiled–coil region and the C-tail distal helix with the T-arm of the tRNA. The interactions are inferred by mutational analysis of the enzyme (Chimnaronk et al., 2005). Residues in N-terminal coiled–coil region and distal helix involved in the interaction with tRNA are shown in stick model (Chimnaronk et al., 2005).

Nematode mitochondria have another EF-Tu homolog, EF-Tu2. Nematode mt EF-Tu2 has a short (about 15-residue) C-terminal extension, and it binds to D-arm-lacking tRNA^{Ser}, but not to T-arm-lacking or cloverleaf-type tRNAs (Ohtsuki et al., 2001; Suematsu et al., 2005; Arita et al., 2006). *C. elegans* mt EF-Tu2 binds to a region of the T-arm exposed due to the missing interaction between the T-arm and D-arm (**Figures 3D,E**; Suematsu et al., 2005). Interestingly, D-arm-lacking tRNAs in this species have anticodons for serine, and EF-Tu2 binds only to Ser-tRNA and accepts neither Ala-tRNA nor Val-tRNA with the same backbone (Ohtsuki et al., 2002); Arita et al., 2006). This is likely due to the evolution of the aminoacyl-moiety binding pocket in EF-Tu2 to specialize in binding with the seryl moiety because of a unique adaptation in Ser-tRNA (Sato et al., 2006).

More recently, in some taxa other than the nematodes, such as Arthropoda, there have been mitochondrial T-arm-lacking tRNA genes discovered (Masta, 2000). Interestingly, there are two mt EF-Tu genes in arthropods (Ohtsuki and Watanabe, 2007). The functional differences between the two EF-Tu homologs in these species should be elucidated, and this project is in progress in our laboratory.

FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Besides ARS and EF-Tu, other factors such as tRNA terminal nucleotidyltransferases (CCA enzymes) and ribosomes could



be interesting in terms of their interactions with shrunken mt tRNAs.

After the trimming of 3' extra sequences, 3'CCA sequences are added to 3' ends of pre-tRNAs by CCA enzymes (Deutscher, 1983). The bacterial CCA enzyme binds to the acceptor-T helix of pre-tRNA (Tomita et al., 2004), and thus a T-arm-lacking tRNA precursor is not a good substrate for the bacterial CCA enzyme (Tomari et al., 2002). On the other hand, the chromadorean nematode *C. elegans* has two genes for CCA enzymes, one of which encodes a putative mt CCA enzyme (Tomari et al., 2002). The recombinant (putative) mt CCA enzyme of *C. elegans* can recognize and efficiently add a CCA sequence, not only to conventional cloverleaf tRNAs, but also to T- or D-arm-lacking tRNAs (Tomari et al., 2002). It would be interesting to know how the nematode mt enzyme recognizes T-arm-lacking mt tRNAs efficiently.

During translation, conventional bacterial tRNA interacts with several sites in the ribosome (reviewed by Khade and Joseph, 2010). In bacterial ribosomes, the T-arm of P-site tRNA interacts with ribosomal protein L5 (Korostelev et al., 2006; Selmer et al., 2006). At the A-site, the T-arm of tRNA interacts with ribosomal protein L16 (Selmer et al., 2006; Voorhees et al., 2009).

The residues in the A-site finger (helix 69) of 23S rRNA interact with the D-arm of tRNA at the A- and P-sites (Korostelev et al., 2006; Selmer et al., 2006; Voorhees et al., 2009). In a structural model of C. elegans mt rRNAs, the corresponding rRNA positions exist (Mears et al., 2002). At the E-site, residues in the T- and D-loops interact with ribosomal protein L1 and helices 76, 77, and 78 in 23S rRNA (e.g., the L1 stalk; Korostelev et al., 2006; Selmer et al., 2006). Interestingly, the corresponding regions in nematode mt rRNA are missing (Mears et al., 2002). In general, mitochondrial ribosomal proteins are enlarged compared to their counterparts in bacteria (Koc et al., 2000; Suzuki et al., 2001), suggesting that mitochondrial ribosomal proteins may have alternate binding modes for truncated tRNAs. Further structural analysis of metazoan mt ribosomes (Sharma et al., 2003; Greber et al., 2014) would be helpful to reveal the detailed interaction mode between mt ribosomes and shrunken mt tRNAs.

Structural alterations of metazoan mt tRNAs have been compensated for by several interacting factors. The mode of compensation by these factors may explain why metazoan tRNAs have undergone truncation during evolution. Further investigation into the detailed binding modes between shrunken tRNAs and the interacting factors that co-evolved with them will shed light on how truncated tRNAs evolved.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Our studies described in this review were supported by Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology (MEXT), The Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS), the Kurata Memorial Hitachi Science and Technology Foundation and a grant from the Program for Promotion of Basic and Applied Researches for Innovations in Bio-oriented Industry (BRAIN), the Science and Technology Research Promotion Program for Agriculture, Forestry, Fisheries and Food Industry. We thank Prof. K. Watanabe and Prof. K. Kita for their continued support, and Dr. Sarin Chimnaronk for the docking model coordinates of mammalian mt SerRS/ tRNA.

REFERENCES

- Arcari, P., and Brownlee, G. G. (1980). The nucleotide sequence of a small (3S) seryl-tRNA (anticodon GCU) from beef heart mitochondria. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 8, 5207–5212. doi: 10.1093/nar/8.22.5207
- Arita, M., Suematsu, T., Osanai, A., Inaba, T., Kamiya, H., Kita, K., et al. (2006). An evolutionary 'intermediate state' of mitochondrial translation systems found in *Trichinella* species of parasitic nematodes: co-evolution of tRNA and EF-Tu. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 34, 5291–5929. doi: 10.1093/nar/ gkl526
- Asahara, H., Himeno, H., Tamura, K., Nameki, N., Hasegawa, T., and Shimizu, M. (1994). *Escherichia coli* seryl-tRNA synthetase recognizes tRNA^{Ser} by its characteristic tertiary structure. *J. Mol. Biol.* 236, 738–748. doi: 10.1006/jmbi. 1994.1186
- Baer, R. J., and Dubin, D. T. (1980). The sequence of a possible 5S RNA-equivalent in hamster mitochondria. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 8, 603–610. doi: 10.1093/nar/8. 16.3603
- Biou, V., Yaremchuk, A., Tukalo, M., and Cusack, S. (1994). The 2.9 Å crystal structure of *T. thermophilus* seryl-tRNA synthetase complexed with tRNA^{Ser}. *Science* 263, 1404–1410. doi: 10.1126/science.81 28220
- Chihade, J. W., Hayashibara, K., Shiba, K., and Schimmel, P. (1998). Strong selective pressure to use G:U to mark an RNA acceptor stem for alanine. *Biochemistry* 37, 9193–9202. doi: 10.1021/bi9804636

- Chimnaronk, S., Jeppesen, M. G., Suzuki, T., Nyborg, J., and Watanabe, K. (2005). Dual-mode recognition of noncanonical tRNAs^{Ser} by seryl-tRNA synthetase in mammalian mitochondria. *EMBO J.* 24, 3369–3379. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj.7600811
- de Bruijn, M. H., and Klug, A. (1983). A model for the tertiary structure of mammalian mitochondrial transfer RNAs lacking the entire 'dihydrouridine' loop and stem. *EMBO J.* 2, 1309–1321.
- de Bruijn, M. H., Schreier, P. H., Eperon, I. C., Barrell, B. G., Chen, E. Y., Armstrong, P. W., et al. (1980). A mammalian mitochondrial serine transfer RNA lacking the "dihydrouridine" loop and stem. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 8, 5213–5222. doi: 10.1093/nar/8.22.5213
- Deutscher, M. P. (1983). "tRNA nucleotidyltransferase and the –C-C-A terminus of transfer RNA," in *Enzymes of Nucleic Acid Synthesis and Modification*, Vol. 2, *RNA Enzymes*, ed. S.T. Jacob (Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press), 159–183.
- Dubin, D. T., and Friend, D. A. (1972). Comparison of cytoplasmic and mitochondrial 4 S RNA from cultured hamster cells: physical and metabolic properties. J. Mol. Biol. 71, 163–175. doi: 10.1016/0022-2836(72)90344-0
- Dubin, D. T., Jones, T. N., and Cleaves, G. R. (1974). An unmethylated "3 SE" RNA in hamster mitochondria: a 5 S RNA-equivalent? *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 56, 401–406. doi: 10.1016/0006-291X(74)90856-0
- Frazer-Abel, A. A., and Hagerman, P. J. (1999). Determination of the angle between the acceptor and anticodon stems of a truncated mitochondrial tRNA. J. Mol. Biol. 285, 581–593. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.1998.2320
- Frazer-Abel, A. A., and Hagerman, P. J. (2004). Variation of the acceptor-anticodon interstem angles among mitochondrial and non-mitochondrial tRNAs. J. Mol. Biol. 343, 313–325. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2004.07.087
- Frazer-Abel, A. A., and Hagerman, P. J. (2008). Core flexibility of a truncated metazoan mitochondrial tRNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 36, 5472–5481. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkn529
- Giegé, R., Sissler, M., and Florentz, C. (1998). Universal rules and idiosyncratic features in tRNA identity. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 26, 5017–5035. doi: 10.1093/nar/26.22.5017
- Greber, B. J., Boehringer, D., Leitner, A., Bieri, P., Voigts-Hoffmann, F., Erzberger, J. P., et al. (2014) Architecture of the large subunit of the mammalian mitochondrial ribosome. *Nature* 505, 515–519. doi: 10.1038/nature 12890
- Hanada, T., Suzuki, T., Yokogawa, T., Takemoto-Hori, C., Sprinzl, M., and Watanabe, K. (2001). Translation ability of mitochondrial tRNAs^{Ser} with unusual secondary structures in an in vitro translation system of bovine mitochondria. *Genes Cells* 6, 1019–1030. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2443.2001. 00491.x
- Hayashi, I., Yokogawa, T., Kawai, G., Ueda, T., Nishikawa, K., and Watanabe, K. (1997). Assignment of imino proton signals of G-C base pairs and magnesium ion binding: an NMR study of bovine mitochondrial tRNA^{Ser}(GCU) lacking the entire D arm. *J. Biochem.* 121, 1115–1122. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.jbchem.a021703
- Jühling, F., Mörl, M., Hartmann, R. K., Sprinzl, M., Stadler, P. F., and Pütz, J. (2009). tRNAdb 2009: compilation of tRNA sequences and tRNA genes. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 37, D159–D162. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkn772
- Jühling, F., Pütz, J., Bernt, M., Donath, A., Middendorf, M., Florentz, C., et al. (2012a). Improved systematic tRNA gene annotation allows new insights into the evolution of mitochondrial tRNA structures and into the mechanisms of mitochondrial genome rearrangements. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 40, 2833–2845. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkr1131
- Jühling, F., Pütz, J., Florentz, C., and Stadler, P. F. (2012b). Armless mitochondrial tRNAs in Enoplea (Nematoda). *RNA Biol.* 9, 1161–1166. doi: 10.4161/rna. 21630
- Khade, P., and Joseph, S. (2010). Functional interactions by transfer RNAs in the ribosome. *FEBS Lett.* 584, 420–426. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2009. 11.034
- Koc, E. C., Burkhart, W., Blackburn, K., Moseley, A., Koc, H., and Spremulli, L. L. (2000). A proteomics approach to the identification of mammalian mitochondrial small subunit ribosomal proteins. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 32585–33291. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M003596200
- Korostelev, A., Trakhanov, S., Laurberg, M., and Noller, H. F. (2006). Crystal structure of a 70S ribosome–tRNA complex reveals functional interactions and rearrangements. *Cell* 126, 1065–1077. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006. 08.032

- Kumazawa, Y., Himeno, H., Miura, K., and Watanabe, K. (1991). Unilateral aminoacylation specificity between bovine mitochondria and eubacteria. *J. Biochem.* 109, 421–427.
- Lavrov, D. V., and Brown, W. M. (2001). *Trichinella spiralis* mtDNA: a nematode mitochondrial genome that encodes a putative ATP8 and normally structured tRNAs and has a gene arrangement relatable to those of coelomate metazoans. *Genetics* 157, 621–637.
- Lovato, M. A., Chihade, J. W., and Schimmel, P. (2001). Translocation within the acceptor helix of a major tRNA identity determinant. *EMBO J.* 20, 4846–4853. doi: 10.1093/emboj/20.17.4846
- Masta, S. E. (2000). Mitochondrial sequence evolution in spiders: intraspecific variation in tRNAs lacking the TΨC arm. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 17, 1091–1100. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.molbev.a026390
- Mears, J. A., Cannone, J. J., Stagg, S. M., Gutell, R. R., Agrawal, R. K., and Harvey, S. C. (2002). Modeling a minimal ribosome based on comparative sequence analysis. J. Mol. Biol. 321, 215–234. doi: 10.1016/S0022-2836(02) 00568-5
- Nissen, P., Kjeldgaard, M., Thirup, S., Polekhina, G., Reshetnikova, L., Clark, B. F., et al. (1995). Crystal structure of the ternary complex of Phe-tRNA^{Phe}, EF-Tu, and a GTP analog. *Science* 270, 1464–1472. doi: 10.1126/science.270.52 41.1464
- Nureki, O., Niimi, T., Muramatsu, T., Kanno, H., Kohno, T., Florentz, C., et al. (1994). Molecular recognition of the identity-determinant set of isoleucine transfer RNA from *Escherichia coli. J. Mol. Biol.* 236, 710–724. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.1994.1184
- Ohtsuki, T., Kawai, G., and Watanabe, K. (1998). Stable isotope-edited NMR analysis of *Ascaris suum* mitochondrial tRNA^{Met} having a TV-replacement loop. *J. Biochem.* 124, 28–34. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.jbchem. a022092
- Ohtsuki, T., Kawai, G., Watanabe, Y., Kita, K., Nishikawa, K., and Watanabe, K. (1996). Preparation of biologically active Ascaris suum mitochondrial tRNA^{Met} with a TV-replacement loop by ligation of chemically synthesized RNA fragments. Nucleic Acids Res. 24, 662–667. doi: 10.1093/nar/24. 4.662
- Ohtsuki, T., Kawai, G., and Watanabe, K. (2002a). The minimal tRNA: unique structure of *Ascaris suum* mitochondrial tRNA^{Ser}(UCU) having a short T arm and lacking the entire D arm. *FEBS Lett.* 514, 37–43. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(02)02328-1
- Ohtsuki, T., Sato, A., Watanabe, Y., and Watanabe, K. (2002b). A unique serinespecific elongation factor Tu found in nematode mitochondria. *Nat. Struct. Biol.* 9, 669–673. doi: 10.1038/nsb826
- Ohtsuki, T., and Watanabe, Y. (2007). T-armless tRNAs and elongated elongation factor Tu. *IUBMB Life* 59, 68–75. doi: 10.1080/15216540701 218722
- Ohtsuki, T., Watanabe, Y., Takemoto, C., Kawai, G., Ueda, T., Kita, K., et al. (2001). An "elongated" translation elongation factor Tu for truncated tRNAs in nematode mitochondria. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 21571–21577. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M0111 18200
- Okimoto, R., Macfarlane, J. L., Clary, D. O., and Wolstenholme, D. R. (1992). The mitochondrial genomes of two nematodes, *Caenorhabditis elegans* and *Ascaris* suum. Genetics 130, 471–498.
- Rubio, M. A., Rinehart, J. J., Krett, B., Duvezin-Caubet, S., Reichert, A. S., Söll, D., et al. (2008). Mammalian mitochondria have the innate ability to import tRNAs by a mechanism distinct from protein import. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 9186–9191. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0804283105
- Rudinger, J., Blechschmidt, B., Ribeiro, S., and Sprinzl, M. (1994). Minimalist aminoacylated RNAs as efficient substrates for elongation factor Tu. *Biochemistry* 33, 5682–5688. doi: 10.1021/bi00185a003
- Sakurai, M., Ohtsuki, T., Suzuki, T., and Watanabe, K. (2005a). Unusual usage of wobble modifications in mitochondrial tRNAs of the nematode Ascaris suum. FEBS Lett. 579, 2767–2772. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2005. 04.009
- Sakurai, M., Ohtsuki, T., and Watanabe, K. (2005b). Modification at position 9 with 1-methyladenosine is crucial for structure and function of nematode mitochondrial tRNAs lacking the entire T-arm. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 33, 1653–1661. doi: 10.1093/nar/gki309
- Sakurai, M., Watanabe, Y., Watanabe, K., and Ohtsuki, T. (2006). A protein extension to shorten RNA: elongated elongation factor-Tu recognizes the D-arm of

T-armless tRNAs in nematode mitochondria. *Biochem. J.* 399, 249–256. doi: 10.1042/BJ20060781

- Sato, A., Watanabe, Y., Suzuki, T., Komiyama, M., Watanabe, K., and Ohtsuki, T. (2006). Identification of the residues involved in the unique serine specificity of *Caenorhabditis elegans* mitochondrial EF-Tu2. *Biochemistry* 45, 10920–10927. doi: 10.1021/bi060536i
- Selmer, M., Dunham, C. M., Murphy, F. V. IV, Weixlbaumer, A., Petry, S., Kelley, A. C., et al. (2006). Structure of the 70S ribosome complexed with mRNA and tRNA. *Science* 313, 1935–1942. doi: 10.1126/science.1131127
- Sharma, M. R., Koc, E. C., Datta, P. P., Booth, T. M., Spremulli, L. L., and Agrawal, R. K. (2003). Structure of the mammalian mitochondrial ribosome reveals an expanded functional role for its component proteins. *Cell* 115, 97–108. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00762-1
- Shimada, N., Suzuki, T., and Watanabe, K. (2001). Dual mode recognition of two isoacceptor tRNAs by mammalian mitochondrial seryl-tRNA synthetase. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 46770–46778. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M105150200
- Seutin, G., Lang, B. F., Mindell, D. P., and Morais, R. (1994). Evolution of the WANCY region in amniote mitochondrial DNA. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 11, 329–340.
- Steinberg, S., Gautheret, D., and Cedergren, R. (1994). Fitting the structurally diverse animal mitochondrial tRNAs^{Ser} to common three-dimensional constraints. *J. Mol. Biol.* 236, 982–989. doi: 10.1016/0022-2836(94)90004-3
- Suematsu, T., Sato, A., Sakurai, M., Watanabe, K., and Ohtsuki, T. (2005). A unique tRNA recognition mechanism of *Caenorhabditis elegans* mitochondrial EF-Tu2. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 33, 4683–4691. doi: 10.1093/nar/ gki784
- Suzuki, T., Terasaki, M., Takemoto-Hori, C., Hanada, T., Ueda, T., Wada, A., et al. (2001). Proteomic analysis of the mammalian mitochondrial ribosome. Identification of protein components in the 28 S small subunit. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 33181–33195. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M103236200
- Tomari, Y., Suzuki, T., and Ueda, T. (2002). tRNA recognition by CCAadding enzyme. Nucleic Acids Res. Suppl. 2002, 77–78. doi: 10.1093/nass/ 2.1.77
- Tomita, K., Fukai, S., Ishitani, R., Ueda, T., Takeuchi, N., Vassylyev, D. G., et al. (2004). Structural basis for template-independent RNA polymerization. *Nature* 430, 700–704. doi: 10.1038/nature02712
- Ueda, T., Ohta, T., and Watanabe, K. (1985). Large scale isolation and some properties of AGY-specific serine tRNA from bovine heart mitochondria. *J. Biochem.* 98, 1275–1284.
- Ueda, T., Yotsumoto, Y., Ikeda, K., and Watanabe, K. (1992). The T-loop region of animal mitochondrial tRNA^{Ser}(AGY) is a main recognition site for homologous seryl-tRNA synthetase. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 20, 2217–2222. doi: 10.1093/nar/20.9.2217
- Voorhees, R. M., Weixlbaumer, A., Loakes, D., Kelley, A. C., and Ramakrishnan, V. (2009). Insights into substrate stabilization from snapshots of the peptidyl transferase center of the intact 70S ribosome. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 16, 528–533. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.1577
- Watanabe, Y., Tsurui, H., Ueda, T., Furushima, R., Takamiya, S., Kita, K., et al. (1994). Primary and higher order structures of nematode (*Ascaris suum*) mitochondrial tRNAs lacking either the T or D stem. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269, 22902– 22906.
- Watanabe, Y., Tsurui, H., Ueda, T., Furushima-Shimogawara, R., Takamiya, S., Kita, K., et al. (1997). Primary sequence of mitochondrial tRNA^{Arg} of a nematode Ascaris suum: occurrence of unmodified adenosine at the first position of the anticodon. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1350, 119–122. doi: 10.1016/S0167-4781(96)00211-4
- Wende, S., Platzer, E. G., Jühling, F., Pütz, J., Florentz, C., Stadler, P. F., et al. (2014). Biological evidence for the world's smallest tRNAs. *Biochimie* 100, 151–158. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2013.07.034
- Wolstenholme, D. R., Macfarlane, J. L., Okimoto, R., Clary, D. O., and Wahleithner, J. A. (1987). Bizarre tRNAs inferred from DNA sequences of mitochondrial genomes of nematode worms. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 84, 1324–1328. doi: 10.1073/pnas.84.5.1324
- Wolstenholme, D. R., Okimoto, R., and Macfarlane, J. L. (1994). Nucleotide correlations that suggest tertiary interactions in the TV-replacement loop-containing mitochondrial tRNAs of the nematodes, *Caenorhabditis elegans* and *Ascaris suum*. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 22, 4300–4306. doi: 10.1093/nar/22.20.4300
- Yokogawa, T., Kumazawa, Y., Miura, K., and Watanabe, K. (1989). Purification and characterization of two serine isoacceptor tRNAs from bovine mitochondria

by using a hybridization assay method. Nucleic Acids Res. 17, 2623–2638. doi: 10.1093/nar/17.7.2623

Yokogawa, T., Shimada, N., Takeuchi, N., Benkowski, L., Suzuki, T., Omori, A., et al. (2000). Characterization and tRNA recognition of mammalian mitochondrial seryl-tRNA synthetase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 19913–19920. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M908473199

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 31 January 2014; accepted: 12 April 2014; published online: 01 May 2014.

Citation: Watanabe Y-i, Suematsu T and Ohtsuki T (2014) Losing the stem-loop structure from metazoan mitochondrial tRNAs and co-evolution of interacting factors. Front. Genet. **5**:109. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00109

This article was submitted to Non-Coding RNA, a section of the journal Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2014 Watanabe, Suematsu and Ohtsuki. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



tmRNA-mediated *trans*-translation as the major ribosome rescue system in a bacterial cell

Hyouta Himeno*, Daisuke Kurita and Akira Muto

Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Faculty of Agriculture and Life Science, Hirosaki University, Hirosaki, Japan

Edited by:

Akio Kanai, Keio University, Japan

Reviewed by:

Toshifumi Inada, Tohoku University, Japan Yoshitaka Bessho, RIKEN SPring-8 Center, Japan

*Correspondence:

Hyouta Himeno, Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Faculty of Agriculture and Life Science, Hirosaki University, Hirosaki 036-8561, Japan email: himeno@cc.hirosaki-u.ac.jp Transfer messenger RNA (tmRNA; also known as 10Sa RNA or SsrA RNA) is a small RNA molecule that is conserved among bacteria. It has structural and functional similarities to tRNA: it has an upper half of the tRNA-like structure, its 5' end is processed by RNase P, it has typical tRNA-specific base modifications, it is aminoacylated with alanine, it binds to EF-Tu after aminoacylation and it enters the ribosome with EF-Tu and GTP. However, tmRNA lacks an anticodon, and instead it has a coding sequence for a short peptide called tagpeptide. An elaborate interplay of actions of tmRNA as both tRNA and mRNA with the help of a tmRNA-binding protein, SmpB, facilitates trans-translation, which produces a single polypeptide from two mRNA molecules. Initially alanyl-tmRNA in complex with EF-Tu and SmpB enters the vacant A-site of the stalled ribosome like aminoacyl-tRNA but without a codon-anticodon interaction, and subsequently truncated mRNA is replaced with the tag-encoding region of tmRNA. During these processes, not only tmRNA but also SmpB structurally and functionally mimics both tRNA and mRNA. Thus trans-translation rescues the stalled ribosome, thereby allowing recycling of the ribosome. Since the tag-peptide serves as a target of AAA⁺ proteases, the *trans*-translation products are preferentially degraded so that they do not accumulate in the cell. Although alternative rescue systems have recently been revealed, trans-translation is the only system that universally exists in bacteria. Furthermore, it is unique in that it employs a small RNA and that it prevents accumulation of non-functional proteins from truncated mRNA in the cell. It might play the major role in rescuing the stalled translation in the bacterial cell.

Keywords: tmRNA, SmpB, ribosome, trans-translation, molecular mimicry

INTRODUCTION

Translation often stalls in various situations in a cell, sometimes in a programmed fashion and other times unexpectedly. For example, translation of mRNA lacking a stop codon (non-stop mRNA) does not terminate efficiently because peptide release factor does not function. Thus, the cell should have a system to cope with such emergencies. However, little attention was given to this issue until the mid-1990s, and therefore the discovery of tmRNA was a big surprise. Initially the tRNA-like structure and function of tmRNA were elucidated. Both terminal regions of tmRNA can form a secondary structure resembling the upper half of the cloverleaf-like structure of tRNA (Komine et al., 1994; Ushida et al., 1994), which includes several tRNA-specific consensus sequences and base modifications (Figure 1A; Felden et al., 1997, 1998). Like that of tRNA, the 3' end of tmRNA can be aminoacylated with an amino acid (alanine) by an aminoacyltRNA synthestase (alanyl-tRNA synthetase; Komine et al., 1994; Ushida et al., 1994). Other tRNA-like functions, such as 5' processing by RNase P (Komine et al., 1994), binding to EF-Tu (Rudinger-Thirion et al., 1999; Barends et al., 2000, 2001; Hanawa-Suetsugu et al., 2001) and interaction with 70S ribosome (Ushida et al., 1994; Komine et al., 1996; Tadaki et al., 1996), have also been revealed. Although it is about fivefold larger than tRNA, tmRNA has no apparent anticodon, making it difficult to clarify whether and how tmRNA is involved in translation. A few years later, it was found that tmRNA has functions not only as tRNA but also as mRNA: a short peptide is encoded by the middle part of tmRNA (Tu et al., 1995), which is surrounded by four pseudoknot structures (Figure 1A; Nameki et al., 1999b,c). Intriguingly, these two functions cooperate, rather than being independent, to produce a chimeric polypeptide from two mRNAs, a C-terminally truncated polypeptide encoded by mRNA fusing the tmRNAencoded short peptide with an alanine residue of unknown origin in between them (Keiler et al., 1996; Muto et al., 1996; Himeno et al., 1997). This acrobatic translation involving co-translational mRNA swapping produces a single polypeptide from two mRNAs, and thus it has been called trans-translation (Figure 2; Muto et al., 1998). This system provides a stop codon to allow completion of translation of a non-stop mRNA and consequently recycling of the ribosome. In addition, trans-translation has been regarded as a quality control system that prevents non-functional polypeptides derived from truncated mRNAs from accumulating in the cell, as the tag-peptide consisting of the first alanine residue and the tmRNA-encoded short peptide, especially the sequence of the last four hydrophobic amino acids (ALAA), serves as the target for cellular ATP-dependent proteases (Gottesman et al., 1998; Herman et al., 1998; Flynn et al., 2001; Choy et al., 2007).

Trans-translation requires a tmRNA binding protein called SmpB in addition to canonical elongation factors (Karzai et al.,



1999). SmpB consists of a globular domain and an unstructured C-terminal tail (Dong et al., 2002; Someya et al., 2003). It binds to the tRNA-like domain (TLD) of tmRNA to prevent tmRNA from degradation and enhance aminoacylation of tmRNA (Barends et al., 2001; Hanawa-Suetsugu et al., 2002; Shimizu and Ueda, 2002; Nameki et al., 2005). SmpB also plays a crucial role in the ribosomal process of *trans*-translation.

The *trans*-translation system is universally present in bacterial cells and is present in organelles of some eukaryotes but not in the cytoplasm of eukaryotes or archaebacteria. There is accumulating evidence indicating that the bacterial cell is equipped with additional systems to cope with stalled translation. Here, we review the current understanding of the molecular mechanism and the cellular functions of tmRNA-mediated *trans*-translation as well as other ribosome rescue systems.

MOLECULAR MECHANISM OF TRANS-TRANSLATION

An outline of the process of trans-translation is as follows (Figure 3): initially, tmRNA in complex with SmpB is aminoacylated with alanine by alanyl-tRNA synthetase. Ala-tmRNA enters the A-site of the stalled ribosome on a truncated mRNA to receive the nascent polypeptide from peptidyl-tRNA in the P-site. Then peptidyl-Ala-tmRNA translocates to the P-site, which exchanges the template from truncated mRNA to the tag-encoding region on tmRNA. It can reasonably explain the missing origin of the alanine residue connecting the truncated polypeptide encoded by mRNA with the tmRNA-encoded tag-peptide: it is derived from the alanine moiety aminoacylated to tmRNA. This model was proposed on the basis of the results of an in vivo study showing that truncated polypeptides fusing the tmRNA-encoding tag-peptide in its C-termini accumulate in the cell when a truncated mRNA is expressed (Keiler et al., 1996), and the model was supported by the results of an in vitro study showing that the tag-peptide is synthesized using Escherichia coli cell extract depending on the addition of poly(U) and on the aminoacylation capacity of tmRNA (Muto et al., 1996; Himeno et al., 1997). However, several questions have been raised. How does tmRNA find the stalled ribosome? How does tmRNA enter the A-site of the ribosome without an anticodon? How does the tag-encoding region of tmRNA substitute for truncated mRNA? How is the resuming point on tmRNA determined? SmpB has emerged as the key molecule to solve these questions.

Besides canonical translation factors and tmRNA, SmpB is the minimal requirement for in vitro trans-translation (Shimizu and Ueda, 2002; Takada et al., 2007; Kurita et al., 2012). SmpB has been thought to continue binding to tmRNA throughout the process of trans-translation (Ivanova et al., 2007). In a crystal structure of a complex of SmpB and a model RNA fragment corresponding to TLD of tmRNA, the globular domain of SmpB binds to TLD so that it compensates for the lack of the lower half of the L-form structure in tmRNA (Figure 1B; Gutmann et al., 2003; Bessho et al., 2007). Thus, TLD in complex with the globular domain of SmpB would structurally mimic a whole tRNA molecule. A directed hydroxyl radical probing study has revealed two SmpB binding sites in an E. coli ribosome, one in the A-site and the other in the P-site, both of which can be superimposed on the lower half of the tRNA molecules in the translating ribosome (Kurita et al., 2007). An additional mimicry of the upper half of tRNA by TLD could complete two whole translating tRNA mimics at the A-site and P-site so that their aminoacyl ends are oriented to the peptidyl-transferase center. The pattern of cleavage of 16S rRNA by hydroxyl radicals from the C-terminal tail residues has suggested two binding sites of the Cterminal tail of SmpB with two different modes of conformation



in the ribosome in addition to the unstructured conformation in solution: an extended conformation from the A-site to the downstream tunnel along the mRNA path as an α -helical structure and a folded conformation around the mRNA path in the P-site (Kurita et al., 2007, 2010).

On the basis of these SmpB properties, the *trans*-translation process can be described in more detail (**Figure 3**). Ala-tmRNA·SmpB·EF-Tu·GTP enters the vacant A-site of the stalled ribosome. GTP hydrolysis induces a conformational change of the stalled complex to release EF-Tu.GDP, allowing accommodation of Ala-TLD·SmpB in the A-site. During this process, the C-terminal tail of SmpB interacts with the mRNA path extending towards the mRNA entry channel. Subsequently, Ala-TLD in the A-site receives the nascent polypeptide chain from peptidyl-tRNA in the P-site, and the resulting peptidyl-Ala-TLD·SmpB translocates from the A-site to the P-site. During this process, the

C-terminal tail of SmpB dissociates from the mRNA entry channel and binds around the site of codon-anticodon interaction in the P-site with change in its conformation from the extended structure to the folded structure, which in turn promotes release of mRNA from the ribosome. The conformational change of the Cterminal tail concomitant with translocation makes the A-site free, thereby allowing introduction of the resume codon of tmRNA into the decoding region. This model has been supported by results of structural studies of several trans-translation intermediates. Cryo-EM studies have revealed three kinds of intermediates in the pre-accommodated, accommodated, and translocated states (Kaur et al., 2006; Cheng et al., 2010; Fu et al., 2010; Weis et al., 2010a,b). In all of them, SmpB and TLD occupy the lower and upper halves, respectively, of the tRNA-binding sites. Although the C-terminal tail of SmpB has not been identified in these maps due to low resolution, its interaction with the mRNA path has clearly



Tu-GTP enters the vacant A-site of the stalled ribosome to trigger *trans*-translation. GTP hydrolysis by EF-Tu may induce a conformation change of the stalled complex, allowing the C-terminal tail of SmpB to interact with the mRNA path with an extended structure. After peptidyl-transfer,

help of EF-G to drive out truncated mRNA from the ribosome. During this process, the extended C-terminal tail somehow folds. Then the resume codon of tmRNA is set on the decoding region. SmpB and the tag-encoding region are shown in red and blue, respectively.

been shown in a crystal structure of a pre-accommodation state complex of *trans*-translation containing kirromycin (Neubauer et al., 2012).

This model can explain why *trans*-translation preferentially occurs at the ribosome stalled on mRNA with a shorter 3'-extension, which has been exemplified *in vitro* (Ivanova et al., 2004; Asano et al., 2005): the C-terminal tail of SmpB competes with the 3'-extension of mRNA for the mRNA entry channel. A chemical

footprinting study has suggested that SmpB interacts with A1492, A1493, and G530 in 16S rRNA, which form the decoding region (Nonin-Lecomte et al., 2009). However, these nucleotides can be changeable without loss of both peptidyl-transferase and GTP hydrolytic activities in *trans*-translation, indicating much lower significance of these decoding nucleotides for *trans*-translation (Miller et al., 2011). In a crystal structure of a *Thermus thermophilus* pre-accommodation state complex of *trans*-translation,

G530 stacks with a residue (Y127) around the start of the C-terminal tail of SmpB (Neubauer et al., 2012). Recently, Miller and Buskirk (2014) have found that the corresponding residue in *E. coli* SmpB (H136) has a crucial role in GTP hydrolysis, leading to the proposal that stacking of this residue with G530 triggers GTP hydrolysis.

EF-G promotes release of truncated mRNA from the stalled ribosome after peptidyl transfer to Ala-tmRNA, suggesting the presence of a canonical translocation-like step in the transtranslation process (Ivanova et al., 2005). During this event, SmpB must pass through the barrier between the A-site and P-site, and tmRNA must enter the inside of the mRNA entry channel to set the resume codon in the decoding region. Consistently, in a cryo-EM map of a translocational intermediate complex containing EF-G and fusidic acid, both bridge B1a, which serves as a barrier between the A-site and P-site, and latch, which is usually closed by the interaction between the head (helix 34) and body (G530 region) to form the mRNA tunnel, are open (Ramrath et al., 2012). Precise positioning of the resume codon at the decoding region requires the sequence just upstream of the resume codon at positions -6 to +1 (Williams et al., 1999; Lee et al., 2001), and this sequence is recognized by the globular domain of SmpB (Konno et al., 2007), suggesting that SmpB bridges two separate domains of tmRNA in the P-site to determine the resume codon for tag-translation presumably just after translocation. This is in agreement with cryo-EM maps of translocated state complexes of trans-translation (Figure 1B; Fu et al., 2010; Weis et al., 2010b). Another study has suggested the importance of the C-terminal tail of SmpB and its interaction with the start GCA codon on tmRNA for determination of the start point of tag-peptide translation (Camenares et al., 2013). Taken together, the results suggest that the interaction between tmRNA and SmpB is more important for resume point determination than the interaction between tmRNA and the ribosome. It should be noted that some kinds of aminoglycosides that bind the decoding region shift the resume point of tag-translation (Takahashi et al., 2003; Konno et al., 2004).

Although several examples of the potential molecular mimicry of tRNA by a translation factor have been reported, SmpB is the sole molecule that has been assumed to mimic the dynamic behavior of tRNA throughout all of the classical and hybrid states, A/T, A/A, A/P, P/P, and P/E, in the translating ribosome. The ribosomal protein S1, which has been identified as a tmRNA-binding protein (Wower et al., 2000), is not thought to participate in the early stage of *trans*-translation, at least until the first translocation (Qi et al., 2007; Takada et al., 2007).

REQUIREMENT OF MRNA CLEAVAGE FOR TRANS-TRANSLATION

Because the tag-sequence serves as a degradation signal, *trans*translation products are hardly detected in the cell or its extract, although they become accumulated and thus detectable when the tag-encoding sequence of tmRNA is engineered. It has long been believed that *trans*-translation occurs around the 3'-end of truncated mRNA lacking a stop codon (non-stop mRNA) in the stalled ribosome since publication of the results of an earlier *in vivo* study using an artificial mRNA (Keiler et al., 1996). Non-stop mRNA can be produced either unexpectedly or in a programmed fashion, and a similar situation can also arise when the normal termination codon is read through in the presence of a non-sense suppressor tRNA (Ueda et al., 2002) or a miscoding drug (Abo et al., 2002). Proteomic analyses have identified endogenous trans-translation products from various bacterial sources, indicating that transtranslation preferentially occurs at specific sites of specific mRNAs (Roche and Sauer, 2001; Collier et al., 2002; Fujihara et al., 2002; Hong et al., 2007; Barends et al., 2010). Consequently, several situations that promote trans-translation in the middle of mRNA have been focused on: translational pausing due to a rare codon (Roche and Sauer, 1999), an inefficient termination codon (Roche and Sauer, 2001; Hayes et al., 2002a; Sunohara et al., 2002) and a programmed stalling sequence (Collier et al., 2004) induces transtranslation. However, whether trans-translation actually occurs in the middle of mRNA without cleavage has been controversial. It has been found that a bacterial toxin, RelE, cleaves an mRNA specifically at the A-site in the stalled ribosome (Pedersen et al., 2003). RelE is usually inactivated by an antitoxin, RelB, and it is activated by degradation of RelB by Lon protease upon amino acid starvation. Yet, the finding of an A-site-specific endoribonuclease has supported the idea that mRNA cleavage is the prerequisite for trans-translation. Ribosome stalling induces cleavage of mRNA at the A-site even in a cell lacking RelE or several other endoribonucleases (Hayes and Sauer, 2003; Sunohara et al., 2004a,b; Li et al., 2008), indicating the involvement of an as-vet-unidentified ribonuclease or the ribosome itself in mRNA cleavage. It has also been reported that the 3'-5' exoribonulease activity of RNase II is an important prerequisite for A-sitespecific mRNA cleavage (Garza-Sánchez et al., 2009). Besides RelE, several kinds of ribosome-dependent endoribonucleases, each having a specific antitoxin, have been identified in E. coli (Feng et al., 2013).

In vitro studies have clearly shown that *trans*-translation can occur in the middle of mRNA, although the efficiency of *trans*-translation is drastically decreased with increasing length of the 3'-extension from the stalled position (Ivanova et al., 2004; Asano et al., 2005). This is in agreement with results of structural studies showing that the C-terminal tail of SmpB occupies the mRNA path in the early stage of *trans*-translation so that it competes with the 3'-extension of mRNA (Kurita et al., 2010; Neubauer et al., 2012).

Proteomic studies have shown that trans-translation preferentially occurs at the proline codon just preceding the stop codon (Hayes et al., 2002a,b). Asp-Pro, Glu-Pro, Pro-Pro, Ile-Pro, and Val-Pro are favorable C-terminal dipeptides for trans-translation, suggesting an additional importance of the penultimate residue. In fact, Asp-Pro and Pro-Pro are unusually underrepresented at the C-terminus in most bacterial proteins. Due to the structural irregularity of proline having a secondary amine instead of the primary amine, peptidyl-Pro-tRNAPro in the A-site would interfere with the access of peptide release factor (Janssen and Hayes, 2009), rather than that of the Ala-tmRNA·SmpB·EF-Tu-GTP complex. Consistently, limited amounts of aminoacyltRNA or release factor induce trans-translation, indicating competition of trans-translation with aminoacyl-tRNA and release factor for sense and non-sense codons, respectively, in the stalled ribosome (Ivanova et al., 2004; Asano et al., 2005; Li et al., 2007). Consecutive proline residues also affect peptidyl-transfer during the elongation process to cause translational arrest, which can be rescued by EF-P (Doerfel et al., 2013; Ude et al., 2013).

These *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies together have settled the controversy shown above: translation can stall even in the middle of mRNA in some situations, and this kind of stalled ribosome can be a potential target for *trans*-translation, although it would substantially occur only after cleavage of mRNA around the A-site by RelE or another as-yet-unidentified ribonuclease with the help of a 3'-5' exoribonuclease RNase II.

TRANS-TRANSLATION AS QUALITY CONTROL SYSTEMS OF PROTEIN AND MRNA

As described above, the most significant role of *trans*-translation is to promote recycling of stalled ribosomes in the cell. *Trans*-translation is thought to have additional roles as quality control systems of protein and mRNA.

Most trans-translation products would be non-functional, and thus their accumulation might be deleterious for the cell. To avoid this situation, the tag-peptide and in turn the trans-translation products are promptly degraded in the cell by cytoplasmic ATPdependent proteases (AAA⁺ proteases), including ClpXP, ClpAP, Lon and FtsH, and the periplasmic protease Tsp (Prc; Figure 4). ClpX or ClpA recognizes the C-terminal ALAA sequence of the tag-peptide to unfold the trans-translation products in an ATPdependent fashion for degradation by its partner ClpP peptidase (Gottesman et al., 1998). The tag-peptide specifically binds to a protein, SspB, to increase its affinity to ClpX, and consequently ClpXP is thought to play the dominant role in degradation of trans-translation products at least in β - and γ -proteobacteria (Flynn et al., 2001) and perhaps in α-proteobacteria (Lessner et al., 2007). Lon participates in degradation of trans-translation products under stressful conditions (Choy et al., 2007). FtsH is anchored to the cytoplasmic side of the inner membrane



FIGURE 4 | Ribosome rescue pathways together with folding and degradation pathways in an *E. coli* cell. Folding and degradation pathways are shown in blue and red, respectively.

to degrade the membrane-associated *trans*-translation products (Herman et al., 1998). The C-terminal ALAA sequence of the tagpeptide required for ClpXP and ClpAP is highly conserved among bacteria except *Mycoplasma*, in which the tag-peptide terminates with AFA instead of ALAA. This can be addressed by the absence of ClpXP, ClpAP, and Tsp in *Mycoplasma* (Gur and Sauer, 2008; Ge and Karzai, 2009).

While trans-translation is induced by cleavage of mRNA in the stalled ribosome as described above, trans-translation also promotes further degradation of non-stop mRNA (Yamamoto et al., 2003). Trans-translation would expose the 3' end of non-stop mRNA sequestered by the stalled ribosome, facilitating the access of 3'-5' exoribonuclease for degradation of non-stop mRNA. It should be a great advantage for the cell, considering that ribosome stalling would be repeated until non-stop mRNA is degraded, even if the stalled ribosome at the 3' end of the polysome is rescued by trans-translation. RNase R is a likely candidate for such an exoribonuclease (Oussenko et al., 2005; Mehta et al., 2006; Richards et al., 2006; Ge et al., 2011). E. coli RNase R makes a complex with tmRNA and SmpB (Karzai and Sauer, 2001) via direct interaction with SmpB (Liang and Deutscher, 2010). It is induced under stress conditions in E. coli (Chen and Deutscher, 2005) and is involved in cell cycle-regulated degradation of tmRNA in Caulobacter crescentus (Hong et al., 2005). E. coli RNase R is acetylated in exponential phase, resulting in the exponential phase-specific degradation via tighter binding to tmRNA·SmpB (Liang et al., 2011).

PHYSIOLOGICAL SIGNIFICANCE OF TRANS-TRANSLATION

The apparent universality of the *trans*-translation system among bacteria suggests some biological significance of this system. Indeed, it is essential for some bacteria including *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* (Huang et al., 2000), *Mycoplasma genitalium* (Hutchison et al., 1999), *Haemophilus influenzae* (Akerley et al., 2002), *Helicobacter pylori* (Thibonnier et al., 2008), and *Shigella flexneri* (Ramadoss et al., 2013a), and its depletion causes a wide variety of disorders. Since its lack causes avirulence of some infectious bacteria, the *trans*-translation system has been focused on as an effective target for antibiotics (Shi et al., 2011; Ramadoss et al., 2013b).

Many of these defective phenotypes are caused by a defect in the *trans*-translation reaction rather than degradation of the *trans*translation products (Keiler, 2008). This suggests that ribosome recycling is more important for the cell than preventing accumulation of non-functional proteins. Upon starvation of amino acids, supply of amino acids from *trans*-translation products should become important for new protein synthesis (Pedersen et al., 2003; Li et al., 2008).

Trans-translation is often employed for regulation of gene expression. In *E. coli*, tmRNA-mediated *trans*-translation targets mRNA for LacI, a repressor of the lactose operon, to accelerate its degradation upon glucose depletion, leading to derepression of the *lac* operon (Abo et al., 2000). In *Bacillus subtilis, trans*-translation occurs around the catabolite responsive element (*cre*) sequence, a binding site of the repressor protein catabolite control protein A (CcpA), within the coding region of several mRNAs including TreP mRNA for trehalose phosphorylase (Fujihara et al., 2002).

Binding of CcpA to the *cre* sequence would induce a transcriptional roadblock to produce truncated mRNA (Ujiie et al., 2009). In *C. crescentus*, the cell cycle (Keiler and Shapiro, 2003a) and the initiation of DNA replication (Keiler and Shapiro, 2003b; Hong et al., 2007) are controlled by *trans*-translation.

There is accumulating evidence for increased importance of tmRNA under stressful conditions, such as high or low temperature (Oh and Apirion, 1991; Muto et al., 2000; Shin and Price, 2007), nutrient starvation (Oh and Apirion, 1991; Okan et al., 2006; Abe et al., 2008), ethanol treatment (Muto et al., 2000), cadmium treatment (Muto et al., 2000), and acid exposure (Thibonnier et al., 2008). Stresses might increase the frequency of aberrant translation in cells, which can be rescued by *trans*translation. Consistently, the total amount of *trans*-translation products increases under stressful conditions (Fujihara et al., 2002). Perhaps in response to the increased requirement of the *trans*-translation system, the intracellular level of tmRNA or SmpB increases with an increase in stress in some bacteria (Muto et al., 2000; Palecková et al., 2007; Rezzonico et al., 2007).

The *trans*-translation system sometimes regulates other stress response systems possibly via expression of a global regulator. For example, depletion of tmRNA induces heat shock response in *E. coli* (Munavar et al., 2005). The expression level of the sigma factor RpoS (sigma S), which controls the expression of a series of genes involved in general stress response, is positively controlled by *trans*-translation in *E. coli* (Ranquet and Gottesman, 2007). The involvement of *trans*-translation in the extracellular stress-response pathway via another sigma factor, RpoE (sigma E), has also been suggested (Ono et al., 2009). Other stress-related proteins including the molecular chaperone DnaK are regulated by *trans*-translation in streptomycetes (Barends et al., 2010). Interestingly, the expression of ArfA, an alternative ribosome rescue system (described in a later subsection), is regulated by *trans*-translation (Chadani et al., 2011a; Garza-Sánchez et al., 2011).

EVOLUTIONARY ASPECTS OF TRANS-TRANSLATION

Although it is not essential for viability in most bacteria, tmRNA is present universally in the bacterial kingdom and in some plastids or mitochondria of some protists. The tRNA-like secondary structure of TLD as well as several tRNA-specific consensus sequences is highly conserved except for the deformed D-arm structure, which has an extensive interaction with SmpB. In addition, the third base-pair position of the amino acid acceptor stem is completely conserved as G-U, which serves as a potent identity determinant for recognition by alanyl-tRNA synthetase (AlaRS). Alanine might not be an absolute prerequisite for trans-translation as the amino acid aminoacylated to tmRNA as exemplified by Nameki et al. (1999a). However, AlaRS might be the most preferable aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase for tmRNA, considering the unique recognition mode of AlaRS depending largely on the acceptor stem instead of the anticodon. The tRNA-like structure would also be significant for recognition by EF-Tu and RNase P as well as for ribosome binding. In contrast to the high degree of conservation of TLD, there is variation in the pseudoknot-rich region (Nameki et al., 1999b; Williams, 2002). Plastid tmRNA has fewer or no pseudoknot structures (Gueneau de Novoa and Williams, 2004). Indeed, at least the last three of four pseudoknots of *E. coli* tmRNA are dispensable for *trans*-translation *in vitro* (Nameki et al., 2000), although they participate in proper folding and processing of tmRNA (Wower et al., 2004). TLD and the pseudoknot-rich region are linked by a long degenerated helix, which protrudes from TLD in a direction corresponding to that of the long variable arm of class II tRNA (**Figure 1B**; Bessho et al., 2007). This direction should be conserved within the constraints of the tRNA-like dynamic behavior of tmRNA in the limited space of the ribosome, although the sequence of the connector helix is less conserved.

In some lineages of α -proteobacteria, β -proteobacteria, cyanobacteria, and mitochondria of lower eukaryotes, tmRNA is separated into two pieces, a 5'-coding piece typically including only two pseudoknots (PK1 and PK2) with the tag-encoding region in between and a 3'-amino acid acceptor piece, and the two pieces join together by base-pairing to form into a tRNA-like structure similar to that in one-piece tmRNA (Figure 1A; Keiler et al., 2000; Williams, 2002; Sharkady and Williams, 2004). The gene for two-piece tmRNA is circularly permuted (Keiler et al., 2000; Williams, 2002; Mao et al., 2009), and the permuted precursor might be processed into a mature two-piece tmRNA probably with the help of RNase P and tRNase Z. A similar processing strategy has been found in the circularly permuted tRNA gene in some primitive eukaryotes or archaebacteria (Soma et al., 2007). The two-piece tmRNA in C. crescentus belonging to α-proteobacteria has been shown to actually function in trans-translation (Keiler et al., 2000). Either one-piece or two-piece tmRNA is present in mitochondrial genome of some groups of protists (jakobids; Jacob et al., 2004). They lack a tag-encoding sequence as well as pseudoknots, arguing against their capacity for bacterial type of trans-translation.

SmpB together with tmRNA is universally present in bacteria. Plastid tmRNA is encoded by the plastid genome, while plastid SmpB is encoded by the nuclear genome and it is imported from the cytoplasm (Jacob et al., 2005). Up to now, there has been no report about mitochondrial SmpB. Both tmRNA and SmpB should have been required at the birth of *trans*-translation. The gene for tmRNA might have been formed by insertion of something into a tRNA^{Ala} gene. In contrast, no one can envisage the origin of SmpB because of the absence of its homologue.

DIVERSITY OF RESCUE SYSTEMS OF STALLED TRANSLATION

As described above, *trans*-translation targets various kinds of translational pausing due to a rare codon, an inefficient termination codon or a programmed stalling sequence, but after cleavage of mRNA. The bacterial cell has alternative mechanisms to rescue the stalled ribosome (**Figure 4**; Himeno, 2010).

Peptidyl-tRNA hydrolase (Pth) has an activity to hydrolyze the linkage between tRNA and the nascent polypeptide of peptidyltRNA after it drops off from the ribosome. Drop-off is enhanced by RRF alone, RRF together with RF3 (Heurgué-Hamard et al., 1998; Gong et al., 2007) or RRF, IF3, and EF-G (Singh et al., 2008). Drop-off was initially assumed to occur in the earlier cycles of elongation. This seems reasonable considering that a longer nascent polypeptide chain would prevent release of peptidyl-tRNA from the peptide channel of the translating ribosome. However, dropoff has been shown to efficiently occur at the 3' end of non-stop mRNA in the absence of tmRNA (Kuroha et al., 2009). Overexpression of tmRNA suppresses the temperature-sensitive phenotype of Pth (Singh and Varshney, 2004), suggesting that Pth contributes not only to hydrolyzing the dropped-off peptidyl-tRNA but also to rescuing the stalled ribosome or suggesting that *trans*-translation can substitute for spontaneous or factor-promoting drop-off and the following peptidyl-tRNA hydrolysis by Pth.

It has recently been found that two proteins, ArfA (YhdL) and YaeJ (ArfB), facilitate rescue of the stalled ribosome. A single knockout of either E. coli ArfA or tmRNA is viable, whereas a double knockout is lethal, explaining why tmRNA is not essential in many bacteria (Chadani et al., 2010). The ribosome rescue activity of ArfA was initially shown using E. coli crude extract (Chadani et al., 2010). However, ArfA alone does not have an activity to hydrolyze peptidyl-tRNA in the P-site possibly due to the absence of a typical GGQ catalytic motif, and it requires the help of RF-2 (Chadani et al., 2012; Shimizu, 2012). RF-2 usually acts as a UAA or UGA codon-dependent release factor, while it serves as a stop codon-independent release factor in the presence of ArfA. Intriguingly, translation for ArfA protein is stalled near the 3'-terminus of its mRNA due to cleavage by RNase III, and consequently ArfA is usually degraded via the *trans*-translation system, and only when the cellular trans-translation activity becomes diminished, is C-terminally truncated but active ArfA synthesized via spontaneous drop-off or ArfA-mediated release of the nascent polypeptide (Garza-Sánchez et al., 2011; Chadani et al., 2011a). Thus, the ArfA-mediated ribosome rescue system is considered to be a backup system for trans-translation. YaeJ has also been shown to rescue the ribosomes stalled at the 3' end of a non-stop mRNA in vitro (Handa et al., 2011) and in vivo (Chadani et al., 2011b). A double knockout of E. coli ArfA and tmRNA is lethal as described above, whereas overexpression of YaeJ makes it viable (Chadani et al., 2011a). Unlike ArfA, YaeJ alone has an activity to hydrolyze peptidyl-tRNA in the P-site of the stalled ribosome, as expected from the similar sequence and structure to those of the catalytic domain of bacterial class I release factor having a GGQ motif. YaeJ is likely to act as a stop codon-independent peptide chain release factor since it lacks a stop codon-recognition domain and instead it is replaced by a C-terminal basic-residue-rich extension that might be unstructured in solution (Handa et al., 2010). In a crystal structure of E. coli YaeJ in complex with the stalled ribosome from T. thermophilus, the C-terminal extension of YaeJ, like that of SmpB, binds along the mRNA path of the stalled ribosome extending to the downstream mRNA tunnel with an α-helical structure (Gagnon et al., 2012). ArfA as well as Ala-tmRNA·SmpB·EF-Tu(GTP) does not favor the long 3' extension of mRNA from the decoding region upon entrance to the stalled ribosome, while YaeJ is less sensitive (Shimizu, 2012). Thus bacterial cells are equipped with multiple systems to cope with stalled translation, and they are therefore often still viable even when they lose the trans-translation system. Judging from phenotypes of factor-depleted cells, the trans-translation system must be the primary ribosome rescue system.

There are some reports about stress-specific ribosome rescue systems. The heat shock protein HSP15 has been shown to bind to the dissociated 50S subunit with a nascent protein (Korber et al., 2000). Upon exposure to a high temperature, a fraction

of translating ribosomes might prematurely be dissociated into subunits, although peptidyl-tRNA remains bound to the dissociated 50S subunit unless the nascent peptide is short. In this 50S subunit, HSP15 fixes peptidyl-tRNA at the P-site to make the A-site free presumably for entrance of a peptide release factor (Jiang et al., 2009). High intracellular magnesium ion concentration or low temperature causes translational arrest after defective translocation. It also promotes release of a GTPase, EF4 (LepA), which is usually stored in the cell membrane, into the cytoplasm to rescue the translational arrest by back translocation (Pech et al., 2011).

Translation often stalls at a specific site on an mRNA in a programmed fashion. As in the case of ArfA expression described above (Chadani et al., 2011a; Garza-Sánchez et al., 2011), translational arrest is sometimes used for repression of gene expression via trans-translation. On the other hand, a stalled ribosome often prevents access of rescue machineries to keep translational arrest for regulation of gene expression. E. coli tryptophanase (tna) operon is induced by tryptophan via the translational arrest of the leader peptide (TnaC) by inhibiting hydrolysis of peptidyl-tRNA^{Pro} by RF2 (Yanofsky, 2007). This stalled ribosome is not rescued by *trans*-translation in the presence of tryptophan, although it is rescued slowly by RRF and RF3, leading to dropoff (Gong et al., 2007). The ribosome is also stalled at an internal proline codon of E. coli secM mRNA, which up-regulates the translation of the downstream SecA-encoding sequence presumably by disrupting the secondary structure that sequesters the ribosome binding site (Muto et al., 2006). This translational arrest is caused by inefficient peptidyl-transfer of Pro-tRNAPro in the A-site to the nascent peptidyl-tRNA in the P-site, which inhibits entrance of Ala-tmRNA to the A-site and the A-site specific cleavage of mRNA (Garza-Sánchez et al., 2006). The translation of B. subtilis yidC mRNA is regulated by translational arrest at multiple sites on the upstream mifM mRNA (Chiba et al., 2009; Chiba and Ito, 2012). Puromycin is less reactive to this translational arrest, suggesting that ribosome rescue machineries including Ala-tmRNA·SmpB·EF-Tu(GTP) are also less accessible to the Asite of this stalled ribosome. Consecutive proline codons cause a translational arrest due to inefficient peptidyl-transfer between peptidyl-(Pro)n-tRNA in the P-site and Pro-tRNA in the A-site (Doerfel et al., 2013; Ude et al., 2013). In this case, the A-site is occupied by Pro-tRNA^{Pro}, and in turn Ala-tmRNA·SmpB·EF-Tu(GTP), ArfA or YaeJ would fail to access this stalled ribosome. Instead, the peptidyltransferase center is modulated by EF-P binding to the region between the P-site and E-site to resume peptidyltransfer (Blaha et al., 2009). Pro-Pro-Pro and Gly-Pro-Pro arrest sequences, which can be rescued by EF-P, are often found in bacterial genes, and they might be programmed for regulation of gene expression.

Pth is essential for bacteria and is widely distributed among the other domains. While the *trans*-translation system universally exists in bacteria, YaeJ is distributed among Gram-negative bacteria and ArfA shows more limited distribution within enterobacteria. EF-P is conserved among bacteria and its homologue (a/eIF5A) is universally present in archaea and eukaryotes. EF4 is universally conserved among bacteria. Neither tmRNA nor SmpB is present in the cytoplasm of eukaryotes, where a complex of Dom34p (Pelota) and the GTP-binding protein Hbs1 promotes subunit dissociation of the stalled ribosome and drop-off of peptidyl-tRNA (Shoemaker et al., 2010) in concert with an ATPase, ABCE1 (Pisareva et al., 2011). The Dom34p·Hbs1 complex is structurally similar to the eRF1·eRF3 complex or the aminoacyl-tRNA·EF-Tu complex (Chen et al., 2010), although the GGQ motif is absent in Dom34, and peptidyl-tRNA hydrolysis is assumed to be catalyzed by Pth after drop-off. In mitochondria, two protein factors partially similar to the bacterial class I release factor, ICT1 (a homologue of YaeJ) and C12orf65, both lacking a stop codon-recognition domain while retaining the catalytic GGQ motif, participate in ribosome rescue (Handa et al., 2010; Richter et al., 2010; Kogure et al., 2012, 2014). ICT1 (YaeJ), but not C120rf65, has an insertion of an α -helix in the GGQ domain, and thus ICT1 is less similar to class I release factor. C12orf65 has been found in very limited bacteria. Collectively, various kinds of release factor homologues, YaeJ, ICT1, C12orf65, ArfA/RF2, Dom34p (Pelota), and Hbs1, have been found to participate in ribosome rescue. The trans-translation system is unique in that it employs a small RNA and that it prevents accumulation of non-functional proteins from truncated mRNA in the cell.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to all those who have been involved in this work. This work was supported by a grant-in-aid for Scientific Research from the Ministry of Education, Science, Sports and Culture, Japan to Hyouta Himeno, grants-in-aid for Scientific Research (B) and (C) from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science to Akira Muto and grants-in-aid for Young Scientists from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science to Daisuke Kurita.

REFERENCES

- Abe, T., Sakaki, K., Fujihara, A., Ujiie, H., Ushida, C., Himeno, H., et al. (2008). tmRNA-dependent *trans*-translation is required for sporulation in *Bacillus subtilis. Mol. Microbiol.* 69, 1491–1498. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2008.06381.x
- Abo, T., Inada, T., Ogawa, K., and Aiba, H. (2000). SsrA-mediated tagging and proteolysis of LacI and its role in the regulation of lac operon. *EMBO J.* 19, 3762–3769. doi: 10.1093/emboj/19.14.3762
- Abo, T., Ueda, K., Sunohara, T., Ogawa, K., and Aiba, H. (2002). SsrA-mediated protein tagging in the presence of miscoding drugs and its physiological role in *Escherichia coli. Genes Cells* 7, 629–638. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2443.2002.00549.x
- Akerley, B. J., Rubin, E. J., Novick, V. L., Amaya, K., Judson, N., and Mekalanos, J. J. (2002). A genome-scale analysis for identification of genes required for growth or survival of *Haemophilus influenzae*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 966–971. doi: 10.1073/pnas.012602299
- Asano, K., Kurita, D., Takada, K., Konno, T., Muto, A., and Himeno, H. (2005). Competition between *trans*-translation and termination or elongation of translation. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 33, 5544–5552. doi: 10.1093/nar/gki871
- Barends, S., Karzai, A. W., Sauer, R. T., Wower, J., and Kraal, B. (2001). Simultaneous and functional binding of SmpB and EF-Tu-GTP to the alanyl acceptor arm of tmRNA. J. Mol. Biol. 314, 9–21. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.2001.5114
- Barends, S., Wower, J., and Kraal, B. (2000). Kinetic parameters for tmRNA binding to alanyl-tRNA synthetase and elongation factor Tu from *Escherichia coli*. *Biochemistry* 39, 2652–2658. doi: 10.1021/bi992439d
- Barends, S., Zehl, M., Bialek, S., de Waal, E., Traag, B. A., Willemse, J., et al. (2010). Transfer-messenger RNA controls the translation of cell-cycle and stress proteins in *Streptomyces. EMBO Rep.* 11, 119–125. doi: 10.1038/embor.2009.255
- Bessho, Y., Shibata, R., Sekine, S., Murayama, K., Higashijima, K., Hori-Takemoto, C., et al. (2007). Structural basis for functional mimicry of long-variable-arm tRNA by transfer-messenger RNA. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 8293–8298. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0700402104

- Blaha, G., Stanley, R. E., and Steitz, T. A. (2009). EF-P is essential for rapid synthesis of proteins containing consecutive proline residues. *Science* 325, 966–970. doi: 10.1126/science.1175800
- Camenares, D., Dulebohn, D. P., Svetlanov, A., and Karzai, A. W. (2013). Active and accurate *trans*-translation requires distinct determinants in the C-terminal tail of SmpB protein and the mRNA-like domain of transfer messenger RNA (tmRNA). *J. Biol. Chem.* 288, 30527–30542. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.503896
- Chadani, Y., Ito, K., Kutsukake, K., and Abo, T. (2012). ArfA recruits release factor 2 to rescue stalled ribosomes by peptidyl-tRNA hydrolysis in *Escherichia coli. Mol. Microbiol.* 86, 37–50. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2012.08190.x
- Chadani, Y., Matsumoto, E., Aso, H., Wada, T., Kutsukake, K., Sutou, S., et al. (2011a). *trans*-Translation-mediated tight regulation of the expression of the alternative ribosome-rescue factor ArfA in *Escherichia coli. Genes Genet. Syst.* 86, 151–163. doi: 10.1266/ggs.86.151
- Chadani, Y., Ono, K., Kutsukake, K., and Abo, T. (2011b). *Escherichia coli* YaeJ protein mediates a novel ribosome-rescue pathway distinct from SsrA- and ArfA-mediated pathways. *Mol. Microbiol.* 80, 772–785. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2011.07607.x
- Chadani, Y., Ono, K., Ozawa, S., Takahashi, Y., Takai, K., Nanamiya, H., et al. (2010). Ribosome rescue by *Escherichia coli* ArfA (YhdL) in the absence of *trans*-translation system. *Mol. Microbiol.* 80, 772–775. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2011.07607.x
- Chen, C., and Deutscher, M. P. (2005). Elevation of RNase R in response to multiple stress conditions. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 34393–34396. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C500333200
- Chen, L., Muhlrad, D., Hauryliuk, V., Cheng, Z., Lim, M. K., Shyp, V., et al. (2010). Structure of the Dom34-Hbs1 complex and implications for no-go decay. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 17, 1233–1240. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.1922
- Cheng, K., Ivanova, N., Scheres, S. H., Pavlov, M. Y., Carazo, J. M., Hebert, H., et al. (2010). tmRNA.SmpB complex mimics native aminoacyl-tRNAs in the A site of stalled ribosomes. J. Struct. Biol. 169, 342–348. doi: 10.1016/j.jsb.2009.10.015
- Chiba, S., and Ito, K. (2012). Multisite ribosomal stalling: a unique mode of regulatory nascent chain action revealed for MifM. *Mol. Cell* 47, 863–872. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2012.06.034
- Chiba, S., Lamsa, A., and Pogliano, K. (2009). A ribosome-nascent chain sensor of membrane protein biogenesis in *Bacillus subtilis. EMBO J.* 28, 3461–3475. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2009.280
- Choy, J. S., Aung, L. L., and Karzai, A. W. (2007). Lon protease degrades transfer-messenger RNA-tagged proteins. J. Bacteriol. 189, 6564–6571. doi: 10.1128/JB.00860-07
- Collier, J., Binet, E., and Bouloc, P. (2002). Competition between SsrA tagging and translational termination at weak stop codons in *Escherichia coli. Mol. Microbiol.* 45, 745–754. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2002.03045.x
- Collier, J., Bohn, C., and Bouloc, P. (2004). SsrA tagging of *Escherichia coli* SecM at its translation arrest sequence. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 54193–54201. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M314012200
- Doerfel, L. K., Wohlgemuth, I., Kothe, C., Peske, F., Urlaub, H., and Rodnina, M. V. (2013). EF-P is essential for rapid synthesis of proteins containing consecutive proline residues. *Science* 339, 85–88. doi: 10.1126/science.1229017
- Dong, G., Nowakowski, J., and Hoffman, D. W. (2002). Structure of small protein B: the protein component of the tmRNA-SmpB system for ribosome rescue. *EMBO J*. 21, 1845–1854. doi: 10.1093/emboj/21.7.1845
- Felden, B., Hanawa, K., Atkins, J. F., Himeno, H., Muto, A., Gesteland, R. F., et al. (1998). Presence and location of modified nucleotides in *E. coli* tmRNA. Structural mimicry with tRNA acceptor branches. *EMBO J.* 17, 3188–3196. doi: 10.1093/emboj/17.11.3188
- Felden, B., Himeno, H., Muto, A., McCutcheon, J. P., Atkins, J. F., and Gesteland, R. F. (1997). Probing the structure of the *Escherichia coli* 10Sa RNA (tmRNA). *RNA* 3, 89–103.
- Feng, S., Chen, Y., Kamada, K., Wang, H., Tang, K., Wang, M., et al. (2013). YoeBribosome structure: a canonical RNase that requires the ribosome for its specific activity. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 41, 9549–9556. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt742
- Flynn, J. M., Levchenko, I., Seidel, M., Wickner, S. H., Sauer, R. T., and Baker, T. A. (2001). Overlapping recognition determinants within the ssrA degradation tag allow modulation of proteolysis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 98, 10584–10589. doi: 10.1073/pnas.191375298
- Fu, J., Hashem, Y., Wower, I., Lei, J., Liao, H. Y., Zwieb, C., et al. (2010). Visualizing the transfer-messenger RNA as the ribosome resumes translation. *EMBO J.* 29, 3819–3825. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2010.255

- Fujihara, A., Tomatsu, H., Inagaki, S., Tadaki, T., Ushida, C., Himeno, H., et al. (2002). Detection of tmRNA-mediated *trans*-translation products in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Genes Cells* 7, 343–350. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2443.2002.00523.x
- Gagnon, M. G., Seetharaman, S. V., Bulkley, D., and Steitz, T. A. (2012). Structural basis for the rescue of stalled ribosomes: structure of YaeJ bound to the ribosome. *Science* 335, 1370–1372. doi: 10.1126/science.1217443
- Garza-Sánchez, F., Janssen, B. D., and Hayes, C. S. (2006). Prolyl-tRNAPro in the A-site of SecM-arrested ribosomes inhibits the recruitment of transfer-messenger RNA. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 34258–34268. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M608052200
- Garza-Sánchez F., Schaub, R. E., Janssen, B. D., and Hayes, C. S. (2011). tmRNA regulates synthesis of the ArfA ribosome rescue factor. *Mol. Microbiol.* 80, 1204–1219. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2011.07638.x
- Garza-Sánchez, F., Shoji, S., Fredrick, K., and Hayes, C. S. (2009). RNase II is important for A-site mRNA cleavage during ribosome pausing. *Mol. Microbiol.* 73, 882–897. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2009.06813.x
- Ge, Z., and Karzai, A. W. (2009). Co-evolution of multipartite interactions between an extended tmRNA tag and a robust Lon protease in *Mycoplasma*. *Mol. Microbiol*. 74, 1083–1099. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2009.06923.x
- Ge, Z., Mehta, P., Richards, J., and Karzai, A. W. (2011). Non-stop mRNA decay initiates at the ribosome. *Mol. Microbiol.* 78, 1159–1170. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2010.07396.x
- Gong, M., Cruz-Vera, L. R., and Yanofsky, C. (2007). Ribosome recycling factor and release factor 3 action promotes TnaC-peptidyl-tRNA dropoff and relieves ribosome stalling during tryptophan induction of tna operon expression in *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 189, 3147–3155. doi: 10.1128/JB.01868-06
- Gottesman, S., Roche, E., Zhou, Y., and Sauer, R. T. (1998). The ClpXP and ClpAP proteases degrade proteins with carboxy-terminal peptide tails added by the SsrA-tagging†system. *Genes Dev.* 12, 1338–1347. doi: 10.1101/gad.12.9.1338
- Gueneau de Novoa, P., and Williams, K. P. (2004). The tmRNA website: reductive evolution of tmRNA in plastids and other endosymbionts. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 32, D104–D108. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkh102
- Gur, E., and Sauer, R. T. (2008). Evolution of the ssrA degradation tag in mycoplasma: specificity switch to a different protease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 16113–16118. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0808802105
- Gutmann, S., Haebel, P. W., Metzinger, L., Sutter, M., Felden, B., and Ban, N. (2003). Crystal structure of the transfer-RNA domain of transfer-messenger RNA in complex with SmpB. *Nature* 424, 5503–5509. doi: 10.1038/nature01831
- Hanawa-Suetsugu, K., Bordeau, V., Himeno, H., Muto, A., and Felden, B. (2001). Importance of the conserved nucleotides around the tRNA-like structure of *Escherichia coli* transfer-messenger RNA for protein tagging. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 29, 4663–4673. doi: 10.1093/nar/29.22.4663
- Hanawa-Suetsugu, K., Takagi, M., Inokuchi, H., Himeno, H., and Muto, A. (2002). SmpB functions in various steps of *trans*-translation. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 30, 1620– 1629. doi: 10.1093/nar/30.7.1620
- Handa, Y., Hikawa, Y., Tochio, N., Kogure, H., Inoue, M., Koshiba, S., et al. (2010). Solution structure of the catalytic domain of the mitochondrial protein ICT1 that is essential for cell vitality. *J. Mol. Biol.* 404, 260–273. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2010.09.033
- Handa, Y., Inaho, N., and Nameki, N. (2011). YaeJ is a novel ribosome-associated protein in *Escherichia coli* that can hydrolyze peptidyl-tRNA on stalled ribosomes. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39, 1739–1748. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkq1097
- Hayes, C. S., Bose, B., and Sauer, R. T. (2002a). Stop codons preceded by rare arginine codons are efficient determinants of SsrA tagging in *Escherichia coli. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 3440–3445. doi: 10.1073/pnas.052707199
- Hayes, C. S., Bose, B., and Sauer, R. T. (2002b). Proline residues at the C terminus of nascent chains induce SsrA tagging during translation termination. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 33825–33832. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M205405200
- Hayes, C. S., and Sauer, R. T. (2003). Cleavage of the A site mRNA codon during ribosome pausing provides a mechanism for translational quality control. *Mol. Cell* 12, 903–911. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(03)00385-X
- Herman, C., Thévenet, D., Bouloc, P., Walker, G. C., and D'Ari, R. (1998). Degradation of carboxy-terminal-tagged cytoplasmic proteins by the *Escherichia coli* protease HflB (FtsH). *Genes Dev.* 12, 1348–1355. doi: 10.1101/gad.12. 9.1348
- Heurgué-Hamard, V., Karimi, R., Mora, L., MacDougall, J., Leboeuf, C., Grentzmann, G., et al. (1998). Ribosome release factor RF4 and termination factor RF3 are involved in dissociation of peptidyl-tRNA from the ribosome. *EMBO J.* 17, 808–816. doi: 10.1093/emboj/17.3.808

- Himeno, H. (2010). Cellular mechanisms to rescue the ribosome stalled during translation. *Mol. Microbiol.* 78, 789–791. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2010.07379.x
- Himeno, H., Sato, M., Tadaki, T., Fukushima, M., Ushida, C., and Muto, A. (1997). In vitro *trans*-translation mediated by alanine-charged 10Sa RNA. *J. Mol. Biol.* 268, 803–808. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.1997.1011
- Hong, S.-J., Lessner, F. H., Mahen, E. M., and Keiler, K. C. (2007). Proteomic identification of tmRNA substrates. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 17128– 17133. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0707671104
- Hong, S.-J., Tran, Q. A., and Keiler, K. (2005). Cell cycle-regulated degradation of tmRNA is controlled by RNase R and SmpB. *Mol. Microbiol.* 57, 565–575. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2005.04709.x
- Huang, C., Wolfgang, M. C., Withey, J., Koomey, M., and Friedman, D. I. (2000). Charged tmRNA but not tmRNA-mediated proteolysis is essential for *Neisseria* gonorrhoeae viability. EMBO J. 19, 1098–1107. doi: 10.1093/emboj/19.5.1098
- Hutchison, C. A., Peterson, S. N., Gill, S. R., Cline, R. T., White, O., Fraser, C. M., et al. (1999). Global transposon mutagenesis and a minimal mycoplasma genome. *Science* 286, 2165–2169. doi: 10.1126/science.286.5447.2165
- Ivanova, N., Lindell, M., Pavlov, M., Holmberg Schiavone, L., Wagner, E. G., and Ehrenberg, M. (2007). Structure probing of tmRNA in distinct stages of *trans*translation. *RNA* 13, 713–722. doi: 10.1261/rna.451507
- Ivanova, N., Pavlov, M. Y., and Ehrenberg, M. (2005). tmRNA-induced release of messenger RNA from stalled ribosomes. J. Mol. Biol. 350, 897–905. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2005.05.033
- Ivanova, N., Pavlov, M. Y., Felden, B., and Ehrenberg, M. (2004). Ribosome rescue by tmRNA requires truncated mRNAs. J. Mol. Biol. 338, 33–41. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2004.02.043
- Jacob, Y., Seif, E., Paquet, P.-O., and Lang, B. F. (2004). Loss of the mRNAlike region in mitochondrial tmRNAs of jakobids. RNA 10, 605–614. doi: 10.1261/rna.5227904
- Jacob, Y., Sharkady, S. M., Bhardwaj, K., Sanda, A. A., and Williams, K. P. (2005). Function of the SmpB tail in transfer-messenger RNA translation revealed by a nucleus-encoded form. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 5503–5509. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M409277200
- Janssen, B. D., and Hayes, C. S. (2009). Kinetics of paused ribosome recycling in *Escherichia coli. J. Mol. Biol.* 394, 251–267. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2009.09.020
- Jiang, L., Schaffitzel, C., Bingel-Erlenmeyer, R., Ban, N., Korber, P., Koning, R. I., et al. (2009). Recycling of aborted ribosomal 50S subunit-nascent chain-tRNA complexes by the heat shock protein Hsp15. J. Mol. Biol. 386, 1357–1367. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2008.10.079
- Karzai, A. W., and Sauer, R. T. (2001). Protein factors associated with the SsrA-SmpB tagging and ribosome rescue complex. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 98, 3040–3044. doi: 10.1073/pnas.051628298
- Karzai, A. W., Susskind, M. M., and Sauer, R. T. (1999). SmpB, a unique RNA-binding protein essential for the peptide-tagging activity of SsrA (tmRNA). *EMBO J.* 18, 3793–3799. doi: 10.1093/emboj/18.13.3793
- Kaur, S., Gillet, R., Li, W., Gursky, R., and Frank, J. (2006). Cryo-EM visualization of transfer messenger RNA with two SmpBs in a stalled ribosome. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 16484–16489. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0607438103
- Keiler, K. C. (2008). Biology of *trans*-translation. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.* 62, 133–151. doi: 10.1146/annurev.micro.62.081307.162948
- Keiler, K. C., and Shapiro, L. (2003a). tmRNA in *Caulobacter crescentus* is cell cycle regulated by temporally controlled transcription and RNA degradation. J. *Bacteriol.* 185, 1825–1830. doi: 10.1128/JB.185.6.1825-1830.2003
- Keiler, K. C., and Shapiro, L. (2003b). tmRNA is required for correct timing of DNA replication in *Caulobacter crescentus. J. Bacteriol.* 185, 573–580. doi: 10.1128/JB.185.2.573-580.2003
- Keiler, K. C., Shapiro, L., and Williams, K. P. (2000). tmRNAs that encode proteolysis-inducing tags are found in all known bacterial genomes: a twopiece tmRNA functions in *Caulobactor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 7778–7783. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.14.7778
- Keiler, K. C., Waller, P. R., and Sauer, R. T. (1996). Role of a peptide tagging system in degradation of proteins synthesized from damaged messenger RNA. *Science* 271, 990–993. doi: 10.1126/science.271.5251.990
- Kogure, H., Handa, Y., Nagata, M., Kanai, N., Güntert, P., Kubota, K., et al. (2014). Identification of residues required for stalled-ribosome rescue in the codonindependent release factor YaeJ. *Nucleic Acids Res.* doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt1280
- Kogure, H., Hikawa, Y., Hagihara, M., Tochio, N., Koshiba, S., Inoue, Y., et al. (2012). Solution structure and siRNA-mediated knockdown analysis of the

mitochondrial disease-related protein C12orf65. Proteins 80, 2629-2642. doi: 10.1002/prot.24152

- Komine, Y., Kitabatake, M., and Inokuchi, H. (1996). 10Sa RNA is associated with 70S ribosome particles in *Escherichia coli. J. Biochem.* 119, 463–467. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.jbchem.a021264
- Komine, Y., Kitabatake, M., Yokogawa, T., Nishikawa, K., and Inokuchi, H. (1994). A tRNA-like structure is present in 10Sa RNA, a small stable RNA from *Escherichia* coli. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 91, 9223–9227. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.20.9223
- Konno, T., Kurita, D., Takada, K., Muto, A., and Himeno, H. (2007). A functional interaction of SmpB with tmRNA for determination of the resuming point of *trans*-translation. *RNA* 13, 1723–1731. doi: 10.1261/rna.604907
- Konno, T., Takahashi, T., Kurita, D., Muto, A., and Himeno, H. (2004). A minimum structure of aminoglycosides that causes an initiation shift of *trans*-translation. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 32, 4119–4126. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkh750
- Korber, P., Stahl, J. M., Nierhaus, K. H., and Bardwell, J. C. (2000). Hsp15: a ribosome-associated heat shock protein. *EMBO J.* 19, 741–748. doi: 10.1093/emboj/19.4.741
- Kurita, D., Muto, A., and Himeno, H. (2010). Role of the C-terminal tail of SmpB in the early stage of *trans*-translation. RNA 16, 980–990. doi: 10.1261/rna.1916610
- Kurita, D., Muto, A., and Himeno, H. (2012). In vitro trans-translation assay. Methods Mol. Biol. 905, 311–325. doi: 10.1007/978-1-61779-949-5_20
- Kurita, D., Sasaki, R., Muto, A., and Himeno, H. (2007). Interaction of SmpB with ribosome from directed hydroxyl radical probing. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 35, 7248–7255. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkm677
- Kuroha, K., Horiguchi, N., Aiba, H., and Inada, T. (2009). Analysis of nonstop mRNA translation in the absence of tmRNA in *Escherichia coli. Genes Cells* 14, 739–749. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2443.2009.01304.x
- Lee, S., Ishii, M., Tadaki, T., Muto, A., and Himeno, H. (2001). Determinants on tmRNA for initiating efficient and precise *trans*-translation: some mutations upstream of the tag-encoding sequence of *Escherichia coli* tmRNA shift the initiation point of *trans*-translation in vitro. *RNA* 7, 999–1012. doi: 10.1017/S1355838201010342
- Lessner, F. H., Venters, B. J., and Keiler, K. C. (2007). Proteolytic adaptor for transfermessenger RNA-tagged proteins from alpha-proteobacteria. J. Bacteriol. 189, 272– 275. doi: 10.1128/JB.01387-06
- Li, X., Yagi, M., Morita, T., and Aiba, H. (2008). Cleavage of mRNAs and role of tmRNA system under amino acid starvation in *Escherichia coli. Mol. Microbiol.* 68, 462–473. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2008.06167.x
- Li, X., Yokota, T., Ito, K., Nakamura, Y., and Aiba, H. (2007). Reduced action of polypeptide release factors induces mRNA cleavage and tmRNA tagging at stop codons in *Escherichia coli. Mol. Microbiol.* 63, 116–126. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05498.x
- Liang, W., and Deutscher, M. P. (2010). A novel mechanism for ribonuclease regulation: transfer-messenger RNA (tmRNA) and its associated protein SmpB regulate the stability of RNase R. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 29054–29058. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C110.168641
- Liang, W., Malhotra, A., and Deutscher, M. P. (2011). Acetylation regulates the stability of a bacterial protein: growth stage-dependent modification of RNase R. *Mol. Cell* 44, 160–166. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2011.06.037
- Mao, C., Bhardwaj, K., Sharkady, S. M., Fish, R. I., Driscoll, T., Wower, J., et al. (2009). Variations on the tmRNA gene. *RNA Biol.* 6, 355–361. doi: 10.4161/rna.6.4.9172
- Mehta, P., Richards, J., and Karzai, A. W. (2006). tmRNA determinants required for facilitating nonstop mRNA decay. *RNA* 12, 2187–2198. doi: 10.1261/rna.247706
- Miller, M. R., and Buskirk, A. R. (2014). An unusual mechanism for EF-Tu activation during tmRNA-mediated ribosome rescue. *RNA* 20, 225–238. doi: 10.1261/rna.042226.113
- Miller, M. R., Liu, Z., Cazier, D. J., Gebhard, G. M., Herron, S. R., Zaher, H. S., et al. (2011). The role of SmpB and the ribosomal decoding center in licensing tmRNA entry into stalled ribosomes. *RNA* 17, 1727–1736. doi: 10.1261/rna.2821711
- Munavar, H., Zhou, Y., and Gottesman, S. (2005). Analysis of the Escherichia coli Alp phenotype: heat shock induction in ssrA mutants. J. Bacteriol. 187, 4739–4751. doi: 10.1128/JB.187.14.4739-4751.2005
- Muto, A., Fujihara, A., Ito, K., Matsuno, J., Ushida C., and Himeno, H. (2000). Requirement of transfer-messenger RNA (tmRNA) for the growth of *Bacillus subtilis* under stresses. *Genes Cells* 5, 627–636. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2443.2000.00356.x
- Muto, A., Sato, M., Tadaki, T., Fukushima, M., Ushida, C., and Himeno, H. (1996). Structure and function of bacterial 10Sa RNA: *trans*-translation system. *Biochimie* 78, 985–991. doi: 10.1016/S0300-9084(97)86721-1

- Muto, A., Ushida, C., and Himeno, H. (1998). A bacterial RNA that functions as both a tRNA and an mRNA. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 23, 25–29. doi: 10.1016/S0968-0004(97)01159-6
- Muto, H., Nakatogawa, H., and Ito, K. (2006). Genetically encoded but nonpolypeptide prolyl-tRNA functions in the A site for SecM-mediated ribosomal stall. *Mol. Cell* 22, 545–552. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2006.03.033
- Nameki, N., Tadaki, T., Muto, A., and Himeno, H. (1999a). Amino acid acceptor identity switch of *Escherichia coli* tmRNA from alanine to histidine in vitro. *J. Mol. Biol.* 289, 1–7. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.1999.2754
- Nameki, N., Felden, B., Atkins, J. F., Gesteland, R. F., Himeno, H., and Muto, A. (1999b). Functional and structural analysis of a pseudoknot upstream of the tag-encoded sequence in *E. coli tmRNA. J. Mol. Biol.* 286, 733–744. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.1998.2487
- Nameki, N., Chattopadhyay, P., Himeno, H., Muto, A., and Kawai, G. (1999c). An NMR and mutational analysis of an RNA pseudoknot of E. *coli* tmRNA involved in *trans*-translation. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 27, 3667–3675. doi: 10.1093/nar/27.18.3667
- Nameki, N., Someya, T., Okano, S., Suemasa, R., Kimoto, M., Hanawa-Suetsugu, K., et al. (2005). Interaction analysis between tmRNA and SmpB from *Thermus thermophilus*. J. Biochem. 138, 729–739. doi: 10.1093/jb/mvi180
- Nameki, N., Tadaki, T., Himeno, H., and Muto, A. (2000). Three of four pseudoknots in tmRNA are interchangeable and are substitutable with single-stranded RNAs. *FEBS Lett.* 470, 345–349. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(00)01349-1
- Neubauer, C., Gillet, R., Kelly, A. C., and Ramakrishnan, V. (2012). Decoding in the absence of a codon by tmRNA and SmpB in the ribosome. *Science* 335, 1366–1369. doi: 10.1126/science.1217039
- Nonin-Lecomte, S., Germain-Amiot, N., Gillet, R., Hallier, M., Ponchon, L., Dardel, F., et al. (2009). Ribosome hijacking: a role for small protein B during *trans*translation. *EMBO Rep.* 10, 160–165. doi: 10.1038/embor.2008.243
- Oh, B. K., and Apirion, D. (1991). 10Sa RNA, a small stable RNA of *Escherichia coli*, is functional. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 25, 737–749.
- Okan, N. A., Bliska, J. B., and Karzai, A. W. (2006). A role for the SmpB-SsrA system in *Yersinia pseudotuberculosis* pathogenesis. *PLoS Pathog.* 2:e6. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.0020006
- Ono, K., Kutsukake, K., and Abo, T. (2009). Suppression by enhanced RpoE activity of the temperature-sensitive phenotype of a degP ssrA double mutant in *Escherichia coli. Genes Genet. Syst.* 84, 15–24. doi: 10.1266/ggs.84.15
- Oussenko, I. A., Abe, T., Ujiie, H., Muto, A., and Bechhofer, D. H. (2005). Participation of 3'-to-5' exoribonucleases in the turnover of *Bacillus subtilis* mRNA. *J. Bacteriol.* 187, 2758–2767. doi: 10.1128/JB.187.8.2758-2767.2005
- Palecková, P., Felsberg, J., Bobek, J., and Mikulík, K. (2007). tmRNA abundance in *Streptomyces aureofaciens, S. griseus* and *S. collinus* under stress-inducing conditions. *Folia Microbiol.* 52, 463–470. doi: 10.1007/BF02932105
- Pech, M., Karim, Z., Yamamoto, H., Kitakawa, M., Qin, Y., and Nierhaus, K. H. (2011). Elongation factor 4 (EF4/LepA) accelerates protein synthesis at increased Mg²⁺ concentrations. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 3199–3203. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1012994108
- Pedersen, K., Zavialov, A. V., Pavlov, M. Y., Elf, J., Gerdes, K., and Ehrenberg, M. (2003). The bacterial toxin RelE displays codon-specific cleavage of mRNAs in the ribosomal A site. *Cell* 112, 131–140. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(02)01248-5
- Pisareva, V. P., Skabkin, M. A., Hellen, C. U., Pestova, T. V., and Pisarev, A. V. (2011). Dissociation by Pelota, Hbs1 and ABCE1 of mammalian vacant 80S ribosomes and stalled elongation complexes. *EMBO J.* 30, 1804–1817. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2011.93
- Qi, H., Shimizu, Y., and Ueda, T. (2007). Ribosomal protein S1 is not essential for the *trans*-translation machinery. *J. Mol. Biol.* 368, 845–852. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2007.02.068
- Ramadoss, N. S., Zhou, X., and Keiler, K. C. (2013a). tmRNA is essential in Shigella flexneri. PLoS ONE 8:e57537. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0057537
- Ramadoss, N. S., Alumasa, J. N., Cheng, L., Wang, Y., Li, S., Chambers, B. S., et al. (2013b). Small molecule inhibitors of *trans*-translation have broad-spectrum antibiotic activity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 10282–10287. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1302816110
- Ramrath, D. J., Yamamoto, H., Rother, K., Wittek, D., Pech, M., Mielke, T., et al. (2012). The complex of tmRNA-SmpB and EF-G on translocating ribosomes. *Nature* 485, 526–529. doi: 10.1038/nature11006
- Ranquet, C., and Gottesman, S. (2007). Translational regulation of the *Escherichia coli* stress factor RpoS: a role for SsrA and Lon. *J. Bacteriol.* 189, 4872–4879. doi: 10.1128/JB.01838-06

- Rezzonico, E., Lariani, S., Barretto, C., Cuanoud, G., Giliberti, G., Delley, M., et al. (2007). Global transcriptome analysis of the heat shock response of *Bifidobacterium longum. FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 271, 136–145. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968.2007.00704.x
- Richards, J., Mehta, P., and Karzai, A. W. (2006). RNase R degrades non-stop mRNAs selectively in an SmpB-tmRNA-dependent manner. *Mol. Microbiol.* 62, 1700–1712. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05472.x
- Richter, R., Rorbach, J., Pajak, A., Smith, P. M., Wessels, H. J., Huynen, M. A., et al. (2010). A functional peptidyl-tRNA hydrolase, ICT1, has been recruited into the human mitochondrial ribosome. *EMBO J.* 29, 1116–1125. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2010.14
- Roche, E. D., and Sauer, R. T. (1999). SsrA-mediated peptide tagging caused by rare codons and tRNA scarcity. *EMBO J.* 18, 4579–4589. doi: 10.1093/emboj/18.16.4579
- Roche, E. D., and Sauer, R. T. (2001). Identification of endogenous SsrA-tagged proteins reveals tagging at positions corresponding to stop codons. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 28509–28515. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M103864200
- Rudinger-Thirion, J., Giegé, R., and Felden, B. (1999). Aminoacylated tmRNA from *Escherichia coli* interacts with prokaryotic elongation factor Tu. *RNA* 5, 989–992. doi: 10.1017/S135583829999101X
- Sharkady, S. M., and Williams, K. P. (2004). A third lineage with two-piece tmRNA. Nucleic Acids Res. 32, 1–8. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkh795
- Shi, W., Zhang, X., Jiang, X., Yuan, H., Lee, J. S., Barry, C. E. III, et al. (2011). Pyrazinamide inhibits *trans*-translation in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Science* 333, 1630–1632. doi: 10.1126/science.1208813
- Shimizu, Y. (2012). ArfA recruits RF2 into stalled ribosomes. J. Mol. Biol. 423, 624–631. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2012.08.007
- Shimizu, Y., and Ueda, T. (2002). The role of SmpB protein in *trans*-translation. *FEBS Lett.* 514, 74–77. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(02)02333-5
- Shin, J.-H., and Price, C. W. (2007). The SsrA-SmpB ribosome rescue system is important for growth of *Bacillus subtilis* at low and high temperature. *J. Bacteriol.* 189, 3729–3737. doi: 10.1128/JB.00062-07
- Singh, N. S., Ahmad, R., Sangeetha, R., and Varshney, U. (2008). Recycling of ribosomal complexes stalled at the step of elongation in *Escherichia coli. J. Mol. Biol.* 380, 451–464. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2008.05.033
- Singh, N. S., and Varshney, U. (2004). A physiological connection between tmRNA and peptidyl-tRNA hydrolase functions in *Escherichia coli. Nucleic Acids Res.* 32, 6028–6037. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkh924
- Shoemaker, C. J., Eyler, D. E., and Green, R. (2010). Dom34:Hbs1 promotes subunit dissociation and peptidyl-tRNA drop-off to initiate no-go decay. *Science* 330, 369–372. doi: 10.1126/science.1192430
- Soma, A., Onodera, A., Sugahara, J., Kanai, A., Yachie, N., Tomita, M., et al. (2007). Permuted tRNA genes expressed via a circular RNA intermediate in *Cyanidioschyzon merolae*. *Science* 19, 450–453. doi: 10.1126/science.1145718
- Someya, T., Nameki, N., Hosoi, H., Suzuki, S., Hatanaka, H., Fujii, M., et al. (2003). Solution structure of a tmRNA-binding protein, SmpB, from *Thermus* thermophilus. FEBS Lett. 535, 94–100. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(02)03880-2
- Sunohara, T., Jojima, K., Yamamoto, Y., Inada, T., and Aiba, H. (2002). Nascentpeptide-mediated ribosome stalling at a stop codon induces mRNA cleavage resulting in nonstop mRNA that is recognized by tmRNA. RNA 10, 378–386. doi: 10.1261/rna.5169404
- Sunohara, T., Jojima, K., Yamamoto, Y., Inada, T., and Aiba, H. (2004a). Nascentpeptide-mediated ribosome stalling at a stop codon induces mRNA cleavage resulting in nonstop mRNA that is recognized by tmRNA. RNA 10, 378–386. doi: 10.1261/rna.5169404
- Sunohara, T., Jojima, K., Tagami, H., Inada, T., and Aiba, H. (2004b). Ribosome stalling during translation elongation induces cleavage of mRNA being translated in *Escherichia coli. J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 15368–15375. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M312805200
- Tadaki, T., Fukushima, M., Ushida, C., Himeno, H., and Muto, A. (1996). Interaction of 10Sa RNA with ribosomes in *Escherichia coli. FEBS Lett.* 399, 223–226. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(96)01330-0
- Takada, K., Takemoto, C., Kawazoe, M., Konno, T., Hanawa-Suetsugu, K., Lee, S., et al. (2007). In vitro *trans*-translation of *Thermus thermophilus*: ribosomal protein S1 is not required for the early stage of *trans*-translation. *RNA* 13, 503–510. doi: 10.1261/rna.363207
- Takahashi, T., Konno, T., Muto, A., and Himeno, H. (2003). Various effects of paromomycin on tmRNA-directed *trans*-translation. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 27672– 27680. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M211724200

- Thibonnier, M., Thiberge, J. M., and De Reuse, H. (2008). Trans-translation in Helicobacter pylori: essentiality of ribosome rescue and requirement of protein tagging for stress resistance and competence. PLoS ONE 3:e3810. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0003810
- Tu, G. F., Reid, G. E., Zhang, J. G., Moritz, R. L., and Simpson, R. J. (1995). Cterminal extension of truncated recombinant proteins in *Escherichia coli* with a 10Sa RNA decapeptide. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270, 9322–9326. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.16. 9322
- Ude, S., Lassak, J., Starosta, A. L., Kraxenberger, T., Wilson, D. N., and Jung, K. (2013). Translation elongation factor EF-P alleviates ribosome stalling at polyproline stretches. *Science* 339, 82–85. doi: 10.1126/science. 1228985
- Ueda, K., Yamamoto, Y., Ogawa, K., Abo, T., Inokuchi, H., and Aiba, H. (2002). Bacterial SsrA system plays a role in coping with unwanted translational readthrough caused by suppressor tRNAs. *Genes Cells* 7, 509–519. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2443.2002.00537.x
- Ujiie, H., Matsutani, T., Tomatsu, H., Fujihara, A., Ushida, C., Miwa, Y., et al. (2009). *Trans*-translation is involved in the CcpA-dependent tagging and degradation of TreP in *Bacillus subtilis*. J. Biochem. 145, 59–66. doi: 10.1093/jb/ mvn143
- Ushida, C., Himeno, H., Watanabe, T., and Muto, A. (1994). tRNA-like structures in 10Sa RNAs of *Mycoplasma capricolum* and *Bacillus subtilis*. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 22, 3392–3396. doi: 10.1093/nar/22.16.3392
- Weis, F., Bron, P., Rolland, J. P., Thomas, D., Felden, B., and Gillet, R. (2010a). Accommodation of tmRNA-SmpB into stalled ribosomes: a cryo-EM study. RNA 16, 299–306. doi: 10.1261/rna.1757410
- Weis, F., Bron, P., Giudice, E., Rolland, J. P., Thomas, D., Felden, B., et al. (2010b). tmRNA-SmpB: a journey to the centre of the bacterial ribosome. *EMBO J.* 29, 3810–3818. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2010.252
- Williams, K. P. (2002). Descent of a split RNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 30, 2025–2030. doi: 10.1093/nar/30.9.2025

- Williams, K. P., Martindale, K. A., and Bartel, D. P. (1999). Resuming translation on tmRNA: a unique mode of determining a reading frame. *EMBO J.* 18, 5423–5433. doi: 10.1093/emboj/18.19.5423
- Wower, I. K., Zwieb, C., and Wower, J. (2004). Contributions of pseudoknots and protein SmpB to the structure and function of tmRNA in *trans*-translation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 54202–54209. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M410488200
- Wower, I. K., Zwieb, C. W., Guven, S. A., and Wower, J. (2000). Binding and cross-linking of tmRNA to ribosomal protein S1, on and off the *Escherichia coli* ribosome. *EMBO J.* 19, 6612–6621. doi: 10.1093/emboj/19.23.6612
- Yamamoto, Y., Sunohara, T., Jojima, K., Inada, T., and Aiba, H. (2003). SsrAmediated *trans*-translation plays a role in mRNA quality control by facilitating degradation of truncated mRNAs. *RNA* 9, 408–418. doi: 10.1261/rna.2174803
- Yanofsky, C. (2007). RNA-based regulation of genes of tryptophan synthesis and degradation, in bacteria. RNA 13, 1141–1154. doi: 10.1261/rna.620507

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 26 January 2014; accepted: 15 March 2014; published online: 07 April 2014. Citation: Himeno H, Kurita D and Muto A (2014) tmRNA-mediated trans-translation as the major ribosome rescue system in a bacterial cell. Front. Genet. 5:66. doi: 10.3389/ fgene.2014.00066

This article was submitted to Non-Coding RNA, a section of the journal Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2014 Himeno, Kurita and Muto. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.


tRNADB-CE: tRNA gene database well-timed in the era of big sequence data

Takashi Abe¹*, Hachiro Inokuchi², Yuko Yamada², Akira Muto³, Yuki Iwasaki² and Toshimichi Ikemura²

¹ Graduate School of Science and Technology, Niigata University, Niigata, Japan

² Nagahama Institute of Bio-Science and Technology, Nagahama, Shiga, Japan

³ Faculty of Agriculture and Life Science, Hirosaki University, Hirosaki, Japan

Edited by:

Akio Kanai, Keio University, Japan

Reviewed by:

Akio Kanai, Keio University, Japan Rintaro Saito, University of California, USA

*Correspondence:

Takashi Abe, Graduate School of Science and Technology, Niigata University, 8050, Ikarashi 2-no-cho, Nishi-ku, Niigata 950-2181, Japan e-mail: takaabe@ie.niigata-u.ac.jp The tRNA gene data base curated by experts "tRNADB-CE" (http://trna.ie.niigata-u.ac.jp) was constructed by analyzing 1,966 complete and 5,272 draft genomes of prokaryotes, 171 viruses', 121 chloroplasts', and 12 eukaryotes' genomes plus fragment sequences obtained by metagenome studies of environmental samples. 595,115 tRNA genes in total, and thus two times of genes compiled previously, have been registered, for which sequence, cloverleaf structure, and results of sequence-similarity and oligonucleotide-pattern searches can be browsed. To provide collective knowledge with help from experts in tRNA researches, we added a column for enregistering comments to each tRNA. By grouping bacterial tRNAs with an identical sequence, we have found high phylogenetic preservation of tRNA sequences, especially at the phylum level. Since many species-unknown tRNAs from metagenomic sequences have sequences identical to those found in species-known prokaryotes, the identical sequence group (ISG) can provide phylogenetic markers to investigate the microbial community in an environmental ecosystem. This strategy can be applied to a huge amount of short sequences obtained from next-generation sequencers, as showing that tRNADB-CE is a well-timed database in the era of big sequence data. It is also discussed that batch-learning self-organizing-map with oligonucleotide composition is useful for efficient knowledge discovery from big sequence data.

Keywords: tRNA, database, metagenome, phylogenic maker, BLSOM, big data

INTRODUCTION

After completion of genome sequencing, tRNA genes on each genome have been predicted using computer programs such as tRNAscan-SE (Lowe and Eddy, 1997), ARAGORN (Laslett and Canback, 2004), and tRNAfinder (Kinouchi and Kurokawa, 2006) and included in the flat file of the sequence data for registration to the International DNA Data Banks (DDBJ/ENA/GenBank). However, in approximately 5% of the completely sequenced genomes, the annotation data of tRNA genes have not been included. There also exist many cases where an important information of anticodon (and thus of amino acid) has not be added while the tRNA itself is noted. The compilation of tRNA sequences and tRNA genes has been published for the first time by Sprinzl et al. (1978) and has been updated and reconstructed the database including modified nucleosides (tRNAdb¹; Jühling et al., 2009). Using tRNAscan-SE, the Genomic tRNA Database (GtRNAdb²) has been constructed for complete and near complete genomes (Chan and Lowe, 2009). In addition, a database for comprehensive listing of modified nucleotide (The RNA Modification Database³; Limbach et al., 1994) and that for modification pathways (MODOMICS⁴; Machnicka et al., 2012) have been reported. Mamit-tRNA⁵ is a compilation of mammalian mitochondrial tRNA genes (Pütz et al., 2007). Another characteristic tRNA database is SPLITSdb⁶ constructed by Keio Group (Sugahara et al., 2006, 2008), which has compiled tRNA sequences in archaeal and primitive eukaryotic species for promoting next studies of tRNA evolution and processing; 671 intron-containing and 12 split tRNAs have been registered. In the present Review Article, we introduce current status of our "tRNA gene database curated by experts (tRNADB-CE)" and compare it with other tRNA databases for explaining its characteristics.

In accord with the remarkable progress of DNA sequencing technology, a vast quantity of partially sequenced draft genome sequences and metagenomic sequences obtained from a wide variety of environmental and clinical samples have been compiled in DDBJ/ENA/GenBank. However, no information of tRNA genes has been added to draft and metagenomic sequences in DDBJ/ENA/GenBank and in GtRNAdb and tRNAdb. Metagenomic sequences have attracted broad industrious interests; even short sequences obtained with new-generation sequencers contain a large number of full-length tRNAs because tRNA lengths are short. Search for tRNA genes in metagenomic sequences may provide a new strategy for clarifying the microbial community

¹http://trnadb.bioinf.uni-leipzig.de/

²http://lowelab.ucsc.edu/GtRNAdb/

³http://mods.rna.albany.edu/home

⁴http://modomics.genesilico.pl/

⁵http://mamit-trna.u-strasbg.fr/

⁶http://splits.iab.keio.ac.jp/splitsdb/

in an environmental sample. This prediction is supported by the findings that examination of a group of tRNAs with an identical sequence obtained from species-known prokaryotes has revealed that such tRNAs belong primarily to a specific phylogenetic group and that the phylotype-specific tRNA sequences have also been found in species-unknown metagenomic sequences. This supports the view that these tRNA genes should become good phylogenetic markers for studying phylotype composition in an environmental ecosystem. It should be noted here that, when analyzing a dataset composed only of short fragmental sequences (e.g., 100 nt), genomic sequences other than tRNA genes appears to be difficult to be properly used for phylogenetic assignments, except for dominant genomes for which contiguous sequences with a sufficient length for constructing reliable phylogenetic trees can be obtained.

GENOMIC SEQUENCES ANALYZED AND METHODS OF SEARCH FOR tRNA GENES

Because one important role of tRNADB-CE is a use of tRNA genes as phylogenetic markers in metagenomic studies, we have mainly focused on microbial genomes. The following sources of DNA sequences have been used for constructing the present version of tRNADB-CE: 1966 and 171 complete prokaryote and virus genomes released by DDBJ/EMBL/GenBank up to September 2012, 121 complete chloroplast genomes released by organelle genome database (GOBASE⁷) up to March 2009, 5272 prokaryote draft genomes released by WGS division in DDBJ/ENA/GenBank up to September 2012, 12 eukaryote complete genomes, 17 million metagenomic sequences released by DDBJ/ENA/GenBank up to March 2012, and 217 million metagenomic sequences obtained using next-generation sequencers and released by sequence read achieve (SRA⁸) in NCBI up to March 2012.

To enhance the completeness and accuracy of searching for tRNA genes, three computer programs, tRNAscan-SE, ARAGORN, and tRNAfinder have been used in combination, since their algorithms are partially different and have rendered somewhat different results. The tRNA genes found concordantly by all three programs were stored in tRNADB-CE after brief manual checking for cases of non-standard anticodons, such as bacterial A-starting anticodons (except for Arg) and those responding to termination codons, as explained later. Discordant cases among the three programs (approximately 5% of the total of tRNA gene candidates predicted by at least one program) were manually checked by three experts (YY, AM, and HI) in tRNA experimental fields and were classified into three categories: (A) reliable tRNA genes, (B) not tRNA genes, and (C) ambiguous cases.

The tRNA genes of Archaea obtained from SPLITSdb⁹ constructed by Keio Group (Sugahara et al., 2006, 2008) are included in the current version of tRNADB-CE. Basic functions of the database have been described previously (Abe et al., 2009, 2011). For fragment sequences obtained by metagenome studies, only tRNA genes found concordantly by the three programs and those with sequences identical to the tRNAs already included in the database were stored. Many tRNA genes were detected in various environmental samples, and the number was registered for each environment sample. This result has enabled us to predict the microbial population in an environmental ecosystem by using tRNAs as phylogenetic markers. Since a significant portion of environmental sequences is thought to be derived from unculturable microbes, tRNA genes of novel microbes should be included.

tRNA GENES COMPILED IN THE CURRENT VERSION AND A NEW FUNCTION FOR ORGANIZING COLLECTIVE KNOWLEDGE

In the present database, 595,115 tRNA genes in total (112266, 317508, 961, 3534, 4137, and 156709 genes from 1966 complete and 5272 draft prokaryote genomes, 171 viruses, 121 chloroplasts, 12 eukaryotes, and 221 metagenomic samples, respectively) have been registered. This number is two times as many genes as were previously registered (Abe et al., 2011) and functions of the database are listed in **Figure 1**. Comparison of registered data and functions among three tRNA databases is presented in **Table 1**. More than ten and five times of tRNAs have been compiled by tRNADB-CE than by tRNADB-CE has included tRNAs obtained from draft genome and metagenome sequences, as well as virus and plastid sequences. Another important difference of tRNADB-CE from others is the use of three computer programs for tRNA gene search.

The nucleotide frequency in each position on the tRNA cloverleaf structure is presented on a statistics page, providing information on consensus nucleotides for each anticodon of individual data types (**Figure 1A**). Since a vast amount of tRNAs has been registered, this is useful for systematic search for identifier nucleotides, which interact with aminoacyl-tRNA synthetases. To aim at creating a high quality database by collecting knowledge in various tRNA research fields, we developed a new function for including comments on each gene in "The detailed information of tRNA gene sequence page" (**Figure 1D**). Users can add comments after typing in their e-mail address and password, while we reserve the right to remove irrelevant comments. We hope that the accumulation of user's comments will provide annotations with high quality and this database will become an information sharing system in the tRNA research community.

IDENTICAL SEQUENCE GROUPS AND THEIR USE AS PHYLOGENETIC MARKERS

We investigated a group of tRNAs with an identical sequence and found that one group was composed primarily of tRNAs derived from species belonging to a certain phylogenetic group, i.e., phylotype-specific tRNAs. To verify this phylogenetic preservation of tRNA sequences in more detail, we conducted the clustering of 429,774 tRNA sequences derived from 7,237 prokaryote genomes through CD-HIT sequence alignment (Li and Godzik, 2006). Then we designated the group with an identical sequence as "Identical Sequence Group: ISG". When focusing on ISGs composed of more than five genes, 95% of ISGs have been conserved at the phylum level, showing that most tRNA sequences are good phylogenetic markers at least at the phylum level. In addition, approximately 65% of ISGs have been conserved at the genus level, indicating

⁷http://gobase.bcm.umontreal.ca/

⁸http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Traces/sra/

⁹http://splits.iab.keio.ac.jp/splitsdb/



that more than half of ISGs may be usable as genus-specific makers. This is because tRNA sequences have been stably conserved during evolution. Increases in the number of genes in each ISG in the near future will progressively clarify the phylogenetic range that can be covered by one ISG. By combining the data provided by this database with other knowledge obtained from experiments or literatures, users can choose useful phylogenetic markers (e.g., genus-specific markers) by themselves. Our group has started to search phylogenetic markers for the genomes that are rare in regular environments and will publish these markers in the aforementioned column for comments to each tRNA gene. It should be noted here that horizontal gene transfer between different species is a general characteristic of microbial genomes. Therefore, we may not find phylogenetic markers with the 100% accuracy. Any informatics method, including sequence homology searches, most likely assigns the horizontally transferred elements to the donor but not the recipient genome. When certain tRNAs that have primarily found in a certain phylotype have been additionally found in the phylogenetically distant but restricted species, these tRNAs may represent genes that have been transferred horizontally to the restricted species or products of the convergent evolution. Phylogenetic marker tRNAs have to be used in consideration of these points.

Interestingly, approximately 25% of tRNA genes obtained from metagenomic sequences were found identical in sequence to genes from species-known prokaryotes and assignable to ISGs. By using these assigned tRNAs as phylogenetic markers, we have predicted the microbial community in an environmental ecosystem at a phylum level (**Figure 2A**). The number of tRNA genes found in known species and a list of the species can be browsed for each environmental sample (**Figures 2B,C**). When the numbers are clicked, the list of metagenomic tRNAs assignable to phylum can be accessed (**Figure 2D**). This strategy can be applied even to the data of short sequences obtained with new-generation sequencers, such as metagenomic sequences in the SRA¹⁰ at NCBI. It is noteworthy that phylogenetic clustering of short sequences (e.g., 100 nt)

¹⁰http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/sra

Table 1 | Comparison of registered data and functions between databases (at March, 2014).

	tRNAdb	GtRNAdb	tRNADB-CE
No. of tRNA sequences	42571	111385	595115
No. of genomes and samples			
Eukaryotes	287	82	12
Prokaryotes	292	915	1966
Draft genomes (prokaryotes)	None	None	5272
Metagenome samples	None	None	221
Viruses	8	None	171
Plastids	53	None	121
Mitochondria	1418	None	None
tRNA finding methods and sourc	es		
Sequence sources	Published tRNA seq., genomic seq.	Genomic seq.	Genomic seq.
Prediction programs	tRNAscan-SE	tRNAscan-SE	tRNAscan-SE, ARAGORN, tRNAfinder
Manual curation	0	None	0
Viewable data			
Anticodon usage	None	0	0
Sencondary structure	0	0	0
Alignment result	0	0	0
Nucleotide modification	0	None	None
Search method			
Species and phylogenetic names	0	0	0
Anticodon/amino acid	0	0	0
Sequence homology (BLAST)	0	0	0
Oligonucleotide pattern	0	None	0

with conventional sequence homology searches is inadequate for studying a microbial community in an ecosystem. However, evolutionary stable tRNA genes can be used as effective phylogenetic markers for predicting the microbial community, since full-length tRNAs can be found even from short genomic fragments obtained with new-generation sequencers.

The database is also capable of searching for sequences with 1-3 nt differences (**Figure 2A**). By using tools in the database as well as phylogenetic markers found by users (e.g., genus-specific markers), users can search for very specific and rare genomes of the user's attention from a wide range of environmental samples.

MINIMUM ANTICODON SET AND NON-STANDARD-TYPE tRNAs

An important curation process by experts was to investigate the minimum anticodon set most likely to be essential for the translation system of each bacterial species (Osawa, 1995), because three computer programs did not necessarily assign this set concordantly. When we could not find the minimum set in our standard search, we reexamined the candidates predicted by one or two programs and searched for the most probable candidate that is satisfactory to the minimum set, according to various

criteria such as identifiers for respective anticodons and referring to literatures of experiments. We also checked whether an identical sequence and the sequences with 1–2 nt differences were present in closely related genomes, basing on the view that a functionally active gene should be stably maintained during evolution. This final check has become increasingly useful because many closely related species have been sequenced currently. The search for the minimum anticodon set in each genome can assign tRNAs whose sequences appear to be rather non-standard. If non-standard-type tRNAs have been found iteratively in species belonging to a special phylogenetic group, such tRNAs will become good phylogenetic markers with high specificity. The aforementioned newly added column for comments on each tRNA can be used for mentioning this phylogenetic information.

We next explain one example of non-standard-type tRNAs more in detail. The Anticodon Table of bacterial tRNAs (**Figure 3A**) points out that occurrences of A-starting anticodons are very rare except for Arg, Leu, and Thr: 0 for Phe, Tyr, Cys, Val, Asp, and Gly; 1 for His, Ile, and Asn; 3 for Ser and 6 for Pro. We have manually checked tRNA candidates with these very rare A-starting anticodons, on the basis of the aforementioned criteria for the minimum anticodon set and/or the iterative occurrences



in the closely related species. Information concerning such nonstandard-type tRNAs can promote experimental studies to prove predicted tRNA candidates at the RNA level. For example, we have found novel bacterial tRNA genes with TAT anticodon in 19 species, including *Mycoplasma mobile*. In many bacteria, ATA codons are deciphered by tRNA^{Ile2} bearing lysidine (L) at the wobble position (Soma et al., 2003; Suzuki and Miyauchi, 2010); L is a modified cytidine introduced post-transcriptionally by tRNAIlelysidine synthetase (TilS). Some bacteria, including *M. mobile*, do not carry the tilS gene, indicating that they have a specific system to decode ATA codons. Taniguchi et al. (2013) have experimentally shown at the cellular RNA level that the *M. mobile* tRNA^{Ile2} registered in our database (**Figure 3B**) contains an unmodified UAU anticodon.

tRNA DATABASE WELL-TIMED IN THE ERA OF BIG SEQUENCE DATA

One important characteristic of tRNADB-CE is inclusion of tRNAs found in a large number of partially sequenced genomes. The aforementioned search for the minimum anticodon set can be

						N	umber	of tRN/	A gen	es						>C013840 Ile TAT	
ŀ	_						2	2nd letter								t ACCA aaaagggcaa	
ļ			Т			С			Α			G				G + T	
	Т	phe	AAA	0		AGA	3	Tyr	ATA	0	Cys	ACA	0	-		G - C T - A	
			GAA	2839	Ser	GGA	-	·	GTA			GCA		-		с – G	
		Leu	TAA	2371		TGA		ochre	ΠΑ	2		TCA	520			C - G	
Ļ			CAA	1934		CGA		amber	CTA	6	Trp	CCA	2127	-		T - A	
	С		AAG	211		AGG	6	His	ATG	1		ACG		-		A - T C T	
		Leu	GAG	1833	Pro	GGG				2279	Arg	GCG		-		T CGÁCC Á	
			TAG	2409		TGG 2622 CGG 1098 GIn	ΠG		, i	TCG	509	-	3rd le	TGA A A			
	ŀ			CAG	2132					CTG	1058		CCG			letter	C CTCG GCTGG C
ľ	A	lle	AAT	1		AGT	53	Asn	ATT	1	Ser	ACT	-	Т		G TT	
G	l	lle	GAT	4259	Thr		2127		GTT	3856		GCT	2161	-		G GAGC	
		TAT	23		TGT	2835	Lys	π	3893	Arg	TCT	2240	-		T T A A AGGTC		
	_	Met	CAT	8428		CGT 1343	СТТ		353	CCT	1590	-		C - G A - T			
	G		AAC	0			-	Asp	ATC			ACC	-	T		A - 1 C - G	
	Val	GAC TAC	1991 3976	Ala GGC 1927 TGC 4785 Glu	GTC 4079 Gly	Gly	GCC 4203 C TCC 2684 A	-	G - C								
		CAC	3976			Glu	TTC 4441		ccc	_	-		A - T				
			CAC	115		CGC	701	Old	CTC	806		LUC	1131	6		C A	
																T A	
																T A T	

applied only to a complete genome. Another check that is applicable even to partially sequenced genomes is to examine whether non-standard-type candidates have been repeatedly found in closely related species, and this process has become increasingly useful because genomes of many closely related species, even of different strains belonging to one species, have been sequenced. When the same or almost the same sequence has been found repeatedly, we have included the sequence in the Reliable category basing on the knowledge that functionally important genes have been stably maintained throughout evolution. Importantly this check process can be applied even to metagenomic sequences; if the non-standard-type candidates have been found repeatedly in metagenomic samples, especially in different environmental samples, these can be included in the Reliable category. Accumulation of a massive number of sequences in the near future should further increase the usefulness and reliability of this strategy, indicating that tRNADB-CE is a well-timed database in the era of big sequence data.

ENHANCING QUALITY OF A LARGE-SCALE DATABASE AND EFFICIENT KNOWLEDGE DISCOVERY

The number of tRNA genes compiled has already become huge and will undoubtedly increase more rapidly in the near future. For efficient knowledge discovery from such big data, analysis tools presently available are inadequate, and new tools suitable for big data analyses should be urgently required. Our group has developed a bioinformatics tool "BLSOM (Batch-Learning Self-Organizing-Map)" with oligonucleotide compositions (Abe et al., 2003), which can analyze more than one million genomic sequences simultaneously and allows us to efficiently acquire a wide range of knowledge from big sequence data. Oligonucleotides, such as penta- and heptanucleotides, often represent motif sequences responsible for sequence-specific protein binding (e.g., transcription factor binding). Occurrences of such motif oligonucleotides should differ from occurrences expected from the mononucleotide composition in each genome and may differ among genomic portions within a single genome. Actually, we have recently found that a pentanucleotides BLSOM for the human genome can detect characteristic enrichment of many transcription-factor-binding motifs in pericentric heterochromatin regions (Iwasaki et al., 2013a), showing that BLSOM can effectively detect the characteristic and combinatorial occurrences of functional motif oligonucleotides in the genomic sequence. Each tRNA has the characteristic and combinatorial occurrences of motif oligonucleotides, which are required to fulfill its function (e.g., binding to proper enzymes) and structural formation (e.g., clover leaf). To examine the usefulness of BLSOM for knowledge discovery from a huge amount of tRNAs, we have recently constructed a BLSOM with the pentanucleotide composition in all bacterial tRNAs in tRNADB-CE. Interestingly, tRNAs are separated primarily according to amino acid (should be published elsewhere), showing that the BLSOM

can detect the characteristic combinations of motif oligonucleotides required for proper recognition by various enzymes, including aminoacyl-tRNA synthetases. Bacterial tRNAs with the same anticodon form their own territories, indicating this BLSOM can be used for an informatics method for assigning reliable tRNAs. For creating a high quality database, it is important to find errors that are slipped into the database, including those attributable to sequencing errors. An orphan tRNA located apart from the proper anticodon territories on BLSOM may be a candidate for erroneous cases, for which manual checks by experts have to be conducted. This type of new informatics strategies is required to find errors present in the huge amount of predicted tRNAs, especially in those predicted concordantly by all three programs and thus included in the database with no manual check. More importantly, BLSOM is an unsupervised clustering method with a strong visualization power (Abe et al., 2003) and this unsupervised data-mining method can be used for efficient knowledge discoveries from big sequence data (Iwasaki et al., 2013b). Informatics tools suitable for big data analyses have to be introduced to extract a wide range of knowledge from large-scale databases in the era of big data.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by a Grant-in-Aid for Publication of Scientific Research Results, for Scientific Research (C), and for Young Scientists (B) from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology, Japan.

REFERENCES

- Abe, T., Ikemura, T., Ohara, Y., Uehara, H., Kinouchi, M., Kanaya, S., et al. (2009). tRNADB-CE: tRNA gene database curated manually by experts. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 37, D163–D168. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkn692
- Abe, T., Ikemura, T., Sugahara, J., Kanai, A., Ohara, Y., Uehara, H., et al. (2011). tRNADB-CE 2011: tRNA gene database curated manually by experts. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39, D210–D213. doi: 10.1093/nar/ gkq1007
- Abe, T., Kanaya, S., Kinouchi, M., Ichiba, M., Kozuki, T., and Ikemura, T. (2003). Informatics for unveiling hidden genome signatures. *Genome Res.* 13, 693–702. doi: 10.1101/gr.634603
- Chan, P. P., and Lowe, T. M. (2009). A database of transfer RNA genes detected in genome sequence. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 37, D93–D97. doi: 10.1093/nar/ gkn787
- Iwasaki, Y., Wada, K., Wada, Y., Abe, T., and Ikemura, T. (2013a). Notable clustering of transcription-factor-binding motifs in human pericentric regions and its biological significance. *Chromosome Res.* 5, 461–474. doi: 10.1007/s10577-013-9371-y
- Iwasaki, Y., Abe, T., Wada, K., Wada, Y., and Ikemura T. (2013b). A novel bioinformatics strategy to analyze microbial big sequence data for efficient knowledge discovery: batch-learning self-organizing map (BLSOM). *Microorganisms* 1, 137–157. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms1010137
- Jühling, F., Mörl, M., Hartmann, R. K., Sprinzl, M., Stadler, P. F., and Pütz, J. (2009). tRNAdb 2009: compilation of tRNA sequences and tRNA genes. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 37, D159–D162. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkn772

- Kinouchi, M., and Kurokawa, K. (2006). tRNAfinder: a software system to find all tRNA genes in the DNA sequence based on the cloverleaf secondary structure. *J. Comp. Aided Chem.* 7, 116–126. doi: 10.2751/jcac.7.116
- Laslett, D., and Canback, B. (2004). ARAGORN, a program to detect tRNA genes and tmRNA genes in nucleotide sequences. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 32, 11–16. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkh152
- Li, W., and Godzik, A. (2006). Cd-hit: a fast program for clustering and comparing large sets of protein or nucleotide sequences. *Bioinformatics* 22, 1658–1659. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btl158
- Limbach, P. A., Crain, P. F., and McCloskey, J. A. (1994). Summary: the modified nucleosides of RNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 22, 2183–2196. doi: 10.1093/nar/22.12.2183
- Lowe, T. M., and Eddy, S. R. (1997). tRNAscan-SE: a program for improved detection of transfer RNA genes in genomic sequence. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 25, 955–964. doi: 10.1093/nar/25.5.0955
- Machnicka, M. A., Milanowska, K., Osman Oglu, O., Purta, E., Kurkowska, M., Olchowik, A., et al. (2012). MODOMICS: a database of RNA modification pathways: 2012 update. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 41, D262–D267. doi: 10.1093/nar/gks1007
- Osawa, S. (1995). Evolution of the Genetic Code. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Pütz, J., Dupuis, B., Sissler, M., and Florentz, C. (2007). Mamit-tRNA, a database of mammalian mitochondrial tRNA primary and secondary structures. RNA 13, 1184–1190. doi: 10.1261/rna.588407
- Soma, A., Ikeuchi, Y., Kanemasa, S., Kobayashi, K., Ogasawara, N., Ote, T., et al. (2003). An RNA-modifying enzyme that governs both the codon and amino acid specificities of isoleucine tRNA. *Mol. Cell* 12, 689–698. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(03)00346-0
- Sprinzl, M., Grüter, F., and Gauss, D. H. (1978). Collection of published tRNA sequences. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 5, r15–r27. doi: 10.1093/nar/5.5.1728
- Sugahara, J., Kikuta, K., Fujishima, K., Yachie, N., Tomita, M., and Kanai, A. (2008). Comprehensive analysis of archeeal tRNA genes reveals rapid increase of tRNA introns in the order thermoproteales. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 25, 2709–2716. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msn216
- Sugahara, J., Yachie, N., Sekine, Y., Soma, A., Matsui, M., Tomita, M., et al. (2006). SPLITS: a new program for predicting split and intron-containing tRNA genes at the genome level. *In Silico Biol.* 6, 411–418.
- Suzuki, T., and Miyauchi, K. (2010). Discovery and characterization of tRNAIle lysidine synthetase (TilS). *FEBS Lett.* 584, 272–277. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2009. 11.085
- Taniguchi, T., Miyauchi, K., Nakane, D., Miyata, M., Muto, A., Nishimura, S., et al. (2013). Decoding system for the AUA codon by tRNAIle with the UAU anticodon in Mycoplasma mobile. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 41, 2621–2631. doi: 10.1093/nar/gks1344

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 31 January 2014; accepted: 16 April 2014; published online: 01 May 2014. Citation: Abe T, Inokuchi H, Yamada Y, Muto A, Iwasaki Y and Ikemura T (2014) tRNADB-CE: tRNA gene database well-timed in the era of big sequence data. Front. Genet. 5:114. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00114

This article was submitted to Non-Coding RNA, a section of the journal Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2014 Abe, Inokuchi, Yamada, Muto, Iwasaki and Ikemura. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Kozo Tomita* and Seisuke Yamashita

RNA Processing Research Group, Biomedical Research Institute, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology, Tsukuba, Japan

Edited by:

Akio Kanai, Keio University, Japan

Reviewed by:

Gota Kawai, Chiba Institute of Technology, Japan Michael Ibba, Ohio State University, USA

*Correspondence:

Kozo Tomita, RNA Processing Research Group, Biomedical Research Institute, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology, 1-1-1, Higashi, Tsukuba, Ibaraki 305-8566, Japan e-mail: kozo-tomita@aist.go.jp

The universal 3'-terminal CCA sequence of tRNA is built and/or synthesized by the CCA-adding enzyme, CTP:(ATP) tRNA nucleotidyltransferase. This RNA polymerase has no nucleic acid template, but faithfully synthesizes the defined CCA sequence on the 3'-terminus of tRNA at one time, using CTP and ATP as substrates. The mystery of CCA-addition without a nucleic acid template by unique RNA polymerases has long fascinated researchers in the field of RNA enzymology. In this review, the mechanisms of RNA polymerization by the remarkable CCA-adding enzyme and its related enzymes are presented, based on their structural features.

Keywords: tRNA, CCA, template-independent, nucleotidyltransferase, class-I and II

INTRODUCTION

Every tRNA has the CCA sequence at its 3'-terminus (CCA-3' at positions 74–76; $C_{74}C_{75}A_{76}$ -3'). The CCA-3' moiety is required for amino acid attachment (aminoacylation) onto the 3'-end of the tRNA by aminoacyl-tRNA synthetases (Sprinzl and Cramer, 1979), and for peptide-bond formation on the ribosome. The CCA-3' physically interacts with the ribosomal RNA during translation on the ribosome (Green and Noller, 1997; Kim and Green, 1999; Nissen et al., 2000). The CCA-3' is also required for tRNA quality control. The tandem $C_{74}C_{75}A_{76}C_{77}C_{78}A_{79}$ -3' sequence, added onto the 3'-end of tRNA, acts as a degradation signal for dysfunctional tRNA molecules (Wilusz et al., 2011).

The CCA-3' is synthesized and/or repaired by the CCA-adding enzyme, CTP:(ATP) tRNA nucleotidyltransferase (NT), using CTP and ATP as substrates (Deutscher, 1990; Weiner, 2004). The CCAadding activity is conserved in all three primary kingdoms archaea, eubacteria, and eukarya (Yue et al., 1996), and is essential in organisms in which some tRNA genes do not encode CCA-3' (Aebi et al., 1990). The CCA-adding enzymes belong to the NT family, encompassing enzymes as diverse as polyA polymerase (PAP), terminal deoxynucleotidyltransferase (TdT), DNA polymerase β (pol β), and kanamycin nucleotidyltransferase (KanNT; Holm and Sander, 1995; Martin and Keller, 1996, 2007; Yue et al., 1996). Among the NT family members, the CCA-adding enzyme is a remarkable, template-independent RNA polymerase. The enzyme can synthesize an ordered nucleotide sequence, CCA, onto the 3'-end of a specific primer, tRNA, without a nucleic acid template. Moreover, the enzyme is sensitive to register. It recognizes three kinds of tRNAs – tRNA lacking C74C75A76, C75A76, or A76 – and reconstructs the CCA-3' sequence as needed.

The CCA-adding enzymes are classified into two classes (class-I and class-II), based on the sequence alignments (Yue et al., 1996). The archaeal CCA-adding enzymes belong to class-I, and share sequence similarity with the eukaryotic PAPs. On the other

hand, the eubacterial/eukaryotic CCA-adding enzymes belong to class-II, and share sequence similarity with the eubacterial PAPs (**Figure 1A**). Although both enzyme classes catalyze the same reaction in defined fashions, significant amino acid similarities are not readily apparent between the two classes of CCA-adding enzymes. Only local similarities around the active site signatures have been identified.

In most organisms, the CCA-3' is synthesized by a single enzyme that can add the CCA-3' at one time. However, in some eubacteria, the CCA-3' is synthesized by two distinct, but closely related, class-II enzymes. One adds $C_{74}C_{75}$ and the other adds A_{76} , and the CCA-3' is synthesized by these two enzymes in a collaborative manner (Tomita and Weiner, 2001, 2002; Bralley et al., 2005; Neuenfeldt et al., 2008).

For more than forty years, the molecular mechanisms of CCAaddition by the CCA-adding enzyme, a remarkable, templateindependent RNA polymerase, and its related enzymes have been a mystery, and have fascinated researchers in the field of RNA enzymology since the identification of their activities. The following two main models had been proposed to explain the unique enzymatic activity, using class-I and class-II CCA-adding enzymes (Sprinzl and Cramer, 1979; Deutscher, 1990; Shi et al., 1998a; Hou, 2000; Li et al., 2000; Tomari et al., 2000; Weiner, 2004). In the first model (Figure 1B), there are multiple nucleotide binding sites (two or three) for CTP and ATP, and the active site moves relative to these sites and tRNA during polymerization (Deutscher, 1982; Hou, 2000; Li et al., 2000). In the second model (Figure 1C), there is a single nucleotide binding site, and the growing 3'-terminus of the tRNA refolds in the active site to specify nucleotide addition. Thus, the nucleotide specificity is collaboratively dictated by the RNA-protein complex (Yue et al., 1996; Shi et al., 1998a). The second model, termed the "collaborative templating" model, was proposed to explain the biochemical studies showing that there is a single active site in the enzyme



FIGURE 1 | Two classes of CCA-adding enzymes and the proposed models. (A) Schematic representation of two classes of CCA-adding enzymes and their related enzymes. Archaeal CCA-adding enzymes and eukaryotic polyA polymerases (PAP) belong to class-I. Eubacterial/eukaryotic CCA-adding enzymes and eubacterial PAPs belong to class-II. The N-terminal 25 kDa of the class-II CCA-adding enzyme and PAP are homologous. In some eubacteria, CCA-addition is accomplished by two class-II A-adding and CC-adding enzymes. Domains of CCA (or A, or CC)-adding enzymes and polyA polymerases are colored based on the structures as in Figure 2A and Figure 5A. DXD is the active site signature containing two carboxylates. The third catalytic carboxylate is also depicted. (B) Multiple nucleotide binding sites model. CCA is added by using three nucleotide binding sites (two for CTPs and one for ATP) and a mobile single catalytic site. (C) Collaborative templating model. The nucleotide binding site is composed of the refolded 3'-terminus of the RNA and the protein. The nucleotide specificity is collaboratively dictated by the RNA-protein complex

for both CTP and ATP incorporations, and the tRNA is fixed on the surface of the enzyme, and neither translocates nor rotates relative to the enzyme during CCA-addition (Shi et al., 1998a; Yue et al., 1998).

Over the past fifteen years, the crystal structures of class-I and class-II enzymes and their complexes with nucleotide(s) and/or various tRNAs or mini-helices have been reported (Li et al., 2002; Augustin et al., 2003; Okabe et al., 2003; Xiong et al., 2003; Tomita et al., 2004, 2006; Xiong and Steitz, 2004; Toh et al., 2008, 2009, 2011; Pan et al., 2010; Yamashita et al., 2014). The structural information has solved most of the long-standing mysteries, but not all yet, about the mechanism of the remarkable, template-independent CCA-adding enzyme and its relatives (Schimmel and Yang, 2004; Weiner, 2004; Xiong and Steitz, 2006). Here, we review the current

understanding of the mechanism of CCA-addition by the CCAadding enzyme, and its related enzymes, based on their crystal structures.

Class-I ARCHAEAL CCA-ADDING ENZYME

In this section, we review the mechanism of CCA-addition by the class-I archaeal CCA-adding enzyme, based on the crystal structures of the enzyme and its complexes with RNAs and nucleotides or nucleotide analogs (Okabe et al., 2003; Xiong et al., 2003; Xiong and Steitz, 2004; Tomita et al., 2006; Toh et al., 2008; Pan et al., 2010).

THE TEMPLATE DOES NOT RESIDE WITHIN THE class-I CCA-ADDING ENZYME

The crystal structures of class-I CCA-adding enzyme from *Archaeoglobus fulgidus* (AFCCA) and its complexes with CTP or ATP were reported (Okabe et al., 2003; Xiong et al., 2003). The structures of AFCCA consist of four domains: N-terminal, central, C-terminal, and tail domains, and the overall structure is U-shaped (**Figure 2A**). This architecture of AFCCA is different from that of the class-II CCA-adding enzyme as described below, and is rather similar to that of the eukaryotic PAP (Bard et al., 2000; Martin et al., 2000). This was anticipated from the comparisons of their primary amino acid sequences (Yue et al., 1996; **Figure 1A**).

The N-terminal domain of AFCCA consists of five β-strands and two α -helices, and three catalytic carboxylates (Glu₅₉, Asp₆₁, and Asp_{110}) reside on the β -sheets. The three catalytic carboxylates are located in close proximity to each other and coordinate the catalytic Mg²⁺ ion. The N-terminal catalytic domain structure of AFCCA is homologous to those of other NT family members, including class-II CCA-adding enzyme, pol β and other polynucleotide polymerases (Sakon et al., 1993; Pelletier et al., 1994; Bard et al., 2000; Martin et al., 2000). This suggested that the catalytic cores of the class-I and class-II CCA-adding enzymes share a common ancestor, together with those of other NT family members, and that the class-I and class-II enzymes both catalyze nucleotidyltransfer by the same metal-ion catalytic mechanism (Brautigam and Steitz, 1998). The central domain consists of four stranded β-sheets, and is topologically homologous to the RNA-recognition motif (RRM) of several RNA-binding proteins, such as ribosomal protein S6 (Okabe et al., 2003; Xiong et al., 2003).

The structures of AFCCA complexed with various nucleotides (Xiong et al., 2003) revealed that the nucleotide sits in the interdomain region, between the N-terminal and central domains of AFCCA (**Figure 2B**). In the complex structures, all nucleotides bound to the catalytic pocket of the enzyme non-specifically, and the base moieties of the nucleotides were disordered in the complex structures. This observation implied that the nucleotide specificity is not dictated by the enzyme alone in the class-I CCA-adding enzyme. Instead, it suggested that the specificity is dictated by the RNA–enzyme complex, as conceptually suggested in the "collaborative templating" model (Shi et al., 1998a; **Figure 1C**). The detailed mechanism of nucleotide selection by the class-I CCAadding enzyme was later clarified by the determination of several crystal structures of AFCCA complexed with an RNA primer in the presence of an incoming nucleotide, as described below in detail.



green, cyan, and orange, respectively. For comparison, the structure of eukaryotic polyA polymerase (PAP) is depicted (inset). **(B)** Complex structures of the catalytic core of AFCCA with CTP (left), ATP (middle)

 C_{75} -adding stage (left) and the A_{76} -adding stage (right). (E) Nucleotide binding pocket at the C_{75} -adding stage. (F) Nucleotide binding pocket at the A_{76} -adding stage. The pocket structures in (E) and (F) are depicted by surface models.

RNA-PROTEIN TEMPLATE FOR CTP AND ATP SELECTION BY class-I CCA-ADDING ENZYME

The complex structures of AFCCA with a tRNA bearing a CCA-3' terminus, and with various RNA primers mimicking the top-half of a tRNA molecule (tRNA mini-helix or double-stranded RNA) in the presence or absence of nucleotide, were reported (Xiong and Steitz, 2004; Tomita et al., 2006; Toh et al., 2008; Pan et al., 2010). These complex structures of AFCCA with various RNA primers, representing the sequential CCA adding reactions, revealed the detailed mechanism of nucleotide specificity and the dynamic CCA-adding reaction by the class-I CCA-adding enzyme.

AFCCA recognizes the acceptor-T Ψ C helix, the top-half of the tRNA, and does not interact with the tRNA anticodon region at all (Xiong and Steitz, 2004; **Figure 2C**). This is consistent with a previous biochemical study showing that a mini-helix RNA (and even the double-stranded RNA) corresponding to the top-half of the tRNA can be a primer for CCA-addition by the class-I CCA-adding enzyme (Shi et al., 1998b). The tail domain of AFCCA interacts with the elbow region in the T Ψ C loop of the tRNA. The tail domain functions as an anchor for the tRNA, and prevents the tRNA from dislodging from the enzyme surface during CCA-addition. The 3'-terminus of the tRNA enters the active

pocket between the N-terminal and central domains of AFCCA (**Figure 2C**).

The ternary structures of AFCCA with a tRNA mini-helix (or double helix RNA) and an incoming nucleotide CTP (or ATP), representing the C₇₅-adding (or A₇₆-adding) reaction, were reported (Xiong and Steitz, 2004; Tomita et al., 2006). In the ternary complex structures, the geometries of the incoming CTP (or ATP) and the 3'-OH group of the ribose in the 3'-terminal nucleoside of the RNA, relative to the catalytic carboxylates (Glu₅₉, Asp₆₁, and Asp₁₁₀) and a Mg²⁺ metal, suggested that the structures represent the nucleotide insertion stages of RNA polymerization.

In the ternary complex structure of AFCCA with a tRNA minihelix ending with C_{74} (or double helix RNA) in the presence of CTP, representing C_{75} -addition, the cytosine base of the CTP stacks with the cytosine base of C_{74} at the 3'-terminus of the RNA. The 4-NH₂ group and the N₃ atom of the CTP hydrogen-bond with the phosphate groups of C_{74} and A_{73} (discriminator nucleoside) of the RNA primer, and with Arg_{224} in the central domain, respectively (**Figure 2D**). In the ternary structure of AFCCA with the tRNA mini-helix (or double helix RNA) ending with $C_{74}C_{75}$ in the presence of ATP, representing the A_{76} -adding reaction, the adenine base of the ATP stacks with the cytosine base of C_{75} at the

3'-terminus of the RNA. The 6-NH₂ group and the N₁ atom of the incoming ATP form hydrogen-bonds with the phosphate groups of C₇₄ and A₇₃ in the RNA primer and Arg₂₂₄ in the central domain, respectively (**Figure 2D**). Thus, the templates for CTP and ATP selection by AFCCA were found to be the phosphate backbone of the RNA primer and the protein, rather than solely the protein itself, as implicated (Shi et al., 1998a).

After the C₇₅-addition, tRNA mini-helix acceptor stem is fixed on the enzyme surface, and the tRNA mini-helix neither translocates nor rotates relative to the enzyme surface. Then, the 3'-terminus of tRNA mini-helix refolds and retracts into the enclosed active pocket (Xiong and Steitz, 2004; Tomita et al., 2006; Toh et al., 2008; Pan et al., 2010). The refolding of the 3'-terminus of the tRNA in the pocket places the ribose 3'-OH group of C₇₅ in the RNA proximal to the active site of the enzyme. The structural changes in the active pocket of the enzyme, as well as the refolding of the 3'-end of RNA, after C₇₅-adition, ensure that the active pocket is free of any nucleotide, for successive ATP accommodation in the pocket. Thus, a single active pocket can be utilized for both C-addition and A-addition by the class-I CCA adding enzyme.

These sequential structural analyses of AFCCA also revealed that the size and the shape of the nucleotide pocket, composed of the growing 3'-terminus of the RNA and the enzyme, successively change during the CCA-adding reaction (**Figures 2E,F**). At the C_{75} -adding stage, the size and the shape of the nucleotide binding pocket are suitable for CTP accommodation, and the larger ATP cannot snugly fit in the pocket. After C_{75} -addition, the 3'-terminus of the RNA refolds in the enclosed active site, and the size and the shape of the nucleotide binding pocket become suitable for ATP. Although the smaller CTP could bind in the pocket, it does not snugly fit (Tomita et al., 2006; Pan et al., 2010). Thus, the nucleotide specificity of the class-I CCA adding enzyme shifts from CTP-specific to ATP-specific during the successive CCA-adding reactions.

Together, these extensive crystallographic analyses suggest that the template of the class-I CCA-adding enzyme is neither the protein nor the RNA, but the RNA–protein complex. The RNA primers neither translocate nor rotate relative to the enzyme surface, and a single active pocket is utilized for both C- and A-addition, by successive refolding of the 3'-terminal nucleoside in the enclosed active pocket. The successive refolding of the 3'-terminus of the tRNA during polymerization changes the nucleotide specificity of the class-I CCA-adding enzyme from CTP to ATP. These structural features explained the previous biochemical studies well (Shi et al., 1998a; Yue et al., 1998).

DYNAMICS OF CCA-ADDITION BY THE class-I CCA-ADDING ENZYME

The binary complex structures of AFCCA with a tRNA mini-helix in the absence of incoming nucleotides were also reported (Tomita et al., 2004; Toh et al., 2008). The comparison of the binary and ternary structures highlights the dynamic change in the orientation of the N-terminal domain of the enzyme and the 3'-terminus of the RNA during CCA-addition (**Figures 3A,B**).

In the binary complex of AFCCA with a tRNA mini-helix ending in either D_{73} (D is the discriminator nucleoside) or C_{74} , the nucleobase of the 3'-terminal nucleoside stacks onto the preceding nucleobase, and the ribose 3'-OH group of the 3'-terminal nucleoside is far from the active site (three catalytic carboxylates). This structure represents an inactive form. At the C75-adding reaction stage, upon binding the incoming CTP in the active site, the N-terminal domain of AFCCA relocates toward the central domain, leading the enzyme to transit from an open conformation to a closed conformation (Figure 3A). This allows the 3'-nucleoside C₇₄ of the RNA to flip, and positions the ribose 3'-OH group of the 3'-terminal nucleoside proximal to the catalytic residues and the triphosphate group of the incoming CTP. This structure represents a catalytically active form (Figure 3C). Although the structure representing C_{74} -addition was not determined, the binary complex of AFCCA with tRNA mini-helix ending in D₇₃ showed that the 3'-terminal D₇₃ of RNA and three catalytic carboxylates well superimposed onto the 3'terminal C₇₄ of RNA and the catalytic carboxylates, respectively, in the binary complex of AFCCA with tRNA mini-helix ending in C74, as described below (Figure 3D). Thus, C74-adding reaction would proceed in the same mechanism as C75-adding reaction.

At the C₇₄-adding reaction stage, the mini-helix RNA ending with D₇₃ adopts an extended form (Tomita et al., 2006; Figure 3D). After the C74-addition reaction is completed, the N-terminal domain of the enzyme relocates outward, and the enzyme transits to the open, inactive form. Then, the 3'-terminal nucleoside (C_{74}) of the tRNA mini-helix flips back into the active pocket, and the acceptor helix of the tRNA mini-helix shrinks back from the extended form. The change in the tRNA mini-helix from the extended form to the shrunken form allows the active pocket to become nucleotide free, for successive CTP accommodation and C₇₅-addition. CTP binding in the active pocket for C₇₅-addition induces the relocation of the N-terminal domain of the enzyme toward the central domain again (the enzyme transits to an active closed form again; Figure 3A). The 3'-nucleoside of the tRNA flips again, and the C₇₅-adding reaction proceeds (Figure 3C). Thus, in both the C₇₄-adding and C₇₅-adding reactions, CTP binding in the active site dynamically induces the conformational change of the enzyme from an inactive open form to an active closed form, and only the correct nucleotide, CTP, can allow the transition of the enzyme.

After the C₇₅-adding reaction, the enzyme is fixed in an active closed from (Figure 3B). The 3'-terminus of the tRNA mini-helix refolds in the enclosed active site, and a newly shaped nucleotide binding pocket is created by the enzyme and the 3'-terminus of the RNA (Figure 3E). ATP can bind in the nucleotide pocket, and A76-addition proceeds without the open to closed conformational change of the enzyme. The fixation of the enzyme in a closed conformation after C75-addition is facilitated by the interaction between the β -turn in the N-terminal domain and the 3'-terminus of the tRNA mini-helix. The mutation of a key amino acid residue, Arg₂₂₄, reduced C₇₄C₇₅-addition, but not A₇₆-addition, in vitro, indicating that Arg₂₂₄ in the pocket does not discriminate ATP from CTP in the A76-adding reaction (Tomita et al., 2006; Pan et al., 2010). Thus, the A76-adding reaction is static, and is distinct from the C₇₄C₇₅-adding reactions, which are accompanied by the dynamic open to closed conformational transition of the enzyme



FIGURE 3 Dynamics of CCA-addition by the class-I CCA-adding enzyme. (A) Superimposition of the complex structures of AFCCA with a tRNA mini-helix at the C_{75} -adding stage, in either the absence (colored magenta) or the presence (colored cyan) of CTP. (B) Superimposition of the complex structures of AFCCA with a tRNA mini-helix at the A_{76} -adding stage, in either the absence (colored magenta) or the presence (colored cyan) of ATP. (C) Comparison of the catalytic core structures of AFCCA at the C_{75} -adding stages in either the absence (left) or the presence (right) of CTP. For clarity, only the key amino acid residues of AFCCA are shown. RNA and nucleotides are depicted by stick models. (D) Superimposition of RNAs at the C_{74} -adding stage (colored magenta) and C_{75} -adding stage (colored cyan). RNA at the C_{74} -adding stage adopts an extended form. (E) Comparison of the catalytic core structures of AFCCA at the A_{76} -adding stage in either the absence (left) or the presence (right) of ATP. For clarity, only the key amino acid residues of AFCCA are shown. RNA and nucleotides are depicted by stick models.

and require the proper conformation of Arg₂₄₄ in the pocket. Consecutive conformation changes of the β -turn in the N-terminal domain accompany the refolding of the tRNA 3'-terminus during the reaction (**Figures 3C,E**). The β -turn in the N-terminal domain monitors the 3'-terminal sequence of the tRNA for correct CCA-addition (Toh et al., 2008).

After A_{76} -addition, the N-terminal domain relocates outward, triggered by pyrophosphate release, and the enzyme adopts the open conformation. At this stage, there is no room to accommodate another nucleotide in the active pocket. Finally, a tRNA with a CCA-3' terminus dissociates from the enzyme, and the CCA-adding reaction is completed (Xiong and Steitz, 2004; Tomita et al., 2006).

The dynamic sequence of the CCA-adding reaction by the class-I CCA-adding enzyme, revealed by the crystallographic analyses of complexes of class-I CCA-adding enzyme with various RNA primers with or without nucleotides, is presented in **Figure 4**.

THE class-II CCA-ADDING ENZYME AND ITS RELATED ENZYMES

In this section, we review the mechanism of CCA-addition by the class-II eubacterial/eukaryotic CCA-adding enzyme, and its related class-II eubacterial CC-adding and A-adding enzymes, based on the crystal structures of the enzymes and their complexes with RNAs (Li et al., 2002; Augustin et al., 2003; Tomita et al., 2004; Toh et al., 2009; Yamashita et al., 2014).

PROTEIN-BASED TEMPLATE FOR CTP AND ATP SELECTIONS BY class-II CCA-ADDING ENZYME

The crystal structures of the class-II CCA-adding enzymes from *Bacillus stearothermophilus* (BstCCA), *Thermotoga maritima* (TmCCA) and human mitochondria (HmtCCA) were reported (Li et al., 2002; Augustin et al., 2003; Toh et al., 2009).

The class-II CCA-adding enzymes adopt a sea-horse-shaped structure, and consist of four domains – the head, neck, body and tail domains (**Figure 5A**). The overall architecture of the class-II CCA adding enzyme is different from that of the class-I CCA-adding enzyme (Okabe et al., 2003; Xiong et al., 2003; **Figure 2A**), and it is rather similar to that of the eubacterial PAP from *Escherichia coli* (EcPAP; Toh et al., 2011; **Figure 5A**). This was anticipated by the comparisons of their amino acid sequences (Yue et al., 1996; **Figure 1**), although EcPAP adopts a sea-otter-shaped structure.

The head domain of the class-II CCA-adding enzyme comprises five-stranded β sheets connected by two α helices, with three conserved catalytic carboxylate residues (Asp₅₅, Asp₅₇, Asp₉₉ of



TmCCA) on the β sheets, and the Mg²⁺ ions are coordinated by the carboxylates. As described, the head domain structure of the class-II CCA-adding enzyme is homologous to that of the class-I CCA-adding enzyme (**Figure 2A**), together with those of the catalytic domains of other polynucleotide polymerases. The neck domain is composed of helices, and includes the key nucleobaseinteracting residues (Asp and Arg) that are putatively conserved among the class-II enzymes. The body and tail domains are composed of a bundle of α helices, and recognize the acceptor and T Ψ C helices of the tRNA, as described below.

In the complex structures of the class-II CCA-adding enzymes (BstCCA and TmCCA) with CTP or ATP, the nucleotide sits in the inter-domain region between the head and neck domains (**Figure 5B**). Both nucleotides are recognized in the same active pocket, through Watson-Crick-like base pairings between the nucleobases and the conserved Asp and Arg residues in the neck domain (Li et al., 2002; Toh et al., 2009). The 4-NH₂ of CTP and the 6-NH₂ of ATP form hydrogen-bonds with Asp₁₇₄, whereas the N₃ atom of CTP and the N₁ atom ATP hydrogen-bond with Arg₁₇₇. The O₂ atom of CTP also hydrogen-bonds with Arg₁₇₇ (**Figure 5B**; the amino acid numbering is according to TmCCA).

The mechanism of nucleobase recognition by the class-II CCA-adding enzyme is distinct from that observed in the class-I CCA-adding enzyme (**Figures 2D,E**). The template for the CCA-addition by the class-II CCA-adding enzyme is composed of the protein itself, rather than the RNA–protein complex as in the class-I CCA-adding enzyme. The protein-template of the class-II CCA-adding enzymes was confirmed by the mutations of Asp and Arg in the neck domain. The rational mutagenesis of the two key residues in the neck domain allowed the enzyme to add other nucleotides *in vitro* (Cho et al., 2007).

PROTEIN-BASED TEMPLATE FOR ATP-SELECTION BY THE CLASS-II A-ADDING ENZYME

Although the structures of the class-II CCA-adding enzyme and its complexes with CTP and ATP are available (Li et al., 2002; Toh et al., 2009), the structures of the class-II CCA-adding enzyme complexed with tRNA (or RNA) have not been reported yet. Thus, the detailed RNA polymerization mechanism of CCA-addition by the class-II CCA-adding enzyme remained enigmatic.

Compounding the unsettled questions on the polymerization mechanism by the class-II CCA-adding enzyme, in some eubacteria such as *Aquifex aeolicus*, the CCA-adding activity is split between two distinct, but closely related, enzymes – one adds $C_{74}C_{75}$ and the other adds A_{76} (Tomita and Weiner, 2001, 2002; Bralley et al., 2005; Neuenfeldt et al., 2008; **Figure 1**). In *A. aeolicus*, which is placed at the deepest root of the 16S rRNA-based phylogenetic tree (Pace, 1997), the CC-adding and A-adding enzymes collaboratively synthesize the CCA-3' (Tomita and Weiner, 2001). On the other hand, in *T. maritima*, which is also located at the deepest root and is evolutionarily close to *A. aeolicus*, a single enzyme homologous to the *A. aeolicus* A-adding enzyme (AaL), rather than the CC-adding enzyme (AaS), adds CCA-3' (Tomita and Weiner, 2001, 2002).

The complex structure of AaL with tRNA lacking the terminal A₇₆ and an ATP analog was reported (Tomita et al., 2004). AaL also adopts a sea-horse-shaped structure, as found with the other class-II CCA-adding enzymes (**Figure 5C**). As anticipated from the sequence similarity and closely related phylogeny (Tomita and Weiner, 2002), the overall structure of AaL superimposed well onto that of TmCCA (Toh et al., 2009).

In the complex structure of AaL with tRNA lacking the terminal A_{76} and an ATP analog (**Figure 5C**), the acceptor and T Ψ C helices of the tRNA are recognized by the enzyme, and the anticodon region does not interact with the enzyme. As in the class-I CCA-adding enzyme (**Figure 2C**), the tail domain of AaL interacts with the elbow region of the tRNA, and functions as an anchor.

The 3'-terminus of the tRNA enters the active pocket, which resides between the head and neck domains of AaL. The geometry of the incoming ATP analog, the 3'-OH group of C_{75} of tRNA, relative to the catalytic carboxylates (Asp₃₁, Asp₃₃, and



Glu₇₄), suggested that the structure represents the insertion stage of A_{76} addition (**Figure 5D**). The adenine base of the ATP analog is sandwiched by the cytosine base of C_{75} of tRNA and by hydrogen-bonds between Asp_{105} and Arg_{155} . Thus, the binding pocket of ATP is composed of the 3' end of the tRNA and the protein. In the ternary complex structure, as observed in the complex structure of TmCCA (or BstCCA) with ATP (**Figure 5B**), the adenine base is recognized by the side chains of the conserved amino acids, Asp_{149} and Arg_{152} , through Watson-Crick-like hydrogen-bonds (**Figure 5D**). The 6-NH₂ and the N₁ atom of ATP form hydrogen-bonds with Asp_{149} , and Arg_{152} , respectively. Thus, the specificity for ATP by AaL is determined by the side chain of the protein itself, as in the class-II CCA-adding enzymes.

Biochemical and genetic studies revealed that a flexible loop in the head domains of the CCA-adding and A-adding enzymes is involved in the A₇₆-adding reaction, but not the C₇₄C₇₅-adding reaction (Tomita et al., 2004; Neuenfeldt et al., 2008; Toh et al., 2009). In most of the reported crystal structures of the class-II CCA-adding and A-adding enzymes, the loop structure is disordered (Li et al., 2002; Augustin et al., 2003; Tomita et al., 2004). The loop region was only clearly visible in the crystal structure of *apo* TmCCA (Toh et al., 2009; **Figure 5E**). The loop extends from the head domain to the neck domain, bridging the two domains. The superimposition of the structures of *apo* TmCCA and AaL complexed with tRNA revealed that the loop would interact with the 3'-part of the tRNA (Toh et al., 2009; **Figure 5E**). It is likely that the loop recognizes the growing 3'-CC sequence of the tRNA, and fixes the conformations of two key residues, Asp₁₇₄ and Arg₁₇₇, for the specific recognition of ATP. The corresponding loops in the CC-adding enzymes are shorter than those in the CCA-adding and A-adding enzymes, and the shorter loop was suggested to be one of the hallmarks of the CC-adding enzyme (Neuenfeldt et al., 2008).

TRANSLOCATION AND ROTATION OF tRNA DURING CC-ADDITION BY THE CC-ADDING ENZYME

More recently, the structures of *A. aeolicus* CC-adding enzyme, AaS (Tomita and Weiner, 2001), in its *apo* form and in complexes with various tRNAs were reported (Yamashita et al., 2014). AaS also adopts a sea-horse-shaped structure similar to the other class-II CCA-adding and A-adding enzymes (**Figure 6A**). Although the structures of the head and neck domains of AaS are homologous to those of the class-II CCA-adding and A-adding and A-adding enzymes, the structure of the body domain of AaS slightly differs from those of the CCA-adding and A-adding enzymes (**Figure 5A** and **6A**). The overall structure of AaS adopts a relatively closed form, by the insertion of an additional α -helix between the head and neck



FIGURE 6 | Structure of the class-II CC-adding enzyme. (A) Overall structure of Aquifex aeolicus CC-adding enzyme (AaS). The head, neck, body, and tail domains are colored magenta, green, cyan, and orange, respectively. Unique insertion helices are colored red and yellow.
(B) Complex structures of AaS with tRNA lacking CCA. The tRNA is depicted by a stick model. Detailed view of the interaction between the acceptor helix of tRNA and AaS (inset). (C) Structures of the catalytic

pocket of AaS at the C₇₄-adding (left) and C₇₅-adding (middle) stages. CTPs are depicted by stick models. The superimposition of the structures at C₇₄-adding (magenta) and C₇₅-adding (cyan) stages (right). **(D)** Comparison of the overall complex structures of AaS at the C₇₄-adding (cyan) and C₇₅-adding (pink) stages. **(E)** Detailed view of the superimposed structures of the tRNA acceptor helices at the C₇₄-adding (cyan) and C₇₅-adding (pink) stages in **(D)**.

domains, and the body domain of AaS contains an additional α -helix and forms a bulging structure.

The complex structures of AaS with tRNA and an incoming CTP, representing the C₇₄-adding and C₇₅-adding stages, were also reported (Yamashita et al., 2014; **Figures 6B,C**). As observed in the complex structure of AaL with tRNA (Tomita et al., 2004; **Figure 5C**), AaS also recognizes the top-half region of the tRNA, and does not interact with the anticodon region (**Figure 6B**). The T Ψ C loop and D-loop of the tRNA interact with the tail domain of AaS.

In the C_{74} -adding structure, the base-pair at the top of the tRNA acceptor helix stacks with Phe₈₃ and Phe₈₅ on the β -sheet in the head domain, and the 3'-terminal discriminator nucleoside A_{73} enters the active pocket. The cytosine base of the incoming CTP and the adenine base of A_{74} are stacked, and the triphosphate of the CTP and the ribose 3'-OH group of A_{73} are proximal to the catalytic carboxylates (Asp₅₈, Asp₆₀ and Asp₁₁₂) and Mg²⁺ ion. In the ternary structure, the 4-NH₂ and the N₃ atom of CTP form hydrogen-bonds with Asp₁₈₂ and Arg₁₈₅, respectively.

The O₂ atom of CTP also form a hydrogen-bond with Arg₁₈₅ (**Figure 6C**). The mechanism of CTP recognition by AaS is the same as those observed in the complex structures of class-II CCA-adding enzyme with CTP in the absence of tRNA (Li et al., 2002; Toh et al., 2009). In the complex structure of AaS, representing the C₇₅-adding stage, the mechanism of CTP recognition is the same as that of CTP recognition at the C₇₄-adding stage (**Figure 6C**). Thus, the C₇₄ and C₇₅-adding reactions both proceed by the same mechanism, using the same active pocket. The size and the shape of the nucleotide binding pocket at the C₇₄-adding and C₇₅-adding stages are suitable to accommodate CTP, but not the other three nucleotides. CTP is selectively accommodated as a consequence of competition between nucleotides, using the conserved Asp₁₈₂ and Arg₁₈₅ in the pocket.

A comparison of the complex structures of the C_{74} -adding and C_{75} -adding stages revealed the translocation and rotation of the tRNA relative to the enzyme (**Figure 6D**). As a consequence of its backward translocation, the tRNA rotates and the relative orientation of its anticodon region on the enzyme changes by approximately twenty five degrees, as compared to that of the tRNA in the C_{74} -addition stage. In the complex structure, the positions that were formerly occupied by the terminal base-pair (G_1 – C_{72}) of the tRNA acceptor stem at the C_{74} -addition stage are now empty. A_{73} translocates out of the catalytic pocket, and the position that was occupied by A_{73} at the C_{74} -adding stage accommodates the newly incorporated C_{74} (**Figure 6E**). The release of pyrophosphate, a byproduct of RNA polymerization, from the active site of AaS triggers the backward translocation of the tRNA, as observed in T7 RNA polymerase (Yin and Steitz, 2004).

Upon pyrophosphate release from the active site after C_{75} -addition, the tRNA translocates further toward the tail domain and rotates relative to the enzyme. A tRNA ending with $C_{74}C_{75}$ could no longer be retained on the enzyme, due to the further translocation and rotation of the tRNA relative to the enzyme, and would dissociate after $C_{74}C_{75}$ synthesis. Thus, the enzyme would terminate RNA synthesis. The tRNA ending with $C_{74}C_{75}$ then binds to AaL, the terminal A_{76} is added, and the CCA-3' synthesis of tRNA is completed.

Previous biochemical studies using class-II CCA-adding enzymes and a tRNA mini-helix, corresponding to the top-half of tRNA, suggested that C_{74} addition, like C_{75} and A_{76} addition, involves neither tRNA translocation nor rotation (Cho et al., 2006). The mechanisms of CC-addition by the class-II CC-adding and CCA-adding enzymes might be different. Alternatively, the previous biochemical study using a tRNA mini-helix might not represent the actual nature of C_{74} -addition onto tRNA, since the tRNA mini-helix lacks the interactions between the T Ψ C loop and the D-loop in tRNA.

The dynamic sequence of the CC-adding reaction by the class-II CC-adding enzyme, revealed by the crystallographic analyses of the complexes of the CC-adding enzyme with various tRNAs with or without and CTP, is presented in **Figure 7**.

CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

The detailed and extensive crystallographic analyses of the class-I CCA-adding enzyme complexed with various RNA primers explained the previous biochemical results well (Shi et al., 1998a; Yue et al., 1998; Okabe et al., 2003; Xiong et al., 2003; Xiong and Steitz, 2004; Cho et al., 2006; Tomita et al., 2006; Toh et al., 2008; Pan et al., 2010). As previously suggested by biochemical studies using the class-I CCA-adding enzyme (Shi et al., 1998b; Yue et al., 1998; Cho et al., 2006), structural studies of the class-I CCA-adding enzyme revealed that the tRNA neither translocates nor rotates relative to the enzyme during the CCA-adding reaction. The reaction proceeds in a single active pocket, and the template for CTP and ATP is the RNA-protein complex, rather than the protein itself. The crystallographic analyses also showed that the size and the shape of the nucleotide binding pocket, formed by the growing 3'-terminus of the RNA and the enzyme, successively change during the CCA-adding reaction, thus switching the nucleotide specificity, and that the CCA-adding reaction proceeds via two modes - dynamic CC-addition and static A-addition.

On the other hand, regarding the class-II CCA-adding enzyme, only the *apo* structures of the enzyme and its complexes with CTP and ATP are available (Li et al., 2002; Toh et al., 2009). Until now, the structure of a class-II CCA-adding enzyme complexed with tRNA (or RNA) has not been reported, and the detailed molecular mechanism of nucleotide specificity switching during CCA-addition has remained elusive. The complex structures of the class-II CCA-adding enzyme with CTP and ATP revealed that both CTP and ATP are recognized in the same active pocket, through Watson-Crick-like base pairings between the nucleobases and the conserved Asp and Arg residues in the active pocket (Li et al., 2002; Toh et al., 2009). Thus, the template for CTP and ATP is the protein itself, rather than the RNA-protein complex. This is distinct from the mechanism of nucleotide selection by the class-I CCA-adding enzymes.

The complex structures of the *A. aeolicus* class-II CCadding and A-adding enzymes with tRNA and a nucleotide were reported (Tomita et al., 2004; Yamashita et al., 2014). The recognition mechanisms of CTP and ATP by the *A. aeolicus* CC-adding and A-adding enzymes at the insertion stage of



FIGURE / Intechanism of CC-addition by class-II CC-adding enzymes. Schematic representation of the CC-adding reaction by class-II CC-adding enzymes. The head, neck, body, and tail domains are colored magenta, green, cyan, and orange, respectively. tRNAs are colored gray. Catalytic sites are colored yellow in the head domains.

RNA polymerization, respectively, are the same as those of the class-II CCA-adding enzyme, as revealed by the complex structures of these enzymes with nucleotides (Li et al., 2002; Toh et al., 2009).

The detailed molecular basis for the different activities between the A-adding enzyme and the CC-adding enzymes is not fully understood. The mechanism by which the CC-adding enzyme adds only $C_{74}C_{75}$, and then terminates RNA polymerization without adding A_{76} , was explained well by the structural analyses (Yamashita et al., 2014). However, the mechanism by which the A-adding enzyme adds only A_{76} , but not $C_{74}C_{75}$, has not been clarified yet, even though the complex structure of the *A. aeolicus* A-adding enzyme with tRNA and a nucleotide analog is available (Tomita et al., 2004). The short loop in the head domain is suggested to be a hallmark of the CC-adding enzymes (Neuenfeldt et al., 2008). However, transplantation of the corresponding flexible longer loop from the A-adding enzyme (or CCA-adding enzyme) into the corresponding position of the CC-adding enzyme did not always transform the CC-adding enzyme into a CCA-adding enzyme, *in vitro* as well as *in vivo* (Toh et al., 2009). Thus, the longer loop in the head domain of the A-adding enzyme itself is not the main determinant for the A-adding enzyme to add only terminal A₇₆. The C-terminal body and tail domains of the A-adding enzymes reportedly inhibit $C_{74}C_{75}$ addition *in vitro* (Tretbar et al., 2011). Since the overall structures of *A. aeolicus* A-adding enzyme and *T. maritima* CCA-adding enzyme superimposed well, the inhibitory effects of the C-terminal region of all A-adding enzymes on CC-addition



FIGURE 8 | Hypothetical mechanisms of nucleotide addition by class-II enzymes. (A) CC-addition by CC-adding enzyme possessing two tRNA binding sites (sites A and B). Sites A and B are used for C_{74^-} and C_{75^-} addition, respectively. When a tRNA ending with the discriminator nucleoside (D₇₃) is on site B, the 3'-terminal D₇₃ cannot reach the active site for catalysis (inactive state). A tRNA ending with $C_{74}C_{75}$ cannot bind either site A or B. (B) A-addition by A-adding enzyme, possessing a single tRNA binding site. The neck domain is not flexible. The tRNA binds the enzyme, using the single site. On this site, the 3'-terminal nucleoside of a tRNA ending in either a discriminator nucleoside (tRNA-D₇₃) or C_{74} (tRNA- C_{74}) cannot

reach the active site (inactive state). Only the 3'-terminal nucleoside of tRNA ending in $C_{74}C_{75}$ can reach the active site for the catalysis (active state). **(C)** CCA-addition by CCA-adding enzyme, possessing a single tRNA binding site. tRNA binds the enzyme, using the single site. Since, unlike the A-adding enzyme, the neck domain of the CCA-adding enzyme is flexible, the head domain of the CCA-adding enzyme could relocate toward the neck domain to catalyze C_{74} and C_{75} addition. The head, neck, body, and tail domains of the enzymes are colored gray. Catalytic sites are colored yellow in the head domains.

probably do not dictate the specificity for the enzymes to add only terminal A₇₆, in general.

The $C_{74}C_{75}$ -addition by the CC-adding enzyme involves the translocation and rotation of the tRNA relative to the enzyme (Yamashita et al., 2014). Apparently, there are two tRNA binding sites on the surface of *A. aeolicus* CC-adding enzyme. One is for C_{74} -addition and the other is for C_{75} -addition (**Figure 8A**). The body domain of *A. aeolicus* CC-adding enzyme adopts a bulging structure and the overall structure has a more closed conformation, as compared with the *A. aeolicus* A-adding enzyme and other CCA-adding enzymes (Li et al., 2002; Tomita et al., 2004; Toh et al., 2009; Yamashita et al., 2014). Thus, the distinct structures of the body domain of the CC-adding enzyme, with two tRNA binding sites, allow the tRNA to translocate and rotate during the CC-adding reactions and to terminate the RNA polymerization after CC-addition.

A chimeric enzyme of *A. aeolicus* A-adding enzyme and the closely related *T. maritima* CCA-adding enzyme (Tomita and Weiner, 2001, 2002), designed based on their crystal structures, was constructed, and the A-adding enzyme was transformed into an enzyme that could perform CCA-addition *in vitro* as well as *in vivo* (Toh et al., 2009). These biochemical and genetic analyses suggested the importance of the flexibility of the neck domain, in defining the number of nucleotides added onto the 3'-end of the tRNA and the nucleotide specificity by the class-II CCA-adding enzyme.

It could be hypothesized that only a single tRNA binding site exists in both the class-II A-adding and CCA-adding enzymes (Figures 8B,C). On the single tRNA binding site, the 3'-terminus of tRNA lacking CCA or CA could not reach the active site without structural change of the enzyme, while the 3'-terminus of tRNA lacking A76 could reach it. The absence of flexibility in the neck domain of the A-adding enzyme would not allow the head domain of the enzyme to relocate toward the neck domain for CC-addition, when tRNA binds the single tRNA binding site. Hence, the A-adding enzyme could not add $C_{74}C_{75}$, but could only add A_{76} (Figure 8B). On the other hand, the CCA-adding enzyme, with a flexible neck domain, could add CC as well as A, by relocating the catalytic active head domain toward the neck domain for catalysis (Figure 8C), even though there is only one tRNA binding site, as in the A-adding enzyme. In these models, neither translocation nor rotation of tRNA is involved in the CCA-addition by the class-II CCA-adding enzyme, as previously suggested (Cho et al., 2006).

In the future, the complex crystal structures of a class-II CCAadding enzyme with various tRNAs, representing sequential CCAaddition, and the comparison of the structures with those of the A-adding enzyme and the CC-adding enzyme complexed with tRNAs, will provide clear and definitive answers to all of the abovementioned unsettled questions about the mechanisms of class-II CCA-adding enzyme and its relatives.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The research in our laboratory was supported by grants to Kozo Tomita from the Funding Program for Next Generation World-Leading Researchers (NEXT Program) of JSPS, Grants-in-Aid for Scientific Research (A) of JSPS, Precursory Research for Embryonic Science and Technology (PRESTO Program) of JST, the Takeda Science Foundation, the Mitsubishi Foundation, the Naito Foundation, and the Kurata Hitachi Memorial Foundation.

REFERENCES

- Aebi, M., Kirchner, G., Chen, J. Y., Vijayraghavan, U., Jacobson, A., Martin, N. C., et al. (1990). Isolation of a temperature-sensitive mutant with an altered tRNA nucleotidyltransferase and cloning of the gene encoding tRNA nucleotidyltransferase in the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 16216–16220.
- Augustin, M. A., Reichert, A. S., Betat, H., Huber, R., Mörl, M., and Steegborn, C. (2003). Crystal structure of the human CCA-adding enzyme: insights into template-independent polymerization. *J. Mol. Biol.* 328, 985–994. doi: 10.1016/S0022-2836(03)00381-4
- Bard, J., Zhelkovsky, A. M., Helmling, S., Earnest, T. N., Moore, C. L., and Bohm, A. (2000). Structure of yeast poly(A) polymerase alone and in complex with 3'-dATP. *Science* 289, 1346–1349. doi: 10.1126/science.289.5483. 1346
- Bralley, P., Chang, S. A., and Jones, G. H. (2005). A phylogeny of bacterial RNA nucleotidyltransferases: *Bacillus halodurans* contains two tRNA nucleotidyltransferases. J. Bacteriol. 187, 5927–5936. doi: 10.1128/JB.187.17.5927-5936.2005
- Brautigam, C. A., and Steitz, T. A. (1998). Structural and functional insights provided by crystal structures of DNA polymerases and their substrate complexes. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* 8, 54–63. doi: 10.1016/S0959-440X(98)80010-9
- Cho, H. D., Chen, Y., Varani, G., and Weiner, A. M. (2006). A model for C74 addition by CCA-adding enzymes: C74 addition, like C75 and A76 addition, does not involve tRNA translocation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 9801–9811. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M512603200
- Cho, H. D., Verlinde, C. L. M. J., and Weiner, A. M. (2007). Reengineering CCAadding enzymes to function as (U, G)- or dCdCdA-adding enzymes or poly(C, A) and poly(U, G) polymerases. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 54–59. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0606961104
- Deutscher, M. P. (1982). tRNA nucleotidyltransferase. *Enzymes* 15, 183–215. doi: 10.1016/S1874-6047(08)60279-6
- Deutscher, M. P. (1990). Transfer RNA nucleotidyltransferase. *Methods Enzymol.* 181, 434–439. doi: 10.1016/0076-6879(90)81141-G
- Green, R., and Noller, H. F. (1997). Ribosomes and translation. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 66, 679–716. doi: 10.1146/annurev.biochem.66.1.679
- Holm, L., and Sander, C. (1995). DNA polymerase beta belongs to an ancient nucleotidyltransferase superfamily. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 20, 345–347. doi: 10.1016/S0968-0004(00)89071-4
- Hou, Y. M. (2000). Unusual synthesis by the *Escherichia coli* CCA-adding enzyme. *RNA* 6, 1031–1043. doi: 10.1017/S1355838200000686
- Kim, D. F., and Green, R. (1999). Base-pairing between 23S rRNA and tRNA in the ribosomal A site. *Mol. Cell* 4, 859–864. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(00) 80395-0
- Li, F., Wang, J., and Steitz, T. A. (2000). Sulfolobus shibatae CCA-adding enzyme forms a tetramer upon binding two tRNA molecules: a scrunching-shuttling model of CCA specificity. J. Mol. Biol. 304, 483–492. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.2000. 4189
- Li, F., Xiong, Y., Wang, J., Cho, H. D., Tomita, K., Weiner, A. M., et al. (2002). Crystal structures of the *Bacillus stearothermophilus* CCA-adding enzyme and its complexes with ATP or CTP. *Cell* 111, 815–824. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(02) 01115-7
- Martin, G., and Keller, W. (1996). Mutational analysis of mammalian poly(A) polymerase identifies a region for primer binding and catalytic domain, homologous to the family X polymerases, and to other nucleotidyltransferases. *EMBO J.* 15, 2593–2603.
- Martin, G., and Keller, W. (2007). RNA-specific ribonucleotidyl transferases. *RNA* 13, 1834–1849. doi: 10.1261/rna.652807
- Martin, G., Keller, W., and Doublié, S. (2000). Crystal structure of mammalian poly(A) polymerase in complex with an analog of ATP. *EMBO J.* 19, 4193–4203. doi: 10.1093/emboj/19.16.4193
- Neuenfeldt, A., Just, A., Betat, H., and Mörl, M. (2008). Evolution of tRNA nucleotidyltransferases: a small deletion generated CC-adding enzymes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 7953–7958. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0801971105

- Nissen, P., Hansen, J., Ban, N., Moore, P. B., and Steitz, T. A. (2000). The structural basis of ribosome activity in peptide bond synthesis. *Science* 289, 920–930. doi: 10.1126/science.289.5481.920
- Okabe, M., Tomita, K., Ishitani, R., Ishii, R., Takeuchi, N., Arisaka, F., et al. (2003). Divergent evolutions of trinucleotide polymerization revealed by an archaeal CCA-adding enzyme structure. *EMBO J.* 22, 5918–5927. doi: 10.1093/emboj/cdg563
- Pace, N. R. (1997). A molecular view of microbial diversity and the biosphere. *Science* 276, 734–740. doi: 10.1126/science.276.5313.734
- Pan, B., Xiong, Y., and Steitz, T. A. (2010). How CCA-adding enzyme selects adenine over cytosine at position 76 of tRNA. *Science* 330, 937–940. doi: 10.1126/science.1194985
- Pelletier, H., Sawaya, M. R., Kumar, A., Wilson, S. H., and Kraut, J. (1994). Crystal structure of rat DNA polymerase beta: evidence for a common polymerase mechanism. *Science* 264, 1930–1935. doi: 10.1126/science.7516580
- Sakon, J., Liao, H. H., Kanikula, A. M., Benning, M. M., Rayment, I., and Holden, H. M. (1993). Molecular structure of kanamycin nucleotidyltransferase determined to 3.0Å resolution. *Biochemistry* 32, 11977–11984. doi: 10.1021/bi00096a006
- Schimmel, P., and Yang, X. L. (2004). Two classes give lessons about CCA. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 11, 807–808. doi: 10.1038/nsmb0904-807
- Shi, P. Y., Maizels, N., and Weiner, A. M. (1998a). CCA addition by tRNA nucleotidyltransferase: polymerization without translocation? *EMBO J.* 17, 3169–3206. doi: 10.1093/emboj/17.11.3197
- Shi, P. Y., Weiner, A. M., and Maizels, N. (1998b). A top-half tDNA minihelix is a good substrate for the eubacterial CCA-adding enzyme. *RNA* 4, 276–284.
- Sprinzl, M., and Cramer, F. (1979). The -C-C-A end of tRNA and its role in protein biosynthesis. Prog. Nucleic Acid Res. Mol. Biol. 22, 1–69. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6603(08)60798-9
- Toh, Y., Numata, T., Watanabe, K., Takeshita, D., Nureki, O., and Tomita, K. (2008). Molecular basis for maintenance of fidelity during the CCA-adding reaction by a CCA-adding enzyme. *EMBO J.* 27, 1944–1952. doi: 10.1038/emboj. 2008.124
- Toh, Y., Takeshita, D., Nagaike, T., Numata, T., and Tomita, K. (2011). Mechanism for the alteration of the substrate specificities of template-independent RNA polymerases. *Structure* 19, 232–243. doi: 10.1016/j.str.2010.12.006
- Toh, Y., Takeshita, D., Numata, T., Fukai, S., Nureki, O., and Tomita, K. (2009). Mechanism for the definition of elongation and termination by the class II CCA-adding enzyme. *EMBO J.* 28, 3353–3365. doi: 10.1038/emboj. 2009.260
- Tomari, Y., Suzuki, T., Watanabe, K., and Ueda, T. (2000). The role of tightly bound ATP in *Escherichia coli* tRNA nucleotidyltransferase. *Genes Cells* 5, 689–698. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2443.2000.00360.x
- Tomita, K., Fukai, S., Ishitani, R., Ueda, T., Takeuchi, N., Vassylyev, D. G., et al. (2004). Structural basis for template-independent RNA polymerization. *Nature* 430, 700–704. doi: 10.1038/nature02712
- Tomita, K., Ishitani, R., Fukai, S., and Nureki, O. (2006). Complete crystallographic analysis of the dynamics of CCA sequence addition. *Nature* 443, 956–960. doi: 10.1038/nature05204
- Tomita, K., and Weiner, A. M. (2001). Collaboration between CC- and A-adding enzymes to build and repair the 3'-terminal CCA of tRNA in *Aquifex aeolicus*. *Science* 294, 1334–1336. doi: 10.1126/science.1063816

- Tomita, K., and Weiner, A. M. (2002). Closely related CC- and A-adding enzymes collaborate to construct and repair the 3'-terminal CCA of tRNA in *Synechocys*tis sp. and Deinococcus radiodurans. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 48192–48198. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M207527200
- Tretbar, S., Neuenfeldt, A., Betat, H., and Mörl, M. (2011). An inhibitory C-terminal region dictates the specificity of A-adding enzymes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 21040–21045. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1116117108
- Weiner, A. M. (2004). tRNA maturation: RNA polymerization without a nucleic acid template. *Curr. Biol.* 14, 883–885. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2004.09.069
- Wilusz, J. E., Whipple, J. M., Phizicky, E. M., and Sharp, P. A. (2011). tRNAs marked with CCACCA are targeted for degradation. *Science* 334, 817–821. doi: 10.1126/science.1213671
- Yamashita, S., Takeshita, D., and Tomita, K. (2014). Translocation and rotation of tRNA during template-independent RNA polymerization by tRNA nucleotidyltransferase. *Structure* 22, 315–325. doi: 10.1016/j.str.2013.12.002
- Yin, Y. M., and Steitz, T. A. (2004). The structural mechanism of translocation and helicase activity in T7 RNA polymerase. *Cell* 116, 393–404. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(04)00120-5
- Yue, D., Maizels, N., and Weiner, A. M. (1996). CCA-adding enzymes and poly(A) polymerases are all members of the same nucleotidyltransferase superfamily: characterization of the CCA-adding enzyme from the archaeal hyperthermophile *Sulfolobus shibatae. RNA* 2, 895–908.
- Yue, D., Weiner, A. M., and Maizels, N. (1998). The CCA-adding enzyme has a single active site. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 29693–29700. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.45.29693
- Xiong, Y., Li, F., Wang, J., Weiner, A. M., and Steitz, T. A. (2003). Crystal structures of an archaeal class I CCA-adding enzyme and its nucleotide complexes. *Mol. Cell.* 12, 1165–1172. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(03)00440-4
- Xiong, Y., and Steitz, T. A. (2004). Mechanism of transfer RNA maturation by CCAadding enzyme without using an oligonucleotide template. *Nature* 430, 640–645. doi: 10.1038/nature02711
- Xiong, Y., and Steitz, T. A. (2006). A story with a good ending: tRNA 3'-end maturation by CCA-adding enzymes. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* 16, 12–17. doi: 10.1016/j.sbi.2005.12.001

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 11 January 2014; accepted: 31 January 2014; published online: 17 February 2014.

Citation: Tomita K and Yamashita S (2014) Molecular mechanisms of template-independent RNA polymerization by tRNA nucleotidyltransferases. Front. Genet. **5**:36. *doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00036*

This article was submitted to Non-Coding RNA, a section of the journal Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2014 Tomita and Yamashita. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Methylated nucleosides in tRNA and tRNA methyltransferases

Hiroyuki Hori*

Department of Materials Science and Biotechnology, Applied Chemistry, Graduate School of Science and Engineering, Ehime University, Matsuyama, Japan

Edited by:

Akio Kanai, Keio University, Japan

Reviewed by:

Ramesh Gupta, Southern Illinois University, USA Akira Muto, Hirosaki University, Japan

*Correspondence: Hiroyuki Hori, Department of Materials Science and Biotechnology, Graduate School of Science and Engineering, Ehime University, Bunkyo 3, Matsuyama, Ehime 790-8577, Japan

e-mail: hori@eng.ehime-u.ac.jp

To date, more than 90 modified nucleosides have been found in tRNA and the biosynthetic pathways of the majority of tRNA modifications include a methylation step(s). Recent studies of the biosynthetic pathways have demonstrated that the availability of methyl group donors for the methylation in tRNA is important for correct and efficient protein synthesis. In this review, I focus on the methylated nucleosides and tRNA methyltransferases. The primary functions of tRNA methylations are linked to the different steps of protein synthesis, such as the stabilization of tRNA structure. reinforcement of the codon-anticodon interaction, regulation of wobble base pairing, and prevention of frameshift errors. However, beyond these basic functions, recent studies have demonstrated that tRNA methylations are also involved in the RNA quality control system and regulation of tRNA localization in the cell. In a thermophilic eubacterium, tRNA modifications and the modification enzymes form a network that responses to temperature changes. Furthermore, several modifications are involved in genetic diseases, infections, and the immune response. Moreover, structural, biochemical, and bioinformatics studies of tRNA methyltransferases have been clarifying the details of tRNA methyltransferases and have enabled these enzymes to be classified. In the final section, the evolution of modification enzymes is discussed.

Keywords: RNA modification, RNA methylation, RNA maturation

INTRODUCTION

The first tRNA sequence was determined in 1965 and numerous modifications were identified at various positions within the sequence (Holley et al., 1965). At almost the same time, several tRNA methyltransferase activities were detected in Escherichia coli cell extract (Hurwitz et al., 1964), which suggested that diverse enzymes are involved in tRNA modification. To date, more than 90 modified nucleosides have been identified in tRNA (Machnicka et al., 2013). Thus, the majority of modified nucleosides that have been discovered in different RNA species are found in tRNA. In the twenty-first century, the major modification pathways of tRNA have been elucidated on the basis of genome sequence data. These studies have demonstrated that the pathways of tRNA modification show diversity among living organisms. In this review, I focus on the methylated nucleosides in tRNA, together with tRNA methyltransferases, and introduce their basic roles as well as their more complex functions.

THE PRIMARY ROLE OF tRNA MODIFICATIONS IS THE REGULATION OF PROTEIN SYNTHESIS

Transfer RNA is an adaptor molecule that enables the genetic code of nucleic acids to be converted to amino acids in protein. Consequently, the primary functions of individual tRNA modifications are linked to the different steps of protein synthesis. In fact, if a tRNA remains unmodified, it becomes charged with a non-cognate amino acid, the corresponding codon in the mRNA is mistranslated, and a mutation is introduced. **Table 1** summarizes the typical methylated nucleosides and their positions

within the tRNA, their distributions in the three domains of life, the corresponding tRNA methyltransferases, their contributions to tRNA structure, their functions in addition to structural roles, and related publications. (Phillips and Kjellin-Straby, 1967; Taya and Nishimura, 1973; Yaniv and Folk, 1975; Delk et al., 1976; Watanabe et al., 1976, 2005, 2006; Pierre et al., 1978, 2003; Pope et al., 1978; Raba et al., 1979; Greenberg and Dudock, 1980; Ny and Bjork, 1980; Osorio-Almeida et al., 1980; Byström and Björk, 1982; Hopper et al., 1982; Walker, 1983; Gupta, 1984; Johnson et al., 1985; Ellis et al., 1986; Reinhart et al., 1986; van Tol et al., 1987; Ny et al., 1988; Björk et al., 1989, 2001; Jakab et al., 1990; Keith et al., 1990; Perret et al., 1990; Edmonds et al., 1991; Gu and Santi, 1991; Gustafsson and Björk, 1993; Hagervall et al., 1993; Edqvist et al., 1994; Kowalak et al., 1994; Martin and Hopper, 1994; Grosjean et al., 1995, 1996, 2008; Durand et al., 1997; Jiang et al., 1997; Li et al., 1997; Persson et al., 1997, 1998; Anderson et al., 1998, 2000; Constantinesco et al., 1998, 1999a,b; Helm et al., 1998; Hori et al., 1998, 2002, 2003; Matsuyama et al., 1998; Qian et al., 1998; Tomita et al., 1998; Cavaillé et al., 1999; Farabaugh and Björk, 1999; Liu et al., 1999, 2003, 2013; Motorin and Grosjean, 1999; Niederberger et al., 1999; Liu and Straby, 2000; Nordlund et al., 2000; Clouet-d'Orval et al., 2001, 2005; Dong et al., 2001; Urbonavicius et al., 2001, 2002, 2003, 2005; Yasukawa et al., 2001; Alexandrov et al., 2002, 2005, 2006; Johansson and Byström, 2002; King and Redman, 2002; Pintard et al., 2002; Suzuki et al., 2002, 2007, 2011a; Ahn et al., 2003; Bortolin et al., 2003; De Bie et al., 2003; Droogmans et al., 2003; Elkins et al., 2003; Jackman et al., 2003;

		ומאפ דן ואטועמו ווופנוואומנפט ווענינסטועפט ווו נווואס מוות לסוופטסוומוווא נווואס ווופנוואניו מווטופומספט			
Name and position	Distribution	Methyltransferase(s)	Contribution to tRNA structure	Function(s) in addition to structural role	References
Am4 and Cm4	Ш	Trm13	Stabilization of aminoacyl stem?		Wilkinson et al., 2007; Tkaczuk, 2010
Am6	A (Pyrococcus furiosus)	2	Stabilization of aminoacyl stem?		Constantinesco et al., 1999a
m ² G6	E/B/A	?/TrmN/Trm14	Stabilization of aminoacyl stem?		Menezes et al., 2011; Fislage et al., 2012: Boovers et al., 2012
m ² G7	Ш	~	Stabilization of aminoacyl stem?	Belated to Sarcoma-virus infection	Pierre et al 1978
	L (mitochooduio)				
m. ca and m. Aa	e (mitocnonaria)	ZKTT-	Correct tolaing of mitochonarial thind	Complex formation with mitrochondrial RNase P	Helm et al., 1996; Sakural et al., 2005a: Vilardo et al 2012
				Marker of processing of 5'-leader sequence?	uence?
				Recognition site for Nematoda mitochondrial EF-Tu2	hondrial EF-Tu2
	A	Archaeal Trm10 homolog)	Kempenaers et al., 2010
m ¹ G9	ш	Trm10	Defect causes young onset diabetes in humans.	humans.	Jackman et al., 2003; Igoillo-Esteve
					et al., 2013; Shao et al., 2013; Swinehart et al., 2013
m ² G10	ш	Trm11 and Trm112 complex.			Purushothaman et al., 2005
m ² _2G10	A	Archaeal Trm-m ² ₂ G10 enzyme	Prevention of alternative tRNA structure		Armengaud et al., 2004;
					Urbonavicius et al., 2006
Gm18	E/B	Trm3/TrmH	Stabilization of D-arm and T-arm interaction	ion	
			Stabilization of Leshaped tRNA	Please see main text	Persson et al., 1997; Hori et al.,
					1998, 2002, 2003; Cavaiillé et al., 1999; Urbonavicius et al., 2002; Nureki et al., 2004; Pleshe et al.,
					2005; Watanabe et al., 2005, 2006;
					Ochi et al., 2010, 2013; Gehrig et al., 2012; Jöckel et al., 2012
m ¹ A22 m ² ,G26 (m ² G26)	B E/A	TrmK Trm1	Prevention of Watson-Crick base pair formation?	rmation?	Roovers et al., 2008a
7	Trm1 transfers two meth	Trm1 transfers two methyl groups to G26, so $\mathrm{m}^2\mathrm{G26}$ is produced as an intermediate	produced as an intermediate		
	Eukaryotic Trm1 localize:	Eukaryotic Trm1 localizes to both the nuclear membrane and mitochondria	and mitochondria		
			Prevention of Watson-Crick base pair formation?	-mation?	
			Stabilization of the three-dimensional		Phillips and Kjellin-Straby, 1967;
			core ?		Hopper et al., 1982; Ellis et al., 1986; Reinhart et al., 1986; Edqvist et al.,
					1994; Martin and Hopper, 1994; Constantinesco et al. 1998, 1996;
					Liu et al., 1999; Niederberger et al.,
					1999; Liu and Straby, 2000;
					Grosjean et al., 2008; Ihsanawati
					et al., 2000, Laret al., 2003, D 31174 et al., 2011; Dewe et al., 2012

(Continued)

Name and position	Distribution	Methyltransferase(s)	Contribution to tRNA structure	Function(s) in addition to structural role	References
m ² ,G26 (m ² G26) and m ² ,G27 (m ² G27)	E?/B	Trm 1			
	<i>Aquifex aeolicus</i> Trr The modification pa	<i>Aquifex aeolicus</i> Trm1 modifies G27 as well as G26 The modification pattern of tRNAs suggests that so I	26 some mammalian Trm1 enzymes might act on both G26 and G27 sim Prevention of Watson-Crick base pair formation? Stabilization of the three-dimensional core? In the case of G27 modification, stabilization of the anticodon arm?	<i>Aquifex aeolicus</i> Trm1 modifies G27 as well as G26 The modification pattern of tRNAs suggests that some mammalian Trm1 enzymes might act on both G26 and G27 similar to <i>A. aeolicus</i> Trm1 Prevention of Watson-Crick base pair formation? Stabilization of the three-dimensional core? In the case of G27 modification, stabilization of the anticodon arm?	rm1 Johnson et al., 1985; van Tol et al.,
m ⁵ C27	ш	~			1987; Awai et al., 2009, 2011
Cm32 and Um32 Cm32 and Um32 Cm32	L This modification is B A	fied by the bisulfite mJ	method: the modification might be an m ⁵ C derivative Stabilization of the anticodon loop	derivative	Edelheit et al., 2013 Purta et al., 2006
	Cm32 modification	Cm32 modification is observed in several tRNA s	A species from <i>H. volcanii</i> and <i>T. acidophilum</i> Stabilization of the anticodon loop	<i>u</i>	Walker. 1983: Gupta. 1984
Cm32 and Nm34 (Cm34, Gm34, and ncm ⁵ Um34)	E Trm7 and Trm734 cc	E Trm7 and Trm732 complex synthesizes Cm32 Trm7 and Trm734 complex synthesizes Nm34	sx synthesizes Cm32		
			Stabilization of the anticodon-loop	In the case of Nm34, reinforcement of the codon-anticodon iteraction. Cm32 and Gm34 in tRNA ^{Phe} are required for efficient yW37 formation. FTSJ1 (human TRM7) is implicated in nonsyndromic X-linked mental retardation	efficient yW37 formation. Pintard et al., 2002; Freude et al., 2004; Guy et al., 2012
m ³ C32	E/A	Trm 140/?	Stabilization of the anticodon-loop?	The yeast <i>trm140-trm1</i> double knockout strain is sensitive to low concentrations of cvoloheximide	D'Silva et al., 2011; Noma et al., 2011
Cm34 and cmnm ⁵ Um34	В	TrmL	Stabilization of the anticodon-loop.	Reinforcement of the codon-anticodon interaction	Benítez-Páez et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2013
Cm34 and Um39	A Cm34 and Um39 in The guide RNA is ar	A Complex of aFib, Nop5p . Cm34 and Um39 in tRNA ^{Tp} from <i>P. abyssi</i> and <i>H</i> The guide RNA is an intron in precursortRNA ^{Tp}	Complex of aFib, Nop5p and L7Ae with box C/D guide RNA (intron) A ^{Trp} from <i>P. abyssi</i> and <i>H. volcanii</i> are introduced by the box C/D ri ron in precursor-tRNA ^{Trp}	A Complex of aFib, Nop5p and L7Ae with box C/D guide RNA (intron) Cm34 and Um39 in tRNA ^{Trp} from <i>P. abyssi</i> and <i>H. volcanii</i> are introduced by the box C/D ribonucleoprotein and guide RNA system The guide RNA is an intron in precursor-tRNA ^{Trp}	
	Several 2'-O-methyl	ations in archaeal tRNAs are p	Several 2'-O-methylations in archaeal tRNAs are predicted to be formed by the box C/D ribonucleoprotein and guide RNA system Stabilization of the anticodon-arm? Reinforcement of the codon-anticodon interaction (Cm34)	bonucleoprotein and guide RNA system Reinforcement of the codon-anticodon interaction (Cm34)	Clouet-d'Orval et al., 2001; Bortolin et al., 2003; Singh et al., 2004; Clouet-d'Orval et al., 2005; Vo et al., 2004.
Cm34	A (Haloarchaea)	Complex of aFib, Nop5p	Complex of aFib, Nop5p and L7Ae with box C/D guide RNA (sR-tMet)	Viet)	
				Keintorcement of the codon-anticodon interaction	Joardar et al., 2011

ble 1	Continued
- 6	e

	nuea				
Name and position	Distribution	Methyltransferase(s)	Contribution to tRNA structure	Function(s) in addition to structural role	References
Xm ⁵ U34 derivatives	E/B/A				
	Biosynthetic pathway	Biosynthetic pathways of Xm ⁵ U34 derivatives are not completely clarified	not completely clarified		
	For information on the	ne outlines of Xm ⁵ U34 biosyn	For information on the outlines of Xm ⁵ U34 biosynthesis pathways, please see these references,	ces,	
	Umeda et al., 2005; (Umeda et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2011; van den Bor	Born et al., 2011; Moukadiri et al., 2014		
	In some cases, meth	ylation by tRNA methyltransfi	In some cases, methylation by tRNA methyltransferases is part of the multistep reactions		
	MnmE and MnmG cc	MnmE and MnmG complex and MnmC generates mnm ⁵ U34	s mnm ⁵ U34		
	Aquifex aeolicus DUF	Aquifex aeolicus DUF752 protein is a tRNA methyltransfer	Aquifex aeolicus DUF752 protein is a tRNA methyltransferase that functions without the usually fused oxidase domain	ally fused oxidase domain	
			CI11° U34		
	The Trm9 homolog in	n mammalians, <i>C. elegans</i> and	The Trm9 homolog in mammalians, C. elegans and plants is a methyltransferase domain of ALKBH8	1. TKBH8	
	The Alk domain in AL Human MTO1 MSS1	The Alk domain in ALKBH8 stereoselectively gene Human MTO1_MSS1 and MTI11 are involved in 71	The Alk domain in ALKBH8 stereoselectively generates S-mchm ^o U34 from mcm ^o U34 Human MT01_MSS1 and MTI11 are involved in z m ^{5s2} 1134 formation in mitorhondrial tRNA		
			Stabilization of the anticodon loop	Beinforcement of the codon-antico	Beinforcement of the codon-anticodon interaction, restriction of wobble base
				pairing, and prevention of frameshift error	ft error
				Transfer RNAs with the mcm ⁵ U mu	Transfer RNAs with the mcm ⁵ U modification are the target of <i>Kluyveromyces</i>
				lactis gamma-toxin and Pichia acaciae killer toxin	<i>iae</i> killer toxin
				Trm9-specific tRNA modifications €	Irm9-specific tRNA modifications enhance codon-specific translational
				elongation and promote increased	elongation and promote increased levels of DNA damage response proteins. The
				synthesized DNA damage respons	synthesized DNA damage response proteins affect with cell cycle regulation
				ALKBH8 is involved in DNA repair and carcinogenesis	and carcinogenesis
				Lack of $ au m^5 s^2 U34$ in human	Taya and Nishimura, 1973; Keith
				mitochondrial tRNA ^{Lys} causes	et al., 1990; Urbonavicius et al.,
				myoclonus epilepsy associated with	h 2001, 2003; Yasukawa et al., 2001;
				ragged-red fibers	Suzuki et al., 2002, 2011a; Kalhor
					and Clarke, 2003; Kaneko et al.,
					2003; Takai and Yokoyama, 2003;
					Bujnicki et al., 2004; Chen et al.,
					2005, 2011; Huang et al., 2005;
					Kirino et al., 2005; Leipuviene and
					Björk, 2005; Lu et al., 2005; Sakurai
					et al., 2005b; Umeda et al., 2005;
					Yim et al., 2006; Begley et al., 2007;
					Klassen et al., 2008; Kurata et al.,
					2008; Meyer et al., 2008, 2009;

(Continued)

Songe-Møller et al., 2010; Kitamura et al., 2011, 2012; Leihne et al., 2011

et al., 2009; Böhme et al., 2010; Fu et al., 2010; Mazauric et al., 2010;

2009; Shi et al., 2009; Shimada

et al., 2009, 2014; Osawa et al.,

Roovers et al., 2008b; Moukadiri

Name and position	Distribution	Methyltransferase(s)	Contribution to tRNA structure	Function(s) in addition to structural role	References
					Liger et al., 2011; Pearson and Carell, 2011; van den Born et al., 2011; Armengod et al., 2012; Pastore et al., 2012; Patil et al., 2013, Kim and Almo, 2013; Ohira et al., 2013; Tomikawa et al., 2013
Xmo ⁵ U34 derivatives	в	۰.		Expansion of wobble base pairing	Pope et al., 1978; Nasvall et al., 2004; Novoa et al., 2012
m ⁷ G34 m ⁷ G36	E (Mitochondria) E (Chloroplast)	~~~~		Expansion of wobble base pairing?	Matsuyama et al., 1998; Tomita et al., 1998 Osorio-Almeida et al., 1980; Jakab
m ¹ G37	E/B/A	Trm5/TrmD/Trm5		Prevention of frameshift errors. Prevention of misacylation of tRNA ^{Asp} by Arg-RS	Osorio-Almeida et al., 1980; Byström and Björk, 1982; Björk et al., 1989, 2001; Perret et al., 1990; Hagervall et al., 1993; Li et al., 1997; Farabaugh and Björk, 1999; Ahn et al., 2003; Elkins et al., 2004; Christian et al., 2004, 2013; O'Dwyer et al., 2004; Takeda et al., 2006; Christian and Hou, 2007; Lee et al., 2007; Goto-Ito et al., 2008; Sakaguchi et al., 2012; Paris et al., 2013 et al., 2012; Paris et al., 2013
m ¹ l37	E The m ¹ I37 modificati The m ¹ I37 is synthes	E Trm5 The m ¹ 137 modification is often observed in eukaryo The m ¹ 137 is synthesized from A37 <i>via</i> 137	eukaryotic tRNA ^{Ala} (for example, yeast tRNA ^{Ala})		Holley et al., 1965; Grosjean et al., 1006: Druk Arel 2004
yW37 derivatives	E/A	Trm5 + Tyw3/Trm5 (homologs) + Taw3	logs) + Taw3		1330, DIUIE EL AL, 2004
	For information on th Biosynthesis of yW3: Some archaeal biosyr In some intermediate The names, Trm12 an Therefore, some gen	For information on the biosynthetic pathways of yW37 derivatives, please see Biosynthesis of yW37 derivatives starts with the m ¹ G37 modification by Trm5 Some archaeal biosynthetic pathways are predicted from genomic information In some intermediate steps, methylation(s) by Tyw3 (yeast) or Taw3 and Trm5 The names, Trm12 and TrmM, were previously allocated to eukaryotic and arch Therefore, some genome sequence projects used these names	For information on the biosynthetic pathways of yW37 derivatives, please see these references, Noma et al., 2010; de Crécy-Lagard et al., 2010 Biosynthesis of yW37 derivatives starts with the m ¹ G37 modification by Trm5 in both eukaryotes and archaea Some archaeal biosynthetic pathways are predicted from genomic information In some intermediate steps, methylation(s) by Tyw3 (yeast) or Taw3 and Trm5 homologs (archaea) and a radical SAM reaction are involved The names, Trm12 and Trm1M, were previously allocated to eukaryotic and archaeal methyltransferases, respectively in yW37 biosynthetic pathways Therefore, some genome sequence projects used these names	, Noma et al., 2010; de Crécy-Lagard et a ss and archaea a) and a radical SAM reaction are involve ferases, respectively in yW37 biosynthet	II., 2010 ed ic pathways

Hori

Name and position	Distribution	Methyltransferase(s)	Contribution to tRNA structure	Function(s) in addition to structural role	References
t ⁶ A37	E/B/A			Prevention of frameshift errors	Jiang et al., 1997; Kalhor et al., 2005; Waas et al., 2005, 2007; Noma et al., 2006, 2010; Suzuki et al., 2007; Umitsu et al., 2009; de Crécy-Lagard et al., 2010; Perche-Letuvée et al., 2012
derivatives	The biosynthetic pat TsaA is involved in th MtaB is a methylthic Mammalian Catkal1	The biosynthetic pathway of m ⁶ t ⁶ A contains a methylation step TsaA is involved in the methylation in the m ⁶ t ⁶ A modification MtaB is a methylthiotransferase for ms ² t ⁶ A formation (a radical SAM enzyme) Mammalian Crkal1 is a radical SAM-enzyme that forms ms ² t ⁶ A in tRNA ^{Lys}	a methylation step t ⁶ A modification ormation (a radical SAM enzyme) that forms ms ² t ⁶ A in fRNA ^{Lys}		
			Stabilization of the anticodon loop.	Prevention of frameshift errors A defect of ms ² t ⁶ A in tRNA ^{Lys} causes type 2 diabetes in mice	Gupta, 1984; Qian et al., 1998; Durant et al., 2005; McCrate et al., 2006; Arragain et al., 2010; Atta et al., 2010, 2012; Wei et al., 2011; Fujimori, 2013
i ⁶ A37 derivatives	B The 2-methyltio grou	B The 2-methyltio group of ms ² i ⁶ A derivatives is forme	is formed by MiaB (a radical SAM enzyme) Stabilization of the anticodon loop.	Prevention of frameshift errors	
				Hydroxylation of ms ² io ⁹ A37 is related to utilization of TCA cycle products <i>Shigella flexneri</i> MiaA is required for Durand et al., 1997; Li et al., 1997; expression of virulence genes Persson et al., 1998; Farabaugh an Björk, 1999; Urbonavicius et al., 2001, 2003; Kierzek and Kierzek, 2006; Atta et al., 2010, 2012; Fuilmori, 2013	Ito utilization of TCA cycle products Durand et al., 1997; Li et al., 1997; Persson et al., 1998; Farabaugh and Björk, 1999; Urbonavicius et al., 2001, 2003; Kierzek and Kierzek, 2003; Pierre et al., 2010, 2012; Fuimori, 2013 Fuimori, 2013
m ² A37	В	ذ			Yaniv and Folk, 1975
m ⁶ A37 m ⁵ C38	B E/B?	TrmG? Dnmt2			Qian et al., 1998
m ⁵ C34, m ⁵ C40, m ⁵ C48 and m ⁵ C49	Dnmt2 is a methyltri E/A	ansferase with high sequence sir Trm4 (human Misu)/Trm4	Dnmt2 is a methyltransferase with high sequence similarity to DNA methyltransferases E/A Trm4 (human Misu//Trm4		Dong et al., 2001; Goll et al., 2006
	Site specificities of 1 Trm4 homologs mig m ⁵ C34 and m ⁵ C40 i Archease binds to ar	Site specificities of tRNA m ⁵ C methyltransferases are not completely clarified Tm4 homologs might be involved in the methylation(s) of other position(s) m^5C34 and m^5C34 in yeast tRNAs are introduced in an intron-dependent manner Archease binds to archeael Tm4 and regulates the specificity of methylation site	e not completely clarified (s) of other position(s) an intron-dependent manner secificity of methylation site		

Name and position	Distribution	Methyltransferase(s)	Contribution to tRNA structure	Function(s) in addition to structural role	References
	Human Trm4 (Misu) (Recently, it has been	Hurman Trm4 (Misu) catalyzes the m ⁵ C34 formation in tRNA ^{Leu} in an Recently, it has been reported that hurman Trm4 is multi-site specific Stabilization of th	Hurman Trm4 (Misu) catalyzes the m ⁵ C34 formation in tRNA ^{Leu} in an intron-dependent manner Recently, it has been reported that hurman Trm4 is multi-site specific Stabilization of the three-dimensional core?	ianner core <i>?</i>	
				Under oxidative stress, yeast tRNA ^{Leu} lead to selective translation of mRNA The half-life of tRNA ^{Val} is shortened ir strain	Under oxidative stress, yeast tRNA ^{Leu} changes the level of m ⁵ C modifications which lead to selective translation of mRNA The half-life of tRNA ^{Val} is shortened in the yeast <i>trm8</i> and <i>trm4</i> double knockout strain
				The level of m ⁵ C modification in tRNA ^{HIs} increases in response to growth arrest in <i>S. cerevisiae</i>	Gupta, 1984; Motorin and Grosjean, 1999; King and Redman, 2002; Alexandrov et al., 2006; Brzezicha et al., 2006; Auxilien et al., 2007, 2012; Walbott et al., 2007; Chernyakov et al., 2008; Kuratani et al., 2010; Chan et al., 2013; Preston et al., 2013
m ⁷ G46	E/B	Trm8 (human METTL1)-Trm82 complex/TrmB.	Stabilization of the three-dimensional core?	core?	
				Half-life of tRNA ^{Val} is shortened in Gene disruption of Trm8 homolog i infectious ability	Half-life of tRNA ^{Val} is shortened in the yeast <i>trm8</i> and <i>trm4</i> double knockout strain Gene disruption of Trm8 homolog in <i>Colletotrichum lagenarium</i> causes the loss of infectious ability
				In the case of <i>T. thermophilus</i> , m ⁷ G46 modification is one of the key factors in network of modified nucleotides and tRNA modification enzymes and is essential for growt at high temperatures. Please see main text	In the case of <i>T. thermophilus</i> , Alexandrov et al., 2002, 2006; 2006; m ⁷ G46 modification is one of the De Bie et al., 2003; Okamoto et al., key factors in network of modified 2004; Cartlidge et al., 2005; Takano nucleotides and tRNA modification et al., 2006; Zegers et al., 2006; and uncleotides and tRNA modification et al., 2006; Leulliot et al., 2008; Matumoto
m ⁷ G49	4	~			
	T. acidophilum tRNA ^L	$\mathcal T$ acidophilum ${\sf tRNA^{\sf Leu}}$ exceptionally has the m $^\prime$ G49 modification	G49 modification		Edmonds et al., 1991; Tomikawa et al., 2013
m ⁵ C51 m ⁵ C52	ব ব	~ ~			Auxilien et al., 2007 Auxilien et al. 2007
m ⁵ U54 derivatives	E/B/A (Pyrococcus furiosus and Pyrococcus abyssi)	Trm2 + a/TrmA or TrmFO/RImD-like protein (PA0719)			
	The m ⁵ U54 modifica The m ⁵ U54 modifica	The m ⁵ U54 modification in some gram-negative l The m ⁵ U54 modification in gram-positive and sor	The m ⁵ U54 modification in some gram-negative bacteria including <i>E. coli</i> is synthesized by TrmA. The m ⁵ U54 modification in gram-positive and some gram-popative bacteria is synthesized by TrmEO.	by TrmA d by TrmEO	

	Distribution	Methyltransferase(s)	Contribution to tRNA structure	Function(s) in addition to structural role	References
	<i>Pyrococcus abyssi r</i> In thermophilic eub <i>i</i> In mammalian tRNA	<i>Pyrococcus abyssi</i> rRNA methyltransferase (RImD)-like protein synthesizes m ⁵ U54 In thermophilic eubacteria and archaea, m ⁵ U54 is further modified to m ⁵ s ² U54 In mammalian tRNA ^{Lys} , U54 is probably modified to m ⁵ Um54 <i>via</i> m ⁵ U54: the seco	<i>Pyrococcus abyssi</i> rRNA methyltransferase (RImD)-like protein synthesizes m ⁵ U54 In thermophilic eubacteria and archaea, m ⁵ U54 is further modified to m ⁵ s ² U54 In mammalian tRNA ^{Lys} , U54 is probably modified to m ⁵ Um54 <i>via</i> m ⁵ U54: the second methyltransferase has not been identified Errmation of the reverse Honorsteen has and varia Δ58	ansferase has not been identified	
			Stabilization of the Floop structure Stabilization of the Floop structure	ase pair with 200	
				E. coli TrmA binds to rRNA and this	$E.\ coli$ TrmA binds to rRNA and this binding is essential for cell viability
				Eukaryotic Trm2 has a 5' -> 3'	Delk et al., 1976; Watanabe et al.,
				endonuclease activity and is	1976; Raba et al., 1979; Greenberg
				involved in DNA repair	and Dudock, 1980; Ny and Bjork,
					1980; Ny et al., 1988; Edmonds
					et al., 1991; Gu and Santi, 1991;
					Gustafsson and Björk, 1993;
					Kowalak et al., 1994;
					Constantinesco et al., 1999a;
					Nordlund et al., 2000; Johansson
					and Byström, 2002; Urbonavicius
					et al., 2002, 2005; Shigi et al., 2006;
					Choudhury et al., 2007a,b;
					Matsumoto et al., 2007: Alian et al.
					2008: Leulliot et al., 2008: Tomikawa
					et al., 2008, 2010: Avvai et al., 2009:
					Nishimasu et al., 2009; Auxilien
					et al., 2011; Hamdane et al., 2011a,b,
					2012, 2013; Yamagami et al., 2012
m ¹ ↓54 derivatives	A	TrmY [Mja 1640 (<i>Methano</i>	TrmY [Mja 1640 (<i>Methanocaldococcus jannaschii</i>), and Hvo 1989 (<i>Haloferax volcanii</i>)]	aloferax volcanii)]	
			Formation of the reverse Hoogsteen base pair with A58?	ase pair with A58?	
			Stabilization of the T-loop structure?		
			Ctabilization of the Tarm and Darm interaction?		Gunta 1984: Chan and Vilan 2010:
			stabilization of the Fairh and D-arm int	leraction (Gupta, 1964, Chen and Yuan, 2010; Chatterjee et al., 2012; Wurm et al., 2012
Cm56	A	aTrm56 or the complex of	aTrm56 or the complex of aFib, Nop5p and L7Ae with BoxC/D guide RNA (Pyrobaculum aerophylum)	RNA (Pyrobaculum aerophylum)	
			Stabilization of the T-loop structure?		
			Stabilization of the T-arm and D-arm interaction?	teraction?	Walker, 1983; Gupta, 1984; Constantinesco et al 1999a:
					Renalier et al., 2005; Kuratani et al., 2008; Tomikawa et al., 2013
m ⁵ C56	ш	<i>ح</i> .		L	

Table 1 Continued	inued				
Name and position	Distribution	Methyltransferase(s)	Contribution to tRNA structure	Function(s) in addition to structural role	References
m ¹ A57 and m ¹ A58	A	Trml (aTrml)	Formation of the reverse Hoogsteen t	Formation of the reverse Hoogsteen base pair between $m^{5}U54$ and $m^{1}A58$	
			Stabilization of the Floop structure		Walker, 1983; Gupta, 1984; Constantinesco et al., 1999a; Roovers et al., 2004; Guelorget et al., 2010, 2011; Tomikawa et al.,
m ¹ 157	A	Trml (aTrml)			
		m^{1} 157 is formed from m^{1} A57 by deamination	A57 by deamination		Walker, 1983; Gupta, 1984; Grosjean et al., 1995
m ² G57	A	2			Walker, 1983
m ¹ A58	E/B	Trm6-Trm61 complex, and	Trm6-Trm61 complex, and Trmt61B (Mitochondria)/Trml		
			Formation of the reverse Hoogsteen t	Formation of the reverse Hoogsteen base pair between $\mathrm{m}^{5}\mathrm{U54}$ and $\mathrm{m}^{1}\mathrm{A58}$	
			Stabilization of the T-loop structure		
				The m ¹ A58 modification in <i>S. cerev</i>	The $\mathrm{m^1A58}$ modification in S. cerevisiae initiator tRNA ^{Met} functions in the RNA
				quality control system	
				The m ¹ A58 modification in <i>T.</i> thermophilus tRNA is required for cell arowth at high temperatures.	Anderson et al., 1998, 2000; Droogmans et al., 2003; Kadaba et al. 2004: Ozanick et al. 2007·
				Please see main text	Barraud et al., 2008; Guelorget et al., 2010; Qiu et al., 2011; Chujo and Suzuki, 2012
This table focus are not explaine the references o see this review	This table focuses on the methylated nucl are not explained. They are summarized a: the references due to limitation of space. <i>I</i> see this review Towns and Begley (2012).	This table focuses on the methylated nucleosides in tRNA and tRNA me are not explained. They are summarized as "derivatives." Although many the references due to limitation of space. Abbreviations are as follows: EL see this review Towns and Begley (2012).	sthyltransferases. Consequently, the detaile v methylated nucleosides and their methylt ıkaryote, E; Eubacteria, B; Archaea, A. The v	ed biosynthetic pathways of complicated . transferases have been studied for more . eukaryotic enzyme names are based on th	This table focuses on the methylated nucleosides in tRNA and tRNA methyltransferases. Consequently, the detailed biosynthetic pathways of complicated modified nucleosides that do not involve methylation are not explained. They are summarized as "derivatives." Although many methylated nucleosides and their methyltransferases have been studied for more than 40 years, recent publications are mainly cited in the references due to limitation of space. Abbreviations are as follows: Eukaryote, E; Eubacteria, B; Archaea, A. The eukaryotic enzyme names are based on the yeast enzyme names. For human enzymes, please see this review Towns and Begley (2012).

Kalhor and Clarke, 2003; Kaneko et al., 2003; Kierzek and Kierzek, 2003; Takai and Yokoyama, 2003; Armengaud et al., 2004; Brulé et al., 2004; Bujnicki et al., 2004; Christian et al., 2004, 2013; Freude et al., 2004; Kadaba et al., 2004; Nasvall et al., 2004; Nureki et al., 2004; O'Dwyer et al., 2004; Okamoto et al., 2004; Roovers et al., 2004, 2008a,b, 2012; Singh et al., 2004; Cartlidge et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2005, 2011; Durant et al., 2005; Huang et al., 2005; Kalhor et al., 2005; Kirino et al., 2005; Leipuviene and Björk, 2005; Lu et al., 2005; Pleshe et al., 2005; Purushothaman et al., 2005; Renalier et al., 2005; Sakurai et al., 2005a,b; Umeda et al., 2005; Waas et al., 2005, 2007; Brzezicha et al., 2006; Goll et al., 2006; McCrate et al., 2006; Noma et al., 2006, 2010, 2011; Ote et al., 2006; Purta et al., 2006; Shigi et al., 2006; Takano et al., 2006; Takeda et al., 2006; Yim et al., 2006; Zegers et al., 2006; Auxilien et al., 2007, 2011, 2012; Begley et al., 2007; Christian and Hou, 2007; Choudhury et al., 2007a,b; Lee et al., 2007; Matsumoto et al., 2007; Ozanick et al., 2007; Walbott et al., 2007; Wilkinson et al., 2007; Alian et al., 2008; Barraud et al., 2008; Chernyakov et al., 2008; Goto-Ito et al., 2008, 2009; Ihsanawati et al., 2008; Klassen et al., 2008; Kurata et al., 2008; Kuratani et al., 2008, 2010; Leulliot et al., 2008; Meyer et al., 2008, 2009; Tomikawa et al., 2008, 2010, 2013; Toyooka et al., 2008; Awai et al., 2009, 2011; Lai et al., 2009; Moukadiri et al., 2009, 2014; Nishimasu et al., 2009; Osawa et al., 2009; Shi et al., 2009; Shimada et al., 2009; Umitsu et al., 2009; Ye et al., 2009; Arragain et al., 2010; Atta et al., 2010, 2012; Benítez-Páez et al., 2010; Böhme et al., 2010; Chen and Yuan, 2010; de Crécy-Lagard et al., 2010; Fu et al., 2010; Guelorget et al., 2010, 2011; Kempenaers et al., 2010; Mazauric et al., 2010; Ochi et al., 2010, 2013; Songe-Møller et al., 2010; Tkaczuk, 2010; D'Silva et al., 2011; Hamdane et al., 2011a,b, 2012, 2013; Joardar et al., 2011; Kitamura et al., 2011, 2012; Leihne et al., 2011; Liger et al., 2011; Lin et al., 2011; Menezes et al., 2011; Pearson and Carell, 2011; Qiu et al., 2011; van den Born et al., 2011; Wei et al., 2011; Armengod et al., 2012; Chan et al., 2012; Chatterjee et al., 2012; Chujo and Suzuki, 2012; Dewe et al., 2012; Fislage et al., 2012; Gehrig et al., 2012; Guy et al., 2012; Jöckel et al., 2012; Novoa et al., 2012; Pastore et al., 2012; Patil et al., 2012a,b; Perche-Letuvée et al., 2012; Sakaguchi et al., 2012; Towns and Begley, 2012; Vilardo et al., 2012; Wurm et al., 2012; Yamagami et al., 2012; Edelheit et al., 2013; Fujimori, 2013; Igoillo-Esteve et al., 2013; Kim and Almo, 2013; Ohira et al., 2013; Paris et al., 2013; Preston et al., 2013; Shao et al., 2013; Swinehart et al., 2013). In Table 1, several important tRNA modifications such as pseudouridine (ψ) , lysidine, agmatidine, queosine (Q), and 2-thiouridine (s²U) are not listed because their biosynthetic pathways do not include any methylation steps. Nevertheless, Table 1 outlines the roles of key tRNA modifications, and demonstrates that methylated nucleosides and tRNA methyltransferases are very important for such functions. The structures of typical methylated nucleosides are shown in Figure 1. It is impossible to depict all methylated nucleosides in Figure 1 due to limitations of space. Please visit the database (http://modomics.genesilico. pl/modifications/) to obtain additional structural information (Machnicka et al., 2013). The structure of tRNA and positions of the methylated nucleotides are shown in Figure 2. As for tRNA stabilization by methylated nucleosides, see this review (Motorin and Helm, 2010). Even today, the contributions to

tRNA structure and/or function in protein synthesis of many methylated nucleosides remain unknown (Table 1). However, various tRNA methyltransferases and their corresponding disruptant strains have been analyzed, and their functions are gradually being elucidated. Among the phenotypes of the gene disruptant strains, many phenomena have been reported that are difficult to understand directly in terms of enzyme function or effects on protein synthesis. For example, E. coli miaA mutant strains, which contain A37 instead of ms²i⁶A37 in the tRNA, show a moderate mutator phenotype that results in an increased rate of GC->AT transversion (Zhao et al., 2001). Furthermore, inosine 34 modification in fission yeast is essential for cell cycle progression (Tsutsumi et al., 2007). These phenomena might be caused by changes in the amount of certain protein(s), such as transcription factors, in the disruptant strains. In fact, recently, it has been reported that Trm9-specific tRNA modifications enhance codon-specific elongation of translation and promote increased levels of DNA damage response proteins (Begley et al., 2007). Furthermore, several eukaryotic tRNA methyltransferases (for example, human ALKBH8 Shimada et al., 2009; Fu et al., 2010 and yeast Trm2 Choudhury et al., 2007a,b) are involved directly in DNA repair and carcinogenesis because they exist as fusion proteins with other enzyme(s). However, it remains possible that some of the phenotypes observed in the disruptant strains are linked to unknown biological phenomena.

MULTIPLE REGULATION OF tRNA MODIFICATION PATHWAYS AND IMPORTANCE OF THE AVAILABILITY OF METHYL DONORS

In living cells, more than 50% of the high energy compounds such as ATP, that are produced by respiration are consumed by protein synthesis. Furthermore, the most important metabolic pathway of amino acids is protein synthesis. The metabolic pathways of energy and amino acids are closely linked. Studies on the pathways of tRNA modification have revealed that the RNA modification systems are located downstream of the pathways of energy and amino acid metabolism and that they are regulated at multiple steps (Herbig et al., 2002; Iwata-Reuyl, 2003; Ikeuchi et al., 2008, 2010; Shigi et al., 2008; Suzuki and Miyauchi, 2010; Phillips et al., 2012; Laxman et al., 2013; Miyauchi et al., 2013; Perrochia et al., 2013 **Figure 3** and **Table 1**). Thus, depletion of a certain compound (for example, one of the amino acids) or disruption of a metabolic pathway can result in incomplete modification of tRNA and thus an increased frequency of translational errors.

The structures of identified modified nucleosides suggest that the majority of tRNA modifications require a methylation step(s) (**Table 1** and **Figure 1**). The methyl-transfer reaction by majority of tRNA methyltransferases consumes S-adenosyl-L-methionine (AdoMet) as the methyl-group donor. Thus, the depletion of AdoMet leads to multiple incomplete modifications in tRNA. The precursors of AdoMet are ATP and methionine. These facts seem to provide an answer for the question, "Why do living organisms use the methionine codon as the initiation codon for protein synthesis?" Under conditions where methionine is limited and the tRNA contains multiple incomplete modifications, to avoid increase of frequency of translational error, the methionine codon is selected the initiation codon of protein synthesis. Analogously,



the fact that eubacterial methionyl-initiator tRNA^{Met} is formylated and formylation is the transfer of one carbon atom suggests that the supply of sources of single carbon atoms is very important for efficient and accurate protein synthesis in bacteria.

STRUCTURES OF tRNA METHYLTRANSFERASES

Transfer RNA methyltransferases can be divided into two types on the basis of their methyl donor: one class uses AdoMet whereas the other utilizes 5, 10-methylenetetrahydrofolate (Table 2). As mentioned above, the majority of tRNA methyltransferases are AdoMet-dependent. For information on the catalytic mechanisms of tRNA methyltransferases, (see Watanabe et al., 2005; Kuratani et al., 2008; Meyer et al., 2008; Osawa et al., 2009; Hou and Perona, 2010; Hamdane et al., 2012). Recently, a radical SAM enzyme was identified as a ribosomal RNA methyltransferase (Atta et al., 2010); radical SAM enzymes utilize a 4Fe-4S cluster to generate a reactive radical from AdoMet. No radical SAM enzymes that act as tRNA methyltransferases have been identified as yet. However, three types of radical SAM enzymes are involved in tRNA modifications (2-methylthiotransferases that generate ms²t⁶A derivatives, 2-methylthiotransferases that generate ms²i⁶A derivatives, and enzymes involved in the biosynthesis

of yW37 derivatives) (Suzuki et al., 2007; Atta et al., 2010, 2012; de Crécy-Lagard et al., 2010; Fujimori, 2013 and **Table 1**). Radical SAM tRNA methyltransferase(s) might be identified in the near future, because there are many methylated nucleosides, for which the responsible enzyme(s) have not yet been identified (**Table 1**).

AdoMet-dependent methyltransferases are classified by their catalytic domain (Schubert et al., 2003). Two different classes (classes I and IV) have been identified among the tRNA methyltransferases (Table 2). Class I enzymes contain the Rossmann fold in the catalytic domain (Figure 4A), whereas class IV enzymes have the topological-knot structure (Figure 4B). Class IV enzymes were predicted initially by bioinformatics studies to be members of the SpoU-TrmD (SPOUT) superfamily (Anantharaman et al., 2002). Subsequently, crystallographic studies (Table 2) revealed that these enzymes have a topological knot structure. YibK was predicted initially to be an RNA methyltransferase of unknown function (Gustafsson et al., 1996). Determination of the crystal structure revealed the presence of the topological-knot structure in the catalytic domain of YibK (Lim et al., 2003). Later, YibK was shown to function as tRNA (Cm34/cmnm⁵Um34) methyltransferase and was renamed TrmL (Benítez-Páez et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2013). At almost the same





Table 2 Classification of tRNA methyltransferases by crystal	
structures.	

Name	References
S-ADENOSYL-L-METHIONI	NE-DEPENDENT ENZYMES
Class I	
TrmA	Alian et al., 2008
TrmB	Zegers et al., 2006
MnmC	Barraud et al., 2008; Kitamura et al., 2011
Trml and aTrml	Roovers et al., 2004; Guelorget et al., 2010, 2011
TrmN	Fislage et al., 2012
Trm1	Ihsanawati et al., 2008; Awai et al., 2011
Trm4	Kuratani et al., 2010
Trm5	Goto-Ito et al., 2008, 2009
Trm8–Trm82	Leulliot et al., 2008
Trm14	Fislage et al., 2012
AlkB homolog 8 (domains)	Pastore et al., 2012
Fibrillalin, Nop5 and L7Ae	Ye et al., 2009; Lin et al., 2011
complex	
Dnmt2	Dong et al., 2001
Class IV	
TrmD	Ahn et al., 2003; Elkins et al., 2003; Liu et al., 2003
TrmH	Nureki et al., 2004; Pleshe et al., 2005
TrmL (YibK)	Lim et al., 2003; Liu et al., 2013
TrmY	Chen and Yuan, 2010; Chatterjee et al.,
	2012; Wurm et al., 2012
Trm10	Shao et al., 2013
aTrm56	Kuratani et al., 2008

Radical SAM-tRNA methyltransferase

Unknown	
5, 10-METHYLENETETRAHYDROFOLATE-DEPENDENT ENZYMES	
MnmG	Meyer et al., 2008; Osawa et al., 2009; Shi et al., 2009
TrmFO	Nishimasu et al., 2009

The enzymes, of which structures have been determined by X-ray crystal structure studies, are listed. There are various enzymes, of which structures have been predicted by their amino acid sequences, conserved motifs and bioinformatics studies (Gustafsson et al., 1996; Anantharaman et al., 2002; Purta et al., 2006; Roovers et al., 2008a; Phizicky and Hopper, 2010; Tkaczuk, 2010). Detailed insight into catalytic mechanisms of tRNA methyltransferases is only available in a few cases: see these references (Watanabe et al., 2005; Kuratani et al., 2008; Meyer et al., 2008; Osawa et al., 2009; Hou and Perona, 2010; Hamdane et al., 2012).

time, three groups independently reported the crystal structures of TrmD proteins and revealed that TrmD proteins also contain the topological-knot structure (Ahn et al., 2003; Elkins et al., 2003; Liu et al., 2003). In 1997, SpoU was found to have tRNA (Gm18) 2'-O-methyltransferase activity and was renamed as TrmH (Persson et al., 1997). We solved the crystal structure of TrmH in 2004 and confirmed that it is a class IV enzyme with the topological-knot structure (Nureki et al., 2004 and Figure 4C). These studies established the structural foundation of SPOUT enzymes (Anantharaman et al., 2002; Tkaczuk et al., 2007), which can be identified on the basis of the topological-knot structure.

To date, several tRNA methyltransferases have been identified as members of the SPOUT superfamily on the basis of crystal structures (Kuratani et al., 2008; Chen and Yuan, 2010; Chatteriee et al., 2012; Wurm et al., 2012; Shao et al., 2013) or structures predicted from amino acid sequences and conserved motifs (Renalier et al., 2005; Purta et al., 2006; Tkaczuk et al., 2007; Kempenaers et al., 2010, and Figure 4B). Furthermore, the SPOUT superfamily is expanding beyond the SpoU and TrmD families: novel enzymes such as an archaeal Trm10 homolog (Kempenaers et al., 2010) and TrmY (Chen and Yuan, 2010; Chatterjee et al., 2012; Wurm et al., 2012) have been identified. These enzymes cannot be simply classified into the SpoU or TrmD families. Therefore, it might be necessary to reclassify the enzymes of the SPOUT superfamily on the basis of their structure, the methylated nucleosides produced, and their reaction mechanisms.

The number of identified class I methyltransferases has also increased. Crystal structures of class I enzymes have been reported, as shown in Table 2; however, for many of the enzymes, structures have been predicted from their amino acid sequences and conserved motifs. The difficulty with crystallographic studies is that the eukaryotic and archaeal enzymes often require other subunit(s) to regulate (or stabilize) their activities (Anderson et al., 1998; Alexandrov et al., 2002, 2005; Purushothaman et al., 2005; Mazauric et al., 2010; Liger et al., 2011; Noma et al., 2011, and Table 1). Only a few structural studies of the multisubunit complexes have been performed, namely Trm8-Trm82 (Leulliot et al., 2008), and the Fibrillalin, Nop5 and L7Ae complex (Ye et al., 2009; Lin et al., 2011). In addition, structures for the tRNA bound-form of Trm5 (Goto-Ito et al., 2009) and T-armlike RNA bound-form of TrmA (Alian et al., 2008) have been reported. Furthermore, several eukaryotic tRNA methyltransferases are fused with other functional domains and are involved in other processes such as DNA repair (Choudhury et al., 2007a,b; Shimada et al., 2009; Fu et al., 2010; Songe-Møller et al., 2010; D'Silva et al., 2011; Leihne et al., 2011; Noma et al., 2011; van den Born et al., 2011; Pastore et al., 2012). Although the crystal structures of the RNA recognition motif and AlkB domains of ALKB8H, which also contains a methyltransferase domain, have been reported (Pastore et al., 2012), there is no entire crystal structure of a eukaryotic multidomain tRNA methyltransferase. To understand the reaction mechanisms, substrate specificity, subunit (domain) interactions, and regulation of activity of these enzymes, structural studies are necessary.

Among the enzyme complexes that are involved in tRNA methylation, the mnmEG and mnmC complexes, which are required for the mnm⁵U34 modification (Taya and Nishimura, 1973; Bujnicki et al., 2004; Yim et al., 2006; Meyer et al., 2008, 2009; Roovers et al., 2008b; Moukadiri et al., 2009, 2014; Osawa et al., 2009; Shi et al., 2009; Böhme et al., 2010; Kitamura et al., 2011, 2012; Pearson and Carell, 2011; Armengod et al., 2012; Kim and Almo, 2013), are only found in eubacteria, which shows the complexity of the Xm⁵U34 biosynthetic pathway. In eukaryotes, the biosynthetic pathways of Xm⁵U34 have not been completely clarified: Trm9 and the so-called "Elongator" complex are known to be involved (Huang et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2011; Leihne et al., 2011). Furthermore, although we determined recently that tRNA^{Leu} from Thermoplasma acidophilum,



(Class IV). The topologies of class I (A) and IV (B) folds are compared. Circles and triangles show α -helices and β -strands, respectively. The AdoMet binding sites and three conserved motifs in the class IV are shown in red and green, respectively. The known class IV enzymes work as a dimer. (C) The dimer

enzyme. Fluorescence derived from three tryptophan residues (Trp73, Trp126, and Trp191) was monitored in the stopped-flow pre-steady state kinetic analysis as described in the main text. This figure is based on these publications Clouet-d'Orval et al. (2005), Ochi et al. (2013) with slight modifications.

a thermo-acidophilic archaeon, has 5-carbamoylmethyluridine at position 34 (ncm⁵U34) (Tomikawa et al., 2013), the biosynthetic pathway in archaea is unknown.

As studies on eukaryotic enzymes have progressed, the number of complex enzymes identified has increased. For example, mammalian enzymes often have additional domains, regulatory subunits and/or paralogs. For information on the identification and prediction of human tRNA methyltransferases, see this review (Towns and Begley, 2012).

TRANSFER RNA RECOGNITION BY tRNA METHYLTRANSFERASES

Transfer RNA methyltransferases strictly modify a specific nucleoside at a specific position in a tRNA. Within the field of nucleic acid-related enzymes, a common question is "How does the enzyme recognize a specific substrate and act at a specific position?" Consequently, the substrate specificities of tRNA methyltransferases have been studied by measuring activities in crude cell extracts, microinjecting labeled tRNA, biochemical studies with purified enzymes, crystallographic studies, and analyses of tRNA from disruptant strains.

In general, tRNA methyltransferases recognize the local structure around the target site in the tRNA, including tertiary structural elements such as stem-loop structure(s). TrmA from *E. coli* recognizes U54 in the ribose-phosphate backbone of the T-arm (Gu and Santi, 1991; Alian et al., 2008). *Aquifex aeolicus* TrmB requires the five nucleotides AGG*UC sandwiched between two stem-loop structures (the asterisk corresponds to the methylation site, G46) (Okamoto et al., 2004). TrmFO recognizes the G53-C61 base pair and U54U55C56 sequence in the T-arm (Yamagami et al., 2012). TrmD recognizes the purine36G37 sequence in the anticodon-arm-like microhelix (Brulé et al., 2004; Takeda et al., 2006). In some cases, tertiary interactions are required. For example, crystallographic studies of the complex between Trm5 and tRNA revealed that the enzyme requires interaction between the D- and T-loop of the tRNA (Goto-Ito et al., 2009), which is consistent with the results of biochemical studies with the purified enzyme (Christian et al., 2004; Christian and Hou, 2007).

The target site for methylation is often embedded in the L-shaped tRNA structure. Consequently, in many (or almost all) cases, recognition of tRNA by tRNA methyltransferases seems to involve multiple steps (initial binding and induced fit processes). Although it is very difficult to prepare intermediate complexes, we recently analyzed the initial binding and changes in structure of TrmH by stopped-flow presteady-state kinetic analysis (Ochi et al., 2010, 2013). TrmH binds to tRNA within 10 ms in the initial binding process, in which substrate and non-substrate (methylated) tRNAs are not distinguished. Methylated tRNA is excluded from the complex subsequently due to steric hindrance between the methyl groups in the tRNA and AdoMet before the induced-fit process occurs. The advantage of this mechanism is that methylated tRNA does not severely inhibit the methyl-transfer reaction as a competitive inhibitor. Subsequently, in the induced-fit process, which takes more than 50 ms, G18 is recognized and ribose introduced into the catalytic pocket. During the induced-fit process, movement of Trp126 in motif 2 is observed (Ochi et al., 2013 and Figure 4C).

Several tRNA methyltransferases act on multiple sites in tRNA. For example, archaeal TrmI acts on both A57 and A58 (Roovers et al., 2004; Guelorget et al., 2010). Similarly, *Aquifex aeolicus* Trm1 acts on both G26 and G27 (Awai et al., 2009). On the basis of biochemical studies, we determined that this eubacterial Trm1 recognizes the methylation sites (G26 and G27) from the T-arm (Awai et al., 2009, 2011) whereas archaeal Trm1 recognizes G26 from the D-stem and variable region (Constantinesco et al., 1999b). These Trm1 proteins share high sequence homology (Awai et al., 2009); however, comparison of the crystal structures revealed that the distribution of positive charges on the enzyme surface differs between archaeal (Ihsanawati et al., 2008) and eubacterial (Awai et al., 2011) Trm1. Thus, these studies show how difficult it is to predict target sites on the basis of amino acid sequences. Furthermore, in some cases, other subunits regulate the site specificity. For example, the methylation site recognized by Trm7 is determined by its partner subunit (Guy et al., 2012) and the site specificity of archaeal Trm4 changes in the presence of archease (Auxilien et al., 2007). Moreover, the m⁵C modifications in eukaryotic tRNA are regulated by the presence of an intron in the precursor tRNA (Motorin and Grosjean, 1999; Brzezicha et al., 2006; Auxilien et al., 2012). In addition, some 2'-O-methylated nucleosides in archaeal tRNA are introduced by the aFib, Nop5p and L7Ae complex with the BoxC/D guide RNA system (Clouetd'Orval et al., 2001, 2005; Bortolin et al., 2003; Singh et al., 2004; Renalier et al., 2005; Ye et al., 2009; Joardar et al., 2011; Lin et al., 2011). In some cases, an intron in the precursor tRNA acts as the guide RNA (Clouet-d'Orval et al., 2001, 2005; Bortolin et al., 2003; Singh et al., 2004). This system is useful in minimizing the size of the genome. In the future, it is possible that considerable numbers of 2'-O-methylated modifications in archaeal tRNA might be identified as products of this system.

REGULATION OF THE DEGRADATION AND LOCALIZATION OF tRNA BY METHYLATED NUCLEOSIDES

As shown in **Table 1**, modifications of the anticodon loop (positions 32–38) are involved directly in protein synthesis whereas other modifications affect the structure of the tRNA. Consequently, for a long time, it was thought that modifications outside the anticodon loop acted to stabilize tRNA structure and regulate the half-life of tRNAs. Indeed, we observed in the thermophilic eubacterium *Thermus thermophiles* that hypomodification at multiple sites in tRNA owing to disruption of one of the modification enzymes promotes the degradation of tRNA^{Phe} and tRNA^{Lys} at high temperatures (Tomikawa et al., 2010).

In the case of eukaryotes, tRNA methylations work coordinately as stabilizing factors and markers of maturation, and the degree of modification changes in response to various stresses. Hypomodified tRNAs are degraded aggressively. For example, in the *Saccharomyces cerevisiae trm4* (synthesizes m⁵C at multiple sites) and *trm8* (produces m⁷G46) double knock-out strain, the half-life of tRNA^{Val} is shortened and the strain shows a growth defect (Alexandrov et al., 2006). Therefore, tRNA modifications stabilize tRNA structure coordinately and systems to degrade hypomodified tRNAs exist in eukaryotic cells (Alexandrov et al., 2006; Chernyakov et al., 2008; Phizicky and Hopper, 2010; D'Silva et al., 2011; Dewe et al., 2012). Furthermore, in *S. cerevisiae*, the m¹A58 modification by the Trm6–Trm61 complex regulates both the degradation of initiator tRNA^{Met} and its transport from the nucleus to the cytoplasm (Anderson et al., 1998, 2000; Kadaba

et al., 2004). The m¹A58 modification functions a marker of maturation and absence of modification leads to degradation of initiator tRNA^{Met} during transport. Thus, m¹A58 is part of the RNA quality control system. Moreover, in the case of S. cerevisiae, splicing is performed in the cytoplasm (Takano et al., 2005) and precursor tRNAs are matured during repeated-transports between the nucleus and cytoplasm (Ohira and Suzuki, 2011). Therefore, some tRNA modifications might act as the markers of maturation at halfway checkpoints. In Leishmania tarentolae, a proportion of tRNA^{Glu} and tRNA^{Gln} is transported from the cytoplasm to the mitochondria (Kaneko et al., 2003). In the cvtoplasmic tRNA, U34 is modified to mcm⁵s²U34, whereas in the mitochondrial tRNA it is modified to mcm⁵Um34. These results suggest that the s²U34 modification may suppress transport from the cytoplasm to mitochondria. Given that both the s²U and Um modifications shift the equilibrium of ribose puckering to the C3'-endo form (Kawai et al., 1992), these modifications have a nearly equivalent stabilizing effect on the codon-anticodon interaction. The 5-methylcarboxymethyl (mcm) group restricts wobble base pairing (Takai and Yokoyama, 2003). Taken together, these findings suggest that a substantial number of methylated nucleosides contribute to RNA quality control systems and/or the regulation of tRNA localization, even though they were considered previously to have simply a structural role.

ADAPTATION OF PROTEIN SYNTHESIS TO ENVIRONMENTAL CHANGE THROUGH A NETWORK BETWEEN MODIFIED NUCLEOSIDES AND tRNA MODIFICATION ENZYMES tRNA MODIFICATIONS IN *T. THERMOPHILUS*

Thermus thermophilus provides an example of a living organism that utilizes changes in the structural rigidity (flexibility) of tRNA through multiple nucleoside modifications to adapt protein synthesis to environmental changes. Thermus thermophilus is an extreme thermophilic eubacterium found in hot springs and can grow at a wide range of temperatures (50~83°C). Under natural conditions, the temperature of hot springs can be changed dramatically by several factors, for instance the overflow of hot spring water, snow falling, and the influx of river water. Thermus thermophilus can synthesize proteins in response to these temperature changes. Three distinct modifications (Gm18, m⁵s²U54, and m¹A58) are found in *T. thermophilus* tRNA and the combination of these modifications increases the melting temperature of tRNA by near 10°C as compared with that of the unmodified transcript (Watanabe et al., 1976; Horie et al., 1985; Shigi et al., 2006; Tomikawa et al., 2010). Although these modifications are very important as structural factors in tRNA, they do not have an effect on translational fidelity below 65°C and the level of modification is very low in tRNA from cells cultured at 50°C (Figure 5A). This change in the extent of modification reflects the adaptation of protein synthesis to temperature change (Yokoyama et al., 1987). Transfer RNAPhe from cells cultured at 80°C efficiently synthesizes poly(U) at high temperatures (above 65°C). In contrast, tRNA^{Phe} from cells cultured at 50°C, in which the levels of the three modifications are low, works efficiently at low temperatures (Figure 5B). Thus, the levels of three modified nucleosides, Gm18, m⁵s²U54, and m¹A58, in tRNA control the elongation of translation via the flexibility of the tRNA. These findings were



FIGURE 5 | Network between modified nucleotides and tRNA modification enzymes observed in *T. thermophilus*. (A) The proportion of Gm18, m^5s^2 U54, and m^1 A58 in tRNA (contents in tRNA fraction) increases with increasing culture temperature. (B) Transfer RNA^{Phe} from cells cultured at 80°C can efficiently synthesize Poly(U) at high temperatures. In contrast, at low temperatures, tRNA^{Phe} from cells cultured at 50°C can work more efficiently than tRNA from cells cultured at 80°C. (C) Modifications of tRNA in *T. thermophilus* are depicted on the clover-leaf structure. Dotted lines show the tertiary base pairs. The levels of the m^7 G46 and ψ 55 modifications marked by yellow are regulated by the m^7 G46 and ψ 55 modifications. (D) At temperatures greater than 65°C, the presence of m^7 G46 increases the rates of modification of Gm18 by TrmH, m¹A58 by TrmI and m¹G37 by TrmD. The

reported in 1987 (Yokoyama et al., 1987). However, at the beginning of the twenty-first century, the mechanisms of regulation of these modifications remained unknown.

SWITCHING OF NETWORK BETWEEN MODIFIED NUCLEOSIDES AND tRNA MODIFICATION ENZYMES

Initially, we assumed that transcriptional and/or translational regulation of the tRNA modification enzymes was involved in the regulation of the three modifications. However, unexpectedly, we have observed that the phenomenon can be simply explained by the RNA recognition mechanisms of the tRNA modification enzymes (Shigi et al., 2002; Tomikawa et al., 2010; Ishida et al., 2011; Yamagami et al., 2012). Several common modifications (for example, m⁷G46 and ψ 55) are found in *T. thermophilus* tRNA in addition to Gm18, m⁵s²U54, and m¹A58. When the genes for the modification enzymes for m⁷G46 and ψ 55 (*trmB* and *truB*, respectively) were disrupted individually, the levels of Gm18, m⁵s²U54 and m¹A58 in tRNA were changed dramatically acceleration of m¹A58 formation by Trml in the presence of m⁷G46 and m⁵U54 has been confirmed only by *in vitro* experiments. The m¹A58 modification accelerates the thio-transfer reaction by the sulfur atom exchange complex that is required for the formation of m⁵s²U54. Therefore, at high temperatures, m⁷G46, m⁵U54, and m¹A58 coordinately promote the formation of m⁵s²U54 and increases tRNA stability. In contrast, at low temperatures below 65°C, the ψ 55 modification increases rigidity within the local structure of the tRNA as described in the main text. This network provides a mechanism by which extreme thermophilic eubacteria adapt to temperature changes. The network regulates the order of modifications in tRNA. This figure summarizes the experimental data in these publications Yokoyama et al. (1987), Shigi et al. (2006), Tomikawa et al. (2010), Ishida et al. (2011), Yamagami et al. (2012).

(Tomikawa et al., 2010; Ishida et al., 2011). Thus, modified nucleosides and tRNA modification enzymes form a network, and this network regulates the extent of modifications on the basis of temperature (**Figures 5C,D**).

At high temperatures (above 65° C), m⁷G46 functions as a marker of precursor tRNA and increases the reaction rates of other modification enzymes. In contrast, at low temperatures, ψ 55 confers local structural rigidity and slows down the rate of formation of other modifications around ψ 55 (that is, Gm18, m⁵s²U54, and m¹A58). This inhibitory effect weakens as the temperature increases and is not observed above 65°C. Thus, the m⁷G46 and ψ 55 modifications work as an accelerator and a brake in the network, respectively. The advantage of this mechanism is that the network does not include any transcriptional or translational regulatory steps: protein synthesis is not necessary. Thus, the response of the network to environmental changes is very rapid. This is a typical strategy in eubacteria, where genome size is limited.

Similar networks between modified nucleosides and tRNA modification enzymes have also been reported in mesophiles. For example, ms^2i^6A37 modification in *E. coli* tRNA is required for 2'-O-methylation by TrmL (Benítez-Páez et al., 2010), and the Cm32 and Gm34 modifications in *S. cerevisiae* tRNA^{Phe} are required for the formation of yW37 from m¹G37 (Guy et al., 2012). However, the network in *T. thermophilus* is distinct because the modifications are almost all in the three-dimensional core of the tRNA and the network responds to environmental changes.

GENETIC DISEASE AND tRNA METHYLATION

Modifications of tRNA regulate protein synthesis. Consequently, if a disruption of tRNA modification is not lethal, it can directly cause a genetic disease. In fact, there are several reports concerning the relationship between genetic disease and tRNA modification (Yasukawa et al., 2001; Suzuki et al., 2002, 2011b; Freude et al., 2004; Kirino et al., 2005; Umeda et al., 2005; Wei et al., 2011; Towns and Begley, 2012; Igoillo-Esteve et al., 2013). In particular, the number of reports of a link between diabetes and tRNA modification are increasing, which suggests that an increase in the frequency of translation errors has an effect on energy metabolism. The severe disruption of energy metabolism often damages muscle and neuronal cells, which consume large amounts of energy. This perspective enables mitochondrial diseases that are caused by a problem with mitochondrial tRNA modification to be understood (Yasukawa et al., 2001; Suzuki et al., 2002, 2011b; Kirino et al., 2005; Umeda et al., 2005). Furthermore, several tRNA methyltransferases are fused to DNA repair enzymes, which means that these enzymes are related directly to DNA repair and carcinogenesis (Choudhury et al., 2007a,b; Shimada et al., 2009). Moreover, abnormal tRNA modifications have been also reported in cancers (Kuchino and Borek, 1978; Kuchino et al., 1981; Shindo-Okada et al., 1981). These might be caused by the rearrangement of chromosomes in cancer cells.

INFECTION, IMMUNITY, AND tRNA METHYLATIONS—tRNA THERAPY

Among the tRNA modification enzymes, tRNA guanine transglycosidase (Tgt), which is required for the production of Q34, and tRNA ψ 55 synthase (TruB), which generates ψ 55, are essential factors for infection by Shigella flexneri (Durand et al., 1994) and Pseudomonas aeruginosa (Saga et al., 1997), respectively. Similarly, we also found that tRNA (m⁷G46) methyltransferase is essential for infection by Colletotrichum lagenarium, an infectious fungus (Takano et al., 2006). Furthermore, tRNAs that contain mcm⁵U modifications are the target of Kluyveromyces lactis gamma-toxin (Lu et al., 2005) and Pichia acaciae killer toxin (Klassen et al., 2008). Moreover, given that retroviruses utilize host tRNA as the primer for reverse transcription, tRNA methylation and methyltransferases are involved in both reverse transcription and the packaging of virus particles. For example, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV; AIDS virus) utilizes the m¹A58 modification in tRNA^{Lys}3 as the terminator of reverse transcription (see reviews, Marquet, 1998; Saadatmand and Kleiman, 2012; Sleiman et al., 2012). Consequently, the regulation of tRNA modification and modification enzymes might be a powerful tool to control infectious organisms.

When an exogenous single-stranded RNA such as *Haemophilus influenzae* tRNA is present in humans, Tolllike receptor 7 (TLR7) forms a dimer structure and then activates the immune response systems (**Figure 6**). However, endogenous or *E. coli* tRNA does not stimulate TLR7. The mechanism of differentiation was clarified recently by two groups, who found that the Gm18 modification in *E. coli* tRNA suppresses immunostimulation *via* TLR7 (Gehrig et al., 2012; Jöckel et al., 2012). Thus, enterobacteria exploit the Gm18 modification in tRNA to avoid the host immune system. Furthermore, given that Gm18-modified tRNA acts as an antagonist of TLR7 (Jöckel et al., 2012), Gm18-modified tRNA might be an effective anti-inflammatory drug.

EVOLUTION OF MODIFICATIONS IN tRNA

Finally, it is worthwhile discussing the evolution of modifications in tRNA. During the early period of chemical evolution (see reviews Cermakian and Cedergren, 1998; Joyce and Orgel, 2006), inosine could be used as a basic component of RNA, because it can be synthesized from adenosine non-enzymatically. Inosine seems to have been excluded after the appearance of genes because it changes the genetic information during the replication process. Simple methylated nucleosides such as m¹G became essential when the reading frame of protein synthesis was separated into three-nucleotide units (Björk et al., 1989, 2001). Thus, several methylated nucleosides seem to have appeared during the chemical evolution period (Cermakian and Cedergren, 1998). After the appearance of the reading frame, the importance of the availability of methyl groups increased and it seems that the methionine codon was selected as the translation initiation codon.

It appears that complicated enzymes were not formed during the period of chemical evolution (Joyce and Orgel, 2006). The early enzymes might have been oligopeptides and might have included metals as the catalytic center, as is the case for deaminases (Carter, 1998; Schaub and Keller, 2002). It is possible that the codons were not fixed strictly as is observed in the universal code (Jukes, 1973; Cedergren et al., 1986; Osawa et al., 1992). However, it is likely that the most basic catalytic core of tRNA methyltransferases was established when cell-like organisms began to exchange their components and genes because the basic structure of tRNA methyltransferases is shared by all living organisms found today (Figure 4 and Table 2). The structures of methyltransferases (Schubert et al., 2003) suggest that RNA methyltransferases, which were required for protein synthesis, evolved to yield DNA and protein methyltransferases many times during the evolution of life. The mechanisms to generate the complicated modified nucleotides that regulate the wobble base pair seem to have arisen after the origination of living organisms because they show considerable diversity and involve multistep reactions (Table 1).

The temperature of primordial Earth was higher than that of the Earth at present. Consequently, several nucleoside modifications in tRNA and rRNA would be necessary to stabilize the structure of the RNA (Motorin and Helm, 2010). However, it is likely that the network between modified nucleosides and tRNA modification enzymes that is observed in extreme thermophiles (**Figure 5D** and section Adaptation of Protein Synthesis


to Environmental Change Through a Network Between Modified Nucleosides and tRNA Modification Enzymes) was established after the cooling of the Earth because it responds to low temperatures (Ishida et al., 2011). Obviously, the functions of modified nucleotides with respect to the RNA quality control system and regulation of cellular localization were acquired after the appearance of eukaryotes (see section Regulation of the Degradation and Localization of tRNA by Methylated Nucleosides).

Transfer RNA modifications are still evolving. The most powerful driving force is the existence of infectious organisms (see section Infection, Immunity, and tRNA Methylations—tRNA Therapy). Hosts need to distinguish endogenous RNA from exogenous RNA to prevent infection and infectious organisms need to avoid the host defense system to survive. Consequently, tRNA modifications and modification enzymes are still subject to evolution even today.

REFERENCES

- Ahn, H. J., Kim, H. W., Yoon, H. J., Lee, B., Suh, S. S., and Yang, J. K. (2003). Crystal structure of tRNA(m¹G37)methyltransferase: insights into tRNA recognition. *EMBO J.* 22, 2593–2603. doi: 10.1093/emboj/cdg269
- Alexandrov, A., Chernyakov, I., Gu, W., Hiley, S. L., Hughes, T. R., Grayhack, E. J., et al. (2006). Rapid tRNA decay can result from lack of nonessential modifications. *Mol. Cell* 21, 87–96. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2005. 10.036
- Alexandrov, A., Grayhack, E. J., and Phizicky, E. M. (2005). tRNA m⁷G methyltransferase Trm8p/Trm82p: evidence linking activity to a growth phenotype and implicating Trm82p in maintaining levels of active Trm8p. RNA 11, 821–830. doi: 10.1261/rna.2030705
- Alexandrov, A., Martzen, M. R., and Phizicky, E. M. (2002). Two proteins that form a complex are required for 7-methylguanosine modification of yeast tRNA. *RNA* 8, 1253–1266. doi: 10.1017/S1355838202024019
- Alian, A., Lee, T. T., Griner, S. L., Stroud, R. M., and Finer-Moore, J. (2008). Structure of a TrmA-RNA complex: a consensus RNA fold contributes to substrate selectivity and catalysis in m⁵U methyltransferases. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 105, 6876–6881. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0802247105
- Anantharaman, V., Koonin, E. V., and Aravind, L. (2002). SPOUT: a class of methyltransferases that includes *spoU* and *trmD* RNA methylase superfamilies, and novel superfamilies of predicted prokaryotic RNA methylases. *J. Mol. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 4, 71–75.

- Anderson, J., Phan, L., Cuesta, R., Carison, B. A., Pak, M., Asano, K., et al. (1998). The essential Gcd10p-Gcd14p nuclear complex is required for 1methyladenosine modification and maturation of initiator methionyl-tRNA. *Genes Dev.* 12, 3650–3652. doi: 10.1101/gad.12.23.3650
- Anderson, J., Phan, L., and Hinnebusch, A. G. (2000). The Gcd10p/Gcd14p complex is the essential two-subunit tRNA(1-methyladenosine) methyltransferase of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 97, 5173–5178. doi: 10.1073/pnas.090102597
- Armengaud, J., Urbonavicius, J., Fernandez, B., Chaussinand, G., Bujnicki, J. M., and Grosjean, H. (2004). N²-methylation of guanosine at position 10 in tRNA is catalyzed by a THUMP domain-containing, S-adenosylmethionine-dependent methyltransferase, conserved in Archaea and Eukaryota. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 37142–37152. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M403845200
- Armengod, M. E., Moukadiri, I., Prado, S., Ruiz-Partida, R., Benítez-Páez, A., Villarroya, M., et al. (2012). Enzymology of tRNA modification in the bacterial MnmEG pathway. *Biochimie* 94, 1510–1520. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2012. 02.019
- Arragain, S., Handelman, S. K., Forouhar, F., Wei, F. Y., Tomizawa, K., Hunt, J. F., et al. (2010). Identification of eukaryotic and prokaryotic methylthiotransferase for biosynthesis of 2-methylthio-N⁶-threonylcarbamoyladenosine in tRNA. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 28425–28433. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110. 106831
- Atta, M., Arragain, S., Fontecave, M., Mulliez, E., Hunt, J. F., Luff, J. D., et al. (2012). The methylthiolation reaction mediated by the Radical-SAM enzymes. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1824, 1223–1230. doi: 10.1016/j.bbapap.2011.11.007
- Atta, M., Mulliez, E., Arragain, S., Forouhar, F., Hunt, J. F., and Fontecave, M. (2010). S-Adenosylmethionine-dependent radical-based modification of biological macromolecules. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* 20, 684–692. doi: 10.1016/j.sbi.2010.09.009
- Auxilien, S., El Khadali, F., Rasmussen, A., Douthwaite, S., and Grosjean, H. (2007). Archease from *Pyrococcus abyssi* improves substrate specificity and solubility of a tRNA m⁵C methyltransferase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 18711–18721. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M607459200
- Auxilien, S., Guérineau, V., Szweykowska-Kuliñska, Z., and Golinelli-Pimpaneau, B. (2012). The human tRNA m (5) C methyltransferase misu is multisitespecific. RNA Biol. 9, 1331–1338. doi: 10.4161/rna.22180
- Auxilien, S., Rasmussen, A., Rose, S., Brochier-Armanet, C., Husson, C., Fourmy, D., et al. (2011). Specificity shifts in the rRNA and tRNA nucleotide targets of archaeal and bacterial m⁵U methyltransferases. *RNA* 17, 45–53. doi: 10.1261/rna.2323411
- Awai, T., Kimura, S., Tomikawa, C., Ochi, A., Ihsanawati, Bessho, Y., et al. (2009). *Aquifex aeolicus* tRNA (N^2 , N^2 -guanine)-dimethyltransferase (Trm1) catalyzes transfer of methyl groups not only to guanine 26 but also to guanine 27 in tRNA. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 20467–20478. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.020024

www.frontiersin.org

A., et al. (2012). The archaeal COG1901/DUF358 SPOUT-methyltransferase

- Awai, T., Ochi, A., Ihsanawati, Sengoku, T., Hirata, A., Bessho, Y., et al. (2011). Substrate tRNA recognition mechanism of a multisite-specific tRNA methyltransferase, *Aquifex aeolicus* Trm1, based on the X-ray crystal structure. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 35236–35246. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.253641
- Barraud, P., Golinelli-Pimpaneau, B., Atmanene, C., Sanglier, S., Van Dorsselaer, A., Droogmans, L., et al. (2008). Crystal structure of *Thermus thermophilus* tRNA m¹A58 methyltransferase and biophysical characterization of its interaction with tRNA. *J. Mol. Biol.* 377, 535–550. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2008. 01.041
- Begley, U., Dyavaiah, M., Patil, A., Rooney, J. P., DiRenzo, D., Young, C. M., et al. (2007). Trm9-catalyzed tRNA modifications link translation to the DNA damage response. *Mol. Cell* 28, 860–870. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2007.09.021
- Benítez-Páez, A., Villarroya, M., Douthwaite, S., Gabaldón, T., and Armengod, M. E. (2010). YibK is the 2'-O-methyltransferase TrmL that modifies the wobble nucleotide in *Escherichia coli* tRNA(Leu) isoacceptors. *RNA* 16, 2131–2143. doi: 10.1261/rna.2245910
- Björk, G. R., Jacobsson, K., Nilsson, K., Johansson, M. J., Byström, A. S., and Persson, O. P. (2001). A primordial tRNA modification required for the evolution of life? *EMBO J.* 20, 231–239. doi: 10.1093/emboj/20.1.231
- Björk, G. R., Wikstrom, P. M., and Byström, A. S. (1989). Prevention of translational frameshifting by the modified nucleoside 1-methylguanosine. *Science* 244, 986–989. doi: 10.1126/science.2471265
- Böhme, S., Meyer, S., Krüger, A., Steinhoff, H. J., Wittinghofer, A., and Klare, J. P. (2010). Stabilization of G domain conformations in the tRNA-modifying MnmE-GidA complex observed with double electron electron resonance spectroscopy. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 16991–17000. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.096131
- Bortolin, M. L., Bachellerie, J. P., and Clouet-d'Orval, B. (2003). *In vitro* RNP assembly and methylation guide activity of an unusual box C/D RNA, cis-acting archaeal pre-tRNA(Trp). *Nucleic Acids Res.* 31, 6524–6535. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkg860
- Brulé, H., Elliott, M., Redlak, M., Zehner, Z. E., and Holmes, W. M. (2004). Isolation and characterization of the human tRNA-(N¹G37) methyltransferase (TRM5) and comparison to the *Escherichia coli* TrmD protein. *Biochemistry* 43, 9243–9255. doi: 10.1021/bi049671q
- Brzezicha, B., Schmidt, M., Makalowska, I., Jarmolowski, A., Pienkowska, J., and Szweykowska-Kulinska, Z. (2006). Identification of human tRNA:m⁵C methyltransferase catalysing intron-dependent m⁵C formation in the first position of the anticodon of the pre-tRNA Leu (CAA). *Nucleic Acids Res.* 34, 6034–6043. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkl765
- Bujnicki, J. M., Oudjama, Y., Roovers, M., Owczarek, S., Caillet, J., and Droogmans, L. (2004). Identification of a bifunctional enzyme MnmC involved in the biosynthesis of a hypermodified uridine in the wobble position of tRNA. *RNA* 18, 1236–1242. doi: 10.1261/rna.7470904
- Byström, A. S., and Björk, G. R. (1982). Chromosomal location and cloning of the gene (trmD) responsible for the synthesis of tRNA (m1G) methyltransferase in *Escherichia coli* K-12. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 188, 440–446. doi: 10.1007/BF00 330046
- Carter, C. W. Jr. (1998). "Chapter 20 nucleoside deaminases for cytidine and adenosine: comparison with deaminases acting on RNA," in *Modification and Editing* of RNA, edS H. Grosjean and R. Benne(Washington, DC: ASM press), 363–375.
- Cartlidge, R. A., Knebel, A., Peggie, M., Alexandrov, A., Phizicky, E. M., and Cohen, P. (2005). The tRNA methylase METTL1 is phosphorylated and inactivated by PKB and RSK *in vitro* and in cells. *EMBO J.* 24, 1696–1705. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj.7600648
- Cavaillé, J., Chetouani, F., and Bachellerie, J.-P. (1999). The yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae YDL112w ORF encodes the putative 2'-O-ribose methyltransferase catalyzing the formation of Gm18 in tRNAs. RNA 5, 66–81. doi: 10.1017/S1355838299981475
- Cedergren, R., Grosjean, H., and Larue, B. (1986). Primordial reading of genetic information. *Biosystems* 19, 259–266. doi: 10.1016/0303-2647(86)90002-X
- Cermakian, N., and Cedergren, R. (1998). "Chapter 29 Modified nucleosides always were: an evolutionary model," in *Modification and Editing of RNA*, edS H. Grosjean and R. Benne (Washington, DC: ASM press), 535–541.
- Chan, C. T., Pang, Y. L., Deng, W., Babu, I. R., Dyavaiah, M., Begley, T. J., et al. (2012). Reprogramming of tRNA modifications controls the oxidative stress response by codon-biased translation of proteins. *Nat Commun.* 3, 937. doi: 10.1038/ncomms1938

Methylated nucleosides in tRNA and tRNA methyltransferases

members, together with pseudouridine synthase Pus10, catalyze the formation of 1-methylpseudouridine at position 54 of tRNA. *RNA* 18, 421–433. doi: 10.1261/rna.030841.111

- Chen, C., Huang, B., Anderson, J. T., and Byström, A. S. (2011). Unexpected accumulation of ncm(5)U and ncm(5)S(2) (U) in a *trm9* mutant suggests an additional step in the synthesis of mcm(5)U and mcm(5)S(2)U. *PLoS ONE* 6:e20783. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0020783
- Chen, H. Y., and Yuan, Y. A. (2010). Crystal structure of Mj1640/DUF358 protein reveals a putative SPOUT-class RNA methyltransferase. *J. Mol. Cell. Biol.* 2, 366–374. doi: 10.1093/jmcb/mjq034

Chen, P., Crain, P. F., Näsvall, S. J., Pomerantz, S. C., and Björk, G. R. (2005). A "gain of function" mutation in a protein mediates production of novel modified nucleosides. *EMBO J.* 24, 1842–1851. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj. 7600666

- Chernyakov, I., Whipple, J. M., Kotelawala, L., Grayhack, E. J., and Phizicky, E. M. (2008). Degradation of several hypomodified mature tRNA species in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* is mediated by Met22 and the 5'-3' exonucleases Rat1 and Xrn1. *Genes Dev.* 22, 1369–1380. doi: 10.1101/gad. 1654308
- Choudhury, S. A., Asefa, B., Kauler, P., and Chow, T. Y. (2007b). Synergistic effect of TRM2/RNC1 and EXO1 in DNA double-strand break repair in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 304, 127–134. doi: 10.1007/s11010-007-9493-7
- Choudhury, S. A., Asefa, B., Webb, A., Ramotar, D., and Chow, T. Y. (2007a). Functional and genetic analysis of the *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* RNC1/TRM2: evidences for its involvement in DNA double-strand break repair. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 300, 215–226. doi: 10.1007/s11010-006-9386-1
- Christian, T., Evilia, C., Williams, S., and Hou, Y. M. (2004). Distinct origins of tRNA(m¹G37) methyltransferase. J. Mol. Biol. 339, 707–719. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2004.04.025
- Christian, T., Gamper, H., and Hou, Y. M. (2013). Conservation of structure and mechanism by Trm5 enzymes. *RNA* 19, 1192–1199. doi: 10.1261/rna.039503.113
- Christian, T., and Hou, Y. M. (2007). Distinct determinants of tRNA recognition by the TrmD and Trm5 methyl transferases. *J. Mol. Biol.* 373, 623–632. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2007.08.010
- Chujo, T., and Suzuki, T. (2012). Trmt61B is a methyltransferase responsible for 1-methyladenosine at position 58 of human mitochondrial tRNAs. *RNA* 18, 2269–2276. doi: 10.1261/rna.035600.112
- Clouet-d'Orval, B., Bortolin, M. L., Gaspin, C., and Bachellerie, J. P. (2001). Box C/D RNA guides for the ribose methylation of archaeal tRNAs. the tRNA-Trp intron guides the formation of two ribose-methylated nucleosides in the mature tRNATrp. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 29, 4518–4529. doi: 10.1093/nar/29. 22.4518
- Clouet-d'Orval, B., Gaspin, C., and Mougin, A. (2005). Two different mechanisms for tRNA ribose methylation in Archaea: a short survey. *Biochimie* 87, 889–895. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2005.02.004
- Constantinesco, F., Benachenhou, N., Motorin, Y., and Grosjean, H. (1998). The tRNA(guanine-26, N^2 - N^2) methyltransferase (Trm1) from the hyper-thermophilic archaeon *Pyrococcus furiosus*: cloning, sequencing of the gene and its expression in *Escherichia coli*. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 26, 3753–3761. doi: 10.1093/nar/26.16.3753
- Constantinesco, F., Motorin, Y., and Grosjean, H. (1999a). Transfer RNA modification enzymes from Pyrococcus furiosus: detection of the enzymatic activities *in vitro*. *Nucleic Acids Res*. 27, 1308–1315. doi: 10.1093/nar/27.5.1308
- Constantinesco, F., Motorin, Y., and Grosjean, H. (1999b). Characterisation and enzymatic properties of tRNA(guanine 26, N (2), N (2))-dimethyltransferase (Trm1p) from *Pyrococcus furiosus. J. Mol. Biol.* 291, 375–392.
- De Bie, L. G., Roovers, M., Oudjama, Y., Wattiez, R., Tricot, C., Stalon, V., et al. (2003). The yggH gene of *Escherichia coli* encodes a tRNA (m⁷G46) methyl-transferase. J. Bacteriol. 185, 3238–3243. doi: 10.1128/JB.185.10.3238-3243.2003
- de Crécy-Lagard, V., Brochier-Armanet, C., Urbonavicius, J., Fernandez, B., Phillips, G., Lyons, B., et al. (2010). Biosynthesis of wyosine derivatives in tRNA: an ancient and highly diverse pathway in Archaea. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 27, 2062–2077. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msq096
- Delk, A. S., Romeo, J. M., Nagle, D. P. Jr., and Rabinowitz, J. C. (1976). Biosynthesis of ribothymidine in the transfer RNA of *Streptococcus faecalis* and *Bacillus subtilis*. a methylation of RNA involving 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate. *J. Biol. Chem.* 251, 7649–7656.

- Dewe, J. M., Whipple, J. M., Chernyakov, I., Jaramillo, L. N., and Phizicky, E. M. (2012) The yeast rapid tRNA decay pathway competes with elongation fac-
- tor 1A for substrate tRNAs and acts on tRNAs lacking one or more of several modifications. RNA 18, 1886-1896. doi: 10.1261/rna.033654.112 Dong, A., Yoder, J. A., Zhang, X., Zhou, L., Bestor, T. H., and Cheng, X. (2001). Structure of human DNMT2, an enigmatic DNA methyltransferase homolog
- that displays denaturant-resistant binding to DNA. Nucleic Acids Res. 29, 439-448. doi: 10.1093/nar/29.2.439
- Droogmans, L., Roovers, M., Bujnicki, J. M., Tricot, C., Hartsch, T., Stalon, V., et al. (2003). Cloning and characterization of tRNA (m¹A58) methyltransferase (TrmI) from Thermus thermophilus HB27, a protein required for cell growth at extreme temperatures. Nucleic Acids Res. 31, 2148-2156. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkg314
- D'Silva, S., Haider, S. J., and Phizicky, E. M. (2011). A domain of the actin binding protein Abp140 is the yeast methyltransferase responsible for 3methylcytidine modification in the tRNA anti-codon loop. RNA 17, 1100-1110. doi: 10.1261/rna.2652611
- Durand, J. M., Björk, G. R., Kuwae, A., Yoshikawa, M., and Sasakawa, C. (1997). The modified nucleoside 2-methylthio-N⁶-isopentenyladenosine in tRNA of Shigella flexneri is required for expression of virulence genes. J. Bacteriol. 179, 5777-5782.
- Durand, J. M., Okada, N., Tobe, T., Watarai, M., Fukuda, I., Suzuki, T., et al. (1994). vacC, a virulence-associated chromosomal locus of Shigella flexneri, is homologous to tgt, a gene encoding tRNA-guanine transglycosylase (Tgt) of Escherichia coli K-12. J. Bacteriol. 176, 4627-4634.
- Durant, P. C., Bajji, A. C., Sundaram, M., Kumar, R. K., and Davis, D. R. (2005). Structural effects of hypermodified nucleosides in the Escherichia coli and human tRNALys anticodon loop: the effect of nucleosides s²U, mcm⁵U, mcm5s2U, mnm5s2U, t6A, and ms2t6A. Biochemistry 44, 8078-8089. doi: 10.1021/bi050343f
- Edelheit, S., Schwartz, S., Mumbach, M. R., Wurtzel, O., and Sorek, R. (2013). Transcriptome-wide mapping of 5-methylcytidine RNA modifications in bacteria, archaea, and yeast reveals m5C within archaeal mRNAs. PLoS Genet. 9:e1003602. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1003602
- Edmonds, C. G., Crain, P. F., Gupta, R., Hashizume, T., Hocart, C. H., Kowalak, J. A., et al. (1991). Posttranscriptional modification of tRNA in thermophilic archaea (Archaebacteria). J. Bacteriol. 173, 3138-3148.
- Edqvist, J., Blomqvist, K., and Stråby, K. B. (1994). Structural elements in yeast tRNAs required for homologous modification of guanosine-26 into dimethylguanosine-26 by the yeast Trm1 tRNA-modifying enzyme. Biochemistry 33, 9546-9551. doi: 10.1021/bi00198a021
- Elkins, P. A., Watts, J. M., Zalacain, M., van Thiel, A., Vitazka, P. R., Redlak, M., et al. (2003). Insights into catalysis by a knotted TrmD tRNA methyltransferase. J. Mol. Biol. 333, 931-949. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2003.09.011
- Ellis, S. R., Morales, M. J., Li, J. M., Hopper, A. K., and Martin, N. C. (1986). Isolation and characterization of the TRM1 locus, a gene essential for the N^2 , N^2 -dimethylguanosine modification of both mitochondrial and cytoplasmic tRNA in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J. Biol. Chem. 261, 9703-9709.
- Farabaugh, P. J., and Björk, G. R. (1999). How translational accuracy influences reading frame maintenance. EMBO J. 18, 1427-1434. doi: 10.1093/emboj/18.6.1427
- Fislage, M., Roovers, M., Tuszynska, I., Bujnicki, J. M., Droogmans, L., and Versées, W. (2012). Crystal structures of the tRNA:m2G6 methyltransferase Trm14/TrmN from two domains of life. Nucleic Acids Res. 40, 5149-5161. doi: 10.1093/nar/gks163
- Freude, K., Hoffmann, K., Jensen, L. R., Delatycki, M. B., des Portes, V., Moser, B., et al. (2004). Mutations in the FTSJ1 gene coding for a novel S-adenosylmethionine-binding protein cause nonsyndromic X-linked mental retardation. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 75, 305-309. doi: 10.1086/422507
- Fu, D., Brophy, J. A., Chan, C. T., Atmore, K. A., Begley, U., Paules, R. S., et al. (2010). Human AlkB homolog ABH8 is a tRNA methyltransferase required for wobble uridine modification and DNA damage survival. Mol. Cell Biol. 30, 2449-2459. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01604-09
- Fujimori, D. G. (2013). Radical SAM-mediated methylation reactions. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 17, 597-604. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2013.05.032
- Gehrig, S., Eberle, M.-E., Botschen, F., Rimbach, K., Eberle, F., Eigenbrod, T., et al. (2012). Identification of modifications in microbial, native tRNA that suppress immunostimulatory activity. J. Exp. Med. 209, 225-233. doi: 10.1084/jem.20111044

- Goll, M. G., Kirpekar, F., Maggert, K. A., Yoder, J. A., Hsieh, C. L., Zhang, X., et al. (2006). Methylation of tRNAAsp by the DNA methyltransferase homolog Dnmt2. Science 311, 395-398. doi: 10.1126/science.1120976
- Goto-Ito, S., Ito, T., Ishii, R., Muto, Y., Bessho, Y., and Yokoyama, S. (2008). Crystal structure of archaeal tRNA(m(1)G37)methyltransferase aTrm5. Proteins 72, 1274-1289. doi: 10.1002/prot.22019
- Goto-Ito, S., Ito, T., Kuratani, M., Bessho, Y., and Yokoyama, S. (2009). Tertiary structure checkpoint at anticodon loop modification in tRNA functional maturation. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 16, 1109-1115. doi: 10.1038/ nsmb.1653
- Greenberg, R., and Dudock, B. (1980). Isolation and characterization of m⁵U-methyltransferase from Escherichia coli. J. Biol. Chem. 255, 8296-8302.
- Grosjean, H., Auxilien, S., Constantinesco, F., Simon, C., Corda, Y., Becker, H. F., et al. (1996). Enzymatic conversion of adenosine to inosine and to N¹-methylinosine in transfer RNAs: a review Biochimie 78, 488-501. doi: 10.1016/0300-9084(96)84755-9
- Grosjean, H., Constantinesco, F., Foiret, D., and Benachenhou, N. (1995). A novel enzymatic pathway leading to 1-methylinosine modification in Haloferax volcanii tRNA. Nucleic Acids Res. 23, 4312-4319. doi: 10.1093/nar/23.21.4312
- Grosjean, H., Gaspin, C., Marck, C., Decatur, W. A., and de Crecy-Lagard, V. (2008). RNomics and Modomics in the halophilic archaea Haloferax volcanii: identification of RNA modification genes. BMC Genomics 9:470. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-9-470
- Gu, X., and Santi, D. V. (1991). The T-arm of tRNA is a substrate for tRNA (m⁵U54)-methyltransferase. Biochemistry 30, 2999-3002. doi: 10.1021/bi00226a003
- Guelorget, A., Barraud, P., Tisné, C., and Golinelli-Pimpaneau, B. (2011). Structural comparison of tRNA m(1)A58 methyltransferases revealed different molecular strategies to maintain their oligomeric architecture under extreme conditions. BMC Struct. Biol. 11:48. doi: 10.1186/1472-6807-11-48
- Guelorget, A., Roovers, M., Guérineau, V., Barbey, C., Li, X., and Golinelli-Pimpaneau, B. (2010). Insights into the hyperthermostability and unusual region-specificity of archaeal Pyrococcus abyssi tRNA m1A57/58 methyltransferase. Nucleic Acids Res. 38, 6206-6218. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkq381
- Gupta, R. (1984). Halobacterium volcanii tRNAs. Identification of 41 tRNAs covering all amino acids, and the sequences of 33 class I tRNAs. J. Biol. Chem. 259, 9461-9471.
- Gustafsson, C., and Björk, G. R. (1993). The tRNA-(m⁵U54)-methyltransferase of Escherichia coli is present in two forms in vivo, one of which is present as bound to tRNA and to a 3'-end fragment of 16s rRNA. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 1326-1331.
- Gustafsson, C., Reid, R., Greene, P. J., and Santi, D. V. (1996). Identification of new RNA modifying enzymes by iterative genome search using known modifying enzymes as probes. Nucleic Acids Res. 24, 3756-3762. doi: 10.1093/nar/24.19.3756
- Guy, M. P., Podyma, B. M., Preston, M. A., Shaheen, H. H., Krivos, K. L., Limbach, P. A., et al. (2012). Yeast Trm7 interacts with distinct proteins for critical modifications of the tRNA^{Phe} anticodon loop. RNA 18, 1921–1933. doi: 10.1261/rna.035287.112
- Hagervall, T. G., Tuohy, T. M. F., Atkins, J. F., and Björk, G. R. (1993). Deficiency of 1-methylguanosine in tRNA from Salmonella typhimurium induces frameshifting by quadruplet translocation. J. Mol. Biol. 232, 756-765. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.1993.1429
- Hamdane, D., Argentini, M., Cornu, D., Golinelli-Pimpaneau, B., and Fontecave, M. (2012). FAD/folate-dependent tRNA methyltransferase: flavin as a new methyl-transfer agent. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 134, 19739-19745. doi: 10.1021/ja308145p
- Hamdane, D., Argentini, M., Cornu, D., Myllykallio, H., Skouloubris, S., Hui-Bon-Hoa, G., et al. (2011b). Insights into folate/FAD-dependent tRNA methyltransferase mechanism: role of two highly conserved cysteines in catalysis. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 36268-36280. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.256966
- Hamdane, D., Bruch, E., Un, S., Field, M., and Fontecave M. (2013). Activation of a unique flavin-dependent tRNA-Methylating agent. Biochemistry 52, 8949-8956. doi: 10.1021/bi4013879
- Hamdane, D., Guerineau, V., Un, S., and Golinelli-Pimpaneau, B. (2011a). A catalytic intermediate and several flavin redox states stabilized by folate-dependent tRNA methyltransferase from Bacillus subtilis. Biochemistry 50, 5208-5219. doi: 10.1021/bi1019463

- Helm, M., Brule, H., Deqoul, F., Cepanec, C., Leroux, J. P., Giege, R., et al. (1998). The presence of modified nucleotides is required for cloverleaf folding of a human mitochondrial tRNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 26, 1636–1643. doi: 10.1093/nar/26.7.1636
- Herbig, K., Chiang, E. P., Lee, L. R., Hills, J., Shane, B., and Stove, P. J. (2002). Cytoplasmic serine hydroxymethyltransferase mediates competition between folate-dependent deoxyribonucleotide and S-adenosylmethionine biosyntheses. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 38381–38389. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M205000200
- Holley, R. W., Apgar, J., Everett, G. A., Madison, J. T., Marquisee, M., Merrill, S. H., et al. (1965). Structure of a ribonucleic acid. *Science* 147, 1462–1465. doi: 10.1126/science.147.3664.1462
- Hopper, A. K., Furukawa, A. H., Pham, H. D., and Martin, N. C. (1982). Defects in modification of cytoplasmic and mitochondrial transfer RNAs are caused by single nuclear mutations. *Cell* 28, 543–550. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(82)90209-4
- Hori, H., Kubota, S., Watanabe, K., Kim, J. M., Ogasawara, T., Sawasaki, T., et al. (2003). *Aquifex aeolicus* tRNA (Gm18) methyltransferase has unique substrate specificity: tRNA recognition mechanism of the enzyme. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 25081–25090. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M212577200
- Hori, H., Suzuki, T., Sugawara, K., Inoue, Y., Shibata, T., Kuramitsu, S., et al. (2002). Identification and characterization of tRNA (Gm18) methyltransferase from *Thermus thermophilus* HB8: domain structure and conserved amino acid sequence motifs. *Genes Cells* 7, 259–272. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2443.2002. 00520.x
- Hori, H., Yamazaki, N., Matsumoto, T., Watanabe, Y., Ueda, T., Nishikawa, K., et al. (1998). Substrate recognition of tRNA (Guanosine-2'-)-methyltransferase from *Thermus thermophilus* HB27. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273, 25721–25727. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.40.25721
- Horie, N., Hara-Yokoyama, M., Yokoyama, S., Watanabe, K., Kuchino, Y., Nishimura, S., et al. (1985). Two tRNA^{Ile}1 species from an extreme thermophile, *Thermus thermophilus* HB8: effect of 2-thiolation of ribothymidine on the thermostability of tRNA. *Biochemistry* 24, 5711–5715. doi: 10.1021/bi00342a004
- Hou, Y. M., and Perona, J. J. (2010). Stereochemical mechanisms of tRNA methyltransferases. FEBS Lett. 584, 278–286. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2009.11.075
- Huang, B., Johansson, M. J., and Byström, A. S. (2005). An early step in wobble uridine tRNA modification requires the elongator complex. *RNA* 11, 424–436. doi: 10.1261/rna.7247705
- Hurwitz, J., Gold, M., and Anders, M. (1964). The enzymatic methylation of ribonucleic acid and deoxyribonucleic acid. IV. The properties of the soluble ribonucleic acid-methylating enzymes. J. Biol. Chem. 239, 3474–3482.
- Igoillo-Esteve, M., Genin, A., Lambert, N., Desir, J., Pirson, I., Abdulkarim, B., et al. (2013). tRNA methyltransferase homolog gene TRMT10A mutation in young onset diabetes and primary microcephaly in humans *PLoS Genet*. 9:e1003888. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1003888
- Ihsanawati, Nishimoto, M., Higashijima, K., Shirouzu, M., Grosjean, H., Bessho, Y., et al. (2008). Crystal structure of tRNA N²,N²-guanosine dimethyltransferase Trm1 from *Pyrococcus horikoshii. J. Mol. Biol.* 383, 871–884. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2008.08.068
- Ikeuchi, Y., Kimura, S., Numata, T., Nakamura, D., Yokogawa, T., Ogata, T., et al. (2010). Agmatine-conjugated cytidine in a tRNA anticodon is essential for AUA decoding in archaea. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 6, 277–282. doi: 10.1038/ nchembio.323
- Ikeuchi, Y., Kitahara, K., and Suzuki, T. (2008). The RNA acetyltransferase driven by ATP hydrolysis synthesizes N⁴-acetylcytidine of tRNA anticodon. *EMBO J.* 27, 2194–2203. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2008.154
- Ishida, K., Kunibayashi, T., Tomikawa, C., Ochi, A., Kanai, T., Hirata, A., et al. (2011). Pseudouridine at position 55 in tRNA controls the contents of other modified nucleotides for low-temperature adaptation in the extreme-thermophilic eubacterium *Thermus thermophilus*. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39, 2304–2318. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkq1180
- Iwata-Reuyl, D. (2003). Biosynthesis of the 7-deazaguanosine hypermodified nucleosides of transfer RNA. *Bioorg. Chem.* 31, 24–43. doi: 10.1016/S0045-2068(02)00513-8
- Jackman, J. E., Montange, R. K., Malik, H. S., and Phizicky, E. M. (2003). Identification of the yeast gene encoding the tRNA m¹G methyltransferase responsible for modification at position 9. RNA 9, 574–585. doi: 10.1261/rna.5070303
- Jakab, G., Kis, M., Pálfi, Z., and Solymosy, F. (1990). Nucleotide sequence of chloroplast tRNA(Leu)/UA m⁷G/from Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. Nucleic Acids Res. 18, 7444. doi: 10.1093/nar/18.24.7444

- Jiang, H. Q., Motorin, Y., Jin, Y. X., and Grosjean, H. (1997). Pleiotropic effects of intron removal on base modification pattern of yeast tRNA^{Phe}: an *in vitro* study. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 25, 2694–2701. doi: 10.1093/nar/25.14.2694
- Joardar, A., Malliahgari, S. R., Skariah, G., and Gupta, R. (2011). 2'-O-methylation of the wobble residue of elongator pre-tRNA(Met) in *Haloferax volcanii* is guided by a box C/D RNA containing unique features. *RNA Biol.* 8, 782–791. doi: 10.4161/rna.8.5.16015
- Jöckel, S., Nees, G., Sommer, R., Zhao, Y., Cherkasov, D., Hori, H., et al. (2012). The 2'-O-methylation status of a single guanosine controls transfer RNA-mediated Toll-like receptor 7 activation or inhibition. *J. Exp. Med.* 209, 235–241. doi: 10.1084/jem.20111075
- Johansson, M. J., and Byström, A. S. (2002). Dual function of the tRNA(m(5)U54)methyltransferase in tRNA maturation. *RNA* 8, 324–335. doi: 10.1017/S1355838202027851
- Johnson, G. D., Pirtle, I. L., and Pirtle, R. M. (1985). The nucleotide sequence of tyrosine tRNAQ* psi A from bovine liver. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 236, 448–453. doi: 10.1016/0003-9861(85)90647-2
- Joyce, G. F., and Orgel, L. E. (2006). "Chapter 2 Progress toward understanding the orgin of the RNA world," in *The RNA World*, *3rd Edn.*, eds R. F. Gesteland, T. R. Cech, and J. F. Atkins (New York, NY: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press), 23–56.
- Jukes, T. H. (1973). Possibilities for the evolution of the genetic code from a preceding form. *Nature* 246, 22–26. doi: 10.1038/246022a0
- Kadaba, S., Krueger, A., Trice, T., Krecic, A. M., Hinnebusch, A. G., and Anderson, J. (2004). Nuclear surveillance and degradation of hypomodified initiator tRNA^{Met} in *S. cerevisiae. Genes Dev.* 18, 1227–1240. doi: 10.1101/gad. 1183804
- Kalhor, H. R., and Clarke, S. (2003). Novel methyltransferase for modified uridine residues at the wobble position of tRNA. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 23, 9283–9292. doi: 10.1128/MCB.23.24.9283-9292.2003
- Kalhor, H. R., Penjwini, M., and Clarke, S. (2005). A novel methyltransferase required for the formation of the hypermodified nucleoside wybutosine in eucaryotic tRNA. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 334, 433–440. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2005.06.111
- Kaneko, T., Suzuki, T., Kapushoc, S. T., Rubio, M. A., Ghazvini, J., Watanabe, K., et al. (2003). Wobble modification differences and subcellular localization of tRNAs in *Leishmania tarentolae*: implication for tRNA sorting mechanism. *EMBO J.* 22, 657–667. doi: 10.1093/emboj/cdg066
- Kawai, G., Yamamoto, Y., Kamimura, T., Masegi, T., Sekine, M., Hata, T., et al. (1992). Conformational rigidity of specific pyrimidine residues in tRNA arises from posttranscriptional modifications that enhance steric interaction between the base and the 2'-hydroxyl group. *Biochemistry* 31, 1040–1046. doi: 10.1021/bi00119a012
- Keith, G., Desgrès, J., Pochart, P., Heyman, T., Kuo, K. C., and Gehrke, C. W. (1990). Eukaryotic tRNAs(Pro): primary structure of the anticodon loop; presence of 5-carbamoylmethyluridine or inosine as the first nucleoside of the anticodon. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1049, 255–260. doi: 10.1016/0167-4781(90)90095-J
- Kempenaers, M., Roovers, M., Oudjama, Y., Tkaczuk, K. L., Bujnicki, J. M., and Droogmans, L. (2010). New archaeal methyltransferases forming 1methyladenosine or 1-methyladenosine and 1-methylguanosine at position 9 of tRNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 38, 6533–6543. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkq451
- Kierzek, E., and Kierzek, R. (2003). The thermodynamic stability of RNA duplexes and hairpins containing N⁶-alkyladenosines and 2-methylthio-N⁶alkyladenosines. Nucleic Acids Res. 31, 4472–4480. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkg633
- Kim, J., and Almo, S. C. (2013). Structural basis for hypermodification of the wobble uridine in tRNA by bifunctional enzyme MnmC. *BMC Struct. Biol.* 13:5. doi: 10.1186/1472-6807-13-5
- King, M. Y., and Redman, K. L. (2002). RNA methyltransferases utilize two cysteine residues in the formation of 5-methylcytosine. *Biochemistry* 41, 11218–11225. doi: 10.1021/bi026055q
- Kirino, Y., Goto, Y., Campos, Y., Arenas, J., and Suzuki, T. (2005). Specific correlation between the wobble modification deficiency in mutant tRNAs and the clinical features of a human mitochondrial disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 7127–7132. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0500563102
- Kitamura, A., Nishimoto, M., Sengoku, T., Shibata, R., Jäger, G., Björk, G. R., et al. (2012). Characterization and structure of the *Aquifex aeolicus* protein DUF752: a bacterial tRNA-methyltransferase (MnmC2) functioning without the usually fused oxidase domain (MnmC1). *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 43950–43960. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.409300

- Kitamura, A., Sengoku, T., Nishimoto, M., Yokoyama, S., and Bessho, Y. (2011). Crystal structure of the bifunctional tRNA modification enzyme MnmC from *Escherichia coli. Protein Sci.* 20, 1105–1113. doi: 10.1002/pro.659
- Klassen, R., Paluszynski, J. P., Wemhoff, S., Pfeiffer, A., Fricke, J., and Meinhardt, F. (2008). The primary target of the killer toxin from *Pichia acaciae* is tRNA(Gln). *Mol. Microbiol.* 69, 681–697. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2008.06319.x
- Kowalak, J. A., Dalluge, J. J., McCloskey, J. A., and Stetter, K. O. (1994). The role of posttranscriptional modification in stabilization of transfer RNA from hyperthermophiles. *Biochemistry* 33, 7869–7876. doi: 10.1021/bi00191a014
- Kuchino, Y., and Borek, E. (1978). Tumour-specific phenylalanine tRNA contains two supernumerary methylated bases. *Nature* 271, 126–129. doi: 10.1038/271126a0
- Kuchino, Y., Shindo-Okada, N., Ando, N., Watanabe, S., and Nishimura, S. (1981). Nucleotide sequences of two aspartic acid tRNAs from rat liver and rat ascites hepatoma. J. Biol. Chem. 256, 9059–9062.
- Kurata, S., Weixlbaumer, A., Ohtsuki, T., Shimazaki, T., Wada, T., Kirino, Y., et al. (2008). Modified uridines with C5-methylene substituents at the first position of the tRNA anticodon stabilize U.G wobble pairing during decoding. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 18801–18811. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M800233200
- Kuratani, M., Bessho, Y., Nishimoto, M., Grosjean, H., and Yokoyama, S. (2008). Crystal structure and mutational study of a unique SpoU family archaeal methylase that forms 2'-O-methylcytidine at position 56 of tRNA. J. Mol. Biol. 375, 1064–1075. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2007.11.023
- Kuratani, M., Hirano, M., Goto-Ito, S., Itoh, Y., Hikida, Y., Nishimoto, M., et al. (2010). Crystal structure of *Methanocaldococcus jannaschii* Trm4 complexed with sinefungin. J. Mol. Biol. 401, 323–333. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2010.06.046
- Lai, T. P., Stauffer, K. A., Murthi, A., Shaheen, H. H., Peng, G., Martin, N. C., et al. (2009). Mechanism and a peptide motif for targeting peripheral proteins to the yeast inner nuclear membrane. *Traffic* 10, 1243–1256. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2009.00956.x
- Laxman, S., Sutter, B. M., Wu, X., Kumar, S., Guo, X., Trudgian, D. C., et al. (2013). Sulfur amino acids regulate translational capacity and metabolic homeostasis through modulation of tRNA thiolation. *Cell* 154, 416–429. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.06.043
- Lee, C., Kramer, G., Graham, D. E., and Appling, D. R. (2007). Yeast mitochondrial initiator tRNA is methylated at guanosine 37 by the Trm5-encoded tRNA (guanine-N1-)-methyltransferase. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 27744–27753. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M704572200
- Leihne, V., Kirpekar, F., Vågbø, C. B., van den Born, E., Krokan, H. E., Grini, P. E., et al. (2011). Roles of Trm9- and ALKBH8-like proteins in the formation of modified wobble uridines in Arabidopsis tRNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39, 7688–7701. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkr406
- Leipuviene, R., and Björk, G. R. (2005). A reduced level of charged tRNA^{Arg}mnm⁵UCU triggers the wild-type peptidyl-tRNA to frameshift. *RNA* 11, 796–807. doi: 10.1261/rna.7256705
- Leulliot, N., Chaillet, M., Durand, D., Ulryck, N., Blondeau, K., and van Tilbeurgh, H. (2008). Structure of the yeast tRNA m⁷G methylation complex. *Structure* 16, 52–61. doi: 10.1016/j.str.2007.10.025
- Li, J., Esberg, B., Curran, J. F., and Björk, G. R. (1997). Three modified nucleosides present in the anticodon stem and loop influence the *in vivo* aatRNA selection in a tRNA-dependent manner. *J. Mol. Biol.* 271, 209–221. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.1997.1176
- Liger, D., Mora, L., Lazar, N., Figaro, S., Henri, J., Scrima, N., et al. (2011). Mechanism of activation of methyltransferases involved in translation by the Trm112 'hub' protein. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39, 6249–6259. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkr176
- Lim, K., Zhang, H., Tempczyk, A., Krajewski, W., Bonander, N., Toedt, J., et al. (2003). Structure of the YibK methyltransferase from Haemophilus influenzae (HI0766): a cofactor bound at a site formed by a knot. Proteins 51, 56–67. doi: 10.1002/prot.10323
- Lin, J., Lai, S., Jia, R., Xu, A., Zhang, L., Lu, J., et al. (2011). Structural basis for sitespecific ribose methylation by box C/D RNA protein complexes. *Nature* 469, 559–563. doi: 10.1038/nature09688
- Liu, J., and Straby, K. B. (2000). The human tRNA(m(2)(2)G(26))dimethyltransferase: functional expression and characterization of a cloned hTRM1 gene. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 28, 3445–3451. doi: 10.1093/nar/28.18.3445
- Liu, J., Wang, W., Shin, D. H., Yokota, H., Kim, R., and Kim, S. H. (2003). Crystal structure of tRNA (m¹G37) methyltransferase from *Aquifex aeolicus*

at 2.6 A resolution: a novel methyltransferase fold. *Proteins* 53, 326–328. doi: 10.1002/prot.10479

- Liu, J., Zhou, G. Q., and Straby, K. B. (1999). Caenorhabditis elegans ZC376.5 encodes a tRNA (m2/2G(26))dimethyltransferance in which (246)arginine is important for the enzyme activity. Gene 226, 73–81. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1119(98)00550-2
- Liu, R. J., Zhou, M., Fang, Z. P., Wang, M., Zhou, X. L., and Wang, E. D. (2013). The tRNA recognition mechanism of the minimalist SPOUT methyltransferase, TrmL. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 41, 7828–7842. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt568
- Lu, J., Huang, B., Esberg, A., Johansson, M. J., and Byström, A. S. (2005). The Kluyveromyces lactis gamma-toxin targets tRNA anticodons. RNA 11, 1648–1654. doi: 10.1261/rna.2172105
- Machnicka, M. A., Milanowska, K., Osman Oglou, O., Purta, E., Kurkowska, M., Olchowik, A., et al. (2013). MODOMICS: a database of RNA modification pathways–2013 update. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 41, D262–267. doi: 10.1093/nar/gks1007
- Marquet, R. (1998). "Chapter 28 Importance of modified nucleotides in replication of retrovirus, plant pararetrovirus, and retrotransposons," in *Modification and Editing of RNA*, eds H. Grosjean and R. Benne (Washington, DC: ASM press), 517–533.
- Martin, N. C., and Hopper, A. K. (1994). How single genes provide tRNA processing enzymes to mitochondria, nuclei and the cytosol. *Biochimie* 76, 1161–1167. doi: 10.1016/0300-9084(94)90045-0
- Matsumoto, K., Toyooka, T., Tomikawa, C., Ochi, A., Takano, Y., Takayanagi, N., et al. (2007). RNA recognition mechanism of eukaryote tRNA (m⁷G46) methyltransferase (Trm8-Trm82 complex). *FEBS Lett.* 581, 1599–1604. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2007.03.023
- Matsuyama, S., Ueda, T., Crain, P. F., McCloskey, J. A., and Watanabe, K. (1998). A novel wobble rule found in starfish mitochondria. Presence of 7methylguanosine at the anticodon wobble position expands decoding capability of tRNA. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 3363–3368. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.6.3363
- Mazauric, M. H., Dirick, L., Purushothaman, S. K., Björk, G. R., and Lapeyre, B. (2010). Trm112p is a 15-kDa zinc finger protein essential for the activity of two tRNA and one protein methyltransferases in yeast. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 18505–18515. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.113100
- McCrate, N. E., Varner, M. E., Kim, K. I., and Nagan, M. C. (2006). Molecular dynamics simulations of human tRNA Lys,3 UUU: the role of modified bases in mRNA recognition *Nucleic Acids Res.* 34, 5361–5368. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkl580
- Menezes, S., Gaston, K. W., Krivos, K. L., Apolinario, E. E., Reich, N. O., Sowers, K. R., et al. (2011). Formation of m²G6 in *Methanocaldococcus jannaschii* tRNA catalyzed by the novel methyltransferase Trm14. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39, 7641–7655. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkr475
- Meyer, S., Scrima, A., Versées, W., and Wittinghofer, A. (2008). Crystal structures of the conserved tRNA-modifying enzyme GidA: implications for its interaction with MnmE and substrate. J. Mol. Biol. 380, 532–547. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2008.04.072
- Meyer, S., Wittinghofer, A., and Versées, W. (2009). G-domain dimerization orchestrates the tRNA wobble modification reaction in the MnmE/GidA complex. *J. Mol. Biol.* 392, 910–922. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2009.07.004
- Miyauchi, K., Kimura, S., and Suzuki, T. (2013). A cyclic form of N⁶threonylcarbamoyladenosine as a widely distributed tRNA hypermodification. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 9, 105–111. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.1137
- Motorin, Y., and Grosjean, H. (1999). Multisite-specific tRNA:m⁵C-methyltransferase (Trm4) in yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*: identification of the gene and substrate specificity of the enzyme. *RNA* 5, 1105–1118. doi: 10.1017/S1355838299982201
- Motorin, Y., and Helm, M. (2010). tRNA stabilization by modified nucleotides. *Biochemistry* 49, 4934–4944. doi: 10.1021/bi100408z
- Moukadiri, I., Garzón, M. J., Björk, G. R., and Armengod, M. E. (2014). The output of the tRNA modification pathways controlled by the *Escherichia coli* MnmEG and MnmC enzymes depends on the growth conditions and the tRNA species. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 42, 2603–2623. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt1228
- Moukadiri, I., Prado, S., Piera, J., Velázquez-Campoy, A., Björk, G. R., and Armengod, M. E. (2009). Evolutionarily conserved proteins MnmE and GidA catalyze the formation of two methyluridine derivatives at tRNA wobble positions. Nucleic Acids Res. 37, 7177–7193. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkp762
- Nasvall, S. J., Chen, P., and Björk, G. R. (2004). The modified wobble nucleoside uridine-5-oxyacetic acid in tRNA^{*Pro*}(cmo⁵UGG) promotes reading of all four proline codons *in vivo. RNA* 10, 1662–1673. doi: 10.1261/rna.7106404

- Niederberger, C., Graub, R., Costa, A., Desgres, J., and Schweingruber, M. E. (1999). The tRNA N^2, N^2 -dimethylguanosine-26 methyltransferase encoded by gene *trm1* increases efficiency of suppression of an ochre codon in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe. FEBS Lett.* 464, 67–70. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(99)01679-8
- Nishimasu, H., Ishitani, R., Yamashita, K., Iwashita, C., Hirata, A., Hori, H., et al. (2009). Atomic structure of a folate/FAD-dependent tRNA T54 methyltransferase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 8180–8185. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0901330106
- Noma, A., Ishitani, R., Kato, M., Nagao, A., Nureki, O., and Suzuki, T. (2010). Expanding role of the jumonji C domain as an RNA hydroxylase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 34503–34507. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.156398
- Noma, A., Kirino, Y., Ikeuchi, Y., and Suzuki, T. (2006). Biosynthesis of wybutosine, a hyper-modified nucleoside in eukaryotic phenylalanine tRNA. *EMBO J.* 25, 2142–2154. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj.7601105
- Noma, A., Yi, S., Katoh, T., Takai, Y., Suzuki, T., and Suzuki, T. (2011). Actinbinding protein ABP140 is a methyltransferase for 3-methylcytidine at position 32 of tRNAs in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *RNA* 17, 1111–1119. doi: 10.1261/rna.2653411
- Nordlund, M. E., Johansson, J. O., von Pawel-Rammingen, U., and Byström, A. S. (2000). Identification of the TRM2 gene encoding the tRNA(m⁵U54)methyltransferase of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. RNA 6, 844–860. doi: 10.1017/S1355838200992422
- Novoa, E. M., Pavon-Eternod, M., Pan, T., and de Pouplana, L. R. (2012). A role for tRNA modifications in genome structure and codon usage. *Cell* 149, 202–213. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.01.050
- Nureki, O., Watanabe, K., Fukai, S., Ishii, R., Endo, Y., Hori, H., et al. (2004). Deep knot structure for construction of active site and cofactor binding site of tRNA modification enzyme. *Structure* 12, 593–604. doi: 10.1016/j.str.2004.03.003
- Ny, T., and Bjork, G. R. (1980). Cloning and restriction mapping of the *trmA* gene coding for transfer ribonucleic acid (5-methyluridine)-methyltransferase in *Escherichia coli* K-12. *J. Bacteriol.* 142, 371–379.
- Ny, T., Lindstrom, P. H. R., Hagervall, T. G., and Bjork, G. R. (1988). Purification of transfer RNA (m⁵U54)-methyltransferase from *Escherichia coli* association with RNA. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 177, 467–475. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1988.tb14396.x
- Ochi, A., Makabe, K., Kuwajima, K., and Hori, H. (2010). Flexible recognition of the tRNA G18 methylation target site by TrmH methyltransferase through first binding and induced fit processes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 9018–9029. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.065698
- Ochi, A., Makabe, K., Yamagami, R., Hirata, A., Sakaguchi, R., Hou, Y. M., et al. (2013). The catalytic domain of topological knot tRNA methyltransferase (TrmH) discriminates between substrate tRNA and nonsubstrate tRNA *via* an induced-fit process. *J. Biol. Chem.* 288, 25562–25574. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.485128
- O'Dwyer, K., Watts, J. M., Biswas, S., Ambrad, J., Barber, M., and Holmes, W. M. (2004). Characterization of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* TrmD, a tRNA methyltransferase essential for growth. *J. Bacteriol.* 186, 2346–2354. doi: 10.1128/JB.186.8.2346-2354.2004
- Ohira, T., and Suzuki, T. (2011). Retrograde nuclear import of tRNA precursors is required for modified base biogenesis in yeast. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 10502–10507. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1105645108
- Ohira, T., Suzuki, T., Miyauchi, K., Suzuki, T., Yokobori, S., Yamagishi, A., et al. (2013). Decoding mechanism of non-universal genetic codes in *Loligo bleekeri* mitochondria. *J. Biol. Chem.* 288, 7645–7652. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112. 439554
- Okamoto, H., Watanabe, K., Ikeuchi, Y., Suzuki, T., Endo, Y., and Hori, H. (2004). Substrate tRNA recognition mechanism of tRNA (m⁷G46) methyl-transferase from *Aquifex aeolicus. J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 49151–49159. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M408209200
- Osawa, S., Jukes, T. H., Watanabe, K., and Muto, A. (1992). Recent evidence for evolution of the genetic code. *Microbiol. Rev.* 56, 229–264.
- Osawa, T., Ito, K., Inanaga, H., Nureki, O., Tomita, K., and Numata, T. (2009). Conserved cysteine residues of GidA are essential for biogenesis of 5-carboxymethylaminomethyluridine at tRNA anticodon. *Structure* 17, 713–724. doi: 10.1016/j.str.2009.03.013
- Osorio-Almeida, M. L., Guillemaut, P., Keith, G., Canaday, J., and Weil, J. H. (1980). Primary structure of three leucine transfer RNAs from bean chloroplast. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 92, 102–108. doi: 10.1016/0006-291X(80)91525-9

- Ote, T., Hashimoto, M., Ikeuchi, Y., Su'etsugu, M., Suzuki, T., Katayama, T., et al. (2006). Involvement of the *Escherichia coli* folate-binding protein YgfZ in RNA modification and regulation of chromosomal replication initiation. *Mol. Microbol.* 59, 265–275. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2005.04932.x
- Ozanick, S. G., Bujnicki, J. M., Sem, D. S., and Anderson, J. T. (2007). Conserved amino acids in each subunit of the heteroligomeric tRNA m¹A58 Mtase from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* contribute to tRNA binding. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 35, 6808–6819. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkm574
- Paris, Z., Horáková, E., Rubio, M. A., Sample, P., Fleming, I. M., Armocida, S., et al. (2013). The *T. brucei* TRM5 methyltransferase plays an essential role in mitochondrial protein synthesis and function. *RNA* 19, 649–658. doi: 10.1261/rna.036665.112
- Pastore, C., Topalidou, I., Forouhar, F., Yan, A. C., Levy, M., and Hunt, J. F. (2012). Crystal structure and RNA binding properties of the RNA recognition motif (RRM) and AlkB domains in human AlkB homolog 8 (ABH8), an enzyme catalyzing tRNA hypermodification. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 2130–2143. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.286187
- Patil, A., Chan, C. T., Dyavaiah, M., Rooney, J. P., Dedon, P. C., and Begley, T. J. (2012a). Translational infidelity-induced protein stress results from a deficiency in Trm9-catalyzed tRNA modifications. *RNA Biol.* 9, 990–1001. doi: 10.4161/rna.20531
- Patil, A., Dyavaiah, M., Joseph, F., Rooney, J. P., Chan, C. T., Dedon, P. C., et al. (2012b). Increased tRNA modification and gene-specific codon usage regulate cell cycle progression during the DNA damage response. *Cell Cycle* 11, 3656–3665. doi: 10.4161/cc.21919
- Pearson, D., and Carell, T. (2011). Assay of both activities of the bifunctional tRNA-modifying enzyme MnmC reveals a kinetic basis for selective full modification of cmnm⁵s²U to mnm⁵s²U. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39, 4818–4826. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkr071
- Perche-Letuvée, P., Kathirvelu, V., Berggren, G., Clemancey, M., Latour, J. M., Maurel, V., et al. (2012). 4-Demethylwyosine synthase from *Pyrococcus abyssi* is a radical-S-adenosyl-L-methionine enzyme with an additional [4Fe-4S](+2) cluster that interacts with the pyruvate co-substrate. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 41174–41185. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.405019
- Perret, V., Garcia, A., Grosjean, H., Ebel, J. P., Florentz, C., and Giegé, R. (1990). Relaxation of a transfer RNA specificity by removal of modified nucleotides. *Nature* 344, 787–789. doi: 10.1038/344787a0
- Perrochia, L., Crozat, E., Hecker, A., Zhang, W., Bareille, J., Collinet, B., et al. (2013). *In vitro* biosynthesis of a universal t⁶A tRNA modification in Archaea and Eukarya. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 41, 1953–1964. doi: 10.1093/nar/ gks1287
- Persson, B. C., Jäger, G., and Gustafsson, C. (1997). The spoU gene of *Escherichia coli*, the fourth gene of the spoT operon, is essential for tRNA (Gm18) 2'-O-methyltransferase activity. *Nucleic Acid Res.* 25, 3969–3973. doi: 10.1093/nar/25.20.4093
- Persson, B. C., Olafsson, O., Lundgren, H. K., Hederstedt, L., and Björk, G. R. (1998). The ms²io⁶A37 modification of tRNA in *Salmonella typhimurium* regulates growth on citric acid cycle intermediates. *J. Bacteriol.* 180, 3144–3151.
- Phillips, G., Swairjo, M. A., Gaston, K. W., Bailly, M., Limbach, P. A., Iwata-Reuyl, D., et al. (2012). Diversity of archaeosine synthesis in crenarchaeota. ACS Chem. Biol. 7, 300–305. doi: 10.1021/cb200361w
- Phillips, J. H., and Kjellin-Straby, K. (1967). Studies on microbial ribonucleic acid. IV. Two mutants of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* lacking N-2-dimethylguanine in soluble ribonucleic acid. *J. Mol. Biol.* 26, 509–518. doi: 10.1016/0022-2836(67)90318-X
- Phizicky, E. M., and Hopper, A. K. (2010). tRNA biology charges to the front. *Genes Dev.* 24, 1832–1860. doi: 10.1101/gad.1956510
- Pierre, A., Berneman, A., Vedel, M., Robert-Gero, M., and Vigier, P. (1978). Avian oncornavirus associated N²-methylguanine transferase, location and origin. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 81, 315–321. doi: 10.1016/0006-291X(78)91535-8
- Pierrel, F., Hernandez, H. L., Johnson, M. K., Fontecave, M., and Atta, M. (2003). MiaB protein from *Thermotoga maritima*. characterization of an extremely thermophilic tRNA-methylthiotransferase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 29515–29524. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M301518200
- Pintard, L., Lecointe, F., Bujnicki, J. M., Bonnerot, C., Grosjean, H., and Lapeyre, B. (2002). Trm7p catalyses the formation of two 2'-O-methylriboses in yeast tRNA anticodon loop. *EMBO J.* 21, 1811–1820. doi: 10.1093/emboj/21.7.1811

- Pleshe, E., Truesdell, J., and Batey, R. T. (2005). Structure of a class II TrmH tRNAmodifying enzyme from Aquifex aeolicus. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. F Struct. Biol. Cryst. Commun. 61, 722–728. doi: 10.1107/S1744309105022980
- Pope, W. T., Brown, A., and Reeves, R. H. (1978). The identification of the tRNA substrates for the *supK* tRNA methylase. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 5, 1041–1057. doi: 10.1093/nar/5.3.1041
- Preston, M. A., D'Silva, S., Kon, Y., and Phizicky, E. M. (2013). tRNA^{His} 5-methylcytidine levels increase in response to several growth arrest conditions in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *RNA* 19, 243–256. doi: 10.1261/rna.035808.112
- Purta, E., van Vliet, F., Tkaczuk, K. L., Dunin-Horkawicz, S., Mori, H., Droogmans, L., et al. (2006). The *yfhQ* gene of *Escherichia coli* encodes a tRNA:Cm32/Um32 methyltransferase. *BMC Mol. Biol.* 7:23. doi: 10.1186/1471-2199-7-23
- Purushothaman, S. K., Bujnicki, J. M., Grosjean, H., and Lapeyre, B. (2005). Trm11p and Trm112p are both required for the formation of 2methylguanosine at position 10 in yeast tRNA. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 25, 4359–4370. doi: 10.1128/MCB.25.11.4359-4370.2005
- Qian, Q., Curran, J. F., and Björk, G. R. (1998). The methyl group of the N^6 -methyl- N^6 -threonylcarbamoyladenosine in tRNA of *Escherichia coli* modestly improves the efficiency of the tRNA. *J. Bacteriol.* 180, 1808–1813.
- Qiu, X., Huang, K., Ma, J., and Gao, Y. (2011). Crystallization and preliminary Xray diffraction crystallographic study of tRNA m(1)A58 methyltransferase from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. F Struct. Biol. Cryst. Commun.* 67, 1448–1450. doi: 10.1107/S174430911103733X
- Raba, M., Limburg, K., Burghagen, M., Katze, J. R., Simsek, M., Heckman, J. E., et al. (1979). Nucleotide sequence of three isoaccepting lysine tRNAs from rabbit liver and SV40-transformed mouse fibroblasts. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 97, 305–318. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1979.tb13115.x
- Reinhart, M. P., Lewis, J. M., and Leboy, P. S. (1986). A single tRNA (guanine)methyltransferase from tetrahymena with both mono- and di-methylating activity. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 14, 1131–1148. doi: 10.1093/nar/14.3.1131
- Renalier, M. H., Joseph, N., Gaspin, C., Thebault, P., and Mougin, A. (2005). The Cm56 tRNA modification in archaea is catalyzed either by a specific 2'-O-methylase or a C/D sRNP. *RNA* 11, 1051–1063. doi: 10.1261/rna.2110805
- Roovers, M., Kaminska, K. H., Tkaczuk, K. L., Gigot, D., Droogmans, L., and Bujnicki, J. M. (2008a). The YqfN protein of *Bacillus subtilis* is the tRNA: m¹A22 methyltransferase (TrmK). *Nucleic Acids Res.* 36, 3252–3262. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkn169
- Roovers, M., Oudjama, Y., Fislage, M., Bujnicki, J. M., Versees, W., and Droogmans, L. (2012). The open reading frame TTC1157 of *Thermus thermophilus* HB27 encodes the methyltransferase forming N²-methylguanosine at position 6 in tRNA. *RNA* 18, 815–824. doi: 10.1261/rna.030411.111
- Roovers, M., Oudjama, Y., Kaminska, K. H., Purta, E., Caillet, J., Droogmans, L., et al. (2008b). Sequence-structure-function analysis of the bifunctional enzyme MnmC that catalyses the last two steps in the biosynthesis of hypermodified nucleoside mnm⁵s²U in tRNA. *Proteins* 71, 2076–2085. doi: 10.1002/prot. 21918
- Roovers, M., Wouters, J., Bujnicki, J. M., Tricot, C., Stalon, V., Grosjean, H., et al. (2004). A primordial RNA modification enzyme: the case of tRNA (m¹A) methyltransferase. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 32, 465–476. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkh191
- Saadatmand, J., and Kleiman, L. (2012). Aspects of HIV-1 assembly that promote primer tRNA(Lys3) annealing to viral RNA. *Virus Res.* 169, 340–348. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2012.06.001
- Saga, A. E., Vasil, A. I., and Vasil, M. L. (1997). Molecular characterization of mutants affected in the osmoprotectant-dependent induction of phspholipase C in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PAO1. *Mol. Microbiol.* 23, 43–56. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1997.1681542.x
- Sakaguchi, R., Giessing, A., Dai, Q., Lahoud, G., Liutkeviciute, Z., Klimasauskas, S., et al. (2012). Recognition of guanosine by dissimilar tRNA methyltransferases. *RNA* 18, 1687–1701. doi: 10.1261/rna.032029.111
- Sakurai, M., Ohtsuki, T., Suzuki, T., and Watanabe, K. (2005b). Unusual usage of wobble modifications in mitochondrial tRNAs of the nematode Ascaris suum. FEBS Lett. 579, 2767–2772. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2005.04.009
- Sakurai, M., Otsuki, T., and Watanabe, K. (2005a). Modification at position 9 with 1-methyladenosine is crucial for structure and function of nematode mitochondrial tRNAs lacking the entire T-arm. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 33, 1653–1661. doi: 10.1093/nar/gki309
- Schaub, M., and Keller, W. (2002). RNA editing by adenosine deaminases generates RNA and protein diversity. *Biochimie* 84, 791–803. doi: 10.1016/S0300-9084(02)01446-3

- Schubert, H. G., Blumenthal, R. M., and Cheng, X. (2003). Many paths to methyltransfer: a chronicle of convergence. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 28, 329–332. doi: 10.1016/S0968-0004(03)00090-2
- Shao, Z., Yan, W., Peng, J., Zuo, X., Zou, Y., Li, F., et al. (2013). Crystal structure of tRNA m¹G9 methyltransferase Trm10: insight into the catalytic mechanism and recognition of tRNA substrate. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 42, 509–525. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt869
- Shi, R., Villaroya, M., Ruiz-Partida, R., Li, Y., Proteau, A., Prado, S., et al. (2009). Structure-function analysis of *Escherichia coli* MnmG (GidA), a highly conserved tRNA-modifying enzyme. *J. Bacteriol.* 191, 7614–7619. doi: 10.1128/JB.00650-09
- Shigi, N., Sakaguchi, Y., Asai, S., Suzuki, T., and Watanabe, K. (2008). Common thiolation mechanism in the biosynthesis of tRNA thiouridine and sulphur-containing cofactors. *EMBO J.* 27, 3267–3278. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2008.246
- Shigi, N., Suzuki, T., Tamakoshi, M., Oshima, T., and Watanabe, K. (2002). Conserved bases in the TPsi C loop of tRNA are determinants for thermophilespecific 2-thiouridylation at position 54. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 39128–39135. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M207323200
- Shigi, N., Suzuki, T., Terada, T., Shirouzu, M., Yokoyama, S., and Watanabe, K. (2006). Temperature-dependent biosynthesis of 2-thioribothymidine of *Thermus thermophilus* tRNA. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 2104–2113. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M510771200
- Shimada, K., Nakamura, M., Anai, S., De Velasco, M., Tanaka, M., Tsujikawa, K., et al. (2009). A novel human AlkB homologue, ALKBH8, contributes to human bladder cancer progression. *Cancer Res.* 69, 3157–3164. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-3530
- Shindo-Okada, N., Kuchino, Y., Harada, F., Okada, N., and Nishimura, S. (1981). Biological and structural differences between tRNAVal species isolated from rat ascites hepatoma cells and normal rat liver. J. Biochem. 90, 535–544.
- Singh, S. K., Gurha, P., Tran, E. J., Maxwell, E. S., and Gupta, R. (2004). Sequential 2'-O-methylation of archaeal pre-tRNA^{Trp} nucleotides is guided by the intronencoded but trans-acting box C/D ribonucleoprotein of pre-tRNA. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 47661–47671. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M408868200
- Sleiman, D., Goldschmidt, V., Barraud, P., Marquet, R., Paillart, J. C., and Tisné, C. (2012). Initiation of HIV-1 reverse transcription and functional role of nucleocapsid-mediated tRNA/viral genome interactions. *Virus Res.* 169, 324–339. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2012.06.006
- Songe-Møller, L., van den Born, E., Leihne, V., Vågbø, C. B., Kristoffersen, T., Krokan, H. E., et al. (2010). Mammalian ALKBH8 possesses tRNA methyltransferase activity required for the biogenesis of multiple wobble uridine modifications implicated in translational decoding. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 30, 1814–1827. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01602-09
- Suzuki, T., and Miyauchi, K. (2010). Discovery and characterization of tRNA^{Ile} lysidine synthetase (TilS). *FEBS Lett.* 584, 272–277. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2009.11.085
- Suzuki, T., Miyauchi, K., Suzuki, T., Yokobori, S., Shigi, N., Kondow, A., et al. (2011a). Taurine-containing uridine modifications in tRNA anticodons are required to decipher non-universal genetic codes in ascidian mitochondria. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 35494–35498. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.279810
- Suzuki, T., Nagao, A., and Suzuki, T. (2011b). Human mitochondrial diseases caused by lack of taurine modification in mitochondrial tRNAs. Willey Interdiscip. Rev. RNA 2, 376–386. doi: 10.1002/wrna.65
- Suzuki, T., Suzuki, T., Wada, T., Saigo, K., and Watanabe, K. (2002). Taurine as a constituent of mitochondrial tRNAs: new insights into the functions of taurine and human mitochondrial diseases. *EMBO J.* 21, 6581–6589. doi: 10.1093/emboj/cdf656
- Suzuki, Y., Noma, A., Suzuki, T., Senda, M., Senda, T., Ishitani, R., et al. (2007). Crystal structure of the radical SAM enzyme catalyzing tricyclic modified base formation in tRNA. *J. Mol. Biol.* 372, 1204–1214. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2007. 07.024
- Swinehart, W. E., Henderson, J. C., and Jackman, J. E. (2013). Unexpected expansion of tRNA substrate recognition by the yeast m¹G9 methyltransferase Trm10. RNA 19, 1137–1146. doi: 10.1261/rna.039651.113
- Takai, K., and Yokoyama, S. (2003). Roles of 5-substituents of tRNA wobble uridines in the recognition of purine-ending codons. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 31, 6383–6391. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkg839
- Takano, A., Endo, T., and Yoshihisa, T. (2005). tRNA actively shuttles between the nucleus and cytosol in yeast. *Science* 309, 140–142. doi: 10.1126/science.1113346

- Takano, Y., Takayanagi, N., Hori, H., Ikeuchi, Y., Suzuki, T., Kimura, A., et al. (2006). A gene involved in modifying transfer RNA is required for fungal pathogenicity and stress tolerance of Colletotrichum lagenarium. Mol. Microbiol. 60, 81-92. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05080.x
- Takeda, H., Toyooka, T., Ikeuchi, Y., Yokobori, S., Okadome, K., Takano, F., et al. (2006). The substrate specificity of tRNA (m1G37) methyltransferase (TrmD) from Aquifex aeolicus. Genes Cells 11, 1353-1365. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2443.2006.01022.x
- Taya, Y., and Nishimura, S. (1973). Biosynthesis of 5-methylaminomethyl-2-thiouridylate. I. Isolation of a new tRNA-methylase specific for 5-methylaminomethyl-2-thiouridylate. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 51, 1062-1068. doi: 10.1016/0006-291X(73)90035-1
- Tkaczuk, K. L. (2010). Trm13p, the tRNA:Xm4 modification enzyme from Saccharomyces cerevisiae is a member of the Rossmann-fold MTase superfamily: prediction of structure and active site. J. Mol. Model. 16, 599-606. doi: 10.1007/s00894-009-0570-6
- Tkaczuk, K. L., Dunin-Horkawicz, S., Purta, E., and Bujnicki, J. M. (2007). Structural and evolutionary bioinformatics of the SPOUT superfamily of methyltransferases. BMC Bioinformatics 8:73. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-8-73
- Tomikawa, C., Ochi, A., and Hori, H. (2008). The C-terminal region of thermophilic tRNA (m7G46) methyltransferase (TrmB) stabilizes the dimer structure and enhances fidelity of methylation. Proteins 71, 1400-1408. doi: 10.1002/prot.21827
- Tomikawa, C., Ohira, T., Inoue, Y., Kawamura, T., Yamagishi, A., Suzuki, T., et al. (2013). Distinct tRNA modifications in the thermo-acidophilic archaeon, Thermoplasma acidophilum. FEBS Lett. 587, 3575-3580. doi: 10.1016/i.febslet.2013.09.021
- Tomikawa, C., Yokogawa, T., Kanai, T., and Hori, H. (2010). N⁷-Methylguanine at position 46 (m⁷G46) in tRNA from Thermus thermophilus is required for cell viability through a tRNA modification network. Nucleic Acids Res. 38, 942-957. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkp1059
- Tomita, K., Ueda, T., and Watanabe, K. (1998). 7-Methylguanosine at the anticodon wobble position of squid mitochondrial tRNA(Ser)GCU: molecular basis for assignment of AGA/AGG codons as serine in invertebrate mitochondria. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1399, 78-82. doi: 10.1016/S0167-4781(98) 00099-2
- Towns, W. L., and Begley, T. J. (2012). Transfer RNA methytransferases and their corresponding modifications in budding yeast and humans: activities, predications, and potential roles in human health. DNA Cell Biol. 31, 434-454. doi: 10.1089/dna.2011.1437
- Toyooka, T., Awai, T., Kanai, T., Imanaka, T., and Hori H. (2008). Stabilization of tRNA (m¹G37) methyltransferase [TrmD] from Aquifex aeolicus by an intersubunit disulfide bond formation. Genes Cells 13, 807-816. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2443.2008.01207.x
- Tsutsumi, S., Sugiura, R., Ma, Y., Tokuoka, H., Ohta, K., Ohte, R., et al. (2007). Wobble inosine tRNA modification is essential to cell cycle progression in G(1)/S and G(2)/M transitions in fission yeast. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 33459-33465. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M706869200
- Umeda, N., Suzuki, T., Yukawa, M., Ohya, Y., Shindo, H., Watanabe, K., et al. (2005). Mitochondria-specific RNA-modifying enzymes responsible for the biosynthesis of the wobble base in mitochondrial tRNAs. Implications for the molecular pathogenesis of human mitochondrial diseases. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 1613-1624. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M409306200
- Umitsu, M., Nishimasu, H., Noma, A., Suzuki, T., Ishitani, R., and Nureki, O. (2009). Structural basis of AdoMet-dependent aminocarboxypropyl transfer reaction catalyzed by tRNA-wybutosine synthesizing enzyme, TYW2. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 106, 15616-15621. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0905 270106
- Urbonavicius, J., Armengaud, J., and Grosjean, H. (2006). Identity elements required for enzymatic formation of N²,N²-dimethylguanosine from N²-monomethylated derivative and its possible role in avoiding alternative conformations in archaeal tRNA. J. Mol. Biol. 357, 387-399. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2005.12.087
- Urbonavicius, J., Durand, J. M., and Björk, G. R. (2002). Three modifications in the D and T arms of tRNA influence translation in Escherichia coli and expression of virulence genes in Shigella flexneri. J. Bacteriol. 184, 5384-5357. doi: 10.1128/JB.184.19.5348-5357.2002

- Urbonavicius, J., Qian, Q., Durand, J. M., Hagervall, T. G., and Björk, G. R. (2001). Improvement of reading frame maintenance is a common function for several tRNA modifications. EMBO J. 20, 4863-4873. doi: 10.1093/emboj/20. 17.4863
- Urbonavicius, J., Skouloubris, S., Myllykallio, H., and Grosjean, H. (2005). Identification of a novel gene encoding a flavin-dependent tRNA:m⁵U methyltransferase in bacteria-evolutionary implications. Nucleic Acids Res. 33, 3955-3964. doi: 10.1093/nar/gki703
- Urbonavicius, J., Stahl, G., Durand, J. M., Ben Salem, S. N., Qian, Q., Farabaugh, P. J., et al. (2003). Transfer RNA modifications that alter +1 frameshifting in general fail to affect -1 frameshifting. RNA 9, 760-768. doi: 10.1261/rna.5210803
- van den Born, E., Vågbø, C. B., Songe-Møller, L., Leihne, V., Lien, G. F., Leszczynska, G., et al. (2011). ALKBH8-mediated formation of a novel diastereomeric pair of wobble nucleosides in mammalian tRNA. Nat Commun. 2, 172. doi: 10.1038/ncomms1173
- van Tol, H., Stange, N., Gross, H. J., and Beier, H. (1987). A human and a plant intron-containing tRNATyr gene are both transcribed in a HeLa cell extract but spliced along different pathways. EMBO J. 6, 35-41.
- Vilardo, E., Nachbagauer, C., Buzet, A., Taschner, A., Holzmann, J., and Rossmanith, W. (2012). A subcomplex of human mitochondrial RNase P is a bifunctional methyltransferase-extensive moonlighting in mitochondrial tRNA biogenesis. Nucleic Acids Res. 40, 11583-11593. doi: 10.1093/nar/gks910
- Waas, W. F., de Crécy-Lagard, V., and Schimmel, P. (2005). Discovery of a gene family critical to wyosine base formation in a subset of phenylalaninespecific transfer RNAs. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 37616-37622. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M506939200
- Waas, W. F., Druzina, Z., Hanan, M., and Schimmel, P. (2007). Role of a tRNA base modification and its precursors in frameshifting in eukaryotes. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 26026-26034. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M703391200
- Walbott, H., Auxilien, S., Grosjean, H., and Golinelli-Pimpaneau, B. (2007). The carboxyl-terminal extension of yeast tRNA m5C methyltransferase enhances the catalytic efficiency of the amino-terminal domain. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 23663-23671. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M703818200
- Walker, R. T. (1983). Mycoplasma evolution: a review of the use of ribosomal and transfer RNA Nucleotide sequences in the determination of phylogenetic relationships, yale. J. Biol. Med. 56, 367-372.
- Watanabe, K., Nureki, O., Fukai, S., Endo, Y., and Hori, H. (2006). Functional categorization of the conserved basic amino acid residues in TrmH (tRNA (Gm18) methyltransferase) enzymes. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 34630-34639. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M606141200
- Watanabe, K., Nureki, O., Fukai, S., Ishii, R., Okamoto, H., Yokoyama, S., et al. (2005). Roles of conserved amino acid sequence motifs in the SpoU (TrmH) RNA methyltransferase family. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 10368-10377. doi: 10.1074/ibc.M411209200
- Watanabe, K., Shinma, M., Oshima, T., and Nishimura, S. (1976). Heatinduced stability of tRNA from an extreme thermophile, Thermus thermophilus. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 72, 1137-1144. doi: 10.1016/S0006-291X(76)80250-1
- Wei, F. Y., Suzuki, T., Watanabe, S., Kimura, S., Kaitsuka, T., Fujimura, A., et al. (2011). Deficit of tRNA(Lys) modification by Cdkal1 causes the development of type 2 diabetes in mice. J. Clin. Invest. 121, 3598-3608. doi: 10.1172/JCI58056
- Wilkinson, M. L., Crary, S. M., Jackman, J. E., Grayhack, E. J., and Phizicky, E. M. (2007). The 2'-O-methyltransferase responsible for modification of yeast tRNA at position 4. RNA 13, 404-413. doi: 10.1261/rna.399607
- Wurm, J. P., Griese, M., Bahr, U., Held, M., Heckel, A., Karas, M., et al. (2012). Identification of the enzyme responsible for N1-methylation of pseudouridine 54 in archaeal tRNAs. RNA 18, 412-420. doi: 10.1261/rna.028498.111
- Yamagami, R., Yamashita, K., Nishimasu, H., Tomikawa, C., Ochi, A., Iwashita, C., et al. (2012). The tRNA recognition mechanism of folate/FAD-dependent tRNA methyltransferase (TrmFO). J. Biol. Chem. 287, 42480-42494. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.390112
- Yaniv, M., and Folk, W. R. (1975). The nucleotide sequences of the two glutamine transfer ribonucleic acids from Escherichia coli. J. Biol. Chem. 250, 3243-3253.
- Yasukawa, T., Suzuki, T., Ishii, N., Ohta, S., and Watanabe, K. (2001). Wobble modification defect in tRNA disturbs codon-anticodon interaction in a mitochondrial disease. EMBO J. 20, 4794-9802. doi: 10.1093/emboj/20. 17.4794

- Ye, K., Jia, R., Lin, J., Ju, M., Peng, J., Xu, A., et al. (2009). Structural organization of box C/D RNA-guided RNA methyltransferase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 13803–13813. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0905128106
- Yim, L., Moukadiri, I., Björk, G. R., and Armengod, M. E. (2006). Further insights into the tRNA modification process controlled by proteins MnmE and GidA of *Escherichia coli. Nucleic Acids Res.* 34, 5892–5905. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkl752
- Yokoyama, S., Watanabe, K., and Miyazawa, T. (1987). Dynamic structures and functions of transfer ribonucleic acids from extreme thermophiles. *Adv. Biophys.* 23, 115–147. doi: 10.1016/0065-227X(87)90006-2
- Zegers, I., Gigot, D., van Vliet, F., Tricot, C., Aymerich, S., Bujnicki, J. M., et al. (2006). Crystal structure of *Bacillus subtilis* TrmB, the tRNA (m⁷G46) methyltransferase. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 34, 1925–1934. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkl116
- Zhao, J., Leung, H. E., and Winkler, M. E. (2001). The miaA mutator phenotype of *Escherichia coli* K-12 requires recombination functions. *J. Bacteriol.* 185, 1796–1800. doi: 10.1128/JB.183.5.1796-1800.2001

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 28 March 2014; accepted: 04 May 2014; published online: 23 May 2014. Citation: Hori H (2014) Methylated nucleosides in tRNA and tRNA methyltransferases. Front. Genet. 5:144. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00144

This article was submitted to Non-Coding RNA, a section of the journal Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2014 Hori. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Biosynthesis and functions of sulfur modifications in tRNA

Naoki Shigi*

Biomedical Research Institute, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology, Tokyo, Japan

Edited by:

Akio Kanai, Keio University, Japan

Reviewed by:

Hiroyuki Hori, Ehime University, Japan Yumi Nakai, Osaka Medical College, Japan

*Correspondence:

Naoki Shigi, Biomedical Research Institute, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology, 2-4-7 Aomi, Koto-ku, Tokyo 135-0064, Japan e-mail: naoki-shigi@aist.go.jp

Sulfur is an essential element for a variety of cellular constituents in all living organisms. In tRNA molecules, there are many sulfur-containing nucleosides, such as the derivatives of 2-thiouridine (s²U), 4-thiouridine (s⁴U), 2-thiocytidine (s²C), and 2-methylthioadenosine (ms²A). Earlier studies established the functions of these modifications for accurate and efficient translation, including proper recognition of the codons in mRNA or stabilization of tRNA structure. In many cases, the biosynthesis of these sulfur modifications starts with cysteine desulfurases, which catalyze the generation of persulfide (an activated form of sulfur) from cysteine. Many sulfur-carrier proteins are responsible for delivering this activated sulfur to each biosynthesis pathway. Finally, specific "modification enzymes" activate target tRNAs and then incorporate sulfur atoms. Intriguingly, the biosynthesis of 2-thiouridine in all domains of life is functionally and evolutionarily related to the ubiquitinlike post-translational modification system of cellular proteins in eukaryotes. This review summarizes the recent characterization of the biosynthesis of sulfur modifications in tRNA and the novel roles of this modification in cellular functions in various model organisms, with a special emphasis on 2-thiouridine derivatives. Each biosynthesis pathway of sulfurcontaining molecules is mutually modulated via sulfur trafficking, and 2-thiouridine and codon usage bias have been proposed to control the translation of specific genes.

Keywords: post-transcriptional modification, post-translational modification, sulfur, tRNA, ubiquitin

INTRODUCTION

A characteristic structural and functional feature of RNA is post-transcriptional modification. More than 100 forms of naturally occurring chemical modification have been reported to date^{1,2} (Cantara et al., 2011; Machnicka et al., 2013). The roles of modified nucleosides in tRNA are important and wide-ranging, and include critical roles in biogenesis, structural stability, codon recognition, maintenance of reading frame, and identification elements for the translation machinery (Björk, 1995; Curran, 1998).

The biosynthesis and functions of thionucleosides have been elucidated mainly by using Escherichia coli, Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium, and Saccharomyces cerevisiae as model organisms. E. coli tRNAs contain five thionucleosides, 4-thiouridine (s^4U) at position 8, 2-thiocytidine (s^2C) at position 32, 5-methylaminomethyl-2-thiouridine (mnm⁵s²U) or 5-carboxymethylaminomethyl-2-thiouridine (cmnm⁵s²U) at position 34, and 2-methylthio-N⁶-isopentenyladenosine (ms²i⁶A) at position 37 (Figure 1). The biosynthesis of these thionucleosides can be divided into two major groups depending on the involvement of iron-sulfur (Fe-S) cluster biosynthesis. The thiouridines s⁴U8 and (c)mnm⁵s²U34 are synthesized independently of Fe-S cluster formation, while s²C32 and ms²i⁶A37 synthesis is dependent upon Fe-S cluster formation, which suggest that Fe-S-containing proteins are present in the latter biosynthesis pathways (Figure 2; Lauhon et al., 2004; Leipuviene et al., 2004).

The first step of mobilization of sulfur in both pathways starts with the activation of the sulfur atom of cysteine by an enzyme, cysteine desulfurase, IscS (Figure 2). IscS forms an enzyme-bound persulfide (IscS-SSH) using pyridoxal-5'-phospate (PLP) as a cofactor and this activated sulfur is transferred to the next acceptor protein in each pathway. For the biosynthesis of s⁴U8 and (c)mnm⁵s²U34, the sulfur atom is transferred to specific sulfurcarrier proteins or a "modification enzyme" (Palenchar et al., 2000; Ikeuchi et al., 2006). The modification enzymes bind and activate target tRNA and catalyze the final step of sulfur transfer to tRNA. For the biosynthesis of s²C32 and ms²i⁶A37 (Fe-S cluster dependent pathway), the persulfide generated by IscS is transferred to the "scaffold" protein IscU, on which the Fe-S cluster is synthesized, and the Fe-S cluster is then incorporated into the modification enzymes for ms²i⁶A37 (and maybe also for s²C32; Pierrel et al., 2002, 2003, 2004; Jäger et al., 2004). In ms²i⁶A synthesis, it was reported that the sulfur atom in the Fe-S cluster is not the sulfur donor (Forouhar et al., 2013); therefore, the ultimate sulfur donor in vivo remains to be determined.

The sulfur atom activated by IscS is also used in molybdenum cofactor (Moco) and thiamin biosynthesis (**Figure 2**). These are sulfur-containing cofactors whose biosynthesis also includes unique sulfur-carrier proteins. Moco is incorporated into the active sites of many molybdoenzymes, including nitrate reductase, sulfite oxidase, and xanthine dehydrogenase (Schindelin et al., 2001). Moco contains a molybdenum atom and a pterin named molybdpterin (MPT). In MPT biosynthesis, two sulfur atoms are incorporated into precursor Z using a protein-thiocarboxylate as a sulfur donor. Thiamin is an essential cofactor for enzymes involved

¹http://mods.rna.albany.edu/

²http://modomics.genesilico.pl/





FIGURE 1 | Sulfur-containing tRNA modifications. (A) Secondary structure of tRNA and positions of thiolated nucleosides in tRNA. **(B)** Chemical structure of thiolated nucleosides in *E. coli*: s⁴U, 4-thiouridine; s²C, 2-thiocytidine; xm⁵s²U, 5-methyl-2-thiouridine derivatives; ms²i⁶A, 2-methylthio-N⁶-isopentenyladenosine. **(C)** Conformation of the xm⁵s²U: C3' -endo form is preferred because of the steric hindrance of the 2-thio and 2' -OH groups.



iron–sulfur cluster, Moco: molybdenum cofactor.

in carbohydrate and branched-chain amino acid metabolism and is synthesized from thiazole and pyrimidine moieties (Settembre et al., 2003). The sulfur atom of the thiazole ring is added in most bacteria by a system similar to the Moco biosynthetic machinery.

In *S. cerevisiae*, there are two thiouridines in tRNA, 5methoxycarbonylmethyl-2-thiouridine (mcm⁵s²U34) in cytosolic tRNAs and 5-carboxymethylaminomethyl-2-thiouridine (cmnm⁵ s^2 U34) in mitochondrial tRNAs. The biosynthesis pathway of 2-thiouridine in cytosolic tRNA is Fe–S cluster dependent, while the mitochondrial pathway is independent of Fe–S cluster formation (Umeda et al., 2005; Nakai et al., 2007). The biosynthesis of s^2 U in cytosolic tRNA in the eukaryote utilizes a protein-thiocarboxylate as intermediate sulfur donor. This pathway is functionally and evolutionarily related to the ubiquitin-like post-translational modification system of cellular proteins in eukaryotes and a similar biosynthesis pathway in archaea was reported (Humbard et al., 2010; Miranda et al., 2011).

In some thermophiles, 5-methyl-2-thiouridine (m^5s^2U) [also called 2-thioribothymidine (s^2T)] occurs at position 54 in the T-loop (**Figure 1**). Intriguingly, the biosynthesis pathway (Shigi et al., 2008) is similar to that of cytosolic s^2U34 in eukaryotes, and ubiquitin-like post-translational modification of cellular proteins has recently been discovered also in the bacteria domain (Shigi, 2012).

In this review, I summarize recent advances with respect to the characterization of the biosynthesis mechanisms of sulfur modifications in tRNA, with special reference to 2-thiouridine derivatives. Up to the time of writing, two major pathways for the biosynthesis of 2-thiouridine have been reported. These pathways differ in terms of the types of modification enzyme and the ultimate sulfur donor (**Table 1**). The novel roles of 2-thiouridine in cellular functions have been revealed by new techniques including genome-wide analyses in some model organisms. Interestingly, each biosynthesis pathway to sulfur-containing molecules has been suggested to be mutually modulated via sulfur trafficking and translational control of specific genes by 2-thiouridine derivatives in tRNAs.

FUNCTIONAL PROPERTIES OF 2-THIOURIDINE BASED ON ITS STRUCTURE

The 2-thiouridine modification at position 34 and 54 plays critical roles in protein synthesis. Position 34 (the wobble base) of tRNAs for Glu, Gln, and Lys are universally modified to 5-methyl-2-thiouridine derivatives (xm^5s^2U ; **Figure 1**): 5-methylaminomethyl-2-thiouridine (mnm⁵s²U) and 5-carboxymethylaminomethyl-2-thiouridine (cmnm⁵s²U) in bacterial tRNAs, 5-methoxycarbonylmethyl-2-thiouridine (mcm⁵s²U) in eukaryotic cytosolic tRNAs, cmnm⁵s²U in yeast mitochondrial tRNA, and 5-taurinomethyl-2-thiouridine (τm^5s^2U) in mammalian mitochondrial tRNAs (Suzuki, 2005).

The conformation of $\text{xm}^5 \text{s}^2 \text{U}$ preferentially takes the C3'-*endo* form of ribose puckering, because of the steric effect of the bulky 2-thiocarbonyl group toward the 2'-hydroxyl group (**Figure 1C**; Yokoyama et al., 1985; Agris et al., 1992). The $\text{xm}^5 \text{s}^2 \text{U}34$ base pairs preferentially with purines and prevents misreading of near cognate codons ending in pyrimidines (Agris et al., 1973; Yokoyama et al., 1985; Murphy et al., 2004; Durant et al., 2005; Johansson et al., 2008) and frame shifting (Urbonavicius et al., 2001; Atkins and Björk, 2009; Isak and Ryden-Aulin, 2009; Jäger et al., 2013). The 2-thio group of $\text{xm}^5 \text{s}^2 \text{U}34$ is required for efficient codon recognition on the ribosome (Ashraf et al., 1999; Vendeix et al., 2012; Rodriguez-Hernandez et al., 2013). In addition, the 2-thio group of $\text{cmnm}^5 \text{s}^2 \text{U}34$ in tRNA^{Glu}acts as the identity element for specific recognition by glutaminyl-tRNA synthetase (Sylvers

Strain	Modified base	Position	Function	Modification enzyme	Activated sulfur species
Bacteria	xm ⁵ s ² U	34	Decoding	MnmA type	Protein-persulfide
Eukaryote (mitochondria)	xm ⁵ s ² U	34	Decoding	MnmA type	Protein-persulfide
Eukaryote (cytosol)	xm ⁵ s ² U	34	Decoding	Ncs6/TtuA type	Protein-thiocarboxylate, Protein-persulfide
Bacteria (thermophile)	m^5s^2U (s^2T)	54	Thermal stabilization	Ncs6/TtuA type	Protein-thiocarboxylate, Protein-persulfide

Table 1 | Two pathways of 2-thiouridine biosynthesis.

et al., 1993; Rodriguez-Hernandez et al., 2013). In human, a defect in mitochondrial translation is induced by the lack of xm⁵s²U34 modification in mutant mitochondrial tRNA^{Lys} from patients with myoclonus epilepsy with ragged-red fibers (MERRF; Yasukawa et al., 2000, 2001).

The 2-thio modification of m⁵s²U (s²T) at position 54 in the T-loop also plays an important role in protein synthesis in high temperature environments. In thermophilic organisms such as Thermus thermophilus and Pyrococcus furiosus, almost all tRNA species are modified to m⁵U54 and m⁵s²U54 (Watanabe et al., 1974; Kowalak et al., 1994). The m⁵s²U54 is also found in the hyperthermophilic bacterium Aquifex aeolicus (Awai et al., 2009). The 2-thiolation content of m⁵U54 increases with cultivation temperature (Watanabe et al., 1976; Kowalak et al., 1994). As deletion strains of T. thermophilus lacking the 2-thio group of the m⁵s²U54 modification show a temperature sensitive phenotype, this modification is suggested to be required for survival of the thermophile at high temperature (Shigi et al., 2006a). In the Lshaped tRNA structure, m⁵s²U54 is buried inside the tertiary core and forms a reverse Hoogsteen base pair with m¹A58 and also stacking with G53 and \u03c655. In addition, \u03c655 and C56 form tertiary base pairs with G18 and G19 in the D-loop, respectively. The rigid conformation of m⁵s²U54 stabilizes the A-form helix of the D-loop-T-loop interaction, contributing to the thermostability of tRNAs in the thermophile (Watanabe et al., 1974; Horie et al., 1985).

MnmA PATHWAY FOR 2-THIOURIDINE SYNTHESIS IN BACTERIA AND EUKARYOTE ORGANELLES

In E. coli, seven proteins are responsible for 2-thiolation of 5-methylaminomethyl-2-thiouridine (mnm⁵s²U) or 5carboxymethylaminomethyl-2-thiouridine (cmnm⁵s²U) in the wobble base of tRNA^{Glu}UUC, tRNA^{Gln}UUG, and tRNA^{Lys}UUU: a cysteine desulfurase (IscS), a modification enzyme (MnmA), and three persulfide carriers (TusA, TusBCD complex, and TusE; Figure 3A; Kambampati and Lauhon, 2003; Ikeuchi et al., 2006; Numata et al., 2006a). The sulfur atom of L-cysteine is first activated by IscS cysteine desulfurase to form an enzyme-bound persulfide. The small sulfur-carrier proteins TusA, TusBCD, and TusE relay this sulfur atom via their active site cysteine residues to MnmA. Tus proteins stimulate sulfur transfer from IscS to the catalytic cysteine of MnmA (Cys199). MnmA is an N-type ATP-pyrophosphatase that possesses the characteristic PP-motif (Bork and Koonin, 1994) and two conserved cysteine residues (Cys102 and Cys199). The reaction mechanism was well documented in a biochemical study based on the crystal structure of the MnmA-tRNA complex (Numata et al., 2006b). MnmA binds the anticodon arm and D-stem regions of tRNA and activates the C2-position of the uracil ring at position 34 as an acyl-adenylated intermediate (tRNA-OAMP). This is then followed by nucleophilic attack by the persulfide sulfur of MnmA-Cys199-SSH, which results in the completion of 2-thiouridine formation.

Genomic analysis of bacteria revealed that IscS, TusA, and MnmA are mostly conserved, whereas TusBCD and TusE are not found in many organisms (Kotera et al., 2010). This implies that a variation in the sulfur-transfer pathways from IscS to MnmA may exist. In eukaryotic mitochondria, NifS and Mtu1 (homologs of IscS and MnmA, respectively) are responsible for 2-thiolation of cmnm⁵s²U in yeast and 5-taurinomethyl-2-thiouridine ($\tau m^5 s^2 U$) in mammals (Umeda et al., 2005). In eukaryotic mitochondria, the intermediate sulfur carriers remained to be identified.

Ncs6/Urm1 PATHWAY FOR 2-THIOURIDINE SYNTHESIS IN THE CYTOSOL OF EUKARYOTES

The Ncs6/Urm1 pathway is responsible for the 2-thiolation of 5-methoxycarbonylmethyl-2-thiouridine (mcm⁵s²U) in the wobble base of tRNA^{Glu}UUC, tRNA^{Gln}UUG, and tRNA^{Lys}UUU in the cytosol of eukaryotes (S. cerevisiae, Schizosaccharomyces pombe, Caenorhabditis elegans, Homo sapiens; Esberg et al., 2006; Björk et al., 2007; Dewez et al., 2008; Huang et al., 2008; Nakai et al., 2008; Schlieker et al., 2008; Schmitz et al., 2008; Leidel et al., 2009; Noma et al., 2009). A similar pathway was reported subsequently in plants (Leiber et al., 2010; Nakai et al., 2012). With the exception of the first step catalyzed by cysteine desulfurase Nfs1, the eukaryotic pathway is quite different from the MnmA pathway in bacteria described above. The function of Nfs1 is to donate the sulfur to the Fe-S cluster and 2-thiouridine. Formation of 2-thiouridine is dependent on Fe-S cluster biosynthesis (ISC) and cytosolic Fe-S cluster assembly (CIA) machineries in yeast (Nakai et al., 2007). This suggests that the Ncs6/Urm1 pathway depends on Fe-S protein(s), although at the time of writing it remains to be determined which protein(s) possess Fe–S cluster(s).

The Ncs6/Urm1 pathway is composed of at least six proteins including a cysteine desulfurase (Nfs1), a modification enzyme complex (Ncs6/Ncs2), two sulfur carriers (Urm1 and Tum1), and an activation enzyme for Urm1 (Uba4; **Figure 3B**). The gene names here are those of *S. cerevisiae*, and homologs of Ncs6/Ncs2 and Uba4 in humans are designated ATPBD3/CTU2 and MOCS3 (molybdenum cofactor synthesis 3), respectively. Tum1 and Uba4 contain rhodanese-like domains (RLDs) bearing conserved cysteine residues. Rhodanese is a widespread sulfur-carrier enzyme



enzyme, MnmA. (B) In S. cerevisiae, Urm1 acts both as sulfur carrier and protein modifier. A thioester conjugate or an acyldisulfide conjugate (not

sulfur carrier and protein modifier. An unidentified RLD protein might be involved in sulfur transfer.

that catalyzes sulfur-transfer reactions in various metabolic pathways (Bordo and Bork, 2002). The conserved cysteine residues of RLDs in Tum1 and Uba4 are critical for 2-thiouridine formation in vivo. Tum1 probably directs sulfur flow to 2-thiouridine formation (Noma et al., 2009). The persulfide of Nfs1 is transferred to the RLD of Uba4 mainly via the RLD of Tum1.

Urm1 is a ubiquitin-related modifier and Uba4 is an E1like Urm1-activating enzyme involved in protein urmylation (see the following; Furukawa et al., 2000). The carboxy-terminus of Urm1 is first activated as an acyl-adenylate intermediate (Urm1-COAMP) and then thiocarboxylated (Urm1-COSH) by a persulfide from the RLD of Uba4 (Figure 3B; Schlieker et al., 2008; Schmitz et al., 2008; Leidel et al., 2009; Noma et al., 2009). The activated thiocarboxylate may be utilized in subsequent reactions for 2-thiouridine formation, which is mediated by a heterodimer complex, Ncs6/Ncs2 (Dewez et al., 2008; Noma et al., 2009).

Ncs6 has the PP-motif and many CXXC motifs (**Figure 4A**; see TtuA/TtuB Pathway for 2-Thiouridine Synthesis in Thermophile tRNAs). Thus, 2-thiolation of mcm⁵s²U shares a pathway and chemical reactions with protein urmylation. Intriguingly, eukaryotic 2-thiouridine formation employs a thiocarboxylated intermediate as the active form of the sulfur atom, which is a mechanism distinct from bacterial sulfur-relay based on persulfide chemistry.

POST-TRANSLATIONAL MODIFICATION OF CELLULAR PROTEINS BY Urm1 IN EUKARYOTES

Ubiquitin (Ub) and ubiquitin-like proteins (Ubls) are posttranslational protein modifiers with important roles in proteolysis and the regulation of diverse processes in eukaryotes (Hochstrasser, 2009). The breakdown of the Ub/Ubl system is often associated with the development of various diseases. In the first step of conjugation to target proteins, the conserved C-terminal glycine of Ub/Ubl is acyl-adenylated by an activating enzyme (E1) and covalently linked to a cysteine residue of E1 to form an Ub/Ubl-E1 thioester intermediate. The activated Ub/Ubl is next transferred to a conjugating enzyme (E2). Finally, Ub/Ubl is attached to a lysine residue in the target protein by a ligase (E3; Hochstrasser, 2009).

Proteins homologous to eukaryotic Ub/Ubl and E1s exist in almost all members of bacteria and archaea (Iyer et al., 2006;



FIGURE 4 | TtuA and Ncs6 proteins in 2-thiouridine biosynthesis. (A) Schematic representation of TtcA family proteins. TtuA and Ncs6 belong to group II of the TtcA family. TtuA is composed of two Zn finger domains and a catalytic domain. TtcA is responsible for the formation of 2-thiocytidine34. (B) Structure of *P. horikoshii* TtuA. The three domains are colored the same as in (A). The PP-motif is shown in red. Three Cys residues that is important for enzyme activity is shown with a stick representation. The target K135 for TtuB conjugation (K137 in *T. thermophilus*) is shown in a blue stick model.

Burroughs et al., 2009, 2012). Earlier works established that these bacterial proteins function in the biosynthesis of sulfur compounds such as molybdenum cofactor and thiamin (Kessler, 2006). Bacterial Ubls (MoaD and ThiS) are adenylated by cognate E1 homologs (MoeB and ThiF), subsequently bind activated sulfur via their C-termini to form thiocarboxylates, and finally act as sulfur donors (Figure 2; Pitterle and Rajagopalan, 1993; Taylor et al., 1998; Lauhon and Kambampati, 2000; Leimkühler et al., 2001; Zhang et al., 2010). These findings imply an evolutionary link between the eukaryotic Ub/Ubl system and the bacterial sulfurtransfer reaction (Iver et al., 2006; Hochstrasser, 2009). Urm1 is an ubiquitin-related modifier and Uba4 is an E1-like enzyme involved in protein urmylation in eukaryotes (Furukawa et al., 2000; Figure 3B). A thioester conjugate (Furukawa et al., 2000) or an acyldisulfide conjugate (Van der Veen et al., 2011) of Urm1 and Uba4 were proposed in this process. As Urm1 also functions as a sulfur donor for 2-thiouridine synthesis (see the preceding) and has close sequence and structural homology with bacterial Ubls (Xu et al., 2006), Urm1 is thought to be the most ancient Ubl possessing dual functions of protein modifier and sulfur carrier. The E2 and E3 enzymes for urmylation have not been identified at the time of writing.

Several targets of urmylation have been identified upon cell exposure to an oxidant (Van der Veen et al., 2011), although earlier reports only identified a peroxiredoxin Ahp1 (Goehring et al., 2003a,b). Among them, a modification enzyme complex ATPBD3/CTU2 and an E1-like MOCS3, both of which are required for 2-thiouridine biosynthesis, have been identified. The target residues in these proteins have not been identified and the roles of urmylation of these proteins are unknown at the time of writing; however, regulation of the activities of these enzymes would be possible.

TtuA/TtuB PATHWAY FOR 2-THIOURIDINE SYNTHESIS IN THERMOPHILE tRNAs

Prior work from our group identified the TtuA/TtuB pathway for the biosynthesis of thiouridine (m⁵s²U) at position 54 in tRNAs from a thermophilic bacterium T. thermophilus. The TtuA/TtuB pathway includes cysteine desulfurases (IscS or SufS), a modification enzyme (TtuA), a small ubiquitin-like sulfur carrier (TtuB), and an activation enzyme for TtuB (TtuC; Figure 3C; Shigi et al., 2006a,b, 2008). Similar to the eukaryotic Ncs6/Urm1 pathway described above, the C-terminal Gly of TtuB is acyl-adenylated (TtuB-COAMP) by TtuC and is then thiocarboxylated (TtuB-COSH) by cysteine desulfurases (IscS or SufS). The sulfur atom of the thiocarboxylated TtuB is transferred to tRNA by TtuA. This step also requires ATP as a cofactor and TtuA possesses the PPmotif, suggesting that TtuA may activate the target uridine as an acyl-adenylate. The sulfur-transfer activity in the in vitro system requires the addition of cell-free extract and the activity was low, suggesting that there may still be additional factors required for TtuA-mediated sulfur transfer to tRNA.

TtuA and eukaryotic Ncs6 are homologous to each other, and belong to group II of the TtcA family, whose members are characterized by five conserved CXXC(H) motifs and the PP-motif (**Figure 4A**; Bork and Koonin, 1994; Jäger et al., 2004; Björk et al., 2007). TtcA, which catalyzes 2-thiocytidine (s²C) synthesis (Jäger et al., 2004), has only two CXXC motifs and the PP-motif, and therefore belongs to group I of the TtcA family. The PP-motif is used for ATP binding to adenylate the target nucleotide, and is widely distributed among ATP pyrophosphatases, including modification enzymes MnmA (see the preceding; Numata et al., 2006b), ThiI for 4-thiouridine (s⁴U) synthesis (Mueller and Palenchar, 1999; Palenchar et al., 2000), and TilS for tRNA^{IIe2} lysidine synthesis (Ikeuchi et al., 2005).

We determined the crystal structure of the TtuA homolog (PH0300) of the archeaon *P. horikoshii* (Nakagawa et al., 2013). The *P. horikoshii* genome has two TtuA/Ncs6-like ORFs: one (PH0300) seems to be an ortholog of *T. thermophilus* TtuA; and the other (PH1680) seems to be an ortholog of eukaryotic Ncs6, based on their sequence homology to TtuA and Ncs6. The *P. horikoshii* TtuA forms a homodimer, and each subunit contains a catalytic domain and unique N- and C-terminal zinc fingers (**Figure 4B**). The N-terminal zinc finger is made up of the first and second CXXC/H motifs, where the zinc atom is coordinated by three Cys residues and one His residue. The C-terminal zinc finger is made up of the fourth and fifth CXXC motifs, where the zinc atom is coordinated by four Cys residues.

Interestingly, the catalytic domain of TtuA has much higher structural similarity to that of another tRNA modification enzyme, TilS (tRNA^{Ile2} lysidine synthetase), than to the other type of tRNA 2-thiolation enzyme, MnmA (Figure 4). However, three Cys residues (128, 131, 220 in PhTtuA) are clustered in the putative catalytic site, which are absent in TilS. Cys128 and Cys131 are in the third CXXC motif and Cys220 is also conserved. By in vivo mutational analysis of TtuA in T. thermophilus (Nakagawa et al., 2013), it became apparent that the three conserved cysteine residues and the putative ATP-binding residues are important for TtuA activity, implying a key role for these Cys residues in sulfur transfer from TtuB-COSH to tRNA. A positively charged surface that includes the catalytic site and the two zinc fingers is likely to provide the tRNA binding site. TtuA recognizes the T-loop (Shigi et al., 2002) and Ncs6/Ncs2 is predicted to recognize the anticodon arm. The recognition mechanisms of the different target sites on tRNA require clarification.

POST-TRANSLATIONAL MODIFICATION OF CELLULAR PROTEINS BY TtuB IN A BACTERIUM *T. thermophilus*

Homology modeling suggests that TtuB possesses a Ub/ β -grasp fold and TtuC has significant sequence homology with the adenylation domain of eukaryotic E1s (Shigi et al., 2008). These findings suggest that Ub/Ubl homologous conjugation systems also exist in bacteria. A series of *in vivo* analyses in *T. thermophilus* revealed that TtuB is covalently attached to target proteins most likely via its C-terminal glycine (Shigi, 2012). TtuC is required for conjugate formation, and TtuC and TtuA are targets for TtuB conjugation. Mass spectrometric analysis combined with *in vivo* mutational analysis revealed that lysine residues (K137/K226/K229) in TtuA are covalently modified by the C-terminal carboxylate of TtuB. K137 in *T. thermophilus* TtuA is situated just after the third CXXC motif. In the crystal structure of *P. horikoshii* TtuA, K137 (K135 in PhTtuA) is situated close to the catalytic center of this enzyme family (**Figure 4B**; Nakagawa et al., 2013). K137 in TtuA is conserved in related bacteria and archaea, such as *Aquifex*, *Pyrococcus*, *Thermococcus*, and *Metanocaldococcus*. On the other hand, this position is occupied by a conserved arginine in eukaryotic Ncs6. K226 and K229 in *T. thermophilus* TtuA are situated just after Cys222 (Cys220 in PhTtuA), although the regions near the two lysine residues were disordered in the PhTtuA structure. However, K226 and K229 are only conserved in *T. thermophilus* and a few other species, possibly implying species-specific functions of the conjugation. Intriguingly, a deletion mutant of a JAMM [JAB1/MPN/Mov34 metalloenzyme (Ambroggio et al., 2004)] ubiquitin isopeptidase homolog in *T. thermophilus* showed aberrant TtuB-conjugates of TtuC and TtuA, and a ~50% decrease in the amount of thiouridine in tRNA (Shigi, 2012). These results support the hypothesis that thiouridine synthesis is regulated by TtuB conjugation.

THE CASE IN ARCHAEA

Although the precise chemical structure of the archaeal counterpart remains unknown at the time of writing, the existence of modified uridines at the wobble position in tRNA^{Lys} and tRNA^{Glu} from Haloferax volcanii has been reported (Gupta, 1984). The existence of 2-thiouridine in tRNALys from H. valcanii was suggested by APM-electrophoresis (Miranda et al., 2011), a method that can detect sulfur modifications in RNAs (Igloi, 1988). Because the homologs of eukaryotic Ncs6 are widely distributed in archaeal genomes, these proteins may be involved in this modification (Kotera et al., 2010). Genetic analysis in H. valcanii shows that SAMP2 (small archaeal modifier protein 2) and E1-like protein UbaA are required for thiouridine formation in this organism (Miranda et al., 2011). These results indirectly suggest that SAMP2-COSH is formed and used as a sulfur donor for thiouridine formation in archaea, as observed previously in eukaryotes and bacteria. SAMPs are the first example of a ubiquitin-like protein modifier identified other than from a eukaryote (Humbard et al., 2010) and extensive studies show that the archaeal protein modification system resembles that of eukaryotes in many aspects (Van der Veen et al., 2011; Hepowit et al., 2012; Miranda et al., 2014). SAMP2 covalently conjugates too many target proteins including UbaA (a Uba4 homolog), HVO_0580 (a Ncs6 homolog), and HVO_0025 (a Tum1 homolog) (Humbard et al., 2010), implying that the SAMP2 modification also regulates the thiolation machinery.

4-Thiouridine (s^4 U), is a modified nucleotide of tRNA that is conserved from bacteria to archaea, where it functions as a sensor for near-UV irradiation (Favre et al., 1969; Carre et al., 1974; Ryals et al., 1982). Sulfur transfer in the biosynthesis of s^4 U has been extensively studied in bacteria (Kambampati and Lauhon, 2000; Mueller et al., 2001; Leipuviene et al., 2004). The persulfide of IscS is transferred to the RLD of ThiI, a PP-motif-containing modification enzyme. Recently, ThiI lacking an RLD domain has been characterized in methanogenic archaea (Liu et al., 2012). It has three cysteine residues (two of which come from a CXXC motif) in the putative catalytic site, and they are all required for persulfide intermediate formation. This may provide a hint about the catalytic mechanism of TtuA/Ncs6, because of the sequence and structural similarities between TtuA and ThiI (Waterman et al., 2006; Nakagawa et al., 2013).

BIOSYNTHESIS NETWORK OF SULFUR-CONTAINING MOLECULES

The mobilization of sulfur in biosynthesis pathways of sulfur-containing compounds starts with the activation of the sulfur atom of cysteine by the cysteine desulfurase IscS. IscS forms an enzyme-bound persulfide and this activated sulfur is transferred to the next acceptor protein in each pathway, such as TusA (2-thiouridine in tRNA), ThiI (4-thiouridine in tRNA), IscU (Fe-S cluster), ThiS (thiamin), and MoaD (molybdenum cofactor; Figure 2). It is conceivable that each biosynthesis pathway of sulfur-containing molecules is mutually modulated via competition of sulfur trafficking. An interesting observation with respect this was made during a study of lambda phage infection in E. coli (Maynard et al., 2010, 2012). During viral infection, the normal amount of modified uridine in tRNA^{Lys}UUU grarantees a normal translation and frameshifting rate for production of the proper ratio of viral gpG and gpGT proteins (gpGT production needs programmed ribosomal frameshifting). Hypomodification of tRNA^{Lys}UUU caused by deletion of Tus genes in the host cell leads to increased frameshifting in the translation of viral mRNA of G and T genes, which affects the ratio of viral gpG to gpGT. A lower gpG:gpGT ratio leads to decreased virion production. Another factor lowering infection is overexpression of IscU in the host cell. In this situation, higher sulfur flow from IscS to IscU conversely lowers the sulfur flow to Tus proteins, which leads to hypomodification of tRNA^{Lys}UUU and abnormal frameshifting, which finally affects the viral infection rate. The competitive binding of TusA and IscU to IscS has been analyzed in detail, based on the structures of the complexes IscS/TusA and IscS/IscU (Shi et al., 2010; Marinoni et al., 2012).

The sharing of a factor downstream of cysteine desulfurase also occurs in this sulfur-transfer network. TusA was originally identified as a sulfur carrier for 2-thiouridine synthesis (Ikeuchi et al., 2006); however, it was later reported to be involved in Moco synthesis in E. coli (Dahl et al., 2013; Kozmin et al., 2013). It has been proposed that the deletion of TusA leads to the overproduction of Fe-S clusters, which finally affects the expression of several genes (Dahl et al., 2013). A study of the link between the MnmA pathway and cellular redox state has recently been reported (Nakayashiki et al., 2013). By screening for mutants sensitive to hydroxyurea (HU) in E. coli, the authors identified mutations in all genes in the MnmA pathway (iscS, mnmA, and tusA-E in 2-thiouridine synthesis at the wobble position). These mutations resulted in a more reduced state, which may have led to a change in the activity of ribonucleotide reductase, an enzyme inhibited by HU. It is possible that a change in sulfur flow to each pathway in mutants of the MnmA pathway led to the reduced cellular state, although the precise mechanism underlying this phenomenon still remains unknown.

There is another interesting case. In *E. coli*, bacterial Ubls (MoaD and ThiS) are adenylated by cognate E1 homologs (MoeB and ThiF), subsequently bind activated sulfur at their C-termini to form thiocarboxylate, and work as sulfur donors for Moco and thiamin biosynthesis, respectively (**Figure 2**; Kessler, 2006). In the *T. thermophilus* genome, there is only one E1 homolog, TtuC. The *ttuC* mutant cannot synthesize 2-thio modification of m^5s^2U54 ; moreover, Moco and thiamin biosynthesis are also

defective. TtuC and cysteine desulfurase can activate and thiocarboxylate TtuB, MoaD, and ThiS *in vitro*. Thus, TtuC is a common E1-like enzyme shared by the biosynthesis pathways of these three sulfur-containing compounds (Shigi et al., 2008). Similarly, in human, MOCS2A (a MoaD homolog) and URM1 are adenylated by an E1-like MOCS3 (Uba4 homolog; Chowdhury et al., 2012). In archaea, E1-like UbaA is involved in the biosynthesis of Moco and thiouridine (Miranda et al., 2011). Interestingly, these E1 homologs are also involved in the post-translational modification of cellular proteins in all domains of life (Furukawa et al., 2000; Miranda et al., 2011; Shigi, 2012).

FUNCTION VIA TRANSLATIONAL CONTROL OF A SPECIFIC GROUP OF GENES IN EUKARYOTES

The inactivation of the genes in the Ncs6/Urm1 pathway results in a pleotropic phenotype that includes increased sensitivity to high temperature, oxidative stress, and rapamycin, a Tor-signaling inhibitor (Furukawa et al., 2000; Goehring et al., 2003a,b; Dewez et al., 2008). These phenotypes can be suppressed by overexpression of tRNA^{Lys}, tRNA^{Glu}, and tRNA^{Gln}, which normally possess mcm⁵s²U34 (Leidel et al., 2009). The phenotypes are similar to those of mutants of the elongator complex (Esberg et al., 2006), which is essential for modification of the C5 position of U34. These observations provide evidence that the mcm⁵s²U modification in tRNAs affects global translation, resulting in a pleotropic phenotype.

In S. cerevisiae, pioneering work has addressed the function of tRNA modifications on gene expression. The mcm⁵ modification of the wobble base of specific tRNAs modulates the expression of a DNA damage response mRNA, whose cognate codons are unusually overrepresented (Begley et al., 2007). A similar observation has been made concerning telomeric gene silencing (Chen et al., 2011). Proteome analysis in S. pombe showed that the amount of a specific group of proteins, including those involved in cell division, was decreased in mutants defective in the mcm⁵s²U modification (Bauer and Hermand, 2012; Bauer et al., 2012). The genes coding for these proteins have skewed lysine codon usage, such that the AAA codon was overrepresented compared to the AAG codon. The mcm⁵s²U modification in tRNA^{Lys}_{UUU} is necessary especially for the efficient translation of mRNAs enriched in the AAA codon. Among the genes affected by the mcm⁵s²U modification, a central regulator of mitosis and cytokinesis, Cdr2, was identified. The amount of Cdr2, a protein kinase, was recovered by overexpression of tRNA^{Lys}_{UUU} in the mutant defective in mcm⁵s²U biosynthesis. In addition, after substituting AAG codons for all AAA codons in cdr2 mRNA, the Cdr2 protein amount was no longer affected by the mcm⁵s²U modification. This study provides an interesting example of how translational control of a specific group of mRNAs can be affected by tRNA modifications and codon usage. The translation of specific genes in S. pombe and S. cerevisiae has also been reported by two other groups to be controlled by the s²U modification and codon usage (Fernandez-Vazquez et al., 2013; Rezgui et al., 2013).

In *S. cerevisiae*, 2-thiouridine formation in tRNA-Lys, -Glu, and -Gln is actively downregulated when methionine and cysteine are limiting, which leads to an overall reduction in translational capacity and reduced growth, because Glu, Gln, and especially Lys

codons are overrepresented in the genes essential for translation and growth (Laxman et al., 2013). In this case, tRNA thiolation works as a key effector to maintain amino acid homeostasis.

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

In the course of the characterization of biosynthesis pathways of sulfur-containing modifications, a number of sulfur-carrier proteins have been identified. The sulfur-carrier proteins may have evolved to deliver reactive sulfur atoms to specific targets and avoid non-specific transfer of activated sulfur atoms, which could inactivate other biomolecules. At the time of writing, it is still unclear whether or not the differences in the chemical properties of persulfide and thiocarboxylate result in different biological outcomes.

Each biosynthesis pathway of sulfur-containing molecules is mutually modulated by sulfur trafficking, and translational control of specific genes by 2-thiouridine and codon usage bias is now proposed in some model organisms. It would be interesting to determine whether similar mechanisms exist in higher eukaryotes.

Unexpectedly, the characterization of the biosynthesis of 2-thiouridine has revealed molecular fossils, namely, ancient ubiquitin-like molecules, including Urm1 in eukaryotes, TtuB in bacteria, and SAMP2 in archaea. These proteins have two functions; they function as sulfur carriers for 2-thiouridine synthesis and as protein modifiers. Therefore, these proteins may be evolutionarily intermediates between ancient sulfur-carrier proteins and protein modifiers. It is possible that an adenylated or thiocarboxylated intermediate, formed in the course of 2-thiouridine biosynthesis, was incidentally attached to adjacent proteins at some time in the past. By this post-translational modification, the activities of the attached proteins have probably changed. This was certainly the origin of the post-translational modification of proteins by these Ubls. The primitive function of these conjugates was probably self-regulation. Conjugates of Ubls and the modification enzymes Ncs6/Ncs2 and TtuA have already been detected, but the function of these post-translational modifications remains to be clarified. The resultant conjugates have become to be used as tags for the recognition and regulation of other proteins. By acquiring E2 and E3 enzymes, which can recognize target proteins precisely, the Ub system evolved considerably to become the sophisticated system it is today in eukaryotes.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank all collaborators, including Dr. Tsutomu Suzuki (University of Tokyo), Dr. Kimitsuna Watanabe (Tokyo University of Pharmacy and Life Sciences), and Dr. Shigeyuki Yokoyama (RIKEN), as well as members of their laboratories, namely Ms. Yuriko Sakaguchi (University of Tokyo) and Dr. Hirofumi Nakagawa (University of Tokyo and RIKEN). This study was supported in part by KAKENHI Grant (24570173) of the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science, and Technology of Japan, the Naito Foundation, the Kurata Memorial Hitachi Science and Technology Foundation, and the Takeda Science Foundation.

REFERENCES

Agris, P. F., Sierzputowska-Gracz, H., Smith, W., Malkiewicz, A., Sochacka, E., and Nawrot, B. (1992). Thiolation of uridine carbon-2 restricts the motional dynamics of the transfer RNA wobble position nucleoside. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 114, 2652–2656. doi: 10.1021/ja00033a044

- Agris, P. F., Soll, D., and Seno, T. (1973). Biological function of 2-thiouridine in Escherichia coli glutamic acid transfer ribonucleic acid. Biochemistry 12, 4331– 4337. doi: 10.1021/bi00746a005
- Ambroggio, X. I., Rees, D. C., and Deshaies, R. J. (2004). JAMM: a metalloproteaselike zinc site in the proteasome and signalosome. *PLoS Biol.* 2:E2. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0020002
- Ashraf, S. S., Sochacka, E., Cain, R., Guenther, R., Malkiewicz, A., and Agris, P. F. (1999). Single atom modification (O-- > S) of tRNA confers ribosome binding. *RNA* 5, 188–194. doi: 10.1017/S1355838299981529
- Atkins, J. F., and Björk, G. R. (2009). A gripping tale of ribosomal frameshifting: extragenic suppressors of frameshift mutations spotlight P-site realignment. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 73, 178–210. doi: 10.1128/MMBR.00010-08
- Awai, T., Kimura, S., Tomikawa, C., Ochi, A., Ihsanawati, Bessho, Y., et al. (2009). *Aquifex aeolicus* tRNA (N2,N2-guanine)-dimethyltransferase (Trm1) catalyzes transfer of methyl groups not only to guanine 26 but also to guanine 27 in tRNA. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 20467–20478. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.020024
- Bauer, F., and Hermand, D. (2012). A coordinated codon-dependent regulation of translation by Elongator. *Cell Cycle* 11, 4524–4529. doi: 10.4161/cc.22689
- Bauer, F., Matsuyama, A., Candiracci, J., Dieu, M., Scheliga, J., Wolf, D. A., et al. (2012). Translational control of cell division by Elongator. *Cell Rep.* 1, 424–433. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2012.04.001
- Begley, U., Dyavaiah, M., Patil, A., Rooney, J. P., DiRenzo, D., Young, C. M., et al. (2007). Trm9-catalyzed tRNA modifications link translation to the DNA damage response. *Mol. Cell* 28, 860–870. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2007.09.021
- Björk, G. R. (1995). "Biosynthesis and function of modified nucleosides," in *Trna: Structure, Biosynthesis, and Function*, eds. D. Soll and U. L. RajBhandary (Washington, DC: ASM Press), 165–205.
- Björk, G. R., Huang, B., Persson, O. P., and Bystrom, A. S. (2007). A conserved modified wobble nucleoside (mcm5s2U) in lysyl-tRNA is required for viability in yeast. RNA 13, 1245–1255. doi: 10.1261/rna.558707
- Bordo, D., and Bork, P. (2002). The rhodanese/Cdc25 phosphatase superfamily. Sequence-structure-function relations. *EMBO Rep.* 3, 741–746. doi: 10.1093/embo-reports/kvf150
- Bork, P., and Koonin, E. V. (1994). A P-loop-like motif in a widespread ATP pyrophosphatase domain: implications for the evolution of sequence motifs and enzyme activity. *Proteins* 20, 347–355. doi: 10.1002/prot.340200407
- Burroughs, A. M., Iyer, L. M., and Aravind, L. (2009). Natural history of the E1-like superfamily: implication for adenylation, sulfur transfer, and ubiquitin conjugation. *Proteins* 75, 895–910. doi: 10.1002/prot.22298
- Burroughs, A. M., Iyer, L. M., and Aravind, L. (2012). The natural history of ubiquitin and ubiquitin-related domains. *Front. Biosci. (Landmark Ed.)* 17:1433– 1460.
- Cantara, W. A., Crain, P. F., Rozenski, J., McCloskey, J. A., Harris, K. A., Zhang, X., et al. (2011). The RNA modification database, RNAMDB: 2011 update. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39, D195–D201. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkq1028
- Carre, D. S., Thomas, G., and Favre, A. (1974). Conformation and functioning of tRNAs: cross-linked tRNAs as substrate for tRNA nucleotidyl-transferase and aminoacyl synthetases. *Biochimie* 56, 1089–1101. doi: 10.1016/S0300-9084(74)80097-0
- Chen, C., Huang, B., Eliasson, M., Ryden, P., and Bystrom, A. S. (2011). Elongator complex influences telomeric gene silencing and DNA damage response by its role in wobble uridine tRNA modification. *PLoS Genet.* 7:e1002258. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1002258
- Chowdhury, M. M., Dosche, C., Lohmannsroben, H. G., and Leimkuhler, S. (2012). Dual role of the molybdenum cofactor biosynthesis protein MOCS3 in tRNA thiolation and molybdenum cofactor biosynthesis in humans. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 17297–17307. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.351429
- Curran, J. F. (1998). "Modified nucleosides in translation," in *Modification and Editing of RNA*, eds. H. Grosjean and R. Benne (Washington, DC: ASM Press), 493–516.
- Dahl, J. U., Radon, C., Buhning, M., Nimtz, M., Leichert, L. I., Denis, Y., et al. (2013). The sulfur carrier protein TusA has a pleiotropic role in *Escherichia coli* that also affects molybdenum cofactor biosynthesis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 288, 5426–5442. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.431569
- Dewez, M., Bauer, F., Dieu, M., Raes, M., Vandenhaute, J., and Hermand, D. (2008). The conserved Wobble uridine tRNA thiolase Ctu1-Ctu2 is required to

maintain genome integrity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105, 5459-5464. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0709404105

- Durant, P. C., Bajji, A. C., Sundaram, M., Kumar, R. K., and Davis, D. R. (2005). Structural effects of hypermodified nucleosides in the *Escherichia coli* and human tRNALys anticodon loop: the effect of nucleosides s2U, mcm5U, mcm5s2U, mnm5s2U, t6A, and ms2t6A. *Biochemistry* 44, 8078–8089. doi: 10.1021/bi050343f
- Esberg, A., Huang, B., Johansson, M. J., and Bystrom, A. S. (2006). Elevated levels of two tRNA species bypass the requirement for elongator complex in transcription and exocytosis. *Mol. Cell* 24, 139–148. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2006.07.031
- Favre, A., Yaniv, M., and Michelson, A. M. (1969). The photochemistry of 4-thiouridine in *Escherichia coli* t-RNA Val1. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 37, 266–271. doi: 10.1016/0006-291X(69)90729-3
- Fernandez-Vazquez, J., Vargas-Perez, I., Sanso, M., Buhne, K., Carmona, M., Paulo, E., et al. (2013). Modification of tRNA(Lys) UUU by elongator is essential for efficient translation of stress mRNAs. *PLoS Genet.* 9:e1003647. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1003647
- Forouhar, F., Arragain, S., Atta, M., Gambarelli, S., Mouesca, J. M., Hussain, M., et al. (2013). Two Fe-S clusters catalyze sulfur insertion by radical-SAM methylthiotransferases. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 9, 333–338. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.1229
- Furukawa, K., Mizushima, N., Noda, T., and Ohsumi, Y. (2000). A protein conjugation system in yeast with homology to biosynthetic enzyme reaction of prokaryotes. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 7462–7465. doi: 10.1074/jbc.275.11.7462
- Goehring, A. S., Rivers, D. M., and Sprague, G. F. Jr. (2003a). Urmylation: a ubiquitin-like pathway that functions during invasive growth and budding in yeast. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 14, 4329–4341. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E03-02-0079
- Goehring, A. S., Rivers, D. M., and Sprague, G. F. Jr. (2003b). Attachment of the ubiquitin-related protein Urm1p to the antioxidant protein Ahp1p. *Eukaryot. Cell* 2, 930–936. doi: 10.1128/EC.2.5.930-936.2003
- Gupta, R. (1984). *Halobacterium volcanii* tRNAs. Identification of 41 tRNAs covering all amino acids, and the sequences of 33 class I tRNAs. *J. Biol. Chem.* 259, 9461–9471.
- Hepowit, N. L., Uthandi, S., Miranda, H. V., Toniutti, M., Prunetti, L., Olivarez, O., et al. (2012). Archaeal JAB1/MPN/MOV34 metalloenzyme (HvJAMM1) cleaves ubiquitin-like small archaeal modifier proteins (SAMPs) from proteinconjugates. *Mol. Microbiol.* 86, 971–987. doi: 10.1111/mmi.12038
- Hochstrasser, M. (2009). Origin and function of ubiquitin-like proteins. *Nature* 458, 422–429. doi: 10.1038/nature07958
- Horie, N., Hara-Yokoyama, M., Yokoyama, S., Watanabe, K., Kuchino, Y., Nishimura, S., et al. (1985). Two tRNAIle1 species from an extreme thermophile, *Thermus thermophilus* HB8: effect of 2-thiolation of ribothymidine on the thermostability of tRNA. *Biochemistry* 24, 5711–5715. doi: 10.1021/bi00342a004
- Huang, B., Lu, J., and Bystrom, A. S. (2008). A genome-wide screen identifies genes required for formation of the wobble nucleoside 5methoxycarbonylmethyl-2-thiouridine in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *RNA* 14, 2183–2194. doi: 10.1261/rna.1184108
- Humbard, M. A., Miranda, H. V., Lim, J. M., Krause, D. J., Pritz, J. R., Zhou, G., et al. (2010). Ubiquitin-like small archaeal modifier proteins (SAMPs) in *Haloferax* volcanii. Nature 463, 54–60. doi: 10.1038/nature08659
- Igloi, G. L. (1988). Interaction of tRNAs and of phosphorothioate-substituted nucleic acids with an organomercurial. Probing the chemical environment of thiolated residues by affinity electrophoresis. *Biochemistry* 27, 3842–3849. doi: 10.1021/bi00410a048
- Ikeuchi, Y., Shigi, N., Kato, J., Nishimura, A., and Suzuki, T. (2006). Mechanistic insights into sulfur relay by multiple sulfur mediators involved in thiouridine biosynthesis at tRNA wobble positions. *Mol. Cell* 21, 97–108. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2005.11.001
- Ikeuchi, Y., Soma, A., Ote, T., Kato, J., Sekine, Y., and Suzuki, T. (2005). Molecular mechanism of lysidine synthesis that determines tRNA identity and codon recognition. *Mol. Cell* 19, 235–246. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2005.06.007
- Isak, G., and Ryden-Aulin, M. (2009). Hypomodification of the wobble base in tRNAGlu, tRNALys, and tRNAGln suppresses the temperature-sensitive phenotype caused by mutant release factor 1. J. Bacteriol. 191, 1604–1609. doi: 10.1128/JB.01485-08
- Iyer, L. M., Burroughs, A. M., and Aravind, L. (2006). The prokaryotic antecedents of the ubiquitin-signaling system and the early evolution of ubiquitin-like betagrasp domains. *Genome Biol.* 7:R60. doi: 10.1186/gb-2006-7-7-r60
- Jäger, G., Leipuviene, R., Pollard, M. G., Qian, Q., and Bjork, G. R. (2004). The conserved Cys-X1-X2-Cys motif present in the TtcA protein is required for the

thiolation of cytidine in position 32 of tRNA from *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *J. Bacteriol.* 186, 750–757. doi: 10.1128/JB.186.3.750-757.2004

- Jäger, G., Nilsson, K., and Bjork, G. R. (2013). The phenotype of many independently isolated +1 frameshift suppressor mutants supports a pivotal role of the P-site in reading frame maintenance. *PLoS ONE* 8:e60246. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0060246
- Johansson, M. J., Esberg, A., Huang, B., Bjork, G. R., and Bystrom, A. S. (2008). Eukaryotic wobble uridine modifications promote a functionally redundant decoding system. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 28, 3301–3312. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01542-07
- Kambampati, R., and Lauhon, C. T. (2000). Evidence for the transfer of sulfane sulfur from IscS to ThiI during the in vitro biosynthesis of 4-thiouridine in *Escherichia coli* tRNA. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 10727–10730. doi: 10.1074/jbc.275.15.10727
- Kambampati, R., and Lauhon, C. T. (2003). MnmA and IscS are required for in vitro 2-thiouridine biosynthesis in *Escherichia coli. Biochemistry* 42, 1109–1117. doi: 10.1021/bi026536+
- Kessler, D. (2006). Enzymatic activation of sulfur for incorporation into biomolecules in prokaryotes. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 30, 825–840. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2006.00036.x
- Kotera, M., Bayashi, T., Hattori, M., Tokimatsu, T., Goto, S., Mihara, H., et al. (2010). Comprehensive genomic analysis of sulfur-relay pathway genes. *Genome Inform.* 24, 104–115. doi: 10.1142/9781848166585_0009
- Kowalak, J. A., Dalluge, J. J., McCloskey, J. A., and Stetter, K. O. (1994). The role of posttranscriptional modification in stabilization of transfer RNA from hyperthermophiles. *Biochemistry* 33, 7869–7876. doi: 10.1021/bi00191a014
- Kozmin, S. G., Stepchenkova, E. I., and Schaaper, R. M. (2013). TusA (YhhP) and IscS are required for molybdenum cofactor-dependent base-analog detoxification. *Microbiologyopen* 2, 743–755. doi: 10.1002/mbo3.108
- Lauhon, C. T., and Kambampati, R. (2000). The iscS gene in *Escherichia coli* is required for the biosynthesis of 4-thiouridine, thiamin, and NAD. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 20096–20103. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M002680200
- Lauhon, C. T., Skovran, E., Urbina, H. D., Downs, D. M., and Vickery, L. E. (2004). Substitutions in an active site loop of *Escherichia coli* IscS result in specific defects in Fe-S cluster and thionucleoside biosynthesis in vivo. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 19551– 19558. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M401261200
- Laxman, S., Sutter, B. M., Wu, X., Kumar, S., Guo, X., Trudgian, D. C., et al. (2013). Sulfur amino acids regulate translational capacity and metabolic homeostasis through modulation of tRNA thiolation. *Cell* 154, 416–429. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.06.043
- Leiber, R. M., John, F., Verhertbruggen, Y., Diet, A., Knox, J. P., and Ringli, C. (2010). The TOR pathway modulates the structure of cell walls in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Cell* 22, 1898–1908. doi: 10.1105/tpc.109.073007
- Leidel, S., Pedrioli, P. G., Bucher, T., Brost, R., Costanzo, M., Schmidt, A., et al. (2009). Ubiquitin-related modifier Urm1 acts as a sulphur carrier in thiolation of eukaryotic transfer RNA. *Nature* 458, 228–232. doi: 10.1038/nature07643
- Leimkühler, S., Wuebbens, M. M., and Rajagopalan, K. V. (2001). Characterization of *Escherichia coli* MoeB and its involvement in the activation of molybdopterin synthase for the biosynthesis of the molybdenum cofactor. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 34695–34701. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M102787200
- Leipuviene, R., Qian, Q., and Bjork, G. R. (2004). Formation of thiolated nucleosides present in tRNA from *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium occurs in two principally distinct pathways. *J. Bacteriol.* 186, 758–766. doi: 10.1128/JB.186.3.758-766.2004
- Liu, Y., Zhu, X., Nakamura, A., Orlando, R., Soll, D., and Whitman, W. B. (2012). Biosynthesis of 4-thiouridine in tRNA in the methanogenic archaeon *Methanococcus maripaludis*. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 36683–36692. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.405688
- Machnicka, M. A., Milanowska, K., Osman Oglou, O., Purta, E., Kurkowska, M., Olchowik, A., et al. (2013). MODOMICS: a database of RNA modification pathways–2013 update. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 41, D262–D267. doi: 10.1093/nar/gks1007
- Marinoni, E. N., de Oliveira, J. S., Nicolet, Y., Raulfs, E. C., Amara, P., Dean, D. R., et al. (2012). (IscS-IscU)2 complex structures provide insights into Fe2S2 biogenesis and transfer. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 51, 5439–5442. doi: 10.1002/anie.201201708
- Maynard, N. D., Birch, E. W., Sanghvi, J. C., Chen, L., Gutschow, M. V., and Covert, M. W. (2010). A forward-genetic screen and dynamic analysis of lambda phage host-dependencies reveals an extensive interaction network and a new anti-viral strategy. *PLoS Genet.* 6:e1001017. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1001017

- Maynard, N. D., Macklin, D. N., Kirkegaard, K., and Covert, M. W. (2012). Competing pathways control host resistance to virus via tRNA modification and programmed ribosomal frameshifting. *Mol. Syst. Biol.* 8:567. doi: 10.1038/msb.2011.101
- Miranda, H. V., Antelmann, H., Hepowit, N., Chavarria, N. E., Krause, D. J., Pritz, J. R., et al. (2014). Archaeal Ubiquitin-like SAMP3 is Isopeptide-linked to Proteins via a UbaA-dependent Mechanism. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 13, 220–239. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M113.029652
- Miranda, H. V., Nembhard, N., Su, D., Hepowit, N., Krause, D. J., Pritz, J. R., et al. (2011). E1- and ubiquitin-like proteins provide a direct link between protein conjugation and sulfur transfer in archaea. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 4417–4422. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1018151108
- Mueller, E. G., and Palenchar, P. M. (1999). Using genomic information to investigate the function of ThiI, an enzyme shared between thiamin and 4-thiouridine biosynthesis. *Protein Sci.* 8, 2424–2427. doi: 10.1110/ps.8.11.2424
- Mueller, E. G., Palenchar, P. M., and Buck, C. J. (2001). The role of the cysteine residues of ThiI in the generation of 4-thiouridine in tRNA. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 33588–33595. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M104067200
- Murphy, F. V. IV, Ramakrishnan, V., Malkiewicz, A., and Agris, P. F. (2004). The role of modifications in codon discrimination by tRNA(Lys)UUU. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 11, 1186–1191. doi: 10.1038/nsmb861
- Nakagawa, H., Kuratani, M., Goto-Ito, S., Ito, T., Katsura, K., Terada, T., et al. (2013). Crystallographic and mutational studies on the tRNA thiouridine synthetase TtuA. *Proteins* 81, 1232–1244. doi: 10.1002/prot.24273
- Nakai, Y., Harada, A., Hashiguchi, Y., Nakai, M., and Hayashi, H. (2012). *Arabidopsis* molybdopterin biosynthesis protein Cnx5 collaborates with the ubiquitin-like protein Urm11 in the thio-modification of tRNA. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 30874–30884. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.350090
- Nakai, Y., Nakai, M., and Hayashi, H. (2008). Thio-modification of yeast cytosolic tRNA requires a ubiquitin-related system that resembles bacterial sulfur transfer systems. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 27469–27476. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M804043200
- Nakai, Y., Nakai, M., Lill, R., Suzuki, T., and Hayashi, H. (2007). Thio modification of yeast cytosolic tRNA is an iron-sulfur protein-dependent pathway. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 27, 2841–2847. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01321-06
- Nakayashiki, T., Saito, N., Takeuchi, R., Kadokura, H., Nakahigashi, K., Wanner, B. L., et al. (2013). The tRNA thiolation pathway modulates the intracellular redox state in *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 195, 2039–2049. doi: 10.1128/JB.02180-12
- Noma, A., Sakaguchi, Y., and Suzuki, T. (2009). Mechanistic characterization of the sulfur-relay system for eukaryotic 2-thiouridine biogenesis at tRNA wobble positions. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 37, 1335–1352. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkn1023
- Numata, T., Fukai, S., Ikeuchi, Y., Suzuki, T., and Nureki, O. (2006a). Structural basis for sulfur relay to RNA mediated by heterohexameric TusBCD complex. *Structure* 14, 357–366. doi: 10.1016/j.str.2005.11.009
- Numata, T., Ikeuchi, Y., Fukai, S., Suzuki, T., and Nureki, O. (2006b). Snapshots of tRNA sulphuration via an adenylated intermediate. *Nature* 442, 419–424. doi: 10.1038/nature04896
- Palenchar, P. M., Buck, C. J., Cheng, H., Larson, T. J., and Mueller, E. G. (2000). Evidence that ThiI, an enzyme shared between thiamin and 4-thiouridine biosynthesis, may be a sulfurtransferase that proceeds through a persulfide intermediate. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 8283–8286. doi: 10.1074/jbc.275.12.8283
- Pierrel, F., Bjork, G. R., Fontecave, M., and Atta, M. (2002). Enzymatic modification of tRNAs: MiaB is an iron-sulfur protein. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 13367–13370. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C100609200
- Pierrel, F., Douki, T., Fontecave, M., and Atta, M. (2004). MiaB protein is a bifunctional radical-S-adenosylmethionine enzyme involved in thiolation and methylation of tRNA. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 47555–47563. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M408562200
- Pierrel, F., Hernandez, H. L., Johnson, M. K., Fontecave, M., Atta, M., and Bjork, G. R. (2003). MiaB protein from *Thermotoga maritima*. Characterization of an extremely thermophilic tRNA-methylthiotransferase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 29515– 29524. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M301518200
- Pitterle, D. M., and Rajagopalan, K. V. (1993). The biosynthesis of molybdopterin in *Escherichia coli*. Purification and characterization of the converting factor. *J. Biol. Chem.* 268, 13499–13505.
- Rezgui, V. A., Tyagi, K., Ranjan, N., Konevega, A. L., Mittelstaet, J., Rodnina, M. V., et al. (2013). tRNA tKUUU, tQUUG, and tEUUC wobble position modifications fine-tune protein translation by promoting ribosome A-site binding. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 12289–12294. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1300781110

- Rodriguez-Hernandez, A., Spears, J. L., Gaston, K. W., Limbach, P. A., Gamper, H., Hou, Y. M., et al. (2013). Structural and mechanistic basis for enhanced translational efficiency by 2-thiouridine at the tRNA anticodon wobble position. *J. Mol. Biol.* 425, 3888–3906. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2013.05.018
- Ryals, J., Hsu, R. Y., Lipsett, M. N., and Bremer, H. (1982). Isolation of singlesite *Escherichia coli* mutants deficient in thiamine and 4-thiouridine syntheses: identification of a nuvC mutant. J. Bacteriol. 151, 899–904.
- Schindelin, H., Kisker, C., and Rajagopalan, K. V. (2001). Molybdopterin from molybdenum and tungsten enzymes. *Adv. Protein Chem.* 58, 47–94. doi: 10.1016/S0065-3233(01)58002-X
- Schlieker, C. D., Van der Veen, A. G., Damon, J. R., Spooner, E., and Ploegh, H. L. (2008). A functional proteomics approach links the ubiquitin-related modifier Urm1 to a tRNA modification pathway. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 18255– 18260. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0808756105
- Schmitz, J., Chowdhury, M. M., Hanzelmann, P., Nimtz, M., Lee, E. Y., Schindelin, H., et al. (2008). The sulfurtransferase activity of Uba4 presents a link between ubiquitin-like protein conjugation and activation of sulfur carrier proteins. *Biochemistry* 47, 6479–6489. doi: 10.1021/bi800477u
- Settembre, E., Begley, T. P., and Ealick, S. E. (2003). Structural biology of enzymes of the thiamin biosynthesis pathway. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* 13, 739–747. doi: 10.1016/j.sbi.2003.10.006
- Shi, R., Proteau, A., Villarroya, M., Moukadiri, I., Zhang, L., Trempe, J. F., et al. (2010). Structural basis for Fe-S cluster assembly and tRNA thiolation mediated by IscS protein-protein interactions. *PLoS Biol.* 8:e1000354. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1000354
- Shigi, N. (2012). Posttranslational modification of cellular proteins by a ubiquitin-like protein in bacteria. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 17568–17577. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.359844
- Shigi, N., Sakaguchi, Y., Asai, S., Suzuki, T., and Watanabe, K. (2008). Common thiolation mechanism in the biosynthesis of tRNA thiouridine and sulphur-containing cofactors. *EMBO J.* 27, 3267–3278. doi: 10.1038/emboj. 2008.246
- Shigi, N., Sakaguchi, Y., Suzuki, T., and Watanabe, K. (2006a). Identification of two tRNA thiolation genes required for cell growth at extremely high temperatures. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 14296–14306. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M511675200
- Shigi, N., Suzuki, T., Terada, T., Shirouzu, M., Yokoyama, S., and Watanabe, K. (2006b). Temperature-dependent biosynthesis of 2-thioribothymidine of *Thermus thermophilus* tRNA. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 2104–2113. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M510771200
- Shigi, N., Suzuki, T., Tamakoshi, M., Oshima, T., and Watanabe, K. (2002). Conserved bases in the TPsi C loop of tRNA are determinants for thermophilespecific 2-thiouridylation at position 54. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 39128–39135. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M207323200
- Suzuki, T. (2005). "Biosynthesis and function of tRNA wobble modifications," in *Fine-Tuning of RNA Functions by Modification and Editing*, ed. H. Grosjean (Heidelberg: Springer), 23–69.
- Sylvers, L. A., Rogers, K. C., Shimizu, M., Ohtsuka, E., and Soll, D. (1993). A 2thiouridine derivative in tRNAGlu is a positive determinant for aminoacylation by *Escherichia coli* glutamyl-tRNA synthetase. *Biochemistry* 32, 3836–3841. doi: 10.1021/bi00066a002
- Taylor, S. V., Kelleher, N. L., Kinsland, C., Chiu, H. J., Costello, C. A., Backstrom, A. D., et al. (1998). Thiamin biosynthesis in *Escherichia coli*. Identification of this thiocarboxylate as the immediate sulfur donor in the thiazole formation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273, 16555–16560. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.26. 16555
- Umeda, N., Suzuki, T., Yukawa, M., Ohya, Y., Shindo, H., Watanabe, K., et al. (2005). Mitochondria-specific RNA-modifying enzymes responsible for the biosynthesis of the wobble base in mitochondrial tRNAs. Implications for the molecular pathogenesis of human mitochondrial diseases. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 1613–1624. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M409306200
- Urbonavicius, J., Qian, Q., Durand, J. M., Hagervall, T. G., and Bjork, G. R. (2001). Improvement of reading frame maintenance is a common function for several tRNA modifications. *EMBO J.* 20, 4863–4873. doi: 10.1093/emboj/20.17. 4863
- Van der Veen, A. G., Schorpp, K., Schlieker, C., Buti, L., Damon, J. R., Spooner, E., et al. (2011). Role of the ubiquitin-like protein Urm1 as a noncanonical lysinedirected protein modifier. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 1763–1770. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1014402108

- Vendeix, F. A., Murphy, F. V. IV, Cantara, W. A., Leszczynska, G., Gustilo, E. M., Sproat, B., et al. (2012). Human tRNA(Lys3)(UUU) is pre-structured by natural modifications for cognate and wobble codon binding through keto-enol tautomerism. J. Mol. Biol. 416, 467–485. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2011.12.048
- Watanabe, K., Oshima, T., Saneyoshi, M., and Nishimura, S. (1974). Replacement of ribothymidine by 5-methyl-2-thiouridine in sequence GT psi C in tRNA of an extreme thermophile. FEBS Lett. 43, 59–63. doi: 10.1016/0014-5793(74)81105-1
- Watanabe, K., Shinma, M., Oshima, T., and Nishimura, S. (1976). Heat-induced stability of tRNA from an extreme thermophile, *Thermus thermophilus. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 72, 1137–1144. doi: 10.1016/S0006-291X(76)80250-1
- Waterman, D. G., Ortiz-Lombardia, M., Fogg, M. J., Koonin, E. V., and Antson, A. A. (2006). Crystal structure of *Bacillus anthracis* Thil, a tRNA-modifying enzyme containing the predicted RNA-binding THUMP domain. *J. Mol. Biol.* 356, 97– 110. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2005.11.013
- Xu, J., Zhang, J., Wang, L., Zhou, J., Huang, H., Wu, J., et al. (2006). Solution structure of Urm1 and its implications for the origin of protein modifiers. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 11625–11630. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 0604876103
- Yasukawa, T., Suzuki, T., Ishii, N., Ohta, S., and Watanabe, K. (2001). Wobble modification defect in tRNA disturbs codon-anticodon interaction in a mitochondrial disease. *EMBO J.* 20, 4794–4802. doi: 10.1093/emboj/20.17.4794
- Yasukawa, T., Suzuki, T., Ishii, N., Ueda, T., Ohta, S., and Watanabe, K. (2000). Defect in modification at the anticodon wobble nucleotide of mitochondrial tRNA(Lys) with the MERRF encephalomyopathy pathogenic mutation. *FEBS Lett.* 467, 175–178. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(00)01145-5

- Yokoyama, S., Watanabe, T., Murao, K., Ishikura, H., Yamaizumi, Z., Nishimura, S., et al. (1985). Molecular mechanism of codon recognition by tRNA species with modified uridine in the first position of the anticodon. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 82, 4905–4909. doi: 10.1073/pnas.82.15. 4905
- Zhang, W., Urban, A., Mihara, H., Leimkuhler, S., Kurihara, T., and Esaki, N. (2010). IscS functions as a primary sulfur-donating enzyme by interacting specifically with MoeB and MoaD in the biosynthesis of molybdopterin in *Escherichia coli*. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 2302–2308. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.082172

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 25 February 2014; accepted: 17 March 2014; published online: 02 April 2014. Citation: Shigi N (2014) Biosynthesis and functions of sulfur modifications in tRNA. Front. Genet. **5**:67. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00067

This article was submitted to Non-Coding RNA, a section of the journal Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2014 Shigi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

tRNAs as regulators of biological processes

Medha Raina^{1,2} and Michael Ibba^{1,2} *

¹ Department of Microbiology, The Ohio State Biochemistry Program, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, USA ² Center for RNA Biology, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, USA

Edited by:

Akio Kanai, Keio University, Japan

Reviewed by:

Tohru Yoshihisa, University of Hyogo, Japan Dieter Soll, Yale University, USA

*Correspondence:

Michael Ibba, Department of Microbiology, The Ohio State Biochemistry Program, The Ohio State University, 484 West 12th Avenue, Columbus, OH 43210-1292, USA e-mail: ibba.1@osu.edu Transfer RNAs (tRNA) are best known for their role as adaptors during translation of the genetic code. Beyond their canonical role during protein biosynthesis, tRNAs also perform additional functions in both prokaryotes and eukaryotes for example in regulating gene expression. Aminoacylated tRNAs have also been implicated as substrates for nonribosomal peptide bond formation, post-translational protein labeling, modification of phospholipids in the cell membrane, and antibiotic biosyntheses. Most recently tRNA fragments, or tRFs, have also been recognized to play regulatory roles. Here, we examine in more detail some of the new functions emerging for tRNA in a variety of cellular processes outside of protein synthesis.

Keywords: amino acid, protein synthesis, regulation, transfer RNA, translation

INTRODUCTION

tRNAs are important players in the protein synthesis pathway, linking the genetic code with the amino acid sequence of proteins. tRNAs are composed of 73-90 nucleotides and have a characteristic cloverleaf secondary structure made up of the D-loop, T loop, variable loop, and the anticodon loop. The tRNA further folds into an L-shaped tertiary structure through coaxial stacking of the T and D loops. To function as a substrate in protein synthesis, tRNA is charged with an amino acid by its cognate aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase. The aminoacyl-tRNA (aa-tRNA) thus formed serves as a substrate and participates in the chemistry of peptide bond formation in the process of protein synthesis. Beside this well-known canonical role during protein biosynthesis, tRNAs have been shown to perform additional functions such as acting as signaling molecules in the regulation of numerous metabolic and cellular processes in both prokaryotes and eukaryotes. Aminoacylated tRNAs have also been implicated as substrates for non ribosomal peptide bond formation in the case of cell wall formation, protein labeling for degradation, modification of phospholipids in the cell membrane, and antibiotic biosynthesis. Due to their universally conserved L-shaped three-dimensional conformation, which is stabilized by extensive secondary and tertiary structural contacts and modifications, tRNA molecules are among the most stable RNAs in a cell and are considerably more robust than mRNAs (Gebetsberger and Polacek, 2013). For a long time, tRNA fragments were considered as non-functional degradation intermediates, but have now been recognized to be major RNA species in human cells for which regulatory roles are beginning to be discovered. It was also recently shown that tRNAs can act as an effective scavenger of cytochrome c, consistent with a role in regulating apoptosis. With new functions still emerging for tRNA, in this review we examine some of the many "non-protein synthesis" roles of tRNA in the cell.

ROLES OF tRNA IN GENE EXPRESSION

While aminoacyl-tRNAs have been implicated in many roles outside translation, several important functions of tRNA have

been found not to require the aminoacyl form (aa-tRNA). Uncharged tRNAs have been shown to regulate global gene expression in response to changes in amino acid pools in the cell. Bacteria have adopted various strategies to adapt to external stresses, of which the most-studied global regulatory system is the stringent response. Stringent response is mediated through the production of the alarmone 5'-diphosphate 3'-diphosphate guanosine (ppGpp) and 5'-triphosphate 3'-diphosphate guanosine (pppGpp) which were first discovered by Cashel and Gallant (1969) in Escherichia coli as a response to amino acid starvation. E. coli uses two pathways for the synthesis of ppGpp dependent on RelA and SpoT. RelA is a ribosome-associated (p)ppGpp synthase which senses the presence of uncharged tRNAs that accumulate at the ribosome A site as a result of amino acid limitation. The presence of the uncharged tRNA acts as an effector molecule, stalling protein synthesis and activating RelA which then synthesizes pppGpp and ppGpp by phosphorylation of GTP or GDP using ATP as the phosphate donor (Haseltine and Block, 1973; Sy and Lipmann, 1973). ppGpp was recently shown to bind at an interface of ω and β' subunits of RNA polymerase, thereby acting as an allosteric effector to inhibit global gene transcription, while stimulating the expression of only a few genes related to the synthesis of amino acids (Ross et al., 2013). rRNA and tRNA synthesis are primarily inhibited, resulting in the global downregulation of bacterial metabolism. SpoT is a bifunctional (p)ppGpp synthase and hydrolase, which presumably regulates the (p)ppGpp level in response to nutrient deficiency. The mechanism by which SpoT senses starvation and synthesizes ppGpp is unclear (Magnusson et al., 2005). Many other bacterial species including Bacillus subtilis contain only one RelA-SpoT homolog, designated as Rel, which possesses both (p)ppGpp synthase and hydrolase activities. RelA-SpoT homologs have also been detected in plants (Givens et al., 2004). Two Bacillus subtilis genes, yjbM and ywaC, were found to encode a novel (p)ppGpp synthase that corresponds to the synthase domain of RelA-SpoT family members while having a different mode of action (Nanamiya et al., 2008).

Another mechanism by which bacteria regulate gene expression using uncharged tRNA as the effector molecule has been demonstrated in B. subtilis and other Gram-positive bacteria. In these organisms, the expression of aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase genes and genes involved in amino acid biosynthesis and uptake is regulated by the T box control system (reviewed in Green et al., 2010). Regulation by the T box mechanism most commonly occurs at the level of transcription attenuation (Henkin and Yanofsky, 2002). The 5' untranslated regions of regulated genes contain a 200-300 nt conserved sequence and structural element (a G + C-rich helix followed by a run of U residues) that serves as an intrinsic transcriptional terminator and can also participate in formation of an alternate, less stable antiterminator structure. During amino acid starvation, binding of a specific uncharged tRNA stabilizes the antiterminator and in doing so prevents formation of the terminator helix. The T box binds specific uncharged tRNA at two conserved sites: the anticodon of the tRNA interacts with the codon sequence of the specifier loop (SL) in the 5'-UTR, while the 3' acceptor end interacts with the UGGN sequence found in the antiterminator bulge, thus stabilizing the structure of the antiterminator and preventing the formation of the competing terminator. RNA polymerase then continues past the terminator region and transcribes the full-length mRNA. The N residue in the antiterminator bulge varies with the corresponding position of the tRNA. Both charged and uncharged tRNAs can interact with specifier sequence in the 5'-UTR; however the presence of the amino acid at the 3' end of a charged tRNA prevents the interaction of its 3' end with the antiterminator bulge region; and allows formation of the terminator hairpin that results in premature termination of transcription (Grundy et al., 2005). Recently a unique mechanism of tRNA-dependent regulation at the transcriptional level was discovered. Saad et al. (2013) found a two-codon Tbox riboswitch binding two tRNAs in Clostridium acetobutylicum. This T-box regulates the operon for the essential tRNA-dependent transamidation pathway and harbors an SL with two potential overlapping codon positions for tRNA^{Asn} and tRNA^{Glu}. Both tRNAs can efficiently bind the SL in vitro and in vivo. This feature allows the riboswitch to sense two tRNAs and balance the biosynthesis of two amino acids (Saad et al., 2013). Regulation at the level of translation initiation has also been demonstrated for T box riboswitches in certain bacteria (Fuchs et al., 2006). Translationally regulated leader RNAs include an RNA element with the ability to sequester the Shine-Dalgarno (SD) sequence by pairing with a complementary anti-SD (ASD) sequence. Binding of uncharged tRNA stabilizes a structure analogous to the antiterminator that includes the ASD sequence, and formation of this alternate structure releases the SD sequence for binding of the 30S ribosomal subunit, thereby enabling translation of mRNA coding for proteins involved in amino acid biosynthesis (Green et al., 2010).

Uncharged tRNAs also function as regulators in eukaryotes. In amino-acid-starved yeast and mammalian cells, uncharged tRNA activates a protein kinase named Gcn2p whose regulatory sequences include the amino terminal region, a pseudo kinase domain, protein kinase region, histidyl-tRNA synthetase (HisRS)-related region and the c-terminal dimerization and ribosome binding sequences. The tRNA has been shown to bind to the

HisRS like regulatory domain, thereby activating Gcn2p which in turn phosphorylates eIF2, a protein involved in binding GTP and Met-tRNAi^{Met} and forming the ternary complex required for translation initiation (Wek et al., 1995). The activated Gcn2p phosphorylates the α subunit of eIF2 at serine 51, lowering its activity and thereby reduces global protein synthesis. Gcn2p was shown to bind several types of uncharged tRNA with similar affinities but showed a reduced affinity for the charged form of a tRNA, implying that Gcn2 can discriminate between charged and uncharged forms of tRNA. (Dong et al., 2000). It was recently proposed that in the inactive form of Gcn2 present in non-starvation conditions, association with the substrate eIF2 is prevented by binding of the HisRS-like domain and C-term to the PK domain of Gcn2 thereby sequestering the substrate binding cleft. However, under starvation conditions, uncharged tRNA binds to Gcn2, at both the HisRS and C-term domains thereby producing conformational changes which open up the substrate binding cleft in the PK domain by releasing the HisRS-like domain and the C-terminal portion of Gcn2p, from inhibitory interactions with the PK domain, which allows eIF2 binding and phosphorylation (Qiu et al., 2001).

It has been proposed that discrimination between the charged and uncharged tRNA by Gcn2p occurs via an analogous mechanism of RelA protein activation as observed in E. coli by the presence of uncharged tRNA at the decoding (A) site on translating ribosomes. The activation of Gcn2p by uncharged tRNA requires its association with the ribosome via its C-terminal region and also, interactions between the N terminus of Gcn2p and the Gcn1p-Gcn20p protein complex which is also associated with the ribosome. Gcn1p, has been proposed to facilitate the eviction of uncharged tRNA from the A site and its transfer from the A site to the HisRS-like domain in Gcn2p for kinase activation and the Gcn1p-Gcn20p complex has also been implicated to increase the binding of uncharged tRNA to ribosomes. The importance of the Gcn1p-Gcn20p complex in Gcn2p activation was shown by the Hinnebusch group, who demonstrated that deletion of GCN1 blocks eIF2 phosphorylation by Gcn2p (Marton et al., 1993). The activation of eIF2 by an uncharged tRNA at the A site of the ribosome could explain how starvation of a single amino acid can activate Gcn2p, even though it cannot discriminate between uncharged tRNA species in cells starved for only one amino acid (Marton et al., 1997; Garcia-Barrio et al., 2000; Sattlegger and Hinnebusch, 2000). In yeast, phosphorylation of eIF2, allows for selected mRNAs such as GCN4 to be translated. Elevated levels of Gcn4, which acts as a transcription factor, stimulate the expression of genes involved in amino acid biosynthesis (reviewed in Hinnebusch, 2005). In comparison to S. cerevisiae, which has a single eIF2a kinase, Gcn2p, mammalian cells have expanded this stress response pathway to include additional eIF2a kinases, which each respond to different environmental stresses. Analogous to yeast, phosphorylation of mammalian $eIF2\alpha$ leads to a block in global translation, accompanied by induced translational expression of ATF4 and ATF5, transcription factors related to Gcn4p (Harding et al., 2000; Lu et al., 2004; Vattem and Wek, 2004; Zhou et al., 2008).

The above mechanisms demonstrate that under certain nutritional stresses, the aminoacylation levels of tRNAs change and the



accumulated uncharged tRNAs participate in numerous biological pathways that regulate global gene expression levels, helping the organism to survive under adverse conditions.

AMINOACYL-tRNAs AS NON-RIBOSOMAL SUBSTRATES

In recent years, the diverse roles of aa-tRNAs have received a great deal of attention. While much of the research has focused on the use of aa-tRNA by the ribosome for protein synthesis, a number of studies have uncovered roles for aa-tRNAs as substrates in other biochemical processes, such as cell wall formation, protein labeling for degradation, aminoacylation of phospholipids in the cell membrane, and antibiotic biosynthesis (**Figure 1**). In this section, we will briefly review some of these various processes that use aa-tRNAs as substrates.

AMINOACYL-tRNAs IN CELL WALL BIOGENESIS Aminoacyl-tRNA-dependent building of peptidoglycan bridges

Peptidoglycans (PG) are structural components of bacterial cell walls that can both serve as a barrier to environmental challenges and provide a scaffold for the attachment of various proteins including virulence factors (Vollmer et al., 2008). Peptidoglycan is a polymer of β (1-4)-linked *N*-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc) and *N*-acetylmuramic acid (MurNAc), with all lactyl groups of MurNAc substituted with stem peptides, typically comprised of alternating D and L-amino acids with an overall common structure of L-Ala- γ -D-Glu-X-D-Ala-D-Ala. The composition of the peptide varies among different bacteria: Gram-negative bacteria and Gram-positive bacilli have meso-diaminopimelic acid (DAP) as the third amino acid (DAP-type peptidoglycan), whereas most other Gram-positive bacteria (including Grampositive cocci) have L-lysine as the third amino acid (Royet and Dziarski, 2007). The stem peptides from adjacent strands are often crosslinked, either directly or through short peptides between the X position of the first pentapeptide side chain with the L-Ala at the fourth position of another. The amino acids required for bridge formation are typically derived from aminoacylatedtRNA donor molecules and are transferred onto the pentapeptide by tRNA-dependent aminoacyl-ligases which catalyze peptidebond formation by using aminoacyl-tRNAs and peptidoglycan precursors as donor and acceptor, respectively.

The peptidoglycan in *Streptococcus pneumoniae* contains a "stem peptide" composed of up to five amino acids, Ala- γ -D-Glu-Lys-D-Ala-D-Ala, with an L-Ala-L-Ala or an L-Ser-L-Ala dipeptide branch that is attached to the third L-Lys of the pentapeptide side chain. MurM is responsible for the addition of either L-Ala or L-Ser as the first amino acid of the cross-link and then MurN invariably adds L-Ala as the second amino acid (Filipe et al., 2000). In both cases, appropriately aminoacylated-tRNA species serve as the amino acid donors for the reaction (Lloyd et al., 2008), although MurM also efficiently accepts mischarged tRNA substrates (Shepherd, 2011; Shepherd and Ibba, 2013b). In *Enterococcus faecalis*, BppA1 and BppA2 add L-Ala-L-Ala dipeptide to the pentapeptide chain (Bouhss et al., 2002), while FemXAB from *Staphylococcus aureus* sequentially adds one (FemX) or two (FemA

and FemB) glycines (Schneider et al., 2004). Lif and Epr in Staphylococcus simulans and Staphylococcus capitis, FemX in Weissella virides and FemX and VanK in Streptomyces coelicolor all catalyze similar reactions using aa-tRNAs as substrates (reviewed in Shepherd and Ibba, 2013a). How aa-tRNAs are diverted from protein synthesis and used as substrates by these enzymes remains somewhat unclear in most instances. In S. aureus, the mechanism of escape from the protein synthesis machinery could be explained by the observation that three out of the five tRNA^{Gly} isoacceptors encoded in the S. aureus genome have sequence identity elements consistent with weak binding to EF-Tu (Giannouli et al., 2009). These specific tRNA sequence elements include replacement of the strong EF-Tu binding pairs G49-U65 and G51-C63 [23-25] with A49-U65 and A51-U63, respectively, in the T loop (Roy et al., 2007; Sanderson and Uhlenbeck, 2007). The three non-proteinogenic tRNA^{Gly} isoacceptors also show replacement of GG at positions 18 and 19 with either UU or CU. Hence the isoacceptors with weak binding to EF-Tu could escape protein synthesis and thus allow S. aureus to maintain an adequate supply of Gly-tRNA^{Gly} for two essential processes: translation and cell wall modification (Shepherd and Ibba, 2013a).

The specificity of peptidoglycan-modifying enzymes with respect to amino acid and tRNA substrates was demonstrated in the Fem X enzyme from Weissella viridescens. In W. viridescens the peptide bridge is made up of L-Ala-L-Ser or L-Ala-L-Ser-L-Ala. FemX initiates peptide bridge formation by transfer of the first L-Ala residue to the amino group of L-Lys found at the third position of the pentapeptide side chain. The enzymes involved in the subsequent transfer of the second position Ser and third position Ala residues have not yet been identified. FemX has a preference for L-Ala addition to UDP-MurNAc pentapeptide because it reacts much more unfavorably with both L-Ser and the acceptor arm of tRNA^{Gly}. In vitro assays show that FemX turns over Ser-tRNA^{Ser} and Gly-tRNA^{Gly} 17- and 38fold less efficiently than Ala-tRNAAla, respectively. In the latter case, the penultimate base pair of tRNAAla, G2-C71, was identified as an essential identity element for FemX. This is typically replaced by C2-G71 in tRNA^{Gly} species (Fonvielle et al., 2009). L-Ala is preferred 110-fold over D-Ala, suggesting relatively weak specificity toward different stereoisomers. The exclusion of serine is due to steric hindrance at the FemX_{Wy} active site rather than poor recognition of the nucleotide sequence of tRNA^{Ser}. Hence, Fem enzymes discriminate non-cognate aa-tRNAs on the basis of both the aminoacyl moiety and the sequence of the tRNA.

Aminoacyl-tRNA-dependent aminoacylation of membrane lipids

Bacteria are frequently exposed to cationic antimicrobial peptides (CAMPs), for example eukaryotic host defense peptides or prokaryotic bacteriocins, whose cationic properties impart strong affinities to the negatively charged bacterial lipids phosphatidylglycerol (PG) and cardiolipin (CL). Many bacteria, among them several important human pathogens, achieve CAMP resistance using MprF proteins, a unique group of enzymes that aminoacylate anionic phospholipids with L-lysine or L-alanine, thereby introducing positive charges into the membrane surface and reducing the affinity for CAMPs (Ernst and Peschel, 2011). MprF was first identified when its inactivation rendered a S. aureus transposon mutant susceptible to a wide range of cationic antimicrobial peptides (CAMPs) leading to the name "multiple peptide resistance factor" (MprF; Peschel et al., 2001). MprFs can use lysyl or alanyl groups derived from aminoacyl tRNAs for modification of PG (Roy and Ibba, 2008). MprF proteins are integral membrane proteins made up of a C terminal, hydrophilic, cytoplasmic domain responsible for the transfer of amino acid onto PG, and an N terminal transmembrane hydrophobic domain that flips newly synthesized LysPG to the membrane outer leaflet (Ernst et al., 2009). MprF homologs can be found in most bacterial phylas and are abundant in firmicutes, actinobacteria, and proteobacteria with the exception of enterobacteria. Some archaea also harbor genes for MprF, probably resulting from lateral gene transfer events (Roy and Ibba, 2009). MprF homologs exhibit differential specificity for the aa-tRNA substrate they use to modify PG, resulting in a broader classification of these enzymes as aminoacylphosphatidylglycerol synthases (aaPGS; Klein et al., 2009; Dare and Ibba, 2012). For example, the MprFs in S. aureus and P. aeruginosa only synthesize Lys-PG or Ala-PG, respectively (Staubitz et al., 2004; Klein et al., 2009). In contrast, Enterococcus faecium MprF2 exhibits rather relaxed specificity for the donor substrate and produces both, Ala-PG and Lys-PG along with small amounts of Arg-PG (Roy et al., 2009). Listeria monocytogenes MprF is less strict in its specificity for the acceptor substrate and generates both, Lys-PG and Lys-CL (Thedieck et al., 2006; Dare et al., 2014). Based on the ability of MprF1 to efficiently recognize tRNAAla, tRNAPro, and a minihelix^{Ala} and recognition of the tRNA^{Lys} species from both Borrelia burgdoferi and humans, which share less than 50% sequence identity, it was proposed that the specificity of MprF arises from direct recognition of the aminoacyl moiety of aa-tRNA (Roy and Ibba, 2008). The mechanism utilized by MprF and other similar enzymes raises the question of how aa-tRNA donor substrates are directed into membrane lipid modification and away from protein synthesis. Determination of the K_Ds of Lys-tRNA for EF-Tu and for MprF suggested that the two proteins have similar affinities for tRNA under physiological conditions (Roy and Ibba, 2008). Comparison of the sites in tRNA recognized by MprF and EF-Tu would give a better understanding of how aa-tRNAs are partitioned between translation and membrane lipid modification pathways.

ROLE OF AA-tRNA IN ANTIBIOTIC BIOGENESIS

In addition to having essential roles in protein synthesis and nonribosomal peptide bond formation, aminoacyl-tRNAs are also used in pathways where the donated amino acid moiety undergoes transformation into a significantly different compound. These pathways involve different amino acid-tRNA pairs and a variety of acceptor molecules (Banerjee et al., 2010). Examples of aatRNA-dependent addition of amino acids in antibiotic biogenesis, which have been reviewed in detail previously, include valanimycin, pacidamycin, and cyclodipeptide synthesis (Shepherd and Ibba, 2013a).

Valanimycin is a potent antitumor and antibacterial azoxy compound first isolated from Streptomyces viridifaciens by Yamato et al. (1986). A gene cluster has been identified that contains 14 genes involved in the biosynthesis of valanimycin (Garg et al., 2002). The functions of the products of eight of these genes have now been established. Valanimycin is derived from L-Val and L-Ser via an isobutylhydroxylamine intermediate. VlmD, VlmH, and VlmR catalyze the conversion of valine into isobutylhydroxylamine, while VlmL catalyzes the formation of L-seryl-tRNA from L-serine. VlmA, which is a homolog of the housekeeping SerRS, catalyzes the transfer of L-serine from L-seryl-tRNA to isobutylhydroxylamine, to produce O-(L-seryl)-isobutylhydroxylamine, while VlmJ and VlmK catalyze the phosphorylation and subsequent dehydration of the biosynthetic intermediate valanimycin hydrate to form valanimycin (Garg and Parry, 2010). The mechanism by which Ser-tRNA^{Ser} is directed away from translation into the valanimycin pathway, and the identity elements of tRNA^{Ser} that help in recognition by VlmA and VlmL, are still unknown.

Other examples of antibiotics derived from aa-tRNAs are the cyclodipeptides (CDP), a large group of secondary metabolites with a notable range of clinical activities (Rodriguez and Carrasco, 1992; Prasad, 1995; Magyar et al., 1996; Waring and Beaver, 1996; Kanoh et al., 1999; Strom et al., 2002; Cain et al., 2003; Kanzaki et al., 2004; Jia et al., 2005; Kohn and Widger, 2005; Musetti et al., 2007; Minelli et al., 2012). It was originally proposed that formation of the CDPs was catalyzed by nonribosomal peptide synthetases, which do not use aa-tRNAs as substrates. However, subsequent characterization of synthesis of the CDP albonoursin in Streptomyces noursei identified the tRNA-dependent CDP synthase AlbC (Lautru et al., 2002). AlbC synthesizes the albonoursin precursor cyclo (L-Phe-L-Leu) from aminoacylated tRNAs in an ATP-independent reaction (Lautru et al., 2002; Gondry et al., 2009). CDP synthase products identified to date include cyclo(L-Leu-L-Leu) (cLL), cyclo(L-Phe-L-Leu) (cFL), cyclo(L-Tyr-L-Tyr) (cYY), and cyclo(L-Trp-L-Xaa) (cWX), all of which are intermediates in antibiotic synthesis (Belin et al., 2012). CDP synthases use their two aa-tRNA substrates in a sequential ping-pong mechanism, with a similar first catalytic step: the binding of the first aa-tRNA and subsequent transfer of its aminoacyl moiety to the conserved serine residue of the enzyme pocket (e.g., Ser37 in the AlbC enzyme; Sauguet et al., 2011). The mechanism of addition of the second amino acid remains unclear, as do the specificity determinants for CDP synthases. Recently, similarities between the predicted secondary structure for PacB, a protein involved in the biosynthesis of the antibiotic pacidamycin, and structures of two Fem transferases led to the characterization of PacB as an alanyl-tRNA-dependent transferase (Zhang et al., 2011). Pacidamycins are a family of uridyl tetra/pentapeptide antibiotics produced by Streptomyces coeruleorubidus with antipseudomonal activities through inhibition of the translocase MraY during bacterial cell wall assembly. Analogous to the activity of CDP synthases, PacB hijacks aa-tRNAs and transfers L-Ala from aminoacyl-tRNA donors to the N terminal m-Tyr2 residue of the growing PacH-anchored antibiotic scaffold (Zhang et al., 2010).

tRNA-DEPENDENT ADDITION OF AMINO ACIDS TO THE AMINO-TERMINUS OF PROTEINS

Protein degradation plays an important role in maintaining cellular physiology and in regulation of various cellular processes such as cell growth, differentiation and apoptosis by removing damaged polypeptides and regulatory proteins in a timely manner. As compared to cellular compartments like lysosomes and vacuoles where proteases are involved in non-specific degradation of proteins, protein degradation in the cytosol of prokaryotes and eukaryotes is often strictly targeted to protect cellular proteins from unwanted degradation. One means to achieve specificity involves the aa-tRNA transferases, which recognize a secondary destabilizing residue (pro-N degrons) at the N-terminus of a target peptide and utilize an aminoacyl-tRNA to transfer a primary destabilizing amino acid (N-degron) to the N-terminal residue, making the protein a target for the cellular degradation machinery (N-recognins; Mogk et al., 2007). This specificity in protein degradation was discovered by Bachmair et al. (1986) when they found that different genetic constructs of β -galactosidase proteins from E. coli exhibited very different half-lives when produced in Saccharomyces cerevisiae, ranging from more than 20 h to less than 3 min, depending on the identity of their N-terminal amino acid [the N-end rule (Bachmair et al., 1986)]. The N-end rule relates the identity of the N-terminal residue of a protein to its in vivo half-life (Mogk et al., 2007) and has been shown to function in bacteria (Tobias et al., 1991), fungi (Bachmair et al., 1986), plants (Potuschak et al., 1998) and mammals (Gonda et al., 1989). In eukaryotes an N-terminal Arg residue is the preferred N-degron and acts as a target for ubiquitin conjugation and subsequent degradation by the eukaryotic proteasome (Tasaki et al., 2012). The degron is generated by the ATE1 gene product arginyl (R)-transferase, which transfers Arg from Arg-tRNA to the Nterminal α-amino group of oxidized cysteine, Asp, or Glu which constitute secondary destabilizing residues (Pro-N-degrons; Rai and Kashina, 2005; Graciet et al., 2006). In prokaryotes, Leu and Phe act as the primary destabilizing N-terminal residues (Ndegrons) and can be generated by two classes of aa-transferases, leucyl/phenylalanyl(L/F)-transferase encoded by the Aat gene and leucyl- transferase encoded by Bpt. The L/F- transferase attaches a primary destabilizing residue of either Leu or Phe to the secondary destabilizing residues Lys, Met, and Arg (Shrader et al., 1993), whereas Bpt-encoded L-transferase attaches Leu to the secondary destabilizing residues Asp and Glu (Graciet et al., 2006). The Leu/Phe N-degron acts as a target for ClpS, which transfers the protein to ClpAP for subsequent degradation (Mogk et al., 2007). The question that next arises is how the aa-tRNA transferases achieve specificity in binding aa-tRNAs? The crystal structure of leucyl/phenylalanyl-tRNA-protein transferase and its complex with an aminoacyl-tRNA analog solved by Suto et al. (2006) revealed that the side chain of Leu or Phe is accommodated in a highly hydrophobic pocket, with a shape and size suitable for hydrophobic amino-acid residues lacking a branched β -carbon, such as leucine and phenylalanine. The adenosine group of the 3' end of tRNA is recognized largely through $\pi - \pi$ stacking with conserved Trp residues. However, L/F transferases achieve specificity for aa-tRNAs through specific interaction with the aminoacyl moiety and not the tRNA, and only the presentation of the specific

aminoacyl moiety by a single-stranded RNA region is required for recognition (Abramochkin and Shrader, 1996). The activity of L/F-transferases is reduced in the presence of an excess of EF–Tu, suggesting that L/F-transferase and EF–Tu compete for binding to aa-tRNA.

tRNA-DERIVED FRAGMENTS

Small non-coding RNA (sncRNA) molecules are major contributors to regulatory networks that control gene expression, and significant attention has been directed toward their identification and studying their biological functions. sncRNA was first discovered in 1993 in *Caenorhabditis elegans*, and since then a large number of sncRNAs have been identified. sncRNAs are 16–35 nucleotides (nts) long and are classified into different groups such as microRNA (miRNA), small-interfering RNA (siRNA), piwiinteracting RNA, and small nucleolar RNA (snoRNA). Among them, miRNA and siRNA are the most extensively studied, and both suppress gene expression by binding to target mRNAs. The recent development of high-throughput sequencing technology has improved the identification of other types of small, RNAs-like, tRNA-derived RNA fragments (tRFs) which have been identified by several research groups (Lee et al., 2009). There is increasing evidence that these are not by-products from random degradation, but rather functional molecules that can regulate translation and gene expression. The production of tRNA fragments and their emerging roles in the cell are discussed below (**Figure 2**).

PRODUCTION OF tRNA FRAGMENTS *tRNA halves*

tRNA halves are composed of 30–35 nucleotides derived from either the 5' or 3' part of full-length, mature tRNA. These tRNA halves are produced by cleavage in the anticodon loop under nutritional, biological, physicochemical, or oxidative stress (Thompson et al., 2008; Dhahbi et al., 2013; Nowacka et al., 2013). In mammalian cells, tRNA halves are generated during stress conditions by the action of the nuclease angiogenin, a member of the RNase A family (Fu et al., 2009) whereas in yeast Rny1p, a member of the RNase T2 is responsible for tRNA half production. Apart from their roles as nucleases, both angiogenin and Rny1 act as sensors of cellular damage and can promote cell death and inhibit tumor formation (Thompson and Parker, 2009; Gebetsberger and Polacek, 2013). Under normal conditions, yeast Rny1 is usually localized in the vacuole (Thompson and Parker, 2009), while angiogenin is secreted to the plasma, sequestered in the nucleolus



FIGURE 2 | Formation of small RNAs from tRNA. Precursor tRNAs are processed by RNase P, RNase Z, the splicing endonuclease and CCA-adding enzyme to form mature tRNA in the nucleus. Processing of both the pre-tRNA and mature tRNA can give rise to small RNA. The figure shows possible routes for small RNA (tRNA halves, 5' tRF, 3' CCA tRF, 3' U tRF and 5' leader exon tRF) production from tRNA. The dashed lines and question marks indicate mechanisms of formation or transport of these tRFs that are not clear.

or bound to its inhibitor RNH1 (Yamasaki et al., 2009; Saikia et al., 2012), and released into the cytoplasm under certain stress conditions. tRNA halves have also been identified in bacteria, archaea, and plants. In bacteria, tRNA anticodon nucleases such as PrrC, colicin D, and colicin E5 have been shown to cleave specific subsets of tRNAs (reviewed in Kaufmann, 2000; Masaki and Ogawa, 2002).

tRNA-derived fragments

tRNA-derived fragments (tRFs) are shorter than tRNA halves ranging between 13 and 20 nt in size. They have been identified in all domains of life. There are four types of tRFs known and they are classified based on the part of the mature tRNA or pre-tRNA from which they are derived. tRFs were classified as 5' tRFs, 3' CCA tRFs, 3' U tRFs, or 5' leader-exon tRFs. 5' tRFs are derived from the 5' end of the tRNA generated at any point of tRNA processing, provided the 5' leader sequence is removed by RNaseP, and are formed by a cleavage in the D loop. In the case of 5' tRFs their biogenesis is carried out by Dicer in mammalian cells (Cole et al., 2009). However, it is known that the Dicer-independent generation of 5' tRFs takes place in Schizosaccharomyces pombe due to the differences in length of the 5' tRFs generated in these two organisms (19 nt long in mammals and 23 nt long in yeast), suggesting that a protein other than Dicer is responsible for their production in yeast (Buhler et al., 2008). 3' CCA tRFs are produced from the 3' ends of mature tRNA by cleavage at the T loop and carry the trinucleotide CCA at the acceptor stem. Dicer has been implicated in the generation of the 3' end fragment (Maute et al., 2013), although angiogenin and other RNase A members have also been proposed to function in Dicer-independent processing (Li et al., 2012; Gebetsberger and Polacek, 2013). 3' U tRFs are cleaved from the 3' end of tRNA precursors by RNase Z, and their biogenesis is normally Dicer independent. They commonly start directly after the 3' end of mature tRNAs and end in a stretch of U residues produced by RNA polymerase III run-off (Lee et al., 2009; Haussecker et al., 2010). One 3' U tRF is produced in an RNaseZ-independent manner by the action of Dicer on the predicted bulged hairpin structure of the pre-tRNA (Babiarz et al., 2008). The mechanism of formation of 5' leader-exon tRFs is not known; however they have been identified in CLP1 mutant cells possibly arising due to aberrant splicing. CLP1 is an RNA kinase and is a component of the mRNA 3' end cleavage and polyadenylation machinery in mammals (Hanada et al., 2013).

While it was previously thought that production of tRNA halves and tRFs were solely mechanisms to remove damaged tRNAs, increasing evidence suggests their formation to be regulated. Angiogenin and Rny1 involved in the production of tRNA halves are usually sequestered in compartments before they are released in the cytoplasm where they cleave tRNAs (Spriggs et al., 2010). However, the regulation of their release from these cellular compartments is not known. Also a number of tRNAs [including tRNA^{Asp(GTC)}, tRNA^{Val(AAC)} and tRNA^{Gly(GCC)}] can be methylated by Dnmt2, which has been shown to protect these tRNAs from cleavage during stress (Schaefer et al., 2010). This specificity in cleavage of tRNAs might be responsible for the different types of tRFs observed under various conditions.

FUNCTIONS OF tRFS

Are tRFs merely the products of tRNA degradation or do they have bona fide biological functions? If so, how diverse are these functions given the various forms of tRFs identified? Several lines of evidence point toward regulated production, suggesting that they may be functional RNA species. First, the abundance of different types of tRF does not correlate with the number of parent tRNA gene copies (Kawaji et al., 2008; Cole et al., 2009; Hsieh et al., 2009; Sobala and Hutvagner, 2011) with the exception of those found in Tetrahymena (Couvillion et al., 2010). Second, the fragments of tRNA formed are produced by cleavage at specific points in the tRNA. Third, whilst tRFs corresponding to the 5' and 3' ends of tRNA have been reported, those corresponding to the middle (incorporating the anticodon loop) have not. Although, the exact roles of tRNA halves and tRFs are yet to be elucidated, accumulating evidence suggests that tRNA-derived small RNAs participate in two main types of biological processes as discussed in more detail below.

Translation regulation of gene expression under stress conditions

tRNAs are indispensible components of the translational machinery, hence tRNA cleavage under stress conditions can affect protein synthesis. However, the mode of translational regulation by tRNA cleavage is not simple. It has been shown previously that during stress conditions, formation of tRNA cleavage products does not change the pool of full-length tRNA significantly, rather these fragments represent only a small portion of the tRNA pool (Saikia et al., 2012). Ivanov et al. (2011) showed a more intricate role for tRNA halves in translational control. They observed that tRNA halves formed by angiogenin during stress were able to inhibit protein synthesis and trigger the phospho-eIF2α-independent assembly of stress granules (SGs). These granules are mainly composed of stalled pre-initiation complexes, suggesting that the translation initiation machinery can be targeted by 5' tRNA halves. They demonstrated that selected tRNA halves inhibit protein synthesis by displacing eIF4G/eIF4A from capped and uncapped mRNA and eIF4E/G/A (eIF4F) from the m⁷G cap. Using pull down of 5'-tiRNA^{Ala}- protein complexes the authors implicated YB-1, a translational repressor known to displace eIF4G from RNA and eIF4E/G/A from the m⁷G cap (Evdokimova et al., 2001; Nekrasov et al., 2003). Analysis of the 5' tRNA halves in complex with YB-1 revealed that a terminal oligo-G motif containing four to five consecutive guanosines present in certain 5' tRNA halves (Ala/Cys) was absolutely required for translational repression of a reporter mRNA, suggesting the inhibition is caused by specific tRNA and is not a consequence of global upregulation of tRFs (Ivanov et al., 2011). This result came as a surprise as regulation of translation during stress is carried out via phosphorylation of eIF2 (See Roles of tRNA in Gene Expression), which induces translational repression facilitated by active sequestration of untranslated mRNAs into SGs (Holcik and Sonenberg, 2005).

In addition to tRNA halves, tRFs have also been implicated in regulation of translation. In the archaeon *Haloferax volcanii* a 26 nt-long 5'tRF originating from tRNA^{Val} in a stress-dependent manner was shown to directly bind to the small ribosomal subunit and inhibit translation by interfering with peptidyl transferase activity (Gebetsberger et al., 2012). A similar mechanism of translation inhibition by a 5' tRF was recently observed in human cells (Sobala and Hutvagner, 2013). A 26 nt 5' tRF derived from tRNA^{Val}was able to inhibit translation by affecting peptide bond formation. An interesting observation from this study was that the tRFs required a conserved "GG" dinucleotide for their activity in inhibiting translation. A similar motif dependence is observed as discussed above in translation inhibition by a 5' tRNA half. 5' tRNA halves containing the 5' tRF sequence were shown to require a run of at least four guanosine residues at the 5' end of the molecule, which is present only in tRNA^{Ala} and tRNA^{Cys}, as compared to 5' tRFs that require only two guanosine residues at the 3' end of the molecule, residues conserved between tRNAs. Mutating the di-guanosine motif required by 5' tRF in the 5' tRNA half did not affect its inhibitory activity, and the precise mechanism of translation inhibition by these tRFs warrants further investigation (Sobala and Hutvagner, 2013).

tRNA-derived fragments as regulators of gene silencing

One of the first studies showing the involvement of tRNA-derived fragments in gene regulation and silencing was carried out by Yeung et al. who addressed the role of small RNAs in human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infected cells. A highly abundant, 18 nt-long, tRF originating from the 3' end of human cytoplasmic tRNA^{Lys3} was shown to target the the HIV-1 primer-binding site (PBS) similarly to siRNAs that target complementary RNA (Yeung et al., 2009). tRNA^{lys} is used by viral reverse transcriptases as primer for the initiation of reverse transcription and DNA synthesis (Marquet et al., 1995). The 3' tRF was shown to be associated with Dicer and AGO2, and to cause RNA cleavage of the complementary PBS sequence thereby showing the role of a tRF in viral gene silencing. Other tRFs like 3'CCA, 5' and 5' U tRF have also been shown to be associated with agronautes and hence have a potential to function as an siRNA or miRNA. Haussecker et al. (2010) investigated the ability of 3' CCA and 3'U tRFs to associate with Argonaute proteins and cause silencing of a reporter luciferase transgene. They found that both types of 3' tRF associated with Argonaute proteins, but often more effectively with the non-silencing Ago3 and Ago4 than Ago1 or Ago2. They observed that 3' CCA tRFs had a moderate effect on reporter transgene silencing, but 3' U tRFs did not. However, upon co-transfection of a small RNA complementary to the 3' U tRF, the tRF preferentially associated with Ago2 and caused 80% silencing of the reporter transgene. This correlated with redirection of the reconstituted fully duplexed double-stranded RNA into Ago 2, whereas Ago 3 and 4 were skewed toward less structured small RNAs, particularly singlestranded RNAs. This is in stark contrast with results normally obtained in the miRNA field where sequences complementary to miRNAs relieve repression, a phenomenon known as senseinduced transgene silencing (SITS). Modulation of tRF levels had minor effects on the abundance of microRNAs, but more pronounced changes in the silencing activities of both microRNAs and siRNAs. This study provides compelling evidence that tRFs play a role in the global control of small RNA silencing through associating with different Argonaute proteins (Haussecker et al., 2010).

A tRF that functions as an miRNA was recently described, a 22 nt 3'tRF generated in a Dicer-dependent manner from tRNA^{Gly} in mature B cells and associated with Argonaute proteins (Maute et al., 2013). The 3'tRF was shown to inhibit RPA1, an essential gene involved in DNA repair by possibly binding to the 3' UTR region. Expression of this tRF was downregulated in a lymphoma cell line indicating that loss of 3' tRF expression might help the cancer cells to tolerate the accumulation of mutations and genomic aberrations during tumor progression.

Other biological functions of tRFs

Apart from the two known biological functions of tRFs in regulation, other potential biological functions are beginning to be identified. Recently a study by Ruggero et al. (2014) showed their role in viral infectivity. Large scale sequencing of small RNA libraries was used to identify small non-coding RNAs expressed in normal CD4⁺ T cells compared to cells transformed with human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1), the causative agent of adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma (ATLL). Among the miRNAs and tRFs expressed, one of the most abundant tRFs found was derived from the 3' end of tRNAPro, and exhibited perfect sequence complementarity to the primer binding site of HTLV-1. In vitro reverse transcriptase assays verified that this tRF was capable of priming HTLV-1 reverse transcriptase thereby suggesting an important role in viral infection. One possible role suggested for the tRF fragment is to support the initiation of reverse transcription, but not progressivity, with failure to proceed to the strand transfer step (Ruggero et al., 2014). Further studies are now needed to compare the abilities of the tRF and of full-length tRNA^{Pro} to prime and support strand transfer. Variation of tRNA halves accumulation was also shown in the parasites Toxoplasma gondii, the agent of toxoplasmosis, and the rodent malaria parasite Plasmodium berghei. These organisms exhibited increased tRNA accumulation upon egress from host cells and in response to stage differentiation, amino acid starvation, and heat-shock. It was observed that avirulent isolates of T. gondii and attenuated P. berghei parasites displayed higher rates of tRNA cleavage compared to virulent strains. Also tRNA half production was significantly higher in the metabolically quiescent bradyzoite and sporozoite stages of T. gondii, compared to the fast-growing tachyzoite indicating a relationship between half-tRNA production and growth rate in this important group of organisms (Galizi et al., 2013). A role for tRF halves in Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) infectivity was recently shown by Wang et al. who observed an induction of tRNA cleavage upon RSV infection with a specific subset of tRNAs being cleaved. The 31 nt 5' tRF(Glu) formed exhibited trans-silencing capability against target genes; however the mechanism of gene silencing was found to be different than the gene-silencing mechanism of miRNA/siRNA, previously also shown for other tRFs. Interestingly the tRF was also shown to promote RSV replication (Wang et al., 2013)

tRNA fragments have also been implicated in progressive motor neuron loss. Hanada et al. recently demonstrated that tRNA fragments generated in CLP1 mutant cells sensitize cells to oxidative stress-induced activation of the p53 tumor suppressor pathway and in turn lead to progressive loss of spinal motor neurons leading to muscle denervation and paralysis thereby providing a possible link between tRNA cleavage and p53 dependent cell death. However, the exact mechanism by which these tRNA fragments affect the p53 pathway needs to be determined (Hanada et al., 2013).

REGULATION OF CELL DEATH BY tRNA

Apoptosis is a cellular process by which damaged, harmful, and unwanted cells are eliminated. Apoptotic regulation is critical to cell homeostasis, immunity, multi-cellular development, and protection against infections and diseases like cancer (Thompson, 1995). Apoptotic cells have been shown to undergo various morphological and biochemical changes caused by a group of cysteine-dependent aspartate specific proteases, or caspases. In healthy cells, caspases are inactive, however during apoptosis caspases are activated and signal the onset of apoptosis via cleavage of various intracellular proteins including apoptotic proteins, cellular structural and survival proteins, transcriptional factors, signaling molecules, and proteins involved in DNA and RNA metabolism (Li and Yuan, 2008; Hou and Yang, 2013). Cleavage of these intracellular proteins ultimately leads to phagocytic recognition and engulfment of the dying cell. While many factors have been discovered that regulate the apoptotic pathway, in this section the recently discovered role of tRNA as a regulator of cell death is discussed (Figure 3).

CASPASE ACTIVATION BY EXTRINSIC AND INTRINSIC PATHWAYS

Apoptosis can be triggered via two major routes: an extrinsic, or extracellularly activated pathway and/or an intrinsic, or mitochondrial-mediated pathway. Both pathways activate caspases, a class of endoproteases that hydrolyze peptide bonds (Thornberry and Lazebnik, 1998). Although there are various types of caspases, those involved in apoptosis can be classified into two groups, the initiator (or apical) caspases and the effector (or executioner) caspases. Initiator caspases (e.g., Caspases-8 and 9) are capable of autocatalytic activation, whereas effector caspases (e.g., Caspases-3, 6 and 7) are activated by initiator caspase cleavage (Chang and Yang, 2000; Riedl and Shi, 2004). The extrinsic pathway begins outside the cell through activation of a group of pro-apoptotic cell surface receptors, such as Fas/CD95 and tumor necrosis factor receptor. Upon binding to their cognate ligand, these receptors recruit an adaptor protein Fas-associated death domain (FADD) that binds and dimerizes the initiator procaspase-8, to form an oligomeric death-inducing signaling complex (DISC), in which procaspase-8 becomes activated through an autoproteolytic cleavage event. The active caspase-8 then cleaves and activates the effector caspases 3 and 7 (Ashkenazi and Dixit, 1998; Krammer et al., 2007; Hou and Yang, 2013). The intrinsic pathway causes mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization (MOMP), which leads to release of cytochrome c, a mitochondrial protein which transfers electrons from complex III to complex IV in the electron transport chain (Wang, 2001). The discovery of the role of cytochrome c in apoptosis by Liu et al. (1996) came as a surprise due to its essential role in the survival of the cell. In the cytosol, cytochrome c interacts with the apoptotic protease activating factor-1 (APAF-1) to form the apoptosome complex (Zou et al., 1997). The complex recruits procaspase-9, which converts to active caspase-9 by autocatalysis. Active caspase-9 activates effector caspases like caspase-7 and caspase-3 and causes apoptosis (**Figure 3**). Apoptosis is regulated by several pro-apoptotic proteins (Bax, Bak, and Bid), anti-apoptotic proteins (Bcl-2, Bcl-X_L, and Mcl-1) and a range of cellular factors (HSP90, HSP70 and HSP27; Sreedhar and Csermely, 2004; Gorla and Sepuri, 2014) that is now known to include tRNA.

INTERACTION BETWEEN tRNA AND CYTOCHROME c: POTENTIAL ROLE IN REGULATING APOPTOSIS

To answer the long-standing conundrum of why 1 mM dATP is required to induce caspase-9 activation in cell lysates, when the intracellular concentration of dATP is only 10 µM, Mei et al. investigated the role of RNA, which is essentially a polymer of nucleoside monophosphates, in cytochrome c-mediated caspase activation. They observed that treatment of mammalian S100 extracts with RNase strongly increased cytochrome c-induced caspase-9 activation, while the addition of RNA to the extracts impaired caspase-9 activation. These results implicated an inhibitory role of RNA in the activation of caspase-9. Systematic evaluation of the steps leading to caspase-9 activation identified cytochrome *c* as the target of the RNA inhibitor. Analysis of cytochrome c-associated species revealed that tRNA binds specifically to cytochrome c. Microinjection of tRNA into living cells inhibited the ability of cytochrome c to induce apoptosis, while degradation of tRNA by an RNase that preferentially degrades tRNA, onconase, enhanced apoptosis via the intrinsic pathway. Taken together, these findings showed that tRNA binds to cytochrome *c* and inhibits formation of the apoptosome (Mei et al., 2010). This suggested a direct role for tRNA in regulating apoptosis and revealed an intimate connection between translation and cell death. This finding also raised an interesting question as to how the interaction between tRNA and cytochrome c modulates apoptosis. This question was addressed recently by Gorla et al. who proposed that tRNA interacts with the heme moiety of cytochrome *c* and thereby protects the positively charged surface of cytochrome c from being exposed to the APAF-1 complex. This model was further confirmed by the observation that cytochrome c lost its ability to interact with tRNA after treatment with oxidizing agents or cysteine modifying agents. In such a state, hemin is unable to bind to tRNA and the exposed positively charged residues of cytochrome c then bind to APAF-1 (Gorla and Sepuri, 2014). Hence tRNA can regulate apoptosis by binding to cytochrome c. Further investigation of the nucleotide residues of tRNA involved in these interactions is required to answer questions about how tRNA binding to cytochrome c is regulated in the cell, whether specific tRNA isoacceptors are involved, and if this interaction is non-specific. Increased expression of tRNA has been detected in a wide variety of transformed cells (Marshall and White, 2008), such as ovarian and cervical cancer (Winter et al., 2000; Daly et al., 2005), carcinomas, and multiple myeloma cell lines (Zhou et al., 2009). Expression levels of tRNA molecules in breast cancer cells were 10-fold higher as compared to in normal cells and overexpression of tRNAi^{Met} induces proliferation and immortalization of fibroblasts and also significantly alters the global



tRNA expression profile (Pavon-Eternod et al., 2013). It was also observed that certain individual tRNAs were overexpressed more as compared to others. tRNA^{Arg(UCU)}, tRNA^{Arg(CCU)}, tRNA^{Thr(CGU)}, tRNA^{Ser(CGA)}, and tRNA^{Tyr(GTA)} were among the most over-expressed tRNAs, while tRNA^{His(GTG)}, tRNA^{Phe(GAA)}, and tRNA^{Met(CAT)} were the least over-expressed tRNAs (Pavon-Eternod et al., 2009) indicating overexpression is not random and may be related to regulation of cytochrome *c*. Identification of the tRNA sites involved in binding to cytochrome *c* might help elucidate the connection between tRNA overexpression and cancer. tRNA cleavage has also been suggested as a mode of regulation of this interaction (Hou and Yang, 2013).

CONCLUSION

While aa-tRNAs have been implicated in variety of roles in biosynthetic pathways, much less is known about the various functions of uncharged tRNAs in cells apart from their role in acting as sensors for cellular stress like nutritional deprivation. The recent discovery of the role of tRNA in regulating apoptosis has opened a whole new field which requires investigation into tRNA-protein interactions and has created a link between regulation of cell death and cellular metabolism. With the advent of high throughput sequencing techniques, studying the whole transcriptome of various organisms has become feasible. These techniques refuted the age-old assumption that rRNA, mRNA and tRNA constitute the main RNA species in the cell. It is now clear that almost all of the DNA in the cell is transcribed; however, only a small portion of these transcripts are translated into proteins or used as substrates for biological processes. The emergence of these sequencing techniques has resulted in discoveries of novel ncR-NAs, and several studies have highlighted their role as important regulators of gene expression. Among the ncRNAs discovered, a number of cleavage products of tRNAs formed in response to stress have been also been discovered. These cleavage products were initially thought to be a result of random degradation; however, a number of studies have revealed their production to be a result of specific cleavage, and possibly regulated. Although a number of cleavage products have been observed, all the possible mechanisms of their production are not fully understood. Also in the case of 3'U tRF and 5' leader exon tRF that are most likely produced inside the nucleus, their mechanism of export from the nucleus is not understood. Also regulation of tRNA fragment production, i.e., its initiation, efficiency, and termination are not fully understood. A recent study by Hanada et al. (2013) demonstrated that tRNA fragments sensitize cells to oxidative stress-induced activation of the p53 tumor suppressor pathway. This suggests that tRNA cleavage activates apoptosis via activation of p53 and hence protects against cancer, while full-length tRNA binds cytochrome c and prevents apoptosis thereby aiding cancer development. This hypothesis is strengthened by the overexpression of tRNAs observed in cancer cell lines. Further investigation into the link between tRNA cleavage and p53 activation is required to help understand how tRNAs help regulate the progression of cancer.

tRNA is post-transcriptionally modified at various nucleotides. While their role in tRNA structure stability and translation is well studied, these modifications might aid in the regulation of tRNA fragmentation. Further studies are needed to answer why some tRNAs are cleaved and others not - for example could modifications make certain positions in tRNA more sensitive to RNases or could they be responsible for blocking RNases? Also, modifications might also help regulate tRNA binding to cytochrome c during apoptosis. Regulation of this interaction and its role in metabolism and tumorigenesis will help our understanding of regulation of death in both normal and cancer cells. Cells have various mechanisms to sense the absence of a modification and remove non-functional tRNAs (Phizicky and Alfonzo, 2010). Variations in the modification status of tRNAs during stress have been implicated directly in decoding (Dedon and Begley, 2014), and such effects may be accentuated by indirect effects on the generation of regulatory tRFs. Clearly, much still remains to be discovered about the various regulatory roles of both charged and uncharged tRNA.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Work in the authors' laboratory on this topic was supported by grants MCB 1052344 from the National Science Foundation and GM65183 from the National Institutes of Health.

REFERENCES

- Abramochkin, G., and Shrader, T. E. (1996). Aminoacyl-tRNA recognition by the leucyl/phenylalanyl-tRNA-protein transferase. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 22901–22907. doi: 10.1074/jbc.271.37.22901
- Ashkenazi, A., and Dixit, V. M. (1998). Death receptors: signaling and modulation. Science 281, 1305–1308. doi: 10.1126/science.281.5381.1305
- Babiarz, J. E., Ruby, J. G., Wang, Y., Bartel, D. P., and Blelloch, R. (2008). Mouse ES cells express endogenous shRNAs, siRNAs, and other microprocessorindependent, Dicer-dependent small RNAs. *Genes Dev.* 22, 2773–2785. doi: 10.1101/gad.1705308
- Bachmair, A., Finley, D., and Varshavsky, A. (1986). In vivo half-life of a protein is a function of its amino-terminal residue. *Science* 234, 179–186. doi: 10.1126/science.3018930
- Banerjee, R., Chen, S., Dare, K., Gilreath, M., Praetorius-Ibba, M., Raina, M., et al. (2010). tRNAs: cellular barcodes for amino acids. *FEBS Lett.* 584, 387–395. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2009.11.013
- Belin, P., Moutiez, M., Lautru, S., Seguin, J., Pernodet, J. L., and Gondry, M. (2012). The nonribosomal synthesis of diketopiperazines in tRNAdependent cyclodipeptide synthase pathways. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* 29, 961–979. doi: 10.1039/c2np20010d

- Bouhss, A., Josseaume, N., Severin, A., Tabei, K., Hugonnet, J. E., Shlaes, D., et al. (2002). Synthesis of the L-alanyl-L-alanine cross-bridge of Enterococcus faecalis peptidoglycan. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 45935–45941. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M207449200
- Buhler, M., Spies, N., Bartel, D. P., and Moazed, D. (2008). TRAMP-mediated RNA surveillance prevents spurious entry of RNAs into the *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* siRNA pathway. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 15, 1015–1023. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.1481
- Cain, C. C., Lee, D., Waldo, R. H. III, Henry, A. T., Casida, E. J. Jr., Wani, M. C., et al. (2003). Synergistic antimicrobial activity of metabolites produced by a nonobligate bacterial predator. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 47, 2113–2117. doi: 10.1128/AAC.47.7.2113-2117.2003
- Cashel, M., and Gallant, J. (1969). Two compounds implicated in the function of the RC gene of *Escherichia coli*. *Nature* 221, 838–841. doi: 10.1038/221838a0
- Chang, H. Y., and Yang, X. (2000). Proteases for cell suicide: functions and regulation of caspases. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 64, 821–846. doi: 10.1128/MMBR.64.4.821-846.2000
- Cole, C., Sobala, A., Lu, C., Thatcher, S. R., Bowman, A., Brown, J. W., et al. (2009). Filtering of deep sequencing data reveals the existence of abundant Dicer-dependent small RNAs derived from tRNAs. RNA 15, 2147–2160. doi: 10.1261/rna.1738409
- Couvillion, M. T., Sachidanandam, R., and Collins, K. (2010). A growth-essential Tetrahymena Piwi protein carries tRNA fragment cargo. *Genes Dev.* 24, 2742– 2747. doi: 10.1101/gad.1996210
- Daly, N. L., Arvanitis, D. A., Fairley, J. A., Gomez-Roman, N., Morton, J. P., Graham, S. V., et al. (2005). Deregulation of RNA polymerase III transcription in cervical epithelium in response to high-risk human papillomavirus. *Oncogene* 24, 880– 888. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1208031
- Dare, K., and Ibba, M. (2012). Roles of tRNA in cell wall biosynthesis. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. RNA 3, 247–264. doi: 10.1002/wrna.1108
- Dare, K., Shepherd, J., Roy, H., Seveau, S., and Ibba, M. (2014). LysPGS formation in *Listeria monocytogenes* has broad roles in maintaining membrane integrity beyond antimicrobial peptide resistance. *Virulence* 5, 534–546. doi: 10.4161/viru. 28359
- Dedon, P. C., and Begley, T. J. (2014). A system of RNA modifications and biased codon use controls cellular stress response at the level of translation. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* 27, 330–337. doi: 10.1021/tx400438d
- Dhahbi, J. M., Spindler, S. R., Atamna, H., Yamakawa, A., Boffelli, D., Mote, P., et al. (2013). 5' tRNA halves are present as abundant complexes in serum, concentrated in blood cells, and modulated by aging and calorie restriction. *BMC Genomics* 14, 298. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-14-298
- Dong, J., Qiu, H., Garcia-Barrio, M., Anderson, J., and Hinnebusch, A. G. (2000). Uncharged tRNA activates GCN2 by displacing the protein kinase moiety from a bipartite tRNA-binding domain. *Mol. Cell* 6, 269–279. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(00)00028-9
- Ernst, C. M., and Peschel, A. (2011). Broad-spectrum antimicrobial peptide resistance by MprF-mediated aminoacylation and flipping of phospholipids. *Mol. Microbiol.* 80, 290–299. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2011. 07576.x
- Ernst, C. M., Staubitz, P., Mishra, N. N., Yang, S. J., Hornig, G., Kalbacher, H., et al. (2009). The bacterial defensin resistance protein MprF consists of separable domains for lipid lysinylation and antimicrobial peptide repulsion. *PLoS Pathog.* 5:e1000660. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.10006
- Evdokimova, V., Ruzanov, P., Imataka, H., Raught, B., Svitkin, Y., Ovchinnikov, L. P., et al. (2001). The major mRNA-associated protein YB-1 is a potent 5' cap-dependent mRNA stabilizer. *EMBO J.* 20, 5491–5502. doi: 10.1093/emboj/20.19.5491
- Filipe, S. R., Pinho, M. G., and Tomasz, A. (2000). Characterization of the murMN operon involved in the synthesis of branched peptidoglycan peptides in *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 27768–27774. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M004675200
- Fonvielle, M., Chemama, M., Villet, R., Lecerf, M., Bouhss, A., Valéry, J. M., et al. (2009). Aminoacyl-tRNA recognition by the FemXWv transferase for bacterial cell wall synthesis. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 37, 1589–1601. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkn1039
- Fu, H., Feng, J., Liu, Q., Sun, F., Tie, Y., Zhu, J., et al. (2009). Stress induces tRNA cleavage by angiogenin in mammalian cells. *FEBS Lett.* 583, 437–442. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2008.12.043
- Fuchs, R. T., Grundy, F. J., and Henkin, T. M. (2006). The S(MK) box is a new SAM-binding RNA for translational regulation of SAM synthetase. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 13, 226–233. doi: 10.1038/nsmb1059

- Galizi, R., Spano, F., Giubilei, M. A., Capuccini, B., Magini, A., Urbanelli, L., et al. (2013). Evidence of tRNA cleavage in apicomplexan parasites: half-tRNAs as new potential regulatory molecules of *Toxoplasma gondii* and *Plasmodium berghei*. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 188, 99–108. doi: 10.1016/j.molbiopara.2013.03.003
- Garcia-Barrio, M., Dong, J., Ufano, S., and Hinnebusch, A. G. (2000). Association of GCN1-GCN20 regulatory complex with the N-terminus of eIF2alpha kinase GCN2 is required for GCN2 activation. *EMBO J.* 19, 1887–1899. doi: 10.1093/emboj/19.8.1887
- Garg, R. P., Ma, Y., Hoyt, J. C., and Parry, R. J. (2002). Molecular characterization and analysis of the biosynthetic gene cluster for the azoxy antibiotic valanimycin. *Mol. Microbiol.* 46, 505–517. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2002.03169.x
- Garg, R. P., and Parry, R. J. (2010). Regulation of valanimycin biosynthesis in Streptomyces viridifaciens: characterization of VlmI as a Streptomyces antibiotic regulatory protein (SARP). *Microbiology* 156(Pt 2), 472–483. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.033167-0
- Gebetsberger, J., and Polacek, N. (2013). Slicing tRNAs to boost functional ncRNA diversity. RNA Biol. 10, 1798–1806. doi: 10.4161/rna.27177
- Gebetsberger, J., Zywicki, M., Künzi, A., and Polacek, N. (2012). tRNA-derived fragments target the ribosome and function as regulatory non-coding RNA in *Haloferax volcanii. Archaea* 2012:260909. doi: 10.1155/2012/260909
- Giannouli, S., Kyritsis, A., Malissovas, N., Becker, H. D., and Stathopoulos, C. (2009). On the role of an unusual tRNAGly isoacceptor in *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Biochimie* 91, 344–351. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2008.10.009
- Givens, R. M., Lin, M. H., Taylor, D. J., Mechold, U., Berry, J. O., and Hernandez, V. J. (2004). Inducible expression, enzymatic activity, and origin of higher plant homologues of bacterial RelA/SpoT stress proteins in *Nicotiana tabacum. J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 7495–7504. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M311573200
- Gonda, D. K., Bachmair, A., Wünning, I., Tobias, J. W., Lane, W. S., and Varshavsky, A. (1989). Universality and structure of the N-end rule. *J. Biol. Chem.* 264, 16700–16712.
- Gondry, M., Sauguet, L., Belin, P., Thai, R., Amouroux, R., Tellier, C., et al. (2009). Cyclodipeptide synthases are a family of tRNA-dependent peptide bond-forming enzymes. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 5, 414–420. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.175
- Gorla, M., and Sepuri, N. B. (2014). Perturbation of apoptosis upon binding of tRNA to the heme domain of cytochrome c. *Apoptosis* 19, 259–268. doi: 10.1007/s10495-013-0915-6
- Graciet, E., Hu, R. G., Piatkov, K., Rhee, J. H., Schwarz, E. M., and Varshavsky, A. (2006). Aminoacyl-transferases and the N-end rule pathway of prokaryotic/eukaryotic specificity in a human pathogen. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 3078–3083. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0511224103
- Green, N. J., Grundy, F. J., and Henkin T. M. (2010). The T box mechanism: tRNA as a regulatory molecule. *FEBS Lett*. 584, 318–324. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2009.11.056
- Grundy, F. J., Yousef, M. R., and Henkin, T. M. (2005). Monitoring uncharged tRNA during transcription of the *Bacillus subtilis* glyQS gene. *J. Mol. Biol.* 346, 73–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2004.11.051
- Hanada, T., Weitzer, S., Mair, B., Bernreuther, C., Wainger, B. J., Ichida, J., et al. (2013). CLP1 links tRNA metabolism to progressive motor-neuron loss. *Nature* 495, 474–480. doi: 10.1038/nature11923
- Harding, H. P., Novoa, I., Zhang, Y., Zeng, H., Wek R., Schapira, M., et al. (2000). Regulated translation initiation controls stress-induced gene expression in mammalian cells. *Mol. Cell* 6, 1099–1108. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(00) 00108-8
- Haseltine, W. A., and Block, R. (1973). Synthesis of guanosine tetra- and pentaphosphate requires the presence of a codon-specific, uncharged transfer ribonucleic acid in the acceptor site of ribosomes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 70, 1564–1568. doi: 10.1073/pnas.70.5.1564
- Haussecker, D., Huang, Y., Lau, A., Parameswaran, P., Fire, A. Z., Kay, M. A., et al. (2010). Human tRNA-derived small RNAs in the global regulation of RNA silencing. *RNA* 16, 673–695. doi: 10.1261/rna.2000810
- Henkin, T. M., and Yanofsky, C. (2002). Regulation by transcription attenuation in bacteria: how RNA provides instructions for transcription termination/antitermination decisions. *Bioessays* 24, 700–707. doi: 10.1002/ bies.10125
- Hinnebusch, A. G. (2005). Translational regulation of GCN4 and the general amino acid control of yeast. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 59, 407–450. doi: 10.1146/annurev.micro.59.031805.133833
- Holcik, M., and Sonenberg, N. (2005). Translational control in stress and apoptosis. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol.* 6, 318–327. doi: 10.1038/nrm1618

- Hou, Y. M., and Yang, X. (2013). Regulation of cell death by transfer RNA. Antioxid. Redox. Signal. 19, 583–594. doi: 10.1089/ars.2012.5171
- Hsieh, L. C., Lin, S. I., Shih, A. C., Chen, J. W., Lin, W. Y., Tseng, C. Y., et al. (2009). Uncovering small RNA-mediated responses to phosphate deficiency in Arabidopsis by deep sequencing. *Plant Physiol.* 151, 2120–2132. doi: 10.1104/pp.109.147280
- Ivanov, P., Emara, M. M., Villen, J., Gygi, S. P., and Anderson, P. (2011). Angiogenininduced tRNA fragments inhibit translation initiation. *Mol. Cell* 43, 613–623. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2011.06.022
- Jia, J. M., Ma, X. C., Wu, C. F., Wu, L. J., and Hu, G. S. (2005). Cordycedipeptide A, a new cyclodipeptide from the culture liquid of *Cordyceps sinensis* (Berk.) Sacc. Chem. Pharm. Bull. (Tokyo) 53, 582–583. doi: 10.1248/cpb. 53.582
- Kanoh, K., Kohno, S., Katada, J., Hayashi, Y., Muramatsu, M., and Uno, I. (1999). Antitumor activity of phenylahistin in vitro and in vivo. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 63, 1130–1133. doi: 10.1271/bbb.63.1130
- Kanzaki, H., Yanagisawa, S., and Nitoda, T. (2004). Enzymatic synthesis of dehydro cyclo(His-Phe)s, analogs of the potent cell cycle inhibitor, dehydrophenylahistin, and their inhibitory activities toward cell division. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 68, 2341–2345. doi: 10.1271/bbb.68.2341
- Kaufmann, G. (2000). Anticodon nucleases. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 25, 70–74. doi: 10.1016/S0968-0004(99)01525-X
- Kawaji, H., Nakamura, M., Takahashi, Y., Sandelin, A., Katayama, S., Fukuda, S., et al. (2008). Hidden layers of human small RNAs. *BMC Genomics* 9:157. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-9-157
- Klein, S., Lorenzo, C., Hoffmann, S., Walther, J. M., Storbeck, S., Piekarski, T., et al. (2009). Adaptation of Pseudomonas aeruginosa to various conditions includes tRNA-dependent formation of alanyl-phosphatidylglycerol. *Mol. Microbiol.* 71, 551–565. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2008.06562.x
- Kohn, H., and Widger, W. (2005). The molecular basis for the mode of action of bicyclomycin. Curr. Drug Targets. Infect. Disord 5, 273–295. doi: 10.2174/1568005054880136
- Krammer, P. H., Arnold, R., and Lavrik, I. N. (2007). Life and death in peripheral T cells. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 7, 532–542. doi: 10.1038/nri2115
- Lautru, S., Gondry, M., Genet, R., and Pernodet, J. L. (2002). The albonoursin gene cluster of S noursei biosynthesis of diketopiperazine metabolites independent of nonribosomal peptide synthetases. *Chem. Biol.* 9, 1355–1364. doi: 10.1016/S1074-5521(02)00285-5
- Lee, Y. S., Shibata, Y., Malhotra, A., and Dutta, A. (2009). A novel class of small RNAs: tRNA-derived RNA fragments (tRFs). *Genes Dev.* 23, 2639–2649. doi: 10.1101/gad.1837609
- Li, J., and Yuan, J. (2008). Caspases in apoptosis and beyond. Oncogene 27, 6194–6206. doi: 10.1038/onc.2008.297
- Li, Z., Ender, C., Meister, G., Moore, P. S., Chang, Y., and John, B. (2012). Extensive terminal and asymmetric processing of small RNAs from rRNAs, snoR-NAs, snRNAs, and tRNAs. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 40, 6787–6799. doi: 10.1093/nar/ gks307
- Liu, X., Kim, C. N., Yang, J., Jemmerson, R., and Wang, X. (1996). Induction of apoptotic program in cell-free extracts: requirement for dATP and cytochrome c. *Cell* 86, 147–157. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00) 80085-9
- Lloyd, A. J., Gilbey, A. M., Blewett, A. M., De Pascale, G., El Zoeiby, A., Levesque, R. C., et al. (2008). Characterization of tRNA-dependent peptide bond formation by MurM in the synthesis of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* peptidoglycan. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 6402–6417. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M708105200
- Lu, P. D., Harding, H. P., and Ron, D. (2004). Translation reinitiation at alternative open reading frames regulates gene expression in an integrated stress response. J. Cell. Biol. 167, 27–33. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200408003
- Magnusson, L. U., Farewell, A., and Nyström T. (2005). ppGpp: a global regulator in *Escherichia coli. Trends Microbiol.* 13, 236–242. doi: 10.1016/j.tim. 2005.03.008
- Magyar, A., Zhang, X., Kohn H., and Widger, W. R. (1996). The antibiotic bicyclomycin affects the secondary RNA binding site of *Escherichia coli* transcription termination factor Rho. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 25369–25374. doi: 10.1074/jbc.271.41.25369
- Marquet, R., Isel, C., Ehresmann, C., and Ehresmann, B. (1995). tRNAs as primer of reverse transcriptases. *Biochimie* 77, 113–124. doi: 10.1016/0300-9084(96)88114-4

- Marshall, L., and White, R. J. (2008). Non-coding RNA production by RNA polymerase III is implicated in cancer. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 8, 911–914. doi: 10.1038/nrc2539
- Marton, M. J., Crouch, D., and Hinnebusch, A. G. (1993). GCN1, a translational activator of GCN4 in Saccharomyces cerevisiae, is required for phosphorylation of eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 by protein kinase GCN2. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 13, 3541–3556.
- Marton, M. J., Vazquez de Aldana, C. R., Qiu, H., Chakraburtty, K., and Hinnebusch, A. G. (1997). Evidence that GCN1 and GCN20, translational regulators of GCN4, function on elongating ribosomes in activation of eIF2alpha kinase GCN2. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 17, 4474–4489.
- Masaki, H., and Ogawa, T. (2002). The modes of action of colicins E5 and D, and related cytotoxic tRNases. *Biochimie* 84, 433–438. doi: 10.1016/S0300-9084(02)01425-6
- Maute, R. L., Schneider, C., Sumazin, P., Holmes, A., Califano, A., Basso, K., et al. (2013). tRNA-derived microRNA modulates proliferation and the DNA damage response and is down-regulated in B cell lymphoma. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 1404–1409. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1206761110
- Mei, Y., Yong, J., Liu, H., Shi, Y., Meinkoth, J., Dreyfuss, G., et al. (2010). tRNA binds to cytochrome c and inhibits caspase activation. *Mol. Cell* 37, 668–678. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2010.01.023
- Minelli, A., Grottelli, S., Mierla, A., Pinnen, F., Cacciatore, I., and Bellezza, I. (2012). Cyclo(His-Pro) exerts anti-inflammatory effects by modulating NFkappaB and Nrf2 signalling. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 44, 525–535. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2011.12.006
- Mogk, A., Schmidt, R., and Bukau, B. (2007). The N-end rule pathway for regulated proteolysis: prokaryotic and eukaryotic strategies. *Trends Cell Biol.* 17, 165–172. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2007.02.001
- Musetti, R., Polizzotto, R., Vecchione, A., Borselli, S., Zulini, L., D'Ambrosio, M., et al. (2007). Antifungal activity of diketopiperazines extracted from Alternaria alternata against *Plasmopara viticola*: an ultrastructural study. *Micron* 38, 643–650. doi: 10.1016/j.micron.2006.09.001
- Nanamiya, H., Kasai, K., Nozawa, A., Yun, C. S., Narisawa, T., and Murakami, K. (2008). Identification and functional analysis of novel (p)ppGpp synthetase genes in *Bacillus subtilis. Mol. Microbiol.* 67, 291–304. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2007.06018.x
- Nekrasov, M. P., Ivshina, M. P., Chernov, K. G., Kovrigina, E. A., Evdokimova, V. M., and Thomas, A. A. (2003). The mRNA-binding protein YB-1 (p50) prevents association of the eukaryotic initiation factor eIF4G with mRNA and inhibits protein synthesis at the initiation stage. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 13936–13943. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M209145200
- Nowacka, M., Strozycki, P. M., Jackowiak, P., Hojka-Osinska, A., Szymanski, M., and Figlerowicz, M. (2013). Identification of stable, high copy number, medium-sized RNA degradation intermediates that accumulate in plants under non-stress conditions. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 83, 191–204. doi: 10.1007/s11103-013-0079-3
- Pavon-Eternod, M., Gomes, S., Geslain, R., Dai, Q., Rosner, M. R., and Pan, T. (2009). tRNA over-expression in breast cancer and functional consequences. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 37, 7268–7280. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkp787
- Pavon-Eternod, M., Gomes, S., Rosner, M. R., and Pan, T. (2013). Overexpression of initiator methionine tRNA leads to global reprogramming of tRNA expression and increased proliferation in human epithelial cells. *RNA* 19, 461–466. doi: 10.1261/rna.037507.112
- Peschel, A., Jack, R. W., Otto, M., Collins, L. V., Staubitz, P., Nicholson, G., et al. (2001). *Staphylococcus aureus* resistance to human defensins and evasion of neutrophil killing via the novel virulence factor MprF is based on modification of membrane lipids with l-lysine. *J. Exp. Med.* 193, 1067–1076. doi: 10.1084/jem.193.9.1067
- Phizicky, E. M., and Alfonzo, J. D. (2010). Do all modifications benefit all tRNAs? FEBS Lett. 584, 265–271. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2009.11.049
- Potuschak, T., Stary, S., Schlögelhofer, P., Becker, F., Nejinskaia, V., and Bachmair, A. (1998). PRT1 of Arabidopsis thaliana encodes a component of the plant N-end rule pathway. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 95, 7904–7908. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.14.7904
- Prasad, C. (1995). Bioactive cyclic dipeptides. *Peptides* 16, 151–164. doi: 10.1016/0196-9781(94)00017-Z
- Qiu, H., Dong, J., Hu, C., Francklyn, C. S., and Hinnebusch, A. G. (2001). The tRNA-binding moiety in GCN2 contains a dimerization domain that interacts

with the kinase domain and is required for tRNA binding and kinase activation. *EMBO J.* 20, 1425–1438. doi: 10.1093/emboj/20.6.1425

- Rai, R., and Kashina, A. (2005). Identification of mammalian arginyltransferases that modify a specific subset of protein substrates. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 10123–10128. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0504500102
- Riedl, S. J., and Shi, Y. (2004). Molecular mechanisms of caspase regulation during apoptosis. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 5, 897–907. doi: 10.1038/nrm1496
- Rodriguez, P. L., and Carrasco, L. (1992). Gliotoxin: inhibitor of poliovirus RNA synthesis that blocks the viral RNA polymerase 3Dpol. *J. Virol.* 66, 1971–1976.
- Ross, W., Vrentas, C. E., Sanchez-Vazquez, P., Gaal, T., and Gourse, R. L. (2013). The magic spot: a ppGpp binding site on *E. coli* RNA polymerase responsible for regulation of transcription initiation. *Mol. Cell* 50, 420–429. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2013.03.021
- Roy, H., Becker, H. D., Mazauric, M. H., and Kern, D. (2007). Structural elements defining elongation factor Tu mediated suppression of codon ambiguity. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 35, 3420–3430. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkm211
- Roy, H., Dare, K., and Ibba, M. (2009). Adaptation of the bacterial membrane to changing environments using aminoacylated phospholipids. *Mol. Microbiol.* 71, 547–550. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2008.06563.x
- Roy, H., and Ibba, M. (2008). RNA-dependent lipid remodeling by bacterial multiple peptide resistance factors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 4667–4672. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0800006105
- Roy, H., and Ibba, M. (2009). Broad range amino acid specificity of RNA-dependent lipid remodeling by multiple peptide resistance factors. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 29677– 29683. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.046367
- Royet, J., and Dziarski, R. (2007). Peptidoglycan recognition proteins: pleiotropic sensors and effectors of antimicrobial defences. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 5, 264–277. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro1620
- Ruggero, K., Guffanti, A., Corradin, A., Sharma, V. K., De Bellis, G., Corti G., et al. (2014). Small noncoding RNAs in cells transformed by human T-cell leukemia virus type 1: a role for a tRNA fragment as a primer for reverse transcriptase. *J. Virol.* 88, 3612–3622. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02823-13
- Saad, N. Y., Stamatopoulou, V., Brayé, M., Drainas, D., Stathopoulos, C., and Becker, H. D. (2013). Two-codon T-box riboswitch binding two tRNAs. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 12756–12761. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1304307110
- Saikia, M., Krokowski, D., Guan, B. J., Ivanov, P., Parisien, M., Hu, G. F., et al. (2012). Genome-wide identification and quantitative analysis of cleaved tRNA fragments induced by cellular stress. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 42708–42725. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.371799
- Sanderson, L. E., and Uhlenbeck, O. C. (2007). The 51-63 base pair of tRNA confers specificity for binding by EF-Tu. RNA 13, 835–840. doi: 10.1261/rna.485307
- Sattlegger, E., and Hinnebusch, A. G. (2000). Separate domains in GCN1 for binding protein kinase GCN2 and ribosomes are required for GCN2 activation in amino acid-starved cells. *EMBO J.* 19, 6622–6633. doi: 10.1093/emboj/19. 23.6622
- Sauguet, L., Moutiez, M., Li, Y., Belin, P., Seguin, J., Le Du, M. H., et al. (2011). Cyclodipeptide synthases, a family of class-I aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase-like enzymes involved in non-ribosomal peptide synthesis. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39, 4475–4489. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkr027
- Schaefer, M., Pollex, T., Hanna, K., Tuorto, F., Meusburger, M., Helm, M. T., et al. (2010). RNA methylation by Dnmt2 protects transfer RNAs against stress-induced cleavage. *Genes Dev.* 24, 1590–1595. doi: 10.1101/ gad.586710
- Schneider, T., Senn, M. M., Berger-Bächi, B., Tossi, A., Sahl, H. G., and Wiedemann, I. (2004). In vitro assembly of a complete, pentaglycine interpeptide bridge containing cell wall precursor (lipid II-Gly5) of *Staphylococcus aureus. Mol. Microbiol.* 53, 675–685. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2004.04149.x
- Shepherd, J. (2011). Characterisation of Pneumococcal Peptidoglycan Cross-Linking Enzymology. Ph.D. thesis, Doctoral dissertation, University of Warwick.
- Shepherd, J., and Ibba, M. (2013a). Direction of aminoacylated transfer RNAs into antibiotic synthesis and peptidoglycan-mediated antibiotic resistance. *FEBS Lett.* 587, 2895–2904. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2013.07.036
- Shepherd, J., and Ibba, M. (2013b). Lipid II-independent trans editing of mischarged tRNAs by the penicillin resistance factor MurM. *J. Biol. Chem.* 288, 25915–25923. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.479824
- Shrader, T. E., Tobias, J. W., and Varshavsky, A. (1993). The N-end rule in *Escherichia coli*: cloning and analysis of the leucyl, phenylalanyl-tRNA-protein transferase gene aat. J. Bacteriol. 175, 4364–4374.

- Sobala, A., and Hutvagner, G. (2011). Transfer RNA-derived fragments: origins, processing, and functions. *Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. RNA* 2, 853–862. doi: 10.1002/wrna.96
- Sobala, A., and Hutvagner, G. (2013). Small RNAs derived from the 5' end of tRNA can inhibit protein translation in human cells. *RNA Biol.* 10, 553–563. doi: 10.4161/rna.24285
- Spriggs, K. A., Bushell, M., and Willis, A. E. (2010). Translational regulation of gene expression during conditions of cell stress. *Mol. Cell* 40, 228–237. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2010.09.028
- Sreedhar, A. S., and Csermely, P. (2004). Heat shock proteins in the regulation of apoptosis: new strategies in tumor therapy: a comprehensive review. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 101, 227–257. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2003.11.004
- Staubitz, P., Neumann, H., Schneider, T., Wiedemann, I., and Peschel, A. (2004). MprF-mediated biosynthesis of lysylphosphatidylglycerol, an important determinant in staphylococcal defensin resistance. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 231, 67–71. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1097(03)00921-2
- Strom, K., Sjögren, J., Broberg, A., and Schnürer, J. (2002). Lactobacillus plantarum MiLAB 393 produces the antifungal cyclic dipeptides cyclo(L-Phe-L-Pro) and cyclo(L-Phe-trans-4-OH-L-Pro) and 3-phenyllactic acid. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68, 4322–4327. doi: 10.1128/AEM.68.9.4322-4327.2002
- Suto, K., Shimizu, Y., Watanabe, K., Ueda, T., Fukai, S., Nureki, O., et al. (2006). Crystal structures of leucyl/phenylalanyl-tRNA-protein transferase and its complex with an aminoacyl-tRNA analog. *EMBO J.* 25, 5942–5950. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj.7601433
- Sy, J., and Lipmann, F. (1973). Identification of the synthesis of guanosine tetraphosphate (MS I) as insertion of a pyrophosphoryl group into the 3'-position in guanosine 5'-diphosphate. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 70, 306–309. doi: 10.1073/pnas.70.2.306
- Tasaki, T., Sriram, S. M., Park, K. S., and Kwon, Y. T. (2012). The N-end rule pathway. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 81, 261–289. doi: 10.1146/annurev-biochem-051710-093308
- Thedieck, K., Hain, T., Mohamed, W., Tindall, B. J., Nimtz, M., Chakraborty, T. et al. (2006). The MprF protein is required for lysinylation of phospholipids in listerial membranes and confers resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides (CAMPs) on *Listeria monocytogenes. Mol. Microbiol.* 62, 1325–1339. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05452.x
- Thompson, C. B. (1995). Apoptosis in the pathogenesis and treatment of disease. *Science* 267, 1456–1462. doi: 10.1126/science.7878464
- Thompson, D. M., Lu, C., Green, P. J., and Parker, R. (2008). tRNA cleavage is a conserved response to oxidative stress in eukaryotes. RNA 14, 2095–2103. doi: 10.1261/rna.1232808
- Thompson, D. M., and Parker, R. (2009). The RNase Rny1p cleaves tRNAs and promotes cell death during oxidative stress in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J. Cell Biol. 185, 43–50. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200811119
- Thornberry, N. A., and Lazebnik, Y. (1998). Caspases: enemies within. *Science* 281, 1312–1316. doi: 10.1126/science.281.5381.1312
- Tobias, J. W., Shrader, T. E., Rocap, G., and Varshavsky, A. (1991). The N-end rule in bacteria. *Science* 254, 1374–1377. doi: 10.1126/science.1962196
- Vattem, K. M., and Wek, R. C. (2004). Reinitiation involving upstream ORFs regulates ATF4 mRNA translation in mammalian cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 11269–11274. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0400541101
- Vollmer, W., Blanot, D., and de Pedro, M. A. (2008). Peptidoglycan structure and architecture. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 32, 149–167. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2007.00094.x
- Wang, Q., Lee, I., Ren, J., Ajay, S. S., Lee, Y. S., and Bao, X. (2013). Identification and functional characterization of tRNA-derived RNA fragments (tRFs) in respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Mol. Ther.* 21, 368–379. doi: 10.1038/mt.2012.237
- Wang, X. (2001). The expanding role of mitochondria in apoptosis. *Genes Dev.* 15, 2922–2933.

- Waring, P., and Beaver, J. (1996). Cyclosporin A rescues thymocytes from apoptosis induced by very low concentrations of thapsigargin: effects on mitochondrial function. *Exp. Cell Res.* 227, 264–276. doi: 10.1006/excr. 1996.0276
- Wek, S. A., Zhu, S., and Wek, R. C. (1995). The histidyl-tRNA synthetase-related sequence in the eIF-2 alpha protein kinase GCN2 interacts with tRNA and is required for activation in response to starvation for different amino acids. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 15, 4497–4506.
- Winter, A. G., Sourvinos, G., Allison, S. J., Tosh, K., Scott, P. H., Spandidos, D. A., et al. (2000). RNA polymerase III transcription factor TFIIIC2 is overexpressed in ovarian tumors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 12619–12624. doi: 10.1073/pnas.230224097
- Yamasaki, S., Ivanov, P., Hu, G. F., and Anderson P. (2009). Angiogenin cleaves tRNA and promotes stress-induced translational repression. J. Cell Biol. 185, 35–42. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200811106
- Yamato, M., Iinuma, H., Naganawa, H., Yamagishi, Y., Hamada, M., Masuda, T., et al. (1986). Isolation and properties of valanimycin, a new azoxy antibiotic. J. Antibiot. (Tokyo) 39, 184–191. doi: 10.7164/antibiotics. 39.184
- Yeung, M. L., Bennasser, Y., Watashi, K., Le, S.-Y., Houzet, L., and Jeang K-T. (2009). Pyrosequencing of small non-coding RNAs in HIV-1 infected cells: evidence for the processing of a viral-cellular double-stranded RNA hybrid. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 37, 6575–6586. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkp707
- Zhang, W., Ntai, I., Kelleher, N. L., and Walsh, C. T. (2011). tRNA-dependent peptide bond formation by the transferase PacB in biosynthesis of the pacidamycin group of pentapeptidyl nucleoside antibiotics. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 12249– 12253. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1109539108
- Zhang, W., Ostash, B., and Walsh, C. T. (2010). Identification of the biosynthetic gene cluster for the pacidamycin group of peptidyl nucleoside antibiotics. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 16828–16833. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1011557107
- Zhou, D., Palam, L. R., Jiang, L., Narasimhan, J., Staschke, K. A., and Wek, R. C. (2008). Phosphorylation of eIF2 directs ATF5 translational control in response to diverse stress conditions. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 7064–7073. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M708530200
- Zhou, Y., Goodenbour, J. M., Godley, L. A., Wickrema, A., and Pan, T. (2009). High levels of tRNA abundance and alteration of tRNA charging by bortezomib in multiple myeloma. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 385, 160–164. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2009.05.031
- Zou, H., Henzel, W. J., Liu, X., Lutschg, A., and Wang X. (1997). Apaf-1, a human protein homologous to C. *elegans CED-4*, participates in cytochrome cdependent activation of caspase-3. *Cell* 90, 405–413. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00) 80501-2

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 31 March 2014; accepted: 21 May 2014; published online: 11 June 2014. Citation: Raina M and Ibba M (2014) tRNAs as regulators of biological processes. Front. Genet. 5:171. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00171

This article was submitted to Non-Coding RNA, a section of the journal Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2014 Raina and Ibba. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

REVIEW ARTICLE published: 03 June 2014 doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00158



Transfer RNA and human disease

Jamie A. Abbott, Christopher S. Francklyn and Susan M. Robey-Bond *

Department of Biochemistry, College of Medicine, University of Vermont, Burlington, VT, USA

Edited by:

Akio Kanai, Keio University, Japan

Reviewed by:

Lluís Ribas De Pouplana, IRB Barcelona, Andorra Anthony Antonellis, University of Michigan, USA

*Correspondence:

Susan M. Robey-Bond, Department of Biochemistry, College of Medicine, University of Vermont, Health Sciences Complex, B403 Given Bldg., 89 Beaumont Avenue, Burlington, VT 05405, USA e-mail: susan.robey-bond@uvm.edu

Pathological mutations in tRNA genes and tRNA processing enzymes are numerous and result in very complicated clinical phenotypes. Mitochondrial tRNA (mt-tRNA) genes are "hotspots" for pathological mutations and over 200 mt-tRNA mutations have been linked to various disease states. Often these mutations prevent tRNA aminoacylation. Disrupting this primary function affects protein synthesis and the expression, folding, and function of oxidative phosphorylation enzymes. Mitochondrial tRNA mutations manifest in a wide panoply of diseases related to cellular energetics, including COX deficiency (cytochrome C oxidase), mitochondrial myopathy, MERRF (Myoclonic Epilepsy with Ragged Red Fibers), and MELAS (mitochondrial encephalomyopathy, lactic acidosis, and stroke-like episodes). Diseases caused by mt-tRNA mutations can also affect very specific tissue types, as in the case of neurosensory non-syndromic hearing loss and pigmentary retinopathy, diabetes mellitus, and hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Importantly, mitochondrial heteroplasmy plays a role in disease severity and age of onset as well. Not surprisingly, mutations in enzymes that modify cytoplasmic and mitochondrial tRNAs are also linked to a diverse range of clinical phenotypes. In addition to compromised aminoacylation of the tRNAs, mutated modifying enzymes can also impact tRNA expression and abundance, tRNA modifications, tRNA folding, and even tRNA maturation (e.g., splicing). Some of these pathological mutations in tRNAs and processing enzymes are likely to affect non-canonical tRNA functions, and contribute to the diseases without significantly impacting on translation. This chapter will review recent literature on the relation of mitochondrial and cytoplasmic tRNA, and enzymes that process tRNAs, to human disease. We explore the mechanisms involved in the clinical presentation of these various diseases with an emphasis on neurological disease.

Keywords: tRNA, neurodegenerative disease, localized translation, mitochondrial disease, aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase, Usher syndrome Type IIIB

INTRODUCTION

Although the role of tRNA in translation has been known since the late 1950's, the first report linking a mutation in tRNA to a human disease was published in 1990, when MELAS was associated with a mutation in the mitochondrial tRNA^{Leu} gene [mitochondrial tRNA Leu (L)] (MTTL1) (Kobayashi et al., 1990). This report was followed by the demonstration that tRNA^{Lys} is associated with MERRF (Shoffner et al., 1990). Since then, multiple mutations in individual tRNA genes have been associated with multiple diseases, and individual diseases have been found to be caused by mutations in one of several tRNAs. Not unexpectedly, the penetrance and severity of disease caused by tRNA mutations has been demonstrated to be unpredictable (Phizicky and Hopper, 2010; Hurto, 2011; Suzuki et al., 2011; Tuller, 2012). The primary role of tRNA is to deliver amino acids to the nascent polypeptide chain during protein translation, a seemingly irreplaceable function. Disease-causing mutations in tRNA, to date, have been found only in mitochondrial tRNA, indicating that the etiology of tRNA-linked diseases are tightly associated with mitochondrial biology. How can different point mutations in the same molecule lead to very different diseases? Do tRNAs play additional roles in mitochondria or in the cell apart from translation, for example in organelle localization or replication, cell death, membrane environment, or DNA replication (Dimauro et al., 2013)? About 1700 mitochondrial proteins are coded in the nuclear genome, and it is unknown how mutated mt-tRNA might interact with these.

Many macromolecules interact with tRNA in the cytosol as well. The association of mutations in tRNA binding or processing enzymes with disease is even more recent: tRNA splicing endonuclease mutations were found to cause pontocerebellar hypoplasia as recently as 2008 (Budde et al., 2008). Mutations in the canonical tRNA partner, aminoacyl tRNA-synthetases (ARSs), were first identified as causative agents of Charcot-Marie-Tooth in 2003 (Antonellis et al., 2003). The subject of ARSs and diseases has also received attention, with a number of useful recent reviews addressing various issues (Kim et al., 2011; Guo and Schimmel, 2013; Jia et al., 2013; Konovalova and Tyynismaa, 2013; Schwenzer et al., 2013; Diodato et al., 2014). A major question yet to be addressed is the localization of translation in neural cells, and how tRNA may be trafficked to ribosomes in distant regions (e.g., long axons and synapses in neurons) of the cell.

In this review, we survey the known and emerging connections between tRNA and human diseases, and the role of its key cellular partners in pathophysiology. We begin in the mitochondria, as only mitochondrial tRNA mutations have been found, and briefly review how mitochondrial biology contributes to the effects of tRNA mutations. Several tissue-specific diseases are reviewed, followed by a discussion of potential therapeutics. Next, we move into the cytoplasm to investigate tRNA interactions with other molecules—specifically modifiers and splicing endonucle-ases, followed by the role tRNA binding plays in regulating protein synthesis. Finally we review the canonical role of tRNA interactions with aminoacyl synthetases, with an emphasis on recent disease discoveries.

MITOCHONDRIAL tRNA MUTATIONS AND DISEASE MITOCHONDRIAL FUNCTIONAL BIOLOGY AND GENOMICS

Mitochondria perform the essential function of synthesizing ATP in eukaryotic cells, and this cellular energy resource powers the biosynthesis of key metabolites, mechanochemical and transport functions, and a vast array of other activities. In addition to these functional roles, the mitochondria also generate and regulate the production of reactive oxygen species, as well as activate important cellular pathways such as apoptosis. The 16.59 kb double stranded circular mitochondrial genome is located within the inner mitochondrial membrane, and encodes for a total of 37 genes. Thirteen of these encode for open reading frames that comprise most of the subunits of the respiratory chain complexes I (seven subunits), III (one subunit), IV (three subunits), and V (two subunits). The remaining subunits of the respiratory chain complex are encoded by genes located in the nuclear genome. Two mitochondrial genes encode for ribosomal RNAs (rRNAs) 16S and 12S and the remaining 22 genes encode for the set of mitochondrial transfer RNAs (mt-tRNA). All of the RNA molecules necessary for mitochondrial translation are provided for by the mitochondrial genome. However, many proteins

Table 1 | Mitochondrial tRNA mutations and disease.

necessary to perform protein synthesis, including mitochondrial aminoacyl tRNA synthetases (mt-ARS), ribosomal proteins, and tRNA processing enzymes are encoded in the nuclear genome. These are synthesized in the cytoplasm and subsequently imported into the mitochondria.

MITOCHONDRIAL tRNA MUTATIONS AND DISEASE

It is well established that many different mt-tRNA mutations can cause a wide range of human diseases. High-energy consuming tissues such as muscular and nervous systems are particularly affected by mitochondrial defects. Unlike chromosomal DNA localized to the nucleus and subject to Mendelian inheritance, mitochondrial DNA is inherited solely from the mother and thousands of identical copies can exist per cell. Cells that carry a homogeneous population of the mitochondrial genome, wild type or mutated, are referred to as homoplasmic. A condition in which more than one type of mitochondrial genome exists, either in a cell, tissue or in an individual, is referred to as heteroplasmy. Should a mutation spontaneously arise or be maternally inherited, mitochondria carrying the pathogenic mutated mtDNA can accumulate over the course of organismal development. When the mutational load of a certain tissue type reaches a particular threshold, disease symptoms can become evident. Depending on the mutation and the tissue, this threshold can vary from 50 to 90%. Mitochondrial diseases and their respective tRNA mutations have been extensively cataloged, and the information is available in a variety of useful databases (Putz et al., 2007; Ruiz-Pesini et al., 2007). Past and recent examples of mt-tRNA disease-causing mutations demonstrate that these tRNA genes can affect mitochondrial protein synthesis, aminoacylation activity, and three-dimensional structure and folding of the tRNA in

Mt-tRNA gene	Mutation	Disease	Structural location	Aberrant tRNA biology	OMIM#	References
MTTL1	A3243G	MELAS	anti-codon (wobble position WP)	defect in taurine modification	540000	Latkany et al., 1999
MTTK	A8344G	MERRF	anti-codon (WP)	defect in taurine modification	545000	Shoffner et al., 1990
MTTI	C4277T	CMH1	DUH stem	reduced expression in cardiac tissue	192600	Taylor et al., 2003
	A4300G		Anticodon stem			Perli et al., 2012
	G4308A	CPEO	T Ψ C stem	misfolding leads to improper 3' end processing	590045	Schaller et al., 2011; Souilem et al., 2011
	A4302G		Variable loop	disrupt conserved base pairing		Berardo et al., 2010
МТТН	G12192	CM	T Ψ C stem	disrupt conserved base pairing	590040	Shin et al., 2000
	G12183A	NSHL RP	T Ψ C stem	disrupt conserved base pairing	500008	Crimi et al., 2003
	T12201C	NSHL	Acceptor stem	reduced expression of functional tRNA		Yan et al., 2011
	A12146G	MELAS	DHU stem	misfolding	540000	Calvaruso et al., 2011
	G12147A	MELAS MERRF	DHU stem	misfolding and low abundance	540000 545000	Melone et al., 2004
MTTE	G14685A	C,SP,A	T Ψ C stem	disrupt conserved base pairing	590025	Lax et al., 2013

Disease abbreviations: MELAS, mitochondrial encephalomyopathy, lactic acidosis, and stroke-like episodes; MERRF, myoclonic epilepsy with ragged red fibers; CMH1, cardiomyopathy familial hypertrophic; CPEO, Chronic progressive external ophthalmoplegia; CM, cardiomyopathy; NSHL, non-sensory hearing loss; RP, Retinitis pigmentosa; C,SP,A, cataracts, spastic paraparesis, and ataxia.
the mitochondria (**Table 1**). Mitochondrial tRNA structures can differ significantly from cytosolic tRNA (Florentz et al., 2003) and many require specific complex modifications in order to fold correctly. Here we will review some well-characterized and recently reported mt-tRNA mutations, particularly as they relate to neurobiology and specific human disease phenotypes.

MELAS AND MERRF

The two classic well-characterized diseases associated with mttRNA mutations are mitochondrial encephalomyopathy, lactic acidosis, and stroke-like episodes (MELAS) and myoclonic epilepsy with ragged red fibers (MERRF). These are linked to mutations in mt-tRNA^{Leu} and mt-tRNA^{Lys} respectively (Suzuki et al., 2011). Patients with MELAS present with seizures, recurrent headaches and vomiting, anorexia, exercise intolerance, and proximal limb weakness; these are often seen early in childhood. Recurring stroke-like episodes can progressively impair motor abilities, vision, hearing, and mentation. MELAS is primarily caused by defects in respiratory chain complexes I and IV, which lead to impaired oxidative phosphorylation. The A3243G mutation, which encodes a mutation in the mt-tRNA^{Leu} wobble position, is common among some 80% of MELAS patients (Goto et al., 1990; Kobayashi et al., 1990). This mt-tRNALeu A3243G mutation was initially confirmed in 5 patients with MELAS syndrome (Kirino et al., 2005). Interestingly, the A8344G mutation associated with MERRF is also located in a wobble base position, in this case in mt-tRNA^{Lys}.

The effects of the mt-tRNALeu A3243G and mt-tRNALys A8344G mutations were initially studied in cybrid cell lines (Kirino et al., 2004) followed by further characterization using mass spectrometry. Cybrid cells are created by fusion of cells that are free of mitochondria (rho 0 cells) with donor platelets, or by fusion of enucleated patient derived fibroblasts with osteosarcoma cells that lack mtDNA. These cells thus possess mtDNA from patients or controls in a control nuclear background. Mutations linked to MELAS were subsequently shown to affect the $\tau m^5 U$ modification for mt-tRNA^{Leu} and the $\tau m^5 s^2 U$ modification for mt-tRNA^{Lys} at the wobble position in the anticodon region (Yasukawa et al., 2000). These wobble position modifications are both essential for proper decoding by the mitochondrial ribosome (Kirino et al., 2004). Additional details concerning the biochemical affects of these taurine defective mutations have been recently reviewed (Suzuki et al., 2011).

Other mt-tRNA mutations associated with MELAS and MERRF phenotypes have been isolated in the gene encoding mt-tRNA^{His} (**Figure 1**). In the first reports, the mutation was found to be a heteroplasmic G12147A substitution (Melone et al., 2004; Taylor et al., 2004), and analysis of muscle biopsy samples revealed deficiency in cytochrome *c* oxidase (COX). The G12147A mutation in the D-arm of the mt-tRNA^{His} molecule would be expected to alter tRNA folding and abundance, leading to a specific decrease in the his-rich COXIII polypeptide, as well as a general decrease in mitochondrial protein synthesis. Additionally, a homoplasmic A12146G mutation was identified in another MELAS patient (Calvaruso et al., 2011). As in the previous example, an analysis of cybrid cells and patient muscle biopsy samples showed that deficiencies in various respiratory chain complexes enzymes were linked to the mt-tRNA^{His} mutation.

MITOCHONDRIAL BIOLOGY AND TISSUE SPECIFICITY OF DISEASE

Diseases related to mitochondrial tRNA mutations can manifest in very specific tissue types, leading to complex phenotypes. For example, the heart is heavily reliant on mitochondrial ATP production for proper and synchronized muscle contraction, and is thus particularly sensitive to mt-tRNA mutations. Animal models for heart failure and ischemia/reperfusion frequently display morphological changes to mitochondria that would be expected to exert negative impacts on the function of adult cardiac cells (Piquereau et al., 2013). One such tRNA-linked cardiomyopathy is the homoplasmic G12192A mt-tRNA^{His} mutation localized to the loop of the T Ψ C arm, which was initially identified in five patients (**Figure 1**) (Shin et al., 2000). Electron microscopy imaging carried out on patient cardiomyocytes showed a loss of sarcomere formation and an accumulation of mitochondria with aberrant morphology.

Mutations associated with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy have also been found in mt-tRNA^{IIe} (**Figure 1**) (Taylor et al., 2003; Hollingsworth et al., 2012). For patients carrying these A4300G and C4277T mt-tRNA^{IIe} mutations, the only symptom was hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. However, detailed immunohistochemistry and biochemical studies on the hearts of patients after transplant surgery indicated a large proportion of COX-deficient cardiomyocytes and defects in activity for respiratory chain complexes I, III, and IV (Giordano et al., 2013). Also, there appeared to be reduced expression of mt-tRNA^{IIe} in both left and right ventricle samples from two patients compared with control mttRNA^{Leu}. This suggests that the phenotype may arise from an increasing number of COX-deficient cardiomyocytes; however, the numbers of COX-deficient cells in cardiac muscle have been shown to increase with age.

In addition to the classic MELAS and MERRF cases, mutations in other mt-tRNAs are also linked to sensorineural defects. A number of reports suggest that inner ear hair cells and their connecting neuronal circuitry may be specifically affected by mt-tRNA mutations. In one report, a late onset hearing impairment in a Chinese family was linked to a T12201C mutation in the acceptor arm of mt-tRNA^{His}, with the severity of hearing impairment being linked to the degree of heteroplasmy (Figure 1) (Yan et al., 2011). For this mutation, cellular and biochemical analysis point to reduction in the levels of mt-tRNA^{His} as being the source of reduced mitochondrial translation and subsequent respiratory chain defects. Two related patients carrying a mt-tRNA^{His} inherited heteroplasmic G12183A mutation both developed sensorineural pathology, presenting with visual impairment around the average age of 9 (Crimi et al., 2003). This mt-tRNA^{His} mutation alters a highly conserved base pair in the T Ψ C arm and would most likely disrupt secondary structure. The older sibling had pigmentary retinopathy, neurosensory deafness, and some muscle atrophy and ataxia, while the younger sibling only experienced both visual and inner ear neurosensory deficits. Interestingly, histochemical analysis of muscle biopsy tissues for (COX/SDH) activity did not convincingly demonstrate a complete COX deficiency.

Like the auditory system, the visual system is similarly sensitive to mutations in mt-tRNA. For example, carriers of G12183A mutation in mt-tRNA^{His} often present with a pigmentary retinopathy that leads to photoreceptor degeneration, pigmentary



deposits in the retina, and ultimately progressive loss of vision. Specific muscles responsible for ocular movement are another target in the visual system susceptible to mt-tRNA mutations. Chronic progressive external ophthalmoplegia (CPEO) is a neuromuscular disorder characterized by the loss of extraocular muscle mobility, which results in the inability to move the eyes.

In one case report, CPEO was found to be linked to a G4308A mutation in the T-stem of mt-tRNA^{Ile}; this substitution disrupts a conserved GC base pair (**Figure 1**) (Schaller et al., 2011; Souilem et al., 2011). While there was no evidence of maternal inheritance, patient blood samples were homoplasmic for the wild type mt-tRNA^{Ile}, and muscle tissue obtained by biopsy was heteroplasmic. Analysis of the latter tissue indicated a link between the mutation and respiratory chain defects, leading to abnormal mitochondrial morphology. The G4308A substitution leads to a misfolded conformation that is likely to be incompatible with 3' end processing by tRNase Z. A G4302A mt-tRNA^{Ile} mutation located in the

variable arm was also found in a small number of CPEO patients (Berardo et al., 2010). Despite a predicted disruption of a conserved base pair in mt-tRNA^{IIe}, a muscle biopsy showed normal function of all of the respiratory chain complex proteins (Berardo et al., 2010). Of 22 pathogenic mutations observed in mt-tRNA^{IIe}, nine cause CPEO, suggesting that mt-tRNA^{IIe} is a "hot-spot" for CPEO. Most reported CPEO cases involving MTTI mutations are heteroplasmic and restricted to skeletal muscle. MTTI mutations exist that are primarily homoplasmic and can be found in various tissue types. The molecular rationale for the tight linkage between mt-tRNA^{IIe} and CPEO provides a fascinating research question for future study.

In some systems, a tRNA-linked disorder that is primarily a sensory defect may exert negative effects on additional brain and motor neuron functions. One recent study reported that the pathogenic G14685A mutation in mt-tRNA^{Glu} affects both visual and hearing systems (Lax et al., 2013). In this case, the 7 year old affected subject suffered from cataracts, peripheral retinal degeneration, and pigmentary retinopathy. This was followed by bilateral sensorineural hearing impairment as an adolescent. By the age of 40, the patient developed symptoms of spastic paraparesis, ataxia, slurred speech, and incontinence. Subsequent immunohistochemical (IHC) and biochemical analysis of muscle and brain tissues collected post mortem indicated respiratory chain complex I deficiencies. Additional evidence suggested that this heteroplasmic mutation arose sporadically, with brain regions exhibiting the highest degree of heteroplasmy. The mutation is located in the T Ψ C arm and substitutes a conserved G-C Watson-Crick base pair; detailed functional studies have vet to be conducted. To date there are 12 mutations in the MTTE gene encoding mt-tRNA^{Glu} that cause mitochondrial pathologies with very different phenotypes, such as encephalomyopathy, retinopathy, MELAS, and Leber's hereditary optic neuropathy (LHON).

MITOCHONDRIA IN NEUROBIOLOGY AND ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATIONS FOR MITOCHONDRIAL DISEASE PHENOTYPES

While most cells are roughly spherical structures with diameters in the range of micrometers to tens of micrometers, neurons possess irregular structures with long dendrites and axons that extend out from the soma at distances from millimeters to a meter. The synapse has the highest energy consumption of the neuron, and mitochondria are responsible for meeting this major energy demand. Among the important ATP dependent processes occurring at the synapse are vesicle exocytosis and endocytosis, maintenance of membrane potential by ion channels, and actin rearrangements of the cytoskeleton. Accordingly, synaptic mitochondria may be docked or anchored in these specialized compartments in order to execute these essential functions (Court and Coleman, 2012; Sheng and Cai, 2012). Owing to their ability to be transported along filamentous structures in the cell, mitochondria are motile and can be readily localized at the synapses and other high demand areas. Additionally, mitochondria are dynamic and can undergo major structural changes such as fusion, fission, and fragmentation.

Neuronal synapses are rich in mitochondria, both at the presynaptic and postsynaptic nerve terminals, and recent work suggests that there may be differences between synaptic vs non-synaptic mitochondria (Gillingwater and Wishart, 2013). In one model, specialized synaptic mitochondria may be synthesized at the soma and then trafficked to the synapse, where they adapt to the specific demands of this specialized environment. Alternatively, synapse specific mitochondria may be generated, selected for, and then trafficked to the synapse. Other considerations are that the mitochondria at the synapse are "older" and therefore not as efficient or that synaptic mitochondria may be synthesized in axons and would be closer to their destination at the axonal synapse (Amiri and Hollenbeck, 2008; Yarana et al., 2012).

These issues bear on the investigation of the above described neurobiological phenotypes, where defects arising from mttRNA mutation or mt-ARS mutations cause losses of mitochondrial function that are concentrated at the synapse (Baloh, 2008). While past work underscores how the altered structure, expression, or lack of tRNA modifications resulting from mt-tRNA mutations may disrupt protein translation (Florentz et al., 2003), the apparent tissue specific phenotype of many of these pathophysiological mutations remains to be elucidated. For diseases that affect basic neurobiologial functions, mtDNA tRNA mutations may affect processes beyond mitochondrial translation, including the mitochondrial inner membrane (MIM) lipid environment, dynamics, maintenance, and replication machinery (Dimauro et al., 2013). Mutations in mitofusin, a protein responsible for mitochondrial fusion and fission, cause the peripheral neuropathy disease Charcot-Marie-Tooth (CMT) type 2A (Zuchner et al., 2004; Kijima et al., 2005). In a zebrafish model, the loss-of-function mutation demonstrated that indeed transport of mitochondria along the axon is disrupted and may be the contributing factor in the CMT2A phenotype (Chapman et al., 2013). The issue of how mitochondrial movement may be regulated, and the role of the other essential factors in that process is discussed in detail elsewhere (Schwarz, 2013). Clearly, how specific mt-tRNA mutations affect biological functions of mitochondria is only beginning to be understood, and will remain a fertile area of research for the foreseeable future.

FUTURE MITOCHONDRIAL RESEARCH STRATEGIES AND POTENTIAL THERAPEUTIC APPROACHES

Therapeutic progress toward cures for mitochondrial diseases has been slowed by the complex genetics associated with mitochondrial inheritance. For example, a mother with a low degree of heteroplasmy in her mtDNA can transmit a higher level of heteroplasmy to her children, a process referred to as a "mitochondrial bottleneck." Current efforts to better understand mitochondrial inheritance and the pathophysiology of mt-tRNA mutations are benefitting from both traditional systems like cybrid cells, and from induced pluripotent stem cell (iPScs) technology. iPScs can be challenging to develop if only specific tissues of affected patients carry the mt-tRNA mutation. Mito-mouse models have been generated to recapitulate pathogenic mitochondrial DNA mutations (Inoue et al., 2000). Recently this group of investigators generated a MERRF mito-mouse model incorporating the mttRNA^{Lys} G7731A mutation (Shimizu et al., 2014), arguably the first of many such models. The animals generated carried varying levels of the mt-tRNALys G7731A mutation, and these levels correlated with the severity of the disease phenotype. Selection of oocytes that carried low amounts of the mt-tRNALys G7731A mtDNA mutation produced animals that appeared to be phenotypically normal. This work highlights the promise of this technology in generating future mt-tRNA disease models.

Other therapeutic options under active investigation for mitochondrial diseases include cytoplasmic transfer, gene therapy, or even eliminating dysfunctional mitochondria by altering mitochondrial dynamics to favor quality control mechanisms (Dimauro et al., 2013). In yeast, overexpression of the corresponding mt-ARS provides a rescue mechanism for pathological mt-tRNA mutations (De Luca et al., 2006). In human cells that model MELAS, the mt-tRNA^{Leu} A3243G mutation can be rescued by over expression of mt-LeuRS (Park et al., 2008; Li and Guan, 2010). Furthermore, in yeast models of some mt-tRNA^{Leu}, mt-tRNA^{Val}, and mt-tRNA^{Ile} mutations, overexpression of the carboxy-terminal domain of mt-LeuRS is sufficient to rescue the respiratory chain defects (Francisci et al., 2011). In human cybrid cells overexpression of mt-LeuRS, mt-ValRS, and mt-IleRS has been shown to rescue pathogenic mutations in mt-tRNA^{Ile} (Perli et al., 2014). How the mt-LeuRS C-terminal domain is able to specifically rescue the defect associated with the mutant tRNA remains to be determined, but may involve direct interactions with mt-tRNA^{Ile} (Perli et al., 2014).

Mitochondrial gene replacement offers one of the most dramatic routes to treatment of mitochondrial disease. A recent noteworthy experiment featured the transfer of the nuclear genome from a primate oocyte to an enucleated oocyte of another primate containing only mitochondria (Tachibana et al., 2009). The oocytes generated contained the nuclear genome from two parents but mitochondria from the donor; when implanted in pseudopregnant mother they were able to successfully produce healthy rhesus macaque offspring. Not surprisingly, human oocyte mitochondrial genome transfer is under way (Amato et al., 2014), although research in the U.S. likely to lag relative to Europe, owing to U.S. funding restrictions on human embryo research. While this three-parent in vitro fertilization shows tremendous promise as means to produce a child without mitochondrial DNA mutations that retains both parents' nuclear genome, the approach does not address curing existing patients with mitochondrial disease, or treating mtDNA mutations that arise spontaneously.

CYTOPLASMIC tRNA CELLULAR INTERACTIONS AND DISEASE

DISEASE-ASSOCIATED CYTOPLASMIC tRNA MUTATIONS ARE NOT OBSERVED

The human genome contains approximately 500 tRNA genes, including gene duplications (Lowe and Eddy, 1997; Schattner et al., 2005). However, there are only 61 anticodons specified by the triplet code, so many of these identified tRNA genes share the same anticodon but differ in sequence elsewhere. Remarkably, a human disease that is linked to a mutation in a cytoplasmic tRNA has not yet been reported, and this may be a direct result of the presence of multiple paralogs of the gene encoding each cytoplasmic tRNA molecule. The tRNA for each anticodon, save a single gene for tRNA^{Tyr} (ATA), is encoded by as many as 32 paralogous genes (Chan and Lowe, 2009). The process of generating each mature tRNA is a complex sequence of events that includes gene transcription, splicing, 5' and 3' end processing, CCA addition, transportation, and aminoacylation (Hopper et al., 2010). Errors in this sequence arising from mutations in the genes encoding the enzymes that bind and process cytoplasmic tRNA molecules are known, and account for a number of reported diseases. Furthermore, a growing body of literature suggests that tRNA molecules possess previously unrecognized biological functions in eukaryotes which are not fully understood (Phizicky and Hopper, 2010), and that may be perturbed by disruptions of the tRNA-protein interaction. Some of these biological functions include regulation of cellular apoptosis (Mei et al., 2010; Hou and Yang, 2013). See Figure 2 for a schematic overview.

ROLE FOR tRNA MODIFICATIONS IN DISEASE

The tRNAs found in higher eukaryotic species are more highly modified relative to prokaryotic and viral tRNA, a distinction that

may have arisen from multiple selection pressures. Consequently, various human diseases can arise from improperly modified tRNA molecules (Torres et al., 2014). One element may have been to facilitate immune system discrimination of foreign tRNAs from self-tRNAs (Hanada et al., 2013), discussed below. Modifications of tRNA molecules can serve to support proper folding or facilitate recognition by other interacting enzymes. Classically, impaired modification of mt-tRNA has been associated with reduced recognition by ARS. More recently, methylation of tRNA has been linked to immune response stimulation (or suppression), via toll-like receptor 7 (TLR7) (Kariko et al., 2005; Robbins et al., 2007; Hamm et al., 2010; Jockel et al., 2012). Toll-like receptor activation initiates intracellular signaling events in immune cells by stimulating the release of cytokine type I interferon (IFN). Immune cell TLR7 stimulation can also occur when either viral or bacterial single-stranded RNA or siRNA binds to the receptor in the endosome or cytoplasm (Blasius and Beutler, 2010) and results in IFN production (Takeuchi and Akira, 2010). Purified tRNA from various bacterial species was used to test the immunostimulatory potential in human peripheral blood mononucleated cells (PBMCs). Interestingly, tRNA purified from T.thermophilus and E.coli did not stimulate IFN-a production from PBMCs. Differences in specific tRNA methylation sites between bacterial species may thus be responsible for loss of TLR7 stimulation and IFN-a production. Isolated tRNA from E.coli species lacking a specific tRNA-methyltransferase, the trmH encoded Gm18-2'-O-methyltransferase, acquired immunostimulation of TLR7. Curiously, only 7 of 42 tRNAs are Gm18 modified in E.coli (Sprinzl and Vassilenko, 2005). Modified Gm18 tRNA mediated inhibition of TLR7 stimulation in mouse FLT3Linduced dendritic cells (DCs) occurs in a dose dependent manner. Also, Gm18-modified tRNA can inhibit viral influenza a virus (IAV) TLR7 stimulation. These experiments demonstrate that Gm18-modified tRNA can act as an antagonist against TLR7mediated production of IFN- α . In a similar investigation, the 2'-O-methylated Gm18 of yeast tRNA^{Phe} and tRNA^{Tyr} was also found to exert a suppressive affect on the immune response via TLR7 antagonism (Gehrig et al., 2012).

tRNA SPLICING AND DISEASE

After transcription by polymerase III, many pre-tRNA molecules undergo post-transcriptional alterations to produce a mature product that can be utilized for translation. Initial transcripts are cleaved by the nucleases tRNaseZ and RNase P, which act to form the 3' and 5' ends, respectively. Additional modifications are made in the nucleus before transportation into the cytoplasm where, if necessary, alternative splicing can occur. Overall, RNA editing and alternative splicing is highest in the brain compared with other tissues (Norris and Calarco, 2012; Tariq and Jantsch, 2012). In humans the spleen has the highest expression of tRNA followed by the brain (Dittmar et al., 2006). As tRNA splicing has an important role in the central nervous system (CNS) it is not surprising that mutations in the splicing machinery can cause specific CNS diseases. In the human genome there are 32 intron-containing tRNAs (Lowe and Eddy, 1997).

Pontocerebellar hypoplasia (PCH) is a heterogeneous neurodegenerative disorder characterized by defective growth,



development, and function of the brainstem and cerebellum. Symptoms of PCH include microcephaly, seizures, hypotonia, hyper-reflexia, and optic atrophy. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of patient brain tissue shows immature development of the cerebellum as well as mild structural defects (Budde et al., 2008). Mutations in the tRNA-splicing endonuclease complex (TSEN2, TSEN15, TSEN34, and TSEN54) were identified in multiple PCH2 and PCH4 patients. An A307S substitution in TSEN54 that is predicted to be non-catalytic appeared in multiple cases (Budde et al., 2008). Notably, TSEN54 is highly expressed in the pons and cerebellar dentate regions of the developing brain (Budde et al., 2008). Two mutations that encode Y309C and R58W substitutions in the catalytic subunits TSEN2 and TSEN34, respectively, were also identified. As these are unlikely to completely abolish endonuclease activity, altered tRNA splicing may not be the sole cause of the phenotype. Alternatively, these might compromise mRNA 3' end formation or a function of TSEN54

other than tRNA editing, leading to insufficient protein synthesis of specific brain regions during development.

A mutation in a kinase that associates with the TSEN splicing complex affects tRNA processing and is embryonic lethal. Cleavage and polyadenylation factor I subunit 1 (CLP1) is a mammalian RNA kinase capable of phosphorylating the 5'hydroxyl of double and single stranded RNA and has a role in mRNA 3'-end formation (Weitzer and Martinez, 2007; Ramirez et al., 2008). CLP1 associates with the TSEN splicing complex and a role for CLP1 in tRNA processing has recently been demonstrated (Hanada et al., 2013). A mouse model for a CLP1 mutation that abolishes kinase activity was used to examine the phenotypic outcome. Neonatal death of the CPL1 mutant mice was a consequence of respiratory failure and non-viable mouse pups showed a substantial loss of motor neurons. An accumulation of novel tyrosine tRNA fragments derived from pre-tRNA was observed in the brain, muscle, kidney, heart, and liver, while mature tRNA levels remained normal. Recent initial biochemical characterization of CLP1 as part of the TSEN tRNA splicing complex has demonstrated that ATP is not required for CLP1 binding to the complex but CLP1 ATP hydrolysis is required for proper pre-tRNA cleavage (Hanada et al., 2013). Also, efficient pre-tRNA cleavage is protein phosphorylation dependent.

tRNA FRAGMENTS AND DISEASE

As shown above, tRNA fragments can be associated with disease (Fu et al., 2009). Angiogenin is a ribonuclease that is essential in blood vessel growth and development (Shapiro and Vallee, 1987) and has a role in angiogenesis (Shapiro and Vallee, 1989). Interestingly, in vitro full length tRNAs were shown to be substrates for angiogenin (Saxena et al., 1992). Under a broad range of stresses that include heat shock, hypoxia, hypothermia, and nutritional deprivation stress-induced small RNAs (tiRNAs) of 30-40 nucleotides can be generated by cleavage in the anticodon region (Fu et al., 2009). Mature tRNA fragments derived from tRNA^{Gly}, tRNA^{Glu}, tRNA^{Val}, tRNA^{Arg} have been identified in human fetal liver, mouse liver and heart tissue, and various cells lines. Significantly, reduction in angiogenin levels by siRNA treatment has been shown to decrease the accumulation of tRNA^{Val} halves under stress conditions. The production of tRNA halves appears to cause translational arrest by a mechanism distinct from the better-known eIF2a dependent phosphorylation (Yamasaki et al., 2009). Of further interest, only the 5' generated fragments are associated with translational arrest, and 5'-tiRNA^{Cys} and 5'tiRNA^{Ala} are the most potent repressors of translation relative to other 5'-tiRNAs (Ivanov et al., 2011). The molecular mechanism of tiRNA translational repression has been linked to displacement of eIFG/A from mRNA. This proposed translational repression mechanism in mammalian cells involves the formation of a tiRNA and protein Y box binding protein 1 (YB-1) complex that associates with m⁷G cap of mRNA to inhibit eIFG/A from initiating translation (Ivanov et al., 2011).

tRNA BINDING PROTEINS DURING CELLULAR STRESS CAUSE DISEASE

Translation in eukaryotes can be attenuated in response to diverse environmental stresses, including nutrient deprivation, iron limitation, protein export blockage, viral infection, UV irradiation and others. The physiological responses to these environmental challenges are coordinated by members of the eIF2α kinase family, which possess the ability to phosphorylate $eIF2\alpha$ when activated (Wek et al., 2006; Baird and Wek, 2012). The GCN2 kinase serves as the principal response to nutrient limitation, and reveals a special role for tRNA in its regulatory mechanism (Harding et al., 2003; Wek et al., 2006). In response to amino acid starvation, uncharged tRNA specifically activates GCN2, by virtue of binding to a HisRS-like domain. GCN2 is a serine-threonine kinase and, in addition to its kinase domain, also contains a HisRS like domain(Wek et al., 1995). The binding of tRNA to the HisRS-like domain induces a conformational change that subsequently activates the kinase domain (Dong et al., 2000; Qiu et al., 2001).

Animals lack the ability to synthesize 9 of the canonical 20 amino acids found in proteins. When an animal consumes an

amino acid imbalanced diet, the deficiency in one or more essential amino acids decreases the concentration of essential amino acids in the blood stream. This elicits a short-term response, mainly controlled by the brain, and a longer-term response, largely controlled by the liver. The short term and brain specific response is based on special properties of the anterior piriform cortex, a region of the brain that functions in olfaction (Hao et al., 2005). GCN2 specifically expressed in this region acts as a special sensor of indispensible (essential) amino acids, regulating feeding behavior through its control of activating transcription factor 4 (ATF-4), the mammalian homolog of GCN4 (Harding et al., 2000; Hao et al., 2005). When rats are fed an IAAdeficient diet, the buildup of uncharged tRNA leads to activation of GCN2 (Rudell et al., 2011). This causes an adverse response, such that the animals cease feeding and search for new food sources that have a complete panel of essential amino acids. The neural circuitry for this behavior is only partially understood, but is being actively investigated (Maurin et al., 2014).

In addition to nutrient deprivation, the expression of GCN2 in the brain has recently been shown to participate in the control of long-term potentiation (LTP), a major component of synaptic plasticity associated with the enhancement of signaling between neurons. The late phase of LTP (L-LTP) is dependent on gene expression and de novo protein synthesis. A key factor in long term memory in general and LTP in particular is the repressor of cAMP responsive element binding protein (CREB), which plays a direct role in L-LTP, learning, and memory (Costa-Mattioli et al., 2005). Notably, CREB expression is negatively regulated by ATF4, which is controlled by GCN2. CREB, ATF4, and GCN2 establish a circuit in which perturbations of translational initiation lead to changes in both electrophysiological measurements of LTP and altered performance in quantitative tests of memory, such as the Morris water maze test. The expression of ATF4 is down regulated in GCN2^{-/-} animals, resulting in increased spatial memory after weak training, but poorer spatial memory after extensive training (Costa-Mattioli et al., 2005). Notably, the switch from short term to long synaptic plasticity and memory is dependent on eIF2a phosphorylation, which is a direct consequence of GCN2 activity (Costa-Mattioli et al., 2007). Collectively, these observations underscore the role of protein synthesis control in the establishment of memory. GCN2 also serves a function in proper neurobiology development and is down regulated by inhibition from imprinted and ancient gene protein homolog (IMPACT) in order to promote protein synthesis and neurite growth (Pereira et al., 2005; Roffe et al., 2013).

Recently, two reports linked inherited mutations in the gene encoding GCN2, *EIF2AK4*, with complex phenotypes arising from vascular pathology. In the first report (Eyries et al., 2014), numerous mutations in the *EIF2AK4* gene were linked to pulmonary veno-occlusive disease (PVOD), which is characterized by obstruction and blockage of pulmonary veins by fibrous, collagen rich tissue. PVOD is characterized by low diffusing capacity for carbon monoxide, septal line and lymph node enlargement, as well as occult alveolar hemorrhage (Eyries et al., 2014). By whole-exome sequencing, subjects in 13 families with the disease were found to possess multiple mutations in the *EIF2AK4* gene, in both the homozygous and compound heterozygous state (Eyries et al., 2014). Age of onset in patients varied widely from 10 to 50 years of age. Most mutations encoded stop codons in the GCN2 open reading frame, but at least two encoded missense mutations that mapped to conserved residues in the kinase domain.

In a second study (Best et al., 2014), inherited and sporadic mutations in the EIF2AK4 gene were linked to pulmonary capillary hemangiomatosis (PCH), a progressive and eventually fatal disease characterized by capillary proliferation and invasion into alveolar septa and the bronchial wall. Symptoms included pulmonary hypertension, fatigue, cough, weight loss, and dyspnea. Exome sequencing between related individuals of patients with PCH determined that mutations in EIFAK4 are responsible for the autosomal recessive PCH phenotype. Both affected siblings carried the same compound heterozygous mutations for which the parents were heterozygous carries, a nonsense 3438C>T (Arg1150X) mutation and frameshift 1153dupG (Val385fs) mutation (Best et al., 2014). Owing to clinical similiarity and related immunohistochemistry, PVOD is grouped with PCH, (Langleben et al., 1988; Humbert et al., 1998) and it is likely that these are different clinical description of the same basic pathophysiology. There is insufficient information to rationalize the connection between GCN2 and lung vascular pathophysiology, but an interesting hypothesis is that mutations that compromise GCN2 stress response function may expose pulmonary environment to more oxidative stress, which may predispose both mouse pulmonary hypertensive models and human subjects to pulmonary hypertension (Eyries et al., 2014).

Many studies have demonstrated the importance of GCN2 regulation during cellular stress (Grallert and Boye, 2013). In addition to its link in the pulmonary diseases described above GCN2 has an essential role in supporting tumor cell growth (Wek and Staschke, 2010) and proliferation (Ye et al., 2010, 2012). An alternative hypothesis is that GCN2 interacts with SMAD4 and SMAD1 family members, which have been implicated in signaling pathways associated with bone morphogenic protein (BMP) signaling, which is also genetically linked to pulmonary arterial hypertensive disorders (West et al., 2004). As whole genome sequencing becomes more affordable and widely available, it is likely that other clinical manifestations will be linked to altered GCN2 function, perhaps even with the neurobiological context suggested by the previously described work on nutrition sensing and LTP formation.

THE MOLECULAR BIOLOGY OF TRANSLATION IN NEURONS AND PROTEIN SYNTHETIC MACHINERY

Neurons possess distinct compartments, axons and dendrites collectively referred to as neurites, which are packed with specific sets of proteins to facilitate neuronal function. Positioning mRNA in these specialized compartments for protein synthesis allows neurons to remodel neurites during outgrowth, regulate synthesis of receptor subunits altering the synaptic proteome, and prevent uncontrolled recurring excitation (Turrigiano, 2011; Penn et al., 2013). A number of significant neurodegenerative diseases, such as amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), fragile X tremor ataxia syndrome (FXTAS), and myotonic dystrophy apparently involve dysfunctional messenger RNA (mRNA) localization (Ramaswami et al., 2013). Neuronal transport of mRNA from the soma to axons and dendrites is in part dependent on a family of proteins referred to as RNA binding proteins (RBPs) (Darnell, 2013). Localized translation can provide efficient increases in local protein concentrations, and regulate both immediate and delayed responses in neurons (Holt and Schuman, 2013). As our understanding of localized translation grows to include mRNA metabolism and spatial regulation, our understanding of how the other components of protein synthesis machinery are trafficked and spatially regulated in neurons should also expand.

In most cells, tRNA comprises approximately 12% of total RNA (Pace et al., 1970). Currently, tRNA molecules undergo selective transportation and localization in order for accurate protein synthesis to occur in eukaryotic cells. After transcription by RNA Pol III some tRNA molecules can be cleaved and posttranscriptionally modified in the nucleus (Hopper and Phizicky, 2003) before being transported into the cytoplasm for protein synthesis. Cytoplasmic tRNA can undergo retrograde transportation from the cytoplasm back into the nucleus (Rubio and Hopper, 2011). This mechanism may help control the rate of protein synthesis by sequestering tRNA into the nucleus during times of cellular stress. Evidence of nuclear accumulation of tRNA has been shown to occur within 15 min after glucose starvation (Whitney et al., 2007). Further indication shows that this appears to be linked to PKA activation and signaling but GCN2 pathway independent (Whitney et al., 2007). Amino acid starvation can also drive accumulation of tRNA into the nucleus (Shaheen and Hopper, 2005).

Given the emerging role of tRNA localization, it may be noteworthy that the interferon-induced tetratricopeptide repeat (IFIT) protein IFIT5 was recently shown to have tRNA binding properties (Katibah et al., 2013). IFIT5 was shown to bind RNA with 5'phosphate caps including initiator methionine iMet, tRNA^{Val}, tRNA^{Gly}, and tRNA^{Lys}. IFIT5 appears to coimmunoprecipitate with shorter fragments rather than full-length tRNA molecules, suggesting it may help target tRNAs for degradation. IFIT5 can also bind actin, and localize to the cellular surface. In the same way that mRNA is preferentially trafficked to dendrites and axons (Wang et al., 2007), tRNA molecules may also be recruited to active sites of localized translation, setting the stage for translation to occur. Recently, single molecule studies using fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) showed that β-actin mRNA and ribosome mobilization to axons is stimulus induced, and that the β -actin mRNA becomes more available to translation machinery after synaptic stimulation (Buxbaum et al., 2014). This same group later developed a transgenic mouse with in vivo labeled β-actin mRNA (Park et al., 2014). β-actin mRNA appeared as part of granules and often multiple copies of the transcript were found in granules localized to dendrites. The movement of endogenous β-actin mRNA containing granules from the soma to the synapse was subsequently estimated to occur at a speed of 1.3 µm/s (Park et al., 2014). Comparably, IFT5 actin localization and tRNA binding activity could serve as a potential mechanism to inhibit localized translation, but IFIT5 localization to actin structures was shown to also be independent of RNA binding. However, there may still be potential mechanisms in

place to spatially regulate tRNA localization within neurons that remain to be elucidated.

AMINOACYL-tRNA SYNTHETASES AND DISEASE OVERVIEW OF AMINOACYL-tRNA SYNTHETASES

Aminoacyl-tRNA synthetases (ARSs) catalyze the attachment of amino acids to cognate tRNA, a key reaction that contributes to the accuracy of protein synthesis. ARSs can be divided into two distinct classes (Carter, 1993; Ibba and Soll, 2001, 2004). Class I enzymes are, with the exception of TyrRS and TrpRS, principally monomeric, contain a Rossman fold catalytic domain, and aminoacylate the 2' hydroxyl of the terminal adenosine of their cognate tRNAs. Class II ARSs typically form dimers and tetramers, and feature a catalytic domain organized around an antiparallel beta sheet fold flanked by alpha helices. The class II enzymes couple the amino acid moiety to the 3' hydroxyl of the tRNA's terminal adenosine. A typical animal cell contains 37 cytoplasmic and mitochondrial synthetase genes, all of which are encoded on nuclear chromosomes. Mitochondrial synthetases are given the same name as cytosolic synthetases, appended with the numeral 2 (e.g., HARS and HARS2). Collectively, they ensure accurate and efficient protein synthesis under a broad range of conditions and, significantly in multiple cellular compartments.

Pathological mutations have been identified in 10 of the genes encoding mt-ARSs (Schwenzer et al., 2013). The first of these

Table 2 | Aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase mutations associated with neurological disease.

was identified in the *DARS2* gene, which encodes mitochondrial aspartyl-tRNA synthetase (Scheper et al., 2007). Currently, pathological mutations that cause human diseases have been identified in ten genes that encode cytoplasmic tRNA-synthetases. The first cytoplasmic ARS mutation associated with a human disease, Charcot-Marie-Tooth, was discovered in glycyl-tRNA synthetase (GARS) (Antonellis et al., 2003). Here, we will focus specifically on aminoacyl tRNA synthetase mutations that affect the peripheral nervous system, sensorineural tissues, and the central nervous system (**Table 2**).

AMINOACYL-tRNA SYNTHETASES AND PERIPHERAL NEUROPATHIES

Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease (CMT) is a hereditary peripheral neuropathy that manifests as progressive degeneration of distal motor and sensory neurons, leading ultimately to muscle weakness and atrophy of the legs and hands/arms. The various forms of CMT can be further categorized into either demyelinating type 1, which features defects in the myelin sheath surrounding peripheral nerves, and axonal type 2, which results in abnormalities in the axon of the peripheral nerve. Nerve conduction studies and electromyography (EMG) examination of patients with CMT are typically abnormal. While more than 80 genes have been linked to CMT (Timmerman et al., 2014), 30 mutations in ARS genes are associated with the intermediate and axonal autosomal dominant and intermediate autosomal recessive forms of the disease (Yao and Fox, 2013).

ARS_Protein OMIM#	Phenotype OMIM#	Location of mutation(s) in protein structure	Phenotype	References
KARS_601421	613641	Anti-codon binding domain Active site	CMTRIB	McLaughlin et al., 2010
GARS_600287	601472 600794	Dimer interface	CMT2D DHMN5A	Antonellis et al., 2003
AARS_601065	613287	Editing domain	CMT2N	Latour et al., 2010
YARS_603623	608323	Catalytic domain	DI-CMTC	Jordanova et al., 2006
HARS_142810	NC	Dimer interface	CMT	Vester et al., 2013
HARS2_600783	614926	Catalytic domain	Perrault syndrome	Pierce et al., 2011
LARS2_604544	615300	Catalytic domain C-terminal domain	Perrault syndrome	Pierce et al., 2013
HARS_142810	614504	Anti-codon binding domain	Usher syndrome IIIB	Puffenberger et al., 2012
KARS_601421	613916	Anti-codon binding domain	ARNSHI	Santos-Cortez et al., 201
DARS_603084	615281	Catalytic domain	HBSL	Taft et al., 2013
DARS2_610956	611105	Multiple	LBSL	Scheper et al., 2007
RARS2_611524	611523	Lacking exon 2	PCH	Edvardson et al., 2007
QARS_603727	ONA	Catalytic domain N-terminal domain	МСРН	Zhang et al., 2014
MARS_156560	NC	C-terminal domain N-terminal domain	HSP	Novarino et al., 2014
EARS2_612799	614924	Multiple	LTBL	Steenweg et al., 2012
AIMP2_600859	168600	na	Parkinson's disease	Lee et al., 2013

NC, not confirmed; ONA, OMIM not assigned; Na, not applicable; CMT, Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease; DHMN5A, distal spinal muscular atrophy type V; ARNSHI, autosomal recessive non-syndromic hearing impairment; HBSL, hypomyelination with brain stem and spinal cord involvement and leg spasticity; LBSL, leukoencephalopathy with brainstem and spinal cord involvement and elevated lactate; PCH, pontocerebellar hypoplasia; MCPH, autosomal recessive primary microcephaly; HSP, hereditary spastic paraplegia; LTBL, leukoencephalopathy with thalamus and brainstem involvement and high lactate.

The first cytoplasmic ARS to be linked to CMT was glycyltRNA synthetase (GARS) (Antonellis et al., 2003). Since that initial report, mutations in the genes encoding four additional aminoacyl-tRNA synthetases have been linked to CMT (Wallen and Antonellis, 2013). Mutations in the GARS gene can cause both CMT2D and distal spinal muscular atrophy type V (DHMN5A) (Antonellis et al., 2003). It is likely significant that the synthetase enzyme encoded by the GARS gene is obliged to function in both the cytoplasmic and mitochondrial compartments. Similar to other class II enzymes, GARS is an obligate dimer, and several of the mutant substitutions linked to CMT alter residues located at the dimer interface (Xie et al., 2007). Some of these have been shown to either weaken or strengthen dimer formation (Xie et al., 2007). Additionally, it may also be relevant that wild type protein forms punctate structures (granules) in neurite projections, a property lost in some of the GARS CMT mutants (Antonellis et al., 2006). Other in vitro models of CMT GARS mutations also demonstrate a defect in localization to neurite like projections in a transfected neuroblastoma cell line (Nangle et al., 2007). It is not clear whether the phenotype is related solely to the cytoplasmic or mitochondrial distribution of GARS, or both. However, cytoplasmic ARS gene mutations associated with peripheral neuropathies (Wallen and Antonellis, 2013) indicate that dysfunctional mitochondrial protein translation is not the primary cause of these phenotypes.

A unique Drosophila model was created to examine the effects of the GARS CMT2D mutation on two different types of neurons, olfactory projection neurons and mushroom body y neurons (Chihara et al., 2007). These represent two different CNS neuron populations and differ in development, morphology, and circuitry. The olfactory projection neurons showed severe defects in dendritic morphology but few axonal defects. However, mushroom body γ neurons had defects in both axon and dendritic morphology. Interestingly, as GARS is cytoplasmic and mitochondrial, individual disruption of cytoplasmic protein synthesis caused large defects in axonal and dendritic nerve end branching, while disruption of mitochondrial protein synthesis led to more dendritic nerve end branching than axonal. The Drosophila GARS mutations could be rescued by expression of human WT GARS. However, CMT2D mutations E71G and L129P could not rescue the defective neuronal projections and hence are loss of function mutations.

Mouse models of GARS CMT mutations have shed some light on the possible pathological mechanism for which ARSs can cause peripheral neuropathy. Interestingly, there did not appear to be significant mislocalization of GARS protein or change in GARS granule formation in the CMT2D mouse model, $GARS^{Nmf294/+}$ (Stum et al., 2011). The $GARS^{Nmf294/+}$ mouse model of CMT2D also showed defects in the neuromuscular junction (NMJ), reduced axon diameter, and sensory and peripheral axonal loss but no myelination defects. Importantly, this mutation does not cause a substantial loss of primary aminoacylation function (Seburn et al., 2006). More recent studies of $GARS^{Nmf294/+}$ mice have shown that peripheral neuropathy is not caused by reduced neuronal connectivity to distal muscle fibers but that defects and denervation commonly observed at

NMJs corresponds to inappropriate maturation process at distal muscle fibers (Sleigh et al., 2014).

The cytoplasmic tyrosyl-tRNA synthetase (YARS) is also linked to CMT. In particular, the mutant substitutions G41R and E196K, and deletion Δ 153–156, are associated with dominant intermediate Charcot-Marie-Tooth C (DI-CMTC) (Jordanova et al., 2006). While the G41R and Δ 153–156 mutations demonstrated severe catalytic defects, the E196 mutant was more active, suggesting that canonical activity defects are not responsible for the disease phenotype (Froelich and First, 2011). Furthermore, mutations are not found in domains responsible for previously reported non-canonical functions such as the cytokine activity of YARS (Wakasugi and Schimmel, 1999), suggesting that the CMT pathogenic substitutions may not be associated with YARS noncanonical activities. The mutated YARS enzyme exhibits stability in vivo that is comparable to the wild type enzyme (Froelich and First, 2011), but may be subject to a similar tendency to cellular mislocalization in neuroblastoma cells lines that was seen with GARS (Jordanova et al., 2006).

The bifunctional (cvtoplasmic and mitochondrial) lysyl-tRNA synthetase (KARS) represents another targeted gene in CMT. One interesting CMT patient was found to be a compound heterozygote with mutations encoding both a L133H missense and a Y173SX7-frame shift mutation (McLaughlin et al., 2010). Both mutations localize to the anticodon-binding domain, however the Y173SX7-frame shift likely results in complete loss of the catalytic domain. The L113H catalytic analysis results showed a reduction in aminoacylation to levels below 25% of wild type. In addition to peripheral neuropathy, a behavioral pathology was observed in this subject. KARS is also part of the multi-synthetase complex (MSC) and can exist as either a dimer or tetramer. KARS has additional non-canonical functions involved in signaling, cell migration, and viral HIV infection, some of which are activated by post-translational modification (Motzik et al., 2013). Mitogenactivated kinase (MAPK) phosphorylation induces release of one dimer from the MSC for translocation into the nuclease, while the other dimer remains with the MSC to continue protein synthesis (Ofir-Birin et al., 2013).

Another well characterized tRNA synthetase associated with hereditary motor neuropathy is the cytosolic alanyl-tRNA synthetase (AARS). In an earlier study, characterization of the mouse strain AARSsti (or "sticky" mouse) with uncharacteristic CMT phenotype, a progressive neurogeneration and a coat defect, suggested a link between these properties and an editing defect in AARS (Lee et al., 2006; Latour et al., 2010). Phenotypically, the AARSsti mice have significant Purkinje cell loss and ubiquitin inclusions suggestive of protein misfolding that are absent in GARS^{Nmf294/+} mice (Stum et al., 2011). Another genetic investigation of AARS CMT2N subjects in an Australian family showed additional symptoms that included sensorineural deafness (McLaughlin et al., 2012). An attractive hypothesis is that the protein misfolding is a direct consequence of mistranslation originating from the misacylation of tRNA^{Ala} with serine instead of alanine (Guo et al., 2009).

Mutations in ARS genes have also been linked to non-CMT peripheral neuropathies. Recently, a cytoplasmic histidyl-tRNA synthetase (HARS) heterozygous mutation, R137Q, was found in

a 54-year-old patient with peripheral neuropathy (Vester et al., 2013). In yeast, the mutation encoded a loss of function substitution in HARS, and the transfected mutant HARS gene failed to support growth. When introduced in C. elegans, the mutant HARS gene bearing the R137Q mutation caused aberrant motor neuron axonal growth and a progressive loss of motor coordination. In a fashion reminiscent of the some of the GARS-linked CMT mutants, the R137Q substitution eliminates a salt bridge at the dimer interface with D64 of the opposite monomer (Xu et al., 2012). This provides one scenario by which the R137Q substitution could bring about a loss of function, and promote the peripheral neuropathy phenotype. However, the existence of a heterozygous asymptomatic carrier with the same mutation suggests that the genetics of the system are not straightforward, and may be confounded by incomplete penetrance effects. On a related note, patients with late-onset CMT2 were identified with mutations in the methionyl-tRNA synthetase (MARS) gene (Gonzalez et al., 2013). The mutation affects a highly conserved arginine residue, R618C, that forms a salt-bridge interaction at the catalytic and anticodon-binding domain interface. Much like with R137Q HARS, the R618C MARS phenotype is observed to have a late onset, and does not show complete penetrance. Both mutations cause a loss of function in yeast models.

AMINOACYL-tRNA SYNTHETASES AND SENSORINEURAL DISEASES

Sensorineural deafness is characterized by defects in either the inner ear or the connecting auditory neural circuitry. Perrault Syndrome is described clinically as an ovarian dysgenesis with sensory hearing loss. Genetic studies indicate that mutations in mitochondrial HARS2 and LARS2 are both linked to Perrault Syndrome (Pierce et al., 2011, 2013). In the HARS2 gene, a compound heterozygous mutation encoding both L200V and V368L is linked to Perrault Syndrome, and these substitutions alter highly conserved residues in the catalytic domain. Pyrophosphate exchange assays demonstrated that the resulting mutant proteins exhibit decreased activity, implying that the phenotype is a straightforward loss of function effect likely arising from reduced respiratory chain complex activity. Given the limitations of this single assay, the mutant substitutions may have other structural and functional consequences. Similarly, the LARS2 mutation associated with Perrault Syndrome, T522N, also targets a highly conserved residue located in the catalytic domain. By contrast, the frame shift mutation at codon 360 (c.1077delT) and T629M compound heterozygous mutations found in another Perrault syndrome patient localizes to the poorly conserved leucine-specific C-terminal domain. Yeast complementation assays showed that T522N LARS2 did not support growth, while T629M LARS2 did. Notably, C. elegans models carrying the mutations were completely sterile, recapitulating at least one component of the disease phenotype.

Cytoplasmic HARS has been also been associated with a heterogeneous sensorineural disease that causes deaf-blindness Usher Syndrome Type IIIB. Usher Syndrome is a polygenetic disease with at least 11 different loci identified. Most of the genes associated with Usher Syndrome are typically involved in inner ear hair cell morphology and development (Yan and Liu, 2010). The three clinical subtypes are divided up by severity of

the symptoms and age of onset that the phenotype presents. A homozygous mutation in HARS, Y454S, was discovered in patients with Usher Syndrome IIIB (Puffenberger et al., 2012) and is the first cytoplasmic HARS mutation associated with disease. In these patients hearing and vision are severely impaired early in childhood, and fever induced hallucinations can occur. While peripheral nerve function seems to be normal, there is some mild trunk ataxia. The Y454S mutation, which is localized specifically on the surface of the anticodon-binding domain (ABD), juxtaposes the catalytic domain of the second monomer. Y454 hydrogen-bonds with residue E439 within the anticodon binding domain, and E439 is positioned to interact with K148 from the catalytic domain of the second monomer to form a saltbridge interaction (Xu et al., 2012)¹. Initial aminoacylation data employing wild type and mutant versions of the mouse enzyme demonstrates that the Y454S substitution is unlikely to be a simple loss of function. Accordingly, current efforts are testing the hypothesis that HARS has a secondary function that is impaired by the Y454S substitution.

Hearing loss phenotypes have been linked to a number of ARSs in addition to HARS. Patients in three unrelated consanguineous Pakistani families suffered from an autosomal recessive non-syndromic hearing impairment (ARNSHI) linked to mutations in KARS in the known ARNSHI-associated locus DFNB89 (Santos-Cortez et al., 2013). One of the mutations is predicted to encode an Y173H substitution in a residue located in the oligomer-binding (OB) fold motif of the KARS anticodon binding domain. In this location, the substitution could negatively affect tRNA binding and/or catalysis. Significantly, the mouse organ of Corti and vestibular system features many cell types, including inner/outer hair cells spiral ligament, and sulcus and spiral limbus cells of the vestibular membrane epithelium where KARS is prominently expressed.

AMINOACYL-tRNA SYNTHETASES AND CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM DISEASES

In contrast to the peripheral nervous system and the sensorinervous system, there are few reports linking ARSs to central nervous system diseases, which often affect specific brain regions. The autosomal recessive monogenetic disease Leukoencephalopathy with Brain stem and Spinal cord involvement and elevated Lactate (LBSL) represents the first well-characterized CNS disease associated with an ARS. Genetic analysis of some 30 different families helped link the disease to mutations in the *DARS2* gene encoding mitochondrial AspRS (Scheper et al., 2007). Hallmarks of the disease defined by MRI imaging include abnormalities of the white matter in the cerebellum, spinal cord, and brainstem. While the mutant substitutions in LBSL are predicted to impair dimer formation and decrease DARS2 catalytic function, mitochondrial respiratory chain complex activity in these LBSL patients was normal (Scheper et al., 2007).

Mutations in the *DARS* gene encoding cytoplasmic AspRS were identified in patients with hypomyelination with brain stem and spinal cord involvement and leg spasticity (HBSL), an inherited white matter disease (Taft et al., 2013). These DARS coding changes may affect enzyme activity by either disrupting tRNA binding or reducing protein expression (Van Berge et al., 2012,

2013). Interestingly, patients with the DARS-linked white matter disease exhibited the same types of white matter abnormalities in brain stem and spinal cord regions by MRI imaging that were observed in patients with the DARS2 mutations linked to LBSL. Cases of white matter disease associated with ARSs are not exclusively restricted to AspRS. A recent report described a disease called leukoencephalopathy with thalamus and brainstem involvement and high lactate (LTBL) linked to mutations encoding mitochondrial glutamyl-tRNA synthetase (EARS2) (Steenweg et al., 2012). The full characterization of the role of ARS function in these diseases is at an early stage, and it is too soon to conclude that they are entirely explained by the sensitivity of neurons to decreased output in translation.

Several other relatively recent reports highlight the potential association of mutations in ARS genes with neurodegenerative diseases. For example, the lethal heterogeneous neurodegenerative disease pontocerebellar hypoplasia (PCH6) was linked to the RARS2 (mitochondrial arginyl-tRNA synthetase) gene in a patient with a homozygous frameshift mutation predicted to generate a truncated protein (Edvardson et al., 2007). Other case studies of PCH6 subjects subsequently identified additional RARS2 mutations (Glamuzina et al., 2012). In the zebrafish model, RARS2 is highly expressed in the brain 24 h post fertilization. Of further interest, zebrafish knockdown models of TSEN54 (subunit associated with RNA splicing previously described) and RARS2 produce comparable phenotypes characterized by brain hypoplasia and increased cell death, but little effect on brain patterning. These interesting results suggest there may be a common pathological PCH phenotype associated with loss of function of the TSEN and RARS2 alleles, as well as a demand for specific spliced tRNAs products at specified times during neuronal development (Kasher et al., 2011). Recently, whole-exome sequencing identified that QARS is a causative gene in affected individuals of the two families with children affected by autosomal-recessive primary microcephaly (MCPH) (Zhang et al., 2014). Symptoms of this disease are associated with intellectual disability, seizures during infancy, and atrophying in brain regions of the cerebellar vermis and cerebral cortex. This disease phenotype is similar to the PCH caused by mutations in RARS and TSEN complex previously described. However, specific brain regions are differentially affected for each disease. Four variants were identified, two of which were localized to the catalytic domain and the remaining two to the tRNA binding N-terminal domain. Activity studies showed that all mutations caused a loss of functional protein. Also, a zebrafish model demonstrated that QARS is essential for proper eye and brain development.

The potential value of the zebrafish in studying ARS-linked neurodegenerative diseases is suggested by another recent report in which methionyl-tRNA synthetase (*MARS*) was identified in an exome sequencing study as one of 15 genes linked to hereditary spastic paraplegias (HSP) (Novarino et al., 2014). HSP is characterized by the degeneration and progressive loss of corticospinal motor neuron tract function; patients typically present with lower limb spasticity, seizures, ataxia, peripheral neuropathy, intellectual disability, skin, and visual defects. The potential roles of many of the genes reported in this study in HSP were validated in the zebrafish model; the MARS mutation was too severe to be fully evaluated. Another important connection between ARS function and neurodegenerative disease reported recently is the linkage between the aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase complex interacting multifunctional protein-2 (AIMP2, also referred to as p38) and familial Parkinson's disease. Initially, AIMP2 was reported to be deposited in Lewy bodies, and its accumulation had been noted in some familial cases of Parkinson's disease (Corti et al., 2003; Ko et al., 2005). Later, AIMP2 was determined to be a substrate of the E3 ligase PARKIN. Multiple loss of function mutations in the gene encoding PARKIN are a common cause of familial Parkinson's disease. While the complete basis of AIMP2-linked neurological pathophysiology is not yet clear, it is possible that an important secondary role of AIMP2 is modulating neuronal protein turnover; when this process is dysfunctional, particular cell death pathways (e.g., "parthanatos") may become activated.

FUTURE PROSPECTS FOR THE ROLE OF tRNA IN HUMAN DISEASE: THE ROLE OF SPATIAL AND TEMPORAL CONTROL OF tRNA AND THE TRANSLATIONAL MACHINE IN DISEASE PATHOPHYSIOLOGY

Given the emerging role of mRNA transport and localization in neuronal function (Wang et al., 2007), it would not be surprising if the temporal and spatial regulation of aminoacyl-tRNA synthetases in neuronal compartments such as axons and dendrites were not similarly important. Protein synthesis in these diverse compartments clearly requires the full translational apparatus in addition to the messenger RNA. At present, this remains an underexplored area of tRNA and ARS biology, and a role for tRNA and ARS in localized translation in neurons should be investigated. Some of the models seeking to explain the link between the ARS and CMT have proposed that the mutant substitutions create localization defects for the affected enzymes. As yet, the evidence is not definitive, and the cellular mechanisms that traffic and localize these enzymes are essentially unknown. Is the localization of ARS enzymes to distal sites of the axon and dendrites dependent on vesicular transport, tRNA, or other trafficking proteins? In addition to the well-known Multi-Synthetase Complex (MSC), with what types of protein complexes are the ARS enzymes associated, and what positions them at the site of local translation in dendrites and neurons? Are there signaling pathways that are necessary to initiate localization of ARS enzymes to these regions? Furthermore, there may be mechanisms in place (e.g., post- translational control) to spatially regulate the activity of ARS such that tRNA is not aminoacylated until the proper cues are received to synthesize proteins. These questions, and other issues related to functional compartmentalization, should keep the role of tRNA and ARS in complex human diseases as a major question for years to come.

REFERENCES

- Amato, P., Tachibana, M., Sparman, M., and Mitalipov, S. (2014). Threeparent *in vitro* fertilization: gene replacement for the prevention of inherited mitochondrial diseases. *Fertil. Steril.* 101, 31–35. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2013.11.030
- Amiri, M., and Hollenbeck, P. J. (2008). Mitochondrial biogenesis in the axons of vertebrate peripheral neurons. *Dev. Neurobiol.* 68, 1348–1361. doi: 10.1002/dneu.20668
- Antonellis, A., Ellsworth, R. E., Sambuughin, N., Puls, I., Abel, A., Lee-Lin, S. Q., et al. (2003). Glycyl tRNA synthetase mutations in Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease

type 2D and distal spinal muscular atrophy type V. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 72, 1293–1299. doi: 10.1086/375039

- Antonellis, A., Lee-Lin, S. Q., Wasterlain, A., Leo, P., Quezado, M., Goldfarb, L. G., et al. (2006). Functional analyses of glycyl-tRNA synthetase mutations suggest a key role for tRNA-charging enzymes in peripheral axons. J. Neurosci. 26, 10397–10406. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1671-06.2006
- Baird, T. D., and Wek, R. C. (2012). Eukaryotic initiation factor 2 phosphorylation and translational control in metabolism. *Adv. Nutr.* 3, 307–321. doi: 10.3945/an.112.002113
- Baloh, R. H. (2008). Mitochondrial dynamics and peripheral neuropathy. Neuroscientist 14, 12–18. doi: 10.1177/1073858407307354
- Berardo, A., Coku, J., Kurt, B., Dimauro, S., and Hirano, M. (2010). A novel mutation in the tRNAIle gene (MTTI) affecting the variable loop in a patient with chronic progressive external ophthalmoplegia (CPEO). *Neuromuscul. Disord.* 20, 204–206. doi: 10.1016/j.nmd.2010.01.006
- Best, D. H., Sumner, K. L., Austin, E. D., Chung, W. K., Brown, L. M., Borczuk, A. C., et al. (2014). EIF2AK4 mutations in pulmonary capillary hemangiomatosis. *Chest* 145, 231–236. doi: 10.1378/chest.13-2366
- Blasius, A. L., and Beutler, B. (2010). Intracellular toll-like receptors. *Immunity* 32, 305–315. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2010.03.012
- Budde, B. S., Namavar, Y., Barth, P. G., Poll-The, B. T., Nurnberg, G., Becker, C., et al. (2008). tRNA splicing endonuclease mutations cause pontocerebellar hypoplasia. *Nat. Genet.* 40, 1113–1118. doi: 10.1038/ng.204
- Buxbaum, A. R., Wu, B., and Singer, R. H. (2014). Single beta-actin mRNA detection in neurons reveals a mechanism for regulating its translatability. *Science* 343, 419–422. doi: 10.1126/science.1242939
- Calvaruso, M. A., Willemsen, M. A., Rodenburg, R. J., Van Den Brand, M., Smeitink, J. A., and Nijtmans, L. (2011). New mitochondrial tRNA HIS mutation in a family with lactic acidosis and stroke-like episodes (MELAS). *Mitochondrion* 11, 778–782. doi: 10.1016/j.mito.2011.06.004
- Carter, C. W. Jr. (1993). Cognition, mechanism, and evolutionary relationships in aminoacyl-tRNA synthetases. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 62, 715–748. doi: 10.1146/annurev.bi.62.070193.003435
- Chan, P. P., and Lowe, T. M. (2009). GtRNAdb: a database of transfer RNA genes detected in genomic sequence. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 37, D93–D97. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkn787
- Chapman, A. L., Bennett, E. J., Ramesh, T. M., De Vos, K. J., and Grierson, A. J. (2013). Axonal transport defects in a Mitofusin 2 loss of function model of charcot-marie-tooth disease in zebrafish. *PLoS ONE* 8:e67276. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0067276
- Chihara, T., Luginbuhl, D., and Luo, L. (2007). Cytoplasmic and mitochondrial protein translation in axonal and dendritic terminal arborization. *Nat. Neurosci.* 10, 828–837. doi: 10.1038/nn1910
- Corti, O., Hampe, C., Koutnikova, H., Darios, F., Jacquier, S., Prigent, A., et al. (2003). The p38 subunit of the aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase complex is a Parkin substrate: linking protein biosynthesis and neurodegeneration. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 12, 1427–1437. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddg159
- Costa-Mattioli, M., Gobert, D., Harding, H., Herdy, B., Azzi, M., Bruno, M., et al. (2005). Translational control of hippocampal synaptic plasticity and memory by the eIF2alpha kinase GCN2. *Nature* 436, 1166–1173. doi: 10.1038/ nature03897
- Costa-Mattioli, M., Gobert, D., Stern, E., Gamache, K., Colina, R., Cuello, C., et al. (2007). eIF2alpha phosphorylation bidirectionally regulates the switch from short- to long-term synaptic plasticity and memory. *Cell* 129, 195–206. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.01.050
- Court, F. A., and Coleman, M. P. (2012). Mitochondria as a central sensor for axonal degenerative stimuli. *Trends Neurosci.* 35, 364–372. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2012.04.001
- Crimi, M., Galbiati, S., Perini, M. P., Bordoni, A., Malferrari, G., Sciacco, M., et al. (2003). A mitochondrial tRNA(His) gene mutation causing pigmentary retinopathy and neurosensorial deafness. *Neurology* 60, 1200–1203. doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000055865.30580.39
- Darnell, R. B. (2013). RNA protein interaction in neurons. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 36, 243–270. doi: 10.1146/annurev-neuro-062912-114322
- De Luca, C., Besagni, C., Frontali, L., Bolotin-Fukuhara, M., and Francisci, S. (2006). Mutations in yeast mt tRNAs: specific and general suppression by nuclear encoded tRNA interactors. *Gene* 377, 169–176. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2006.04.003

- Dimauro, S., Schon, E. A., Carelli, V., and Hirano, M. (2013). The clinical maze of mitochondrial neurology. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 9, 429–444. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2013.126
- Diodato, D., Ghezzi, D., and Tiranti, V. (2014). The mitochondrial aminoacyl tRNA synthetases: genes and syndromes. *Int. J. Cell Biol.* 2014:787956. doi: 10.1155/2014/787956
- Dittmar, K. A., Goodenbour, J. M., and Pan, T. (2006). Tissue-specific differences in human transfer RNA expression. *PLoS Genet.* 2:e221. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.0020221
- Dong, J., Qiu, H., Garcia-Barrio, M., Anderson, J., and Hinnebusch, A. G. (2000). Uncharged tRNA activates GCN2 by displacing the protein kinase moiety from a bipartite tRNA-binding domain. *Mol. Cell* 6, 269–279. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(00)00028-9
- Edvardson, S., Shaag, A., Kolesnikova, O., Gomori, J. M., Tarassov, I., Einbinder, T., et al. (2007). Deleterious mutation in the mitochondrial arginyl-transfer RNA synthetase gene is associated with pontocerebellar hypoplasia. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 81, 857–862. doi: 10.1086/521227
- Eyries, M., Montani, D., Girerd, B., Perret, C., Leroy, A., Lonjou, C., et al. (2014). EIF2AK4 mutations cause pulmonary veno-occlusive disease, a recessive form of pulmonary hypertension. *Nat. Genet.* 46, 65–69. doi: 10.1038/ ng.2844
- Florentz, C., Sohm, B., Tryoen-Toth, P., Putz, J., and Sissler, M. (2003). Human mitochondrial tRNAs in health and disease. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 60, 1356–1375. doi: 10.1007/s00018-003-2343-1
- Francisci, S., Montanari, A., De Luca, C., and Frontali, L. (2011). Peptides from aminoacyl-tRNA synthetases can cure the defects due to mutations in mt tRNA genes. *Mitochondrion* 11, 919–923. doi: 10.1016/j.mito.2011.08.006
- Froelich, C. A., and First, E. A. (2011). Dominant intermediate charcot-marie-tooth disorder is not due to a catalytic defect in tyrosyl-tRNA synthetase. *Biochemistry* 50, 7132–7145. doi: 10.1021/bi200989h
- Fu, H., Feng, J., Liu, Q., Sun, F., Tie, Y., Zhu, J., et al. (2009). Stress induces tRNA cleavage by angiogenin in mammalian cells. *FEBS Lett.* 583, 437–442. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2008.12.043
- Gehrig, S., Eberle, M. E., Botschen, F., Rimbach, K., Eberle, F., Eigenbrod, T., et al. (2012). Identification of modifications in microbial, native tRNA that suppress immunostimulatory activity. *J. Exp. Med.* 209, 225–233. doi: 10.1084/jem.20111044
- Gillingwater, T. H., and Wishart, T. M. (2013). Mechanisms underlying synaptic vulnerability and degeneration in neurodegenerative disease. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* 39, 320–334. doi: 10.1111/nan.12014
- Giordano, C., Perli, E., Orlandi, M., Pisano, A., Tuppen, H. A., He, L., et al. (2013). Cardiomyopathies due to homoplasmic mitochondrial tRNA mutations: morphologic and molecular features. *Hum. Pathol.* 44, 1262–1270. doi: 10.1016/j.humpath.2012.10.011
- Glamuzina, E., Brown, R., Hogarth, K., Saunders, D., Russell-Eggitt, I., Pitt, M., et al. (2012). Further delineation of pontocerebellar hypoplasia type 6 due to mutations in the gene encoding mitochondrial arginyl-tRNA synthetase, RARS2. *J. Inherit. Metab. Dis.* 35, 459–467. doi: 10.1007/s10545-011-9413-6
- Gonzalez, M., McLaughlin, H., Houlden, H., Guo, M., Yo-Tsen, L., Hadjivassilious, M., et al. (2013). Exome sequencing identifies a significant variant in methionyltRNA synthetase (MARS) in a family with late-onset CMT2. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 84, 1247–1249. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2013-305049
- Goto, Y., Nonaka, I., and Horai, S. (1990). A mutation in the tRNA^{Leu}(UUR) gene associated with the MELAS subgroup of mitochondrial encephalomyopathies. *Nature* 348, 651–653. doi: 10.1038/348651a0
- Grallert, B., and Boye, E. (2013). GCN2, an old dog with new tricks. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 41, 1687–1691. doi: 10.1042/BST20130210
- Guo, M., Chong, Y. E., Shapiro, R., Beebe, K., Yang, X. L., and Schimmel, P. (2009). Paradox of mistranslation of serine for alanine caused by AlaRS recognition dilemma. *Nature* 462, 808–812. doi: 10.1038/ nature08612
- Guo, M., and Schimmel, P. (2013). Structural analyses clarify the complex control of mistranslation by tRNA synthetases. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* 22, 119–126. doi: 10.1016/j.sbi.2011.11.008
- Hamm, S., Latz, E., Hangel, D., Muller, T., Yu, P., Golenbock, D., et al. (2010). Alternating 2'-O-ribose methylation is a universal approach for generating nonstimulatory siRNA by acting as TLR7 antagonist. *Immunobiology* 215, 559–569. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2009.09.003

- Hanada, T., Weitzer, S., Mair, B., Bernreuther, C., Wainger, B. J., Ichida, J., et al. (2013). CLP1 links tRNA metabolism to progressive motor-neuron loss. *Nature* 495, 474–480. doi: 10.1038/nature11923
- Hao, S., Sharp, J. W., Ross-Inta, C. M., McDaniel, B. J., Anthony, T. G., Wek, R. C., et al. (2005). Uncharged tRNA and sensing of amino acid deficiency in mammalian piriform cortex. *Science* 307, 1776–1778. doi: 10.1126/science. 1104882
- Harding, H. P., Zhang, Y., Bertolotti, A., Zeng, H., and Ron, D. (2000). Perk is essential for translational regulation and cell survival during the unfolded protein response. *Mol. Cell* 5, 897–904. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80330-5
- Harding, H. P., Zhang, Y., Zeng, H., Novoa, I., Lu, P. D., Calfon, M., et al. (2003). An integrated stress response regulates amino acid metabolism and resistance to oxidative stress. *Mol. Cell* 11, 619–633. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(03)00105-9
- Hollingsworth, K. G., Gorman, G. S., Trenell, M. I., McFarland, R., Taylor, R. W., Turnbull, D. M., et al. (2012). Cardiomyopathy is common in patients with the mitochondrial DNA m.3243A>G mutation and correlates with mutation load. *Neuromuscul. Disord.* 22, 592–596. doi: 10.1016/j.nmd.2012.03.001
- Holt, C. E., and Schuman, E. M. (2013). The central dogma decentralized: new perspectives on RNA function and local translation in neurons. *Neuron* 80, 648–657. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.10.036
- Hopper, A. K., Pai, D. A., and Engelke, D. R. (2010). Cellular dynamics of tRNAs and their genes. *FEBS Lett.* 584, 310–317. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2009.11.053
- Hopper, A. K., and Phizicky, E. M. (2003). tRNA transfers to the limelight. *Genes Dev.* 17, 162–180. doi: 10.1101/gad.1049103
- Hou, Y. M., and Yang, X. (2013). Regulation of cell death by transfer RNA. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 19, 583–594. doi: 10.1089/ars.2012.5171
- Humbert, M., Maitre, S., Capron, F., Rain, B., Musset, D., and Simonneau, G. (1998). Pulmonary edema complicating continuous intravenous prostacyclin in pulmonary capillary hemangiomatosis. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 157, 1681–1685. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.157.5.9708065
- Hurto, R. L. (2011). Unexpected functions of tRNA and tRNA processing enzymes. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 722, 137–155. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-0332-6_9
- Ibba, M., and Soll, D. (2001). The renaissance of aminoacyl-tRNA synthesis. EMBO Rep. 2, 382–387. doi: 10.1093/embo-reports/kve095
- Ibba, M., and Soll, D. (2004). Aminoacyl-tRNAs: setting the limits of the genetic code. Genes Dev. 18, 731–738. doi: 10.1101/gad.1187404
- Inoue, K., Nakada, K., Ogura, A., Isobe, K., Goto, Y., Nonaka, I., et al. (2000). Generation of mice with mitochondrial dysfunction by introducing mouse mtDNA carrying a deletion into zygotes. *Nat. Genet.* 26, 176–181. doi: 10.1038/82826
- Ivanov, P., Emara, M. M., Villen, J., Gygi, S. P., and Anderson, P. (2011). Angiogenin-induced tRNA fragments inhibit translation initiation. *Mol. Cell* 43, 613–623. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2011.06.022
- Jia, J., Yao, P., Arif, A., and Fox, P. L. (2013). Regulation and dysregulation of 3'UTR-mediated translational control. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* 23, 29–34. doi: 10.1016/j.gde.2012.12.004
- Jockel, S., Nees, G., Sommer, R., Zhao, Y., Cherkasov, D., Hori, H., et al. (2012). The 2'-O-methylation status of a single guanosine controls transfer RNA-mediated Toll-like receptor 7 activation or inhibition. *J. Exp. Med.* 209, 235–241. doi: 10.1084/jem.20111075
- Jordanova, A., Irobi, J., Thomas, F. P., Van Dijck, P., Meerschaert, K., Dewil, M., et al. (2006). Disrupted function and axonal distribution of mutant tyrosyltRNA synthetase in dominant intermediate Charcot-Marie-Tooth neuropathy. *Nat. Genet.* 38, 197–202. doi: 10.1038/ng1727
- Kariko, K., Buckstein, M., Ni, H., and Weissman, D. (2005). Suppression of RNA recognition by Toll-like receptors: the impact of nucleoside modification and the evolutionary origin of RNA. *Immunity* 23, 165–175. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2005.06.008
- Kasher, P. R., Namavar, Y., Van Tijn, P., Fluiter, K., Sizarov, A., Kamermans, M., et al. (2011). Impairment of the tRNA-splicing endonuclease subunit 54 (tsen54) gene causes neurological abnormalities and larval death in zebrafish models of pontocerebellar hypoplasia. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 20, 1574–1584. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddr034
- Katibah, G. E., Lee, H. J., Huizar, J. P., Vogan, J. M., Alber, T., and Collins, K. (2013). tRNA binding, structure, and localization of the human interferon-induced protein IFIT5. *Mol. Cell* 49, 743–750. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2012.12.015
- Kijima, K., Numakura, C., Izumino, H., Umetsu, K., Nezu, A., Shiiki, T., et al. (2005). Mitochondrial GTPase mitofusin 2 mutation in Charcot-Marie-Tooth neuropathy type 2A. *Hum. Genet.* 116, 23–27. doi: 10.1007/s00439-004-1199-2

- Kim, S., You, S., and Hwang, D. (2011). Aminoacyl-tRNA synthetases and tumorigenesis: more than housekeeping. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 11, 708–718. doi: 10.1038/nrc3124
- Kirino, Y., Goto, Y., Campos, Y., Arenas, J., and Suzuki, T. (2005). Specific correlation between the wobble modification deficiency in mutant tRNAs and the clinical features of a human mitochondrial disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 7127–7132. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0500563102
- Kirino, Y., Yasukawa, T., Ohta, S., Akira, S., Ishihara, K., Watanabe, K., et al. (2004). Codon-specific translational defect caused by a wobble modification deficiency in mutant tRNA from a human mitochondrial disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 101, 15070–15075. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0405173101
- Ko, H. S., Von Coelln, R., Sriram, S. R., Kim, S. W., Chung, K. K., Pletnikova, O., et al. (2005). Accumulation of the authentic parkin substrate aminoacyltRNA synthetase cofactor, p38/JTV-1, leads to catecholaminergic cell death. *J. Neurosci.* 25, 7968–7978. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2172-05.2005
- Kobayashi, Y., Momoi, M. Y., Tominaga, K., Momoi, T., Nihei, K., Yanagisawa, M., et al. (1990). A point mutation in the mitochondrial tRNA(Leu)(UUR) gene in MELAS (mitochondrial myopathy, encephalopathy, lactic acidosis and stroke-like episodes). *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 173, 816–822. doi: 10.1016/S0006-291X(05)80860-5
- Konovalova, S., and Tyynismaa, H. (2013). Mitochondrial aminoacyl-tRNA synthetases in human disease. *Mol. Genet. Metab.* 108, 206–211. doi: 10.1016/j.ymgme.2013.01.010
- Langleben, D., Heneghan, J. M., Batten, A. P., Wang, N. S., Fitch, N., Schlesinger, R. D., et al. (1988). Familial pulmonary capillary hemangiomatosis resulting in primary pulmonary hypertension. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 109, 106–109. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-109-2-106
- Latkany, P., Ciulla, T. A., Cacchillo, P. F., and Malkoff, M. D. (1999). Mitochondrial maculopathy: geographic atrophy of the macula in the MELAS associated A to G 3243 mitochondrial DNA point mutation. *Am. J. Ophthalmol.* 128, 112–114. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9394(99)00057-4
- Latour, P., Thauvin-Robinet, C., Baudelet-Mery, C., Soichot, P., Cusin, V., Faivre, L., et al. (2010). A major determinant for binding and aminoacylation of tRNA(Ala) in cytoplasmic Alanyl-tRNA synthetase is mutated in dominant axonal Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 86, 77–82. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2009.12.005
- Lax, N. Z., Gnanapavan, S., Dowson, S. J., Alston, C. L., He, L., Polvikoski, T. M., et al. (2013). Early-onset cataracts, spastic paraparesis, and ataxia caused by a novel mitochondrial tRNAGlu (MT-TE) gene mutation causing severe complex I deficiency: a clinical, molecular, and neuropathologic study. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 72, 164–175. doi: 10.1097/NEN.0b013e318 28129c5
- Lee, J. W., Beebe, K., Nangle, L. A., Jang, J., Longo-Guess, C. M., Cook, S. A., et al. (2006). Editing-defective tRNA synthetase causes protein misfolding and neurodegeneration. *Nature* 443, 50–55. doi: 10.1038/nature05096
- Lee, Y., Karuppagounder, S. S., Shin, J. H., Lee, Y. I., Ko, H. S., Swing, D., et al. (2013). Parthanatos mediates AIMP2-activated age-dependent dopaminergic neuronal loss. *Nat. Neurosci.* 16, 1392–1400. doi: 10.1038/nn.3500
- Li, R., and Guan, M. X. (2010). Human mitochondrial leucyl-tRNA synthetase corrects mitochondrial dysfunctions due to the tRNALeu(UUR) A3243G mutation, associated with mitochondrial encephalomyopathy, lactic acidosis, and stroke-like symptoms and diabetes. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 30, 2147–2154. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01614-09
- Lowe, T. M., and Eddy, S. R. (1997). tRNAscan-SE: a program for improved detection of transfer RNA genes in genomic sequence. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 25, 955–964. doi: 10.1093/nar/25.5.0955
- Maurin, A. C., Benani, A., Lorsignol, A., Brenachot, X., Parry, L., Carraro, V., et al. (2014). Hypothalamic eIF2alpha signaling regulates food intake. *Cell Rep.* 6, 438–444. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.01.006
- McLaughlin, H. M., Sakaguchi, R., Giblin, W., Program, N. C. S., Wilson, T. E., Biesecker, L., et al. (2012). A recurrent loss-of-function alanyl-tRNA synthetase (AARS) mutation in patients with Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease type 2N (CMT2N). *Hum. Mutat.* 33, 244–253. doi: 10.1002/humu.21635
- McLaughlin, H. M., Sakaguchi, R., Liu, C., Igarashi, T., Pehlivan, D., Chu, K., et al. (2010). Compound heterozygosity for loss-of-function lysyl-tRNA synthetase mutations in a patient with peripheral neuropathy. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 87, 560–566. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2010.09.008
- Mei, Y., Stonestrom, A., Hou, Y. M., and Yang, X. (2010). Apoptotic regulation and tRNA. *Protein Cell* 1, 795–801. doi: 10.1007/s13238-010-0107-x

- Melone, M. A., Tessa, A., Petrini, S., Lus, G., Sampaolo, S., Di Fede, G., et al. (2004). Revelation of a new mitochondrial DNA mutation (G12147A) in a MELAS/MERFF phenotype. Arch. Neurol. 61, 269–272. doi: 10.1001/archneur.61.2.269
- Motzik, A., Nechushtan, H., Foo, S. Y., and Razin, E. (2013). Non-canonical roles of lysyl-tRNA synthetase in health and disease. *Trends Mol. Med.* 19, 726–731. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2013.07.011
- Nangle, L. A., Zhang, W., Xie, W., Yang, X. L., and Schimmel, P. (2007). Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease-associated mutant tRNA synthetases linked to altered dimer interface and neurite distribution defect. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 11239–11244. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0705055104
- Norris, A. D., and Calarco, J. A. (2012). Emerging roles of alternative Pre-mRNA splicing regulation in neuronal development and function. *Front. Neurosci.* 6:122. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2012.00122
- Novarino, G., Fenstermaker, A. G., Zaki, M. S., Hofree, M., Silhavy, J. L., Heiberg, A. D., et al. (2014). Exome sequencing links corticospinal motor neuron disease to common neurodegenerative disorders. *Science* 343, 506–511. doi: 10.1126/science.1247363
- Ofir-Birin, Y., Fang, P., Bennett, S. P., Zhang, H. M., Wang, J., Rachmin, I., et al. (2013). Structural switch of Lysyl-tRNA synthetase between translation and transcription. *Mol. Cell* 49, 30–42. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2012.10.010
- Pace, B., Peterson, R. L., and Pace, N. R. (1970). Formation of all stable RNA species in *Escherichia coli* by posttranscriptional modification. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 65, 1097–1104. doi: 10.1073/pnas.65.4.1097
- Park, H., Davidson, E., and King, M. P. (2008). Overexpressed mitochondrial leucyl-tRNA synthetase suppresses the A3243G mutation in the mitochondrial tRNA(Leu(UUR)) gene. RNA 14, 2407–2416. doi: 10.1261/rna.1208808
- Park, H. Y., Lim, H., Yoon, Y. J., Follenzi, A., Nwokafor, C., Lopez-Jones, M., et al. (2014). Visualization of dynamics of single endogenous mRNA labeled in live mouse. *Science* 343, 422–424. doi: 10.1126/science.1239200
- Penn, A. C., Balik, A., and Greger, I. H. (2013). Reciprocal regulation of A-to-I RNA editing and the vertebrate nervous system. *Front. Neurosci.* 7:61. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2013.00061
- Pereira, C. M., Sattlegger, E., Jiang, H. Y., Longo, B. M., Jaqueta, C. B., Hinnebusch, A. G., et al. (2005). IMPACT, a protein preferentially expressed in the mouse brain, binds GCN1 and inhibits GCN2 activation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 28316–28323. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M408571200
- Perli, E., Giordano, C., Pisano, A., Montanari, A., Campese, A. F., Reyes, A., et al. (2014). The isolated carboxy-terminal domain of human mitochondrial leucyl-tRNA synthetase rescues the pathological phenotype of mitochondrial tRNA mutations in human cells. *EMBO Mol. Med.* 6, 169–182. doi: 10.1002/emmm.201303198
- Perli, E., Giordano, C., Tuppen, H. A., Montopoli, M., Montanari, A., Orlandi, M., et al. (2012). Isoleucyl-tRNA synthetase levels modulate the penetrance of a homoplasmic m.4277T>C mitochondrial tRNA(Ile) mutation causing hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 21, 85–100. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddr440
- Phizicky, E. M., and Hopper, A. K. (2010). tRNA biology charges to the front. *Genes* Dev. 24, 1832–1860. doi: 10.1101/gad.1956510
- Pierce, S. B., Chisholm, K. M., Lynch, E. D., Lee, M. K., Walsh, T., Opitz, J. M., et al. (2011). Mutations in mitochondrial histidyl tRNA synthetase HARS2 cause ovarian dysgenesis and sensorineural hearing loss of Perrault syndrome. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 6543–6548. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1103471108
- Pierce, S. B., Gersak, K., Michaelson-Cohen, R., Walsh, T., Lee, M. K., Malach, D., et al. (2013). Mutations in LARS2, encoding mitochondrial leucyl-tRNA synthetase, lead to premature ovarian failure and hearing loss in Perrault syndrome. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 92, 614–620. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2013.03.007
- Piquereau, J., Caffin, F., Novotova, M., Lemaire, C., Veksler, V., Garnier, A., et al. (2013). Mitochondrial dynamics in the adult cardiomyocytes: which roles for a highly specialized cell? *Front. Physiol.* 4:102. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2013.00102
- Puffenberger, E. G., Jinks, R. N., Sougnez, C., Cibulskis, K., Willert, R. A., Achilly, N. P., et al. (2012). Genetic mapping and exome sequencing identify variants associated with five novel diseases. *PLoS ONE* 7:e28936. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0028936
- Putz, J., Dupuis, B., Sissler, M., and Florentz, C. (2007). Mamit-tRNA, a database of mammalian mitochondrial tRNA primary and secondary structures. *RNA* 13, 1184–1190. doi: 10.1261/rna.588407
- Qiu, H., Dong, J., Hu, C., Francklyn, C. S., and Hinnebusch, A. G. (2001). The tRNA-binding moiety in GCN2 contains a dimerization domain that interacts

with the kinase domain and is required for tRNA binding and kinase activation. *EMBO J.* 20, 1425–1438. doi: 10.1093/emboj/20.6.1425

- Ramaswami, M., Taylor, J. P., and Parker, R. (2013). Altered ribostasis: RNA-protein granules in degenerative disorders. *Cell* 154, 727–736. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.07.038
- Ramirez, A., Shuman, S., and Schwer, B. (2008). Human RNA 5'-kinase (hClp1) can function as a tRNA splicing enzyme *in vivo*. *RNA* 14, 1737–1745. doi: 10.1261/rna.1142908
- Robbins, M., Judge, A., Liang, L., McClintock, K., Yaworski, E., and Maclachlan, I. (2007). 2'-O-methyl-modified RNAs act as TLR7 antagonists. *Mol. Ther.* 15, 1663–1669. doi: 10.1038/sj.mt.6300240
- Roffe, M., Hajj, G. N., Azevedo, H. F., Alves, V. S., and Castilho, B. A. (2013). IMPACT is a developmentally regulated protein in neurons that opposes the eukaryotic initiation factor 2alpha kinase GCN2 in the modulation of neurite outgrowth. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 10860–10869. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.461970
- Rother, M., Milanowska, K., Puton, T., Jeleniewicz, J., Rother, K., and Bujnicki, J. M. (2011). ModeRNA server: an online tool for modeling RNA 3D structures. *Bioinformatics* 27, 2441–2442. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btr400
- Rubio, M. A., and Hopper, A. K. (2011). Transfer RNA travels from the cytoplasm to organelles. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. RNA 2, 802–817. doi: 10.1002/wrna.93
- Rudell, J. B., Rechs, A. J., Kelman, T. J., Ross-Inta, C. M., Hao, S., and Gietzen, D. W. (2011). The anterior piriform cortex is sufficient for detecting depletion of an indispensable amino acid, showing independent cortical sensory function. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 1583–1590. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4934-10.2011
- Ruiz-Pesini, E., Lott, M. T., Procaccio, V., Poole, J. C., Brandon, M. C., Mishmar, D., et al. (2007). An enhanced MITOMAP with a global mtDNA mutational phylogeny. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 35, D823–828. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkl927
- Santos-Cortez, R. L., Lee, K., Azeem, Z., Antonellis, P. J., Pollock, L. M., Khan, S., et al. (2013). Mutations in KARS, encoding lysyl-tRNA synthetase, cause autosomal-recessive nonsyndromic hearing impairment DFNB89. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 93, 132–140. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2013.05.018
- Saxena, S. K., Rybak, S. M., Davey, R. T. Jr., Youle, R. J., and Ackerman, E. J. (1992). Angiogenin is a cytotoxic, tRNA-specific ribonuclease in the RNase A superfamily. J. Biol. Chem. 267, 21982–21986.
- Schaller, A., Desetty, R., Hahn, D., Jackson, C. B., Nuoffer, J. M., Gallati, S., et al. (2011). Impairment of mitochondrial tRNAIle processing by a novel mutation associated with chronic progressive external ophthalmoplegia. *Mitochondrion* 11, 488–496. doi: 10.1016/j.mito.2011.01.005
- Schattner, P., Brooks, A. N., and Lowe, T. M. (2005). The tRNAscan-SE, snoscan and snoGPS web servers for the detection of tRNAs and snoRNAs. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 33, W686–W689. doi: 10.1093/nar/gki366
- Scheper, G. C., Van Der Klok, T., Van Andel, R. J., Van Berkel, C. G., Sissler, M., Smet, J., et al. (2007). Mitochondrial aspartyl-tRNA synthetase deficiency causes leukoencephalopathy with brain stem and spinal cord involvement and lactate elevation. *Nat. Genet.* 39, 534–539. doi: 10.1038/ng2013
- Schwarz, T. L. (2013). Mitochondrial trafficking in neurons. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 5:a011304. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a011304
- Schwenzer, H., Zoll, J., Florentz, C., and Sissler, M. (2013). Pathogenic implications of human mitochondrial Aminoacyl-tRNA synthetases. *Top. Curr. Chem.* 344, 247–292. doi: 10.1007/128_2013_457
- Seburn, K. L., Nangle, L. A., Cox, G. A., Schimmel, P., and Burgess, R. W. (2006). An active dominant mutation of glycyl-tRNA synthetase causes neuropathy in a Charcot-Marie-Tooth 2D mouse model. *Neuron* 51, 715–726. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2006.08.027
- Shaheen, H. H., and Hopper, A. K. (2005). Retrograde movement of tRNAs from the cytoplasm to the nucleus in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 102, 11290–11295. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0503836102
- Shapiro, R., and Vallee, B. L. (1987). Human placental ribonuclease inhibitor abolishes both angiogenic and ribonucleolytic activities of angiogenin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 84, 2238–2241. doi: 10.1073/pnas.84.8.2238
- Shapiro, R., and Vallee, B. L. (1989). Site-directed mutagenesis of histidine-13 and histidine-114 of human angiogenin. Alanine derivatives inhibit angiogenin-induced angiogenesis. *Biochemistry* 28, 7401–7408. doi: 10.1021/ bi00444a038
- Sheng, Z. H., and Cai, Q. (2012). Mitochondrial transport in neurons: impact on synaptic homeostasis and neurodegeneration. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 13, 77–93. doi: 10.1038/nrn3156
- Shimizu, A., Mito, T., Hayashi, C., Ogasawara, E., Koba, R., Negishi, I., et al. (2014). Transmitochondrial mice as models for primary prevention of diseases caused

by mutation in the tRNALys gene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 3104–3109. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1318109111

- Shin, W. S., Tanaka, M., Suzuki, J., Hemmi, C., and Toyo-Oka, T. (2000). A novel homoplasmic mutation in mtDNA with a single evolutionary origin as a risk factor for cardiomyopathy. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 67, 1617–1620. doi: 10.1086/316896
- Shoffner, J., Lott, M., Lezza, A. M. S., Seibel, P., Ballinger, S. W., and Wallace, D. C. (1990). Myoclonic epilepsy and ragged red fiber disease (MERRF) is associated with mitochondrial DNA tRNALys mutation. *Cell* 61, 931–937. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(90)90059-N
- Sleigh, J. N., Grice, S. J., Burgess, R. W., Talbot, K., and Cader, M. Z. (2014). Neuromuscular junction maturation defects precede impaired lower motor neuron connectivity in Charcot-Marie-Tooth type 2D mice. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 23, 2639–2650. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddt659
- Souilem, S., Chebel, S., Mancuso, M., Petrozzi, L., Siciliano, G., Frihayed, M., et al. (2011). A novel mitochondrial tRNA(Ile) point mutation associated with chronic progressive external ophthalmoplegia and hyperCKemia. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 300, 187–190. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2010.08.065
- Sprinzl, M., and Vassilenko, K. S. (2005). Compilation of tRNA sequences and sequences of tRNA genes. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 33, D139–D140. doi: 10.1093/nar/gki012
- Steenweg, M. E., Ghezzi, D., Haack, T., Abbink, T. E., Martinelli, D., Van Berkel, C. G., et al. (2012). Leukoencephalopathy with thalamus and brainstem involvement and high lactate 'LTBL' caused by EARS2 mutations. *Brain* 135, 1387–1394. doi: 10.1093/brain/aws070
- Stum, M., McLaughlin, H. M., Kleinbrink, E. L., Miers, K. E., Ackerman, S. L., Seburn, K. L., et al. (2011). An assessment of mechanisms underlying peripheral axonal degeneration caused by aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase mutations. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 46, 432–443. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2010.11.006
- Suzuki, T., Nagao, A., and Suzuki, T. (2011). Human mitochondrial tRNAs: biogenesis, function, structural aspects, and diseases. *Annu. Rev. Genet.* 45, 299–329. doi: 10.1146/annurev-genet-110410-132531
- Tachibana, M., Sparman, M., Sritanaudomchai, H., Ma, H., Clepper, L., Woodward, J., et al. (2009). Mitochondrial gene replacement in primate offspring and embryonic stem cells. *Nature* 461, 367–372. doi: 10.1038/nature08368
- Taft, R. J., Vanderver, A., Leventer, R. J., Damiani, S. A., Simons, C., Grimmond, S. M., et al. (2013). Mutations in DARS cause hypomyelination with brain stem and spinal cord involvement and leg spasticity. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 92, 774–780. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2013.04.006
- Takeuchi, O., and Akira, S. (2010). Pattern recognition receptors and inflammation. *Cell* 140, 805–820. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.01.022
- Tariq, A., and Jantsch, M. F. (2012). Transcript diversification in the nervous system: A to I RNA editing in CNS function and disease development. *Front. Neurosci.* 6:99. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2012.00099
- Taylor, R. W., Giordano, C., Davidson, M. M., D'Amati, G., Bain, H., Hayes, C. M., et al. (2003). A homoplasmic mitochondrial transfer ribonucleic acid mutation as a cause of maternally inherited hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 41, 1786–1796. doi: 10.1016/S0735-1097(03)00300-0
- Taylor, R. W., Schaefer, A. M., McDonnell, M. T., Petty, R. K., Thomas, A. M., Blakely, E. L., et al. (2004). Catastrophic presentation of mitochondrial disease due to a mutation in the tRNA(His) gene. *Neurology* 62, 1420–1423. doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000120667.77372.46
- Timmerman, V., Strickland, A. V., and Zuchner, S. (2014). Genetics of charcotmarie-tooth (CMT) disease within the frame of the human genome project success. *Genes* 5, 13–32. doi: 10.3390/genes5010013
- Torres, A. G., Batlle, E., and Ribas De Pouplana, L. (2014). Role of tRNA modifications in human diseases. *Trends Mol. Med.* doi: 10.1016/j. molmed.2014.01.008. [Epub ahead of print].
- Tuller, T. (2012). The effect of dysregulation of tRNA genes and translation efficiency mutations in cancer and neurodegeneration. *Front. Genet.* 3:201. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00201
- Turrigiano, G. (2011). Too many cooks? Intrinsic and synaptic homeostatic mechanisms in cortical circuit refinement. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 34, 89–103. doi: 10.1146/annurev-neuro-060909-153238
- Van Berge, L., Dooves, S., Van Berkel, C. G., Polder, E., Van Der Knaap, M. S., and Scheper, G. C. (2012). Leukoencephalopathy with brain stem and spinal cord involvement and lactate elevation is associated with cell-type-dependent splicing of mtAspRS mRNA. *Biochem. J.* 441, 955–962. doi: 10.1042/BJ20110795

- Van Berge, L., Kevenaar, J., Polder, E., Gaudry, A., Florentz, C., Sissler, M., et al. (2013). Pathogenic mutations causing LBSL affect mitochondrial aspartyl-tRNA synthetase in diverse ways. *Biochem. J.* 450, 345–350. doi: 10.1042/BJ20121564
- Vester, A., Velez-Ruiz, G., McLaughlin, H. M., Lupski, J. R., Talbot, K., Vance, J. M., et al. (2013). A loss-of-function variant in the human histidyl-tRNA synthetase (HARS) gene is neurotoxic *in vivo. Hum. Mutat.* 34, 191–199. doi: 10.1002/humu.22210
- Wakasugi, K., and Schimmel, P. (1999). Two distinct cytokines released from a human aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase. *Science* 284, 147–151. doi: 10.1126/science.284.5411.147
- Wallen, R. C., and Antonellis, A. (2013). To charge or not to charge: mechanistic insights into neuropathy-associated tRNA synthetase mutations. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* 23, 302–309. doi: 10.1016/j.gde.2013.02.002
- Wang, W., Van Niekerk, E., Willis, D. E., and Twiss, J. L. (2007). RNA transport and localized protein synthesis in neurological disorders and neural repair. *Dev. Neurobiol.* 67, 1166–1182. doi: 10.1002/dneu.20511
- Weitzer, S., and Martinez, J. (2007). The human RNA kinase hClp1 is active on 3' transfer RNA exons and short interfering RNAs. *Nature* 447, 222–226. doi: 10.1038/nature05777
- Wek, R. C., Jiang, H. Y., and Anthony, T. G. (2006). Coping with stress: eIF2 kinases and translational control. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 34, 7–11. doi: 10.1042/BST0340007
- Wek, R. C., and Staschke, K. A. (2010). How do tumours adapt to nutrient stress? EMBO J. 29, 1946–1947. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2010.110
- Wek, S. A., Zhu, S., and Wek, R. C. (1995). The histidyl-tRNA synthetase-related sequence in the eIF-2 alpha protein kinase GCN2 interacts with tRNA and is required for activation in response to starvation for different amino acids. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15, 4497–4506.
- West, J., Fagan, K., Steudel, W., Fouty, B., Lane, K., Harral, J., et al. (2004). Pulmonary hypertension in transgenic mice expressing a dominantnegative BMPRII gene in smooth muscle. *Circ. Res.* 94, 1109–1114. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000126047.82846.20
- Whitney, M. L., Hurto, R. L., Shaheen, H. H., and Hopper, A. K. (2007). Rapid and reversible nuclear accumulation of cytoplasmic tRNA in response to nutrient availability. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 18, 2678–2686. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E07-01-0006
- Xie, W., Nangle, L. A., Zhang, W., Schimmel, P., and Yang, X. L. (2007). Longrange structural effects of a Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease-causing mutation in human glycyl-tRNA synthetase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 9976–9981. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0703908104
- Xu, Z., Wei, Z., Zhou, J. J., Ye, F., Lo, W. S., Wang, F., et al. (2012). Internally deleted human tRNA synthetase suggests evolutionary pressure for repurposing. *Structure* 20, 1470–1477. doi: 10.1016/j.str.2012.08.001
- Yamasaki, S., Ivanov, P., Hu, G. F., and Anderson, P. (2009). Angiogenin cleaves tRNA and promotes stress-induced translational repression. J. Cell Biol. 185, 35–42. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200811106
- Yan, D., and Liu, X. Z. (2010). Genetics and pathological mechanisms of Usher syndrome. J. Hum. Genet. 55, 327–335. doi: 10.1038/jbg.2010.29
- Yan, X., Wang, X., Wang, Z., Sun, S., Chen, G., He, Y., et al. (2011). Maternally transmitted late-onset non-syndromic deafness is associated with the novel heteroplasmic T12201C mutation in the mitochondrial tRNAHis gene. J. Med. Genet. 48, 682–690. doi: 10.1136/jmedgenet-2011-100219
- Yao, P., and Fox, P. L. (2013). Aminoacyl-tRNA synthetases in medicine and disease. EMBO Mol. Med. 5, 332–343. doi: 10.1002/emmm.201100626
- Yarana, C., Sanit, J., Chattipakorn, N., and Chattipakorn, S. (2012). Synaptic and nonsynaptic mitochondria demonstrate a different degree of calcium-induced mitochondrial dysfunction. *Life Sci.* 90, 808–814. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2012.04.004
- Yasukawa, T., Suzuki, T., Ueda, T., Ohta, S., and Watanabe, K. (2000). Modification defect at anticodon wobble nucleotide of mitochondrial tRNAs(Leu)(UUR) with pathogenic mutations of mitochondrial myopathy, encephalopathy, lactic acidosis, and stroke-like episodes. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 4251–4257. doi: 10.1074/jbc.275.6.4251
- Ye, J., Kumanova, M., Hart, L. S., Sloane, K., Zhang, H., De Panis, D. N., et al. (2010). The GCN2-ATF4 pathway is critical for tumour cell survival and proliferation in response to nutrient deprivation. *EMBO J.* 29, 2082–2096. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2010.81
- Ye, J., Mancuso, A., Tong, X., Ward, P. S., Fan, J., Rabinowitz, J. D., et al. (2012). Pyruvate kinase M2 promotes *de novo* serine synthesis to sustain mTORC1 activity and cell proliferation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, 6904–6909. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1204176109

Zhang, X., Ling, J., Barcia, G., Jing, L., Wu, J., Barry, B. J., et al. (2014). Mutations in QARS, encoding Glutaminyl-tRNA synthetase, cause progressive microcephaly, cerebral-cerebellar atrophy, and intractable seizures. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 94, 547–558. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2014.03.003

Zuchner, S., Mersiyanova, I. V., Muglia, M., Bissar-Tadmouri, N., Rochelle, J., Dadali, E. L., et al. (2004). Mutations in the mitochondrial GTPase mitofusin 2 cause Charcot-Marie-Tooth neuropathy type 2A. *Nat. Genet.* 36, 449–451. doi: 10.1038/ng1341

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 31 March 2014; accepted: 14 May 2014; published online: 03 June 2014. Citation: Abbott JA, Francklyn CS and Robey-Bond SM (2014) Transfer RNA and human disease. Front. Genet. 5:158. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014.00158

This article was submitted to Non-Coding RNA, a section of the journal Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2014 Abbott, Francklyn and Robey-Bond. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The natural history of transfer RNA and its interactions with the ribosome

Gustavo Caetano-Anollés¹* and Feng-Jie Sun²

¹ Evolutionary Bioinformatics Laboratory, Department of Crop Sciences, University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign, IL, USA

² School of Science and Technology, Georgia Gwinnett College, Lawrenceville, GA, USA

*Correspondence: gca@illinois.edu

Edited by:

Akio Kanai, Keio University, Japan

Reviewed by:

Kosuke Fujishima, NASA Ames Research Center, USA Savio Torres Farias, Universidade Federal da Paraíba, Brazil

Keywords: structure, phylogenetic analysis, sequence, non-coding RNA, translation, ribosome, origin of life

Transfer RNA (tRNA) is undoubtedly the most central and one of the oldest molecules of the cell. Without it genetics and coded protein synthesis are impossible. The crucial specificities responsible for the genetic code and accurate translation are by far entrusted to interactions between tRNA and translation proteins, aminoacyl-tRNA synfundamentally thetase (aaRS) enzymes and elongation factor (EF) switches (Yadavalli and Ibba, 2012). Discrimination mediated by aaRSs and EFs against misincorporated tRNA and amino acids is at least 20 times more stringent than ribosomal recognition, editing, and other proofreading mechanisms (Reynolds et al., 2010). The fact that crucial genetic code specificities in highly selective interactions with protein enzymes do not involve the ribosomal ribonucleoprotein biosynthetic machinery challenges the "replicators first" origin of life scenario of an ancient RNA world (Caetano-Anollés and Seufferheld, 2013). It also highlights the central functional, mechanistic, and evolutionary roles of tRNA and its recognition determinants, which enable coevolution between nucleic acids and proteins. These coevolutionary relationships are compatible with a late origin of the ribosome in its mechanism and not in protein biosynthesis, which was inferred from the computational analysis of thousands of RNAs and proteomes (Harish and Caetano-Anollés, 2012). These analyses showed tight coevolution of ribosomal RNA (rRNA) and ribosomal proteins (r-proteins). While these relationships delimit molecular makeup when organisms use translation to negotiate

growth and viability amidst environmental change, coevolution also constrains recruitment of the canonical L-shaped structure of the tRNA molecule into a multiplicity of modern functions. These new functions include the synthesis of antibiotics, bacterial cell wall peptidoglycans and tetrapyrroles, modification of bacterial membrane lipids, protein turnover, and the synthesis of other aminoacyl-tRNA molecules (Francklyn and Minajigi, 2010). Here we unfold coevolutionary relationships between tRNA substructures and translation proteins that embody crucial protein-nucleic acid interactions. We focus on a series of computational biology analyses of the structure and conformational diversity of tRNAs and their interacting proteins that provide information about the history of structural accretion of this "adaptor" molecule. Using this information, we place tRNA history within the framework of an evolutionary timeline of protein domain innovation, uncovering the natural history of tRNA within the context of the geological record.

tRNA MOLECULES ARE OLD AND EVOLVE BY ACCRETION OF STRUCTURAL PARTS

When studying the organismal distribution of a catalog of over a thousand RNA families describing the modern RNA world, tRNA was found to be one of only five families that were universally present (Hoeppner et al., 2012). These families showed a strong vertical evolutionary trace and included rRNA and ribonuclease P (RNase P) RNA, which are present (with exceptions; e.g., Randau

et al., 2008) in all studied cellular organisms and are minimally affected by horizontal gene transfer. We note however that RNA-free RNase P (Gutmann et al., 2012; Taschner et al., 2012) can challenge RNase P RNA ancestrality (Sun and Caetano-Anollés, 2010). The ubiquity of tRNA in the cellular lineages of life and its central molecular role provide strong support to the very early origin of the molecule, prompting the study of the origin and evolution of the tRNA molecule using information in its sequence and structure (Fitch and Upper, 1987; Eigen et al., 1989; Di Giulio, 1994; Sun and Caetano-Anollés, 2008a; Farias, 2013). A computational analysis of the history of tRNA based on the structure of thousands of molecules revealed that tRNAs evolve by accretion of component parts (substructures) and that the "top half" of tRNA that includes the acceptor stem is more ancient that the "bottom half" with its anticodon arm (Sun and Caetano-Anollés, 2008a; reviewed in Sun and Caetano-Anollés, 2008b) (Figure 1A). While other models of evolutionary growth of the tRNA molecule have been proposed (Di Giulio, 2012), phylogenetic reconstructions are compatible with biochemical evidence of molecular recognition that makes amino acid charging ancestral and molecularly distant (~70 Å) to codon recognition, which locate to more modern regions of tRNA (Caetano-Anollés et al., 2013). These findings revive the "genomic tag" hypothesis in which tRNA harbored ancestral genomic information and the derived bottom half provided genetic code specificity (Weiner and Maizels, 1987).



FIGURE 1 | The natural history of tRNA inferred from nucleic acid-protein interactions and structural phylogenomics. (A) The history of tRNA portrays the history of its interactions with cognate aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase (aaRS) protein enzymes. This is exemplified by the domains of the tRNA and cysteinyl-tRNA synthetase binary complex (PDB entry 1U0B), which are colored according to their age. The ancient "top half" of tRNA embeds a "operational code" in the identity elements of the acceptor arm that interact with the catalytic domain of aaRSs through classes I and II modes of tRNA recognition. The evolutionarily recent "bottom half" of tRNA holds the standard code in identity elements of the anticodon loop that interact with anticodon-binding domains of aaRSs. (B) Flow diagram showing the retrodiction strategy used to build phylogenetic trees of RNA molecules (ToMs) and associated trees of substructures (ToSs), and trees of protein domains (ToDs). The structures of RNA molecules are first decomposed into substructures. Structural features of substructures such as helical stem tracts and unpaired regions are coded as phylogenetic characters and assigned character states according to an evolutionary model that polarizes character transformation toward an increase in conformational order (character argumentation). Coded characters (s) are arranged in data matrices, which can be transposed. Phylogenetic analysis using maximum parsimony optimality criteria generates rooted ToMs and ToSs. A census of domain structures in proteomes of hundreds of

completely sequenced organisms is used to compose data matrices, which are then used to build ToDs. Elements of the matrix (g) represent genomic abundances of domain structures in proteomes, defined at different levels of classification of domain structure (e.g., SCOP folds, superfamilies, and families). They are converted into multi-state phylogenetic characters with character states transforming according to linearly ordered and reversible pathways. Embedded in the trees of nucleic acids and proteins are timelines that assign age to molecular structures and associated functions. (C) The natural history of tRNA and rRNA overlap when they are mapped onto a timeline of protein domain history. A tree of tRNA substructures (ToS) was derived from statistical phylogenetic characters that define a molecular morphospace (the Shannon entropy of the base-pairing probability matrix, base-pairing propensity and mean length of stem structures) in 571 tRNA molecules. The optimal most parsimonious tree (43.281 steps: consistency index = 0.853, retention index = 0.654.rescaled consistency index = 0.557, $g_1 = -1.033$) was recovered from a branch-and-bound search. The most basal subtree of a ToS describing the evolution of the rRNA core (Harish and Caetano-Anollés, 2012) is also shown. Both trees are anchored to the geological record via an evolutionary timeline of first appearance of protein domains that are capable of establishing crucial interactions with the BNA molecules (see description in the main text). AC, anticodon; PTC, peptidyl transferase center.

PHYLOGENOMIC RETRODICTION UNCOVERS COEVOLUTION BETWEEN tRNA SUBSTRUCTURES AND INTERACTING aaRS PROTEIN DOMAINS

In the studies mentioned above, phylogenetic analysis of nucleic acid structure was directly derived from structural topology and the thermodynamics of tRNA (Caetano-Anollés, 2002a,b; Sun et al., 2007; Sun and Caetano-Anollés, 2008a), taking unique advantage of links that exist between secondary structure and conformation, dynamics, and adaptation (Bailor et al., 2010). Specifically, a census of geometrical features that describe the length and topology of tRNA substructures (such as stem and non-paired segments) or statistical features describing their stability and conformational diversity were analyzed with modern phylogenetic methods to produce phylogenetic trees of molecules (ToMs) and trees of substructures (ToSs) that portray the history of the system (molecules) or its component parts (substructures), respectively. Figure 1C shows a ToS that describes the evolution of stem substructures of the tRNA molecule and of early evolving stem substructures of rRNA. The trees that are produced are rooted using a phylogenetic process model that complies with Weston's generality criterion. The model automatically roots the trees by assuming conformational stability increases in evolution as structures become canalized (Sun et al., 2010). The validity of polarization and rooting depends on the axiomatic component of character transformation, which is falsifiable and supported by considerable evidence (e.g., thermodynamic and phylogenetic; Sun et al., 2010).

While ToSs are powerful retrodiction statements that unfold history of RNA accretion (Sun and Caetano-Anollés, 2008a,b,c, 2009, 2010; Sun et al., 2007; Harish and Caetano-Anollés, 2012), the gradual appearance of protein domains in evolutionary history can be inferred from phylogenomic trees of domains (ToDs) (**Figure 1B**) (Caetano-Anollés and Caetano-Anollés, 2003) and can illustrate the establishment of intermolecular interactions in evolution. Domains are structural and evolutionary units of proteins that are highly conserved (Caetano-Anollés et al., 2009). The evolutionary accumulation of these units unfolds recurrence patterns that encompass the entire history of proteins and can be mined with suitable phylogenomic methods. ToDs are derived from a structural census of protein domains in the proteomes of hundreds to thousands of genomes that have been completely sequenced. The fold structures of domains are defined using the different levels of structural abstraction of the accepted classification gold standards, the SCOP (Murzin et al., 1995) or CATH (Orengo et al., 1997) databases. Timelines of domain innovation are then derived directly from the trees taking advantage of their highly imbalanced nature. Imbalance unfolds when the splitting of lineages depends on an evolving "heritable" trait (Heard, 1996). In our case, the evolving trait is the gradual accumulation of domains in proteomes and the semipunctuated discovery of new fold structures (made evident for example in simulations; Zeldovich et al., 2007). The predictive power of ToDs is considerable (Caetano-Anollés and Seufferheld, 2013) and central for the history of tRNA, as ToDs have established the evolutionary history of aaRS domain structures and their associated coevolving tRNA molecules (Caetano-Anollés et al., 2013). The timeline of evolutionary appearance of fold families revealed the early emergence of the "operational" RNA code linked to the specificities of synthetases that were homologous to the catalytic domains of modern TyrRS and SerRS protein enzymes. These archaic synthetases interacted with the "top half" of tRNA and were capable of peptide bond formation and aminoacylation (Caetano-Anollés et al., 2013). The timeline also showed the late implementation of the standard genetic code with the late appearance of anticodon-binding domains that interacted with the "bottom half" of tRNA. Figure 1A shows a representative aaRS enzyme and the tight coevolutionary link between aaRS domains and tRNA arms. Remarkably, structural phylogenomic retrodictions indicate that genetics arose through episodes of structural recruitment as an exacting mechanism that favored flexibility and folding of the emergent proteins (Caetano-Anollés et al., 2013). These enhancements of phenotypic robustness matched evolutionary trends of

folding speed in proteins (Debes et al., 2013) and are compatible with recent simulations of the origin of the genetic code (Jee et al., 2013).

ABUNDANCE OF PROTEIN DOMAINS IN PROTEOMES FOLLOWS AN EVOLUTIONARY CLOCK

The history of RNA does not represent a phylogenetic statement that applies to the entire world of RNA molecules. Consequently, it cannot be placed within a global historical context. In contrast, the history of protein domains inferred from ToDs follows a global molecular clock of fold structures that spans 3.8 billion years (Gy) of evolution (Wang et al., 2011). Traditionally, molecular clocks are based on rates of change in protein or nucleic acid sequences, which are limited by historical information existing in the individual protein or nucleic acid molecules being studied (Zuckerkandl and Pauling, 1965; Ayala et al., 1998). These clocks are therefore constrained by the highly dynamic nature of sequence change, including the problems of mutational saturation and rate heterogeneity (heterotachy). In contrast, molecular structures exhibit characteristics of recurrent change that are much more stable. The clocks of domain structures were calibrated by associating diagnostic domain structures with multiple geological ages derived from the study of fossils and microfossils, geochemical, biochemical, and biomarker data. Remarkably, excellent linear correlations between the ages of domain structures at fold and fold superfamily levels of SCOP and geological timescales were identified and used to time fundamental evolutionary events (Wang et al., 2011). These events included the rise of planetary oxygen and episodes of organismal diversification (Wang et al., 2011; Kim et al., 2012).

THE CLOVERLEAF STRUCTURE OF tRNA UNFOLDS EARLY IN EVOLUTION, PRIOR TO THE APPEARANCE OF A FUNCTIONAL RIBOSOMAL MACHINERY

Assuming that the age of interactions that are established between RNA and proteins is the age of the interacting components, we tracked the appearance of domains in ribonucleoprotein complexes

along the evolutionary timeline and used the molecular clock of folds to link interactions to a geological timescale (Figure 1C). The catalytic domains of classes I and II aaRS enzymes (belonging to SCOP families d.104.1.1 and c.26.1.1, respectively) are the first to appear in the timeline ~3.7 Gy ago (Caetano-Anollés et al., 2013). These domains harbor pre-transfer and post-transfer editing and trans-editing activities. The most ancient of these editing structures, present in the catalytic domains of TyrRS, SerRS, and LeuRS, involve interactions with the oldest type II cognate tRNAs, which harbor a long variable loop necessary for tRNA recognition (Sun and Caetano-Anollés, 2008c). While the evolutionary significance of the variable loop in tRNA-aaRS interactions is unclear (Sun and Caetano-Anollés, 2008c), its late evolutionary appearance could simply represent the shift or recruitment of an archaic interacting region of the molecule. Interactions of tRNA with the "ValRS/IleRS/LeuRS editing" domain (SCOP family b.51.1.1) (Hale et al., 1997) suggest the D arm was already present ~3.3 Gy ago, which is derived compared to the acceptor stem (Sun and Caetano-Anollés, 2008a). The late appearance of anticodon-binding domains (beginning with SCOP family c.51.1.1) in well over half of aaRSs ~3 Gy ago confirms that the full "bottom half" of tRNA and its anticodon loop identity elements unfolded completely before the onset of planetary oxygenation and cellular diversification \sim 2.9 Gy ago.

Comparing the natural history of tRNA (Sun and Caetano-Anollés, 2008a) and the ribosome (Harish and Caetano-Anollés, 2012) within the framework of the interacting proteins shows the remarkable functional connection of the cloverleaf structure and ribosomal functionality (Figure 1C). The origin of r-proteins in interaction with helix 44 (the ribosomal ratchet) of the small subunit (SSU) rRNA occurred 3.3-3.4 Gy ago once the tRNA molecule unfolded its anticodon arm. This manifests in the pivotal role of one of the two earliest r-proteins, S12, in tRNA selection (anticipated by Ogle and Ramakrishnan, 2005), which is mediated by a bonding network connecting two sites in S12 to the anticodon and the CCA arm of the tRNA-elongation factor

bound state (Li et al., 2008). Similarly, the full cloverleaf structure of tRNA was already present when the ribosomal peptidyl transferase center (PTC) responsible for modern protein synthesis appeared in the emerging domain V of the large subunit of rRNA 2.8-3.1 Gy ago. This is an expected outcome since the structurally mature 70-80 Å-long and 20-25 Å-wide tRNA molecule must traverse a path of ~ 100 Å and physically span the intersubunit interface of the ribosomal core for the ensemble to be fully functional (Agirrezabala and Frank, 2009). Remarkably, this late development of the ribosomal core coincided with the appearance of pathways of amino acid (Kim et al., 2012) and purine nucleotide biosynthesis (Caetano-Anollés and Caetano-Anollés, 2013). This suggests that tRNA and ribosomal functionality (anticodon loop recognition, decoding, protein biosynthesis) and modern metabolic pathways for amino acids and nucleotides developed concurrently, supporting the co-evolution theory of the genetic code (Wong, 2005).

CONCLUSION

The natural and overlapping history of tRNA and rRNA reveals that: (1) the tRNA cloverleaf structure unfolded prior to the appearance of a fully functional ribosomal core, (2) the primordial role of tRNA, originally linked to archaic dipeptide-forming synthetases, was coopted into modern translation functions once anticodon-loop specificities appeared concurrently with the PTC, and (3) the emergence of modern genetics unfolded relatively quickly in a period of 0.3–0.5 Gy, starting with anticodon-loop recognition and once the cloverleaf structure had formed.

REFERENCES

- Agirrezabala, X., and Frank, J. (2009). Elongation in translation as a dynamic interaction among the ribosome, tRNA, and elongation factors EF-G and EF-Tu. Q. Rev. Biophys. 42, 159–200. doi: 10.1017/S0033583509990060
- Ayala, F. J., Rzhetsky, A., and Ayala, F. J. (1998). Origin of the metazoan phyla: molecular clocks confirm paleontological studies. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95, 606–611. doi: 10.1073/pnas.9 5.2.606
- Bailor, M. H., Sun, X., and Al-Hashimi, H. M. (2010). Topology links RNA secondary structure with global conformation, dynamics, and adaptation. *Science* 327, 202–206. doi: 10.1126/science.1181085

- Caetano-Anollés, G. (2002a). Tracing the evolution of RNA structure in ribosomes. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 30, 2575–2587. doi: 10.1093/nar/30.11.2575
- Caetano-Anollés, G. (2002b). Evolved RNA secondary structure and the rooting of the universal tree of life. J. Mol. Evol. 54, 333–345. doi: 10.1007/s00239-001-0048-3
- Caetano-Anollés, G., and Caetano-Anollés, D. (2003). An evolutionarily structured universe of protein architecture. *Genome Res.* 13, 1563–1571. doi: 10.1101/gr.1161903
- Caetano-Anollés, G., and Seufferheld, M. (2013). The coevolutionary roots of biochemistry and cellular organization challenge the RNA world paradigm. J. Mol. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 23, 152–177. doi: 10.1159/000346551
- Caetano-Anollés, G., Wang, M., and Caetano-Anollés, D. (2013). Structural phylogenomics retrodicts the origin of the genetic code and uncovers the evolutionary impact of protein flexibility. *PLoS ONE* 8:e72225. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0072225
- Caetano-Anollés, G., Wang, M., Caetano-Anolles, D., and Mittenthal, J. E. (2009). The origin, evolution and structure of the protein world. *Biochem. J.* 417, 621–637. doi: 10.1042/BJ20082063
- Caetano-Anollés, K., and Caetano-Anollés, G. (2013). Structural phylogenomics reveals gradual evolutionary replacement of abiotic chemistries by protein enzymes in purine metabolism. *PLoS ONE* 8:e59300. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0059300
- Debes, C., Wang, M., Caetano-Anollees, G., and Gräter, F. (2013). Evolutionary optimization of protein folding. *PLoS Comput. Biol.* 9:e1002861. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1002861
- Di Giulio, M. (1994). The phylogeny of tRNA molecules and the origin of the genetic code. *Orig. Life Evol. Biosph.* 24, 425–434. doi: 10.1007/BF01582018
- Di Giulio, M. (2012). The origin of the tRNA molecule: independent data favor a specific model of its evolution. *Biochimie* 94, 1464–1466. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2012.01.014
- Eigen, M., Lindemann, B. F., Tietze, M., Winkler-Oswatitsch, R., Dress, A., and von Haeseler, A. (1989). How old is the genetic code? *Science* 244, 673–679. doi: 10.1126/science.2497522
- Farias, S. T. (2013). Suggested phylogeny of tRNAs based on the construction of ancestral sequences. *J. Theor. Biol.* 335, 245–248. doi: 10.1016/j.jtbi. 2013.06.033
- Fitch, W. M., and Upper, K. (1987). The phylogeny of tRNA sequences provides evidence for ambiguity reduction in the origin of the genetic code. *Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol.* 52, 759–767. doi: 10.1101/SQB.1987.052.01.085
- Francklyn, C. S., and Minajigi, A. (2010). tRNA as active chemical scaffold for diverse chemical transformations. *FEBS Lett.* 584, 366–375. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2009.11.045
- Gutmann, B., Gobert, A., and Giegé, P. (2012). PRORP proteins support RNase P activity in both organelles and the nucleus in arabidopsis. *Genes Dev.* 26, 1022–1027. doi: 10.1101/gad.189514.112
- Hale, S. P., Auld, D. S., Schmidt, E., and Schimmel, P. (1997). Discrete determinants in transfer RNA for editing and aminoacylation. *Science* 276, 1250–1252. doi: 10.1126/science.276.5316.1250
- Harish, A., and Caetano-Anollés, G. (2012). Ribosomal history reveals origins of modern

protein synthesis. *PLoS ONE* 7:e32776. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0032776

- Heard, S. B. (1996). Patterns of phylogenetic tree balance with variable or evolving speciation rates. *Evolution* 50, 2141–2148. doi: 10.2307/2410685
- Hoeppner, M. P., Gardner P. P., and Poole, A. M. (2012). Comparative analysis of RNA families reveals distinct repertoires for each domain of life. *PLoS Comput. Biol.* 8:e1002752. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1002752
- Jee, J., Sundstrom, A., Massey, S. E., and Mishra, B. (2013). What can information-asymmetric games tell us about the context of Crick's 'frozen accident'? J. R. Soc. Interface 10:20130614. doi: 10.1098/rsif.2013.0614
- Kim, K. M., Qin, T., Jiang, Y.-Y., Xiong, M., Caetano-Anollés, D., Zhang, H.-Y., et al. (2012). Protein domain structure uncovers the origin of aerobic metabolism and the rise of planetary oxygen. *Structure* 20, 67–76. doi: 10.1016/j.str.2011.11.003
- Li, W., Agirrezabala, X., Lei, J., Bouakaz, L., Brunelle, J. L., Ortiz-Meoz, R. F., et al. (2008). Recognition of aminoacyl-tRNA: a common molecular mechanism revealed by cryo-EM. *EMBO J.* 27, 3322–3331. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2008.243
- Murzin, A. G., Brenner, S. E., Hubbard, T., and Chothia, C. (1995). SCOP: a structural classification of proteins database for the investigation of sequences and structures. J. Mol. Biol. 247, 536–540. doi: 10.1016/S0022-2836(05)80134-2
- Ogle, J. M., and Ramakrishnan, V. (2005). Structural insights into translational fidelity. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 74, 129–177. doi: 10.1146/annurev. biochem.74.061903.155440
- Orengo, C. A., Michie, A., Jones, S., Jones, D. T., Swindells, M., and Thornton, J. M. (1997). CATH–a hierarchic classification of protein domain structures. *Structure* 5, 1093–1109. doi: 10.1016/S0969-2126(97)00260-8
- Randau, L., Schröder, I., and Söll, D. (2008). Life without RNase P. *Nature* 453, 120–123. doi: 10.1038/nature06833
- Reynolds, N. M., Lazazzera, B. A., and Ibba, M. (2010). Cellular mechanisms that control mistranslation. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 8, 849–856. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2472

- Sun, F.-J., and Caetano-Anollés, G. (2008a). The origin and evolution of tRNA inferred from phylogenetic analysis of structure. *J. Mol. Evol.* 66, 21–35. doi: 10.1007/s00239-007-9050-8
- Sun, F.-J., and Caetano-Anollés, G. (2008b). Transfer RNA and the origin of diversified life. *Sci. Prog.* 91, 265–284. doi: 10.3184/003685008X360650
- Sun, F.-J., and Caetano-Anollés, G. (2008c). Evolutionary patterns in the sequence and structure of transfer RNA: a window into early translation and the genetic code. *PLoS ONE* 3:e2799. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002799
- Sun, F.-J., and Caetano-Anollés, G. (2009). The evolutionary history of the structure of 5S ribosomal RNA. J. Mol. Evol. 69, 430–443. doi: 10.1007/s00239-009-9264-z
- Sun, F. J., and Caetano-Anollés, G. (2010). The ancient history of the structure of ribonuclease P and the early origins of archaea. *BMC Bioinformatics* 11:153. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-11-153
- Sun, F.-J., Fleurdépine, S., Bousquet-Antonelli, C., Caetano-Anollés, G., and Deragon, J.-M. (2007). Common evolutionary trends for SINE RNA structures. *Trends Genet.* 23, 26–33. doi: 10.1016/j.tig.2006.11.005
- Sun, F.-J., Harish, A., and Caetano-Anolles, G. (2010) "Phylogenetic utility of RNA structure: evolution's arrow and emergence of modern biochemistry and diversified life," in *Evolutionary Bioinformatics and Systems Biology*, ed G. Caetano-Anollés (Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell), 329–360.
- Taschner, A., Weber, C., Buzet, A., Hartmann, R. K., Hartig, A., and Rossmanith, W. (2012). Nuclear RNase P of *Trypanosoma brucei*: a single protein in place of the multicomponent RNA-protein complex. *Cell Rep.* 2, 19–25. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2012.05.021
- Wang, M., Jiang, Y.-Y., Kim, K. M., Qu, G., Ji, H.-F., Mittenthal, J. E., et al. (2011). A universal molecular clock of protein folds and its power in tracing the early history of aerobic metabolism and planet oxygenation. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 28, 567–582. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msq232
- Weiner, A. M., and Maizels, N. (1987). tRNAlike structures tag the 3' ends of genomic RNA

molecules for replication: implications for the origin of protein synthesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 84, 7383–7387. doi: 10.1073/pnas.84. 21.7383

- Wong, J. T. (2005). Coevolution theory of the genetic code at age thirty. *Bioessays* 27, 416–425. doi: 10.1002/bies.20208
- Yadavalli, S. S., and Ibba, M. (2012). Quality control in aminoacyl-tRNA synthesis: its role in translational fidelity. Adv. Protein Chem. Struct. Biol. 86, 1–43. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-386497-0.00001-3
- Zeldovich, K. B., Chen, P., Shakhnovich, B. E., and Shakhnovich, E. I. (2007). A first-principles model of early evolution: emergence of gene families, species and preferred protein folds. *PLoS Comput. Biol.* 3:e139. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.00 30139
- Zuckerkandl, E., and Pauling, L. (1965). "Evolutionary divergence and convergence in proteins," in *Evolving Genes and Proteins*, eds V. Bryson and H. J. Vogel (New York, NY: Academic Press), 97–166.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 30 March 2014; accepted: 22 April 2014; published online: 09 May 2014.

Citation: Caetano-Anollés G and Sun F-J (2014) The natural history of transfer RNA and its interactions with the ribosome. Front. Genet. **5**:127. doi: 10.3389/fgene. 2014.00127

This article was submitted to Non-Coding RNA, a section of the journal Frontiers in Genetics.

Copyright © 2014 Caetano-Anollés and Sun. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.